ADVANCES IN EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE AND BIOLOGY

Volume 676

Polyploidization and Cancer

Edited by Randy Y.C. Poon Polyploidization and Cancer

ADVANCES IN EXPERIMENTAL MEDICINE AND BIOLOGY

Editorial Board: NATHAN BACK, State University of New York at Buffalo IRUN R. COHEN, The Weizmann Institute of Science ABEL LAJTHA, N.S. Kline Institute for Psychiatric Research JOHN D. LAMBRIS, University of Pennsylvania RODOLFO PAOLETTI, University of Milan

Recent Volumes in this Series

Volume 668 SUPERMEN1 Edited by Katalin Balogh and Attila Patocs

Volume 669 NEW FRONTIERS IN RESPIRATORY CONTROL Edited by Ikuo Homma and Hiroshi Onimaru

Volume 670 THERAPEUTIC APPLICATIONS OF CELL MICROENCAPSULATION Edited by José Luis Pedraz and Gorka Orive

Volume 671 FRONTIERS IN BRAIN REPAIR Edited by Rahul Jandial

Volume 672 BIOSURFACTANTS Edited by Ramkrishna Sen

Volume 673 MODELLING PARASITE TRANSMISSION AND CONTROL Edited by Edwin Michael and Robert C. Spear

Volume 674 INTEGRINS AND ION CHANNELS: MOLECULAR COMPLEXES AND SIGNALING Edited by Andrea Becchetti and Annarosa Arcangeli

Volume 675 RECENT ADVANCES IN PHOTOTROPHIC PROKARYOTES Edited by Patrick C. Hallenbeck

Volume 676 POLYPLOIDIZATION AND CANCER Edited by Randy Y.C. Poon

A Continuation Order Plan is available for this series. A continuation order will bring delivery of each new volume immediately upon publication. Volumes are billed only upon actual shipment. For further information please contact the publisher.

Polyploidization and Cancer

Edited by

Randy Y.C. Poon, MA, PhD

Department of Biochemistry, Hong Kong University of Science and Technology Clear Water Bay, Hong Kong, China

Springer Science+Business Media, LLC Landes Bioscience

Springer Science+Business Media, LLC Landes Bioscience

Copyright ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media, LLC

All rights reserved.

No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher, with the exception of any material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system; for exclusive use by the Purchaser of the work.

Printed in the USA.

Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, 233 Spring Street, New York, New York 10013, USA http://www.springer.com

Please address all inquiries to the publishers: Landes Bioscience, 1002 West Avenue, Austin, Texas 78701, USA Phone: 512/ 637 6050; FAX: 512/ 637 6079 http://www.landesbioscience.com

The chapters in this book are available in the Madame Curie Bioscience Database. http://www.landesbioscience.com/curie

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. Landes Bioscience / Springer Science+Business Media, LLC dual imprint / Springer series: Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology.

ISBN: 978-1-4419-6198-3

While the authors, editors and publisher believe that drug selection and dosage and the specifications and usage of equipment and devices, as set forth in this book, are in accord with current recommendations and practice at the time of publication, they make no warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to material described in this book. In view of the ongoing research, equipment development, changes in governmental regulations and the rapid accumulation of information relating to the biomedical sciences, the reader is urged to carefully review and evaluate the information provided herein.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Polyploidization and cancer / edited by Randy Y.C. Poon.
p. ; cm. -- (Advances in experimental medicine and biology ; vol. 676)
Includes bibliographical references and index.
ISBN 978-1-4419-6198-3
1. Cancer--Genetic aspects. 2. Polyploidy. I. Poon, Randy Y. C. II. Series: Advances in experimental medicine and biology, v. 676. 0065-2598 ;
[DNLM: 1. Neoplasms--genetics. 2. Chromosomal Instability--genetics. 3. Gene Expression Regulation, Neoplastic--genetics. 4. Polyploidy. W1 AD559 v.676 2010 / QZ 202 P7826 2010]
RC268.4.P65 2010
616.99'4042--dc22

2010008083

DEDICATION

For my parents

PREFACE

Limiting genome replication to once per cell cycle is vital for maintaining genome stability. Although polyploidization is of physiological importance for several specialized cell types, inappropriate polyploidization is believed to promote aneuploidy and transformation. A growing body of evidence indicates that the surveillance mechanisms that prevent polyploidization are frequently perturbed in cancers.

Progress in the past several years has unraveled some of the underlying principles that maintain genome stability. This book brings together leaders of the field to overview subjects relating to polyploidization and cancer. The importance of polyploidization in the evolution of cancer is discussed by Merlo, Wang, Pepper, Rabinovitch, and Maley. Proper execution of mitosis is controlled by the spindle-assembly checkpoint and is paramount in preventing mitotic slippage and polyploidization. Ito and Matsumoto discuss our current understanding of this checkpoint. Cytokinesis failure is another important route to polyploidization. A discourse on the mechanisms that lead to cytokinesis failure and their relationship to genome instability is provided by Normand and King. The evidence of a role of DNA damage in polyploidization is also discussed (Chow and Poon). In normal cells, polyploidization is prevented by p53-dependent mechanisms. Salient features of these pathways are described by Talos and Moll. As discussed by Duensing and Duensing, defective mitosis caused by supernumerary centrosomes is increasingly being recognized for their roles in causing polyploidy and cancer. Furthermore, important examples of polyploidization including hematopoietic cells (Nguyen and Ravid) and liver cells (Celton-Morizur and Desdouets) serve to illustrate the pivotal role of polyploidization in cancers and senescence. Last but not least, state-of-the-art methodologies of how ploidy can be measured are detailed by Darzynkiewicz, Halicka, and Zhao.

I thank the various authors for their invaluable contribution. Much remains to be learned about the regulation of mitosis, cytokinesis, centrosome duplication, checkpoints, and their relationship to polyploidization and tumorigenesis. It is hoped that these articles will serve as a resource for further progress of this important area of cancer research.

> Randy Y.C. Poon, MA, PhD Department of Biochemistry Hong Kong University of Science and Technology Clear Water Bay, Hong Kong, China vii

ABOUT THE EDITOR...



RANDY Y.C. POON, MA, PhD is a professor of Biochemistry at the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He was educated at Tonbridge School and received his Master of Arts degree from St. Catharine's College at the University of Cambridge. He then studied for a Doctor of Philosophy degree at the University of Cambridge and Cancer Research UK with Tim Hunt, FRS. Dr. Poon conducted postdoctoral training at the Salk Institute with Tony Hunter, FRS. Dr. Poon is a member of Editorial Board of numerous international journals, including the *Biochemical Journal* and *Cancer Biology and Therapy*. His research interests focus on understanding the molecular basis of cell cycle control in normal and cancer cells.

PARTICIPANTS

Séverine Celton-Morizur Institut Cochin Université Paris Descartes CNRS, UMR 8104 INSERM U567 Paris France

Jeremy P.H. Chow Department of Biochemistry Hong Kong University of Science and Technology Clear Water Bay, Hong Kong China

Zbigniew Darzynkiewicz Brander Cancer Research Institute New York Medical College Valhalla, New York USA

Chantal Desdouets Institut Cochin Université Paris Descartes CNRS, UMR 8104 INSERM U567 Paris France

Anette Duensing Molecular Virology Program Hillman Cancer Center University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania USA Stefan Duensing Molecular Virology Program Hillman Cancer Center University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania USA

H. Dorota Halicka Brander Cancer Research Institute New York Medical College Valhalla, New York USA

Daisuke Ito Radiation Biology Center Graduate School of Biostudies Kyoto University Kyoto Japan

Randall W. King Department of Cell Biology Harvard Medical School Boston, Massachusetts USA

Carlo C. Maley Molecular and Cellular Oncogenesis Program The Wistar Institute Philadelphia, Pennsylvania USA

Participants

Tomohiro Matsumoto Radiation Biology Center Graduate School of Biostudies Kyoto University Kyoto Japan

Lauren M.F. Merlo Molecular and Cellular Oncogenesis Program The Wistar Institute Philadelphia, Pennsylvania USA

Ute M. Moll Department of Pathology Health Science Center State University of New York at Stony Brook Stony Brook, New York USA and Department of Molecular Oncology University of Göttingen Göttingen Germany

Hao G. Nguyen Department of Biochemistry Whitaker Cardiovascular Institute Boston University School of Medicine Boston, Massachusetts USA

Guillaume Normand HTS Core Facility Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center New York, New York USA

John W. Pepper Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology University of Arizona Tucson, Arizona USA Randy Y.C. Poon Department of Biochemistry Hong Kong University of Science and Technology Clear Water Bay, Hong Kong China

Peter S. Rabinovitch Divisions of Human Biology and Public Health Sciences Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center and Department of Pathology University of Washington Seattle, Washington USA

Katya Ravid Department of Biochemistry Whitaker Cardiovascular Institute Boston University School of Medicine Boston, Massachusetts USA

Flaminia Talos Department of Pathology Health Science Center State University of New York at Stony Brook Stony Brook, New York USA

Li-san Wang Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Institute on Aging Penn Center for Bioinformatics University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, Pennsylvania USA

Hong Zhao Brander Cancer Research Institute New York Medical College Valhalla, New York USA

xii

CONTENTS

1. POLYPLOIDY, ANEUPLOIDY AND THE EVOLUTION
OF CANCER 1
Lauren M. F. Merlo, Li-san Wang, John W. Pepper, Peter S. Rabinovitch and Carlo C. Maley
Abstract
Introduction1
The Tetraploidy to Aneuploidy Progression in Carcinogenesis1
Tetraploidy and Aneuploidy in Barrett's Esophagus2
Not All Aneuploids Are Equal
Why Do Cancer Cells Survive with Such Massive Alterations to Their Genome?
Why Is Aneuploidy Common in Neoplastic Progression?
DNA Damage Sensing by Linkage10
Ancient and Recent Cancer Genes
Conclusion
2. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS AND FUNCTION OF THE SPINDLE CHECKPOINT, A GUARDIAN OF THE CHROMOSOME STABILITY
Daisuke Ito and Tomohiro Matsumoto
Abstract 14
Introduction
Bipolar Attachment and Chromosome Congression
Molecular Basis of the Spindle Checkpoint
Activation of the Spindle Checkpoint Signaling
Mad2 Template Model
Phosphorylation and Spindle Checkpoint Function
Silencing the Spindle Checkpoint
Additional Surveillance System
A Trigger of Tumorigenesis
Conclusion

xiv	Contents
3. UNDERSTANDING CYTOKINESIS FAI	LURE 27

Guillaume Normand and Randall W. King

Abstract	27
Cytokinesis Occurs in Multiple Stages	27
Stage I. Positioning the Division Plane and Initiating Cytokinesis	28
Stage II. Ingression of the Cleavage Furrow	30
Stage III. Formation of the Midbody	34
Stage IV. Abscission	35
Regulation of Cytokinesis	38
Coupling of Cytokinesis to Other Cellular Pathways	42
Conclusion	43

Jeremy P.H. Chow and Randy Y.C. Poon

Abstract	
Polyploidization and Cancer	
Mechanisms of Polyploidization	
The DNA Damage Checkpoints	
Polyploidization Induced by DNA Damage	
The Sensitivity of Polyploid Cells to DNA Damage	
Polyploidization and Cancer Therapies	
Conclusion	

Flaminia Talos and Ute M. Moll

Abstract	73
p53—Tumor Suppressor	73
p53 and Genomic Stability	74
Introduction to p73	78
p73 Functions	79
The Role of p73 in Genomic Stability	80
Conclusion	86

Anette Duensing and Stefan Duensing

Abstract	93
Introduction	93
The Centrosome Duplication Cycle	94
Aberrant Centrosome Numbers in Cancer Cells	94
Multiple Pathways Can Lead to Aberrant Centrosome Numbers:	
Studies Using Human Papillomavirus (HPV) Oncoproteins	95
Mechanisms of Centrosome Amplification in Tumor Cells	96

Contents

Aberrant Centrosome Numbers as a Consequence of Polyploidy—Implications
100 Genomic Instability in Cancer of Dahmlatha
Aberrant Centrosome Numbers as a Cause of Polypiolog
Conclusion 101
7. POLYPLOIDY: MECHANISMS AND CANCER PROMOTION
IN HEMATOPOIETIC AND OTHER CELLS 105
Hao G. Nguyen and Katya Ravid
Abstract
Overview: Characteristics of Polyploidy and Its Induction Under Different
Conditions105
Prevalence of Polyploidy/Aneuploidy in Different Cancers
Cancer Theories: Potential Involvement of Aneuploidy in Cancer Promotion 108
Regulators of Mitosis and Mechanisms Leading to Aneuploidy 109
Stem Cells and Cancer Development 110
Chromosome Passenger Proteins and Their Role in Ploidy Promotion111
Chromosome Passenger Proteins and Cancer (Emphasis on the Role
of Aurora-B) 115
Conclusion 116
8. POLYPLOIDIZATION OF LIVER CELLS 123
Severine Celton-Morizur and Chantal Desdouets
Abstract123
Introduction
Polyploidization During Normal (Developmental) Liver Growth124
Mechanism of Binucleation and Polyploidization
Polyploidy in Regenerating Liver and During Pathological States
Conclusion
9. ANALYSIS OF CELLULAR DNA CONTENT BY FLOW
AND LASER SCANNING CYTOMETRY 137
Zbigniew Darzynkiewicz, H. Dorota Halicka and Hong Zhao
Abstract
Introduction
Supravital Cell Staining
DNA Staining after Disruption of Plasma Membrane141
DNA Staining in Fixed Cells
Analysis of DNA in Paraffin-Embedded Samples
Concurrent Analysis of Cell Surface Antigen and DNA Content
Accuracy of DNA Content Measurement
Accessibility of DNA in Chromatin to Fluorochromes
Fluorochrome Binding to DNA-Mass Action Law
Assessment of DNA Ploidy
Conclusion
INDEX 140
11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11

tetraploidy were commonly held to be incidental to tumor evolution. However, within the past several decades the importance of chromosomal abnormalities and chromosomal instability has risen. When aneuploid DNA content became readily identifiable by flow cytometry, it was noted that this finding was more common in higher grade cancers and that aneuploid tumors of many kinds had a more aggressive clinical behavior than their diploid counterparts.^{6,7} Today, some authors argue that the evidence points to aneuploidy playing a pivotal role in the chromosomal instability that generates tumor diversity, clonal evolution and malignant phenotypes.⁸

While an uploidy could in principal be generated by progressive additions to the diploid DNA content by accumulated chromosomal gains, as by mitotic nondisjunction, it would then be puzzling that an uploid tumor DNA contents are most commonly in the triploid to tetraploid range.⁹ Boveri's hypothesis allows that a tetraploid intermediate is a common precursor to aneuploidy and that subsequent chromosomal evolution by loss of superfluous chromosomes or chromosome segments results in the aneuploid chromosomal complement. A conceptual model of the role of the tetraploid intermediate in carcinogenesis was formalized by Shackney et al.¹⁰ Supporting experimental evidence comes from observations of a tetraploid intermediate during murine carcinogenesis.^{11,12} Furthermore, when diploid and tetraploid mouse cells from a common mammary precursor were directly compared, the tetraploid cells had greater chromosomal instability and only the tetraploid cells gave rise to malignant tumors when transplanted into nude mice.¹³ Perhaps most significantly, tetraploidy has been demonstrated to be a precursor of aneuploidy in several human cancers, including Barrett's esophagus (see below) and cervical carcinoma.¹⁴ The mechanisms that underlie generation of the tetraploid state are now recognized to include the failure of cytokinesis and, in particular, failure of checkpoint control during mitosis.¹⁵ Loss of p53 function plays an important role in augmenting this process, as failure of p53-dependent G1 checkpoint and DNA repair commonly result in G2/M checkpoint arrest; failure of this latter checkpoint, or accommodation or "slippage," allows cells to reenter the cell cycle with a failure of cytokinesis, resulting in tetraploid G1 cells.^{15,16}

Tetraploidy and Aneuploidy in Barrett's Esophagus

It is difficult to determine the role of polyploidy and aneuploidy in the development of cancer because most cancers cannot be studied longitudinally. When we detect a neoplasm we either remove it or, if it has metastasized, treat it systemically (which may generate additional aneuploid cells). The same is true for most premalignant neoplasms. This prevents us from studying the effects of ploidy changes on the further development of the neoplasm and from making direct observations of the ordering of events in progression. An important exception is Barrett's esophagus (BE).

Barrett's esophagus is a premalignant neoplasm¹⁷ that predisposes for the development of esophageal adenocarcinoma (EA).¹⁸ Characterized by the presence of specialized intestinal epithelium in the esophagus, it can be recognized endoscopically as a salmon-colored epithelium just above the gastro-esophageal sphincter. Only about 0.5% of people with BE progress to EA per year and most people with BE will die of some other cause.¹⁹ Unlike other premalignant neoplasms, such as an adenomatous polyp in the colon, BE is not removed when detected. Esophagectomies have an 8%-23% mortality rate²⁰ and thus the risk of progression to EA does not justify the risk of removal of the BE segment. Instead, the standard of care is surveillance with periodic endoscopic biopsies for the early detection of cancer. If EA is detected in an intensive surveillance program, it is often caught prior to metastasis and patients can be treated surgically. For these purely clinical reasons, BE presents a scientific opportunity to study the genetics of how a neoplasm changes over time as it progresses to cancer.

We study BE as a model of neoplastic progression in solid tumors. Aside from the danger of removing it and ease of biopsying it, BE is similar to many other conditions that predispose to carcinogenesis in a variety of respects. Like inflammatory bowel disease, hepatitis, pancreatitis, prostatitis, *H. pylori* infection in the stomach and *Schistosomiasis* infection in the bladder, BE is characterized by chronic inflammation.²¹ Similar to other premalignant conditions, only a minority of patients with BE progress to cancer. In addition, neoplastic progression in BE is characterized by some of the most common genetic lesions across all cancers: loss of the tumor suppressor genes p16 (INK4A/CDKN2A) and p53 (TP53) and the development of tetraploidy and aneuploidy. Studying BE provides us the major advantage of observing the development of these lesions over time. What have these longitudinal studies taught us about the role of polyploidy and aneuploidy in neoplastic progression?

p16

The first genetic and epigenetic lesion commonly observed in BE is loss of the p16 tumor suppressor gene. Tlsty and colleagues have argued that loss of p16 leads to decoupling of the synthesis of DNA and centrosomes in the cell cycle, such that if either is delayed, the cell might enter mitosis with the wrong number of centrosomes or the wrong amount of DNA and aneuploidy could result.²² It is unclear if this happens in BE. To date, the association between the loss of p16 and ploidy abnormalities has not been adequately studied. We do know that patients can live for many years lacking p16 in their BE neoplasm but never develop aneuploidy.

p53

The genetic lesion that has been associated with the development of both tetraploidy and aneuploidy in BE is loss of the p53 tumor suppressor.^{23,24} Our current hypothesis is that although aneuploid cells may arise in a p53 wildtype clone, they normally trigger the p53-dependent DNA damage checkpoint which either leads to senescence or apoptosis and so the aneuploid clone never grows large enough to be sampled. Once the p53 checkpoint is compromised, aneuploid clones are free to proliferate without check. This is why we believe that the loss of p53 precedes the development of both tetraploidy and aneuploidy. Loss of heterozygosity at the p53 locus is also the strongest single predictor of progression and is associated with a 16-fold increased risk of developing aneuploidy.

Tetraploidy

Tetraploidy, defined in this case as greater than 6% of cells with 4N DNA content, is also a predictor of progression associated with a 12-fold (95% CI: 6.2-22) increased risk of progression to EA.²⁵ Sometimes this may be an indication of cells being stalled in the G2 phase of the cell cycle. Other times, the presence of 8N cells in cell cycle analysis suggests that there are viable tetraploid cells in the neoplasm. FISH studies have found that loss of heterozygosity in p53 as detected by microsatellite analysis could be caused by deletion of one allele of p53 or, more often, by duplication of the genome followed by deletion of multiple p arms of chromosome 17 where p53 resides.²⁶

Aneuploidy

Most cases of aneuploid clones in BE have DNA content between diploidy and tetraploidy further suggesting that tetraploidy is an intermediate stage of progression followed by selective loss of parts of the genome. This appears to be true of other cancers as well.^{9,27-29} We have compiled a survey of 57 esophageal adenomas that were surgically removed prior to therapy and analyzed for DNA content in our study (Fig. 1). This new data agrees with our previously published data²⁵ that hypodiploids and supratetraploids are rare.

The detection of an aneuploid clone in BE is associated with a 9.5-fold (95% CI: 4.9-18) increased risk of progression.²⁵ However, the presence of both tetraploidy and aneuploidy is an indication of greater risk of progression than either alone^{25,30} and may be a sign of more extensive genomic instability.

It should be noted that in BE, at least, the loss of p53 and the development of aneuploidy is not sufficient to cause cancer. In contrast, loss of p53 is thought to cause malignancy in colorectal carcinogenesis.³¹ Although BE patients with both a p53 lesion and a ploidy lesion (either tetraploidy or aneuploidy) are at a very high risk of progressing to cancer, that process can still take years.³⁰ So there must be other loci that are being targeted by the gains and losses during the further evolution of aneuploid clones. Hopefully, genome-wide analyses of aneuploid BE and EA will reveal the final genetic lesions that cause invasion and metastasis.



Figure 1. 55 out of 57 esophageal adenocarcinomas in the Seattle Barrett's Esophagus cohort were aneuploid or tetraploid. We detected 107 different aneuploid clones (and 2 diploid clones) in these 57 neoplasms. The frequencies of the different ploidies (2 = diploid, 4 = tetraploid) are shown in the histogram.

Not All Aneuploids Are Equal

Every aneuploid clone is unique. Each contains its own set of gains and losses, some of them probably random, others selected because they gave the clone a competitive advantage in the microenvironment of the neoplasm. Thus, it may be misleading to speak of aneuploidy as a "state". We should expect different aneuploid clones to behave differently during progression and therapy.

It is tempting to think of polyploidy as a state that should not substantially affect the fitness of a cell because the gene dosage is amplified equally across the entire genome. However, that would only be true if the expression of genes was a linear function of concentrations of regulatory proteins. Instead, genetic regulatory interactions, including posttranscriptional modifications, multi-mer regulatory complexes and the interactions of enhancers and inhibitors, are all highly nonlinear. Thus, a gene's expression level may actually decrease with the doubling of the genome if it is overwhelmed by the doubling of an inhibitor gene.^{32,33} The effect of increasing the ploidy of a cell on its protein concentrations may be equivalent to genome-wide sequence mutation events. These nonlinear interactions may explain the lethal developmental abnormalities associated with ploidy irregularities in human embryos. Though in most cases gene expression levels do seem to be correlated with gene copy number.^{34,35} In fact, the story may be even more complicated because the phenotype of the cell may depend on how it became polyploid. A study in a BE cell line that reliably produces a tetraploid sub-population showed evidence that the cells had somehow passed through mitosis without actually dividing and expressed genes characteristic of both mitosis and G1.³⁶

Clones that become malignant may derive from tetraploid cells, for the reasons described earlier, including the fact that tetraploid cells have the genetic buffer that allows them to lose large chunks of their chromosomes and thereby select for different gene dosage effects while retaining enough copies of essential genes to maintain the viability of the cell. Diploid cells that start losing large portions of their genome are probably more likely to suffer a fatal genetic lesion.

If this view is correct, then aneuploidy is a crude mechanism to change gene expression levels. It is crude because copy number alterations often affect large regions of a chromosome, sometimes whole chromosomes and so affect many genes at once. We would predict that some aneuploid states would produce gene product levels that result in a higher fitness for an aneuploid cell than a tetraploid cell. Specifically, we would predict that an aneuploid clone should have a higher fitness and expand faster than a tetraploid clone from the same neoplasm. This may explain the apparent transient nature of tetraploidy in BE and could be tested in competition experiments in tissue culture.

Because the regions of copy number change affect so many genes in parallel, it is difficult to determine which among those genes are responsible for any increase in fitness of a clone. While gene mapping studies can help pinpoint specific regions commonly amplified or deleted (e.g., location of p16, p53), in general we need better tools to measure the fitness effects of gene deletions and amplifications to clarify the selective effect of copy number changes.

Amplifications and deletions of a few specific genetic regions are known to be associated with cancer, but thus far a census of copy number changes across cancers has not been compiled. There are a variety of challenges associated with such a task. First of all, it is not clear how to calculate the frequency of a copy number change at a locus. Should it be the frequency across cancer patients, in which case lesions in the most common cancers would dominate the results, or should it be the frequency across sub-types of cancer, such that a lesion that appeared in 50% of a rare type of cancer would be weighted equally with a lesion that appeared in 50% of a common type of cancer? Different sub-types of cancer, even within a particular organ system, are likely to have different patterns of copy number changes across the genome. Many CGH studies have not segregated sub-types of cancer since we are still in the process of distinguishing new sub-types. Defining these different sub-types is important because cancers originating in different cell types and organs experience different microenvironments and thus different evolutionary pressures that select for copy number changes in different parts of the genome. Experimentally, if a cancer is aneuploid it is critical to normalize CGH arrays by the number of cells not the amount of DNA, else the average fluorescence reading in a CGH study would appear to be diploid while true diploid regions would be identified as deletions. CGH array studies are also sensitive to the amount of contaminating stroma than can obscure copy number changes in the cancer. Of course, different studies have used different platforms, so any compilation of current studies probably could not resolve copy number changes below the chromosome arm level. If the cancer genome project is successful, it should solve the problems of low resolution and incompatible technological platforms. In fact, the ability to find consistent patterns of genetic alterations in cancer is one of the justifications for the cancer genome project. A further important result of a comprehensive census of copy number changes in cancers would be a determination of which amplifications and deletions are not seen in cancers. These alterations are likely to be deleterious to a neoplastic clone and might lead to the development of new therapies.

Why Do Cancer Cells Survive with Such Massive Alterations to Their Genome?

The genomic instability that characterizes neoplastic progression often involves gains and losses at the scale of chromosome arms and even whole chromosomes. Thus, hundreds of genes are often duplicated or deleted in a single event. In most biological (and technological) systems, a mutation in a functional part is deleterious. How can a cell survive the massive alterations seen in cancers?

Amplification of a gene, while often increasing expression level of the gene, does not necessarily increase the protein level of that gene. There is evidence that if a gene is normally part of a protein complex and the other members of the complex are not over-expressed, the over-expressed, uncomplexed protein may be quickly degraded, resulting in normal protein levels.³⁴ Thus, cells may be robust to many amplification events.

Devoting metabolic effort for the benefit of the organism and suppressing cellular proliferation are disadvantageous for a neoplastic cell. Those cells that can reproduce faster, avoid differentiation, suppress apoptosis, stabilize their telomeres and stimulate angiogenesis when hypoxia becomes a problem will proliferate faster than competitors that lack those hallmarks of cancer.³⁷ At the initiation of a neoplasm, cells may not be adapted to the selective pressures of the neoplasm. It is quite possible that many mutations would be beneficial rather than deleterious because they result in the dismantling of the genetic machinery that keeps proliferation in check in a multicellular body.

Perhaps most of the genome of a multicellular organism is devoted to building and maintaining the organism rather than the individual cells³⁸ and so even large scale copy number changes may not be deleterious for a neoplastic cell.

This hypothesis, that large scale deletions in cells are much more likely to be beneficial to the cell than to an embryo, could be tested experimentally. One could experimentally delete chromosome arms by using the Cre-lox system of site-directed recombination³⁹⁻⁴¹ (and perhaps even whole chromosomes if one deleted the centromere). The fate of the cell as an orthotopic injection or as an embryonic stem cell could then be compared to wildtype cells. Expression of Cre under an organ-specific promoter would help test the effects of deletions in different organ contexts. It would be important to do the complementary experiment, testing the selective effects of amplifying whole chromosomes or chromosome arms. A recent study generated yeast strains with extra chromosome through abortive nuclear fusions during mating and showed that an extra copy of a chromosome caused a decrease in fitness, regardless of which chromosome was duplicated.³⁴ We are not aware of an experimental method to carry out an equivalent study in mammalian cells, though fibroblasts from Downs syndrome patients (trisomy of chromosome 21) grow more slowly than fibroblasts from age-matched controls.⁴²

Aneuploidy in Development

Certainly during development most inherited copy number changes are deleterious. The selective effect of ploidy changes appears to be fundamentally different in cancer as compared to ploidy abnormalities present in the germ line. During development, ploidy abnormalities are nearly always lethal. Trisomy (3n) of the entire genome, usually caused by the fertilization of a single egg by two sperm, is lethal, as is tetraploidy (4n), generally caused by the failure of the zygote to divide. Monosomy of individual chromosomes is invariably lethal at a very early stage in gestation, as is trisomy of all but a few chromosomes.⁴³

Aneuploidy is common in human embryos and is the leading cause of miscarriage.⁴⁴ For unknown reasons, humans have a 10-fold higher rate of aneuploidy compared to other mammals.⁴⁵ A few duplications do lead to viable offspring, occurring as rare genetic disorders. Trisomy of chromosomes 13, 18 and 21 are the only whole-autosome trisomies compatible with survival until birth and only trisomy of chromosome 21 (Downs syndrome) allows for survival into adulthood. All are associated with significant developmental abnormalities. Trisomy of chromosome 13 (Patau syndrome) is associated with limb and facial abnormalities, heart and kidney defects and neurological abnormalities including failure of the brain to divide into halves during gestation (holoprosencephaly). Trisomy of 18 (Edwards syndrome) also leads to severe developmental abnormalities.⁴⁶ In addition, there are a variety of other conditions associated with ploidy abnormalities (loss or duplication) of various chromosome arms or smaller sections of chromosomes, including trisomy of chromosome arms 10q, 16p and q and monosomy disorders such as 4p- (Wolf-Herschhorn syndrome) and 5p- (cri-du-chat syndrome). While many of these abnormalities have been described, only a few have been genetically characterized. For instance, a 17p- monosomy known as Smith-Magenis syndrome is specifically caused by deletion of the RAI1 (retinoic acid induced 1) gene. The exact function of the gene is unknown, but it is believed be a transcriptional regulator critical for neurological development with disease symptoms the result of haploinsufficiency.⁴⁷

So what is different about cancer that allows for rampant aneuploidy? A copy number change that affects every cell in the body may be likely to have catastrophic effects in at least one organ. In contrast, after development if a new copy number mutation occurs within a single organ, it may be unlikely to be immediately fatal. In fact, cells in any particular organ may not utilize many genes in the genome and so large deletions and amplifications may often be selectively neutral, rather than deleterious. So, large scale copy number changes may only be important during development. Of course, cancer is disadvantageous to the organism as a whole, so perhaps some copy number changes are lethal during development because they essentially cause cancer before the body can even form. One way to test this idea in a model species would be to determine if embryonic cells with extra chromosomes divide at different rates than normal embryos.

Polyploidy in the Evolution of Species

Polyploidization has been hypothesized by some to be a substantive force in genome evolution in both plants and animals.⁴⁸ There are a variety of hypotheses for the benefits of polyploidy in genome evolution, though few of these would explain any immediate benefit that would occur on the time scale of a developing cancer. Polyploidy in plants is common, particularly in angiosperms, which raises the question of why polyploidy is detrimental in animal systems but not in plants. It may be a more common phenomenon in plants for the following reasons. First, many plants are self-fertilizing and thus do not have to contend with the problem of reproduction with an individual with the standard chromosome number. Second, polyploidization in animals is thought to be developmentally lethal because of imbalances in protein levels; humans face this issue with their dimorphic sex chromosomes and the X-inactivation mechanism is required for dosage compensation. One would presume that plants would face the same challenges, though perhaps plants have better mechanisms for dosage compensation. In animals, ploidy abnormalities often lead to sterility, a problem not encountered by plants. Plants are also less susceptible to cancer than animals since they lack the circulatory system, migratory (potentially metastatic) cells and vulnerability to organ failure common in animals.

Despite these differences, some insights may be gained by examining the major hypotheses for the frequency of polyploidization in plant systems.⁴⁹ Polyploid plants tend to be larger and more robust. This may explain why many domesticated crops are polyploid and why polyploidy is more likely in plants found in extreme environments. Polyploids also have the advantage of gene redundancy: disadvantageous recessive alleles are masked by wild-type alleles and mutations occurring in duplicated alleles may not reduce the total fitness of the organism.⁵⁰ In plants, polyploidy also can lead to a loss of self-incompatibility, which may improve reproductive ability. Many animal genomes also show evidence of ancient polyploidization events.⁴⁸ Similar to the hypothesized diploid-tetraploid-aneuploid progression in cancer,^{16,51} it is thought that genomes may be initially unstable after a polyploidization event and then detrimental duplicated genes are removed or diverge through the process of selection.⁵²

Why Is Aneuploidy Common in Neoplastic Progression?

Setting aside the issue of what proportion of copy number changes are beneficial to a neoplastic cell, there is still a question of why aneuploidy and polyploidy are so common in cancer. There are at least three categories of possible explanations for the prevalence of aneuploidy in carcinogenesis: 1) Aneuploidy is a common side effect of lesions that occur during carcinogenesis but is otherwise evolutionarily neutral. 2) Aneuploid clones, by dint of their genetic instability, often generate specific genetic lesions that provide the clone with a competitive advantage over other clones, regardless of their ploidy. 3) Aneuploidy itself provides a competitive advantage over diploid clones.

A Competitive Advantage of Aneuploidy

Several lines of evidence seem most compatible with the third hypothesis: Aneuploidy is observed at high frequencies in many cancers and many different types of cancer.⁵³ Aneuploidy is more common in higher grade cancers and is associated with more aggressive clinical behavior.⁶⁷ Aneuploidy does not seem to be logically required for carcinogenesis. Diploid cells can silence tumor suppressor genes by methylation, sequence mutations or localized deletions. They can also activate oncogenes by sequence mutations, local amplifications or over-activation of up-stream genes in the same pathway. This line of reasoning also suggests that aneuploidy may be common because it often provides a direct competitive advantage over diploid cells. Why might this be true?

We argued above that nonlinear feedback effects in gene regulation may make large scale amplifications act like wide spread mutations, up- and down-regulating expression of genes across the genome. Our question then becomes: Given the conventional wisdom that random mutations are expected to reduce fitness, why do the 'mutation packages' resulting from aneuploidy apparently go to high frequency, as if under positive somatic selection? There is a crucial difference between the expected fitness effects of mutations in organisms versus in metazoan cells. Organismal selection has favored any alleles that increase organismal survival and reproduction. Thus, organisms are typically on or near a peak in their fitness landscape so that most random moves in phenotype space (most mutations) are detrimental to organism fitness.

In contrast, during the progression of a neoplasm, cells are subject not to organismal selection, but to somatic selection among cells.⁵⁴ Through their evolutionary history of organismal selection, genomes have not been shaped for optimal fitness in terms of somatic selection. Indeed the opposite may be closer to the truth. Many of the genes in a metazoan genome may function to constrain cellular competition.⁵⁵ For example, a history of organismal selection has shaped cell genotypes that limit cell reproduction and increase cell mortality (e.g., through apoptosis).⁵⁴ This implies that many mutations may provide a competitive advantage for the mutant cell.³⁸ Organismal selection is also expected to create in cells mechanisms of 'antiredundancy' or hypersensitivity to the deleterious effects of mutations which help the organism by culling mutant genomes from its cell population.⁵⁶

The combined effect of evolved constraints on cellular competition and evolved antiredundancy mechanisms is that in terms of somatic competition within an organism, cells are expected to be located at or near the bottom of a 'pit' in their fitness landscape.

For organisms located on a fitness peak, random mutations are expected on average to be deleterious. In contrast, for cells located in a fitness pit, random mutations are expected on average to be beneficial.

Since the vast majority of aneuploid and polyploidy cells are supradiploid (greater than 2N chromosomes, Fig. 1), at the very least they carry the burden of having to replicate more DNA during the synthesis phase of the cell cycle than a diploid cell. This should require more cellular resources and perhaps more time than a diploid cell. If the process of genome synthesis is sufficiently parallel and resources are not limiting, then the extra DNA content of a supradiploid cell may not reduce the reproduction rate of the cell. One might be able to test this by generating a tetraploid cell through fusion and comparing its cell cycle time to the diploid cells that were used to generate it. Aneuploids generated in yeast appear to have reduced proliferation rates and require increased glucose uptake to fuel the protein synthesis generated by extra copies of genes which are mostly active.³⁴ Furthermore, experimental suppression of CENP produces aneuploid cells with a reduced frequency of viable daughter cells but without a measurable change in the net proliferation rate.⁵⁷

One possible explanation for a supradiploid competitive advantage over diploid cells is that supradiploid cells are likely to be more robust to deletions and gene inactivation because they have more copies of essential genes than diploid cells. If an essential gene is haploinsufficient, then a deletion of a single allele in a diploid cell will be fatal. However, a deletion of a single allele in a tetraploid cell would leave three viable alleles and the tetraploid cell would survive. Thus, we would expect environments that cause frequent deletions to select for supradiploid cells. Conditions of chronic inflammation, including Barrett's esophagus, produce oxygen and nitrogen radicals that can result in such DNA damage.⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰

Aneuploidy May Generate Advantageous Lesions

The fact that experimentally derived aneuploid cells tend to suffer a fitness disadvantage relative to wildtype cells^{34,57} suggests that aneuploidy, as a form of a mutator phenotype,^{61,62} may not provide a direct advantage but may increase the probability that one of the genetic variants it generates has a competitive advantage due to the inactivation of a tumor suppressor gene or the amplification of an oncogene. Mutators gain a competitive advantage over nonmutators in at least three cases. First, if beneficial mutations are more likely than deleterious mutations, a lineage that increases its mutation rate will also, on average, increase its fitness. Second, even if deleterious mutations are more common than beneficial mutations, if the occasional beneficial mutation has a dramatic effect, the mutator lineage may generate a variant that out-competes all other lineages even if most of the variants it had produced until that point had been burdened with deleterious mutations. Weaver et al found that although their aneuploid cells produced

fewer viable daughter cells than wildtype cells, aneuploid cells produced more colonies capable of anchorage independent growth.⁵⁷ Finally, if the selective environment—including both the microenvironment and the genetic make-up of the competitors—changes frequently, a lineage that produces a diverse set of offspring is more likely to produce at least one that can survive in the changing environment compared to a lineage that produces a homogenous set of offspring. In this case, a mutator lineage is more likely to adapt to the changing environment than a nonmutator. All of these possibilities may apply to neoplastic progression. Experiments to test the fitness effects of various mutations could test the first two cases. Whether an aneuploid cell evolves faster to a changing environment than a diploid cell could be tested in vitro with any number of changing exposures. It is interesting to note that spontaneously occurring mutator strains of *E. coli* do not appear to have a higher fitness than the nonmutator strains.^{63,64} We should not be too quick to accept the idea of an indirect benefit of aneuploidy as a mutator phenotype.

Aneuploidy May Be an Evolutionarily Neutral By-Product of Carcinogenesis

The final alternative is that aneuploidy is evolutionarily neutral. It may be a common phenomenon if many genetic and epigenetic lesions can produce aneuploidy or polyploidy by disrupting the cell cycle machinery. Erosion of telomeres leads to bridge-breakage-fusion cycles and so aneuploidy may be a consequence of extensive proliferation in neoplasms.^{65,66} If we assume that deletions are more likely to be deleterious than amplifications, then we would predict that most aneuploids and polyploids should be supradiploid. In any case, because the aneuploid clone is hypothesized to be neutral, it should only expand (and contract) by genetic drift, that is, very slowly and then only by chance. If these lesions are common, it is much more likely that a new aneuploid clone would emerge before a previous aneuploid clone could take over the neoplasm. On average, it requires N cell generations for a neutral clone to expand to fill a neoplasm of N cells. If a cell generation takes one day and we assume 1 cm³ neoplasm (~10⁹ cells) has a frequency of 10⁻⁴ stem cells,⁶⁷⁻⁷² then an evolutionarily neutral aneuploid stem cell should take approximately 300 years to fill that neoplasm.

The neutral hypothesis of the evolution of an euploidy predicts that neoplasms will accumulate many an euploid clones that coexist but mostly derive from different diploid progenitors. Thus, the aneuploid clones should not be closely genetically related. In contrast, the hypothesis that an euploid provides a selective advantage predicts that the aneuploid clone should expand in the neoplasm and, if there are multiple clones they will likely be closely related as the aneuploid lineage spins off genetic variants. These hypotheses could be distinguished by taking multiple biopsies from a neoplasm and characterizing their genetics to determine the size and relationships between clones. In BE, we typically see the later pattern, with either a single or closely related aneuploid clones in the neoplasm. This suggests that aneuploid provides or leads to a selective advantage in BE. However, for unknown reasons, it is rare for an aneuploid clone to take over the entire neoplasm.¹⁷

Whether aneuploidy and more generally chromosomal instability, provides a competitive advantage for a neoplastic clone may have clinical importance. If aneuploidy provides a competitive advantage, then any surviving aneuploid cells after therapy are likely to replenish and dominate the neoplasm at relapse. If aneuploidy is evolutionarily neutral, a diploid surviving clone is just as likely to grow back to fill the void caused by the intervention. We would predict that aneuploid neoplasms would contain more genetic variants than diploid neoplasms and be more likely to harbor a therapeutically resistant clone. However, neoplasms dominated by genetic drift are more likely to accumulate genetic diversity than neoplasms in which one clone has a competitive advantage and can drive other clones extinct. The current amount of genetic diversity and thus the likelihood of resistance, depends on the interplay between the frequency with which new clones are generated and the homogenizing effects of clonal expansion.^{53,73}

DNA Damage Sensing by Linkage

There is a much literature on the mechanisms of DNA damage sensing in the cell cycle, much of it centered on the role of p53.^{74.76} This work has been more competently reviewed by others.^{77,78} Here we focus on a hypothesis for an alternative and perhaps more primitive, mechanism for sensing DNA damage: linkage between tumor suppressor genes and essential genes.

Some regions of the genome may be protected by the presence of genes that are necessary for the survival of the cell. If enough deletions occur in that region to knock out all alleles of such genes, the cell dies and those genetic lesions are not propagated in the tissue. There is another set of genes, including tumor suppressor genes, which if lost decreases the fitness of the organism but not necessarily the cell. That is, if a clone loses enough alleles of tumor suppressor genes, it might expand but eventually kill its host. Thus, selection at the organism level may have increased the fitness of organisms by shuffling the gene order in a genome to place genes essential for the survival of a cell near to genes essential for the survival of the organism. In this way, if a deletion knocks out the tumor suppressor gene, it is also likely to knock out the nearby essential gene and the cell will die before it can generate a cancer. Thus genes essential for the survival of the cell may act like a crude form of DNA damage sensing, specific to a particular locus in the genome, that triggers apoptosis.

We predict that there has been selection for linking tumor suppressor genes with genes essential for cell survival. Such a linkage would bias against the discovery of the tumor suppressor gene. Linkage with an essential gene would tend to prevent those tumor suppressor genes from being knocked out in neoplasms with chromosomal instability and those tumor suppressor genes would be more likely to be identified in cases where the tumor suppressor gene was silenced by methylation or sequence mutations, leaving the nearby essential gene intact. The observation of at least 245 rearrangements between the human and mouse genomes may be a signature of selection for this kind of linkage.⁷⁹ This hypothesis provides one of the first explanations for a selective pressure that may be driving genome rearrangements in species.

Ancient and Recent Cancer Genes

Evolution is often described as a process of accretion. New features are added to old structures. Genes are duplicated and then diverge, adding interactions to an existing gene network. Thus, ancient genes are likely to be in the middle of such a network with many other genes depending on them. Recently evolved genes are likely to be at the periphery with fewer genes depending on them.⁸⁰ This leads to the prediction that copy number changes that affect recently evolved genes should be less likely to be deleterious than copy number changes that affect ancient genes. Careful analysis of CGH data from neoplasms might be used to test this prediction. Alternatively, an in vitro system for testing fitness effects⁸¹ might be used to test the prediction in conjunction with the targeted deletion or amplification of either ancient or recently evolved genes.

Conclusion

Aneuploidy is a feature of almost all cancers and many premalignant conditions, including Barrett's esophagus. There are a few exceptions to this rule^{27,82} including microsatellite instable colorectal cancer which can generate many genetic lesions without requiring copy number abnormalities.⁸³ Despite its prevalence, the significance of aneuploidy in cancer is poorly understood. By considering aneuploidy in an evolutionary context and examining its selective effects, we may better be able to understand how this phenomenon contributes to cancer progression. Evolutionary theory predicts that most mutations are deleterious, yet the prevalence of aneuploidy indicates that cancers are able to tolerate an enormous load of mutations and still utilize the body's resources and proliferate faster than normal cells. Evidence in Barrett's esophagus correlates the incidence of tetraploidy and aneuploidy with increased risk of progression. By designing experiments to examine the effects of aneuploidy in cancer and normal cells, we can help determine how aneuploidy develops and spreads in the hopes of developing predictive tools to allow us to better treat patients and prevent cancer.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Brian Reid and Rissa Sanchez for helpful advice and supplying the ploidy data on esophageal adenocarcinomas from the Seattle Barrett's Esophagus Research Program. This work was supported in part by the Commonwealth Universal Research Enhancement Program from the Pennsylvania Department of Health, the Pew Charitable Trust and NIH grants T32 CA09171 and P01 CA91955.

References

- 1. Castro MA, Onsten TT, de Almeida et al. Profiling cytogenetic diversity with entropy-based karyotypic analysis. J Theor Biol 2005; 234(4):487-95.
- 2. Harada T, Okita K, Shiraishi K et al. Interglandular cytogenetic heterogeneity detected by comparative genomic hybridization in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 2002; 62(3):835-9.
- 3. Murphy DS, Hoare SF, Going JJ et al. Characterization of extensive genetic alterations in ductal carcinoma in situ by fluorescence in situ hybridization and molecular analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 1995; 87(22):1694-704.
- 4. Wolff J. Die Lehre von der Krebskrankheit. Sagamore Beach, MA: Science History Publishers; 1907.
- 5. Boveri T. The origin of malignant tumours (trans). Baltimore, MD: Willimas and Wilkins; 1929.
- 6. Friedlander ML, Hedley DW, Taylor IW. Clinical and biological significance of aneuploidy in human tumours. J Clin Pathol 1984; 37(9):961-74.
- Herman CJ. Cytometric DNA analysis in the management of cancer. Clinical and laboratory considerations. Cancer 1992; 69(6 Suppl):1553-6.
- 8. Duesberg P, Li R, Fabarius A et al. The chromosomal basis of cancer. Cell Oncol 2005; 27(5-6):293-318.
- 9. Raber MN, Barlogie B. Flow cytometry of human solid tumors. In: Melamed M, Lindmo T and Mendelsohn ML. Flow cytometry and sorting, New York: Wiley-Liss; 1990; p. 547-54.
- Shackney SE, Smith CA, Miller BW et al. Model for the genetic evolution of human solid tumors. Cancer Res 1989; 49(12):3344-54.
- Ornitz DM, Hammer RE, Messing A et al. Pancreatic neoplasia induced by SV40 T-antigen expression in acinar cells of transgenic mice. Science 1987; 238(4824):188-93.
- 12. Levine DS, Sanchez CA, Rabinovitch PS et al. Formation of the tetraploid intermediate is associated with the development of cells with more than four centrioles in the elastase-simian virus 40 tumor antigen transgenic mouse model of pancreatic cancer [published erratum appears in Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991; 88(15):6427-31.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437(7061):1043-7.
- Heselmeyer K, Schrock E, du Manoir S et al. Gain of chromosome 3q defines the transition from severe dysplasia to invasive carcinoma of the uterine cervix. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93(1):479-84.
- Margolis RL, Lohez OD, Andreassen PR. G1 tetraploidy checkpoint and the suppression of tumorigenesis. J Cell Biochem 2003; 88(4):673-83.
- Ganem NJ, Storchova Z, Pellman D. Tetraploidy, aneuploidy and cancer. Curr. Opin. Genet Dev 2007; 17(2):157-62.
- 17. Maley CC, Galipeau PC, Li X et al. Selectively advantageous mutations and hitchhikers in neoplasms: p16 lesions are selected in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Res 2004; 64(10):3414-27.
- 18. Maley CC. Multistage carcinogenesis in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Lett 2006;
- 19. Sharma P, Falk GW, Weston AP et al. Dysplasia and cancer in a large multicenter cohort of patients with Barrett's esophagus. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006; 4(5):566-72.
- Birkmeyer JD, Siewers AE, Finlayson EV et al. Hospital volume and surgical mortality in the United States. N Engl J Med 2002; 346(15):1128-37.
- Balkwill F, Charles KA, Mantovani A. Smoldering and polarized inflammation in the initiation and promotion of malignant disease. Cancer Cell 2005; 7(3):211-7.
- McDermott KM, Zhang J, Holst CR et al. p16(INK4a) prevents centrosome dysfunction and genomic instability in primary cells. PLoS Biol 2006; 4(3):e51.
- 23. Prevo LJ, Sanchez CA, Galipeau PC et al. p53-mutant clones and field effects in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Res 1999; 59(19):4784-7.
- 24 Reid BJ, Prevo LJ, Galipeau PC et al. Predictors of progression in Barrett's esophagus II: baseline 17p (p53) loss of heterozygosity identifies a patient subset at increased risk for neoplastic progression. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001; 96:2839-48.
- 25. Rabinovitch PS, Longton G, Blount PL et al. Predictors of progression in Barrett's esophagus III: baseline flow cytometric variables. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96(11):3071-83.

- 26. Wongsurawat VJ, Finley JC, Galipeau PC et al. Genetic mechanisms of TP53 loss of heterozygosity in Barrett's esophagus: implications for biomarker validation. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev 2006; 15(3):509-16.
- 27. Kristensen GB, Kaern J, Abeler VM et al. No prognostic impact of flow-cytometric measured DNA ploidy and S-phase fraction in cancer of the uterine cervix: a prospective study of 465 patients. Gynecol Oncol 1995; 57(1):79-85.
- Ewers SB, Langstrom E, Baldetorp B et al. Flow-cytometric DNA analysis in primary breast carcinomas and clinicopathological correlations. Cytometry 1984; 5(4):408-19.
- 29. Giaretti W. A model of DNA aneuploidization and evolution in colorectal cancer. Lab Invest 1994; 71(6):904-10.
- Galipeau PC, Li X, Blount PL et al. NSAIDs Modulate CDKN2A, TP53 and DNA Content Risk for Progression to Esophageal Adenocarcinoma. PLoS Medicine 2007; 4:e67.
- 31. Fearon ER, Vogelstein B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 1990; 61(5):759-67.
- 32. Galitski T, Saldanha AJ, Styles CA et al. Ploidy regulation of gene expression. Science 1999; 285(5425):251-4.
- 33. Guo M, Davis D, Birchler JA. Dosage effects on gene expression in a maize ploidy series. Genetics 1996; 142(4):1349-55.
- Torres EM, Sokolsky T, Tucker CM et al. Effects of aneuploidy on cellular physiology and cell division in haploid yeast. Science 2007; 317(5840):916-24.
- 35. Hughes TR, Mao M, Jones AR et al. Expression profiling using microarrays fabricated by an ink-jet oligonucleotide synthesizer. Nat Biotechnol 2001; 19(4):342-7.
- 36. Barrett MT, Pritchard D, Palanca-Wessels C et al. Molecular phenotype of spontaneously arising 4N (G2-tetraploid) intermediates of neoplastic progression in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Res 2003; 63(14):4211-7.
- 37. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000; 100(1):57-70.
- Rajagopalan H, Nowak MA, Vogelstein B et al. The significance of unstable chromosomes in colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2003; 3:695-701.
- 39. Zhu YT, Qi C, Hu L et al. Efficient generation of random chromosome deletions. Biotechniques 2007; 42(5):572, 4, 6.
- 40. Zheng B, Sage M, Sheppeard EA et al. Engineering mouse chromosomes with Cre-loxP: range, efficiency and somatic applications. Mol Cell Biol 2000; 20(2):648-55.
- Brault V, Besson V, Magnol L et al. Cre/loxP-mediated chromosome engineering of the mouse genome. Handb Exp Pharmacol 2007; 178:29-48.
- 42. Segal DJ, McCoy EE. Studies on Down's syndrome in tissue culture. I. Growth rates and protein contents of fibroblast cultures. J Cell Physiol 1974; 83(1):85-90.
- 43 Strachan T, Read AP. Human Molecular Genetics 2. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons Inc.; 1999.
- 44. Daniely M, Barkai G, Goldman B et al. Detection of numerical chromosome aberrations by comparative genomic hybridization. Prenat Diagn 1999; 19(2):100-4.
- 45. Wells D, Delhanty JD. Comprehensive chromosomal analysis of human preimplantation embryos using whole genome amplification and single cell comparative genomic hybridization. Mol Hum Reprod 2000; 6(11):1055-62.
- 46. Baty BJ, Blackburn BL, Carey JC. Natural history of trisomy 18 and trisomy 13: I. Growth, physical assessment, medical histories, survival and recurrence risk. Am J Med Genet 1994; 49(2):175-88.
- Gropman AL, Elsea S, Duncan WC et al. New developments in Smith-Magenis syndrome (del 17p11.2). Curr Opin Neurol 2007; 20(2):125-34.
- 48. Otto SP, Whitton J. Polyploid incidence and evolution. Annu Rev Genet 2000; 34:401-37.
- 49. Comai L. The advantages and disadvantages of being polyploid. Nat Rev Genet 2005; 6(11):836-46.
- 50. Thorpe PH, Gonzalez-Barrera S, Rothstein R. More is not always better: the genetic constraints of polyploidy. Trends Genet 2007; 23(6):263-6.
- Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5(1):45-54.
- Comai L, Tyagi AP, Winter K et al. Phenotypic instability and rapid gene silencing in newly formed arabidopsis allotetraploids. Plant Cell 2000; 12(9):1551-68.
- 53. Draviam VM, Xie S, Sorger PK. Chromosome segregation and genomic stability. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2004; 14(2):120-5.
- Merlo LM, Pepper JW, Reid BJ et al. Cancer as an evolutionary and ecological process. Nat Rev Cancer 2006; 6(12):924-35.
- 55. Buss LW. The Evolution of Individuality. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; 1987.
- Krakauer DC, Plotkin JB. Redundancy, antiredundancy and the robustness of genomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99(3):1405-9.

- Weaver BA, Silk AD, Montagna C et al. Aneuploidy acts both oncogenically and as a tumor suppressor. Cancer Cell 2007; 11(1):25-36.
- Grisham MB, Jourd'heuil D, Wink DA. Review article: chronic inflammation and reactive oxygen and nitrogen metabolism—implications in DNA damage and mutagenesis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2000; 14(Supp l) 1:3-9.
- Shen Z, Wu W, Hazen SL. Activated leukocytes oxidatively damage DNA, RNA and the nucleotide pool through halide-dependent formation of hydroxyl radical. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2000; 39(18):5474-82.

60. Kubes P, McCafferty DM. Nitric oxide and intestinal inflammation. Am J Med 2000; 109(2):150-8.

- 61. Loeb LA. Mutator phenotype may be required for multistage carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 1991; 51:3075-9.
- 62. Loeb KR, Loeb LA. Significance of multiple mutations in cancer. Carcinogenesis 2000; 21(3):379-85.
- Sniegowski PD, Gerrish PJ, Lenski RE. Evolution of high mutation rates in experimental populations of E. coli. Nature 1997; 387(6634):703-5.
- 64. Sniegowski PD, Gerrish PJ, Johnson T et al. The evolution of mutation rates: separating causes from consequences. Bioessays 2000; 22(12):1057-66.
- 65. Pathak S, Multani AS. Aneuploidy, stem cells and cancer. EXS 2006; 96:49-64.
- Pathak S, Multani AS, Furlong CL et al. Telomere dynamics, aneuploidy, stem cells and cancer (review). Int J Oncol 2002; 20(3):637-41.
- Holyoake T, Jiang X, Eaves C et al. Isolation of a highly quiescent subpopulation of primitive leukemic cells in chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 1999; 94(6):2056-64.
- Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J et al. A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature 1994; 367(6464):645-8.
- Collins AT, Berry PA, Hyde C et al. Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 2005; 65(23):10946-51.
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 2004; 432(7015):396-401.
- 71. Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P et al. Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 2007; 67(3):1030-7.
- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A et al. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 100(7):3983-8.
- Maley CC, Galipeau PC, Finley JC et al. Genetic clonal diversity predicts progression to esophageal adenocarcinoma. Nat Genet 2006; 38(4):468-73.
- 74. Helton ES, Chen X. p53 modulation of the DNA damage response. J Cell Biochem 2007; 100(4):883-96.
- Bartek J, Lukas J. DNA damage checkpoints: from initiation to recovery or adaptation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2007; 19(2):238-45.
- 76. Li L, Zou L. Sensing, signaling and responding to DNA damage: organization of the checkpoint pathways in mammalian cells. J Cell Biochem 2005; 94(2):298-306.
- 77. Tarapore P, Fukasawa K. p53 mutation and mitotic infidelity. Cancer Invest 2000; 18(2):148-55.
- Efeyan A, Serrano M. p53: guardian of the genome and policeman of the oncogenes. Cell Cycle 2007; 6(9):1006-10.
- Pevzner P, Tesler G. Human and mouse genomic sequences reveal extensive breakpoint reuse in mammalian evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 100(13):7672-7.
- 80. Riedl R. Order in Living Systems: A Systems Analysis of Evolution. New York: Wiley; 1978.
- Lenski RE, Rose MR, Simpson SC et al. Long-Term Experimental Evolution in Escherichia coli. I. Adaptation and Divergence During 2,000 Generations. American Naturalist 1991; 138(6):1315-41.
- 82. Joensuu H, Klemi P, Eerola E et al. Influence of cellular DNA content on survival in differentiated thyroid cancer. Cancer 1986; 58(11):2462-7.
- Lynch HT, de la Chapelle A. Genetic susceptibility to nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. J Med Genet 1999; 36(11):801-18.

CHAPTER 2

Molecular Mechanisms and Function of the Spindle Checkpoint, a Guardian of the Chromosome Stability

Daisuke Ito and Tomohiro Matsumoto*

Abstract

requal segregation, chromosomes, which are distributed randomly in the nucleus of interphase, must be aligned at the spindle equator in mitosis before the onset of sister chromatid separation. The spindle checkpoint is a surveillance mechanism that delays the onset of sister chromatid separation while each chromosome is on the way to the spindle equator. Failure in the function of the checkpoint results in aneuploidy/polyploidy, which would be a cause of cancer. Here, we review chromosome dynamics in mitosis, molecular mechanisms of the spindle checkpoint and finally tumorigenesis triggered by missegregation of chromosomes.

Introduction

Mitosis is the final stage of the cell cycle in which chromosomes duplicated in the preceding S phase are segregated equally to two daughter cells. Aneuploidy is a state of the cell with an abnormal chromosome number and is thought to be a cause of congenital hereditary disorders such as Down's syndrome and a trigger for tumorigenesis. It is generally believed that aneuploidy is caused by a failure in chromosome segregation during cell division including both mitosis and meiosis. In the mitosis in vertebrate cells, chromosomes are highly condensed in prophase; following the nuclear membrane breakdown, the condensed chromosomes are captured by spindle microtubules in prometaphase. After the chromosomes are attached to the spindle, they congress on the metaphase plate and are segregated to each daughter cell. In this process, premature separation of a chromosome which is not correctly attached to the spindle microtubules from both poles (called bipolar attachment) leads to a catastrophic consequence: each daughter cell possesses extra or fewer numbers of chromosomes. Usually a surveillance mechanism prevents missegregation of chromosomes during cell division. The spindle checkpoint (also referred to as spindle-assembly checkpoint) is a mechanism that ensures the accurate segregation of chromosomes in mitosis by delaying the onset of anaphase until all the kinetochores of chromosomes are fully attached to the spindle. In this chapter, we provide an overview of chromosome dynamics in mitosis and the molecular mechanism of the spindle checkpoint from the aspect of both its activation and silencing. We also discuss how aneuploidy/polyploidy can trigger tumorigenesis.

*Corresponding Author: Tomohiro Matsumoto—Radiation Biology Center and Graduate School of Biostudies, Kyoto University, Yoshidakonoe-cho, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto, Japan 606-8501. Email: tmatsumo@house.rbc.kyoto-u.ac.jp

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

Bipolar Attachment and Chromosome Congression

Chromosomes, which are distributed randomly in the nucleus at the onset of mitosis, must be placed on the metaphase plate before anaphase. To be more precise, all sister chromatids must be bi-oriented (i.e., they attach to the spindle via two kinetochores, each of which interacts with the spindle radiated from one of the two poles) and are positioned on the spindle equator (Fig. 1), a mid point between the two poles. Interaction between the spindle and chromosomes plays a key role in determining the position of each chromosome in mitosis.



Figure 1. Chromosome dynamics in mitosis. At an early stage of mitosis, sister chromatids interact with the spindle from one pole via one kinetochore (A). These sister chromatids are pulled toward the pole and the chromosome arms are pushed away by interaction between kinesin-related protein and microtubules (B). Upon attachment to the spindle from the other pole, the mono-oriented sister chromatids become bi-oriented (C) and start congression and then they are pulled by the other pole (D). The sister kinetochores switch on and off the poleward and polar ejection force (E). Eventually the sister-chromatids are positioned at the spindle equator (F). In addition, mono-oriented sister chromatids laterally attach to the matured K-fiber between another kinetochore and the pole and slide to the metaphase plate (F).

At an early stage of mitosis, each sister chromatid interacts with the spindle radiated from one pole via one kinetochore (Fig. 1A). This mono-oriented sister chromatid is pulled toward the pole by the attached spindle. At the same time, its arm is pushed away, likely by interaction between kinesin-related proteins, Kid^{1,2} and microtubules (Fig. 1B). The two opposing forces, the poleward force and the polar ejection force, act on the leading kinetochore. As it moves closer to the attached pole, the polar ejection force increases. It has been proposed that the leading kinetochore switches off the poleward force when it senses the increasing polar ejection force and thereby allows pole-away movement.³ When the sister chromatid moves away from the pole and the polar ejection force decreases, the leading kinetochore switches on the poleward force again and moves toward the pole. By repeating this switching process, the leading kinetochore allows oscillation, the movement of the sister chromatid going back and forth around the pole.

Upon the attachment to the spindle radiated from the other pole during the period of oscillation, mono-oriented sister chromatids become bi-oriented (Fig. 1C) and start congression, the movement toward the spindle equator. The kinetochore closer to its attached pole encounters the poleward force through the attached spindle and polar ejection force through both the arm and the sister kinetochore. As the polar ejection force increases, the kinetochore switches off the poleward force. Its sister kinetochore then becomes the leading kinetochore and moves the sister chromatid toward the other pole (Fig. 1D). When the sister chromatid passes the spindle equator, the new leading kinetochore switches off the poleward force due to an increase in the ejection force. The sister kinetochore then switches on the poleward force and pulls the sister chromatid back to its attached pole (Fig. 1E). Repeating these processes results in congression and the sister chromatid is eventually placed at the spindle equator (Fig. 1F).^{3,4} Although bi-orientation followed by congression is a major process to place sister chromatids at the metaphase plate, a recent study demonstrated that mono-oriented sister chromatids can migrate to the metaphase plate.⁵ A mono-oriented sister chromatid oscillating near the pole may need a long time to find the spindle radiated from the other pole. The kinetochore of such a sister chromatid laterally attaches to the K-fiber that is formed between the pole and another kinetochore (Fig. 1F) and slides to the metaphase plate with the aid of a kinetochore motor, CENP-E. This cooperative process rescues mono-oriented sister chromatids and greatly contributes to placing all sister chromatids at the metaphase plate within a limited time.

Nonetheless, congression is a major event bringing each sister choromatid to the metaphase plate. It is initiated and progresses independently at each sister chromatid. As a result, some sister chromatids arrive at the spindle equator while others are yet unattached or monooriented. Sister chromatids which arrived at the spindle equator earlier do not separate until all sister chromatids arrive at the metaphase plate. A surveillance mechanism termed the spindle checkpoint is responsible for preventing premature sister chromatid separation. Kinetochores not attached to the spindle or attached abnormally activate the spindle checkpoint.

Molecular Basis of the Spindle Checkpoint

The mechanism by which the spindle checkpoint inhibits the premature separation of sister chromatids has been intensively studied until now. As shown in Figure 2, the outline of the spindle checkpoint mechanism is as follows. In the presence of kinetochores which are not attached to the spindle microtubules emanating from the opposite poles, the spindle checkpoint is activated to prevent the premature onset of anaphase. The functional components localize on the unattached kinetochore (reviewed in ref. 6). In particular, one of the most important components, Mad2, forms a complex with Cdc20/Slp1,^{7,8} an activator of the APC/C (Anaphase Promoting Complex or Cyclosome) which is an E3 ubiquitin ligase targeting Securin for destruction. As long as the checkpoint is activated, Mad2 stays with Cdc20 and prevents activation of Cdc20-APC/C. Consequently, Securin remains stable and continues to bind to Separase. Securin is a stoichiometric inhibitor of Separase, a protease to cleave the cohesin complex which holds the sister chromatids together.⁹ This way, the spindle checkpoint maintains sister chromatids held together until all the kinetochores fulfill the bi-polar attachment. When all the kinetochores fulfill the bi-polar



Figure 2. Molecular mechanism of the spindle checkpoint. A) Activation of the spindle checkpoint: In the presence of an unattached kinetochore, the spindle checkpoint is activated to prevent premature onset of anaphase. When the spindle checkpoint is activated, the functional components including Mad1, Mad2, BubR1/Mad3, Bub1, Bub3 and Mps1/Mph1 localize on the unattached kinetochore. In particular, Mad2 forms a complex with Cdc20. Presumably, Mad2, BubR1, Bub3 and Cdc20 form a mitotic checkpoint complex (MCC) to inhibit the activity of APC/C to ubiquitinate Securin. Consequently, Securin continues to inhibit Separase which cleaves the cohesin complex. B) Silencing of the spindle checkpoint: When the last kinetochore is attached to the spindle, the functional components disappear from the kinetochore with the help of the factors such as p31^{comet} and Dynein-Dynactin. Then the APC/C achieves its activity and ubiquitinates Securin.

attachment with the spindle microtubules, the functional components disappear from the kinetochore and Mad2 no longer forms a complex with Cdc20/Slp1. Then APC/C achieves its activity and ubiquitinates its target Securin. Subsequently, 26S proteasome selectively degrades poly-ubiquitinated Securin so that Separase can acquire its activity to cleave the cohesin complex between sisiter-chromatids.⁹

The mechanism for spindle checkpoint activation has been largely elucidated in the past ten years, mainly in experimental systems such as yeast, *Xenopus* egg extracts and mammalian cultured cells. The factors involved in the spindle checkpoint have been identified by genetic screens in the budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*.^{10,11} The proteins identified include Mad (Mitotic-arrest deficient) 1, 2, 3 and Bub (Budding uninhibited by benzimidazole) 1, 3, which are widely conserved among eukaryotes (Mad3 is BubR1 in higher eukaryotes). In addition to these proteins, Mps1 kinase has been identified as a factor involved in the spindle checkpoint function, which was first discovered in budding yeast as a factor required for the duplication of spindle pole body (SPB), an equivalent organelle to the centrosome in higher organisms.^{12,13} Some other proteins involved in the function of spindle checkpoint have been characterized only in higher eukaryotes. These include Rod (Rough deal)-Zw10 (zeste white-10)-Zwilch (RZZ) complex,¹⁴ p31^{comet} (previously known as CMT2)¹⁵ and a minus-end directed microtubule motor protein, CENP-E.¹⁶

Activation of the Spindle Checkpoint Signaling

When the chromosome is not properly attached to the spindle, the spindle checkpoint is activated to inhibit the progression from metaphase to anaphase. In the spermatocyte of mantids, the cell is arrested in metaphase forever in the presence of an improperly attached free X chromosome. However, when the misattached kinetochore was placed under tension by a micromanipulation needle, the cell entered anaphase.¹⁷ In mammalian PtK1 cells, laser ablation of the last unattached kinetochore relieved the metaphase arrest and the cell entered anaphase.¹⁸ These experiments showed that a single kinetochore not under tension generates a sufficient signal to inhibit the onset of anaphase.

The spindle checkpoint is thought to detect kinetochore-occupancy of the attached spindle and/or tension on the kinetochore/spindle. Because attachment is stabilized by tension,¹⁹ it is difficult to experimentally determine whether a lack of attachment or tension can activate the spindle checkpoint. The components of the spindle checkpoint are known to specifically localize on the kinetochores in response to the spindle checkpoint activation. Mad1 and Mad2 localizes to the unattached kinetochore, not to the attached kinetochore lacking tension.²⁰ On the other hand, Bub1 and BubR1/Mad3 are recruited to the attached kinetochore lacking tension.²¹ However, the mechanism how the components are specifically recruited to the kinetochore remains to be elucidated.

Some of the kinetochore proteins are required for the recruitment of spindle checkpoint components. Localization of Mad1 and Mad2 to the unattached kinetochore depends on Hec1 and Nuf2, components of the outer kinetochore.^{22,23} However, the direct physical interaction between the spindle checkpoint proteins and the kinetochore components remains to be clarified.

We have seen that the spindle checkpoint components are recruited to the kinetochore in response to a defect in kinetochore-spindle microtubule association. Now we focus on the downstream events. The downstream target of the spindle checkpoint is the anaphase-promoting complex (APC/C) (reviewed in ref. 9). Mad2 forms a complex with Cdc20 and this association is essential for the function of the spindle checkpoint: inhibit activity of APC/C.^{7,8} In mammalian cells, spindle checkpoint components Mad2, BubR1, Bub3 and Cdc20 form a large complex, designated mitotic checkpoint complex (MCC). MCC is a more potent inhibitor of APC/C than only Mad2.²⁴

Mad2 Template Model

As mentioned above, Mad2 is one of the most important components of the spindle checkpoint since it binds to Cdc20 to inhibit the activity of APC/C. Protein structural analyses have revealed that Mad2 possesses two conformations, open-form (O-Mad2, also known as N1-Mad2) and closed-form (C-Mad2, or N2-Mad2).²⁵⁻²⁷ In this chapter, we use the terms C- or O-Mad2 in attempt for better understanding. The "Mad2 template model" hypothesis is proposed to explain the significance of the two structural states of Mad2.²⁸ Mad2 holds closed conformation when it is bound to Mad1 or Cdc20 and open conformation when it is free in cytoplasm.²⁵⁻²⁹ Cytoplasmic free O-Mad2 changes its conformation to C-Mad2 upon binding to Mad1-bound C-Mad2 at the unattached kinetochore so that it is capable of forming a C-Mad2-Cdc20 complex (Fig. 3). In this model, it is proposed that Mad1-bound C-Mad2 acts as a "template" for the conformation conversion. In this respect, it is hypothesized that the C-Mad2-Cdc20 complex also catalyzes the conformation changes of cytoplasmic O-Mad2 and that consequently the activation signal of the spindle checkpoint is amplified.²⁸ This hypothesis could reasonably explain why a single unattached kinetochore is sufficient to activate the spindle



Figure 3. Mad2 template model. Mad2 holds closed conformation when it is bound to Mad1 or Cdc20 and open conformation when it is free in cytoplasm. Cytoplasmic-free O-Mad2 changes its conformation to C-Mad2 upon binding to Mad1-bound C-Mad2 at the unattached kinetochore and forms a C-Mad2-Cdc20 complex. In this model, Mad1-bound C-Mad2 acts as a "template" for the conformation conversion. It is hypothesized that the C-Mad2-Cdc20 complex also catalyzes the conformation changes of cytoplasmic O-Mad2.
checkpoint. Further investigation is required to clarify the mechanism how the Mad1-bound C-Mad2 catalyzes the conformation changes.

Phosphorylation and Spindle Checkpoint Function

Some protein kinases such as Mps1, Bub1, BubR1 and Aurora are involved in the process of spindle checkpoint activation. Thus, it is likely that phosphorylation of certain proteins is a key event for signaling cascade of the spindle checkpoint. Aurora kinases are implicated in many events in the cell cycle: centrosome separation and maturation, spindle assembly and stability, chromosome condensation, congression and segregation and cytokinesis.³⁰ Its role in spindle checkpoint activation has also been reported. It is proposed that budding yeast Aurora kinase Ip11 activates the spindle checkpoint in response to tension-defective kinetochore by correcting improper attachment.³¹

Mps1 and Bub1 kinases are known to phosphorylate Mad1 in vitro; however, its significance remains unclear.^{32,33} In budding yeast, overexpression of Mps1 causes spindle checkpoint activation without disturbing the formation of the mitotic spindle and leads to the hyper-phosphorylation of Mad1.³² In the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, the Mph1 (Mps1p-like pombe homolog) kinase has been identified as a spindle checkpoint component and its overexpression causes a mitotic arrest in a Mad2-dependent manner.³⁴ In our recent study, we attempted to elucidate the mechanism by which Mph1 kinase activates the spindle checkpoint in fission yeast. *mph1* overexpression did not cause a growth defect attributable to a mitotic arrest in the strains lacking spindle checkpoint components. In addition, when *mph1* was overexpressed, strong Mad2-GFP foci were observed on condensed chromosomes (Fig. 4), which suggested that Mad2 presumably accumulated on the kinetochores upon the activation of spindle checkpoint (unpublished data). These findings indicate that Mph1 acts upstream of the examined spindle checkpoint components and facilitate spindle checkpoint signaling.

It has been shown that a component of the kinetochore is phosphorylated when it is not under tension. The phosphorylation of an unidentified protein is recognized by the 3F3/2 antiphosphoepitope antibody and the phosphorylation is required for the recruitment of Mad2 to the kinetochore.³⁵⁻³⁷



Figure 4. Mad2 on the kinetochore. Mad2-GFP localized on kinetochores when *mph1* was overexpressed. Left panel, Mad2-GFP. Right panel, condensed chromosomes visualized with Hoechst 33342. Scale bars indicate 5 μ m.

In order to understand the significance of protein phosphorylation in spindle checkpoint activation, further studies are obviously needed to clarify the substrates of the kinases.

Silencing the Spindle Checkpoint

After all kinetochores are properly attached to the spindle, the spindle checkpoint is turned off within minutes and the chromosomes are synchronously segregated toward each spindle pole.³⁸ Compared to the activation of the spindle checkpoint, the mechanisms for silencing the checkpoint remain to be ambiguous. To date, through the yeast two-hybrid assay using Mad2 as a bait, Mad2-binding protein p31^{comet} (formerly CMT2) has been identified. In HeLa cells, overexpression of p31^{comet} abrogated the function of the spindle checkpoint and overrode the mitotic arrest.¹⁵ In addition, the association of p31^{comet} with Mad2 coincided with the dissociation of Mad2-Cdc20, which indicated that p31^{comet} plays an important role in silencing the spindle checkpoint.

Recently, two groups reported the role of ubiquitination in spindle checkpoint silencing in mammalian cells. It was shown that the addition of UbcH10, an APC-specific ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2), overrides the mitotic arrest induced by nocodazole.³⁹ In this process, multi-ubiquitination of Cdc20 by APC/C leads to the dissociation of Mad2 and BubR1 from Cdc20 and this promotes the progression to anaphase. To prevent premature activation of APC/C, deubiquitinating enzyme USP44 deubiquitinates Cdc20 and thereby antagonizes the ubiquitination by APC/C.⁴⁰

In higher eukaryotes, cytoplasmic dynein plays a role in silencing the spindle checkpoint by removing Mad2 and RZZ complex from the attached kinetochores.^{41,42} Thus, dynein is thought to be involved in stripping and transporting outer domain proteins away from the kinetochore upon the microtubule attachment. Very recently, through the RNAi screen in *Drosophila*, a novel protein named Spindly has been identified as a factor essential for silencing the spindle checkpoint.⁴³ The human homologue of the protein was identified and had similar functions. Regarding the silencing mechanism of the spindle checkpoint, the questions such as how kinetochores detect the completion of proper attachments and convey a signal to silence the checkpoint remain to be elucidated.

Additional Surveillance System

The spindle checkpoint is backed up by other surveillance mechanisms in higher eukaryotes. These mechanisms prevent proliferation of cells with extra or missing chromosomes.

A recent study⁴⁴ addressed the question of what happens to aneuploids produced by missegregation of chromosomes in mitosis. The authors labeled the nucleus by GFP-tagged histone H2B and monitored its behavior by time-lapse microscopy. They subsequently fixed the cells to analyze chromosome segregation by FISH. The analysis indicated that cells in which chromosomes did not segregate equally became binucleated by furrow regression at a significantly high frequency (Fig. 5A). In contrast, they detected no missegregation events in cells that completed cytokinesis to form two mononucleated cells (Fig. 5B). The results suggest that a surveillance mechanism is responsible for counting the chromosome number at the end of anaphase/telophase and suppresses cytokinesis if two daughter cells contain different chromosome context. Although furrow regression results in production of a tetraploid cell, the chromosome context can be maintained normally. The authors also followed the fate of the tetraploid cells produced by the furrow regression. If diploid human keratinocytes immortalized with telomerase (N/TERT-1) became tetraploids, cell cycle progression was delayed and 50% of them remained in interphase. In contrast, the cell cycle progressed with no delay in the resulting tetraploid HeLa cells. Most of the HeLa tetraploids formed multipolar spindles, which could result in chromosome breakage as well as aneuploidy (Fig. 5A). HeLa cells, which were established from a cervical cancer tissue, may be much more tolerant of tetraploidy or have lost a surveillance mechanism to suppress the growth of tetraploids.



Figure 5. Furrow regression/tetraploidy induced by nondisjunction. A) The cell in which chromosomes are not equally segregated becomes binucleated by furrow regression. The binucleated tetraploid cell subsequently forms a multipolar spindle leading to chromosome breakage and aneuploidy. B) In contrast, the cell with normal chromosome segregation produces two diploid mononucleated cells.

A Trigger of Tumorigenesis

A German cell biologist Theodor Boveri proposed nearly hundred years ago that abnormalities of number and/or structure of the centrosome cause chromosome missegregation and that centrosome abnormalities are expected to affect cell shape, polarity and motility. Deregulation of centrosome number and function thereby may foster both chromosome instability and loss of tissue architecture, two of the most common characters in solid tumors.⁴⁵ According to his hypothesis, tetraploids/ polyploids with multiple centrosomes would be an intermediate state, which eventually generate aneuploid cancer cells.

Boveri's proposal has been supported by a variety of evidence.^{46,47} Importantly, it is supported by clinical studies of patients with a premalignant condition such as Barrett's esophagus (BE). Neoplastic progression in BE is characterized by the development of increased tetraploid population, in which p53 is concomitantly lost. This population, within a year or so, serves as an epicenter that generates a gross aneuploid cell population.⁴⁸ In a recent study with the mouse model system, it has also been demonstrated that p53-null tetraploids induced by treatment with dihydrocytochalasin B (an inhibitor of cytokinesis) promote tumorigenesis when transplanted into nude mice.⁴⁹

Tetraploids can be produced by a defect in the spindle checkpoint. If the checkpoint misses a chromosome not attached to the spindle and allows premature sister chromatid separation, a daughter cell may not receive the accurate number of chromosomes. As mentioned earlier, such an event would activate a surveillance mechanism backing up the spindle checkpoint and result in regression of the cleavage furrow and tetraploidy.

A defect in silencing the spindle checkpoint also induces tetraploidy. Overexpression of Mad2 causes a delay in transition from metaphase to anaphase. High dosage of Mad2 would stabilize the Mad2-Cdc20 complex and prevent activation of Cdc20 for the onset of anaphase. In higher eukaryotes, overexpression of Mad2 induces tetraploidy, probably because cells eventually exit from mitosis without separating sister chromatids. In a recent mouse study, it has been shown that chromosome instability in tetraploidy/aneuploidy and tumorigenesis are induced in the transgenic mice overexpressing Mad2.⁵⁰

As shown in Figure 5, in tetraploids mitosis with a multipolar spindle causes chromosome nondisjunction/breakage and thereby chromosome instability. It is, however, likely that chromosome instability in tetraplids/polyploids is induced for other reasons as well. In yeast model studies, it has been demonstrated that as ploidy increases, chromosome stability decreases.^{51,52} Notably, a recent genome-wide screen has identified genes that cause ploidy-specific lethality. Loss of function of these genes does not affect growth of a haploid strain, but causes lethality in polyploids.⁵³ The ploidy-specific lethality genes are categorized into three functional groups—homologous recombination, sister chromatid cohesion maintenance and mitotic spindle function—providing clues to understand the underlying mechanisms to induce chromosome instability in polyploids. In yeast, tetraploids have a high incidence of syntelic kinetochore attachment to the mitotic spindle (a pair of sister kinetochores are attached to the same pole). It has been proposed that such an abnormal interaction is due to mismatches in the ability to scale the size of the spindle pole body (the equivalent structure of centrosome in higher eukaryotes), mitotic spindle and kinetochore. It is also plausible that the length of S phase, which is long enough for haploids to replicate their genome, may not be so for tetraploids. The geometric and/or time constraint in polyploids may be a cause of chromosome instability.

Conclusion

The spindle checkpoint is a unique signaling cascade in that the physical condition such as lack of tension and/or occupancy of the spindle at the kinetochore is a trigger for activation. To date, it has not been elucidated how the kinetochore recognizes the state of interaction with spindle microtubules and how the physical signal is converted to the biochemical signal to inhibit premature progression to anaphase. Future studies should attempt to identify and characterize a kinetochore protein complex responsible for the signal sensing/conversion.

Recently it has been shown that a defect in the spindle checkpoint causes tetraploidy/aneuploidy and leads to tumorigenesis in the mouse model studies. Thus, the spindle checkpoint can be referred to as a guardian of chromosome stability and a barrier of tumor development/progression. Although spindle poisons such as taxol and nocodazole may be considered as effective anticancer drugs, the cellular effect of these drugs should be reexamined. In the presence of a spindle poison, cells lacking the spindle checkpoint would escape mitosis without separating sister chromatids and become polyploids, some of which could grow more aggressively.

References

- 1. Funabiki H, Murray AW. The Xenopus chromokinesin Xkid is essential for metaphase chromosome alignment and must be degraded to allow anaphase chromosome movement. Cell 2000; 102:411-424.
- Levesque AA, Compton DA. The chromokinesin Kid is necessary for chromosome arm orientation and oscillation, but not congression, on mitotic spindles. J Cell Biol 2001; 154:1135-1146.
- Skibbens RV, Skeen VP, Salmon ED. Directional instability of kinetochore motility during chromosome congression and segregation in mitotic newt lung cells: a push-pull mechanism. J Cell Biol 1993; 122:859-875.
- Kapoor TM, Compton DA. Searching for the middle ground: mechanisms of chromosome alignment during mitosis. J Cell Biol 2002; 157:551-556.
- Kapoor TM, Lampson MA, Hergert P et al. Chromosomes can congress to the metaphase plate before biorientation. Science 2006; 311:388-391.
- Cleveland DW, Mao YH, Sullivan KF. Centromeres and kinetochores: From epigenetics to mitotic checkpoint signaling. Cell 2003; 112:407-421.
- 7. Hwang LH, Lau LF, Smith DL et al. Budding yeast Cdc20: a target of the spindle checkpoint. Science 1998; 279:1041-1044.
- Kim SH, Lin DP, Matsumoto S et al. Fission yeast Slp1: An effector of the Mad2-dependent spindle checkpoint. Science 1998; 279:1045-1047.
- 9. Peters JM. The anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome: a machine designed to destroy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006; 7:644-656.
- 10. Li R, Murray AW. Feedback control of mitosis in budding yeast. Cell 1991; 66:519-531.
- 11. Hoyt MA, Totis L, Roberts BT. S. cerevisiae genes required for cell cycle arrest in response to loss of microtubule function. Cell 1991; 66:507-517.
- 12. Winey M, Goetsch L, Baum P et al. MPS1 and MPS2: novel yeast genes defining distinct steps of spindle pole body duplication. J Cell Biol 1991; 114:745-754.
- 13. Hardwick KG, Murray AW. Mad1p, a phosphoprotein component of the spindle assembly checkpoint in budding yeast. J Cell Biol 1995; 131:709-720.
- 14. Karess R. Rod-Zw10-Zwilch: a key player in the spindle checkpoint. Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:386-392.
- Habu T, Kim SH, Weinstein J et al. Identification of a MAD2-binding protein, CMT2 and its role in mitosis. EMBO J 2002; 21:6419-6228.
- Mao Y, Abrieu A, Cleveland DW. Activating and silencing the mitotic checkpoint through CENP-Edependent activation/inactivation of BubR1. Cell 2003; 114:87-98.
- 17. Li X, Nicklas RB. Mitotic forces control a cell-cycle checkpoint. Nature 1995; 373:630-632.
- Rieder CL, Cole RW, Khodjakov A et al. The checkpoint delaying anaphase in response to chromosome monoorientation is mediated by an inhibitory signal produced by unattached kinetochores. J Cell Biol 1995; 130:941-948.
- 19. Nicklas RB, Waters JC, Salmon ED et al. Checkpoint signals in grasshopper meiosis are sensitive to microtubule attachment, but tension is still essential. J Cell Sci 2001; 114:4173-4183.
- Waters JC, Chen RH, Murray AW et al. Localization of Mad2 to kinetochores depends on microtubule attachment, not tension. J Cell Biol 1998; 141:1181-1191.
- Skoufias DA, Andreassen PR, Lacroix FB et al. Mammalian mad2 and bub1/bubR1 recognize distinct spindle-attachment and kinetochore-tension checkpoints. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001; 98:4492-4497.
- Martin-Lluesma S, Stucke VM, Nigg EA. Role of Hec1 in spindle checkpoint signaling and kinetochore recruitment of Mad1/Mad2. Science 2002; 297:2267-2270.
- Hori T, Haraguchi T, Hiraoka Y et al. Dynamic behavior of Nuf2-Hec1 complex that localizes to the centrosome and centromere and is essential for mitotic progression in vertebrate cells. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:3347-3362.
- Sudakin V, Chan GK, Yen TJ. Checkpoint inhibition of the APC/C in HeLa cells is mediated by a complex of BUBR1, BUB3, CDC20 and MAD2. J Cell Biol 2001; 154:925-936.
- Luo X, Tang Z, Rizo J et al. The Mad2 spindle checkpoint protein undergoes similar major conformational changes upon binding to either Mad1 or Cdc20. Mol Cell 2002; 9:59-71.

- Sironi L, Mapelli M, Knapp S et al. Crystal structure of the tetrameric Mad1-Mad2 core complex: implications of a 'safety belt' binding mechanism for the spindle checkpoint. EMBO J 2002; 21:2496-2506.
- 27. Luo XL, Tang ZY, Xia GH et al. The Mad2 spindle checkpoint protein has two distinct natively folded states. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2004; 11:338-345.
- 28. De Antoni A, Pearson CG, Cimini D et al. The Mad1/Mad2 complex as a template for Mad2 activation in the spindle assembly checkpoint. Curr Biol 2005; 15:214-225.
- 29. Luo X, Fang G, Coldiron M et al. Structure of the Mad2 spindle assembly checkpoint protein and its interaction with Cdc20. Nat Struct Biol 2000; 7:224-229.
- Giet R, Petretti C, Prigent C. Aurora kinases, aneuploidy and cancer, a coincidence or a real link? Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:241-250.
- Pinsky BA, Kung C, Shokat KM et al. The Ipl1-Aurora protein kinase activates the spindle checkpoint by creating unattached kinetochores. Nat Cell Biol 2006; 8:78-83.
- 32. Hardwick KG, Weiss E, Luca FC et al. Activation of the budding yeast spindle assembly checkpoint without mitotic spindle disruption. Science 1996; 273:953-956.
- Seeley TW, Wang L, Zhen JY. Phosphorylation of human MAD1 by the BUB1 kinase in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999; 257:589-595.
- 34. He X, Jones MH, Winey M et al. Mph1, a member of the Mps1-like family of dual specificity protein kinases, is required for the spindle checkpoint in S. pombe. J Cell Sci 1998; 111:1635-1647.
- 35. Waters JC, Chen RH, Murray AW et al. Mad2 binding by phosphorylated kinetochores links error detection and checkpoint action in mitosis. Curr Biol 1999; 9:649-652.
- 36. Ahonen LJ, Kallio MJ, Daum JR et al. Polo-like kinase 1 creates the tension-sensing 3F3/2 phosphoepitope and modulates the association of spindle-checkpoint proteins at kinetochores. Curr Biol 2005; 15:1078-1089.
- 37. Wong OK, Fang G. Plx1 is the 3F3/2 kinase responsible for targeting spindle checkpoint proteins to kinetochores. J Cell Biol 2005; 170:709-719.
- Rieder CL, Maiato H. Stuck in division or passing through: what happens when cells cannot satisfy the spindle assembly checkpoint. Dev Cell 2004; 7:637-651.
- Reddy SK, Rape M, Margansky WA et al. Ubiquitination by the anaphase-promoting complex drives spindle checkpoint inactivation. Nature 2007; 446:921-925.
- 40. Stegmeier F, Rape M, Draviam VM et al. Anaphase initiation is regulated by antagonistic ubiquitination and deubiquitination activities. Nature 2007; 446:876-881.
- 41. Howell BJ, McEwen BF, Canman JC et al. Cytoplasmic dynein/dynactin drives kinetochore protein transport to the spindle poles and has a role in mitotic spindle checkpoint inactivation. J Cell Biol 2001; 155:1159-1172.
- 42. Wojcik E, Basto R, Serr M et al. Kinetochore dynein: its dynamics and role in the transport of the Rough deal checkpoint protein. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3:1001-1007.
- Griffis ER, Stuurman N, Vale RD. Spindly, a novel protein essential for silencing the spindle assembly checkpoint, recruits dynein to the kinetochore. J Cell Biol 2007; 177:1005-1015.
- 44. Shi Q, King RW. Chromosome nondisjunction yields tetraploid rather than aneuploid cells in human cell lines. Nature 2005; 437:1038-1042.
- 45. Boveri T. The origin of malignant tumors. Baltimore, MD: Williams and Wilkins, 1929. Originally published in 1914 as Zur Frage der Entstehung maligner Tumoren.
- Shackney SE, Smith CA, Miller BW et al. Model for the genetic evolution of human solid tumors. Cancer Res 1989; 49:3344-3354.
- 47. Andreassen PR, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Tetraploid state induces p53-dependent arrest of nontransformed mammalian cells in G1. Mol Biol Cell 2001; 12:1315-1328.
- Galipeau PC, Cowan DS, Sanchez CA et al 17p (p53) allelic losses, 4N (G2/tetraploid) populations and progression to aneuploidy in Barrett's esophagus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:7081-7084.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M et al. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437:1043-1047.
- Sotillo R, Hernando E, Diaz-Rodriguez E et al. Mad2 overexpression promotes aneuploidy and tumorigenesis in mice. Cancer Cell 2007; 11:9-23.
- Mayer VW, Aguilera A. High levels of chromosome instability in polyploids of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mutat Res 1990; 231:177-186.
- Andalis AA, Storchova Z, Styles C et al. Defects arising from whole-genome duplications in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 2004; 167:1109-1121.
- 53. Storchova Z, Breneman A, Cande J et al. Genome-wide genetic analysis of polyploidy in yeast. Nature 2006; 443:541-547.

Understanding Cytokinesis Failure Guillaume Normand and Randall W. King*

Abstract

ytokinesis is the final step in cell division. The process begins during chromosome segregation, when the ingressing cleavage furrow begins to partition the cytoplasm between the nascent daughter cells. The process is not completed until much later, however, when the final cytoplasmic bridge connecting the two daughter cells is severed. Cytokinesis is a highly ordered process, requiring an intricate interplay between cytoskeletal, chromosomal and cell cycle regulatory pathways. A surprisingly broad range of additional cellular processes are also important for cytokinesis, including protein and membrane trafficking, lipid metabolism, protein synthesis and signaling pathways. As a highly regulated, complex process, it is not surprising that cytokinesis can sometimes fail. Cytokinesis failure leads to both centrosome amplification and production of tetraploid cells, which may set the stage for the development of tumor cells. However, tetraploid cells are abundant components of some normal tissues including liver and heart, indicating that cytokinesis is physiologically regulated. In this chapter, we summarize our current understanding of the mechanisms of cytokinesis, emphasizing steps in the pathway that may be regulated or prone to failure. Our discussion emphasizes findings in vertebrate cells although we have attempted to highlight important contributions from other model systems.

Cytokinesis Occurs in Multiple Stages

The process of cytokinesis can be divided into four stages including specification of the cleavage plane, ingression of the cleavage furrow, formation of the midbody and abscission (Fig. 1). Each stage is dependent on the proper execution of the prior stage and thus interference with any stage may result in cytokinesis failure. The first stage of cytokinesis specifies the cleavage plane by recruiting a central regulator of cytokinesis, RhoA, to the site of cleavage. If this step is perturbed, cytokinesis will not initiate properly. In the second stage of cytokinesis, the cleavage furrow ingresses through formation of an actomyosin ring and myosin-dependent motor activity. Failure at this step may lead to a lack of furrow initiation or partial ingression of the furrow followed by regression. The third stage of cytokinesis is characterized by formation of the midbody and stabilization of the cytokinetic furrow. This stage requires proper function of proteins located in the central spindle, a microtubule-based structure that separates segregated chromosomes during anaphase, and on proteins that stabilize interactions between the actomyosin ring and the central spindle. A failure at this stage will lead to regression of the cleavage furrow. The final stage in cytokinesis, abscission, is the step in which the cytoplasmic contents are finally separated from one another. This event requires the presence of a functional midbody, but also additional proteins involved in vesicle trafficking and fusion. Failure at this stage may lead to regression of the cleavage furrow or to formation of a persistent connection between the two daughter cells. Cytokinesis is thus a series of linked processes and a problem at any step of this cascade may be sufficient to induce

*Corresponding Author: Randall W. King—Department of Cell Biology, Harvard Medical School, 240 Longwood Ave, Boston, Massachusetts 02115, USA. Email: randy_king@hms.harvard.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.



Figure 1. Multiple stages of cytokinesis. Three populations of microtubules first specify the site of cleavage by activating RhoA in a narrow zone between segregating chromosomes (I). Formation and activation of the actomyosin ring next leads to furrow ingression (II). The constricting furrow compacts the central spindle microtubules leading to midbody formation (III). Abscission of the furrow occurs by physically separating the cytoplasm of the daughter cells (IV).

failure. Some proteins participate in multiple steps in cytokinesis and thus perturbation of their abundance or activity may be especially prone to induce cytokinesis failure.

Stage I. Positioning the Division Plane and Initiating Cytokinesis

The Importance of Microtubules

Classic micromanipulation experiments determined that the mitotic spindle dictates the position of the cleavage furrow.^{1,2} However, a bipolar spindle is not necessary for induction of a cleavage furrow,^{3,4} suggesting that microtubules themselves play an essential role in initiating cleavage. Three separate populations of microtubules have been implicated in the regulation of cytokinesis (Fig. 1; reviewed by ref. 5). First, equatorial astral microtubules, which emanate from the spindle pole to the site of cleavage, may be stabilized in the equatorial cortical region³ and deliver positive signals that stimulate formation and contraction of the cleavage furrow.² In contrast, polar astral microtubules, which emanate from the spindle pole to sites away from the site of the furrow, may help position the cleavage furrow by inhibiting cortical contractility,⁶⁻⁸ perhaps by spatially biasing the pattern of myosin recruitment.^{9,10} Finally, central spindle microtubules, which form an overlapping network between the spindle poles following anaphase, send positive signals that become especially important during later steps of cytokinesis. The signals sent by these distinct microtubule populations are partially redundant, ensuring that selection of the division plane is robust.^{11,12}

The RhoA Pathway Plays an Essential Role in Furrow Initiation

What are the positive signals delivered by microtubules that initiate furrowing at the correct place in the cell? A central event is the localized activation of the small GTPase RhoA at the site of the future furrow (Fig. 2; reviewed by ref. 13). RhoA is essential for furrow formation in animal cells¹⁴⁻¹⁷ and activated RhoA localizes to a narrow zone within the furrow.¹⁸⁻²² Localized activation of RhoA within this narrow zone is thought to be important for efficient furrowing, as perturbations that broaden the zone of RhoA activation often lead to a failure of the furrow to form or to ingress.¹⁹ A narrow zone of activation is established by tethering RhoA activators to the central spindle, delivering a strong yet spatially restricted signal for cytokinesis initiation.

An essential activator of RhoA is the guanine nucleotide exchange factor ECT2,^{17,19,23-26} originally identified as a protooncogene.²⁷ ECT2 is sequestered in the nucleus during interphase (Fig. 2) and released following nuclear envelope breakdown in mitosis, but the protein remains inactive because it exists in an autoinhibited conformation.^{24,28} In late anaphase, ECT2 localizes to the central spindle and associates with the centralspindlin complex, composed of the kinesin protein



Figure 2. Localization of cytokinesis components. Interphase (A), anaphase (B) and late cy-tokinesis (C).

MKLP1 and the GTPase activating protein (GAP) MgcRacGAP.^{17,19,29,30} MgcRacGAP binds to ECT2 and stabilizes it in an active conformation that permits it to interact with RhoA.¹⁹ Tethering of the centralspindlin complex to the central spindle is thought to restrict activated ECT2 within a narrow zone, resulting in a narrow zone of RhoA activation.^{19,23,25,29} Depletion of MKLP1¹⁹ or disruption of the central spindle^{31,32} leads to delocalization of ECT2 and MgcRacGAP from the central spindle, broadening the region of RhoA activation.¹⁹ Cells containing a broad zone of RhoA activation fail to form a furrow.¹⁹ Therefore, tethering of MgcRacGAP and ECT2 to the central spindle is not essential for RhoA activation, but is instead important for efficient furrowing by restricting the zone of RhoA to within a narrow zone at the equator of the cell.

These findings suggest that cytokinesis failure could result from failure to properly deliver RhoA activators to the cortex, causing insufficient activation of RhoA. Alternatively, cytokinesis could fail if RhoA is activated too broadly, in regions outside the cleavage furrow. Interestingly, ECT2 deregulation can lead to oncogenic transformation^{27,28,33} although it is not clear whether perturbation of cytokinesis is an important component of this phenomenon, as ECT2 may participate in other processes such as spindle assembly³⁴ and regulation of the Ras/MAP kinase pathway.³⁵ Like many genes involved in cell division, ECT2 expression is induced by growth factors³⁶ in a manner that depends on the Rb/E2F pathway.³⁷ ECT2 is overexpressed in some tumors^{38,39} where it could broaden the region of RhoA activation, perturbing proper initiation of cytokinesis. Alternatively, elevated ECT2 could perturb late stages of cytokinesis, as RhoA may need to be inactivated for cytokinesis to be completed.²⁵ In fact, overexpression of some fragments of ECT2 has no effect on cytokinesis initiation, but specifically blocks later stages of cytokinesis.^{24,25}

Other proteins may regulate RhoA activity during cytokinesis.⁴⁰ These include additional Rho GEFs such as GEF-H1⁴¹ and MyoGEF,⁴² both of which are essential for cytokinesis in mammalian cells. Additional proteins may influence the location and timing of RhoA activation, including the armadillo protein p0071⁴³ and the Rho effector mDia1, which may sustain RhoA activation

in a positive-feedback loop.⁴⁴ In contrast, the protein HEF1, which is upregulated in tumor cells, may impair the RhoA activation cycle.⁴⁵

GAP proteins are also important for controlling RhoA activation and inactivation. As stated earlier, RhoA may need to be inactivated during late cytokinesis to disassemble the cleavage furrow and thus hyperactivation of RhoA could block cytokinesis completion. Two GAP proteins that may inactivate RhoA during cytokinesis are MgcRacGAP and p190 RhoGAP.⁴⁶ Although MgcRacGAP plays a critical role in activation of RhoA by recruiting and activating ECT2, phosphorylation of MgcRacGAP by Aurora kinases may stimulate its ability to serve as a RhoGAP.⁴⁷ contributing to RhoA inactivation. As its name suggests, MgcRacGAP may also inhibit the GTPase Rac. The activity of Rac is suppressed in the spindle midzone²¹ and constitutively activated Rac induces a mutlinucleation.⁴⁸ Thus in addition to activating RhoA by recruiting ECT2, MgcRacGAP may inactivate Rac in the furrow to support cytokinesis.⁴⁸⁻⁵¹

Failure of Cytokinesis During Stage I

Together these studies emphasize the importance of microtubules in delivering signals that lead to localized activation of RhoA and possibly suppression of Rac, in the furrow. Recent studies suggest that cytokinesis failure may occur in cells in which spindle elongation or spindle positioning is perturbed, disrupting delivery of activation signals to the cortex. The first example is binucleation of cells in the liver, which may be regulated physiologically.^{52,53} In humans, the number of polyploid cells averages 30-40% in the adult liver.^{54,55} Studies in rat hepatocytes indicate that tetraploid cells arise from cytokinesis failure in which diploid, mononucleated cells undergo mitosis but do not form a contractile ring.⁵² Cells do not undergo anaphase spindle elongation, perhaps because reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton is impaired.⁵³ Furthermore, astral microtubules fail to contact the equatorial cortex in cells that fail cytokinesis,⁵³ suggesting that the delivery of RhoA activators to the cortex is impaired. In rat liver, the number of binucleated cells increases following weaning, suggesting there may be important connections between liver physiology and cytokinesis regulation,⁵³ but how these pathways might impact microtubule organization remains unclear.

The second example is cytokinesis failure that occurs in cells that contain mutations in the APC (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli) tumor suppressor. Some APC mutations may induce cytokinesis failure by interfering with microtubule-dependent anchoring of the mitotic spindle.⁵⁶ Although APC has important roles in formation of the mitotic spindle and the spindle checkpoint,⁵⁷⁻⁶⁰ cells expressing APC mutants become polyploid over time,^{56,59,61} indicating that the protein is important for proper cytokinesis. Different APC alleles may have distinct effects on mitosis.⁵⁶ For example, in cells expressing a particular C-terminal truncation mutant of APC, microtubules make less contact with the cell cortex, spindles undergo considerable rotation during mitosis and cells do not efficiently initiate cytokinesis.⁵⁶ The physiological relevance of these findings was confirmed by the finding that the *Min* allele of APC gives rise to similar mitotic defects and that the frequency of tetraploid cells is greatly increased in *Min*⁵⁶ and APC knockout mice.⁶⁰ Although it is likely that tetraploidy can arise through multiple mechanisms in tumors carrying different APC alleles, these findings suggest that failure to properly anchor the mitotic spindle can be an important source of tetraploidy.

Stage II. Ingression of the Cleavage Furrow

In the second stage of cytokinesis, activated RhoA leads to recruitment and activation of effector proteins that organize the furrow and stimulate ingression (Fig. 3). RhoA stimulates actin polymerization through activation of formins and stimulates myosin activity by activating kinases such as Rho kinase (ROCK) and Citron kinase. Scaffolding proteins such as anillin and septins also play important roles in organizing the cleavage furrow and promoting cytokinesis. Here we discuss each of these processes and how they might be perturbed to result in cytokinesis failure.

Stimulation of Actin Filament Assembly

Formins are proteins that nucleate formation of unbranched actin filaments in response to stimulation by RhoA (for review, see ref. 62). In the absence of active RhoA, most of the formins



Figure 3. Role of the RhoA pathway in furrow initiation. Autoinhibition of ECT2 is suppressed by association of ECT2 with MgcRacGAP. ECT2 then activates RhoA by stimulating exchange of GDP for GTP. Active RhoA then activates formins to stimulate actin nucleation and binds to ROCK and Citron kinases, stimulating phosphorylation and activation of myosin.

that regulate cytokinesis are autoinhibited.⁶³ RhoA binding relieves autoinhibition to promote actin polymerization.^{64,65} The mammalian formin mDia1 is activated downstream of Rho signaling,⁶⁶ and cytokinesis is blocked if mDia1 is inhibited by antibody injection.⁶⁷ However, deletion of mDia1 does not perturb cytokinesis in mouse embryonic fibroblasts,⁶⁸ suggesting redundant pathways for actin nucleation. Cytokinesis may also depend on the use of preexisting actin filaments that are nucleated outside the furrow.^{69,70} Formins may be important in later stages of cytokinesis, as they have been implicated in regulation of Src activity, which has been shown to be important for completion of cytokinesis.^{67,71}

Localization and Activation of Myosin

Myosin II (hereafter simply referred to as myosin) is the principle motor protein required for cytokinesis (for review, see ref. 72). Myosin is recruited to the cleavage furrow at early stages of cytokinesis in a RhoA-dependent fashion. Myosin activity and localization are regulated by phosphorylation of its regulatory light chain (myosin light chain or MLC). Because myosin motor activity is directly required for furrow ingression,⁷³ perturbation of myosin localization or its activity could result in cytokinesis failure.

Phosphorylation of serine 19 of MLC stimulates actin-activated ATPase activity of myosin,^{74,75} whereas phosphorylation at threonine 18 promotes myosin assembly. Phosphorylation of myosin at these positions is important for proper localization of myosin to the furrow and for ingression.^{76,79} In contrast, phosphorylation at serines 1, 2 and 9 of MLC inhibits myosin ATPase activity^{80,81} During mitosis, MLC is phosphorylated at these positions by CDK1.^{76,82,83} At anaphase, inactivation of CDK1, controlled by the degradation of mitotic cyclins by the Anaphase-Promoting Complex/Cyclosome (APC/C), is important for MLC dephosphorylation and myosin activation

during cytokinesis. Therefore, failure to degrade mitotic cyclins, or to fully inactivate CDK1, could perturb myosin activation and disrupt cytokinesis.

Three kinases contribute to myosin activation by phosphorylating positions 18 and 19 of MLC (Fig. 3). Two of these kinases, ROCK and Citron kinase, are activated by RhoA. ROCK localizes to cleavage furrows^{84,85} and a small molecule inhibitor of ROCK slows cleavage.⁸⁴ Citron kinase also localizes to the cleavage furrow and is required for cytokinesis in several systems.^{25,50,86-92} Citron kinase can phosphorylate MLC at both ser19 and thr18⁹³ and its overexpression causes unregulated contraction of the cortex, supporting its role as a positive regulator of myosin activity.⁸⁷ Mouse knockout studies suggest that Citron kinase may play an especially important role in neurogeneic and spermatogenic cytokinesis.^{94,97} It is likely that ROCK and Citron kinase play partially overlapping roles, explaining why each protein is not essential for cytokinesis in all systems. There is no evidence to suggest that ROCK or Citron kinase is overexpressed or mutated in human tumors, but Citron kinase interacts with the kinesin protein KIF14,⁸⁹ which is overexpressed in several tumor types.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰¹ Whether overexpression of KIF14 perturbs Citron kinase function in cytokinesis remains unknown. Knockdown of KIF14 induces cytokinesis failure,¹⁰² perhaps as a result of a failure to recruit Citron kinase to the cleavage furrow.

Myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) is the third and final kinase that has been implicated in direct phosphorylation of myosin light chain. This kinase is activated by calcium/calmodulin and some isoforms of MLCK and calmodulin localize to the cleavage furrow.¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁶ Inhibition of calmodulin or MLCK can disrupt cytokinesis in cultured cells,¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁸ but mice lacking MLCK develop normally, but die after birth, suggesting the kinase is not essential for cytokinesis in all tissues.¹⁰⁹ How myosin light chain kinase is regulated in the cleavage furrow is unclear, but hydrolysis of PIP2 may be important for IP3-induced calcium release, which could stimulate MLCK activity.¹¹⁰ The mild and varied phenotypes associated with MLCK inhibition again suggest functional redundancy in MLC phosphorylation during cytokinesis.

The overall degree of MLC phosphorylation is also affected by the activity level of myosin phosphatase. This enzyme is inhibited by several mechanisms during cytokinesis to favor MLC phosphorylation. Myosin phosphatase is a heterotrimeric enzyme consisting of a targeting subunit that binds myosin (MYPT1 or MBS), a catalytic subunit (the delta isoform of PP1c) and an additional small subunit. Both ROCK and Aurora B may phosphorylate MYPT1 in the furrow to inactivate the phosphatase.¹¹¹⁻¹¹³ In addition, a number of other kinases including Raf-1¹¹⁴ may negatively regulate myosin phosphatase (reviewed in ref. 72). Thus a number of signaling pathways could converge on myosin phosphatase to regulate cytokinesis.

Organization of Actin and Myosin in the Furrow

How actin and myosin are organized within the cleavage furrow and how contraction occurs, is not well understood (for a more detailed discussion, see refs. 115 and 116). Phosphorylated myosin localizes to the furrow in early anaphase⁷⁹ and localization of myosin requires RhoA activation^{13,117} but not myosin ATPase activity.^{73,118,119} Recruitment may require phosphorylation of MLC, as mutations or inactivation of kinases that perturb MLC phosphorylation also disrupt myosin localization. Other scaffolding components, such as anillin, may be important for maintaining myosin within the furrow, as discussed below.

Both actin and myosin are highly dynamic in furrows and dynamic actin is important for cytokinesis.^{108,120} For example, the actin disassembly factor cofilin is necessary for cytokinesis.¹²¹ Cofilin is negatively regulated by the kinase LIMK1 and thus upregulation of LIMK1, or loss of its negative regulator LATS1, is sufficient to enhance actin polymerization and induce cytokinesis failure.¹²² Interestingly, inhibition of myosin slows disassembly of actin filaments of the furrow,¹²³ suggesting that myosin motor activity may help drive actin disassembly.

Scaffolding Proteins in the Furrow

Anillin

Another conserved furrow component is anillin, which may act as a scaffold protein that binds F-actin, myosin, septins and activated RhoA.¹²⁴⁺¹²⁹ Although anillin localizes to the furrow at early stages of cytokinesis, it is not essential for ingression. Instead, it may stabilize the furrow and be important for later stages of cytokinesis including midbody formation and abscission.^{92,127,130-132} However, anillin becomes essential for ingression if the central spindle is disrupted, suggesting it may make early steps of cytokinesis more robust.¹²⁸ Anillin interacts with RhoA¹²⁸ and its localization to the furrow requires activation of RhoA.^{128,129,132,133} MgcRacGAP may also be directly involved in targeting anillin to the furrow,¹³⁴ providing a link between the centralspindlin complex and anillin localization.

Anillin contains domains that permit it to interact with phosphorylated myosin,¹²⁷ actin filaments and septins.^{124,125,135} These features make anillin ideally suited to crosslink the actomyosin and septin cytoskeletons within the contractile ring. Anillin may enhance the robustness of early stages of cytokinesis by promoting the anchoring of myosin in the vicinity of activated RhoA, favoring myosin phosphorylation. Anillin may be essential for asymmetric ingression of the cytokinetic furrow, which occurs when the furrow ingresses from only one side of the cell, rather than circumferentially.¹³⁶ Asymmetric ingression may be important in epithelia¹³⁷ and embryos^{136,138} where it may serve a mechanical function, enhancing the robustness of cytokinesis. Anillin is also important for completion of cytokinesis, as anillin remains in the cytoplasmic bridge even after myosin and actin have dissociated.¹²⁷ Interestingly, whereas overexpression of anillin seems to have little phenotype in Drosophila S2 cells,¹²⁹ overexpression of anillin in mammalian cells is very toxic,¹³² suggesting anillin could have important functions independent of cytokinesis. Levels of anillin appear to be controlled by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, as anillin is targeted for ubiquitination and degradation during G1 by the APC/C.¹³²

Like the liver, the heart also contains a large number of tetraploid cells that arise through cytokinesis failure. Although it was originally proposed that cytokinesis failure might be a consequence of failure to disassemble myofibrils within cardiomyocytes, recent work suggests this is unlikely to be the case.¹³⁹ Instead, cells that fail cytokinesis show complete disassembly of the myofibril, but show abnormal localization of anillin and failure of anillin to concentrate at the midbody.¹³⁹ However, these cells also show delays in furrow ingression, suggesting that earlier steps in cytokinesis may also be affected in these cells.

Septins

Septins represent a second class of scaffolding protein that may help to organize proteins within the cleavage furrow. Septins are GTP-binding proteins that can form filaments and localize to the cytokinetic ring.¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴⁴ Several human septins have been implicated in cytokinesis, including SEPT2 (Nedd5), SEPT9 (MSF) and SEPT12. SEPT12 localizes to the central spindle and midbody during anaphase and cytokinesis, respectively.¹⁴⁵ SEPT2 accumulates in the contractile ring and midbody¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸ and microinjection of antibodies¹⁴⁶ or antisense downregulation¹⁴⁷ of SEPT2 interferes with cytokinesis. Inactivation of SEPT9 by antibody microinjection or siRNA also induces cytokinetic defects.^{149,150}

Septins may participate in several aspects of cytokinesis, including regulation of actin and microtubule dynamics. SEPT2 associates with actin, forming filaments in association with actin bundles and focal adhesions,¹⁴⁶ whereas SEPT9 associates with the microtubule network.^{150,151} Septins may also play a direct role in cytokinesis by interacting with anilllin.^{124,125,135} Furthermore, SEPT2-containing filaments may provide a molecular platform for myosin and its kinases to ensure the full activation of myosin that is necessary for cytokinesis.¹⁵² Finally, septins may form a barrier that restricts the diffusion of membrane proteins in the furrow,^{153,154} thus helping retain activated RhoA within the narrow zone required for efficient initiation of cytokinesis. In mammalian cells, the p85 subunit of PI3 kinase may regulate SEPT2 in cytokinesis,¹⁵⁵ linking cellular signaling pathways with steps in cytokinesis. Septins may be deregulated in tumors, either through gene

fusions¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁸ or by overexpression.¹⁵⁹ The SEPT9 gene is amplified and overexpressed in mouse mammary tumors and human breast cancer cell lines¹⁵⁸ and high SEPT9 expression in human breast cancer cells is associated with oncogenic phenotypes and cytokinesis defects.¹⁶⁰

Stage III. Formation of the Midbody

The central spindle, also referred to as the spindle midzone, plays an important role in keeping separated chromosomes apart prior to cytokinesis completion, because when microtubules are depolymerized in late anaphase, the nuclei collapse back together.⁷³ Microtubules in the midzone may be locally nucleated, as the minus ends of the midzone microtubules are decorated with gamma-tubulin.^{161,162} As cytokinesis progresses, the constricting furrow compacts the midzone microtubule array. The furrow ingresses until a cytoplasmic bridge is formed that is 1-1.5 microns in diameter. Several kinesin-like motor proteins and chromosomal passenger proteins move along the midzone spindle towards the plus ends and accumulate in the overlapping region, forming a phase-dense structure referred to as the Flemming body, stembody, telophase disc, or midbody (reviewed in ref. 163). Disassembly of the actomyosin ring may be an important step at this stage of cytokinesis, as loss of F-actin accompanies and may trigger midbody formation.¹⁶⁴ Once the cytoplasmic bridge matures and abscission begins, the bridge becomes insensitive to the actin inhibitor latrunculin,⁹² implying that the plasma membrane is linked to the midbody by a connection that does not involve dynamic F-actin. Scaffolding proteins such as anillin and septins may stabilize the bridge structure. In almost all systems, central spindle formation is essential for midbody formation, which in turn is necessary for abscission.^{16,32,165} In this section, we discuss the components that are required for formation of the central spindle and midbody.

PRC1 is a microtubule bundling protein that is critical for midzone formation in mammalian cells.^{32,166} PRC1 accumulates on the central spindle in anaphase and suppression of PRC1 expression causes failure of microtubule interdigitation.³² In the absence of PRC1, astral microtubules can guide the equatorial accumulation of anillin, actin and chromosome passenger proteins, enabling cleavage furrow ingression, but abscission fails.¹⁶⁷ PRC1 has separate domains that independently target the protein to the midzone and bundle microtubules.³² PRC1 is targeted to the midzone by the kinesin protein KIF4, which transports PRC1 to the ends of microtubules. Absence of KIF4 leads to a failure to accumulate PRC1 in the central spindle and abolishes central spindle formation.¹⁶⁸ PRC1 in turn recruits the centralspindlin complex and additional mitotic kinesins including CENP-E, MCAK¹⁶⁹ and KIF14.⁸⁹ PRC1 also serves as an important docking site for the kinase Plk1 in the central spindle.¹⁷⁰ PRC1 expression may be perturbed in cancer cells or in response to checkpoint signaling pathways. PRC1 upregulation in tumors^{169,171} may be a consequence of p53 inactivation, as induction of p53 can inhibit PRC1 expression and interfere with cytokinesis completion.^{172,173}

Although the centralspindlin complex (MKLP1 and MgcRacGAP) is important for cytokinesis initiation as described earlier, centralspindlin is also necessary for spindle midzone and midbody formation and ultimately for abscission.^{31,165} Centralspindlin is recruited to the midzone by PRC1 (reviewed in ref. 174) and proper localization requires the presence of both members of the centralspindlin complex.¹⁶ A splice variant of MKLP1, called CHO1, includes an additional domain that can interact with F-actin,¹⁷⁵ suggesting that CHO1 could link the actin and micro-tubule cytoskeletons. Injection of antibodies that target this domain induces failure in late steps of cytokinesis,¹⁷⁵ suggesting CHO1 may stabilize interactions between midbody microtubules and the ingressing cleavage furrow in late steps of cytokinesis. Centralspindlin is also important for recruiting additional proteins to the midbody that are required for abscission and both components of the complex appear to be regulated by phosphorylation. Each of these topics will be discussed in more detail below.

Proteomic approaches have identified a large number of proteins that concentrate at the midbody (Fig. 2)¹⁷⁶ and a functional role for some of these proteins in abscission has been supported by results of RNAi experiments.^{92,162,177} Several of these proteins localize to the Golgi apparatus during interphase and are released from the Golgi during mitosis by phosphorylation.¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁰ Inhibition of Golgi disassembly during mitosis perturbs cytokinesis,¹⁸¹ perhaps by interfering with release of components that are essential for cytokinesis. Precisely how these proteins function in cytokinesis remains unclear, but one potential function is to recruit mitotic regulators such as Plk1 to the midbody.¹⁷⁹

Additional proteins that localize to the midbody and are required for cytokinesis include LAPSER1, which may recruit the microtubule severing protein katanin to the midbody,¹⁸² and annexin 11.¹⁸³ Annexins are Ca(2+)-binding, membrane-fusogenic proteins with diverse but poorly understood functions. Cells lacking annexin 11 fail to establish a functional midbody and instead remain connected by intercellular bridges that contain bundled microtubules but exclude normal midbody components such as MKLP1 and Aurora B.¹⁸³ These data suggest that despite its potential role in membrane fusion, annexin 11 seems to be required at an earlier step for recruitment of MKLP1 and Aurora B to the midbody.

Stage IV. Abscission

Once the midbody is formed, it subsequently organizes the final event of cytokinesis, termed abscission. By the time of abscission, the cytoplasmic bridge has narrowed to 0.2 microns in diameter. At these late stages, microtubule bundles become compacted and begin to disappear.^{92,184} In this process, the cytoplasmic bridge is reorganized to permit separation of the daughter cells. A wide variety of proteins involved in vesicle and protein trafficking, membrane fusion and other processes are required for abscission, suggesting the final stage of cytokinesis is just as complex as earlier stages. Human cultured cells may remain connected by the cytoplasmic bridge for many hours before undergoing abscission.¹⁸⁵ In some systems, such as embryos, blastomeres often remain connected by intracellular bridges for many cell cycles. In spermatocytes, the cytoplasmic bridge is in fact stabilized¹⁸⁶ and cytokinesis completion does not occur, enabling communication between the cytoplasm of adjacent cells. Thus in certain circumstances abscission may be the target of physiological regulation.

Membrane Trafficking and Cytokinesis

Membrane trafficking plays a critical role in the process of cytokinesis (Fig. 4). Three pathways have been implicated in the process of cytokinesis. First, the secretory pathway, including Golgi-derived components, may contribute new membranes and proteins to the ingressing furrow and also participate in late steps of cytokinesis completion. Second, the endocytic pathway and recycling endosomes may remodel membranes in the cleavage furrow and also contribute vesicles that may participate in the final steps of cytokinesis. Finally, recent evidence suggests that components of the ESCRT machinery, best characterized for its role in multivesicular body formation, may also be essential for the final stages of cytokinesis. The relative contributions of each of these pathways in the process of cytokinesis is likely to be dependent on cell type.

The Role of the Secretory Pathway

In large embryos, such as *Xenopus* and Sea Urchins, furrow ingression is coupled to insertion of new membrane via microtubule-dependent exocytosis.¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁹⁰ In smaller cells, such as mammalian tissue culture cells, it is less clear whether new membrane insertion is required. Brefeldin A (BFA), which disrupts ER-Golgi-dependent trafficking, blocks cytokinesis completion in some studies^{191,192} but not others.¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁶ Further evidence for a role of Golgi-derived vesicles in cytokinesis completion has emerged from studies of the protein centriolin, which may help recruit secretory vesicles to the site of abscission at the midbody.¹⁹¹ Centriolin was initially identified as a protein that localizes to the maternal centriole during interphase and accumulates on mature centrioles during metaphase.¹⁹⁷ Knockdown of centriolin in mammalian cells causes cytokinesis failure, with the two cells remaining connected by a cytoplasmic bridge.¹⁹⁷ Centriolin localizes to a ring-like structure within the midbody,¹⁹¹ that also contains gamma-tubulin, GAP-CenA and the centralspindlin complex. Recruitment of centriolin to the midbody ring is dependent on the centralspindlin complex, explaining why centralspindlin may be essential for cytokinesis completion.¹⁹¹



Figure 4. Membrane trafficking in cytokinesis. Secretory vesicles accumulate at the intercellular bridge in a centriolin-dependent manner by SNARE interaction and vesicle tethering by the exocyst complex. Vesicles originating from the recycling endosome and containing the complex Rab11/FIP3 move along microtubules. Interaction of FIP3 with both ARF6 and the exocyst permits vesicle targeting to the midbody. Vesicles then fuse with each other and the plasma membrane, physically separating the daughter cells.

Centriolin may facilitate cytokinesis completion by recruiting to the midbody proteins involved in vesicle tethering and fusion. Centriolin interacts with components of the exocyst, ¹⁹¹ a protein complex that tethers secretory vesicles to the plasma membrane (reviewed in ref. 198). Several components of the exocyst localize to the midbody ring in a centriolin-dependent manner and depletion of exocyst components by siRNA interferes with cytokinesis completion.¹⁹¹ Centriolin also interacts with snapin, a snare-associated protein and centriolin is required for the recruitment of snapin and SNARE proteins to the midbody.¹⁹¹

Secretory vesicles, derived from the Golgi apparatus, accumulate at the intercellular bridge during late steps in cytokinesis.¹⁹¹ At the time of abscission, the vesicles disappear, suggesting they undergo homotypic fusion with each other and also heterotypic fusion with the plasma membrane, releasing their contents.¹⁹¹ Interestingly, vesicles seem to accumulate only on one side of the midbody, suggesting that delivery is asymmetric.¹⁹¹ This finding is consistent with the fact that following abscission, the midbody remains attached to one of the two daughter cells where it may play additional roles in signaling or marking the age of the cell.¹⁹¹ Why abscission typically occurs on only one side of the midbody remains unclear. It has been suggested that abscission may be triggered by arrival of the maternal centriole from one daughter cell,¹⁸⁴ but this event has not been observed consistently.¹⁹¹ Asymmetric abscission may be important to enable the midbody to remain attached to a daughter cell, or it may provide an opportunity to regulate the timing of abscission. However, asymmetric abscission may be inherently more prone to failure than if abscission were to occur on both sides

of the midbody. The mechanism and significance of asymmetric abscission is an interesting topic for future investigation.

The Role of Endocytosis and the Recycling Endosome Pathway

Several lines of evidence suggest that the endocytic and the recycling endosome pathways play critical roles in cytokinesis completion. Endocytosis within the furrow may be important for remodeling the plasma membrane during ingression. In addition, endocytosis from other regions of the cell may serve as a source of vesicles destined for delivery to the cleavage furrow either directly or through the recycling endosome. For example, some endocytic vesicles internalized from the polar region are subsequently trafficked to the midbody area during later stages of cytokinesis.¹⁹⁹ Inhibition of proteins essential for endocytosis, including clathrin, dynamin and alpha-adaptin, perturb cytokinesis in several systems²⁰⁰⁻²⁰⁴ and inhibitors of clathrin-dependent endocytosis block cytokinesis completion in mammalian cells.^{195,199} In addition, there may be direct interactions between the endocytic machinery and proteins required for cytokinesis such as anillin.²⁰⁵

Small GTPases that regulate membrane trafficking have been directly implicated in cytokinesis completion. Arf GTPases initiate the budding of vesicles by recruiting coat protein complexes onto donor membranes, whereas Rab GTPases regulate the targeting and docking/fusion of vesicles with acceptor membranes.²⁰⁶ Two different GTPases, Arf6 and Rab11, have been implicated in regulation of cytokinesis. Rab11 localizes preferentially to the recycling endosome (RE) and is required for proper RE organization and the recycling of vesicles to the plasma membrane. Both Arf6 and Rab11 concentrate near the cleavage furrow and are required for late steps of cytokinesis in mammalian cells.^{199,207-210} Both GTPases interact with a common set of effector proteins that assist in delivery of endosomal vesicles to the cleavage furrow, termed FIP3 (Arfophilin-1) and FIP4 (Arfophilin-2).^{207-209,211-214} FIP3-containing endosomes accumulate near the cleavage furrow and are required for successful completion of cytokinesis.²⁰⁹ Recruitment of FIP3 to the midbody requires ARF6 and recruitment of ARF6 to the midbody requires FIP3.²¹⁵ Other studies show that Arf6 interacts with MKLP1, suggesting the centralspindlin complex is important for targeting Arf6 to the cleavage furrow.^{207,216} The exocyst has also been implicated in targeting of vesicles derived from the recycling endosome. For example, Exo70, a component of the exocyst complex, colocalizes with Arf6 in Rab11-positive endosomes.²⁰⁸ Exo70 interacts with FIP3 and FIP4 biochemically and depletion of Exo70 impairs FIP3 and Rab11 localization to the furrow and midbody.²⁰⁸ Together these studies suggest the following model of delivery of endosomal vesicles to the midbody (Fig. 4). Rab11 first recruits FIP3 to endosomes. FIP3 in turn associates with ARF6 and together this complex localizes to the midbody via interactions with the exocyst and MKLP1.

Membrane Fusion During Abscission

Following vesicle targeting to the site of abscission, membrane fusion is necessary to complete cytokinesis. SNARE proteins are critical components required for membrane fusion (reviewed in ref. 217). Several SNARE proteins or associated components have been implicated in cytokinesis completion in different organisms.^{92,218-220} In mammalian cells, two SNARE proteins, syntaxin 2 and endobrevin/VAMP-8, localize to the midbody during cytokinesis.^{191,221,222} Expression of dominant negative mutants or depletion of SNAREs impairs abscission, but has no effect on ingression of the cleavage furrow, suggesting that SNARE-mediated fusion is required only in the latest steps of cytokinesis.^{191,221} Septin proteins may assist in membrane fusion by restricting the diffusion of membrane-associated components such as the exocyst to the region of abscision.¹⁵³ Furthermore, septins may assist in abscission by directly recruiting the exocyst²²³ and SNARE proteins.²²⁴

Role of the ESCRT Machinery

Recently, protein subunits of the Endosomal Sorting Complex Required for Transport (ESCRT) that are normally involved in late endosome to lysosome trafficking have also been implicated in abscission. These proteins are best known for their roles in multivesicular body formation (reviewed in ref. 225), where they are important for membrane invagination. ESCRT complexes also play important roles in the topologically equivalent process of viral budding. Because abscission likely requires changes in membrane organization, a role for the ESCRT complex in cytokinesis is very intriguing. However, the precise mechanism of membrane invagination mediated by the ESCRT complex remains unknown and it is unclear whether the ESCRT pathway functions independently in abscission or whether it assists in secretory- or endosomal vesicle-mediated cytokinesis completion.

Components of the ESCRT machinery localize to the midbody and inhibition of some ESCRT complexes blocks late steps in cytokinesis. For example, CHMP3, a subunit of the ESCRT-III complex, localizes to the midbody and deletion of a C-terminal autoinhibitory domain of CHMP3 inhibits cytokinesis.²²⁶ Other subunits of the ESCRT machinery implicated in abscission include tumor-susceptibility gene 101 (Tsg101), a subunit of the ESCRT-I complex and Alix, an ESCRT-associated protein.^{222,227} Alix may interact with actin and microtubules,^{228,229} establishing a link between the ESCRT machinery and cytoskeletal components that are present at the midbody. Alix and Tsg101 are recruited to the midbody by interaction with centrosome protein 55 (Cep55), a centrosome and midbody protein essential for abscission.^{222,230,231} Interestingly, Tsg101 has been implicated in cancer and may have additional functional roles in cell cycle and transcriptional regulation (reviewed in ref. 225).

Regulation of Cytokinesis

Thus far we have outlined the core pathways and components essential for each stage of cytokinesis. In the remaining part of the chapter, we discuss how these components are regulated to ensure that cytokinesis occurs at the proper place and time. Many regulatory pathways impinge upon the cytokinesis machinery, suggesting that cytokinesis may be responsive to a variety of different cues within the cell. The complexity of cytokinesis regulation suggests that cytokinesis failure could result from alterations in the activity of these regulatory pathways.

Regulation of Cytokinesis by Protein Kinases

Cytokinesis is regulated by mitotic protein kinases, including cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), Polo kinase (Plk1) and the Aurora B kinase complex (Fig. 5). Mitotic CDK activity prevents cytokinesis onset until anaphase by phosphorylating cytokinesis components in a manner that inhibits their activity. For this reason, CDK1 must be inactivated for cytokinesis to proceed.²³² In fact, inhibition of CDK1 with a small molecule is sufficient to induce the initial events of cytokinesis,²³³⁻²³⁵ suggesting that CDK1 inactivation is the trigger for cytokinesis initiation.

In contrast, Polo kinase and Aurora B kinase positively regulate the events of cytokinesis and must remain active for a period of time following CDK inactivation to promote cytokinesis. This period of the cell cycle, which lasts for about an hour in HeLa cells, has been referred to as "C-phase".^{3,236} C-phase is initiated by inactivation of CDK1, mediated by cyclin destruction catalyzed by the APC/C. At later times following anaphase, the APC/C also ubiquitinates other proteins that are essential for cytokinesis, including anillin, ¹³² Polo kinase²³⁷ and Aurora B.²³⁸ Thus the APC/C may also be responsible for terminating C-phase, an idea that is consistent with the finding that treatment of cells with proteasome inhibitors doubles the duration of C-phase.⁷³

Regulation of Cytokinesis by CDKActivity

Because CDK1 is a central negative regulator of cytokinesis, it is possible that failure to fully inactivate CDK1, perhaps as a consequence of failure to fully degrade mitotic cyclins, could inhibit cytokinesis at some step. One setting in which this might occur is in cells that become arrested in mitosis due to persistent activation of the spindle checkpoint, which normally inhibits the APC/C until chromosomes become properly aligned and attached at the metaphase plate.²³⁹ Prolonged activation of the checkpoint may result in abnormal mitotic exit, resulting in incomplete activation of APC/C, or improper timing of degradation of different substrates, leading to cytokinesis failure. There is also evidence that APC/C activity may be spatially regulated within the cell, with the subpopulation of APC/C that is associated with the spindle poles remaining inhibited until later stages of mitosis.²⁴⁰ It is therefore possible that perturbation of spindle organization could interfere with the timing of degradation of mitotic regulators, thus perturbing cytokinesis.



Figure 5. Regulation of cytokinesis by mitotic kinases. A major function of CDK1 is to prevent precocious cytokinesis before proper chromosome segregation. CDK1 thus negatively regulates some of the main players of cytokinesis. At the same time, CDK1 plays a positive role in cytokinesis by releasing cytokinesis proteins from the Golgi apparatus and by facilitating binding of Plk1 to its substrates. Plk1 and Aurora B phosphorylate substrates that are important for both early and late steps of cytokinesis. Solid arrows indicate phosphorylation; dashed arrows indicate changed protein localization; dotted arrows indicate protein interactions. IF, intermediate filaments.

CDK1 activity restrains multiple steps in cytokinesis. Cytokinesis initiation is inhibited because the RhoA pathway is kept inactive. This is a consequence of phosphorylation of ECT2 by CDK1 at a site that blocks its association with MgcRacGAP.^{19,26} In addition, myosin light chain is phosphorylated by CDK1 at sites that inhibit myosin activation⁸² and high CDK1 activity also inhibits cortical recruitment of myosin.²⁴¹ Central spindle formation is also inhibited by CDK1-dependent phosphorylation. Phosphorylation of PRC1 by CDK1 inhibits its ability to bundle microtubules^{32,166,242} and its ability to interact with Plk1.¹⁷⁰ CDK1 also phosphorylates MKLP1, inhibiting its motor activity by reducing its affinity for microtubules.²⁴³ Thus CDK1-dependent phosphorylation acts at many steps to block cytokinesis.

Though CDK1 restrains cytokinesis onset, CDK1-dependent phosphorylation is also essential for cytokinesis because it primes Plk1-dependent phosphorylation that occurs during early stages of cytokinesis. CDK1 activity is also important during mitosis to promote dissociation of cytokinesis proteins from cellular organelles that would otherwise sequester the protein. For example, the protein Nir2 is required for cytokinesis and must dissociate from the Golgi apparatus in order to participate in cytokinesis; dissociation is mediated by CDK1-dependent phosphorylation.¹⁷⁹ CDK1-dependent phosphorylation is also important for dissociation of Cep55 from the centrosome and its subsequent phosphorylation by Plk1.²³¹

Regulation by Polo Kinase

Polo kinase is an essential positive regulator of cytokinesis in multiple organisms. In mammalian cells, Plk1 localizes to the midzone during anaphase and to the midbody during telophase and cytokinesis²⁴⁴ and plays an essential role in the initiation of cytokinesis.²⁴⁵⁻²⁴⁸ Plk1 activity is required for recruitment of itself and ECT2 to the central spindle and inhibition of Plk1 with small molecule inhibitors abolishes RhoA GTPase localization to the equatorial cortex, suppressing cleavage furrow formation.²⁴⁶⁻²⁴⁸ Plk1 also appears to be important for the interaction between ECT2 and MgcRacGAP.²⁴⁷ Other evidence suggests that Plk1 may bind to ECT2 in a CDK1-dependent manner.²⁴⁹ Another study using a distinct Plk1 inhibitor demonstrated that when Plk1 is inhibited, it spreads over the arms of chromosomes, resembling the localization of its binding partner PICH.²⁴⁵ Therefore, Plk1 activity is required for its own proper localization during cytokinesis and also for recruitment and activation of RhoA.

Plk1 activity may be required for later steps in cytokinesis as well, as Plk1 is targeted to the central spindle by the motor protein MKLP2 and phosphorylation of MKLP2 by Plk1 is required for cytokinesis.²⁵⁰ Phosphorylation of MKLP2 by Plk1 may be necessary for the spatial restriction of Plk1 to the central spindle during anaphase and telophase, although interaction with PRC1 also appears to be important for docking of Plk1 to the central spindle.¹⁷⁰ Plk1 may also interact with and phosphorylate MKLP1 during cytokinesis,^{244,251} although others suggest that Aurora B may be the relevant kinase.²⁵² Cep55 also appears to be a Plk1 substrate whose phosphorylation is primed by CDK1 but the consequences of this phosphorylation remains unknown.²³¹ A recent proteomic screen identified a large number of proteins that bind to the Polo-box domain of Plk1, including the Rho kinase ROCK2,²⁵³ where Plk1 and RhoA may function together to enhance ROCK2 activity. Another substrate of Plk1 that may be involved in regulation of mitosis and cytokinesis is NudC,^{254,255} a dynein/dynactin associated protein that is essential for midzone formation and cytokinesis completion in C. elegans and mammalian cells.²⁵⁴

Plk1 is overexpressed in a broad range of human tumors (for review see ref. 256). Overexpression of Plk1 in HeLa cells leads to an increase of cells with large, often fragmented nuclei or multiple nuclei²⁵⁷ as well as centrosome amplification,²⁵⁸ suggesting that increased expression of Plk1 observed in some tumors may have an effect on cytokinesis completion as well as chromosome segregation. This finding has been corroborated in human primary cells.²⁵⁹

Regulation by Aurora B and the Chromosome Passenger Complex

The chromosome passenger complex (CPC) consists of the proteins Aurora B, INCENP, survivin and borealin. The complex plays many important roles throughout mitosis and has been implicated in the regulation of cytokinesis (see ref. 260 for review). At the metaphase-anaphase transition, the CPC relocalizes from centromeres to the spindle midzone and the equatorial cortex²⁶¹⁻²⁶³ and ultimately concentrates near the midbody, adjacent to the centriolin ring.¹⁹¹ MKLP2, a kinesin-6 family motor protein, is required for relocalization of Aurora B and also Plk1, to the central spindle in human cells.^{250,252,264,265}

Aurora B activity is necessary for several events in cytokinesis (Fig. 5). First, Aurora B is required for proper localization and function of MKLP1. Treatment of human cells with a small molecule inhibitor of Aurora B in early mitosis inhibits localization of MKLP1 (and its binding partner MgcRacGAP) to the central spindle.²⁶⁶ However, addition of an Aurora inhibitor at later stages of mitosis inhibits phosphorylation of MKLP1 without disrupting its localization,^{252,267} yet perturbs cytokinesis completion, indicating that MKLP1 must remain phosphorylated to permit abscission. How phosphorylation regulates MKLP1 is not completely clear, as MKLP1 is phosphorylated at multiple sites that may have distinct effects.^{252,267} Phosphorylation of MKLP1 could be important for stabilizing interactions between the cortex and midbody, or be important for recruiting proteins such as centriolin that are necessary for abscission. In addition, phosphorylation of MKLP1 by Aurora B is important to prevent the protein from being sequestered back in the nucleus as cells enter interphase.²⁵² It is interesting to note that many components required for cytokinesis are located in the nucleus or associated with Golgi apparatus during interphase (Fig. 2) and thus localization of cytokinesis components to the midbody could require sustained phosphorylation that prevents the proteins from being resequestered by these structures as cells exit mitosis. Another important substrate of Aurora B is MgcRacGAP, whose phosphorylation appears important for completion of cytokinesis.^{47,268,269} Phosphorylation of MgcRacGAP has been proposed to stimulate its activity as a GAP for RhoA, which could be important for terminating RhoA activity in late stages of cytokinesis.⁴⁷ Another study indicates that phosphorylation of MgcRacGAP by Aurora B at a different site might activate the protein by stimulating release of the GAP domain from an inhibitory interaction with PRC1.²⁶⁸

There are several other important Aurora substrates including vimentin, an abundant intermediate filament protein. Intermediate filaments must be disassembled during mitosis to allow cell division and mitotic phosphorylation is important for filament dissociation, as expression of nonphosphorylatable mutants of vimentin leads to cells that show a persistent filamentous bridge.^{270,271} Following mitotic exit and during later stages of cytokinesis, ROCK²⁷² and Aurora B^{112,270,271,273} maintain vimentin phosphorylation after CDK1 is inactivated. Aurora B may also promote cytokinesis by inhibiting myosin light chain phosphatase.¹¹² Aurora B also phosphorylates CENP-A, which appears to play an important role in cytokinesis.²⁷⁴ Cells expressing mutants of CENP-A that cannot be phosphorylated result in mislocalization of the passenger complex and cause a delay in the final stages of cytokinesis.

Although Aurora B is a critical positive regulator of cytokinesis in vertebrate cells, this role does not seem conserved in yeast, as the budding yeast ortholog Ipl1 and the fission yeast ortholog Ark1 are not essential for cytokinesis. However, in budding yeast, Ipl1 may negatively regulate late steps of cytokinesis in cells with spindle defects,^{275,276} perhaps by regulating the localization of anillin-like proteins. This pathway may prevent abscission until segregating chromosomes have cleared the midzone. Whether a similar pathway operates in mammalian cells is not yet clear.

We are just beginning to learn about the mechanisms that regulate Aurora B activation. New work suggests that the TD60 protein may play an important role in activating Aurora B at centromeres.²⁷⁷ In multiple organisms, components of the mitotic exit network, including the phosphatase CDC14, play important roles in regulating cytokinesis,²⁷⁸⁻²⁸⁰ in part through regulation of targeting of the Aurora B complex.²⁸¹ Aurora B is also regulated by a Cul3-containing ubiquitin ligase, which is important for removing Aurora B from mitotic chromosomes and allowing its accumulation on the central spindle during anaphase.²⁸²

In vertebrate cells, Aurora B is expressed in a cell-cycle dependent manner, peaking in the G2/M phase of the cell cycle^{283,284} and is highly expressed in a number of cancers.^{263,284-291} However, in these tumors, expression of other proliferative markers, such as Ki-67, MCM2, geminin and Aurora A is also increased,^{291,292} suggesting that Aurora B upregulation may be part of a broader upregulation of mitotic components in tumor cells. Because Aurora B is a positive regulator of cytokinesis, it is unclear whether its overexpression would perturb cytokinesis. Elevated levels of Aurora B may promote cytokinesis completion in cells that would otherwise undergo cytokinesis failure due to other abnormalities in the mitotic machinery. However, it is possible that perturbing Aurora B expression, or other components of the CPC, could alter the stoichiometry of the complex, perturbing cytokinesis.²⁹³

Regulation of Cytokinesis by Tyrosine Kinases

Tyrosine kinase signaling pathways may also regulate cytokinesis completion. Small molecule inhibitors of Src, including PP2 and SU6656, inhibit abscission in HeLa cells.²⁹⁴ Src activity appears to be required in early mitosis, followed by delivery of tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins to the midbody via Rab11-driven vesicle transport.²⁹⁴ Src colocalizes with the diaphanous-related formins mDia1 and mDia2 in endosomes and midbodies of dividing cells and inhibition of Src blocks cytokinesis.⁶⁷ Other tyrosine kinases, such as Fyn and its associated proteins are required for cytokinesis in lymphocytes,²⁹⁵ through mechanisms that remain obscure.

Regulation of Cytokinesis by Lipids

Several studies indicate that phosphoinositide-containing lipids may be important for cytokinesis, with phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PtdIns(4,5)P2) playing a central role. In mammalian cells, PtdIns(4,5)P2 accumulates at the cleavage furrow and overexpression of proteins that bind to PtdIns(4,5)P2 perturbs cytokinesis completion but not ingression of the cleavage furrow.²⁹⁶ Overexpression of dominant negative kinases required for PtdIns(4,5)P2 generation also inhibits cytokinesis completion in mammalian cells.²⁹⁶

Hydrolysis of PtdIns(4,5)P2 by phosphlipasec(PLC) yields inositol trisphosphate (IP₃), which stimulates calcium release from internal stores. Inhibitors of PLC can interfere with cytokinesis,²⁹⁷ which can in some cases be rescued by addition of calcium.²⁹⁸ Alternatively, PtdIns(4,5)P2 may play a direct role in recruiting membrane proteins required for stability of the furrow. Several proteins required for cytokinesis, such as septin, profilin and anillin can bind to PtdIns(4,5)P2 and overexpression of a protein containing a PtdIns(4,5)P2-binding domain blocks cytokinesis completion by interfering with adhesion of the plasma membrane to the contractile ring at the furrow.²⁹⁶

Other studies have shown that the membrane lipid phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) is exposed on the cell surface of the cleavage furrow during late cytokinesis.²⁹⁹ Addition of a cyclic peptide that binds tightly to PE inhibits cytokinesis completion,²⁹⁹ perhaps by interfering with contractile ring disassembly.³⁰⁰ Mutant cell lines that fail to synthesize adequate PE also show defects in cytokinesis completion that can be rescued by PE addition.³⁰⁰ Proper PE organization may be essential for RhoA inactivation at late stages of cytokinesis, which may in turn be necessary for actin disassembly.³⁰¹

Coupling of Cytokinesis to Other Cellular Pathways

The complexity of cytokinesis regulation provides opportunities for linking cytokinesis to other cellular pathways. Emerging evidence suggests interesting new connections between cytokinesis and the pathways involved in regulation of protein synthesis, DNA replication and DNA damage.

Cytokinesis and Protein Synthesis

Recent work suggests that proper regulation of protein synthesis may be essential for cytokinesis to proceed with high efficiency. Interestingly, of 214 genes identified in a genome-wide RNAi screen in Drosophila S2 cells, 22% were ribosomal proteins and another 5% were involved in translation.¹⁷⁷ Recent work suggests that the protein 14-3-3 σ may play an important role in regulating protein synthesis during mitosis.³⁰² In normal cells, cap-dependent translation is suppressed during mitosis, whereas cap-independent translation is increased. Cells lacking 14-3-3 σ do not make this switch, perturbing the pattern of proteins that are synthesized.³⁰² Downregulation of 14-3-3 σ perturbs localization of Plk1 to the midbody and leads to cytokinesis failure.³⁰² These effects may be a consequence of failure to properly synthesize proteins containing an internal ribosomal entry site during mitosis, such as Cdk11.³⁰² Interestingly, 14-3-3 σ expression is often reduced in tumor cells by targeted degradation or promoter hypermethylation. Loss of 14-3-3 σ may in turn result in defective cytokinesis as a consequence of alterations in protein synthesis.

Cytokinesis and DNA Replication

Interestingly, one of the components of the Origin Recognition Complex (ORC), which is required for initiation of DNA replication, may also play a role in cytokinesis in metazoans. In vertebrate cells, Orc6 localizes to kinetochores and to a reticular-like structure around the cell periphery and ultimately to the cleavage furrow and midbody.³⁰³ Elimination of Orc6 induces mutlipolar spindles and formation of multinucleated cells in both human cells³⁰³ and *Drosophila*,³⁰⁴ suggesting this function is conserved. In *Drosophila*, Orc6 interacts with a septin protein that may be important for cytokinesis. Domains of Orc6 required for DNA replication and cytokinesis appear separable, suggesting that Orc6 has evolved a domain that participates specifically in cytokinesis.³⁰⁴ How Orc6 might couple the processes of DNA replication and cytokinesis completion remains unclear.

Cytokinesis and DNA Damage

Several lines of evidence suggest that cytokinesis may be regulated in response to DNA damage. Components required for DNA repair, such as BRCA2, may be directly involved in cytokinesis. Other evidence suggests that DNA damage pathways may regulate the expression of cytokinesis proteins, or regulate their activity by posttranslational modification. Coupling of DNA damage pathways to cytokinesis regulation could be important for preventing the cleavage furrow from cutting damaged DNA that cannot be accurately segregated during mitosis. The existence of such pathways may explain why spontaneous chromosome missegregation is tightly coupled to cytokinesis failure in human cells.¹⁸⁵ In this model, DNA damage, or perhaps incompletely replicated DNA, may trigger pathways that prevent segregation of unreplicated or damaged sister chromatids and at the same time activate pathways that block cytokinesis completion.

BRCA2 is an example of a protein that may play direct roles in both DNA repair and cytokinesis. BRCA2 is required for recombination-based repair of DNA double-strand breaks.³⁰⁵ However, BRCA2-deficient cells also show centrosome amplification that may be a consequence of defective cytokinesis.³⁰⁶ BRCA2 localizes to the midbody and inactivation of BRCA2 in murine embryonic fibroblasts and HeLa cells interferes with cytokinesis.³⁰⁷ BRCA2 may be regulated during mitosis, as it is a Plk1 substrate whose phosphorylation is inhibited in the presence of DNA damage.³⁰⁸ Interestingly, downregulation of a BRCA2-interacting protein (BCCIP) also leads to defective cytokinesis.³⁰⁹ Other proteins involved in DNA damage responses may influence cytokinesis regulation by interacting with cytokinesis components. For example, the DNA damage checkpoint kinase Rad53 has been shown to associate with septins in budding yeast.³¹⁰ In mammalian cells, Ku70, a DNA-binding protein required for DNA damage repair, forms a complex with ARF6 during mitosis,³¹¹ suggesting a possible link between the DNA damage pathway and completion of cytokinesis.

Transcriptional controls may provide another mechanism for inhibiting cytokinesis in response to DNA damage. The expression of several cytokinesis proteins, including Plk1, ECT2, anillin and survivin, is repressed when DNA is damaged, in a manner that depends on an intact Rb pathway.³¹² Other studies suggest that expression of cytokinesis proteins may be inhibited by activation of the p53 pathway.³¹³ For example, it has been shown that ECT2 expression is repressed by p53 via protein methyltransferases, suggesting that cytokinesis could be more likely to fail under conditions of p53 activation.³¹⁴

Posttranslational modifications may also regulate cytokinesis in response to DNA damage. For example, Aurora B becomes highly poly-ADP-ribosylated when DNA is damaged, a modification that inhibits its kinase activity.³¹⁵ Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation is an immediate cellular response to DNA strand breaks that is catalyzed by NAD⁺-dependent enzymes, poly(ADP-ribose) poly-merases (PARPs).³¹⁶ This effect is mediated by direct interaction between the BRCT domain of PARP1 and Aurora B.³¹⁵ Because Aurora B activity is essential for chromosome segregation and cytokinesis, induction of DNA damage could lead to errors in chromosome segregation and failure of cytokinesis.

Conclusion

Cytokinesis is a surprisingly complex process that requires the interplay of many components and regulatory pathways. Cytokinesis failure can arise through defects in any of the four stages in cytokinesis and as a consequence of inactivation or hyperactivation of any of a large number of different components (summarized in Fig. 6). Although many cytokinesis proteins have been identified, we are just beginning to understand how these proteins interact with one another and how they are regulated. Understanding the causes of cytokinesis failure is important, as it may set the stage for genetically unstable tetraploid cells that give rise to tumors.³¹⁷ However, cytokinesis failure also seems to occur physiologically in some tissues, even in those that are not tumor prone such as the heart. Understanding how cytokinesis is regulated physiologically in response to different signals, or under conditions of cell stress or damage, remains an important area for future research. Although cytokinesis failure may be accompany certain pathological states such as cancer, it is likely that pharmacologically-induced cytokinesis failure may be an important issue to consider as new medicines are developed. Inhibitors of Rho kinase are being developed for cardiovascular medicine³¹⁸ and inhibitors of Aurora kinase are under development as anticancer agents.³¹⁹ Because these compounds are likely to induce cytokinesis failure in normal tissues, it will be important to



Figure 6. Summary of different phenotypes resulting from cytokinesis failure. Inhibition (downward arrow) or excessive activation (upward arrow) of different cytokinesis components can give rise to distinct phenotypes, including precocious ingression before the chromosomes have been separated, regression of the furrow giving rise to binucleated cells, or stabilization of the cytoplasmic bridge where daughter cells remain connected. The list is not comprehensive; see text for additional examples.

determine how sensitive various tissues are to cytokinesis failure and the consequences of production of tetraploid cells in different tissue types.

Acknowledgements

Work in the author's laboratory is supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (GM 66492), the Dana-Farber/Harvard SPORE in Breast Cancer (CA089393) and the Susan G. Komen Foundation (BCTR131606).

References

- 1. Rappaport R. Cytokinesis in animal cells. Int Rev Cytol 1971; 31:169-213.
- Rappaport R. Establishment of the mechanism of cytokinesis in animal cells. Int Rev Cytol 1986; 105:245-281.
- Canman JC, Cameron LA, Maddox PS et al. Determining the position of the cell division plane. Nature 2003; 424:1074-1078.
- 4. Hiramoto Y. Analysis of cleavage stimulus by means of micromanipulation of sea urchin eggs. Exp Cell Res 1971; 68:291-298.
- 5. Burgess DR, Chang F. Site selection for the cleavage furrow at cytokinesis. Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:156-162.

- Danowski BA. Fibroblast contractility and actin organization are stimulated by microtubule inhibitors. J Cell Sci 1989; 93(Pt 2):255-266.
- Ren XD, Kiosses WB, Schwartz MA. Regulation of the small GTP-binding protein Rho by cell adhesion and the cytoskeleton. EMBO J 1999; 18:578-585.
- Pletjushkina OJ, Rajfur Z, Pomorski P et al. Induction of cortical oscillations in spreading cells by depolymerization of microtubules. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 2001; 48:235-244.
- Canman JC, Bement WM. Microtubules suppress actomyosin-based cortical flow in Xenopus oocytes. J Cell Sci 1997; 110(Pt 16):1907-1917.
- Werner M, Munro E, Glotzerl M. Astral signals spatially bias cortical myosin recruitment to break symmetry and promote cytokinesis. Current Biology 2007; 17:1286-1297.
- Bringmann H, Hyman AA. A cytokinesis furrow is positioned by two consecutive signals. Nature 2005; 436:731-734.
- 12. Dechant R, Glotzer M. Centrosome separation and central spindle assembly act in redundant pathways that regulate microtubule density and trigger cleavage furrow formation. Dev Cell 2003; 4:333-344.
- Piekny A, Werner M, Glotzer M. Cytokinesis: Welcome to the Rho zone. Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:651-658.
- Kishi K, Sasaki T, Kuroda S et al. Regulation of cytoplasmic division of Xenopus embryo by rho p21 and its inhibitory GDP/GTP exchange protein (rho GDI). J Cell Biol 1993; 120:1187-1195.
- Drechsel DN, Hyman AA, Hall A et al. A requirement for Rho and Cdc42 during cytokinesis in Xenopus embryos. Curr Biol 1997; 7:12-23.
- Jantsch-Plunger V, Gonczy P, Romano A et al. CYK-4: A Rho family gtpase activating protein (GAP) required for central spindle formation and cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2000; 149:1391-1404.
- Kamijo K, Ohara N, Abe M et al. Dissecting the role of Rho-mediated signaling in contractile ring formation. Mol Biol Cell 2006; 17:43-55.
- Yonemura S, Hirao-Minakuchi K, Nishimura Y. Rho localization in cells and tissues. Exp Cell Res 2004; 295:300-314.
- Yuce O, Piekny A, Glotzer M. An ECT2-centralspindlin complex regulates the localization and function of RhoA. J Cell Biol 2005; 170:571-582.
- Nishimura Y, Yonemura S. Centralspindlin regulates ECT2 and RhoA accumulation at the equatorial cortex during cytokinesis. J Cell Sci 2006; 119:104-114.
- Yoshizaki H, Ohba Y, Kurokawa K et al. Activity of Rho-family GTPases during cell division as visualized with FRET-based probes. J Cell Biol 2003; 162:223-232.
- Bement WM, Benink HA, von Dassow G. A microtubule-dependent zone of active RhoA during cleavage plane specification. J Cell Biol 2005; 170:91-101.
- Tatsumoto T, Xie X, Blumenthal R et al. Human ECT2 is an exchange factor for Rho GTPases, phosphorylated in G2/M phases and involved in cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 1999; 147:921-928.
- Kim JE, Billadeau DD, Chen JJ. The tandem BRCT domains of Ect2 are required for both negative and positive regulation of Ect2 in cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:5733-5739.
- Chalamalasetty RB, Hummer S, Nigg EA et al. Influence of human Ect2 depletion and overexpression on cleavage furrow formation and abscission. J Cell Sci 2006; 119:3008-3019.
- Hara T, Abe M, Inoue H et al. Cytokinesis regulator ECT2 changes its conformation through phosphorylation at Thr-341 in G2/M phase. Oncogene 2006; 25:566-578.
- 27. Miki T, Smith CL, Long JE et al. Oncogene ect2 is related to regulators of small GTP-binding proteins. Nature 1993; 362:462-465.
- Saito S, Liu XF, Kamijo K et al. Deregulation and mislocalization of the cytokinesis regulator ECT2 activate the Rho signaling pathways leading to malignant transformation. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:7169-7179.
- Somers WG, Saint R. A RhoGEF and Rho family GTPase-activating protein complex links the contractile ring to cortical microtubules at the onset of cytokinesis. Dev Cell 2003; 4:29-39.
- Mishima M, Kaitna S, Glotzer M. Central spindle assembly and cytokinesis require a kinesin-like protein/ RhoGAP complex with microtubule bundling activity. Dev Cell 2002; 2:41-54.
- Matuliene J, Kuriyama R. Role of the midbody matrix in cytokinesis: RNAi and genetic rescue analysis of the mammalian motor protein CHO1. Mol Biol Cell 2004; 15:3083-3094.
- Mollinari C, Kleman JP, Jiang W et al. PRC1 is a microtubule binding and bundling protein essential to maintain the mitotic spindle midzone. J Cell Biol 2002; 157:1175-1186.
- 33. Clemens F, Verma R, Ramnath J et al. Amplification of the Ect2 proto-oncogene and over-expression of Ect2 mRNA and protein in nickel compound and methylcholanthrene-transformed 10T1/2 mouse fibroblast cell lines. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2005; 206:138-149.
- 34. Tatsumoto T, Sakata H, Dasso M et al. Potential roles of the nucleotide exchange factor ECT2 and Cdc42 GTPase in spindle assembly in Xenopus egg cell-free extracts. J Cell Biochem 2003; 90:892-900.
- Canevascini S, Marti M, Frohli E et al. The Caenorhabditis elegans homologue of the proto-oncogene ect-2 positively regulates RAS signalling during vulval development. EMBO Rep 2005; 6:1169-1175.

- 36. Saito S, Tatsumoto T, Lorenzi MV et al. Rho exchange factor ECT2 is induced by growth factors and regulates cytokinesis through the N-terminal cell cycle regulator-related domains. J Cell Biochem 2003; 90:819-836.
- 37. Eguchi T, Takaki T, Itadani H et al. RB silencing compromises the DNA damage-induced G2/M checkpoint and causes deregulated expression of the ECT2 oncogene. Oncogene 2007; 26:509-520.
- Roversi G, Pfundt R, Moroni RF et al. Identification of novel genomic markers related to progression to glioblastoma through genomic profiling of 25 primary glioma cell lines. Oncogene 2006; 25:1571-1583.
- Sano M, Genkai N, Yajima N et al. Expression level of ECT2 proto-oncogene correlates with prognosis in glioma patients. Oncol Rep 2006; 16:1093-1098.
- Kanada M, Nagasaki A, Uyeda TQ. Novel functions of Ect2 in polar lamellipodia formation and polarity maintenance during "Contractile Ring-Independent" cytokinesis in adherent cells. Mol Biol Cell 2008; 19:8-16.
- Birkenfeld J, Nalbant P, Bohl BP et al. GEF-H1 modulates localized RhoA activation during cytokinesis under the control of mitotic kinases. Dev Cell 2007; 12:699-712.
- Wu D, Asiedu M, Adelstein RS, Wei Q. A novel guanine nucleotide exchange factor MyoGEF is required for cytokinesis. Cell Cycle 2006; 5:1234-1239.
- Wolf A, Keil R, Gotzl O et al. The armadillo protein p0071 regulates Rho signalling during cytokinesis. Nature Cell Biol 2006; 8:1432-U1478.
- 44. Kitzing TM, Sahadevan AS, Brandt DT et al. Positive feedback between Dia1, LARG and RhoA regulates cell morphology and invasion. Genes Dev 2007; 21:1478-1483.
- Dadke D, Jarnik M, Pugacheva EN et al. Deregulation of HEF1 impairs M-phase progression by disrupting the RhoA activation cycle. Mol Biol Cell 2006; 17:1204-1217.
- 46. Su L, Agati JM, Parsons SJ. p190RhoGAP is cell cycle regulated and affects cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2003; 163:571-582.
- 47. Minoshima Y, Kawashima T, Hirose K et al. Phosphorylation by aurora B converts MgcRacGAP to a RhoGAP during cytokinesis. Dev Cell 2003; 4:549-560.
- Yoshizaki H, Ohba Y, Parrini MC et al. Cell type-specific regulation of RhoA activity during cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:44756-44762.
- D'Avino PP, Savoian MS, Capalbo L et al. RacGAP50C is sufficient to signal cleavage furrow formation during cytokinesis. J Cell Sci 2006; 119:4402-4408.
- D'Avino PP, Savoian MS, Glover DM. Mutations in sticky lead to defective organization of the contractile ring during cytokinesis and are enhanced by Rho and suppressed by Rac. J Cell Biol 2004; 166:61-71.
- Oceguera-Yanez F, Kimura K, Yasuda S et al. Ect2 and MgcRacGAP regulate the activation and function of Cdc42 in mitosis. J Cell Biol 2005; 168:221-232.
- Guidotti JE, Bregerie O, Robert A et al. Liver cell polyploidization: A pivotal role for binuclear hepatocytes. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:19095-19101.
- Margall-Ducos G, Celton-Morizur S, Couton D et al. Liver tetraploidization is controlled by a new process of incomplete cytokinesis. J Cell Sci 2007; 120:3633-3639.
- Kudryavtsev BN, Kudryavtseva MV, Sakuta GA et al. Human hepatocyte polyploidization kinetics in the course of life cycle. Virchows Arch B-Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol 1993; 64:387-393.
- 55. Toyoda H, Bregerie O, Vallet A et al. Changes to hepatocyte ploidy and binuclearity profiles during human chronic viral hepatitis. Gut 2005; 54:297-302.
- Caldwell CM, Green RA, Kaplan KB. APC mutations lead to cytokinetic failures in vitro and tetraploid genotypes in Min mice. J Cell Biol 2007; 178:1109-1120.
- Kaplan KB, Burds AA, Swedlow JR et al. A role for the adenomatous polyposis coli protein in chromosome segregation. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3:429-432.
- Green RA, Kaplan KB. Chromosome instability in colorectal tumor cells is associated with defects in microtubule plus-end attachments caused by a dominant mutation in APC. J Cell Biol 2003; 163:949-961.
- 59. Tighe A, Johnson VL, Taylor SS. Truncating APC mutations have dominant effects on proliferation, spindle checkpoint control, survival and chromosome stability. J Cell Sci 2004; 117:6339-6353.
- 60. Dikovskaya D, Schiffmann D, Newton IP et al. Loss of APC induces polyploidy as a result of a combination of defects in mitosis and apoptosis. J Cell Biol 2007; 176:183-195.
- Fodde R, Kuipers J, Rosenberg C et al. Mutations in the APC tumour suppressor gene cause chromosomal instability. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3:433-438.
- 62. Pollard TD. Regulation of actin filament assembly by Arp2/3 complex and formins. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct 2007; 36:451-477.
- Alberts AS. Identification of a carboxyl-terminal diaphanous-related formin homology protein autoregulatory domain. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:2824-2830.
- 64. Otomo T, Otomo C, Tomchick DR et al. Structural basis of Rho GTPase-mediated activation of the formin mDia1. Mol Cell 2005; 18:273-281.

- 65. Rose R, Weyand M, Lammers M et al. Structural and mechanistic insights into the interaction between Rho and mammalian Dia. Nature 2005; 435:513-518.
- 66. Watanabe N, Madaule P, Reid T et al. p140mDia, a mammalian homolog of drosophila diaphanous, is a target protein for Rho small GTPase and is a ligand for profilin. EMBO J 1997; 16:3044-3056.
- 67. Tominaga T, Sahai E, Chardin P et al. Diaphanous-related formins bridge Rho GTPase and Src tyrosine kinase signaling. Mol Cell 2000; 5:13-25.
- Peng J, Wallar BJ, Flanders A et al. Disruption of the Diaphanous-related formin Drf1 gene encoding mDia1 reveals a role for Drf3 as an effector for Cdc42. Curr Biol 2003; 13:534-545.
- Cao LG, Wang YL. Mechanism of the formation of contractile ring in dividing cultured animal cells. II. Cortical movement of microinjected actin filaments. J Cell Biol 1990; 111:1905-1911.
- Cao LG, Wang YL. Mechanism of the formation of contractile ring in dividing cultured animal cells. I recruitment of preexisting actin filaments into the cleavage furrow. J Cell Biol 1990; 110:1089-1095.
- Satoh S, Tominaga T. mDia-interacting protein acts downstream of Rho-mDia and modifies Src activation and stress fiber formation. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:39290-39294.
- Matsumura F. Regulation of myosin II during cytokinesis in higher eukaryotes. Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:371-377.
- Straight AF, Cheung A, Limouze J et al. Dissecting temporal and spatial control of cytokinesis with a myosin II Inhibitor. Science 2003; 299:1743-1747.
- 74. Sellers JR. Regulation of cytoplasmic and smooth muscle myosin. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1991; 3:98-104.
- Trybus KM, Warshaw DM. Regulation of the interaction between smooth muscle myosin and actin. J Cell Sci Suppl 1991; 14:87-89.
- Yamakita Y, Yamashiro S, Matsumura F. In vivo phosphorylation of regulatory light chain of myosin II during mitosis of cultured cells. J Cell Biol 1994; 124:129-137.
- DeBiasio RL, LaRocca GM, Post PL et al. Myosin II transport, organization and phosphorylation: evidence for cortical flow/solation-contraction coupling during cytokinesis and cell locomotion. Mol Biol Cell 1996; 7:1259-1282.
- Jordan P, Karess R. Myosin light chain-activating phosphorylation sites are required for oogenesis in Drosophila. J Cell Biol 1997; 139:1805-1819.
- Matsumura F, Ono S, Yamakita Y et al. Specific localization of serine 19 phosphorylated myosin II during cell locomotion and mitosis of cultured cells. J Cell Biol 1998; 140:119-129.
- Bengur AR, Robinson EA, Appella E et al. Sequence of the sites phosphorylated by protein kinase C in the smooth muscle myosin light chain. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:7613-7617.
- Ikebe M, Reardon S. Phosphorylation of bovine platelet myosin by protein kinase C. Biochemistry 1990; 29:2713-2720.
- Satterwhite LL, Lohka MJ, Wilson KL et al. Phosphorylation of myosin-II regulatory light chain by cyclin-p34cdc2: a mechanism for the timing of cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 1992; 118:595-605.
- Totsukawa G, Himi-Nakamura E, Komatsu S et al. Mitosis-specific phosphorylation of smooth muscle regulatory light chain of myosin II at Ser-1 and/or -2 and Thr-9 in sea urchin egg extract. Cell Struct Funct 1996; 21:475-482.
- Kosako H, Yoshida T, Matsumura F et al. Rho-kinase/ROCK is involved in cytokinesis through the phosphorylation of myosin light chain and not ezrin/radixin/moesin proteins at the cleavage furrow. Oncogene 2000; 19:6059-6064.
- Ueda K, Murata-Hori M, Tatsuka M et al. Rho-kinase contributes to diphosphorylation of myosin II regulatory light chain in nonmuscle cells. Oncogene 2002; 21:5852-5860.
- Eda M, Yonemura S, Kato T et al. Rho-dependent transfer of Citron-kinase to the cleavage furrow of dividing cells. J Cell Sci 2001; 114:3273-3284.
- 87. Madaule P, Eda M, Watanabe N et al. Role of citron kinase as a target of the small GTPase Rho in cytokinesis. Nature 1998; 394:491-494.
- Paramasivam M, Chang YJ, LoTurco JJ. ASPM and citron kinase colocalize to the midbody ring during cytokinesis. Cell Cycle 2007; 6:1605-1612.
- 89. Gruneberg U, Neef R, Li X et al. KIF14 and citron kinase act together to promote efficient cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2006; 172:363-372.
- Shandala T, Gregory SL, Dalton HE et al. Citron kinase is an essential effector of the Pbl-activated Rho signalling pathway in Drosophila melanogaster. Development 2004; 131:5053-5063.
- Naim V, Imarisio S, Di Cunto F et al. Drosophila citron kinase is required for the final steps of cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 2004; 15:5053-5063.
- Echard A, Hickson GR, Foley E et al. Terminal cytokinesis events uncovered after an RNAi screen. Curr Biol 2004; 14:1685-1693.
- 93. Yamashiro S, Totsukawa G, Yamakita Y et al. Citron kinase, a Rho-dependent kinase, induces di-phosphorylation of regulatory light chain of myosin II. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14:1745-1756.

- 94. Di Cunto F, Imarisio S, Hirsch E et al. Defective neurogenesis in citron kinase knockout mice by altered cytokinesis and massive apoptosis. Neuron 2000; 28:115-127.
- LoTurco JJ, Sarkisian MR, Cosker L et al. Citron kinase is a regulator of mitosis and neurogenic cytokinesis in the neocortical ventricular zone. Cereb Cortex 2003; 13:588-591.
- 96. Sarkisian MR, Li WW, Di Cunto F et al. Citron-kinase, a protein essential to cytokinesis in neuronal progenitors, is deleted in the flathead mutant rat. J Neurosci 2002; 22:
- 97. Di Cunto F, Imarisio S, Camera P et al. Essential role of citron kinase in cytokinesis of spermatogenic precursors. J Cell Sci 2002; 115:4819-4826.
- Madhavan J, Coral K, Mallikarjuna K et al. High expression of KIF14 in retinoblastoma: Association with older age at diagnosis. Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science 2007; 48:4901-4906.
- Corson TW, Huang A, Tsao MS et al. KIF14 is a candidate oncogene in the 1q minimal region of genomic gain in multiple cancers. Oncogene 2005; 24:4741-4753.
- Corson TW, Gallie BL. KIF14 mRNA expression is a predictor of grade and outcome in breast cancer. Int J Cancer 2006; 119:1088-1094.
- Corson TW, Zhu CQ, Lau SK et al. KIF14 messenger RNA expression is independently prognostic for outcome in lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2007; 13:3229-3234.
- Carleton M, Mao M, Biery M et al. RNA interference-mediated silencing of mitotic kinesin KIF14 disrupts cell cycle progression and induces cytokinesis failure. Mol Cell Biol 2006; 26:3853-3863.
- 103. Chew TL, Wolf WA, Gallagher PJ et al. A fluorescent resonant energy transfer-based biosensor reveals transient and regional myosin light chain kinase activation in lamella and cleavage furrows. J Cell Biol 2002; 156:543-553.
- Poperechnaya A, Varlamova O, Lin PJ et al. Localization and activity of myosin light chain kinase isoforms during the cell cycle. J Cell Biol 2000; 151:697-708.
- 105. Erent M, Pagakis S, Browne JP et al. Association of calmodulin with cytoskeletal structures at different stages of HeLa cell division, visualized by a calmodulin-EGFP fusion protein. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun 1999; 1:209-215.
- 106. Yu YY, Chen Y, Dai G et al. The association of calmodulin with central spindle regulates the initiation of cytokinesis in HeLa cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2004; 36:1562-1572.
- 107. Li CJ, Heim R, Lu P et al. Dynamic redistribution of calmodulin in HeLa cells during cell division as revealed by a GFP-calmodulin fusion protein technique. J Cell Sci 1999; 112 (Pt 10):1567-1577.
- Murthy K, Wadsworth P. Myosin-II-dependent localization and dynamics of F-actin during cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2005; 15:724-731.
- Somlyo AV, Wang H, Choudhury N et al. Myosin light chain kinase knockout. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 2004; 25:241-242.
- 110. Wong R, Fabian L, Forer A et al. Phospholipase C and myosin light chain kinase inhibition define a common step in actin regulation during cytokinesis. BMC Cell Biol 2007; 8:
- 111. Kawano Y, Fukata Y, Oshiro N et al. Phosphorylation of myosin-binding subunit (MBS) of myosin phosphatase by Rho-kinase in vivo. J Cell Biol 1999; 147:1023-1038.
- 112. Yokoyama T, Goto H, Izawa I et al. Aurora-B and Rho-kinase/ROCK, the two cleavage furrow kinases, independently regulate the progression of cytokinesis: possible existence of a novel cleavage furrow kinase phosphorylates ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM). Genes Cells 2005; 10:127-137.
- 113. Piekny AJ, Mains PE. Rho-binding kinase (LET-502) and myosin phosphatase (MEL-11) regulate cytokinesis in the early Caenorhabditis elegans embryo. J Cell Sci 2002; 115:2271-2282.
- 114. Broustas CG, Grammatikakis N, Eto M et al. Phosphorylation of the myosin-binding subunit of myosin phosphatase by Raf-1 and inhibition of phosphatase activity. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:3053-3059.
- 115. Eggert US, Mitchison TJ, Field CM. Animal cytokinesis: From parts list to mechanisms. Ann Rev Biochem 2006; 75:543-566.
- Wang YL. The mechanism of cortical ingression during early cytokinesis: thinking beyond the contractile ring hypothesis. Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:581-588.
- 117. Dean SO, Rogers SL, Stuurman N et al. Distinct pathways control recruitment and maintenance of myosin II at the cleavage furrow during cytokinesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005; 102:13473-13478.
- Guha M, Zhou M, Wang YL. Cortical actin turnover during cytokinesis requires myosin II. Curr Biol 2005; 15:732-736.
- 119. Zang JH, Spudich JA. Myosin II localization during cytokinesis occurs by a mechanism that does not require its motor domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95:13652-13657.
- Yumura S. Myosin II dynamics and cortical flow during contractile ring formation in Dictyostelium cells. J Cell Biol 2001; 154:137-146.
- 121. Gunsalus KC, Bonaccorsi S, Williams E et al. Mutations in twinstar, a Drosophila gene encoding a cofilin/ADF homologue, result in defects in centrosome migration and cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 1995; 131:1243-1259.

- 122. Yang X, Yu K, Hao Y et al. LATS1 tumour suppressor affects cytokinesis by inhibiting LIMK1. Nat Cell Biol 2004; 6:609-617.
- Haviv L, Gillo D, Backouche F et al. A cytoskeletal demolition worker: Myosin II acts as an actin depolymerization agent. J Mol Biol 2008; 375:325-330.
- 124. Field CM, Alberts BM. Anillin, a contractile ring protein that cycles from the nucleus to the cell cortex. J Cell Biol 1995; 131:165-178.
- 125. Oegema K, Savoian MS, Mitchison TJ et al. Functional analysis of a human homologue of the Drosophila actin binding protein anillin suggests a role in cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2000; 150:539-552.
- 126. Paoletti A, Chang F. Analysis of mid1p, a protein required for placement of the cell division site, reveals a link between the nucleus and the cell surface in fission yeast. Mol Biol Cell 2000; 11:2757-2773.
- 127. Straight AF, Field CM, Mitchison TJ. Anillin binds nonmuscle myosin II and regulates the contractile ring. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:193-201.
- 128. Piekny AJ, Glotzer M. Anillin is a scaffold protein that links rhoa, actin and myosin during cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2008; 18:30-36.
- 129. Hickson GR, O'Farrell PH. Rho-dependent control of anillin behavior during cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2008;180:285-94.
- Somma MP, Fasulo B, Cenci G et al. Molecular dissection of cytokinesis by RNA interference in Drosophila cultured cells. Mol Biol Cell 2002; 13:2448-2460.
- 131. Field CM, Coughlin M, Doberstein S et al. Characterization of anillin mutants reveals essential roles in septin localization and plasma membrane integrity. Development 2005; 132:2849-2860.
- 132. Zhao WM, Fang G. Anillin is a substrate of anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome (APC/C) that controls spatial contractility of myosin during late cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:33516-33524.
- Prokopenko SN, Brumby A, O'Keefe L et al. A putative exchange factor for Rho1 GTPase is required for initiation of cytokinesis in Drosophila. Genes Dev 1999; 13:2301-2314.
- 134. Gregory SL, Ebrahimi S, Milverton J et al. Cell division requires a direct link between microtubule-bound racgap and anillin in the contractile ring. Curr Biol 2008; 18:25-29.
- Kinoshita M, Field CM, Coughlin ML et al. Self- and actin-templated assembly of Mammalian septins. Dev Cell 2002; 3:791-802.
- 136. Maddox AS, Lewellyn L, Desai A et al. Anillin and the septins promote asymmetric ingression of the cytokinetic furrow. Developmental Cell 2007; 12:827-835.
- 137. Reinsch S, Karsenti E. Orientation of spindle axis and distribution of plasma membrane proteins during cell division in polarized MDCKII cells. J Cell Biol 1994; 126:1509-1526.
- 138. Rappaport R. Cytokinesis in Animal Cells. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- Engel FB, Schebesta M, Keating MT. Anillin localization defect in cardiomyocyte binucleation. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2006; 41:601-612.
- Berlin A, Paoletti A, Chang F. Mid2p stabilizes septin rings during cytokinesis in fission yeast. J Cell Biol 2003; 160:1083-1092.
- 141. Tasto JJ, Morrell JL, Gould KL. An anillin homologue, Mid2p, acts during fission yeast cytokinesis to organize the septin ring and promote cell separation. J Cell Biol 2003; 160:1093-1103.
- 142. Longtine MS, Bi E. Regulation of septin organization and function in yeast. Trends Cell Biol 2003; 13:403-409.
- 143. Kinoshita M. Diversity of septin scaffolds. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2006; 18:54-60.
- 144. Martin-Cuadrado AB, Morrell JL, Konomi M et al. Role of septins and the exocyst complex in the function of hydrolytic enzymes responsible for fission yeast cell separation. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:4867-4881.
- 145. Ding XM, Yu WB, Liu M et al. SEPT12 interacts with SEPT6 and this interaction alters the filament structure of SEPT6 in Hela cells. J Biochem Mol Biol 2007; 40:973-978.
- 146. Kinoshita M, Kumar S, Mizoguchi A et al. Nedd5, a mammalian septin, is a novel cytoskeletal component interacting with actin-based structures. Genes Dev 1997; 11:1535-1547.
- 147. Sakai K, Kurimoto M, Tsugu A et al. Expression of Nedd5, a mammalian septin, in human brain tumors. J Neurooncol 2002; 57:169-177.
- Spiliotis ET, Kinoshita M, Nelson WJ. A mitotic septin scaffold required for mammalian chromosome congression and segregation. Science 2005; 307:1781-1785.
- 149. Nagata K, Kawajiri A, Matsui S et al. Filament formation of MSF-A, a mammalian septin, in human mammary epithelial cells depends on interactions with microtubules. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:18538-18543.
- 150. Surka MC, Tsang CW, Trimble WS. The mammalian septin MSF localizes with microtubules and is required for completion of cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 2002; 13:3532-3545.
- 151. Robertson C, Church SW, Nagar HA et al. Russell SE. Properties of SEPT9 isoforms and the requirement for GTP binding. J Pathol 2004; 203:519-527.
- Joo E, Surka MC, Trimble WS. Mammalian SEPT2 is required for scaffolding nonmuscle myosin II and its kinases. Devel Cell 2007; 13:677-690.

- Dobbelaere J, Barral Y. Spatial coordination of cytokinetic events by compartmentalization of the cell cortex. Science 2004; 305:393-396.
- Schmidt K, Nichols BJ. A barrier to lateral diffusion in the cleavage furrow of dividing mammalian cells. Curr Biol 2004; 14:1002-1006.
- 155. Silio V, Marques M, Cortes I et al. A cascade involving p85, Cdc42 and septin 2 regulates cytokinesis. Biochem Soc Trans 2007; 35:222-224.
- 156. Osaka M, Rowley JD, Zeleznik-Le NJ. MSF (MLL septin-like fusion), a fusion partner gene of MLL, in a therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia with at(11; 17)(q23; q25). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:6428-6433.
- 157. Russell SE, McIlhatton MA, Burrows JF et al. Isolation and mapping of a human septin gene to a region on chromosome 17q, commonly deleted in sporadic epithelial ovarian tumors. Cancer Res 2000; 60:4729-4734.
- 158. Montagna C, Lyu MS, Hunter K et al. The Septin 9 (MSF) gene is amplified and overexpressed in mouse mammary gland adenocarcinomas and human breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 2003; 63:2179-2187.
- 159. Scott M, Hyland PL, McGregor G et al. Multimodality expression profiling shows SEPT9 to be overexpressed in a wide range of human tumours. Oncogene 2005; 24:4688-4700.
- 160. Gonzalez ME, Peterson EA, Privette LM et al. High SEPT9_v1 expression in human breast cancer cells is associated with oncogenic phenotypes. Cancer Research 2007; 67:8554-8564.
- 161. Julian M, Tollon Y, Lajoie-Mazenc I et al. Gamma-Tubulin participates in the formation of the midbody during cytokinesis in mammalian cells. J Cell Sci 1993; 105 (Pt 1):145-156.
- 162. Shu HB, Li ZQ, Palacios MJ et al. A transient association of gamma-tubulin at the midbody is required for the completion of cytokinesis during the mammalian cell division. J Cell Sci 1995; 108:2955-2962.
- Margolis RL, Andreassen PR. The telophase disc: Its possible role in mammalian cell cleavage. Bioessays 1993; 15:201-207.
- 164. Schroeder TE. The contractile ring. II. Determining its brief existence, volumetric changes and vital role in cleaving Arbacia eggs. J Cell Biol 1972; 53:419-434.
- 165. Matuliene J, Kuriyama R. Kinesin-like protein CHO1 is required for the formation of midbody matrix and the completion of cytokinesis in mammalian cells. Mol Biol Cell 2002; 13:1832-1845.
- 166. Jiang W, Jimenez G, Wells NJ et al. PRC1: a human mitotic spindle-associated CDK substrate protein required for cytokinesis. Mol Cell 1998; 2:877-885.
- 167. Mollinari C, Kleman JP, Saoudi Y et al. Ablation of PRC1 by small interfering RNA demonstrates that cytokinetic abscission requires a central spindle bundle in mammalian cells, whereas completion of furrowing does not. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:1043-1055.
- 168. Zhu CJ, Jiang W. Cell cycle-dependent translocation of PRC1 on the spindle by Kif4 is essential for midzone formation and cytokinesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2005; 102:343-348.
- 169. Shimo A, Nishidate T, Ohta T et al. Elevated expression of protein regulator of cytokinesis 1, involved in the growth of breast cancer cells. Cancer Science 2007; 98:174-181.
- 170. Neef R, Gruneberg U, Kopajtich R et al. Choice of Plk1 docking partners during mitosis and cytokinesis is controlled by the activation state of Cdk1. Nature Cell Biol 2007; 9:436-U132.
- 171. Kanehira M, Katagiri T, Shimo A et al. Oncogenic role of MPHOSPH1, a cancer-testis antigen specific to human bladder cancer. Cancer Research 2007; 67:3276-3285.
- 172. Li C, Shridhar K, Liu J. Molecular characterization of oncostatin M-induced growth arrest of MCF-7 cells expressing a temperature-sensitive mutant of p53. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2003; 80:23-37.
- 173. Li C, Lin M, Liu J. Identification of PRC1 as the p53 target gene uncovers a novel function of p53 in the regulation of cytokinesis. Oncogene 2004; 23:9336-9347.
- 174. Glotzer M. The molecular requirements for cytokinesis. Science 2005; 307:1735-1739.
- 175. Kuriyama R, Gustus C, Terada Y et al. CHO1, a mammalian kinesin-like protein, interacts with F-actin and is involved in the terminal phase of cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2002; 156:783-790.
- Skop AR, Liu H, Yates J et al. Dissection of the mammalian midbody proteome reveals conserved cytokinesis mechanisms. Science 2004; 305:61-66.
- 177. Eggert US, Kiger AA, Richter C et al. Parallel chemical genetic and genome-wide RNAi screens identify cytokinesis inhibitors and targets. PLoS Biol 2004; 2:e379.
- Sisson JC, Field C, Ventura R et al. Lava lamp, a novel peripheral golgi protein, is required for Drosophila melanogaster cellularization. J Cell Biol 2000; 151:905-918.
- 179. Litvak V, Argov R, Dahan N et al. Mitotic phosphorylation of the peripheral Golgi protein Nir2 by Cdk1 provides a docking mechanism for Plk1 and affects cytokinesis completion. Mol Cell 2004; 14:319-330.
- Litvak V, Tian D, Carmon S et al. Nir2, a human homolog of Drosophila melanogaster retinal degeneration B protein, is essential for cytokinesis. Mol Cell Biol 2002; 22:5064-5075.
- Altan-Bonnet N, Phair RD, Polishchuk RS et al. A role for Arf1 in mitotic Golgi disassembly, chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2003; 100:13314-13319.

- 182. Sudo H, Maru Y. LAPSER1 is a putative cytokinetic tumor suppressor that shows the same centrosome and midbody subcellular localization pattern as p80 katanin. FASEB J 2007; 21:2086-2100.
- 183. Tomas A, Futter C, Moss SE. Annexin 11 is required for midbody formation and completion of the terminal phase of cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2004; 165:813-822.
- Piel M, Nordberg J, Euteneuer U et al. Centrosome-dependent exit of cytokinesis in animal cells. Science 2001; 291:1550-1553.
- Shi Q, King RW. Chromosome nondisjunction yields tetraploid rather than aneuploid cells in human cell lines. Nature 2005; 437:1038-1042.
- Greenbaum MP, Ma L, Matzuk MM. Conversion of midbodies into germ cell intercellular bridges. Dev Biol 2007; 305:389-396.
- Danilchik MV, Bedrick SD, Brown EE et al. Furrow microtubules and localized exocytosis in cleaving Xenopus laevis embryos. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:273-283.
- Danilchik MV, Funk WC, Brown EE et al. Requirement for microtubules in new membrane formation during cytokinesis of Xenopus embryos. Dev Biol 1998; 194:47-60.
- Bluemink JG, de Laat SW. New membrane formation during cytokinesis in normal and cytochalasin B-treated eggs of Xenopus laevis. I. Electron microscope observations. J Cell Biol 1973; 59:89-108.
- 190. Shuster CB, Burgess DR. Targeted new membrane addition in the cleavage furrow is a late, separate event in cytokinesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99:3633-3638.
- 191. Gromley A, Yeaman C, Rosa J et al. Centriolin anchoring of exocyst and SNARE complexes at the midbody is required for secretory-vesicle-mediated abscission. Cell 2005; 123:75-87.
- 192. Skop AR, Bergmann D, Mohler WA et al. Completion of cytokinesis in C. elegans requires a brefeldin A-sensitive membrane accumulation at the cleavage furrow apex. Curr Biol 2001; 11:735-746.
- 193. Moskalewski S, Popowicz P, Thyberg J. Functions of the Golgi complex in cell division: Formation of cell-matrix contacts and cell-cell communication channels in the terminal phase of cytokinesis. J Submicrosc Cytol Pathol 1994; 26:9-20.
- 194. Thyberg J, Moskalewski S. Reorganization of the golgi complex in association with mitosis: redistribution of mannosidase II to the endoplasmic reticulum and effects of brefeldin A. J Submicrosc Cytol Pathol 1992; 24:495-508.
- 195. Boucrot E, Kirchhausen T. Endosomal recycling controls plasma membrane area during mitosis. Proc of the Natl Acad Sci 2007; 104:7939-7944.
- 196. Payne C, Schatten G. Golgi dynamics during meiosis are distinct from mitosis and are coupled to endoplasmic reticulum dynamics until fertilization. Dev Biol 2003; 264:50-63.
- 197. Gromley A, Jurczyk A, Sillibourne J et al. A novel human protein of the maternal centriole is required for the final stages of cytokinesis and entry into S phase. J Cell Biol 2003; 161:535-545.
- 198. Munson M, Novick P. The exocyst defrocked, a framework of rods revealed. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2006; 13:577-581.
- Schweitzer JK, Burke EE, Goodson HV et al. Endocytosis resumes during late mitosis and is required for cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:41628-41635.
- Dornan S, Jackson AP, Gay NJ. Alpha-adaptin, a marker for endocytosis, is expressed in complex patterns during Drosophila development. Mol Biol Cell 1997; 8:1391-1403.
- Gerald NJ, Damer CK, O'Halloran TJ et al. Cytokinesis failure in clathrin-minus cells is caused by cleavage furrow instability. Cell Motil Cytoskel 2001; 48:213-223.
- 202. Feng B, Schwarz H, Jesuthasan S. Furrow-specific endocytosis during cytokinesis of zebrafish blastomeres. Exp Cell Res 2002; 279:14-20.
- 203. Thompson HM, Skop AR, Euteneuer U et al. The large GTPase dynamin associates with the spindle midzone and is required for cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2002; 12:2111-2117.
- 204. Konopka CA, Schleede JB, Skop AR et al. Dynamin and cytokinesis. Traffic 2006; 7:239-247.
- Monzo P, Gauthier NC, Keslair F et al. Clues to CD2-associated protein involvement in cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:2891-2902.
- 206. Chavrier P, Goud B. The role of ARF and Rab GTPases in membrane transport. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1999; 11:466-475.
- Schweitzer JK, D'Souza-Schorey C. Localization and activation of the ARF6 GTPase during cleavage furrow ingression and cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:27210-27216.
- Fielding AB, Schonteich E, Matheson J et al. Rab11-FIP3 and FIP4 interact with Arf6 and the exocyst to control membrane traffic in cytokinesis. EMBO J 2005; 24:3389-3399.
- Wilson GM, Fielding AB, Simon GC et al. The FIP3-Rab11 protein complex regulates recycling endosome targeting to the cleavage furrow during late cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:849-860.
- Yu XZ, Prekeris R, Gould GW. Role of endosomal Rab GTPases in cytokinesis. Eur J Cell Biol 2007; 86:25-35.
- 211. Hales CM, Griner R, Hobdy-Henderson KC et al. Identification and characterization of a family of Rab11-interacting proteins. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:39067-39075.

- Prekeris R, Davies JM, Scheller RH. Identification of a novel Rab11/25 binding domain present in Eferin and Rip proteins. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:38966-38970.
- 213. Hickson GR, Matheson J, Riggs B et al. Arfophilins are dual Arf/Rab 11 binding proteins that regulate recycling endosome distribution and are related to Drosophila nuclear fallout. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14:2908-2920.
- 214. Horgan CP, Walsh M, Zurawski TH et al. Rab11-FIP3 localises to a Rab11-positive pericentrosomal compartment during interphase and to the cleavage furrow during cytokinesis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004; 319:83-94.
- Schonteich E, Pilli M, Simon GC et al. Molecular characterization of Rab11-FIP3 binding to ARF GT-Pases. Eur J Cell Biol 2007; 86:417-431.
- 216. Boman AL, Kuai J, Zhu X et al. Arf proteins bind to mitotic kinesin-like protein 1 (MKLP1) in a GTP-dependent fashion. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 1999; 44:119-132.
- 217. Jahn R, Scheller RH. SNAREs—Engines for membrane fusion. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006; 7:631-643.
- 218. Conner SD, Wessel GM. Syntaxin is required for cell division. Mol Biol Cell 1999; 10:2735-2743.
- 219. Jantsch-Plunger V, Glotzer M. Depletion of syntaxins in the early Caenorhabditis elegans embryo reveals a role for membrane fusion events in cytokinesis. Curr Biol 1999; 9:738-745.
- 220. Li WM, Webb SE, Lee KW et al. Recruitment and SNARE-mediated fusion of vesicles in furrow membrane remodeling during cytokinesis in zebrafish embryos. Exp Cell Res 2006; 312:3260-3275.
- Low SH, Li X, Miura M et al. Syntaxin 2 and endobrevin are required for the terminal step of cytokinesis in mammalian cells. Devel Cell 2003; 4:753-759.
- Carlton JG, Martin-Serrano J. Parallels between cytokinesis and retroviral budding: A role for the ESCRT machinery. Science 2007; 316:1908-1912.
- 223. Hsu SC, Hazuka CD, Roth R et al. Subunit composition, protein interactions and structures of the mammalian brain sec 6/8 complex and septin filaments. Neuron 1998; 20:1111-1122.
- 224. Vega IE, Hsu SC. The septin protein Nedd5 associates with both the exocyst complex and microtubules and disruption of its GTPase activity promotes aberrant neurite sprouting in PC12 cells. Neuroreport 2003; 14:31-37.
- 225. Slagsvold T, Pattni K, Malerod L et al. Endosomal and non-endosomal functions of ESCRT proteins. Trends Cell Biol 2006; 16:317-326.
- 226. Dukes JD, Richardson JD, Simmons R et al. A dominant negative ESCRT-III protein perturbs cytokinesis and trafficking to lysosomes. Biochem J 2008;233-9.
- 227. Morita E, Sandrin V, Chung HY et al. Human ESCRT and ALIX proteins interact with proteins of the midbody and function in cytokinesis. EMBO J 2007; 26:4215-4227.
- 228. Schmidt MHH, Chen B, Randazzo LM et al. SETA/CIN85/Ruk and its binding partner AIP1 associate with diverse cytoskeletal elements, including FAKs and modulate cell adhesion. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:2845-2855.
- 229. Cabezas A, Bache KG, Brech A et al. Alix regulates cortical actin and the spatial distribution of endosomes. J Cell Sci 2005; 118:2625-2635.
- Zhao WM, Seki A, Fang G. Cep55, a microtubule-bundling protein, associates with centralspindlin to control the midbody integrity and cell abscission during cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 2006; 17:3881-3896.
- 231. Fabbro M, Zhou BB, Takahashi M et al. Cdk1/Erk2- and Plk1-dependent phosphorylation of a centrosome protein, Cep55, is required for its recruitment to midbody and cytokinesis. Dev Cell 2005; 9:477-488.
- 232. Wheatley SP, Hinchcliffe EH, Glotzer M et al. CDK1 inactivation regulates anaphase spindle dynamics and cytokinesis in vivo. J Cell Biol 1997; 138:385-393.
- 233. Niiya F, Xie X, Lee KS et al. Inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase 1 induces cytokinesis without chromosome segregation in an ECT2 and MgcRacGAP-dependent manner. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:36502-36509.
- 234. Potapova TA, Daum JR, Pittman BD et al. The reversibility of mitotic exit in vertebrate cells. Nature 2006; 440:954-958.
- Vassilev LT, Tovar C, Chen S et al. Selective small-molecule inhibitor reveals critical mitotic functions of human CDK1. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2006; 103:10660-10665.
- 236. Martineau SN, Andreassen PR, Margolis RL. Delay of HeLa cell cleavage into interphase using dihydrocytochalasin B: retention of a postmitotic spindle and telophase disc correlates with synchronous cleavage recovery. J Cell Biol 1995; 131:191-205.
- 237. Lindon C, Pines J. Ordered proteolysis in anaphase inactivates Plk1 to contribute to proper mitotic exit in human cells. J Cell Biol 2004; 164:233-241.
- 238. Stewart S, Fang G. Destruction box-dependent degradation of aurora B is mediated by the anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome and Cdh1. Cancer Res 2005; 65:8730-8735.
- 239. Rieder CL, Maiato H. Stuck in division or passing through: what happens when cells cannot satisfy the spindle assembly checkpoint. Dev Cell 2004; 7:637-651.

- Ban KH, Torres JZ, Miller JJ et al. The END network couples spindle pole assembly to inhibition of the anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome in early mitosis. Dev Cell 2007; 13:29-42.
- 241. Royou A, Sullivan W, Karess R. Cortical recruitment of nonmuscle myosin II in early syncytial Drosophila embryos: its role in nuclear axial expansion and its regulation by Cdc2 activity. J Cell Biol 2002; 158:127-137.
- 242. Zhu C, Lau E, Schwarzenbacher R et al. Spatiotemporal control of spindle midzone formation by PRC1 in human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2006; 103:6196-6201.
- Mishima M, Pavicic V, Gruneberg U et al. Cell cycle regulation of central spindle assembly. Nature 2004; 430:908-913.
- 244. Lee KS, Yuan YL, Kuriyama R et al. Plk is an M-phase-specific protein kinase and interacts with a kinesin-like protein, CHO1/MKLP-1. Mol Cell Biol 1995; 15:7143-7151.
- 245. Santamaria Â, Neef R, Eberspacher U et al. Use of the novel Plk1 inhibitor ZK-Thiazolidinone to elucidate functions of Plk1 in early and late stages of mitosis. Mol Biol Cell 2007; 18:4024-4036.
- 246. Burkard ME, Randall CL, Larochelle S et al. Chemical genetics reveals the requirement for Polo-like kinase 1 activity in positioning RhoA and triggering cytokinesis in human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2007; 104:4383-4388.
- 247. Petronczki M, Glotzer M, Kraut N et al. Polo-like kinase 1 triggers the initiation of cytokinesis in human cells by promoting recruitment of the RhoGEF Ect2 to the central spindle. Dev Cell 2007; 12:713-725.
- 248. Brennan IM, Peters U, Kapoor TM et al. Polo-like kinase controls vertebrate spindle elongation and cytokinesis. PLoS ONE 2007; 2:e409.
- Niiya F, Tatsumoto T, Lee KS et al. Phosphorylation of the cytokinesis regulator ECT2 at G2/M phase stimulates association of the mitotic kinase Plk1 and accumulation of GTP-bound RhoA. Oncogene 2006; 25:827-837.
- Neef R, Preisinger C, Sutcliffe J et al. Phosphorylation of mitotic kinesin-like protein 2 by polo-like kinase 1 is required for cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2003; 162:863-875.
- Liu X, Zhou T, Kuriyama R et al. Molecular interactions of Polo-like-kinase 1 with the mitotic kinesin-like protein CHO1/MKLP-1. J Cell Sci 2004; 117:3233-3246.
- 252. Neef R, Klein UR, Kopajtich R et al. Cooperation between mitotic kinesins controls the late stages of cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2006; 16:301-307.
- 253. Lowery DM, Clauser KR, Hjerrild M et al. Proteomic screen defines the Polo-box domain interactome and identifies Rock2 as a Plk1 substrate. EMBO J 2007; 26:2262-2273.
- Aumais JP, Williams SN, Luo W et al. Role for NudC, a dynein-associated nuclear movement protein, in mitosis and cytokinesis. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:1991-2003.
- 255. Nishino M, Kurasawa Y, Evans R et al. NudC is required for PIk1 targeting to the kinetochore and chromosome congression. Curr Biol 2006; 16:1414-1421.
- Strebhardt K, Ullrich A. Targeting polo-like kinase 1 for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2006; 6:321-330.
- 257. Mundt KE, Golsteyn RM, Lane HA et al. On the regulation and function of human polo-like kinase 1 (PLK1): effects of overexpression on cell cycle progression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 239:377-385.
- 258. Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA. Aurora-A overexpression reveals tetraploidization as a major route to centrosome amplification in p53–/– cells. EMBO J 2002; 21:483-492.
- 259. Incassati A, Patel D, McCance DJ. Induction of tetraploidy through loss of p53 and upregulation of Plk1 by human papillomavirus type-16 E6. Oncogene 2006; 25:2444-2451.
- Ruchaud S, Carmena M, Earnshaw WC. Chromosomal passengers: conducting cell division. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007; 8:798-812.
- 261. Cooke CA, Heck MM, Earnshaw WC. The inner centromere protein (INCENP) antigens: movement from inner centromere to midbody during mitosis. J Cell Biol 1987; 105:2053-2067.
- 262. Earnshaw WC, Cooke CA. Analysis of the distribution of the INCENPs throughout mitosis reveals the existence of a pathway of structural changes in the chromosomes during metaphase and early events in cleavage furrow formation. J Cell Sci 1991; 98 (Pt 4):443-461.
- 263. Adams RR, Eckley DM, Vagnarelli P et al. Human INCENP colocalizes with the Aurora-B/AIRK2 kinase on chromosomes and is overexpressed in tumour cells. Chromosoma 2001; 110:65-74.
- 264. Gruneberg U, Neef R, Honda R et al. Relocation of aurora B from centromeres to the central spindle at the metaphase to anaphase transition requires MKlp2. J Cell Biol 2004; 166:167-172.
- 265. Cesario JM, Jang JK, Redding B et al. Kinesin 6 family member Subito participates in mitotic spindle assembly and interacts with mitotic regulators. J Cell Sci 2006; 119:4770-4780.
- 266. Hauf S, Cole RW, LaTerra S et al. The small molecule Hesperadin reveals a role for aurora B in correcting kinetochore-microtubule attachment and in maintaining the spindle assembly checkpoint. J Cell Biol 2003; 161:281-294.

- Guse A, Mishima M, Glotzer M. Phosphorylation of ZEN-4/MKLP1 by aurora B regulates completion of cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2005; 15:778-786.
- 268. Ban R, Irino Y, Fukami K et al. Human mitotic spindle-associated protein PRC1 inhibits MgcRacGAP activity toward Cdc42 during the metaphase. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:16394-16402.
- 269. Toure A, Mzali R, Liot C et al. Phosphoregulation of MgcRacGAP in mitosis involves Aurora B and Cdk1 protein kinases and the PP2A phosphatase. FEBS Lett 2008;582:1182-8.
- Yasui Y, Goto H, Matsui S et al. Protein kinases required for segregation of vimentin filaments in mitotic process. Oncogene 2001; 20:2868-2876.
- 271. Goto H, Yasui Y, Kawajiri A et al. Aurora-B regulates the cleavage furrow-specific vimentin phosphorylation in the cytokinetic process. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:8526-8530.
- 272. Goto H, Kosako H, Tanabe K et al. Phosphorylation of vimentin by Rho-associated kinase at a unique amino-terminal site that is specifically phosphorylated during cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:11728-11736.
- 273. Izawa I, Inagaki M. Regulatory mechanisms and functions of intermediate filaments: a study using site- and phosphorylation state-specific antibodies. Cancer Sci 2006; 97:167-174.
- 274. Zeitlin SG, Shelby RD, Sullivan KF. CENP-A is phosphorylated by Aurora B kinase and plays an unexpected role in completion of cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2001; 155:1147-1157.
- 275. Bloom K. NoCut: cytokinesis in check. Cell 2006; 125:17-18.
- Norden C, Mendoza M, Dobbelaere J et al. The NoCut pathway links completion of cytokinesis to spindle midzone function to prevent chromosome breakage. Cell 2006; 125:85-98.
- 277. Rosasco Nitcher SE, Lan W, Khorasanizadeh S et al. Centromeric Aurora-B activation requires TD-60, microtubules and substrate priming phosphorylation. Science 2008; 319:469-472.
- 278. Gruneberg U, Glotzer M, Gartner A et al. The CeCDC-14 phosphatase is required for cytokinesis in the Caenorhabditis elegans embryo. J Cell Biol 2002; 158:901-914.
- 279. Krasinska L, de Bettignies G, Fisher D et al. Regulation of multiple cell cycle events by Cdc14 homologues in vertebrates. Exp Cell Res 2007; 313:1225-1239.
- 280. Mailand N, Lukas C, Kaiser BK et al. Deregulated human Cdc14A phosphatase disrupts centrosome separation and chromosome segregation. Nat Cell Biol 2002; 4:317-322.
- Pereira G, Schiebel E. Separase regulates INCENP-Aurora B anaphase spindle function through Cdc14. Science 2003; 302:2120-2124.
- Sumara I, Quadroni M, Frei C et al. A Cul3-based E3 ligase removes aurora B from mitotic chromosomes, regulating mitotic progression and completion of cytokinesis in human cells. Dev Cell 2007; 12:887-900.
- Terada Y, Tatsuka M, Suzuki F et al. AIM-1: A mammalian midbody-associated protein required for cytokinesis. EMBO J 1998; 17:667-676.
- 284. Tatsuka M, Katayama H, Ota T et al. Multinuclearity and increased ploidy caused by overexpression of the aurora- and Ipl1-like midbody-associated protein mitotic kinase in human cancer cells. Cancer Res 1998; 58:4811-4816.
- 285. Katayama H, Ota T, Jisaki F et al. Mitotic kinase expression and colorectal cancer progression. J Natl Cancer Inst 1999; 91:1160-1162.
- 286. Chieffi P, Cozzolino L, Kisslinger A et al. Aurora B expression directly correlates with prostate cancer malignancy and influence prostate cell proliferation. Prostate 2006; 66:326-333.
- 287. Smith SL, Bowers NL, Betticher DC et al. Overexpression of aurora B kinase in primary nonsmall cell lung carcinoma is frequent, generally driven from one allele and correlates with the level of genetic instability. Br J Cancer 2005; 93:719-729.
- Vischioni B, Oudejans JJ, Vos W et al. Frequent overexpression of aurora B kinase, a novel drug target, in nonsmall cell lung carcinoma patients. Mol Cancer Ther 2006; 5:2905-2913.
- Araki K, Nozaki K, Ueba T et al. High expression of Aurora-B/Aurora and Ipll-like midbody-associated protein (AIM-1) in astrocytomas. J Neurooncol 2004; 67:53-64.
- 290. Chieffi P, Troncone G, Caleo A et al. Aurora B expression in normal testis and seminomas. J Endocrinol 2004; 181:263-270.
- 291. Sorrentino R, Libertini S, Pallante PL et al. Aurora B overexpression associates with the thyroid carcinoma undifferentiated phenotype and is required for thyroid carcinoma cell proliferation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90:928-935.
- 292. Kulkarni AA, Loddo M, Leo E et al. DNA replication licensing factors and aurora kinases are linked to aneuploidy and clinical outcome in epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2007; 13:6153-6161.
- 293. Giet R, Petretti C, Prigent C. Aurora kinases, aneuploidy and cancer, a coincidence or a real link? Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:241-250.
- 294. Kasahara K, Nakayama Y, Nakazato Y et al. Src signaling regulates completion of abscission in cytokinesis through ERK/MAPK activation at the midbody. J Biol Chem 2007; 282:5327-5339.

- Campbell KS, Cooper S, Dessing M et al. Interaction of p59fyn kinase with the dynein light chain, Tctex-1
 and colocalization during cytokinesis. J Immunol 1998; 161:1728-1737.
- 296. Field SJ, Madson N, Kerr ML et al. PtdIns(4,5)P2 functions at the cleavage furrow during cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2005; 15:1407-1412.
- 297. Saul D, Fabian L, Forer A et al. Continuous phosphatidylinositol metabolism is required for cleavage of crane fly spermatocytes. J Cell Sci 2004; 117:3887-3896.
- Wong R, Hadjiyanni I, Wei HC et al. PIP2 hydrolysis and calcium release are required for cytokinesis in Drosophila spermatocytes. Curr Biol 2005; 15:1401-1406.
- 299. Emoto K, Kobayashi T, Yamaji A et al. Redistribution of phosphatidylethanolamine at the cleavage furrow of dividing cells during cytokinesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1996; 93:12867-12872.
- Emoto K, Umeda M. An essential role for a membrane lipid in cytokinesis. Regulation of contractile ring disassembly by redistribution of phosphatidylethanolamine. J Cell Biol 2000; 149:1215-1224.
- 301. Emoto K, Inadome H, Kanaho Y et al. Local change in phospholipid composition at the cleavage furrow is essential for completion of cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:37901-37907.
- Wilker EW, van Vugt M, Artim SA et al 14-3-3 sigma controls mitotic translation to facilitate cytokinesis. Nature 2007; 446:329-332.
- Prasanth SG, Prasanth KV, Stillman B. Orc6 involved in DNA replication, chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. Science 2002; 297:1026-1031.
- 304. Chesnokov IN, Chesnokova ON, Botchan M. A cytokinetic function of Drosophila ORC6 protein resides in a domain distinct from its replication activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2003; 100:9150-9155.
- 305. Patel KJ, Yu VP, Lee H et al. Involvement of Brca2 in DNA repair. Mol Cell 1998; 1:347-357.
- 306. Tutt A, Gabriel A, Bertwistle D et al. Absence of Brca2 causes genome instability by chromosome breakage and loss associated with centrosome amplification. Curr Biol 1999; 9:1107-1110.
- Daniels MJ, Wang Y, Lee M et al. Abnormal cytokinesis in cells deficient in the breast cancer susceptibility protein BRCA2. Science 2004; 306:876-879.
- 308. Lin HR, Ting NS, Qin J et al. M phase-specific phosphorylation of BRCA2 by Polo-like kinase 1 correlates with the dissociation of the BRCA2-P/CAF complex. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:35979-35987.
- 309. Meng X, Fan J, Shen Z. Roles of BCCIP in chromosome stability and cytokinesis. Oncogene 2007; 26:6253-6260.
- Smolka MB, Chen SH, Maddox PS et al. An FHA domain-mediated protein interaction network of Rad53 reveals its role in polarized cell growth. J Cell Biol 2006; 175:743-753.
- Schweitzer JK, D'Souza-Schorey C. A requirement for ARF6 during the completion of cytokinesis. Exp Cell Res 2005; 311:74-83.
- Jackson MW, Agarwal MK, Yang J et al. p130/p107/p105Rb-dependent transcriptional repression during DNA-damage-induced cell-cycle exit at G2. J Cell Sci 2005; 118:1821-1832.
- Date DA, Jacob CJ, Bekier ME et al. Borealin is repressed in response to p53/Rb signaling. Cell Biol Int 2007; 31:1470-1481.
- 314. Scoumanne A, Chen X. The epithelial cell transforming sequence 2, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rho GTPases, is repressed by p53 via protein methyltransferases and is required for G1-S transition. Cancer Res 2006; 66:6271-6279.
- 315. Monaco L, Kolthur-Seetharam U, Loury R et al. Inhibition of Aurora-B kinase activity by poly (ADP-ribosyl)ation in response to DNA damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2005; 102:14244-14248.
- Schreiber V, Dantzer F, Ame JC et al. Poly(ADP-ribose): Novel functions for an old molecule. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006; 7:517-528.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M et al. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437:1043-1047.
- 318. Shimokawa H, Rashid M. Development of Rho-kinase inhibitors for cardiovascular medicine. Trends Pharm Sci 2007; 28:296-302.
- Carvajal RD, Tse A, Schwartz GK. Aurora kinases: New targets for cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res 2006; 12:6869-6875.
DNA Damage and Polyploidization

Jeremy P.H. Chow and Randy Y.C. Poon*

Abstract

growing body of evidence indicates that polyploidization triggers chromosomal instability and contributes to tumorigenesis. DNA damage is increasingly being recognized for its roles in promoting polyploidization. Although elegant mechanisms known as the DNA damage checkpoints are responsible for halting the cell cycle after DNA damage, agents that uncouple the checkpoints can induce unscheduled entry into mitosis. Likewise, defects of the checkpoints in several disorders permit mitotic entry even in the presence of DNA damage. Forcing cells with damaged DNA into mitosis causes severe chromosome segregation defects, including lagging chromosomes, chromosomal fragments and chromosomal bridges. The presence of these lesions in the cleavage plane is believed to abort cytokinesis. It is postulated that if cytokinesis failure is coupled with defects of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint pathway, cells can enter S phase and become polyploids. Progress in the past several years has unraveled some of the underlying principles of these pathways and underscored the important role of DNA damage in polyploidization. Furthermore, polyploidization per se may also be an important determinant of sensitivity to DNA damage, thereby may offer an opportunity for novel therapies.

Polyploidization and Cancer

Tumorigenesis is a multistep process that arises from the accumulation of genetic alterations. These genetic changes can come in the form of point mutations that deregulate oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes. On the other hand, drastic gains or losses of whole chromosomes or chromosomal fragments (aneuploidy) are also the norm in cancer. Whether mutation of specific genes or aneuploidy is more critical for tumorigenesis is very much a contentious issue (reviewed in ref. 1).

In one school of thought, which gains prominent shortly after the discovery of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes, states that these genetic modifications are the main driving force for tumorigenesis, with aneuploidy only as a byproduct of the process. In another school of thought, which origin can be traced to Theodor Boveri nearly 100 years ago, contests that aneuploidy might be a cause of tumorigenesis.² For example, weakening of the spindle-assembly checkpoint triggers chromosomal instability and aneuploidy, which appear to be an important stimulus in the initiation and progression of different cancers.^{3,4} It is likely that a combination of specific gene mutations and chromosomal instability cooperate to induce tumorigenesis (reviewed in ref. 5).

Polyploidization can initiate chromosomal instability and aneuploidy (reviewed in ref. 6). Tetraploid cells are commonly found in early stages of tumors. Notable examples include Barrett's

*Corresponding Author: Randy Y.C. Poon—Department of Biochemistry, Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Clear Water Bay, Hong Kong. Email: rycpoon@ust.hk. Home page: http://ihome.ust.hk/~rycpoon

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. esophagus⁷⁻¹⁰ and cervical carcinoma.¹¹ Several studies have provided evidence that tetraploidization increases chromosome instability in yeast^{12,13} and in mammalian cells.^{14,15} Moreover, tetraploidy may be an intermediate state in transformation. Cowell and Wigley (1980) found that during transformation of epithelial cells from mouse salivary glands, tetraploids are generated before undergoing a period of chromosome instability.¹⁴ Many viruses can induce tetraploidy via cell fusions. While a direct demonstration between viral-induced cell fusion and human cancer is not yet available, several lines of evidence from in vitro and animal models suggest a link of the two events (reviewed in ref. 16).

It is believed that extra number of chromosomes in tetraploids may provide a buffer for chromosome loss and DNA repair. Moreover, it is generally accepted that the multistep progression of cancer—including initiation, progression, heterogeneity and drug resistance—is a product of evolutionary processes.¹⁷ The extra set of chromosomes in tetraploids may act as a reservoir of genetic materials to allow clonal evolution of tumor. In this connection, parallels can be drawn with the role of whole genome duplication in evolution. Ohno (1970) proposed that whole genome duplication provides the primary source of redundant genes for new evolutionary opportunities.¹⁸ He advanced that two rounds of whole genome duplication by tetraploidization occurred during the evolution of vertebrates, with the first occurred in early chordates ~500 million years ago and the second occurred at the stage of fish or amphibian ~430 million years ago. Although the details of time and number of duplications have been debated over the years.¹⁹ it is generally accepted that polyploidization is able to promote adaptive evolutionary changes. Likewise, it is possible that tetraploidization also contributes to the evolution of cancer cells.

A seminal study by Fujiwara et al (2005) indicates that tetraploids can be generated by transient blocking of cytokinesis in p53-null mouse mammary epithelial cells. Importantly, tetraploidization promotes aneuploidy and tumorigenesis.¹⁵ The presence of p53 normally suppresses the generation of tetraploid cells, presumably by activating the intrinsic apoptotic pathway.²⁰ Another study reported that chromosome nondisjunction (both copies of a chromosome segregate to the same daughter cells) leads to binucleated tetraploids by promoting cleavage furrow regression; the tetraploid cells then become aneuploidy through further divisions.²¹ These and other studies provide strong evidence of the importance of tetraploidization as an early step in tumorigenesis.

How tetraploidization promotes chromosome instability remains incompletely understood. The extra centrosomes in tetraploids are likely to be critical determinants of chromosome instability (reviewed in ref. 22). Indeed, increased centrosome number is a common characteristic of several tumors. The cause of centrosome amplification in tumors is not known, but defects in the control of the centrosome replication cycle or cytokinesis are the likely underlying mechanisms (reviewed in ref. 23). Because centrosomes are microtubule organization centers, cells with supernumerary centrosomes form multipolar mitotic spindles and display other errors during chromosomal segregation. The uneven segregation of genetic materials into the daughter cells may result in different fates, including mitotic catastrophe, aneuploidy and transformation.

Although polyploid cells frequently contain multiple centrosomes, multipolar mitosis can be suppressed either by functional silencing of extra centrosomes or by centrosome clustering.²⁴⁻²⁸ Indeed, Ganem et al (2009) found that the fraction of cells undergoing multipolar mitosis is markedly less than that possessing extra centrosomes in a variety of cancer cell lines.²⁹ A genome-wide RNA interference screen in *Drosophila* S2 cells revealed that a variety of proteins, including those that organize microtubules at the spindle poles and components of the spindle-assembly checkpoint, are required for centrosome clustering.²⁶

Mechanisms of Polyploidization

Polyploidization may arise from diploid cells through a number of different mechanisms, including cell fusion, endoreduplication, mitotic slippage and cytokinesis failure. Before focusing on the role of DNA damage in polyploidization, we will first review the various mechanisms that can generate polyploid cells.

Multinucleated cells can be produced by fusion of different cells (called heterokaryon). Cell fusions are important in several physiological processes, including fertilization, development, immune system defense and tissue repair. Infections with many viruses can also induce cell fusions (reviewed in ref. 16). Enveloped viruses enter cells with the help of viral proteins that fuse biological membranes. A side effect of this mechanism is the ability of viruses to fuse different cells together. Cell fusions is believed to be important to cancer development and progression. Classic studies by Barski et al (1960) revealed that synkaryons (cells formed by fusion and subsequently display a single nucleus) formed in vitro could form tumor when implanted in mice.³⁰ Fusion of tumor cells with other cells in vivo has also been documented, for instance between human glioma cells with hamster cells³¹ and tumor cells with myeloid cells.³²

Tetraploid cells are also frequently generated after mitotic failure. Unscheduled exit from mitosis is normally prevented by the spindle-assembly checkpoint until all the kinetochores are properly attached to the spindles (reviewed in ref. 33). After prolonged activation of the spindle-assembly checkpoint, however, cells can exit mitosis precociously by a process termed mitotic slippage (also called adaptation).^{34,35} In cells that undergo mitotic slippage, CDK1 is inactivated and the cells enter G₁ phase without chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. The nuclear envelope then randomly reforms around groups of chromosomes, generating cells that contain tetraploid DNA contents and two centrosomes. Although the exact mechanism of mitotic slippage is not known, the central event seems to be a slow but continuous degradation of cyclin B1.³⁶

A p53-dependent "postmitotic checkpoint" is activated after mitotic slippage.³⁷ Activation of the p53-p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*} axis leads to the inhibition of CDK2 and delays S phase entry. The prolonged block in mitosis prior to slippage ensures the accumulation of p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*} before the synthesis of cyclin E-CDK2.³⁸ Other p53-independent mechanisms may also contribute to the postmitotic checkpoint. For example, expression of human papillomavirus E6 mutant that is defective in targeting p53 for degradation can partially induce polyploidy.³⁹ Proper function of the spindle-assembly checkpoint is also required for the postmitotic checkpoint. Vogel et al shows that spindle-assembly checkpoint-compromised HCT116 cells failed to arrest at the postmitotic checkpoint after nocodazole treatment.⁴⁰

In addition of mitotic slippage, a failure in cytokinesis after anaphase also produces binucleated tetraploid cells. Successful cytokinesis requires the complete clearance of chromatin from the cleavage plane. Conditions including chromosome nondisjunction²¹ and chromosomal bridge⁴¹ can severely delay cytokinesis and promote cleavage furrow regression and tetraploidization. Such chromosomal segregation defects have been estimated to occur at a remarkably high frequency of ~1% in dividing somatic cells and at even higher incidence in transformed cells.^{42,43}

A p53-dependent "tetraploidy checkpoint" has been proposed to prevent S phase entry in cells that have undergone mitotic slippage or aborted cytokinesis.⁴⁴ The checkpoint is believed to sense the increase in chromosome number and halt the cell in tetraploid G₁ state. However, the function of the tetraploidy checkpoint is contentious and its existence has been disputed.^{15,45,46} One possibility is that the p53-dependent arrest after tetraploidization is mainly due to DNA damage or centrosomal stress during the aberrant mitosis (reviewed in ref. 6). Indeed, DNA damage can be readily detected in cells undergoing prolonged mitotic arrest.^{47,48} Another possibility that has been proposed is that as transcription is turned off during mitosis, the lack of transcription during a protracted mitotic arrest can trigger subsequent stress and cell cycle arrest.⁴⁹ Irrespective of the precise signals that activate p53, cells with defective p53 pathway are expected to be prone to polyploidization following mitotic slippage or aborted cytokinesis.

While DNA reduplication is stringently prevented in the normal cell cycle, multiple rounds of genome reduplication, called endoreduplication, occur in cell types such as megakaryocytes and trophoblast giant cells. The mitotic CDK1 is typically inactivated to restrain mitosis during endoreduplication cycles. This has been observed in a wide range of endoreduplication cycles, including maize endosperm,⁵⁰ *Drosophila*⁵¹ and megakaryocytes.⁵² Likewise, extensive genome reduplication can be triggered by disruption of CDK1 expression in mammalian cells.⁵³ Although the molecular basis of how CDK1 inactivation contributes to genome reduplication remains to be defined, the prevailing view is that APC/C plays a salient role in preventing rereplication. Unscheduled activation of APC/C reduces the concentrations of mitotic cyclins and geminin, resulting in rereplication.^{54,55} To what extent does this pathway plays in the polyploidization of cancer cells remains to be deciphered. It is conceivable that DNA reduplication can occur in situations where CDK1 activity is inhibited for an extended period of time, such as after DNA damage. In fact, a connection between DNA damage and polyploidization, we will first review the current understanding of the DNA damage checkpoints in mammalian cells.

The DNA Damage Checkpoints

Surveillance mechanisms termed the DNA damage checkpoints prevent precocious entry into the cell cycle after DNA damage (Fig. 1). In essence, DNA damage activates sensors that facilitate the activation of the PI-3 (phosphoinositide 3-kinase)-related protein kinases ATM and ATR. ATM/ATR then activates CHK1 or CHK2, which in turn inactivates CDC25s (for the intra-S DNA damage checkpoint and the G₂ DNA damage checkpoint) or activates the p53-p21^{CIP1/WAF1} pathway (for the G₁ DNA damage checkpoint), culminating in the inhibitory phosphorylation of CDKs and a halt in cell cycle progression (reviewed in ref. 56).

Following exposure to ionizing radiation or other genotoxic insults that elicit DNA double-strand breaks, ATM is autophosphorylated at Ser1981, leading to dimer dissociation and



Figure 1. The DNA damage checkpoints. A simplified version of the major pathways of the DNA damage checkpoints is shown. Uncoupling the checkpoints promotes mitosis in the presence of DNA damage. See text for details.

activation of the kinase. ATR is activated by a broader spectrum of stress including ultraviolet irradiation, hypoxia and replication stress. ATM and ATR phosphorylate residues in the SQ/TQ domain of CHK1/CHK2, thereby stimulating the kinase activity of these effector kinases.

The upstream sensors that initiate the activation of ATM/ATR consist of an intricate network of large protein complexes, of which many components contain the BRCT domain. These include the RAD9-HUS1-RAD1 (9-1-1) clamp and the RAD17-RFC clamp loader that facilitate ATR-mediated activation of CHK1.⁵⁷ Another large complex that participates in ATM/ATR activation is the so-called BRCA1-associated genome surveillance complex composed of BRCA1, BLM and MRN (MRE11-RAD50-NBS1).58,59 Stalled replication forks mainly activate the ATR-CHK1 pathway. Replication fork progression can be impaired by insufficient nucleotide supply or lesions and obstacles on the DNA. Several proteins including ATRIP (ATR-interacting protein), TopBP1 and Claspin appear to be required for recruiting ATR to single-stranded DNA present at stalled replication forks to phosphorylate CHK1.⁶⁰ The ATR-CHK1 pathway is essential even in the absence of exogenous stresses during unperturbed S phase, probably for maintaining high rates of replication fork progression.⁶¹ Claspin is usually degraded by $SCF^{\beta-TrCP}$ -mediated ubiquitination following the phosphorylation of Claspin by PLK1. This pathway is inhibited after DNA damage.⁶² In response to genotoxic stress in G_2 phase, the phosphatase CDC14B translocates from the nucleolus to the nucleoplasm and activates APC/C^{CDH1}. This degrades PLK1 and consequently stabilizes Claspin, allowing the G₂ DNA damage checkpoint to be maintained.⁶³

Once the ATM/ATR-CHK1/CHK2 cascade is activated, the G_2 DNA damage checkpoint is believed to be carried out by the inactivation of all three isoforms of the CDC25 family (CDC25A, CDC25B and CDC25C) by CHK1 and CHK2.⁶⁴ Phosphorylation of CDC25C^{Ser216} by CHK1/CHK2 inactivates its phosphatase activity either directly or indirectly through the creation of a 14-3-3 binding site. Binding of 14-3-3 masks a proximal nuclear localization sequence and anchors CDC25C in the cytoplasm, preventing efficient access of CDC25C to cyclin B1-CDK1. Interestingly, phosphorylation of a proximal site (Ser214) by cyclin B1-CDK1 inhibits further phosphorylation of CDC25C^{Ser216}. This provides an elegant mechanistic explanation for the suppression of DNA damage-mediated CDC25C inactivation during mitosis.⁶⁵

CDC25B is believed to possess a unique role in activating cyclin B1-CDK1 at the centrosome. CHK1 may shield centrosomal cyclin B1-CDK1 from unscheduled activation by CDC25B during normal G_2 phase and presumably also during the G_2 DNA damage checkpoint. The molecular basis of this activity may be due to CHK1-dependent phosphorylation of CDC25B^{Ser323}, creating a docking site for 14-3-3 that prevents access of substrates to the catalytic site. Dissociation of CHK1 from the centrosomes at the end of G_2 phase, together with positive regulatory phosphorylation of CDC25B^{Ser353} by Aurora-A, enables CDC25B to activate the centrosomal cyclin B1-CDK1 and initiate mitosis.⁶⁶

CDC25A is arguably the most important member of the CDC25 family due to its nonredundant role in mouse cells. CDC25A is targeted for rapid degradation by CHK1/CHK2 through a ubiquitin-mediated mechanism. CDC25A stability is controlled by APC/C^{CDH1} complexes during mitotic exit and early G₁ and by SCF^{β-TrCP} complexes during interphase. Importantly, the SCF^{β-TrCP}-dependent turnover of CDC25A is enhanced in response to DNA damage. Phosphorylation of CDC25A^{Ser76} by CHK1 is required for the phosphorylation of a phosphodegron centered at Ser82 (by an as-yet-unidentified kinase), creating a binding site for β-TrCP. Interestingly, β-TrCP also binds to a separate nonphosphorylated sequence in CDC25A (the DDG motif) and plays a role in CHK1-induced ubiquitination and degradation of CDC25A.⁶⁶

There is also evidence that CHK1 can phosphorylate and activate WEE1 by promoting 14-3-3 binding.^{67,68} Suppression of CDC25s or activation of WEE1 promotes CDK1^{Thr14/Tyr15} phosphorylation, thus preventing damaged cells from entering mitosis. Other mechanisms are also known to play critical roles in the G₂ DNA damage checkpoint. For example, the p53

downstream target 14-3-30 is involved in sequestering cyclin B1-CDK1 in the cytoplasm after DNA damage.⁶⁹

Cells have also evolved checkpoints in S phase to prevent replication of damaged DNA. One of the better-understood S phase checkpoints is the intra-S DNA damage checkpoint, which is important for the responses to double strand breaks. A hallmark of the intra-S DNA damage checkpoint is that it slows down but does not stop DNA synthesis. In addition, there is no strong correlation between the sensitivity to DNA damage and the loss of the checkpoint.⁷⁰ For these reasons, it has been suggested that the intra-S DNA damage checkpoint may be involved in tolerating damage during replication rather than actually repairing the damage.⁷¹ The checkpoint affects two distinct processes: origin firing and the rate of replication folk progression. As a global response, origins distant from the site of DNA damaged are prevented from firing through checkpoint activation. The mechanism involves ATM/ ATR-dependent activation of CHK1/CHK2, which then phosphorylate CDC25A, leading to its rapid degradation. This prevents the dephosphorylation of CDK2^{Thr14/Tyr15} and inhibits S phase progression by preventing the loading of replication initiation protein CDC45 onto the origin.^{72,73,74}

Replication fork slowing may represent a more local response to DNA damage during S phase. The current paradigm states that two separate pathways downstream to ATM, namely CHK2 and MRN complexes, are required for folk slowing. Mutations in either pathway results in radioresistance DNA synthesis. However, activation of CHK2, degradation of CDC25A and inactivation of CDK2 occur normally in irradiated MRN complexes-defective cells.⁷⁴ Precisely how MRN complexes reduce the rate of replication folk progression is still unclear. One of the downstream effectors may be SMC1, which functions in the cohesion of sister chromatids following DNA replication and homologous recombination DNA repair.^{75,76} It has been shown that SMC1 is phosphorylated by ATM upon ionizing radiation-induced DNA damage, but the details of the mechanism await further clarification.⁷⁷

When cells suffer DNA damage during G_1 phase, it is critical for them to halt the entry into S phase until the DNA is repaired. It is well established that the G_1 DNA damage checkpoint involves the stabilization and activation of p53, which in turns transcriptionally activates the CDK inhibitor p21^{CIP1/MAF1}, leading to the inhibition of cyclin E-CDK2 complexes and G_1 arrest. The activity of p53 is highly regulated by posttranslational mechanisms including protein-protein interaction, acetylation, neddylation, phosphorylation, sumoylation and ubiquitination.⁷⁸ In unstressed cells, p53 is restrained by binding to MDM2, itself a transcriptional target of p53, in a negative feedback loop. MDM2 directly binds to the NH₂-terminal transactivation domain of p53 to inhibit its transcriptional activity and shuttles p53 out from the nucleus by the virtue of its nuclear exporting signal. In addition, MDM2 is also a ubiquitin ligase that targets p53 for ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis.

The crucial event in p53 activation and stabilization is the phosphorylation of the NH_2 -terminal residues by checkpoint-stimulated protein kinases. Upon DNA damage, ATM and ATR are activated and phosphorylate p53^{ser15}, which inhibits the interaction of p53 with MDM2, resulting in p53 stabilization.^{79,80} Apart from directly phosphorylating p53, ATM also induces p53^{ser20} phosphorylation indirectly via CHK1 and CHK2.⁸¹⁻⁸³

In addition to its well-known role in the G_1 DNA damage checkpoint, a growing body of evidence also indicates the importance of the p53-p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*} axis in the G_2 DNA damage checkpoint.⁸⁴ In a recent study, p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*} was found to downregulate EMI1.⁸⁵ Since EMI1 is an inhibitor of APC/C, it is possible that p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*} contributes to the maintenance of G_2 arrest by stimulating the degradation of the mitotic cyclins.

Polyploidization Induced by DNA Damage

It is vital to prevent the precocious activation of cyclins-CDKs to provide sufficient time for DNA repair. It is well known that bypass of the classic DNA damage checkpoint pathways described above promotes premature entry into mitosis. Checkpoint-uncoupled cells then undergo mitotic catastrophe, a special form of cell death during mitosis. For instance, cells lacking p53, p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*}, or 14-3-3 σ fail to arrest in G₂ after DNA damage and undergo mitotic catastrophe.^{69,84} However, a significant proportion of checkpoint-bypassed cells survive the aberrant mitosis. While these cells are able to enter and exit mitosis, they often fail to complete cytokinesis properly, giving rise to tetraploidy.^{84,86-88} In support of this, a population of polyploid cells can frequently be detected in malignant tumors.⁸⁹ Polyploid cells are also observed in colonies that survive after treatments with DNA damaging agents.^{90,91} The spindle-assembly checkpoint is required for mitotic catastrophe induced by abrogation of the DNA damage checkpoint,^{40,92} suggesting a trap in mitosis is required for these types of cell death. Thus a weakened spindle-assembly checkpoint may potentiate with the bypass of the DNA damage checkpoint to induce polyploidization.

How DNA damage leads to polyploidization is still not completely understood. A likely explanation is that mitosis occuring in the presence of damaged DNA generates either chromosome fragments or entire lagging chromosomes, leading to cytokinesis failure or cell fusion.⁸⁷ Indeed, it has been demonstrated that lagging chromosomes are able to promote cleavage furrow regression and tetraploidization.²¹ The frequent presence of micronucleus (which are formed from chromosome fragments and lagging chromosomes) in polyploid cells also reflects the role of chromosomes during repair of double strand breaks can lead to formation of chromosome bridges.⁹⁴ Aurora B appears to be part of a sensor that responds to unsegregated chromatin at the cleavage site.⁴¹

Uncoupling of the DNA damage checkpoint is thus a key event in polyploidization. In fact, the G_2 DNA damage checkpoint is partially impaired in many cancer cells.⁹⁵ They are unable to maintain G_2 arrest and eventually undergo aberrant mitosis.⁹⁶ Uncoupling of the ATM/ ATR-CHK1/CHK2 axis is well documented. Ablation of the G_2 DNA damage checkpoints induces unscheduled activation of cyclin B1-CDK1 and premature entry into mitosis.^{69,97,98} Cells that contain defective ATM, such as those derived from ataxia-telangiectasia, often exhibit radio-resistant DNA synthesis.⁹⁹ Likewise, IR-induced G_1 arrest is impaired in CHK2^{-/-} mouse embryonic fibroblasts.¹⁰⁰ Studies using conditional CHK1 knock-out mice also revealed that CHK1 deficiency causes inappropriate S phase entry, accumulation of DNA damage during replication and premature entry into mitosis.^{101,102} Since the ultimate effect of the ATM/ ATR-CHK1/CHK2 pathway is the inhibitory phosphorylation of CDK1, it is not surprising that expression of a nonphosphorylatable mutant of CDK1 can also trigger premature entry into mitosis.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴

Chemical agents that inhibit the ATM/ATR-CHK1/CHK2 pathway can induce checkpoint bypass and many are potential chemotherapeutic agents. Caffeine is a classic inhibitor of ATM/ATR.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷ The checkpoints can also be uncoupled with CHK1 inhibitors such as UCN-01.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ Inhibition of CHK1 with UCN-01 after DNA damage overcomes the DNA damage checkpoints, inducing premature activation of cyclin B1-CDK1 and mitotic catastrophe. However, UCN-01 is also a potent inhibitor of Protein Kinase C, CDKs, MK2, AKT (through inhibition of phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1) and other kinases. This promiscuous nature of UCN-01 makes defining its precise role difficult. In fact, the two kinases that can phosphorylate CDC25C^{Ser216}—C-TAK1 and CHK1—can both be inhibited by UCN-01.¹¹¹ Likewise, inhibition of CHK2 promotes premature entry of mitosis after DNA damage.¹¹²

Another possible mechanism that can promote polyploidization after DNA damage is due to the inhibition of CDK1. As CDK1 is turned off by inhibitory phosphorylation after DNA damage, it is possible that prolonged inhibition of CDK1 may induce endoreduplication cycles, similar to those in cells such as megakaryocytes (see above). However, there is little experimental support of this hypothesis at this stage.

Similarly, defects of the MRN complexes can also ablate the intra-S-phase DNA damage checkpoint and induce polyploidization. Nijmegen breakage syndrome is a rare autosomal

recessive disorder characterized by microcephaly, immunodeficiency and predisposition to hematopoietic malignancy, sharing a wide range of clinical features with ataxia telangiectasia. The disorder is caused by mutation of the *NBS1* gene, which encodes a member of the MRN complex. Hypomorphic mutations have also been found in MRE11.¹¹³ Complete inactivation of MRE11, RAD50, or NBS1 leads to early embryonic lethality in mice through accumulation of double strand breaks during development.¹¹⁴⁺¹¹⁶ Furthermore, cells derived from mice that lacking functional NBS1 share similar phenotype with ATM-defective cells, showing an impairment of the intra-S DNA damage checkpoint after ionizing radiation.¹¹⁷ Moreover, NBS1-deficient B lymphocytes show defective intra-S phase checkpoint, chromosomal translocation and tetraploid DNA content.¹¹⁸ Finally, it has been well known that simian virus 40 induces host endoreduplication by large T antigen.¹¹⁹ In fact, large T antigen interacts with NBS1 and disrupts the function of MRN complexes, leading to DNA rereplication and tetraploidization.¹²⁰

The Sensitivity of Polyploid Cells to DNA Damage

As described above, a growing body of evidence indicates that tetraploidization promotes chromosome instability and transformation. Nevertheless, tetraploidy appears to be a relatively more stable state than other aneuploidy.⁶ Artificially generated tetraploids can be maintained in culture for a long period without any obvious collapse of the ploidy.^{121,122} However, there is also evidence that polyploids are under more stress and are less robust than diploids. In budding yeast, diploids take over tetraploids in long-term culture.¹²³ Tetraploid yeasts are notably genetically unstable, with high levels of both chromosome loss and interhomolog recombination.¹³ Similarly, in chimeric mice produced from the combination of diploid and tetraploid cells, the tetraploid cells are out-competed and ultimately produces fetuses completely composed of diploid cells.¹²⁴ Mammalian tetraploid cells exhibit an increase in the basal expression of p53 and an enhanced rate of apoptosis.¹²¹ This may reflect an elevated level of stress in tetraploid cells. In budding yeasts, several genes involved in DNA repair are essential for the viability of polyploid cells (but not in diploids), suggesting that polyploidization may elevate the levels of DNA damage.¹³

Whether ploidy influences the responses to genotoxic stress remains incompletely understood. It is likely that the increase amount of DNA per cell may raise the chance of receiving damage. Given that tetraploid mouse mammary epithelial cells were more prone to transformation after exposure to a carcinogen than diploid cells,¹⁵ one possibility is that the increase in sensitivity to DNA-damaging agents in tetraploid cells may increase mutagenesis. This is supported by the findings that tetraploidization of Hep3B cells or human fibroblasts sensitizes cells to genotoxic stress inflicted by ionizing radiation and topoisomerase inhibitors.¹²² Tetraploid cells contain higher number of γ -H2AX foci after ionizing radiation than their diploid counterparts. However, results described by Castedo et al indicate that tetraploid HCT116 and RKO cells are more resistant to DNA damaging agents (camptothecin, cisplatin, oxaliplatin, gamma- and UVC-irradiation) than their diploid counterparts.^{121,125}

An additional factor that may affect the sensitivity of polyploid cells to genotoxic agents is the increase in cell volume. Ploidy is one of the key intrinsic factors that influence cell volume (reviewed in ref. 126,127). For instance, *Drosophila* polyploid salivary gland cells are more than 1,000 times larger than diploid cells and cells from tetraploid mice are about twice the size of those of diploid cells.¹²⁸ The increase in cell volume is believed to provide a metabolic growth advantage for polyploid cells.¹²⁹ It is possible that the increase in cell volume and surface area may allow polyploid cells to receive a higher dose of genotoxic agents.

Polyploidization and Cancer Therapies

Polyploidization can be a double-edged sword in cancer research. On the one hand, as we have discussed in detail above, aberrant polyploidization is believed to be a critical factor of tumorigenesis. Deciphering the mechanism of polyploidization will help us to understand the basis of tumorigenesis. On the other hand, polyploidization could be exploited as a strategy to induce cell death in cancer therapies.

For many types of potential therapeutic genotoxic agents, it is often not immediately obvious why they should selectively target cancer cells but spare normal cells.¹³⁰ Many effective anticancer agents are believed to take advantage of the severe imbalance of various cellular regulators and components in cancer cells. The obvious doubling of DNA and other cellular components in polyploid cells in relation to their diploid counterpart may offer an opportunity for designing novel therapeutic approaches.

If tetraploid cells are indeed more sensitive to DNA damage,¹²² an implication for chemotherapeutic intervention is that some cancer cells can be sensitized to genotoxic agents by a preceding step that induces polyploidization. This will probably be especially apt for cells that contain a weakened or defective spindle-assembly checkpoint. Treatment of cancer cells with spindle poisons can induce mitotic arrest and apoptosis. However, cells can also undergo mitotic slippage and enter a tetraploid G_1 state. If additional checkpoint is lacking (such as being p53 defective), tetraploid cells can further undergo DNA replication and become polyploids. Thus it may be of advantage in cancer therapy to first induce polyploidization before treatments with DNA-damaging agents. In this scenario, sequential rather than simultaneous treatment with spindle inhibitors and DNA damaging agents will be critical, as cells are sensitized to DNA damaging agents only after mitotic slippage.

Mitotic slippage can also be promoted with inhibitors of mitotic kinases such as CDK1.¹³¹ Mitotic slippage per se does not appear to be toxic, but a substantial portion of cells may be killed during the subsequent multipolar mitosis.¹³¹ CDKs themselves are important targets for cancer therapies. Several small chemical inhibitors (purine analogs such as flavopiridol, BMS-387032, E7070 and roscovitine) have shown preclinical and clinical anticancer activity. In particular, roscovitine (Seliciclib, CYC202 or Cyclacel) is a potent chemotherapeutic agent and has been tested in clinical trials for a variety of cancers.¹³² Hence it is possible that sequential treatment of a spindle poison followed by roscovitine and DNA damaging agents may prove effective against some cancers.

There are also other reports indicating that tetraploid cells are more resistant to DNA damaging agents.^{121,125} The presence of polyploid giant cells in cancers may also account for resistant to cancer therapy. Following DNA damage (in particular with relatively low dose of DNA damaging agents), many polyploid cells appear after an initial phase of mitotic catastrophe and survive for weeks as mono- or multi-nucleated giant cells.^{90,91} Whether these cells still retain proliferative potential is controversial. Although some studies indicate that giant cells have reduced or no proliferative potential,¹³³ other studies have shown that giant cells can undergo multipolar mitosis or de-polyploidization to return to near diploid state.¹³⁴ The latter studies suggest that the multistep process of escaping cell death through polyploidization and then depolyploidization may account for tumor relapse after initial efficient cancer therapy.

Conclusion

Several intricate DNA damage checkpoints ensure that cell cycle progression is delayed after DNA damage. Defects of the checkpoints in several disorders permits mitotic entry even in the presence of DNA damage. Likewise, aberrant entry into mitosis can be induced by chemicals that uncouple the checkpoints. Forcing cells with damaged DNA into mitosis causes severe chromosome segregation defects, including lagging chromosomes, chromosomal fragments and chromosomal bridges. The presence of these lesions in the cleavage plane is believed to abort cytokinesis. If this is coupled with defects of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint pathway, cells can enter S phase and become polyploids. Several lines of evidence indicate that polyploidization triggers chromosomal instability and contributes to tumorigenesis (Fig. 2). Other mechanisms, including the prolonged inhibition of CDK1 activity and defects of the intra-S checkpoint, may also provide a link between DNA damage and polyploidization. These recent advances raise several important issues that require further investigation. Outstanding issues include the need of more compelling evidence of the linkage between DNA damage and polyploidization, as well as a direct demonstration of the importance of polyploidization in human cancers.



Figure 2. Promotion of polyploidization and transformation by DNA damage. The DNA damage checkpoints delay cell cycle progression. After the damaged DNA is repaired, the checkpoints are inactivated and the cell cycle can proceed. If the checkpoints are bypassed, however, cells can enter mitosis containing damaged DNA. This results in chromosome segregation defects that include lagging chromosomes, chromosomal fragments and chromosomal bridges, thereby preventing the success completion of cytokinesis. These cells can become tetraploids if the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint is defective. Tetraploidization (possibly coupled with other mutations) triggers chromosomal instability and contributes to tumorigenesis.

Polyploidization of cancer cells may offer an opportunity for drug intervention. Different strategies that trigger mitotic arrest, mitotic slippage and DNA damage should be explored to see if they sensitize various types of cancer cells. More vigorous studies are also required to provide a comprehensive picture of whether polyploidization sensitizes cancer cells to DNA damaging therapeutic agents.

Acknowledgements

We apologize for those whose work that could not be cited due to space constraints. Related works in our laboratory are supported by Research Grants Council grant HKUST6439/06M to R.Y.C.P.

References

- 1. Duesberg P, Li R. Multistep carcinogenesis: a chain reaction of aneuploidizations. Cell Cycle 2003; 2(3):202-210.
- Boveri T. Concerning the Origin of Malignant Tumours by Theodor Boveri. Translated and annotated by Henry Harris. J Cell Sci 2008; 121(1):S1-S84.
- 3. Sotillo R, Hernando E, Diaz-Rodriguez E et al. Mad2 overexpression promotes aneuploidy and tumorigenesis in mice. Cancer Cell 2007; 11(1):9-23.
- Weaver BA, Silk AD, Montagna C et al. Aneuploidy acts both oncogenically and as a tumor suppressor. Sor. Cancer Cell 2007; 11(1):25-36.
- Woo RA, Poon RYC. Gene mutations and aneuploidy: the instability that causes cancer. Cell Cycle 2004; 3(9):1101-1103.
- 6. Storchova Z, Kuffer C. The consequences of tetraploidy and aneuploidy. J Cell Sci 2008; 121(Pt 23):3859-3866.
- 7. Barrett MT, Pritchard D, Palanca-Wessels C et al. Molecular phenotype of spontaneously arising 4N (G2-tetraploid) intermediates of neoplastic progression in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Res 2003; 63(14):4211-4217.

- Galipeau PC, Cowan DS, Sanchez CA et al. 17p (p53) allelic losses, 4N (G2/tetraploid) populations and progression to aneuploidy in Barrett's esophagus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93(14):7081-7084.
- 9. Maley CC. Multistage carcinogenesis in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Lett 2007; 245(1-2):22-32.
- 10. Stiff T, O'Driscoll M, Rief N et al. ATM and DNA-PK function redundantly to phosphorylate H2AX after exposure to ionizing radiation. Cancer Res 2004; 64(7):2390-2396.
- Olaharski AJ, Sotelo R, Solorza-Luna G et al. Tetraploidy and chromosomal instability are early events during cervical carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 2006; 27(2):337-343.
- Mayer VW, Aguilera A. High levels of chromosome instability in polyploids of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mutat Res 1990; 231(2):177-186.
- Storchova Z, Breneman A, Cande J et al. Genome-wide genetic analysis of polyploidy in yeast. Nature 2006; 443(7111):541-547.
- 14. Cowell JK. Consistent chromosome abnormalities associated with mouse bladder epithelial cell lines transformed in vitro. J Natl Cancer Inst 1980; 65(5):955-961.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M et al. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437(7061):1043-1047.
- Duelli D, Lazebnik Y. Cell-to-cell fusion as a link between viruses and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2007; 7(12):968-976.
- 17. Nowell PC. The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations. Science 1976; 194(4260):23-28.
- 18. Ohno S. Evolution by gene duplication. New York, Springer-Verlag, 1970.
- 19. Furlong RF, Holland PW. Were vertebrates octoploid? Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2002; 357(1420):531-544.
- Senovilla L, Vitale I, Galluzzi L et al. p53 represses the polyploidization of primary mammary epithelial cells by activating apoptosis. Cell Cycle 2009; 8(9):1380-1385.
- Shi Q, King RW. Chromosome nondisjunction yields tetraploid rather than aneuploid cells in human cell lines. Nature 2005; 437(7061):1038-1042.
- Nigg EA. Centrosome aberrations: cause or consequence of cancer progression? Nat Rev Cancer 2002; 2(11):815-825.
- 23. Gergely F, Basto R. Multiple centrosomes: together they stand, divided they fall. Genes Dev 2008; 22(17):2291-2296.
- Basto R, Brunk K, Vinadogrova T et al. Centrosome amplification can initiate tumorigenesis in flies. Cell 2008; 133(6):1032-1042.
- Borel F, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Multiple centrosomes arise from tetraploidy checkpoint failure and mitotic centrosome clusters in p53 and RB pocket protein-compromised cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99(15):9819-9824.
- Kwon M, Godinho SA, Chandhok NS et al. Mechanisms to suppress multipolar divisions in cancer cells with extra centrosomes. Genes Dev 2008; 22(16):2189-2203.
- Quintyne NJ, Reing JE, Hoffelder DR et al. Spindle multipolarity is prevented by centrosomal clustering. Science 2005; 307(5706):127-129.
- Yang Z, Loncarek J, Khodjakov A et al. Extra centrosomes and/or chromosomes prolong mitosis in human cells. Nat Cell Biol 2008; 10(6):748-751.
- Ganem NJ, Godinho SA, Pellman D. A mechanism linking extra centrosomes to chromosomal instability. Nature 2009; 460(7252):278-282.
- Barski G, Sorieul S, Cornefert F. [Production of cells of a "hybrid" nature in culturs in vitro of 2 cellular strains in combination.]. C R Hebd Seances Acad Sci 1960; 251:1825-1827.
- Goldenberg DM, Pavia RA, Tsao MC. In vivo hybridisation of human tumour and normal hamster cells. Nature 1974; 250(5468):649-651.
- 32. Pawelek JM. Tumour-cell fusion as a source of myeloid traits in cancer. Lancet Oncol 2005; 6(12):988-993.
- Musacchio A, Salmon ED. The spindle-assembly checkpoint in space and time. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007; 8(5):379-393.
- Rieder CL, Maiato H. Stuck in division or passing through: what happens when cells cannot satisfy the spindle assembly checkpoint. Dev Cell 2004; 7(5):637-651.
- 35. Weaver BA, Cleveland DW. Decoding the links between mitosis, cancer and chemotherapy: The mitotic checkpoint, adaptation and cell death. Cancer Cell 2005; 8(1):7-12.
- Brito DA, Rieder CL. Mitotic checkpoint slippage in humans occurs via cyclin B destruction in the presence of an active checkpoint. Curr Biol 2006; 16(12):1194-1200.
- Lanni JS, Jacks T. Characterization of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint following spindle disruption. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18(2):1055-1064.

- 38. Chan YW, On KF, Chan WM et al. The kinetics of p53 activation versus cyclin E accumulation underlies the relationship between the spindle-assembly checkpoint and the postmitotic checkpoint. J Biol Chem 2008; 283(231):15716-15723.
- 39. Liu Y, Heilman SA, Illanes D et al. p53-independent abrogation of a postmitotic checkpoint contributes to human papillomavirus E6-induced polyploidy. Cancer Res 2007; 67(6):2603-2610.
- 40. Vogel C, Kienitz A, Hofmann I et al. Crosstalk of the mitotic spindle assembly checkpoint with p53 to prevent polyploidy. Oncogene 2004; 23(41):6845-6853.
- Steigemann P, Wurzenberger C, Schmitz MH et al. Aurora B-mediated abscission checkpoint protects against tetraploidization. Cell 2009; 136(3):473-484.
- 42. Cimini D, Mattiuzzo M, Torosantucci L et al. Histone hyperacetylation in mitosis prevents sister chromatid separation and produces chromosome segregation defects. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14(9):3821-3833.
- Gisselsson D, Pettersson L, Hoglund M et al. Chromosomal breakage-fusion-bridge events cause genetic intratumor heterogeneity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97(10):5357-5362.
- 44. Andreassen PR, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Tetraploid state induces p53-dependent arrest of nontransformed mammalian cells in G1. Mol Biol Cell 2001; 12(5):1315-1328.
- 45. Uetake Y, Loncarek J, Nordberg JJ et al. Cell cycle progression and de novo centriole assembly after centrosomal removal in untransformed human cells. J Cell Biol 2007; 176(2):173-182.
- 46. Wong C, Stearns T. Mammalian cells lack checkpoints for tetraploidy, aberrant centrosome number and cytokinesis failure. BMC Cell Biol 2005; 6(1):6.
- Dalton WB, Nandan MO, Moore RT et al. Human cancer cells commonly acquire DNA damage during mitotic arrest. Cancer Res 2007; 67(24):11487-11492.
- 48. Quignon F, Rozier L, Lachages AM et al. Sustained mitotic block elicits DNA breaks: one-step alteration of ploidy and chromosome integrity in mammalian cells. Oncogene 2007; 26(2):165-172.
- 49. Blagosklonny MV. Prolonged mitosis versus tetraploid checkpoint: how p53 measures the duration of mitosis. Cell Cycle 2006; 5(9):971-975.
- Grafi G, Larkins BA. Endoreduplication in Maize Endosperm: Involvement of M Phase—Promoting Factor Inhibition and Induction of S Phase—Related Kinases. Science 1995; 269(5228):1262-1264.
- 51. Sigrist SJ, Lehner CF. Drosophila fizzy-related down-regulates mitotic cyclins and is required for cell proliferation arrest and entry into endocycles. Cell 1997; 90(4):671-681.
- 52. Zhang Y, Wang Z, Liu DX et al. Ubiquitin-dependent degradation of cyclin B is accelerated in polyploid megakaryocytes. J Biol Chem 1998; 273(3):1387-1392.
- 53. Itzhaki JE, Gilbert CS, Porter AC. Construction by gene targeting in human cells of a "conditional" CDC2 mutant that rereplicates its DNA. Nat Genet 1997; 15(3):258-265.
- 54. Di Fiore B, Pines J. Emil is needed to couple DNA replication with mitosis but does not regulate activation of the mitotic APC/C. J Cell Biol 2007; 177(3):425-437.
- 55. Machida YJ, Dutta A. The APC/C inhibitor, Emi1, is essential for prevention of rereplication. Genes Dev 2007; 21(2):184-194.
- 56. Woo RA, Poon RY. Cyclin-dependent kinases and S phase control in mammalian cells. Cell Cycle 2003; 2(4):316-324.
- 57. Parrilla-Castellar ER, Arlander SJ, Karnitz L. Dial 9-1-1 for DNA damage: the Rad9-Hus1-Rad1 (9-1-1) clamp complex. DNA Repair (Amst) 2004; 3(8-9):1009-1014.
- 58. Jhanwar-Uniyal M. BRCA1 in cancer, cell cycle and genomic stability. Front Biosci 2003; 8:s1107-17.
- 59. Wang Y, Cortez D, Yazdi P et al. BASC, a super complex of BRCA1-associated proteins involved in the recognition and repair of aberrant DNA structures. Genes Dev 2000; 14(8):927-939.
- 60. Cimprich KA, Cortez D. ATR: an essential regulator of genome integrity. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008; 9(8):616-627.
- 61. Petermann E, Caldecott KW. Evidence that the ATR/Chk1 pathway maintains normal replication fork progression during unperturbed S phase. Cell Cycle 2006; 5(19):2203-2209.
- 62. Freire R, van Vugt MA, Mamely I et al. Claspin: timing the cell cycle arrest when the genome is damaged. Cell Cycle 2006; 5(24):2831-2834.
- 63. Bassermann F, Frescas D, Guardavaccaro D et al. The Cdc14B-Cdh1-Plk1 axis controls the G2 DNA-damage-response checkpoint. Cell 2008; 134(2):256-267.
- 64. Boutros R, Dozier C, Ducommun B. The when and wheres of CDC25 phosphatases. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2006; 18(2):185-191.
- 65. Chen Y, Poon RY. The multiple checkpoint functions of CHK1 and CHK2 in maintenance of genome stability. Front Biosci 2008; 13:5016-5029.
- 66. Boutros R, Lobjois V, Ducommun B. CDC25 phosphatases in cancer cells: key players? Good targets? Nat Rev Cancer 2007; 7(7):495-507.

- Lee J, Kumagai A, Dunphy WG. Positive regulation of Wee1 by Chk1 and 14-3-3 proteins. Mol Biol Cell 2001; 12(3):551-563.
- Rothblum-Oviatt CJ, Ryan CE, Piwnica-Worms H. 14-3-3 binding regulates catalytic activity of human Weel kinase. Cell Growth Differ 2001; 12(12):581-589.
- 69. Chan TA, Hermeking H, Lengauer C et al. 14-3-3Sigma is required to prevent mitotic catastrophe after DNA damage. Nature 1999; 401(6753):616-620.
- Zdzienicka MZ. Mammalian X ray sensitive mutants: a tool for the elucidation of the cellular response to ionizing radiation. Cancer Surv 1996; 28:281-293.
- 71. Rhind N, Russell P. Checkpoints: it takes more than time to heal some wounds. Curr Biol 2000; 10(24):R908-11.
- Falck J, Mailand N, Syljuasen RG et al. The ATM-Chk2-Cdc25A checkpoint pathway guards against radioresistant DNA synthesis. Nature 2001; 410(6830):842-847.
- Sorensen CS, Syljuasen RG, Falck J et al. Chk1 regulates the S phase checkpoint by coupling the physiological turnover and ionizing radiation-induced accelerated proteolysis of Cdc25A. Cancer Cell 2003; 3(3):247-258.
- 74. Falck J, Petrini JH, Williams BR et al. The DNA damage-dependent intra-S phase checkpoint is regulated by parallel pathways. Nat Genet 2002; 30(3):290-294.
- 75. Jessberger R, Riwar B, Baechtold H et al. SMC proteins constitute two subunits of the mammalian recombination complex RC-1. EMBO J 1996; 15(15):4061-4068.
- Michaelis C, Ciosk R, Nasmyth K. Cohesins: chromosomal proteins that prevent premature separation of sister chromatids. Cell 1997; 91(1):35-45.
- Kim ST, Xu B, Kastan MB. Involvement of the cohesin protein, Smc1, in Atm-dependent and independent responses to DNA damage. Genes Dev 2002; 16(5):560-570.
- Levine AJ, Hu W, Feng Z. The P53 pathway: what questions remain to be explored? Cell Death Differ 2006; 13(6):1027-1036.
- 79. Chehab NH, Malikzay A, Stavridi ES et al. Phosphorylation of Ser-20 mediates stabilization of human p53 in response to DNA damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96(24):13777-13782.
- Shieh SY, Ikeda M, Taya Y et al. DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. Cell 1997; 91(3):325-334.
- Chehab NH, Malikzay A, Appel M et al. Chk2/hCds1 functions as a DNA damage checkpoint in G(1) by stabilizing p53. Genes Dev 2000; 14(3):278-288.
- Hirao A, Kong YY, Matsuoka S et al. DNA damage-induced activation of p53 by the checkpoint kinase Chk2. Science 2000; 287(5459):1824-1827.
- 83. Shieh SY, Ahn J, Tamai K et al. The human homologs of checkpoint kinases Chk1 and Cds1 (Chk2) phosphorylate p53 at multiple DNA damage-inducible sites. Genes Dev 2000; 14(3):289-300.
- Bunz F, Dutriaux A, Lengauer C et al. Requirement for p53 and p21 to sustain G2 arrest after DNA damage. Science 1998; 282(5393):1497-1501.
- 85. Lee J, Kim JA, Barbier V et al. DNA damage triggers p21WAF1-dependent Emi1 down-regulation that maintains G2 arrest. Mol Biol Cell 2009; 20(7):1891-1902.
- 86. Andreassen PR, Lacroix FB, Lohez OD et al. Neither p21WAF1 nor 14-3-3sigma prevents G2 progression to mitotic catastrophe in human colon carcinoma cells after DNA damage, but p21WAF1 induces stable G1 arrest in resulting tetraploid cells. Cancer Res 2001; 61(20):7660-7668.
- Chu K, Teele N, Dewey MW et al. Computerized video time lapse study of cell cycle delay and arrest, mitotic catastrophe, apoptosis and clonogenic survival in irradiated 14-3-3sigma and CDKN1A (p21) knockout cell lines. Radiat Res 2004; 162(3):270-286.
- Ivanov A, Cragg MS, Erenpreisa J et al. Endopolyploid cells produced after severe genotoxic damage have the potential to repair DNA double strand breaks. J Cell Sci 2003; 116(Pt 20):4095-4106.
- Bohm N, Sandritter W. DNA in human tumors: a cytophotometric study. Curr Top Pathol 1975; 60:151-219.
- Blagosklonny MV. Drug-resistance enables selective killing of resistant leukemia cells: exploiting of drug resistance instead of reversal. Leukemia 1999; 13(12):2031-2035.
- Puig PE, Guilly MN, Bouchot A et al. Tumor cells can escape DNA-damaging cisplatin through DNA endoreduplication and reversible polyploidy. Cell Biol Int 2008; 32(9):1031-1043.
- Nitta M, Kobayashi O, Honda S et al. Spindle checkpoint function is required for mitotic catastrophe induced by DNA-damaging agents. Oncogene 2004; 23(39):6548-6558.
- Decordier I, Kirsch-Volders M. The in vitro micronucleus test: from past to future. Mutat Res 2006; 607(1):2-4.
- Acilan C, Potter DM, Saunders WS. DNA repair pathways involved in anaphase bridge formation. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2007; 46(6):522-531.
- Fingert HJ, Chang JD, Pardee AB. Cytotoxic, cell cycle and chromosomal effects of methylxanthines in human tumor cells treated with alkylating agents. Cancer Res 1986; 46(5):2463-2467.

- Chang BD, Broude EV, Fang J et al. p21Waf1/Cip1/Sdi1-induced growth arrest is associated with depletion of mitosis-control proteins and leads to abnormal mitosis and endoreduplication in recovering cells. Oncogene 2000; 19(17):2165-2170.
- 97. Castedo M, Perfettini JL, Roumier T et al. Cell death by mitotic catastrophe: a molecular definition. Oncogene 2004; 23(16):2825-2837.
- 98. Vogel C, Hager C, Bastians H. Mechanisms of mitotic cell death induced by chemotherapy-mediated G2 checkpoint abrogation. Cancer Res 2007; 67(1):339-345.
- 99. Lavin MF, Khanna KK. ATM: the protein encoded by the gene mutated in the radiosensitive syndrome ataxia-telangiectasia. Int J Radiat Biol 1999; 75(10):1201-1214.
- Takai H, Naka K, Okada Y et al. Chk2-deficient mice exhibit radioresistance and defective p53-mediated transcription. EMBO J 2002; 21(19):5195-5205.
- 101. Lam MH, Liu Q, Elledge SJ et al. Chk1 is haploinsufficient for multiple functions critical to tumor suppression. Cancer Cell 2004; 6(1):45-59.
- 102. Niida H, Tsuge S, Katsuno Y et al. Depletion of Chk1 leads to premature activation of Cdc2-cyclin B and mitotic catastrophe. J Biol Chem 2005; 280(47):39246-39252.
- 103. Blasina A, Paegle ES, McGowan CH. The role of inhibitory phosphorylation of CDC2 following DNA replication block and radiation-induced damage in human cells. Mol Biol Cell 1997; 8(6):1013-1023.
- 104. Chow JPH, Siu WY, Ho HTB et al. Differential contribution of inhibitory phosphorylation of CDC2 and CDK2 for unperturbed cell cycle control and DNA integrity checkpoints. J Biol Chem 2003; 278(42):40815-40828.
- 105. Blasina A, Price BD, Turenne GA et al. Caffeine inhibits the checkpoint kinase ATM. Curr Biol 1999; 9(19):1135-1138.
- 106. Hall-Jackson CA, Cross DA, Morrice N et al. ATR is a caffeine-sensitive, DNA-activated protein kinase with a substrate specificity distinct from DNA-PK. Oncogene 1999; 18(48):6707-6713.
- 107. Sarkaria JN, Busby EC, Tibbetts RS et al. Inhibition of ATM and ATR kinase activities by the radiosensitizing agent, caffeine. Cancer Res 1999; 59(17):4375-4382.
- 108. Wang Q, Fan S, Eastman A et al. UCN-01: a potent abrogator of G2 checkpoint function in cancer cells with disrupted p53. J Natl Cancer Inst 1996; 88(14):956-965.
- 109. Graves PR, Yu L, Schwarz JK et al. The Chk1 protein kinase and the Cdc25C regulatory pathways are targets of the anticancer agent UCN-01. J Biol Chem 2000; 275(8):5600-5605.
- 110. Tse AN, Schwartz GK. Potentiation of cytotoxicity of topoisomerase i poison by concurrent and sequential treatment with the checkpoint inhibitor UCN-01 involves disparate mechanisms resulting in either p53-independent clonogenic suppression or p53-dependent mitotic catastrophe. Cancer Res 2004; 64(18):6635-6644.
- 111. Busby EC, Leistritz DF, Abraham RT et al. The radiosensitizing agent 7-hydroxystaurosporine (UCN-01) inhibits the DNA damage checkpoint kinase hChk1. Cancer Res 2000; 60(8):2108-2112.
- 112. Castedo M, Perfettini JL, Roumier T et al. The cell cycle checkpoint kinase Chk2 is a negative regulator of mitotic catastrophe. Oncogene 2004; 23(25):4353-4361.
- Carney JP, Maser RS, Olivares H et al. The hMre11/hRad50 protein complex and Nijmegen breakage syndrome: linkage of double-strand break repair to the cellular DNA damage response. Cell 1998; 93(3):477-486.
- 114. Luo G, Yao MS, Bender CF et al. Disruption of mRad50 causes embryonic stem cell lethality, abnormal embryonic development and sensitivity to ionizing radiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96(13):7376-7381.
- 115. Xiao Y, Weaver DT. Conditional gene targeted deletion by Cre recombinase demonstrates the requirement for the double-strand break repair Mre11 protein in murine embryonic stem cells. Nucleic Acids Res 1997; 25(15):2985-2991.
- 116. Zhu J, Petersen S, Tessarollo L et al. Targeted disruption of the Nijmegen breakage syndrome gene NBS1 leads to early embryonic lethality in mice. Curr Biol 2001; 11(2):105-109.
- 117. Williams BR, Mirzoeva OK, Morgan WF et al. A murine model of Nijmegen breakage syndrome. Curr Biol 2002; 12(8):648-653.
- Reina-San-Martin B, Nussenzweig MC, Nussenzweig A et al. Genomic instability, endoreduplication and diminished Ig class-switch recombination in B cells lacking Nbs1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005; 102(5):1590-1595.
- 119. Perry MB, Lehman JM. Activities of SV40 T antigen necessary for the induction of tetraploid DNA content in permissive CV-1 cells. Cytometry 1998; 31(4):251-259.
- 120. Wu X, Avni D, Chiba T et al. SV40 T antigen interacts with Nbs1 to disrupt DNA replication control. Genes Dev 2004; 18(11):1305-1316.
- 121. Castedo M, Coquelle A, Vivet S et al. Apoptosis regulation in tetraploid cancer cells. EMBO J 2006; 25(11):2584-2595.

- Hau PM, Siu WY, Wong N et al. Polyploidization increases the sensitivity to DNA-damaging agents in mammalian cells. FEBS Lett 2006; 580(19):4727-4736.
- 123. Mable BK, Otto SP. Masking and purging mutations following EMS treatment in haploid, diploid and tetraploid yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae). Genet Res 2001; 77(1):9-26.
- 124. Nagy A, Gocza E, Diaz EM et al. Embryonic stem cells alone are able to support fetal development in the mouse. Development 1990; 110(3):815-821.
- 125. Castedo M, Coquelle A, Vitale I et al. Selective resistance of tetraploid cancer cells against DNA damage-induced apoptosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006; 1090:35-49.
- 126. Gregory TR. Coincidence, coevolution, or causation? DNA content, cell size and the C-value enigma. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 2001; 76(1):65-101.
- 127. Nurse P. The genetic control of cell volume. In: Cavalier-Smith T, ed. The Evolution of Genome Size. Hoboken: John Wiley and Sons, 1985:185-196.
- 128. Henery CC, Bard JB, Kaufman MH. Tetraploidy in mice, embryonic cell number and the grain of the developmental map. Dev Biol 1992; 152(2):233-241.
- 129. Comai L. The advantages and disadvantages of being polyploid. Nat Rev Genet 2005; 6(11):836-846.
- 130. Hunt T. You never know: Cdk inhibitors as anti-cancer drugs. Cell Cycle 2008; 7(24):3789-3790.
- 131. Chan YW, Ma HT, Wong W et al. CDK1 inhibitors antagonize the immediate apoptosis triggered by spindle disruption but promote apoptosis following the subsequent rereplication and abnormal mitosis. Cell Cycle 2008; 7(10):1449-1461.
- 132. Fischer PM, Gianella-Borradori A. Recent progress in the discovery and development of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2005; 14(4):457-477.
- Therman E, Kuhn EM. Mitotic modifications and aberrations in cancer. Crit Rev Oncog 1989; 1(3):293-305.
- 134. Erenpreisa J, Cragg MS. Mitotic death: a mechanism of survival? A review. Cancer Cell Int 2001; 1(1):1.

CHAPTER 5

Role of the p53 Family in Stabilizing the Genome and Preventing Polyploidization

Flaminia Talos and Ute M. Moll*

Abstract

ellular defects resulting in chromosomal instability and aneuploidy are the most common features of human cancers. As a major tumor suppressor and intrinsic part of several cellular checkpoints, p53 contributes to maintenance of the stability of the genetic material, both in quality (ensures faithful replication) and quantity (preservation of diploidy). Although the exact trigger of p53 in case of numerical chromosomal aberrations is unknown, the absence of p53 allows polyploid cells to proliferate and generate unstable aneuploid progeny. A more recent addition to the p53 family, p73, emerged as an important contributor to genomic integrity when p53 is inactivated. p73 loss in p53-null background leads to a rapid increase in polyploidy and aneuploidy, markedly exceeding that caused by p53 loss alone. Constitutive deregulation of Cyclin-Cdk and p27/Kip1 activities and excess failure of the G2/M DNA damage checkpoint are important deficiencies associated with p73 loss.

p53—Tumor Suppressor

The p53 tumor suppressor gene encodes a multi-functional protein involved in the comprehensive control of cellular responses to genotoxic stress.^{1,2} Its tumor suppressor effects are mediated by a variety of mechanisms including cell cycle arrest, apoptosis and cellular senescence that prevent cells with damaged DNA to pass on their genomes to progeny.³ In unstressed cells, p53 is maintained at very low levels, but it becomes rapidly stabilized and activated in conditions of genotoxic stress. In the absence of p53, cells with damaged DNA fail to properly respond to DNA damage checkpoints but instead continue to proliferate, which results in random mutations, gene amplifications, chromosomal re-arrangements and aneuploidy. This is frequently associated with tumorigenesis. Consequently, p53 is functionally inactivated in more than half of human cancers ranging from carcinomas, sarcomas and lymphomas.^{4,8} Moreover, alterations of the p53 gene occur not only as acquired somatic mutations in human cancers but also as germline mutations in patients with the cancer-prone Li-Fraumeni syndrome.⁹⁻¹¹

The importance of p53 in tumor suppression was confirmed by animal models. p53 knock-out mice are highly prone to spontaneous tumor formation (T-cells lymphomas and fibrosarcomas).¹² Moreover, a single dose of 4 Gy γ -irradiation dramatically decreases the latency for tumor development in p53^{+/-} heterozygous mice.¹³ Cells derived from p53^{-/-} null mice show signs of spontaneous genomic instability. For instance, mouse normal embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) and pancreatic cells obtained from p53^{-/-} mice exhibit a high degree of aneuploidy.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Murine models also proved

*Corresponding Author: Ute M. Moll—Department of Pathology, Health Science Center, State University of New York at Stony Brook, Stony Brook, New York 11794. Email: umoll@notes.cc.sunysb.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. that p53 loss synergizes with (proto)oncogenes (such as Myc, Ras, Wnt-1) in accelerating tumor formation.¹⁷⁻²¹

Analysis of human tumors revealed that the p53 gene is mainly targeted by missense mutations, which generate abnormally stabilized protein, while complete gene deletions are relatively rare.²² Recent advances in clarifying the role of p53 hotspot mutants (i.e., which recur over and over in many patients) in a physiological context were offered by two knock-in mice that harbor the structural mutant p53R172H and the contact mutant p53R270H (corresponding to codons 175 and 273 in humans). p53R270H/+ and p53R172H/+ mice model the Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Of note, they developed allele-specific tumor spectra that were distinct from p53^{-/+} mice. Moreover, p53R270H/- and p53R172H/- mice again developed a different tumor spectrum compared to p53^{-/-} mice, including more frequent carcinomas and endothelial tumors. These results demonstrate that missense mutant p53 alleles expressed under physiological control have enhanced oncogenic potential (gain-of-function) that goes beyond the simple loss-of-function of p53 null alleles.²² As the underlying mechanism it was suggested that p73 and p63 protective functions are concomitantly disabled by binding to the missense mutant p53 protein.^{22,23}

p53 and Genomic Stability

p53 and Cell Cycle Checkpoints

p53 is one of the main effectors of cell cycle checkpoints. However, the precise mechanisms of its actions are still controversial. Clearly, p53 mediates G1 arrest in response to DNA damage, thus preventing DNA synthesis from damaged templates.²⁴ Apart from this, p53 is involved in regulating the cell cycle at transitions of G1/S and G2/M and within S-phase.²⁵⁻²⁷ Evidence for a possible role of p53 in M-phase came from observations that p53 contributes to the control of centrosome duplication^{28,29} and to the prevention of DNA rereplication when chromosome segregation is impaired by spindle inhibitors.^{28,29} The various cell cycle checkpoints and a simplified view of p53 contribution to them are summarized below:

G1/S Checkpoint

Blocks replication of damaged DNA (e.g., if the nucleotide pool is inadequate for genome duplication^{30,31} or under drugs that produce DNA damage).

p53 Model

DNA double-strand breaks activate ATM. ATM phosphorylates downstream effectors, either directly or through its immediate target Chk2. Phosphorylated histone H2AX (γ H2AX) marks the chromatin site of the actual damage. p53 can be phosphorylated either by ATM or indirectly by Chk2. This contributes to p53's stabilization and activation. Through its transcriptional targets (such as cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21) p53 delays cycle progression.³²⁻³⁴

Intra-S Phase Checkpoint

Stops DNA synthesis if the damage occurs in S-phase or cells with damaged DNA slipped through a G1/S block.

p53 Model

Intrinsic events or genotoxic stress (e.g., hydroxyurea and UV) during S-phase activate a checkpoint that prevents the progression of replication forks. The main player in this checkpoint is ATR. ATR phosphorylates and activates Chk1, γ H2AX and BLM helicase. p53 becomes activated by ATR or Chk1 and transported by BLM to sites of stalled replication forks. Through direct interactions with components of the replication machinery and through activation of target genes, p53 is able to slow down replication.³⁴⁻³⁷ p53-proficient cells show a lower level of double strand breaks (DSB), while in the absence of p53, ssDNA regions associated with stalled replication forks turn into DSB and generate major chromosomal abnormalities.³⁸

G2/M Checkpoint

Employed when cells containing wrongly replicated (under- or overreplicated) DNA exit S-phase. The G2/M restriction point prevents mitosis of such cells. Loosening the G2/M checkpoint is one of the hallmarks of malignant transformation. This checkpoint is the "last barrier" prior to mitotic division that can block the perpetuation of mutations or an unstable genome.³⁹ The G2/M transition is under very strict control and integrates multiple pathways that are p53 dependent and independent.

p53 Model

It is thought that p53 is able to block cells in G2 via indirect inactivation of CDK1. Gadd45, p21 and 14-3-3 σ , all p53 transcriptional targets, are able to inhibit CDK1. On the other hand, cyclin B, the regulatory subunit of CDK1, can be transcriptionally repressed by p53.⁴⁰ However, alternative pathways (ATM/ATR-dependent, caffeine and UCN-01 inhibitor sensitive) explain why p53-null cells are still able to arrest in G2/M.⁴¹ Cells can stop the cell cycle in G2 by activating the ATM/ATR pathway and downregulate CDK1 via Chk1 and Chk2.⁴⁰ The Chk kinases inactivate Cdc25C, the phosphatase responsible for eliminating the inhibitory phosphorylations on CDK1.

Mitotic Checkpoint or Spindle Assembly Checkpoint

Does not allow anaphase to proceed until all chromosomes are properly attached to the spindle microtubule apparatus. Checkpoint proteins are components of the kinetochore, a macromolecular complex that resides at centromeres of chromosomes that establishes connections with spindle microtubules. Mitotic exit with abnormal chromosomes results in arrest.^{41,42}

The p53 Model Is Controversial

p53-deficient fibroblasts, but not their wild-type counterparts, fail to arrest in response to spindle inhibitors and undergo another round of replication without mitosis to become polyploidy.^{28,43} However, more careful studies revealed that p53 acts, in fact, at the subsequent G1 step to induce arrest. In response to spindle inhibitors, both wild-type and p53-null MEFs moved equally well from M into G1. The difference was that wild-type cells remained arrested, while p53 null cells were able to restart DNA synthesis and thus became polyploid. Eventually, some of these cells would escape the postmitotic block and divide, generating aneuploidy.⁴⁴

However, p53 might still play some role in the mitotic checkpoint proper through its reported colocalization with centrosomes and a direct involvement in preventing multipolar mitotic spindles and centrosome amplification.²⁹ Loss of p53 was reported to be associated with accumulation of centrosome abnormalities, multiple spindle poles and missegregation of chromosomes into daughter cells in a fraction of mouse fibroblasts.²⁹

p53 in DNA Repair

In addition to DNA damage-induced transcription-dependent p53 functions, evidence has accumulated for a direct role of p53 in DNA repair, DNA replication and DNA repair associated with active replication.⁴⁵ Genetic studies using KO mice for different genes involved in nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) showed that p53 is a negative regulator of error prone NHEJ.^{42,4648} Additionally, p53 has been reported to have intrinsic Mg²⁺-dependent exonuclease function.⁴⁹ p53 colocalizes with PCNA, DNA polymerase α, DNA ligase and RPA in the nuclei of Herpes virus—infected cells⁵⁰ and binds recombinases (such as Rad51⁵¹ and Rad54⁵²) in human cells. Thus, p53 is likely to negatively modulate homologous recombination.⁵³ Moreover, p53 null mice show an increased frequency of homologous recombination at different stages of development.⁵⁴ Recent studies of human cells revealed a requirement for p53 in global modulation of chromatin structure upon localized subcellular UV irradiation.⁵⁵ Thus, p53 has a role in increasing global chromatin accessibility, potentially through histone acetylation.

Deficiencies in cell cycle checkpoints or in the system that detects and repairs DNA damage have a deep impact on genomic stability and increase the probability of tumor formation.²⁴ Thus, p53 may help maintain genomic stability by preventing DNA replication of damaged DNA,

preventing replication in conditions that could harm the DNA and preventing rereplication of DNA that could lead to aneuploidy.²⁴

Although its precise role in tumorigenesis is still controversial as to being cause or consequence, aneuploidy is a hallmark of cancer development. While aneuploidy can arise directly from defects in duplication, maturation or segregation of centrosomes,⁵⁶ it is generally thought that the precursor of aneuploidy is a polyploid state. One proposed route to aneuploid cancer cells is through an unstable tetraploid intermediate.^{57,58} Supporting this idea, recent studies demonstrate that tetraploidy promotes chromosomal aberrations and tumorigenesis in vivo.^{59,61}

Mechanisms of Polyploidization

Without excluding the possibility of other ways, it is considered that a diploid organism can acquire polyploid cells through several general mechanism: cell fusion, endoreplication (also called endomitosis) and a variety of defects that result in a nondividing cell cycle (nonmitotic, abortive cell cycle).⁶²

DNA endoreplication is widely observed in the plant kingdom and selectively occurs in many animals as a response to developmental needs.⁶³ In humans, endoreplication can occur during differentiation (e.g., in megakaryocytes, hepatocytes and trophoblasts) or as a physiological response to metabolic stress (muscle cells). Megakaryocytes are bone marrow precursors that generate platelets. Specifically, megakaryocytes traverse the initial stages of mitosis (anaphase A) including centrosome duplication, but skip anaphase B and cytokinesis, resulting in polyploid cells.⁶² Metabolic stress also facilitates polyploidy in several tissues. An increase in the percentage of polyploid hepatocytes is seen in ischemic lesions of the liver, regrowth of the liver after partial hepatectomy and in advanced age.^{64,65} Hypertensive humans or rats show polyploid heart muscle and vascular smooth-muscle cells.⁶⁶ Another example are tetraploid fibroblasts frequently observed during wound healing in biopsies.⁶⁷ Thus, an increase in the amount of DNA and, consequently, in cell volume is regarded as beneficial for cells that have high metabolic rates like liver or muscle cells. Of note, this tetraploid state does not trigger any p53-depedent checkpoint. This led many authors to conclude that although mechanistically very similar, endored uplication and polyloidization are not the same phenomenon.⁶³ Along the same lines, it is unclear if polyploid cells resulting from physiologic endoreduplication are more prone to genomic instability than their diploid parental tissue and if they associate with future organ pathologies.

From an evolutionary point of view, polyploidy could be advantageous for the entire organism due to better use of heterozygosity, the buffering effect of gene redundancy on mutations and, in certain cases the facilitation of reproduction through self-fertilization or by asexual means.⁶³

Polyploidization resulting from an abnormal cell cycle, however, puts cells at risk for aberrant mitotic divisions and for subsequent mitosis with multipolar spindles, which eventually lead to aneuploidy. In conditions of abnormal DNA replication, sister-chromatid nondisjunction, mitotic spindle dysfunction or defective cytokinesis, cells are not able to proceed through a proper mitotic division. Regularly, many of these defects that result in abortive cell cycles trigger checkpoint responses that block cell-cycle progression or, in some cases, trigger apoptosis. However, checkpoint activation often produces only transient delays in cell-cycle progression. So, even if the initial insult persists, the possibility exists where some cells 'slip' past the arrest, exiting as a tetraploid from the defective cell division.⁶² One of the important checkpoint responses to abnormal passage through mitosis is the activation of p53 in the next G1 phase.⁶⁸

Disadvantages of Polyploidy

The obvious consequences of increasing the DNA content of a cell or organism include the disrupting effects of nuclear and cellular enlargement, the propensity of polyploid mitosis and meiosis to produce aneuploid cells and the epigenetic instability that affects gene regulation.⁶³ Increasing the genomic content of an organism usually increases cell volume, with a subsequent change in the spatial relationships between various components of the cell. Recent studies suggest that any imbalance of the ratio between the internal and the surface components of the nucleus has regulatory repercussions.⁶³ For instance, the volume of budding yeast cells increases linearly with

each extra chromosome pair.^{62,69} In the nucleus, the precise localization of telomeric and centromeric heterochromatin ensures proper organization of chromosomes in the nucleus.⁷⁰ Lamins, which form a fibrous network that lines the inside of the nuclear envelope, interact with heterochromatin and have a function that is vital to the cell. This is demonstrated by the phenotypic effects of laminar abnormalities on human health.⁷¹

Chromosomes in polyploid cells of Arabidopsis thaliana have a greater mobility within the interphase nucleus relative to chromosomes in diploids, due to loss of the nuclear substructure that normally restricts chromosome movement.⁷⁰

Most interestingly, when compared with haploids or diploids, tetraploid budding yeast cells have significantly increased rates of chromosome loss and recombination.⁷² They also show increased sensitivity to gamma-irradiation and to other DNA-damaging agents.⁶² Likewise, polyploid fission yeast undergoes chromosome missegregation at a high frequency.⁷³ Also, p53 null tetraploid cells are highly competent to induce tumors in nude mice. Polyploidization sensitized cells to genotoxic stress imposed by ionizing radiation and topoisomerase inhibitors.⁷⁴ These findings raise the possibility that an increase in ploidy generally impairs genomic stability.⁶¹

Tetraploidy Checkpoint Theory

Several views exist on the possible fate of polyploid cells. In the best case scenarios, multipolar mitosis of tetraploid cells can lead to the formation of diploid cells through a poorly understood process, known as 'reduction mitosis'. Alternatively, some cells 'adapt' to multiple centrosomes by clustering them at the spindle poles. This allows a bipolar mitosis to occur, which seems to progress normally. This mechanism is employed by many cancer cells as a way to avoid mitotic catastrophe.^{75,76}

Another view suggests that tetraploid cells undergo cell cycle arrest via the so-called p53-mediated 'G1 tetraploidy checkpoint,' which can then trigger apoptosis.^{77,78} However, recent doubts about the existence of this checkpoint came from studies of cancer cell lines treated with mitotic spindle inhibitors. A proportion of these cell populations escape the mitotic arrest and enter into a "G1-like state" with a 4N set of chromosomes. This phenomenon is known as 'mitotic slippage'. If these tetraploid cells have functional p53, they arrest in this G1 phase.⁴⁴ However, p53-deficient cells progress through the next S-phase, undergo an abnormal mitosis and become aneuploidy.⁷⁹ It was initially considered that p53 might directly monitor the ploidy status of cells, perhaps via DNA content or centrosome number.⁷⁷ However, it was later shown that the high concentrations of spindle inhibitors (e.g., cytochalasin B) that were used in these experiments also caused DNA damage and that was the actual cause for inducing a p53 response. When repeated with lower but still effective doses, tetraploid cells formed, but did not arrest in G1 and instead showed normal cell cycle progression despite the p53 presence.^{80,81} In sum, these studies concluded that mammalian cells do not possess a "tetraploidy" checkpoint, meaning that an abnormal chromosome number is not the direct trigger of the checkpoint response.^{80,81}

The p53-dependent cell-cycle arrest of tetraploid cells shares features with the p53-dependent G1 arrest upon DNA damage. For instance, in both cases cell-cycle arrest coincides with induction of the CDK inhibitor p21 and hypophosphorylated retinoblastoma protein (Rb).^{75,82} Furthermore, tetraploid cells that lack either p21, Rb or p53 all fail to arrest in G1 and proceed into an aberrant cell division.⁶² Not without significance, p53 and Rb are the most frequent tumor suppressors functionally inactivated in human cancers. Disruption of the cytoskeleton by failed cytokinesis, abnormal spindle geometry in tetraploids,⁸⁰ or redistribution of nuclear proportions and lamins by increased DNA content⁷¹ were also proposed as potential p53 activators. Thus, although its precise trigger is unknown, p53 prevents abnormal polyploid cells to occur in vitro as well as in vivo. The polyploid/aneuploid cells that arise from multipolar mitosis are rapidly eliminated in cells that contain p53.⁶¹ Moreover, p53 null mice have 23% 4N cells in the pancreas compared with 7% in wild type mice.²⁸ Also, disabling p53 by a pancreas-specific SV40 T-antigen produced >45% polyploid pancreatic cells.²⁸ Thus, it will be important to establish the degree to which the antipolyploidization effect of p53 contributes to cancer suppression.

Agonists and Antagonists of p53 Function in Genome Stability

- a. Mice deficient in genes important for telomere function, DNA damage checkpoint activation and DNA repair (both nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) and homologous recombination) allow proliferation of cells with damaged DNA and a high degree of genomic instability.⁸³ The majority of these mice present with developmental problems or even embryonic lethality, all attributable to the activation of p53 in response to DNA damage signals, followed by induction of apoptosis. The developmental abnormalities are rescued by codeleting p53, but with a price: mice predisposed to genomic instability and lacking p53 are highly tumor-prone. For instance, the lethality of mutations in genes for DNA ligase IV or XRCC4 can be relieved by a mutation in p53 or ATM, but the double-knock-out mice develop T-cell lymphomas at a very early age.^{47,84,85} These latter mouse models prove that p53-mediated apoptosis is an essential tumor suppressor mechanism to eliminate cells that are genomically unstable.⁸³
- b. Msh2 and its heterodimeric binding partner Msh3 are necessary for removal of nonhomologous tails during recombination.⁸⁶ In vivo, combined loss of Msh2 and p53 leads to embryonic lethality of female mice and to synergistically increased tumorigenesis in males on a C57BL6J background.⁸⁷ Drug-induced polyploidization studies in MEFs revealed that, while Msh2^{-/-} MEFs showed no increase in the 8N population compared with WT MEFs, the p53^{-/-} Msh2^{-/-} MEFs showed a clear increase in cells with an 8N DNA content, over and above that seen in MEFs deficient in p53 alone. On a larger scale of DNA repair, it is possible that p53 monitors unresolved or aberrant recombination structures and allows cells to mend such DNA structures. However, when the signal from mismatch repair proteins is missing, these cells are not able to complete mitosis. Moreover, when p53 is also missing, cells may aberrantly re-enter S-phase. Thus, polyploid cells might appear from a combined defect in DNA repair and checkpoints.⁸⁸
- c. Lats2: The tumour suppressor Lats2, which is localized at the centrosome during a normal cell cycle, interacts with and inhibits the Mdm2 E3 ligase activity and thereby promotes p53 activation in cells with mitotic spindle defects. The Lats2-Mdm2 interaction occurs specifically when centrosome function is disrupted. Moreover, RNAi knockdown of Lats2 in cells that lack p53 function leads to accumulation of polyploid cells after exposure to nocodazole. However, if p53 is activated, proliferation of these cells is prevented. Thus, p53 and Lats2 cooperate via Mdm2 in preventing tetraploidization upon spindle defects.⁸⁹
- d. Wnt-1 is a member of a family of cysteine-rich, glycosylated signaling proteins that intervene in diverse developmental processes ranging from the control of cell proliferation, adhesion, cell polarity, to the establishment of cell fates. Alterations of Wnts are associated with carcinogenesis. Wnt-1 transgenic mice crossed into p53^{-/-} nullizygosity develop mammary tumors with increased genomic instability, aneuploidy, amplifications and deletions.¹⁸
- e. p73 is another member of the p53 family that contributes to the maintenance of genomic integrity. Mouse cells that harbor deletions in both p53 and p73 are marked by a higher degree of polyploidy and aneuploidy than the one observed in p53 null cells. Its role is detailed in the next part.

Introduction to p73

20 years after p53 was discovered, two structurally similar genes—p63 and p73—were discovered and placed into the same family. Initially thought to be tumor suppressors like p53, these two proteins proved to have a more complicated and intriguing behavior. Structurally, p63 and p73 have in common with p53 an amino-terminal transactivation domain, a highly conserved central DNA binding domain and a carboxy-terminal tetramerization domain. In overexpression studies, p63 and p73 can function as sequence-specific transcription factors that activate expression of genes containing p53-binding sites (like Bax and p21).^{90,91} Moreover, tumor-associated stress signals (i.e., deregulated oncogenes and DNA damage) that activate p53 also induce p73.⁹¹ However, p53 and p73 are not functionally equivalent in vivo. While p53 plays a clear role in tumor suppression, p73 has long eluded efforts to place it into a defined category of cancer biology. Indeed, p53 null mice are highly tumor-susceptible but show no major developmental defects. In contrast, p73-deficient mice show defects in neuronal development and immune function, with the majority of animals dying within 2 months after birth due to chronic infection.⁹² p63-deficient mice show epithelial defects with absence of skin, hair, truncated or absent limbs, craniofacial malformations and perinatal death due to desiccation.⁹³ Although p73 null mice were originally reported as not tumor prone,⁹² a more recent re-analysis of ageing p53^{+/-}p73^{+/-} mice (as well as a small number of p53^{+/+}p73^{-/-} and p53^{+/+}p73^{+/-} mice) did reveal an elevated incidence of microscopic carcinomas, T-lymphomas and sarcomas and increased metastatic ability, compared to p53^{+/-}mice. Moreover, these tumors underwent loss of heterozygosity and loss of the remaining wtp73 allele. Thus, heterozygous loss of p73 increases the p53-dependent tumor phenotype in severity, frequency and breadth of tumor spectrum.⁹⁴ The latter result suggests that p73 acts as a tumor suppressor in certain tissues.⁹⁴ In the same study, an increase in tumor burden and spectrum was noticed in ageing p63^{+/-} p73^{+/-} mice.

On the other hand, p63 and p73 do not contribute to gamma irradiation-induced p53-mediated T-cell lymphoma suppression in vivo.⁹⁵ Moreover, in a different p63 KO mouse strain, Mills et al obtained a different result: no signs of malignancy, but accelerated aging instead.⁹⁶

The story gets even more complicated in the analysis of human tumors. Unlike the clear picture that p53 offers with mostly inactivating mutations or rarely deletions in more than 50% of human cancers, p63 or p73 inactivating mutations are rarely found in human tumors.^{97,98} One major reason for the lack of clear interpretability lies in the complex gene loci of p63 and p73, which produces two classes of isoforms with opposing activities. Thus, splice variants of p63/p73 exist that lack the N-terminal transactivation domains (ΔN p63/p73) and may function to interfere with the activity of their full-length counterparts (TA p63/p73).^{91,99} Splice variations in the C-terminus adds another layer of isoforms (named α , β , γ , etc.) in the already extensive family.¹⁰⁰ The longest α variant of p63 and p73 contains a sterile- α motif (SAM), a known protein-protein interaction domain.¹⁰¹

Thus, multiple primary tumor types and tumor cell lines overexpress these genes and often concomitantly the TA as well as the reportedly oncogenic ΔNp isoforms (see below).^{100,102} Numerous studies highlight the oncogenic potential of $\Delta Np63$ in skin, the main isoform grossly overexpressed in human squamous cell carcinoma, including its clinical correlation to poor prognosis.¹⁰³ However, other tumor types (mainly some lymphomas and leukemias) show loss or reduced levels of p63 and/or p73.⁹⁸

Further complicating the picture is a potential interference with p73 activity by mutant forms of p53, which might contribute to cancer development in vivo.^{22,23,104}

p73 Functions

Although cancer cells deficient for p53 are more resistant to chemotherapy, they are still responsive to drugs, suggesting that other pro-apoptotic pathways are also involved. One of these rescue pathways might be mediated by the activation of p73. Thus, the majority of studies on p73 focused on its pro-apoptotic role. Based mostly on overexpression studies, it is thought that TAp73 has p53-like functions, while Δ Np73 isoforms have an opposing inhibitory role. When ectopically overexpressed, TAp73 can replace p53 in various cancer cell lines and induce apoptosis, cell cycle arrest and DNA repair by activating effectors like Bax, p53AIP1,¹⁰⁵ p21, GADD45, 14-3-3 σ and p53R2.¹⁰⁶ However, while common promoters for p53 and p73 are numerous, differentially sensitive genes also exist.¹⁰⁷

TAp73 participates in apoptosis and growth suppression in p53 null cells in response to DNA damage (chemotherapeutic drugs or γ -irradiation) or oncogenic stress (E2F1, cMyc, E1A).¹⁰⁷ In response to cisplatin, the apoptosis-inducing function of p73 is regulated by the c-Abl kinase and the mismatch-repair system.¹⁰⁸ Moreover, as part of normal T-cell development and selection, E2F1-p73 pathway induces cell death in response to T-cell receptor activation.¹⁰⁹ Consistently, in

radiation-induced mouse T-cell lymphomas, the p73 locus undergoes LOH in 33% of the cases.¹¹⁰ Flores et al showed transcriptional cooperation between p53 and either p63 or p73 in inducing apoptotic effector genes in E1A-expressing MEFs and primary neuronal cells.¹¹¹ In their experiments, adriamycin-induced death was dependent on the copresence of at least two of the family members. While the expression of p21 (cell cycle arrest related protein) was not changed, the expression of Bax, Noxa and PERP was suppressed in p63^{-/-}p73^{-/-} MEFs that were still p53^{+/+}.

The Role of p73 in Genomic Stability

Using genetically defined primary MEFs, we recently showed that p73 indeed plays an intriguing and unique role in genomic integrity that is manifested when p53 is lost. Isolated p73 loss does not induce genomic instability but instead results in impaired proliferation, transformation and premature senescence due to compensatory constitutive activation of p53. Combined loss of p73 and p53 completely rescues these defects, but at the expense of markedly exacerbating genomic instability. This leads to a rapid increase in polyploidy and aneuploidy, markedly exceeding that of p53 loss alone. Constitutive deregulation of Cyclin-Cdk and p27/Kip1 activities and excess failure of the G2/M DNA damage checkpoint fuel the increased ploidy abnormalities, while primary mitotic defects do not play a causal role. Thus, interference with p73 function—in the absence of protective mechanisms provided by p53—markedly exacerbates polyploidy and random loss or gain of chromosomes.¹¹² Of note, in human tumors concomitant inactivation of p53 and p73 often co-exist.¹⁰² Below are highlights of our results:

Combined Loss of p53 and p73 Leads to Excess Polyploidy and Aneuploidy

When assayed on the 3T3 protocol, WT and p73^{-/-} MEFs retained diploid status throughout their lifespan until they senesced at passage 7 and 4, respectively (Fig. 1). On the other hand, p53^{-/-} MEFs (SKO) show a gradual increase in hyperdiploid cells with passaging, while also preserving significant diploidy (Fig. 1).^{28,68} In contrast, the majority of freshly isolated p53^{-/-}p73^{-/-} (DKO) MEFs were already hyperdiploid and after only 5 passages, virtually all cells were tetraploid and octaploid (Fig. 1). By FACS quantitation at p5, DKOs showed 88% aneuploidy and only 12% diploidy, in contrast to SKOs with 41% aneuploidy and 59% diploidy. Since each passage corresponds to 3 population doublings, we calculated that at least 5% of DKO cells, but only 2.5% of SKO cells lost their diploid status with each round of cell division. Thus, DKO cells have twice the rate of polyploidization than SKO cells.

By SKY (Spectral Karyotype Analysis) analysis at p7, DKO cells had the lowest diploid populations (only 2% with 2n) (n = 20 chrom. in mouse cells), but the highest polyploidy and aneuploidy (98% with 4n + >4n and 36% with >4n) (Fig. 2A). In contrast, SKOs had an intermediate phenotype, while WT cells were diploid. Most strikingly, extreme cases of DKOs were readily detectable with cells containing >300-400 chromosomes, a phenotype never seen in SKOs of the same passage (Fig. 2B). Notably, freshly isolated thymoctes from a young, healthy DKO mouse already contained a small (6%) but definite subpopulation of triploid normal T-cells, in contrast to its age-matched p53^{-/-} control that had none, supporting polyploidization in vivo and in another tissue (not shown).

Thus, loss pf p73 in normal young thymocytes in vivo may have an impact on genomic stability. Human lymphomas can be triploid or near triploid, see reference 114.¹¹³ Most DKO MEFs also contained unequal chromosome numbers by SKY (aneuploidy), reflected by the broad spread obtained when metaphases were quantitated for individual chromosomes (Fig. 2C). However, chromosomal translocations were rare in SKO and DKO. Thus, while p73 is not sufficient to completely prevent polyploidy upon p53 loss, it clearly acts to prevent further genomic destabilization.

The Ploidy Defect Is Not Due to a Mitotic Defect but a Failure of Premitotic Mechanisms

Polyploidy can be caused by several means that uncouple DNA replication from mitotic completion.⁴⁰ We therefore scrutinized the mitotic competence of DKOs, but found no intrinsic mitotic defects. First, concerning centrosome hyperamplification (2 being normal), DKOs had a



Figure 1. DNA histograms of freshly isolated WT, $p73^{-/-}$, $p53^{-/-}$ and DKO MEFs passaged on the 3T3 protocol. Number of passages in culture is indicated on the right. Ploidy (2n, 4n, 8n) is indicated.

better, rather than a worse phenotype compared to SKOs (Fig. 3A). Second, p7 DKOs were mainly mononucleated and had the lowest number of cells with two or more nuclei (Fig. 3A). Third, DKOs, when forced to undergo chromosomal segregation, showed no mitotic defects. To this end, cells were synchronized by mitotic spindle inhibitor nocodazole (which induced mainly tetraploidy in SKOs and tetraploidy and octaploidy in DKOs) and then released into media containing a G1/S roadblock (imposed by L-mimosine, hydroxyurea (HU) or aphidicolin) (see Fig. 3B). Both genotypes—since they could not go forward—went straight back through a proper mitosis within 4 hrs after release and regained their original ploidy. This was confirmed by direct visualization of chromosome condensation that follows real-time mitotic progression via GFP-tagged histone H2B (Fig. 3B). Thus, p73 loss does not cause defects in the centrosome duplication cycle, mitotic spindle checkpoint, karyokinesis and cytokinesis.

Excess Failure of the G2/M DNA Damage Checkpoint and Constitutive Deregulation of Cyclin-Cdk and p27/Kip1 Fuel Aberrant Ploidy upon p73 Loss

CDK-Cyclins are the driving force of the cell cycle. To determine if and where in the cycle DKOs are defective, we looked for CDK deregulation in cycling DKOs only subject to endogenous DNA damage (endogenous ROS modifies ~ 20,000 bases/day/cell).¹¹⁴ Compared to SKOs, DKOs indeed have a higher and longer peak of Cyclin E-Cdk2 activity in early S and an elevated







Figure 3. A) Total number of centrosomes (determined by γ -tubulin staining) and nuclei (determined by Hoechst staining) per cell in WT, p53^{-/-} and DKO cells at passage 7. For each genotype, >500 random cells were counted. DKO cells have an improved centrosomal phenotype and are predominantly mononucleated. B) DNA histograms of p53^{-/-} and DKO MEFs at passage 7 treated with nocodazole for 12 hrs, washed out and then released into media containing the G1/S blocker L-mimosine. Both genotypes recover their original ploidy within 4 hours (i.e., 2n for p5^{-/-} MEFs and 4n for DKO cells), indicating that they had passed through a proper mitosis.

Cyclin A-Cdk2 activity in late S (Fig. 4A). Most importantly, DKOs show uncoordinated and premature collapse of Cyclin B-Cdk1 activity, leaving insufficient levels to go through mitosis. We identified that the source of CDK deregulation are not Cdks or Cyclins themselves but constitutively elevated p27/Kip1 (Fig. 4B). p27 acts as a positive regulator of early phase Cyclin E-Cdk2^{115,116} but a negative regulator of late phase Cyclin B1-Cdk1.¹¹⁷ DKOs have constitutively elevated p27 levels in all phases of the cycle (Fig. 4B) and more p27 bound to Cyclin B-Cdk1 in G2M (not shown). As a consequence, since entry into mitosis depends on sufficient Cyclin B-Cdk1 activity,¹¹⁸ more DKOs than SKOs are blocked from entering mitosis. Thus, many more DKOs skip mitosis and are reset from G2 back to G1, enabling another round of replication.^{40,118} Together with the deregulated S phase, these events contribute to twice the polyploidization rate of p73-deficient DKOs. Of note, deregulated p27Kip1 and Cyclin E drive polyploidization of normal tissues in vivo. E.g., constitutively elevated p27 levels in Skp2 null mice, a component of the SCF ubiquitin-proteolysis system which degrades p27, causes excess polyploidization in many tissues and this is exclusively due to their p27 abnormality, since $p27^{-/-}$ Skp2^{-/-} double knock-out mice rescue this phenotype completely.^{119,120} Also, Cyclin E^{-/-} embryos lack normally polyploid megakaryocytes and trophoblasts. Conversely, overexpressed Cyclin E drives non-endoreplicating megakaryoblasts into endomitosis.^{121,122} Of note, in our system, retroviral overexpression of Cyclin E and its corresponding Cdk2 in p53^{-/-} cells altered (impaired) the G2 checkpoint to resemble the one of DKO cells (not shown).

The G2M checkpoint is critical because it is the last barrier before mitotic division for cells with wrongly replicated or damaged DNA. Also, polyploid cells are prevented from re-entering mitosis through engagement of the G2M checkpoint.^{44,123} Conversely, a defective G2 checkpoint in itself can cause polyploidy and aneuploidy after DNA damage, because cells with inadequate DNA repair in G2 proceed into a catastrophic mitosis, where massive bridging prevents chromosome segregation from which they will exit as polyploid/aneuploid G1 progeny.^{44,123} p73-proficient SKOs respond to the DNA damaging G2 inhibitors adriamycin and VM26 with a robust S/G2 block. In contrast, DKOs fail to mount an effective G2M checkpoint and instead continue cell cycle progression, accumulating a large proportion of octaploid cells that enter mitosis (Fig. 5A,B). Conversely, retroviral re-introduction of TAp73α, the major TAp73 isoform in MEFs, re-establishes an efficient S/G2 arrest in VM26- and adriamycin-treated DKOs (Fig. 5C).









The G2M checkpoint is controlled through the ATM/Chk/Cdc25 pathway that blocks Cdk activity.¹²⁴ Indeed, while SKO dropped their Cdk1 activity upon VM26, DKOs increased and maintained high levels of Cdk1, enabling DKOs with misreplicated and damaged DNA to exit G2M and enter mitosis (not shown). In contrast, dominant negative mutants of Cdk2 (D145N), Cdk1 (D146N) or Cdc25A (C430S), or pharmacologic Cdk1/2 and Cdc25 inhibitors significantly blocked further polyploidization of DKOs upon DNA damage (data not shown). In sum, this indicates that p73 activates a G2M DNA damage checkpoint.

Conclusion

The exact mechanism by which p73 influences the G2M checkpoint, including its effects on Chk1/Chk2 activity, requires further elucidation. Recent studies identified CDK inhibitors p21Cip1 and p57Kip2 as targets of p73 regulation.^{125,126} Although p73 affects expression of these cell cycle regulatory proteins, it is unlikely that variations in the expression levels of a limited number of genes could account for the observed dramatic phenotype resulting from p73 loss. Being a chromatin accessibility factor, p53 contributes to the DNA repair processes by both transcription-dependent and transcription-independent mechanisms.^{42,53} Likewise, it is conceivable that transcription-dependent and transcription-independent mechanisms also contribute to the p73-loss-induced phenotype.

Indeed, comparing cell cycles of primary cells, p73-deficient DKO MEFs exhibit a significant increase of DNA replication over p53^{-/-} MEFs, associated with a constitutively deregulated S-phase Cdk2 activity. Recent studies underscore a critical role of the Rb tumor suppressor in maintaining chromatin structure and in DNA-damage checkpoint signaling in S-phase.¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹ Notably, Rb-null rodent cells are polyploid even in the presence of wild-type p53.127,129 The mechanism of this Rb activity remains unknown, although it appears to be E2F-independent and therefore transcription-independent.¹²⁹ Because a constitutively elevated Cdk2 activity would result in rapid Rb inactivation with dire consequences for the genomic stability of cells, a potential role of Rb in generating the p73-deficient phenotype needs to be addressed by future genetic and biochemical studies. In our study, reintroduction of TAp73 α —but not of Δ Np73 α —re-established an efficient G2M arrest upon adriamycin and VM26 in DKO MEFs. However, both TA and ΔN isoforms in isolation had minimal effects on polyploidization of DKO cells when passaged on the 3T3 protocol (data not shown), suggesting that a combination of isoforms in the right proportion might be necessary to completely rescue the DKO phenotype. The possible involvement of each of the p73 isoforms in maintenance of genomic stability and tumor suppression requires further investigation. The importance of p73 for genomic stability in the context of human tumors can only be addressed in correlational studies between expression of different p73 isoforms in human tumors and their degree of polyploidy/aneuploidy. Finally, generation of isoform-specific p73 knock-in mice should give insights to the most stringent question: what is the contribution of each isoform to tumor suppression/development? Answering this question will also contribute to the ultimate goal of studying p73: modulation of p73 levels in human tumors in order to activate p73-dependent apoptosis and cell cycle checkpoints.

References

- 1. Lane DP. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature 1992; 358(6381):15-6.
- 2. Levine AJ. p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell 1997; 88(3):323-31.
- 3. Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ. Surfing the p53 network. Nature 2000; 408(6810):307-10.
- 4. Arai M, Shimizu S, Imai Y et al. Mutations of the Ki-ras, p53 and APC genes in adenocarcinomas of the human small intestine. Int J Cancer 1997; 70(4):390-5.
- 5. Bressac B, Kew M, Wands J et al. Selective G to T mutations of p53 gene in hepatocellular carcinoma from southern Africa. Nature 1991; 350(6317):429-31.
- Chen SJ, Wang Q, Tong JH et al. Monoallelic deletions of the P53 gene in Chinese patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia in blastic crisis. Nouv Rev Fr Hematol 1991; 33(6):481-4.
- Fagin JA, Matsuo K, Karmakar A et al. High prevalence of mutations of the p53 gene in poorly differentiated human thyroid carcinomas. J Clin Invest 1993; 91(1):179-84.

- Oda H, Zhang S, Tsurutani N et al. Loss of p53 is an early event in induction of brain tumors in mice by transplacental carcinogen exposure. Cancer Res 1997; 57(4):646-50.
- 9. Hung J, Mims B, Lozano G et al. TP53 mutation and haplotype analysis of two large African American families. Hum Mutat 1999; 14(3):216-21.
- 10. Law JC, Strong LC, Chidambaram A et al. A germ line mutation in exon 5 of the p53 gene in an extended cancer family. Cancer Res 1991; 51(23 Pt 1):6385-7.
- 11. Malkin D, Li FP, Strong LC et al. Germ line p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas and other neoplasms. Science 1990; 250(4985):1233-8.
- 12. Donehower LA, Harvey M, Slagle BL et al. Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. Nature 1992; 356(6366):215-21.
- 13. Kemp CJ, Wheldon T, Balmain A. p53-deficient mice are extremely susceptible to radiation-induced tumorigenesis. Nat Genet 1994; 8(1):66-9.
- Donehower LA, Harvey M, Vogel H et al. Effects of genetic background on tumorigenesis in p53-deficient mice. Mol Carcinog 1995; 14(1):16-22.
- Harvey M, Sands AT, Weiss RS et al. In vitro growth characteristics of embryo fibroblasts isolated from p53-deficient mice. Oncogene 1993; 8(9):2457-67.
- Purdie CA, Harrison DJ, Peter A et al. Tumour incidence, spectrum and ploidy in mice with a large deletion in the p53 gene. Oncogene 1994; 9(2):603-9.
- 17. Elson A, Deng C, Campos-Torres J et al. The MMTV/c-myc transgene and p53 null alleles collaborate to induce T-cell lymphomas, but not mammary carcinomas in transgenic mice. Oncogene 1995; 11(1):181-90.
- Blyth K, Terry A, O'Hara M et al. Synergy between a human c-myc transgene and p53 null genotype in murine thymic lymphomas: contrasting effects of homozygous and heterozygous p53 loss. Oncogene 1995; 10(9):1717-23.
- Rong S, Donehower LA, Hansen MF et al. Met proto-oncogene product is overexpressed in tumors of p53-deficient mice and tumors of Li-Fraumeni patients. Cancer Res 1995; 55(9):1963-70.
- Donehower LA, Godley LA, Aldaz CM et al. Deficiency of p53 accelerates mammary tumorigenesis in Wnt-1 transgenic mice and promotes chromosomal instability. Genes Dev 1995; 9(7):882-95.
- Thompson TC, Park SH, Timme TL et al. Loss of p53 function leads to metastasis in ras+myc-initiated mouse prostate cancer. Oncogene 1995; 10(5):869-79.
- 22. Olive KP, Tuveson DA, Ruhe ZC et al. Mutant p53 gain of function in two mouse models of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell 2004; 119(6):847-60.
- 23. Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh YA et al. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell 2004; 119(6):861-72.
- 24. Wahl GM, Linke SP, Paulson TG et al. Maintaining genetic stability through TP53 mediated checkpoint control. Cancer Surv 1997; 29:183-219.
- Agarwal ML, Agarwal A, Taylor WR et al. p53 controls both the G2/M and the G1 cell cycle checkpoints and mediates reversible growth arrest in human fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92(18):8493-7.
- Smith KA, Agarwal ML, Chernov MV et al. Regulation and mechanisms of gene amplification. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1995; 347(1319):49-56.
- 27. Stewart N, Hicks GG, Paraskevas F et al. Evidence for a second cell cycle block at G2/M by p53. Oncogene 1995; 10(1):109-15.
- Cross SM, Sanchez CA, Morgan CA et al. A p53-dependent mouse spindle checkpoint. Science 1995; 267(5202):1353-6.
- Fukasawa K, Choi T, Kuriyama R et al. Abnormal centrosome amplification in the absence of p53. Science 1996; 271(5256):1744-7.
- Almasan A, Linke SP, Paulson TG et al. Genetic instability as a consequence of inappropriate entry into and progression through S-phase. Cancer Metastasis Rev 1995; 14(1):59-73.
- Almasan A, Yin Y, Kelly RE et al. Deficiency of retinoblastoma protein leads to inappropriate S-phase entry, activation of E2F-responsive genes and apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92(12):5436-40.
- 32. Abraham RT. Cell cycle checkpoint signaling through the ATM and ATR kinases. Genes Dev 2001; 15(17):2177-96.
- Motoyama N, Naka K. DNA damage tumor suppressor genes and genomic instability. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2004; 14(1):11-6.
- 34. Sengupta S, Linke SP, Pedeux R et al. BLM helicase-dependent transport of p53 to sites of stalled DNA replication forks modulates homologous recombination. EMBO J 2003; 22(5):1210-22.
- Sengupta S, Shimamoto A, Koshiji M et al. Tumor suppressor p53 represses transcription of RECQ4 helicase. Oncogene 2005; 24(10):1738-48.

- Tibbetts RS, Brumbaugh KM, Williams JM et al. A role for ATR in the DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53. Genes Dev 1999; 13(2):152-7.
- Tibbetts RS, Cortez D, Brumbaugh KM et al. Functional interactions between BRCA1 and the checkpoint kinase ATR during genotoxic stress. Genes Dev 2000; 14(23):2989-3002.
- Squires S, Coates JA, Goldberg M et al. p53 prevents the accumulation of double-strand DNA breaks at stalled-replication forks induced by UV in human cells. Cell Cycle 2004; 3(12):1543-57.
- 39. Schwartz D, Rotter V. p53-dependent cell cycle control: response to genotoxic stress. Semin Cancer Biol 1998; 8(5):325-36.
- 40. Taylor WR, Stark GR. Regulation of the G2/M transition by p53. Oncogene 2001; 20(15):1803-15.
- 41. Kastan MB, Onyekwere O, Sidransky D et al. Participation of p53 protein in the cellular response to DNA damage. Cancer Res 1991; 51(23 Pt 1):6304-11.
- 42. Sengupta S, Harris CC. p53: traffic cop at the crossroads of DNA repair and recombination. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005; 6(1):44-55.
- 43. Di Leonardo A, Khan SH, Linke SP et al. DNA rereplication in the presence of mitotic spindle inhibitors in human and mouse fibroblasts lacking either p53 or pRb function. Cancer Res 1997; 57(6):1013-9.
- 44. Lanni JS, Jacks T. Characterization of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint following spindle disruption. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18(2):1055-64.
- 45. Ford JM, Hanawalt PC. Li-Fraumeni syndrome fibroblasts homozygous for p53 mutations are deficient in global DNA repair but exhibit normal transcription-coupled repair and enhanced UV resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92(19):8876-80.
- Frank KM, Sekiguchi JM, Seidl KJ et al. Late embryonic lethality and impaired V(D)J recombination in mice lacking DNA ligase IV. Nature 1998; 396(6707):173-7.
- Gao Y, Ferguson DO, Xie W et al. Interplay of p53 and DNA-repair protein XRCC4 in tumorigenesis, genomic stability and development. Nature 2000; 404(6780):897-900.
- Gao Y, Sun Y, Frank KM et al. A critical role for DNA end-joining proteins in both lymphogenesis and neurogenesis. Cell 1998; 95(7):891-902.
- 49. Mummenbrauer T, Janus F, Muller B et al. p53 Protein exhibits 3'-to-5' exonuclease activity. Cell 1996; 85(7):1089-99.
- 50. Fortunato EA, Spector DH. p53 and RPA are sequestered in viral replication centers in the nuclei of cells infected with human cytomegalovirus. J Virol 1998; 72(3):2033-9.
- 51. Sturzbecher HW, Donzelmann B, Henning W et al. p53 is linked directly to homologous recombination processes via RAD51/RecA protein interaction. EMBO J 1996; 15(8):1992-2002.
- Linke SP, Sengupta S, Khabie N et al. p53 interacts with hRAD51 and hRAD54 and directly modulates homologous recombination. Cancer Res 2003; 63(10):2596-605.
- Bertrand P, Saintigny Y, Lopez BS. p53's double life: transactivation-independent repression of homologous recombination. Trends Genet 2004; 20(6):235-43.
- 54. Bishop AJ, Hollander MC, Kosaras B et al. Atm-, p53- and Gadd45a-deficient mice show an increased frequency of homologous recombination at different stages during development. Cancer Res 2003; 63(17):5335-43.
- 55. Zhou BB, Elledge SJ. The DNA damage response: putting checkpoints in perspective. Nature 2000; 408(6811):433-9.
- Kops GJ, Weaver BA, Cleveland DW. On the road to cancer: aneuploidy and the mitotic checkpoint. Nat Rev Cancer 2005; 5(10):773-85.
- Margolis RL, Lohez OD, Andreassen PR. G1 tetraploidy checkpoint and the suppression of tumorigenesis. J Cell Biochem 2003; 88(4):673-83.
- Shi Q, King RW. Chromosome nondisjunction yields tetraploid rather than aneuploid cells in human cell lines. Nature 2005; 437(7061):1038-42.
- 59. Ganem NJ, Storchova Z, Pellman D. Tetraploidy, aneuploidy and cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2007; 17(2):157-62.
- 60. Pellman D. Cell biology: aneuploidy and cancer. Nature 2007; 446(7131):38-9.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M et al. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437(7061):1043-7.
- 62. Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5(1):45-54.
- 63. Comai L. The advantages and disadvantages of being polyploid. Nat Rev Genet 2005; 6(11):836-46.
- Fausto N, Campbell JS. The role of hepatocytes and oval cells in liver regeneration and repopulation. Mech Dev 2003; 120(1):117-30.
- 65. Gupta S. Hepatic polyploidy and liver growth control. Semin Cancer Biol 2000; 10(3):161-71.
- 66. Vliegen HW, Eulderink F, Bruschke AV et al. Polyploidy of myocyte nuclei in pressure overloaded human hearts: a flow cytometric study in left and right ventricular myocardium. Am J Cardiovasc Pathol 1995; 5(1):27-31.

- 67. Oberringer M, Lothschutz D, Jennewein M et al. Centrosome multiplication accompanies a transient clustering of polyploid cells during tissue repair. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun 1999; 2(3):190-6.
- Notterman D, Young S, Wainger B et al. Prevention of mammalian DNA reduplication, following the release from the mitotic spindle checkpoint, requires p53 protein, but not p53-mediated transcriptional activity. Oncogene 1998; 17(21):2743-51.
- 69. Mortimer RK. Radiobiological and genetic studies on a polyploid series (haploid to hexaploid) of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Radiat Res 1958; 9(3):312-26.
- Kato N, Lam E. Chromatin of endoreduplicated pavement cells has greater range of movement than that of diploid guard cells in Arabidopsis thaliana. J Cell Sci 2003; 116(Pt 11):2195-201.
- 71. Verstraeten VL, Broers JL, Ramaekers FC et al. The nuclear envelope, a key structure in cellular integrity and gene expression. Curr Med Chem 2007; 14(11):1231-48.
- Mayer VW, Aguilera A. High levels of chromosome instability in polyploids of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mutat Res 1990; 231(2):177-86.
- Molnar M, Sipiczki M. Polyploidy in the haplontic yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe: construction and analysis of strains. Curr Genet 1993; 24(1-2):45-52.
- Hau PM, Siu WY, Wong N et al. Polyploidization increases the sensitivity to DNA-damaging agents in mammalian cells. FEBS letters 2006; 580(19):4727-36.
- 75. Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA. Aurora-A overexpression reveals tetraploidization as a major route to centrosome amplification in p53-/- cells. EMBO J 2002; 21(4):483-92.
- 76. Ring D, Hubble R, Kirschner M. Mitosis in a cell with multiple centrioles. J Cell Biol 1982; 94(3):549-56.
- 77. Andreassen PR, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Tetraploid state induces p53-dependent arrest of nontransformed mammalian cells in G1. Mol Biol Cell 2001; 12(5):1315-28.
- 78. Margolis RL. Tetraploidy and tumor development. Cancer Cell 2005; 8(5):353-4.
- Duensing A, Duensing S. Guilt by association? p53 and the development of aneuploidy in cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 331(3):694-700.
- Uetake Y, Sluder G. Cell cycle progression after cleavage failure: mammalian somatic cells do not possess a "tetraploidy checkpoint". J Cell Biol 2004; 165(5):609-15.
- Wong C, Stearns T. Mammalian cells lack checkpoints for tetraploidy, aberrant centrosome number and cytokinesis failure. BMC Cell Biol 2005; 6(1):6.
- Borel F, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Multiple centrosomes arise from tetraploidy checkpoint failure and mitotic centrosome clusters in p53 and RB pocket protein-compromised cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99(15):9819-24.
- Attardi LD, Donehower LA. Probing p53 biological functions through the use of genetically engineered mouse models. Mutat Res 2005; 576(1-2):4-21.
- 84. Frank KM, Sharpless NE, Gao Y et al. DNA ligase IV deficiency in mice leads to defective neurogenesis and embryonic lethality via the p53 pathway. Mol Cell 2000; 5(6):993-1002.
- Lee Y, Barnes DE, Lindahl T et al. Defective neurogenesis resulting from DNA ligase IV deficiency requires Atm. Genes Dev 2000; 14(20):2576-80.
- Sugawara N, Paques F, Colaiacovo M et al. Role of Saccharomyces cerevisiae Msh2 and Msh3 repair proteins in double-strand break-induced recombination. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94(17):9214-9.
- Cranston A, Bocker T, Reitmair A et al. Female embryonic lethality in mice nullizygous for both Msh2 and p53. Nat Genet 1997; 17(1):114-8.
- Strathdee G, Sansom OJ, Sim A et al. A role for mismatch repair in control of DNA ploidy following DNA damage. Oncogene 2001; 20(15):1923-7.
- Aylon Y, Michael D, Shmueli A et al. A positive feedback loop between the p53 and Lats2 tumor suppressors prevents tetraploidization. Genes Dev 2006; 20(19):2687-700.
- Zhu J, Jiang J, Zhou W et al. The potential tumor suppressor p73 differentially regulates cellular p53 target genes. Cancer Res 1998; 58(22):5061-5.
- 91. Zaika A, Irwin M, Sansome C et al. Oncogenes induce and activate endogenous p73 protein. J Biol Chem 2001; 276(14):11310-6.
- Yang A, Walker N, Bronson R et al. p73-deficient mice have neurological, pheromonal and inflammatory defects but lack spontaneous tumours. Nature 2000; 404(6773):99-103.
- Mills AA, Zheng B, Wang XJ et al. p63 is a p53 homologue required for limb and epidermal morphogenesis. Nature 1999; 398(6729):708-13.
- 94. Flores ER, Sengupta S, Miller JB et al. Tumor predisposition in mice mutant for p63 and p73: evidence for broader tumor suppressor functions for the p53 family. Cancer Cell 2005; 7(4):363-73.
- Perez-Losada J, Wu D, DelRosario R et al. p63 and p73 do not contribute to p53-mediated lymphoma suppressor activity in vivo. Oncogene 2005; 24(35):5521-4.
- Keyes WM, Wu Y, Vogel H et al. p63 deficiency activates a program of cellular senescence and leads to accelerated aging. Genes Dev 2005; 19(17):1986-99.

- 97. Nozaki M, Tada M, Kashiwazaki H et al. p73 is not mutated in meningiomas as determined with a functional yeast assay but p73 expression increases with tumor grade. Brain Pathol 2001; 11(3):296-305.
- Moll UM, Erster S, Zaika A. p53, p63 and p73—solos, alliances and feuds among family members. Biochim Biophys Acta 2001; 1552(2):47-59.
- 99. Levrero M, De Laurenzi V, Costanzo A et al. The p53/p63/p73 family of transcription factors: overlapping and distinct functions. J Cell Sci 2000; 113 (Pt 10):1661-70.
- 100. Melino G, De Laurenzi V, Vousden KH. p73: Friend or foe in tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 2002; 2(8):605-15.
- 101. Melino G, Lu X, Gasco M et al. Functional regulation of p73 and p63: development and cancer. Trends Biochem Sci 2003; 28(12):663-70.
- 102. Concin N, Becker K, Slade N et al. Transdominant DeltaTAp73 isoforms are frequently up-regulated in ovarian cancer. Evidence for their role as epigenetic p53 inhibitors in vivo. Cancer Res 2004; 64(7):2449-60.
- 103. Massion PP, Taflan PM, Jamshedur Rahman SM et al. Significance of p63 amplification and overexpression in lung cancer development and prognosis. Cancer Res 2003; 63(21):7113-21.
- 104. Marin MC, Jost CA, Brooks LA et al. A common polymorphism acts as an intragenic modifier of mutant p53 behaviour. Nat Genet 2000; 25(1):47-54.
- 105. Costanzo A, Merlo P, Pediconi N et al. DNA damage-dependent acetylation of p73 dictates the selective activation of apoptotic target genes. Mol Cell 2002; 9(1):175-86.
- Vayssade M, Haddada H, Faridoni-Laurens L et al. P73 functionally replaces p53 in Adriamycin-treated, p53-deficient breast cancer cells. Int J Cancer 2005; 116(6):860-9.
- 107. Moll UM. The Role of p63 and p73 in tumor formation and progression: coming of age toward clinical usefulness. Commentary re: F Koga et al, Impaired p63 expression associates with poor prognosis and uroplakin III expression in invasive urothelial carcinoma of the bladder. Clin Cancer Res 2003; 9:5501-5507; and P Puig et al. p73 Expression in human normal and tumor tissues: loss of p73alpha expression is associated with tumor progression in bladder Cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2003; 9:5642-5651. Clin Cancer Res 2003; 9(15):5437-41.
- 108. Gong JG, Costanzo A, Yang HQ et al. The tyrosine kinase c-Abl regulates p73 in apoptotic response to cisplatin-induced DNA damage. Nature 1999; 399(6738):806-9.
- 109. Lissy NA, Davis PK, Irwin M et al. A common E2F-1 and p73 pathway mediates cell death induced by TCR activation. Nature 2000; 407(6804):642-5.
- 110. Herranz M, Santos J, Salido E et al. Mouse p73 gene maps to the distal part of chromosome 4 and might be involved in the progression of gamma-radiation-induced T-cell lymphomas. Cancer Res 1999; 59(9):2068-71.
- 111. Flores ER, Tsai KY, Crowley D et al. p63 and p73 are required for p53-dependent apoptosis in response to DNA damage. Nature 2002; 416(6880):560-4.
- 112. Talos F, Nemajerova A, Flores ER et al. p73 Suppresses Polyploidy and Aneuploidy in the Absence of Functional p53. Mol Cell 2007; 27(4):647-59.
- 113. Watanabe A, Inokuchi K, Yamaguchi H et al. Near-triploidy and near-tetraploidy in hematological malignancies and mutation of the p53 gene. Clin Lab Haematol 2004; 26(1):25-30.
- 114. Feijoo C, Hall-Jackson C, Wu R et al. Activation of mammalian Chk1 during DNA replication arrest: a role for Chk1 in the intra-S phase checkpoint monitoring replication origin firing. J Cell Biol 2001; 154(5):913-23.
- 115. Blain SW, Scher HI, Cordon-Cardo C et al. p27 as a target for cancer therapeutics. Cancer Cell 2003; 3(2):111-5.
- 116. Cheng M, Olivier P, Diehl JA et al. The p21(Cip1) and p27(Kip1) CDK 'inhibitors' are essential activators of cyclin D-dependent kinases in murine fibroblasts. EMBO J 1999; 18(6):1571-83.
- 117. Toyoshima H, Hunter T. p27, a novel inhibitor of G1 cyclin-Cdk protein kinase activity, is related to p21. Cell 1994; 78(1):67-74.
- 118. Vassilev LT, Tovar C, Chen S et al. Selective small-molecule inhibitor reveals critical mitotic functions of human CDK1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006; 103(28):10660-5.
- 119. Nakayama K, Nagahama H, Minamishima YA et al. Targeted disruption of Skp2 results in accumulation of cyclin E and p27(Kip1), polyploidy and centrosome overduplication. EMBO J 2000; 19(9):2069-81.
- Kossatz U, Dietrich N, Zender L et al. Skp2-dependent degradation of p27kip1 is essential for cell cycle progression. Genes Dev 2004; 18(21):2602-7.
- 121. Garcia P, Frampton J, Ballester A et al. Ectopic expression of cyclin E allows non-endomitotic megakaryoblastic K562 cells to establish rereplication cycles. Oncogene 2000; 19(14):1820-33.
- 122. Matsumura I, Tanaka H, Kawasaki A et al. Increased D-type cyclin expression together with decreased cdc2 activity confers megakaryocytic differentiation of a human thrombopoietin-dependent hematopoietic cell line. J Biol Chem 2000; 275(8):5553-9.

- 123. Vogel C, Kienitz A, Hofmann I et al. Crosstalk of the mitotic spindle assembly checkpoint with p53 to prevent polyploidy. Oncogene 2004; 23(41):6845-53.
- 124. Bartek J, Lukas J. Chk1 and Chk2 kinases in checkpoint control and cancer. Cancer Cell 2003; 3(5):421-9.
- Blint E, Phillips AC, Kozlov S et al. Induction of p57(KIP2) expression by p73beta. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99(6):3529-34.
- 126. Nozell S, Chen X. p21B, a variant of p21(Waf1/Cip1), is induced by the p53 family. Oncogene 2002; 21(8):1285-94.
- 127. Avni D, Yang H, Martelli F et al. Active localization of the retinoblastoma protein in chromatin and its response to S phase DNA damage. Mol Cell 2003; 12(3):735-46.
- 128. Bosco EE, Mayhew CN, Hennigan RF et al. RB signaling prevents replication-dependent DNA double-strand breaks following genotoxic insult. Nucleic Acids Res 2004; 32(1):25-34.
- 129. Gonzalo S, Garcia-Cao M, Fraga MF et al. Role of the RB1 family in stabilizing histone methylation at constitutive heterochromatin. Nat Cell Biol 2005; 7(4):420-8.
Centrosomes, Polyploidy and Cancer Anette Duensing and Stefan Duensing*

Abstract

ancer cells are frequently characterized by ploidy changes including tetra-, poly- or aneuploidy. At the same time, malignant cells often contain supernumerary centrosomes. Aneuploidy and centrosome alterations are both hallmarks of tumor aggressiveness and increase with malignant progression. It has been proposed that aneuploidy results from a sequence of events in which failed mitoses produce tetra-/polyploid cells that enter a subsequent cell division with an increased number of centrosomes and hence with an increased risk for multipolar spindle formation and chromosome missegregation. Although this model attempts to integrate several common findings in cancer cells, it has been difficult to prove. Findings that centrosome aberrations can arise in diploid cells and the uncertain proliferative potential of polyploid cells suggest that alternative routes to chromosomal instability may exist. We discuss here recent results on centrosome biogenesis and the possible link between ploidy changes, centrosome aberrations and cancer.

Introduction

Genomic instability is a hallmark of cancer and tumor cells frequently contain grossly altered genomes with a tetra-, polyploid or aneuploid chromosomal content.¹ In addition to ploidy changes, the vast majority of cancers harbor tumor cells with abnormal centrosome numbers.²³ Centrosomes function as major microtubule organizing centers in animal and human cells and contribute to the organization of the mitotic spindle.⁴ Aberrant multipolar mitoses have been long recognized as hallmarks of cancer. Whether centrosome aberrations are a cause or consequence of genomic instability, however, is still under debate; it is very likely that both are correct.⁵⁻⁷

The incidence of centrosome aberrations and aneuploidy in many advanced stage malignancies has led to the general belief that abnormal centrosome numbers are a consequence of tetra-/ polyploidy after a failed mitosis. Aneuploidy would be a result of a two-step process in which the accumulated centrosomes in tetraploid cells increase the risk of chromosome missegregation when cells re-enter the cell division cycle.^{6,8} This model attempts to integrate several key findings in tumor cells; however, the question whether cells that have failed cell division once can re-enter mitosis and produce viable and genomically unstable daughter cells has been difficult to prove. This is exemplified by the finding that a fusion of two diploid cells to induce tetraploidy does not necessarily provoke aneuploidy⁹⁻¹¹ and that inactivation of p53 is needed to prompt such outcome.¹² These results leave the possibility that polyploidy and aneuploidy may develop independently, at least at early stages of neoplastic progression when p53 function is often normal. Moreover, tumors can contain numerous cells with aberrant centrosome numbers without signs of ongoing genomic instability¹³ whereas, on the contrary, genomically unstable tumors can contain normal centrosome numbers.¹⁴ Centrosome accumulation after failed mitosis is not the only pathway that

*Corresponding Author: Stefan Duensing—Molecular Virology Program, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Hillman Cancer Center, Research Pavilion Suite 1.8, 5117 Centre Avenue, Pittsburgh, Pennslyvania 15213, USA. Email: duensing@pitt.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. can lead to aberrant centrosome numbers and oncogenic stimuli that rapidly disrupt the centrosome duplication cycle in otherwise normal diploid cells have been identified, for example the human papillomavirus Type 16 (HPV-16) E7 oncoprotein.¹⁵ In addition, there are reports showing that the frequency of centrosome-induced spindle abnormalities in metaphase cells may not be mirrored by a similar increase of such alterations in ana- or telophase, suggesting that many cells undergoing multipolar mitosis are unlikely to ultimately produce daughter cells.¹⁶

This chapter describes distinct mechanisms leading to centrosome amplification and discusses their potential impact on genome integrity. Mechanisms leading to ploidy alterations and possible consequences with respect to centrosome-mediated chromosomal instability are highlighted.

The Centrosome Duplication Cycle

Centrosomes function as major microtubule-organizing centers in most animal and human cells. During mitosis, centrosomes contribute to the organization of the mitotic spindle. Centrosomes have been implicated in various other cellular processes, many of which involve cell polarization.¹⁷ It is noteworthy that centrioles, the core forming units of centrosomes, have important functions in the formation of sensory and motile cilia by forming basal bodies.¹⁸

Centrosomes typically contain two centrioles, short microtubule cylinders that are embedded in pericentriolar material (PCM). Nondividing cells contain a single centrosome which duplicates prior to mitosis in synchrony with the cell division cycle.¹⁹ The morphological changes that occur during this process are well characterized; the molecular basis of centrosome duplication, however, is much less well understood. One molecular player that has recently been identified is separase. This protein is involved in the earliest steps of centrosome duplication, the movement of the two centrioles from a perpendicular arrangement to a near parallel position during G1 phase of the cell division cycle (centriole disengagement).²⁰ During the subsequent S phase, single daughter centrioles form in close proximity to the pre-existing centrioles (mother centrioles). This process involves regulation by Polo-like kinase 4 (PLK4) and HsSAS-6.^{21,22} In addition, cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK2) has been implicated in the regulation of centriole duplication. However, CDK2-deficient cells have no apparent centrosome anomalies²³ but it is possible that compensatory CDKs maintain normal centrosome duplication. Nonetheless, CDK2 is indispensable for oncogene-induced centrosome overduplication.²³The precise role of CDKs and whether they function directly at the centrosome awaits further clarification. At the end of G2 phase, each maternal centriole has nucleated a single daughter centriole and the two centriole pairs separate in late G2. The two centriole pairs now start to move to the opposite spindle poles, which is accompanied by a massive increase of their microtubule-nucleating capacity. The centrosomes then participate in mitotic spindle formation and its three-dimensional orientation. Although mitotic spindles can form without centrosomes,²⁴ there is evidence that the presence of centrosomes is important for proper completion of cell division and the generation of viable progeny.²⁵

In the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, a cascade of events that controls centrosome duplication has been characterized.²⁶⁻²⁸ The process is initiated by CDK2-mediated recruitment of the SPD-2 protein to centrioles. SPD-2 is then involved in the recruitment of the ZYG-1 kinase, which in turn recruits two additional proteins, SAS-5 and SAS-6. The latter two have been implicated in the formation of the central tube, the first step of pro-centriole formation.²⁹ Next, the SAS-4 protein mediates the assembly of microtubules onto the central tube (*C. elegans* centrioles consist of singlet microtubules and not of triplets as in mammalian cells). Although it is conceivable that higher organisms have a more complex network of proteins that regulate centriole biogenesis, recent results suggest a surprisingly high level of conservation.²¹⁻²²

Aberrant Centrosome Numbers in Cancer Cells

Numerical and/or structural centrosome abnormalities have been detected in virtually all human cancers.³⁰ Many cancer cells contain more than the normal one or two centrosomes and such aberrations are easily detected using antibodies against the pericentriolar material such as γ-tubulin.³¹ Structural centrosomal aberrations are typically recognized by an increase in centrosome size and



Figure 1. Multipolar mitoses are hallmarks of cancer. Bipolar mitotic spindle (left) in comparision to multipolar metaphases (middle, right) detected by immunofluorescence microscopic analysis of control tissue (left) or high-risk HPV-associated neoplasms (middle, right) for the PCM marker γ-tubulin (green). Note the increase of chromosomal material associated with both multipolar mitoses, a finding that commonly indicates a polyploidy/aneuploid chromosomal content. Chromosomes stained with DAPI. Scale bar indicates 50 µm.

an irregular shape and/or fragmentation of centrioles.³² Together with centrosomal aberrations, abnormal multipolar mitoses are considered hallmarks of malignant tumors (Fig. 1) and were suggested as a potential source of genomically unstable tumor cells more than 100 years ago.⁵ Several studies suggest that the frequency of centrosome aberrations in tumors correlates with increased aneuploidy and certain clinical characteristics that reflect tumor aggressiveness.³³⁻³⁵

Multiple Pathways Can Lead to Aberrant Centrosome Numbers: Studies Using Human Papillomavirus (HPV) Oncoproteins

Tumor viruses are elegant tools to explore basic mechanisms of cellular transformation and chromosomal instability because of the limited number of oncogenic proteins that they encode. Human papillomaviruses (HPVs) are the cause of cervical cancer and have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of squamous cell carcinomas of other anatomic locations such anal or oral carcinomas.³⁶ High-risk HPV types such as HPV-16 encode two major transforming oncogenes, E6 and E7. These oncoproteins function during the viral life cycle to promote efficient replication of the viral genomes.³⁷ Remarkably, they do so by subverting host cell tumor suppressor pathways that normally restrict DNA replication and that are also altered in the vast majority of nonvirus-associated malignancies.³⁸ Whereas a major function of the high-risk HPV E6 oncoprotein is to target the p53 tumor suppressor, the high-risk HPV E7 oncoprotein binds and inactivates the pRB tumor suppressor as well as the pRB family members p107 and p130 and interacts with a number of other host cell proteins.³⁹

Both HPV-16 E6 and E7 can stimulate abnormal centrosome numbers in primary human cells when expressed under stable conditions.¹⁵ In striking contrast, transient overexpression of HPV-16 E6 or E7 revealed that only the HPV-16 E7 oncoprotein can rapidly induce abnormal centrosome numbers when expressed for approximately 48 h. In contrast, HPV-16 E6 had no effect on centrosome numbers under transient conditions. Further analyses showed that the unique property of HPV-16 E7 to stimulate aberrant centrosome numbers within a short period of time was associated with an excessive formation of daughter centrioles.⁴⁰ Moreover, HPV-16 E7 was able to provoke numerical centrosome aberrations in morphologically normal, diploid cells and hence as a potential cause of cell division errors.⁴⁰ Recently it was found that HPV-16 E7 stimulates centriole overduplication through a pathway that involves the concurrent formation of more than one daughter centriole at a single maternal centriole (Fig. 2).⁴¹ Interestingly, such phenotype is normally limited to multiciliated epithelial cells that produce numerous basal bodies during ciliogenesis.⁴²

The HPV-16 E6 oncoprotein was found to stimulate abnormal centrosome numbers mostly in parallel with significant nuclear atypia including multinucleation and micronuclei.⁴⁰ There was a correlation between the degree of nuclear alterations and centrosome aberrations, indicating



Figure 2. Centriole overduplication through formation of more than one daughter per maternal centriole. Electron micrograph of a normal mother-daughter centriole pair (left) and a mother centriole that nucleates the concurrent formation of two daughter centrioles (arrows). Such phenotype has been identified, for example, in cells expressing the HPV-16 E7 oncoprotein. Scale bar indicates 500 nm.

that these changes developed in parallel. Many of these cells were terminally growth arrested and therefore unable to produce viable progeny (see also below). It is hence likely that centrosome aberrations in HPV-16 E6-expressing cells develop as a consequence of genomic instability reflected by the gross nuclear changes and not as a potential cause as in HPV-16 E7-expressing cells. Moreover, the finding that nuclei of HPV-16 E6 expressing cells were frequently enlarged suggested that these cells were also polyploid. Based on these findings, we have proposed that distinct mechanisms can lead to aberrant centrosome numbers in tumor cells as outlined below. Importantly, the impact on genome integrity may vary depending on the mechanism and the cellular background of abnormal centrosome formation.⁴³

Mechanisms of Centrosome Amplification in Tumor Cells

Primary Centrosome Overduplication

Primary centrosome overduplication should be considered when excessive numbers of immature centrioles are induced within a single cell division cycle. The discovery of proteins that specifically label mature centrioles such as ninein⁴⁴ or Cep170⁴⁵ has been instrumental in proving the existence of this mechanism. In addition, at least a fraction of such changes should occur in morphologically normal diploid cells. Whether oncogenic stimuli that rapidly induce supernumerary centrioles always trigger a concurrent formation of more than one daughter centriole in the presence of a single maternal centriole as recently reported for HPV-16 E7⁴¹ remains to be determined. A similar phenotype has been reported in cells overexpressing Polo-like-kinase 4 (PLK4) and HsSAS-6.^{21,22}Given the rapid induction of abnormal centrosome numbers in cells that have not yet acquired a highly abnormal phenotype, it is likely that primary centrosome overduplication increases the risk for cell division errors in subsequent mitoses.

Recently, loss of the CDK inhibitor p21^{Cip1} was found to stimulate centriole overduplication in murine myeloblasts.⁴⁶ This finding, together with the results obtained with HPV-16 E7, raise the possibility that an impaired p21^{Cip1}-cyclin-CDK2-pRB signaling axis is a frequent stimulus for centriole overduplication.

In breast cancer, centrosome amplification in the absence of genomic instability has been reported. Intriguingly, aberrant centrosome numbers were detected independently of p53 inactivation and it is thus possible that certain oncogenic insults involved in breast carcinogenesis function as a trigger for primary centrosome overduplication.⁴⁷



Figure 3. Centrosome accumulation in a malignant tumor. Immunofluorescence analysis of a high-risk HPV-associated squamous cell carcinoma for the PCM marker γ -tubulin (green) and a marker for mature maternal centrioles, Cep170 (red). Note the presence of multiple centrosomes that colocalize with Cep170, indicating an accumulation of mature mother centrioles (in the case of primary centrosome overduplication, only a single centrosome would be Cep170 positive since the supernumerary centrioles would be immature). Nuclei stained with DAPI. Scale bar indicates 25 μ m.

Permanent Centrosome Accumulation

In contrast to a primary centrosome duplication error, centrosome accumulation is characterized by the generation of supernumerary centrosomes that does not involve uncontrolled centrosome synthesis but cellular insults that lead to an impaired segregation of centrosomes into daughter cells (for example, cytokinesis defects). The very nature of this mechanism makes it unlikely that centrosomes contribute to cell division errors. Although only long-term live cell imaging can provide an ultimate proof, there is circumstantial evidence that cells with centrosome accumulation have lost the ability to generate daughter cells. Human keratinocytes stably expressing the HPV-16 E6 oncoprotein were found to contain abnormal numbers of centrosomes together with a highly altered nuclear morphology, in particular multinucleation and micronuclei. Approximately one-third of these cells were positive when tested for senescence-associated β -galactosidase activity, indicating a permanent cell cycle arrest.⁴⁰ Interestingly, more than 40% of cells were still expressing the proliferation marker Ki67, indicating active DNA replication despite the presence of multiple nuclei.⁴⁰ It is likely that such cells undergo repeated rounds of DNA replication without producing daughter cells. HPV-16 E6 inactivates p53⁴⁸ and it is noteworthy that p53-deficient cells can also become multinucleated, in particular at later passage numbers.⁴⁹ Despite the fact that p53 can also more directly interfere with centrosome homeostasis,⁵⁰ the high frequency of p53 inactivation in human cancers suggests that centrosome accumulation may be the prevailing mechanism for supernumerary centrosomes in tumors (Fig. 3).



Figure 4. Ploidy changes and centrosome aberrations are in tumor cells. Normal centrosome duplication and bipolar mitotic spindle formation (A) in comparison to centrosome overduplication (B) and centrosome accumulation (C). A defect of the centriole duplication cycle itself (for example induced by the HPV-16 E7 oncoprotein) can lead to an overduplication of centrioles in otherwise normal diploid cells (B). In a subsequent mitosis, a multipolar mitotic spindle may form from which various outcomes can be envisioned. If viable daughter cells are produced, they may become aneuploid. However, the chromosomal alterations may also be detrimental, forcing cells into apoptosis. Another possibility would be that the spindle defects cause cells to adapt and re-enter a G1-like state with a tetraploid chromosomal content. It needs to be pointed out that centrosome aberrations per se have not been implicated in mitotic spindle checkpoint activation. However, prolonged activation of the mitotic spindle checkpoint (bolt of lightening) may lead to abortive mitosis and cells with a tetraploid chromosomal content and accumulation of supernumerary centrosomes (C). If such cells are able to re-enter the cell division cycle (promoted, for example, by p53 deficiency), they would not only replicate their DNA and become polyploid but also duplicate their centrosomes leading to an increased risk for multipolar mitoses. The outcome, again, would be aneuploidy (if daughter cells are viable) or cell death. Another possibility would be a permanent growth arrest and senescence. Note that centrosome coalescence can potentially alleviate centrosome-mediated cell division errors by formation of an essentially bipolar spindle despite the presence of multiple centrosomes.

More direct evidence for centrosome accumulation in cells unable to complete cell division stems from experiments in which p21^{Cip1}- or p53-deficient cells were exposed to DNA damage and then followed through mitosis by time-lapse videomicroscopy. Although such cells did enter mitosis, they were found to be unable to complete cytokinesis. Such cells were frequently binucleated and/or contained chromatin bridges,⁵¹ similar to cells expressing the HPV-16 E6 oncoprotein.⁵² Furthermore, these results highlight that identical oncogenic insults i.e., loss of p21^{Cip1}, may stimulate distinct pathways leading to aberrant centrosome numbers suggesting that

primary centrosome overduplication and centrosome accumulation may co-exist in cell populations and maybe even in the same cell.

Transient Centrosome Accumulation

The idea that cells with a diploid karyotype can become genomically unstable through an abnormal multipolar mitosis has raised concerns regarding cell viability since major chromosomal gains and/or losses in diploid cells may be detrimental. It has hence been proposed that cell division errors as a cause of genomic instability are more likely to occur in cells that enter mitosis with a tetraploid chromosome content. Tetraploid cells can arise through multiple mechanisms including endoreduplication of DNA, abortive mitosis, rereplication of DNA (i.e., re-initiation of DNA replication before completion of S phase) or cell fusion (see also below). It is conceivable that all these conditions lead to cells that contain more than the normal number of centrosomes (Fig. 4). One can imagine that re-entry into the cell division cycle of such cells is very likely to be associated with increased numbers of spindle poles. Whether cells are able to re-enter the cell division cycle may depend mainly on the p53 status but it is probable that other checkpoint proteins are also involved.⁵³ Possible consequences include multi- or tetrapolar spindle formation or spindles where two or more centrosomes function together as one spindle pole (coalescence).⁵⁴ It is noteworthy that centrosome coalescence could lead to more subtle changes of spindle function resulting in chromosome segregation defects that cells are able to cope with even when they are diploid. Examples of oncogenic stimuli that may lead to a transient centrosome accumulation, in particular in the absence of p53, are overexpression of Aurora-A or Polo-like kinase 1 (PLK1).8 In addition, various other oncogenic insults such as inactivation of BRCA1, BRCA2 or SKP255-57 have been shown to cause centrosome amplification together with increased ploidy.

Aberrant Centrosome Numbers as a Consequence of Polyploidy— Implications for Genomic Instability in Cancer

Since ploidy alterations and numerical centrosome anomalies frequently coincide in tumor cells, the following paragraphs discuss different pathways to ploidy alterations, how they may affect centrosome numbers and the potential outcome regarding chromosomal instability.

Endoreduplication

Polyploidy per se is not pathological and several cell types in humans, including megakaryocytes or trophoblast cells, normally contain a polyploid chromosomal content. In addition, regenerative processes can increase the proportion of polyploid cells in certain tissues, for example in the liver. It is believed that nonmalignant polyploid cells have undergone rounds of endoreduplication of their genomes. During this process, DNA replication is not followed by a productive cell division. Megakaryocytes enter mitosis and form a mitotic spindle but do not complete cytokinesis.⁵⁸ Such cells can contain dozens of centrosomes and centrioles,⁵⁹ which underscores the notion that polyploidization can cause accumulation of multiple centrosomes. Daughter cells are usually not generated and it is, therefore, unlikely that endoreduplication increases the risk for chromosomal instability.

Abortive Mitoses

Cell cycle checkpoints are commonly disrupted in cancer cells, which may permit progression of cells beyond the G2/M checkpoint and into mitosis despite the presence of altered DNA or other cellular abnormalities. The mitotic spindle checkpoint is the major checkpoint that is active during mitosis and it monitors proper attachment of spindle microtubules to the kinetochores of mitotic chromosomes. The checkpoint becomes activated when spindle microtubules are not properly attached to kinetochores and delay anaphase onset. There is increasing evidence that other cellular insults including genotoxic stress can also delay or block anaphase entry.⁶⁰ The meta- to anaphase transition may hence function as a last line of defense to prevent the propagation of altered chromosomes. It is important to consider, however, what the fate of cells that have been arrested during mitosis may be. Besides undergoing apoptosis directly from mitosis (mitotic

catastrophe), it is possible that cells undergo adaptation during which they enter a G1-like state and decondense their chromosomes with a tetraploid chromosomal content.⁶¹ It has been suggested that in this situation the cell fate critically depends on the p53 status. Based on the fact that cells with impaired p53 function can re-enter the cell cycle after prolonged spindle disruption, a tetraploidy checkpoint has been proposed.⁶² Whether this p53-dependent postmitotic arrest is in fact triggered by increased ploidy or by other changes associated with spindle disruption and/ or cytoskeletal aberrations remains controversial.^{10,11}

Regardless of whether a ploidy checkpoint exists, there is solid evidence that p53-deficient cells are prone to initiate multiple rounds of DNA replication.⁶³ It has recently been reported that p53-deficient tetraploid cells become aneuploid and such cells were found to be able to form tumors in vivo.¹² The precise role of tetraploidy is difficult to ascertain from these experiments but it has been proposed that altered ploidy in yeast profoundly affects cell homeostasis and genome integrity.⁶⁴ As expected, the majority of tumor cells derived from tetraploid p53-deficient tumor cells contained supernumerary centrosomes.¹² It is conceivable that abortive mitoses generally lead to centrosome accumulation and that the genetic background of a cell determines whether it arrests permanently or re-enters mitosis. In the latter case, centrosome aberrations would increase the risk for multipolar spindles and chromosome missegregation. A detailed analysis of centrosome-mediated chromosomal instability after tetraploidization, however, has not yet been performed.

Cell Fusion

It has been proposed that cells can fuse under various conditions and that cell fusion may be a particularly common event in malignant tumors.⁶⁵ Such a mechanism would lead to tetraploid or polyploid cells and such cells would likely contain supernumerary centrosomes. Fusion events between differentiated normal cells have been shown to result in multinucleated cells that are unable to proliferate. Fusion events between malignant cells have been proposed to result in cells that are capable of producing viable progeny, a prerequisite for centrosome-mediated cell division errors and chromosomal instability. However, the survival rate of cell fusion products (hybrids) is low, suggesting that cell fusion is followed by massive cell death or permanent growth arrest in the vast majority of cells.⁶⁵ Whether cell fusion exists in primary human tumors and the contribution of fused tumor cells to chromosomal instability remains elusive. If such a mechanism can be substantiated and cells are capable of producing viable daughter cells, it is likely that supernumerary centrosomes may contribute to cell division errors and chromosomal instability.

DNA Rereplication

Another mechanism that can lead to tetra- or polyploidy is DNA rereplication i.e., an initiation of DNA replication before the previous S phase is completed.⁶⁶ It is conceivable that this can lead to aberrant DNA structures and it was found that rereplication of DNA causes an activation of DNA damage checkpoints. A prolonged DNA damage checkpoint activation, however, may allow centrosome overduplication in G2 phase.⁶⁷ In addition, overexpression of cyclin E, which is detected in many cancers, may trigger rereplication of DNA by inactivation of geminin, a major inhibitor of licensing of DNA replication.⁶⁶ At the same time, cyclin E has been implicated in centrosome overduplication.⁶⁸ Hence, cells undergoing DNA rereplication may be prone to centrosome-mediated cell division errors, in particular when loss of p53 impedes antiproliferative responses.

Aberrant Centrosome Numbers as a Cause of Polyploidy

The question whether centrosome aberrations can be a cause of polyploidy has not been addressed in detail. Previous studies suggest that a "centrosome checkpoint" which would block the progression of multipolar metaphases^{69,70} into anaphase does not exist. Nonetheless, there are reports showing a discrepancy between the frequency of multipolarity in metaphase cells in comparison to anaphase cells,^{40,71} which raises the question whether other yet to be identified mechanisms can hinder progression from multipolar metaphase into later stages of mitosis. A failure of such cells to complete cytokinesis would result in increased ploidy and centrosome accumulation (Fig. 4). As discussed above, the further cell fate would likely be determined by the genetic background, specifically the p53 status.

Conclusion

Altered ploidy and centrosome aberrations are hallmarks of malignant growth and frequently arise concomitantly in tumor cells. This coincidence has led to the idea that tetra- or polyploid cells represent "seeds" of chromosomal instability. However, there are clearly examples where the formation of supernumerary centrosomes does not require an altered ploidy and that tetraploid cells do not necessarily become aneuploid. A key task for the future will be to ascertain the frequency at which cells that have failed mitosis once will re-enter mitosis and give rise to viable progeny. Moreover, the role of centrosome-mediated cell division errors in chromosomal instability requires further investigation since many studies have shown significant underrepresentation of multipolar ana- or telophase cells when compared to metaphases. In future studies, it will be important to distinguish between centrosome aberrations that have the potential to trigger cell division errors and those that merely are a side effect of cellular insults. Such studies will be critical for the use of centrosome aberrations as surrogate biomarkers of chromosomal instability and tumor progression.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Ole Gjoerup for critical reading of the manuscript. Work in the authors' laboratory is supported by PHS grant NIH/NCI R01 CA112598, an American Cancer Society Research Scholar Grant (to S.D.), the Susan G. Komen for the Cure Foundation, The Pittsburgh Foundation GLBT Health and Wellness Fund and, in part, by a grant from the Pennsylvania Department of Health. The Department specifically disclaims responsibility for any analyses, interpretations or conclusions.

References

- 1. Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5:45-54.
- Nigg EA. Origins and consequences of centrosome aberrations in human cancers. Int J Cancer 2006; 119:2717-23.
- Pihan GA, Purohit A, Wallace J et al. Centrosome defects and genetic instability in malignant tumors. Cancer Res 1998; 58:3974-85.
- 4. Azimzadeh J, Bornens M. Structure and duplication of the centrosome. J Cell Sci 2007; 120:2139-42.
- 5. Boveri T. Zur Frage der Entstehung maligner Tumoren. Jena: G. Fischer, 1914.
- 6. Nigg EA. Centrosome aberrations: cause or consequence of cancer progression? Nature Rev Cancer 2002; 2:1-11.
- Duensing S, Munger K. Centrosome abnormalities, genomic instability and carcinogenic progression. Biochim Biophys Acta 2001; 2:M81-8.
- Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA. Aurora-A overexpression reveals tetraploidization as a major route to centrosome amplification in p53–/– cells. EMBO J 2002; 21:483-92.
- 9. Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instability in colorectal cancers. Nature 1997; 386:623-7.
- 10. Stukenberg PT. Triggering p53 after cytokinesis failure. J Cell Biol 2004; 165:607-8.
- Uetake Y, Sluder G. Cell cycle progression after cleavage failure: mammalian somatic cells do not possess a "tetraploidy checkpoint". J Cell Biol 2004; 165:609-15.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M et al. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437:1043-7.
- 13. Duensing S, Lee BH, Dal Cin P et al. Excessive centrosome abnormalities without ongoing numerical chromosome instability in a Burkitt's lymphoma. Mol Cancer 2003; 2:30.
- Martin-Subero JI, Knippschild U, Harder L et al. Segmental chromosomal aberrations and centrosome amplifications: pathogenetic mechanisms in Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells of classical Hodgkin's lymphoma? Leukemia 2003; 17:2214-9.
- 15. Duensing S, Lee LY, Duensing A et al. The human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 oncoproteins cooperate to induce mitotic defects and genomic instability by uncoupling centrosome duplication from the cell division cycle. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:10002-7.

- Duensing S, Münger K. The human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 oncoproteins independently induce numerical and structural chromosome instability. Cancer Res 2002; 62:7075-82.
- 17. Nigg EA. Centrosomes in Development and Disease. Weinheim, Germany: Wiley-VCH, 2004.
- Badano JL, Teslovich TM, Katsanis N. The centrosome in human genetic disease. Nat Rev Genet 2005; 6:194-205.
- 19. Sluder G. Centrosome duplication and its regulation in the higher animal cell. In: Nigg EA, ed. Centrosomes in Development and Disease. Weinheim, Germany: Wiley-VCH, 2004:167-89.
- 20. Tsou MF, Stearns T. Mechanism limiting centrosome duplication to once per cell cycle. Nature 2006.
- Kleylein-Sohn J, Westendorf J, Le Clech M et al. Plk4-induced centriole biogenesis in human cells. Dev Cell 2007; 13:190-202.
- 22. Strnad P, Leidel S, Vinogradova T et al. Regulated HsSAS-6 Levels Ensure Formation of a Single Procentriole per Centriole during the Centrosome Duplication Cycle. Dev Cell 2007; 13:203-13.
- 23. Duensing A, Liu Y, Tseng M et al. Cyclin-dependent kinase 2 is dispensable for normal centrosome duplication but required for oncogene-induced centrosome overduplication. Oncogene 2006; 25:2943-9.
- 24. Khodjakov A, Cole RW, Oakley BR et al. Centrosome-independent mitotic spindle formation in vertebrates. Curr Biol 2000; 10:59-67.
- 25. Khodjakov A, Rieder CL. Centrosomes enhance the fidelity of cytokinesis in vertebrates and are required for cell cycle progression. J Cell Biol 2001; 153:237-42.
- Leidel S, Gonczy P. Centrosome duplication and nematodes: recent insights from an old relationship. Dev Cell 2005; 9:317-25.
- 27. Bettencourt-Dias M, Glover DM. Centrosome biogenesis and function: centrosomics brings new understanding. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007; 8:451-63.
- 28. Nigg EA. Centrosome duplication: of rules and licenses. Trends Cell Biol 2007; 17:215-21.
- 29. Pelletier L, O'Toole E, Schwager A et al. Centriole assembly in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 2006; 444:619-23.
- 30. Salisbury JL, Whitehead CM, Lingle WL et al. Centrosomes and cancer. Biol Cell 1999; 91:451-60.
- Stearns T, Evans L, Kirschner M. Gamma-tubulin is a highly conserved component of the centrosome. Cell 1991; 65:825-36.
- 32. Lingle WL, Salisbury JL. Altered centrosome structure is associated with abnormal mitoses in human breast tumors. Am J Pathol 1999; 155:1941-51.
- 33. Skyldberg B, Fujioka K, Hellstrom AC et al. Human papillomavirus infection, centrosome aberration and genetic stability in cervical lesions. Mod Pathol 2001; 14:279-84.
- 34. D'Assoro AB, Barrett SL, Folk C et al. Amplified centrosomes in breast cancer: a potential indicator of tumor aggressiveness. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2002; 75:25-34.
- Gustafson LM, Gleich LL, Fukasawa K et al. Centrosome hyperamplification in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: a potential phenotypic marker of tumor aggressiveness. Laryngoscope 2000; 110:1798-801.
- 36. zur Hausen H. Viruses in human cancers. Science 1991; 254:1167-73.
- Longworth MS, Laimins LA. Pathogenesis of human papillomaviruses in differentiating epithelia. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2004; 68:362-72.
- Munger K, Howley PM. Human papillomavirus immortalization and transformation functions. Virus Res 2002; 89:213-28.
- 39. Munger K, Basile JR, Duensing S et al. Biological activities and molecular targets of the human papillomavirus E7 oncoprotein. Oncogene 2001; 20:7888-98.
- 40. Duensing S, Duensing A, Crum CP et al. Human papillomavirus type 16 E7 oncoprotein-induced abnormal centrosome synthesis is an early event in the evolving malignant phenotype. Cancer Res 2001; 61:2356-60.
- Duensing A, Liu Y, Perdreau SA et al. Centriole overduplication through the concurrent formation of multiple daughter centrioles at single maternal templates. Oncogene 2007.
- 42. Anderson RG, Brenner RM. The formation of basal bodies (centrioles) in the Rhesus monkey oviduct. J Cell Biol 1971; 50:10-34.
- 43. Duensing S. A tentative classification of centrosome abnormalities in cancer. Cell Biol Int 2005; 29:352-9.
- 44. Mogensen MM, Malik A, Piel M et al. Microtubule minus-end anchorage at centrosomal and noncentrosomal sites: the role of ninein. J Cell Sci 2000; 113 (Pt 17):3013-23.
- 45. Guarguaglini G, Duncan PI, Stierhof YD et al. The forkhead-associated domain protein Cep170 interacts with Polo-like kinase 1 and serves as a marker for mature centrioles. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:1095-107.
- 46. Duensing A, Ghanem L, Steinman RA et al. p21(Waf1/Cip1) deficiency stimulates centriole overduplication. Cell Cycle 2006; 5:2899-902.

- Lingle WL, Barrett SL, Negron VC et al. Centrosome amplification drives chromosomal instability in breast tumor development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99:1978-83.
- Scheffner M, Werness BA, Huibregtse JM et al. The E6 oncoprotein encoded by human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 promotes the degradation of p53. Cell 1990; 63:1129-36.
- Duensing A, Teng X, Liu Y et al. A role of the mitotic spindle checkpoint in the cellular response to DNA replication stress. J Cell Biochem 2006; in press.
- 50. Shinmura K, Bennett RA, Tarapore P et al. Direct evidence for the role of centrosomally localized p53 in the regulation of centrosome duplication. Oncogene 2007; 26:2939-44.
- 51. Bunz F, Dutriaux A, Lengauer C et al. Requirement for p53 and p21 to sustain G2 arrest after DNA damage. Science 1998; 282:1497-501.
- 52. Plug-DeMaggio AW, Sundsvold T, Wurscher MA et al. Telomere erosion and chromosomal instability in cells expressing the HPV oncogene 16E6. Oncogene 2004; 23:3561-71.
- Zachos G, Gillespie DA. Exercising restraints: role of Chk1 in regulating the onset and progression of unperturbed mitosis in vertebrate cells. Cell Cycle 2007; 6:810-3.
- 54. Brinkley BR. Managing the centrosome numbers game: from chaos to stability in cancer cell division. Trends Cell Biol 2001; 11:18-21.
- 55. Xu X, Weaver Z, Linke SP et al. Centrosome amplification and a defective G2-M cell cycle checkpoint induce genetic instability in BRCA1 exon 11 isoform-deficient cells. Mol Cell 1999; 3:389-95.
- Nakayama K, Nagahama H, Minamishima YA et al. Targeted disruption of Skp2 results in accumulation of cyclin E and p27(Kip1), polyploidy and centrosome overduplication. EMBO J 2000; 19:2069-81.
- 57. Tutt A, Gabriel A, Bertwistle D et al. Absence of Brca2 causes genome instability by chromosome breakage and loss associated with centrosome amplification. Curr Biol 1999; 9:1107-10.
- Geddis AE, Fox NE, Tkachenko E et al. Endomitotic megakaryocytes that form a bipolar spindle exhibit cleavage furrow ingression followed by furrow regression. Cell Cycle 2007; 6:455-60.
- Vitrat N, Cohen-Solal K, Pique C et al. Endomitosis of human megakaryocytes are due to abortive mitosis. Blood 1998; 91:3711-23.
- Weaver BA, Cleveland DW. Decoding the links between mitosis, cancer and chemotherapy: The mitotic checkpoint, adaptation and cell death. Cancer Cell 2005; 8:7-12.
- Lanni JS, Jacks T. Characterization of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint following spindle disruption. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18:1055-64.
- 62. Borel F, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Multiple centrosomes arise from tetraploidy checkpoint failure and mitotic centrosome clusters in p53 and RB pocket protein-compromised cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99:9819-24.
- Duensing A, Duensing S. Guilt by association? p53 and the development of aneuploidy in cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 331:694-700.
- 64. Storchova Z, Breneman A, Cande J et al. Genome-wide genetic analysis of polyploidy in yeast. Nature 2006; 443:541-7.
- 65. Duelli D, Lazebnik Y. Cell fusion: a hidden enemy? Cancer Cell 2003; 3:445-8.
- 66. Blow JJ, Dutta A. Preventing rereplication of chromosomal DNA. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005; 6:476-86.
- Dodson H, Bourke E, Jeffers LJ et al. Centrosome amplification induced by DNA damage occurs during a prolonged G2 phase and involves ATM. EMBO J 2004; 23:3864-73.
- Mussman JG, Horn HF, Carroll PE et al. Synergistic induction of centrosome hyperamplification by loss of p53 and cyclin E overexpression. Oncogene 2000; 19:1635-46.
- 69. Sluder G, Thompson EA, Miller FJ et al. The checkpoint control for anaphase onset does not monitor excess numbers of spindle poles or bipolar spindle symmetry. J Cell Sci 1997; 1997:421-9.
- Wong C, Stearns T. Mammalian cells lack checkpoints for tetraploidy, aberrant centrosome number and cytokinesis failure. BMC Cell Biol 2005; 6:6.
- Duensing S, Lee BH, Dal Cin P et al. Excessive centrosome abnormalities without ongoing numerical chromosome instability in a Burkitt's lymphoma. Mol Cancer 2003; 2:30.

Chapter 7

Polyploidy: Mechanisms and Cancer Promotion in Hematopoietic and Other Cells

Hao G. Nguyen and Katya Ravid*

Abstract

Polyploidy, the state of having greater than a diploid content of DNA (e.g., tetraploid, octaploid, etc) has been recognized in a large variety of both, plant and animal cells. Human and murine megakaryocytes, hepatocytes, arterial smooth muscle cells and cardiac myocytes, all develop a certain degree of polyploidy during their normal lifespan. In addition, polyploid cells may be found in some tissues under conditions of stress, including uterine smooth muscle during pregnancy, aortic vascular smooth muscle cells during aging and hypertension, beta-cells in diabetic human or mouse thyroid cells in hyperthyroidism and cells in seminal vesicles with aging. Polyploid cells are also found in malignant tissues in which they are believed to contribute to the development of cells with intermediate DNA content values (e.g., 3n, 4.5n, etc.) (reviewed in refs. 1,2). With the use of micro-array, researchers have demonstrated that genetically identical yeast strains (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) with differences only in ploidy status (from haploid to tetraploid) display a substantial difference in gene expression, including of the G1 cyclins.³ This finding has suggested that DNA content per se might affect cellular functions.

Overview: Characteristics of Polyploidy and Its Induction Under Different Conditions

Currently, the relationships between polyploidy and aneuploidy has not been studied extensively considering the prominent role of genetic instability in tumorigenesis.⁴ An understanding of the biochemical, gene expression and signaling pathways that drive normal and abnormal polyploidization could lead to useful insights with respect to novel anticancer therapeutic approaches. The occurrence of polyploidy in normal and transformed cells poses a number of questions. Is polyploidy a protective mechanism upon stress, as suggested,^{25,6} or rather a maladaptive response? What mechanisms or signaling pathways are employed by normal developing polyploid cells (e.g., megakaryocytes) to safeguard them from becoming aneuploid?

In megakaryocytes, polyploidization up to 128N can be attained, if the cells undergo repeated endomitotic cell cycles, characterized by a well coordinated entry of cells into a normal early mitotic phase, which includes prophase, metaphase and early anaphase. However, these cells skip late anaphase and cytokinesis (this truncated mitosis is referred to as *polyploidy* via *endomitosis*, reviewed in ref. 2). In contrast, polyploidy may result from another type of truncated mitosis, referred to as *polyploidy* via *abortive mitosis* to describe the generally uncoordinated events that are driven by spindle checkpoint defects or by chemical treatments. These events are often associated with pathological

*Corresponding Author: Katya Ravid—Department of Biochemistry and Whitaker Cardiovascular Institute, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, Massachusetts. Email: ravid@biochem.bumc.bu.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. conditions (reviewed in refs. 1,2,4 and see Illustration 1). It has been shown, in both tissue culture and in transgenic mice, that polyploidy via endomitosis in megakaryocytes is tightly regulated by a series of signaling pathways and gene expressions, including signaling through thrombopoietin (TPO), binding to its receptors c-Mpl^{1,2} and is associated with elevated cyclin D3 expression and a rapid reentry into S-phase.⁷⁻⁹ There is also evidence that these cells possess a gene expression profile that is different from their diploid counterparts, including low expression of the tumor suppressor gene p53¹⁰ in conjunction with high expression of the cell cycle inhibitor p21 to allow a short-lived progression through G1 phase.^{11,12}

Numerous studies have shown that normal diploid cells of other lineages can be induced to undergo polyploidization via endomitosis as a consequence of stress (e.g., hypertension and senescence (reviewed in ref. 2). In addition, polyploid hepatocytes have been shown to increase in number dramatically upon oxidative stress or after partial hepatoectomy.¹³⁻¹⁵ Endothelial cells and fibroblasts have been shown in tissue biopsies and in cell culture to become polyploid upon aging and during tissue repair.^{6.16} Hypertension can induce vascular smooth muscle cells and cardiac myocytes to become polyploid.^{17.18} In these cases, polyploidy is believe to be a protective mechanism, which acts to prevent cellular proliferation in the vasculature or to increase DNA content in order to compensate for mutations introduced by genotoxic agents.^{2.19} On the other hand, tetraploidy (cells with a double diploid DNA content) may reflect tissue damage as in Barret's esophagus,²⁰ in which there is dysplasia of the



Figure 1. Pathways to polyploidy. Left panel) Polyploidy via Endomitosis—a shortened mitosis without anaphase-B and cytokinesis, followed by reentry into G1 phase of cell-cycle. This well-controlled truncated mitosis is a part of megakaryocytes development.^{2,4} Right panel) Polyploidy via Abortive Mitosis—an abrupt termination of mitosis at metaphase, anaphase A, anaphase B or cytokinesis, followed by reentry into the cell-cycle with a tetraploid DNA content. These cells can have a single or multiple nuclei, depending on the timing of the defective events. This phenomenon is often associated with pathological conditions, including cancer (reviewed in refs. 2,4).

esophageal epithelium following repeated exposure to acid reflux. The most pronounced dysplastic changes include the appearance of tetraploid cells and predict for esophageal cancer.²⁰

Tetraploidy can be induced in a variety of ways, including aberrant expression of proteins regulating the G2/M phase (Cyclin-B1, Aurora-A, Forkhead transcription factor M3),^{21,22} mitotic spindle checkpoint proteins (BUBR1, Mad2 Aurora-B, Survivin)^{23,24} leading to abortive cytokinesis. Tetraploidy can also be induced by chemical agents and/or irradiation and be associated with tumorigenesis²⁵⁻²⁷ (see Fig. 1). This latter type of polyploidy is thought to be a by-product of uncoordinated events during mitosis in which a defect in mitotic spindle checkpoint arrest allows for a "mitosis slippage", resulting in cells with truncated mitosis, sometime at anaphase A, other times at anaphase B, or at cytokinesis.²⁸ The resulting tetraploid cells can be cell cycle arrested, undergo apoptosis or continue to the next division, to produce aneuploid daughter cells.²⁹⁻³²

Prevalence of Polyploidy/Aneuploidy in Different Cancers

Polyploidy often precedes aneuploidy during the events of tumorigenesis that are associated with high incidence of malignancy and poor prognosis.^{33,35} It is generally accepted that aneuploidy in cancer cells is the rule and not the exception. Most heterogeneous tumor tissues (colorectal cancer, lung, breast, prostate, renal cell carcinoma, bladder cancer, thyroid cancer, some types of leukemia, glioblastoma and melanoma and rare childhood tumors) contain large populations of aneuploid cells in conjunction with a relatively smaller percentage of polyploid cells.³⁶⁻⁴⁵ Among hematological malignancies, a shift in ploidy is often observed in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). In addition to a high frequency of translocations, deletions and fusion of chromosomes (70% of adults and 80% of children), a common cytogenetic abnormality in childhood ALL is the occurrence of massive hyper-diploid (defined as having greater than 50-65 chromosomes, a condition observed in 20-30% of the cases). Polyploidy has also been described in choroid plexus carcinoma, a rare form of childhood brain tumor, in which freshly isolated tumor cells were found to have up to 200-400 chromosomes.⁴⁶ Moreover, there is a recent report that primary keratinocytes infected with human papillomavirus (HPV) Type 16 E6, E7 become polyploid, possibly by abortive



Figure 2. Possible models for polyploidy acquisition and tumorigenesis. Shown are the potential events that a cell with diploid, tetraploid or octaploid DNA content may acquire to reach malignant transformation as a function of time. This model predicts that cells with a tetraploid content are more prone to cancer development with a shortest latency period when compared to their counterparts. This model is based on previous works as reviewed in reference 4.

mitosis.⁴⁷ In most solid cancers, the modal chromosome number is near triploid, or near tetraploid. In some instances, the appearance of polyploid cells from a normal diploid cell background may be mediated by the tetraploidy/polyploidy checkpoints. This checkpoint ensures that cells with greater than 2N DNA content do not progress past G1 after exiting from mitosis.²⁹ There are several mechanisms that can be envisioned as causes of a ploidy shift, including doubling of a hyper-haploid cell (defined as having a total of 30-40 chromosomes), a single event of aberrant mitosis, or normal polyploidization with subsequent loss and/or gain of chromosomes.⁴⁸ Because of the high rate of chromosome loss in cycling polyploid cells,^{31,49,50} it is very possible that aneuploidy develops from a tetraploid/polyploid population of cells during tumorigenesis (see Fig. 2).

Cancer Theories: Potential Involvement of Aneuploidy in Cancer Promotion

Malignant cancer cells are generally defined as cells that: (1) escape programmed cell death; (2) enter a proliferative state without mitogenic signals; (3) are unresponsive to antiproliferative signals; (4) escape programmed senescence; 5) metastasize and thrive in different tissues, including recruitment of new blood vessel formation; and (6) can eventually kill the host organism.⁵¹ However, the transforming events that allow cancer cells to develop are not fully understood. Nonetheless, a number of theories focused on multi-step gene mutation,⁵² genomic instability⁵³ and aneuploidy,⁵⁴ offer at least partial explanations for tumorigenesis and the development of cancers.

The Somatic Gene Mutation Theory

Cancer cells are characterized by a variety of genomic defects, such as inactivation of DNA repair genes, over-expression of growth promoting oncogenes, possession of extra or missing chromosomes, an abnormal number of centrosomes and aberrant mitosis and cytokinesis.²³ The Somatic Gene Mutation theory (SMT) has emerged as the basis for much of current cancer research and rests upon three principal assumptions. (1) Cancer is a genetic disease caused by mutations in cancer related genes, such as p53, Rb and Ras. (2) Mutations of tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes allow cells to disregard inhibitory growth signals and permit them to grow uncontrollably. (3) For a cell to become malignant, several damaging gene mutations are required, or both alleles of those genes must be affected (two hits hypothesis).^{55,56} First, this theory implies that cancers are derived from individual cell clones that have accumulated mutations sequentially over time (i.e., tumors are monoclonal in nature). Second, this theory suggests that normal cells destined to become cancerous must have faster than normal rates of mutation to acquire these genetic changes (i.e., a fast rate of 10^{-3} mutations as oppose to a normal rate of 10^{-7} to 10^{-8} mutation per nucleotide per cell division). Numerous tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes have been identified and mutations of these genes have been shown to lead to neoplastic transformation in transgenic mice.⁵¹ Yet, the somatic gene mutation theory fails to explain why cells within the same invasive tumor do not uniformly share the same mutations of relatively important genes, i.e., Ras and p53. Such cells also may share substantial differences in chromosome numbers, although they are thought to originate from clonal expansion.⁵⁷ The heterogeneous nature of tumor cells (both in the rate and type of gene mutations and ploidy status) has prompted scientists to look for additional or alternative unifying principles to explain tumorigenesis.

The Mutator Phenotype Hypothesis

Loeb and colleagues proposed the *Mutator Phenotype Hypothesis* to explain why cancer cells have a much faster rate of random mutations and how this phenotype may account for the genetic changes observed in cancer.^{58,59} This theory postulates that once normal cells acquire mutations of genes that control the fidelity of DNA replication and repair, they develop an explosive increase in random mutations (Mutator Phenotype). Some of these mutations may permit cells to have selective advantages to expand and achieve clonal dominance.^{60,61} This theory implies that genetic instability/aneuploidy is a consequence of these random mutations.

The Genomic Instability Theory

Lengauer and Vogelstein observed that a very high degree of genomic instability, characterized by the gain or loss of portions of chromosomes or entire chromosomes is present in the early stages (preneoplastic) of colon cancer development. Based on this finding, they proposed the Genomic Instability Theory of cancer in 1997. This theory argued that, at least in colon cancer, chromosomal losses or gains are the early events that lead to the loss of tumor suppressor genes and/or gain of oncogenes, which are widely believed to drive malignant transformation.^{34,53,62-64} One of the main assertions of this theory is that as cells acquire mutations in master genes (or genes required for cell division and segregation of chromosomes), subsequent divisions are prone to result in more mistakes, leading to an instability in chromosome number, a critical early event in tumorigenesis. While emphasizing the importance of genetic instability as early events, this theory still holds that mutations in cancer related genes are a prerequisite for transformation. This theory explains a number of characteristic of tumor cells, including aneuploidy and fast rates of mutation. Compelling evidence in support of this theory was recently reported by Hanks et al (2004),65 in relation to individuals with a rare genetic disorder, mosaic variegated aneuploidy, in which more than 25% of the cells in the body may be found to be an euploid. This phenotype is characterized by mutation in both alleles of the chromosome segregation gene, BUB1B. Affected individuals frequently develop childhood cancers such as rhabdomyosarcoma and leukemia. This report is the first to suggest that aneuploidy may have a direct causal role in the development of cancer in human.

The Aneuploidy Theory of Cancer

The Mutator Phenotype and Early Genetic Instability Theories cannot explain malignancies caused by nongenotoxic carcinogens, which are not mutagens but can act as aneugens (chemical agents that disrupt the mitotic spindle and cause chromosome mis-segregation) and are associated with tumorigenesis. For instance, asbestos, a nonmutagenic carcinogen, has been shown to bind to the mitotic spindle, causing chromosome mis-segregation and genetic instability.⁴⁹ Asbestos has not been reported in the literature to cause specific cancer related gene mutations. In light of this, Duesberg and colleagues proposed the Aneuploidy Theory in 1999.^{54,66} The first assumption of this theory is that cancer is not a disease of gene mutations per se but a disease of gene dosage (i.e., having 3, 5, or zero copy/copies of a normal set of genes via random aneuploidization). The second assumption is that carcinogens or spontaneous cell-cycle accidents are more effective inducers of aneuploidy than specific mutations. Hence, according to this theory cancer development does not necessarily require mutations in cancer related genes at the DNA level but an imbalance in the dosage of thousands of normal genes caused by chromosomal gains or losses. Therefore, cells may become transformed before mutations of tumor suppressor genes and/or oncogenes occur.

Regardless of which theory of cancer evolution best explains individual types of cancer, they each identify an euploidy and genetic instability as having a causal role in tumorigenesis.

Regulators of Mitosis and Mechanisms Leading to Aneuploidy

There are a variety of ways in which cells may become an euploid,³⁴ including: (1) Telomere dysfunction, which has been linked to an euploidy in cancer. Studies have shown that telomere shortening in telomerase knockout mice after succeeding generations is associated with tumorigenesis. Cells with truncated telomeres are more prone to chromosome translocation and fusion, (reviewed in ref. 67). (2) Defective mitotic spindle checkpoint. During the transition from metaphase into anaphase, cells evolve surveillance mechanisms to ensure proper attachment of mitotic spindles to kinetochore/centromere before the segregation of chromosomes begins. Important protein components of this spindle checkpoint include: BUB1, 2, 3, Mad-1,2,3 and the chromosome passenger protein Aurora-B. Seminal studies in diverse species, ranging from yeasts to humans, have concluded that defects in this checkpoint allow the cell to progress through metaphase/ anaphase with unequal attachment of the spindle/kinetochore, giving rise to aneuploid daughter cells (reviewed in refs. 68,69). (3) Defective Mitotic spindle assembly. The aberrant duplication of centrosomes at early mitosis (often due to mutation of genes involved in centrosome matura-



Figure 3. Pathways to aneuploidy. Shown are crucial events (underlined text) of the cell cycle that have been implicated in the generation of aneuploidy. The deregulated genes (blue text) have been shown to underlie the mechanism leading to aneuploidy. Defective regulation of mitotic genes seems to be the main routes to aneuploidy. This illustration was adapted from two review articles.^{34,72} A color version of this figure is available at www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

tion and duplication, including Aurora-A, or via chemical agents) has been demonstrated to cause polyploid or aneuploid daughter cells. The resulting functional defects of mitotic spindle assembly lead to lagging chromosomes as they segregate during a precise time frame at the transition into anaphase.³¹ (4) Abnormal chromosomal rearrangement, breakage and fusion, has been demonstrated to be a source of aneuploidy.⁷⁰ (5) Abortive cytokinesis, if occurred in diploid cells can lead to the formation of polyploid cells and has been suggested to cause aneuploidy via tetraploid intermediates (see Fig. 3).⁷¹

Stem Cells and Cancer Development

With the findings of stem cells in breast cancers, Wilm's tumors, hematological malignancy and neuroblastomas^{73,74} (referred as tumor stem cell, TSC), there has been increased interest in understanding the role of tumor stem cells in tumorigenesis. Given the scarcity of stem cells in tumors, their existence in the heterogeneous tumor tissue has been demonstrated experimentally only recently, although hypothesized decades ago.⁷³ Tumor stem cells are phenotypically similar to normal stem cells in their abilities to self-renew and to differentiate into multiple tissues or cell lineages within the same tissue. However, they differ from normal stem cells with respect to the balance of self-renewal and differentiation. Normal stem cells generally give rise to progenitors cells, which commit into a specific cell type with a limited life span. Under normal physiological conditions, the self-renewal capability of normal stem cells is inhibited by cell cycle inhibitors, such as p21 and p18 and is tightly and reversibly regulated by the need for differentiation or tissue regeneration (reviewed in ref. 73). In p21^{-/-} mice, hematopoeitic stem cells (HSC) tend to cycle faster than wild-type cells, while the proliferation of marrow progenitor cells is repressed,

resulting in a larger pool of HSC and a smaller pool of lineage committed progenitors.¹² Hence, as observed in other systems, the proliferation of normal stem cells requires a balance between differentiation and self-renewal, depending on their stage of development.⁷³ In contrast, tumor stem cells are believed to have irreversible defects in cyclin inhibitors, coupled with disruptions in feedback mechanisms to control differentiation or apoptosis.^{67,75} Tumor stem cells in leukemia are thought to originate directly from hematopoeitic stem cells or marrow progenitors, depending on the developmental stage at which genetic changes occur.⁴³ It is reasonable to hypothesize that some cancers may evolve from tissue specific progenitor stem cells because of their self-renewal, tissue evasion and ineffective senescent properties. The propensity for environmental agents, reactive oxygen species and hormones to cause genetic and epigenetic changes in stem cell is greater than that in their short-lived, differentiated counterparts. Although not yet proven, studies 74,76,77 have suggested that loss of heterozygosity of cancer related genes in mammary stem cells may contribute to genetic instability in progeny cells and subsequent breast cancer development. With the exception of polyploidy resulting from stem cell fusion,⁷⁸ a role of polyploidy and aneuploidy in the development of tumor stem cells has not been reported. However, given the important role of polyploidy and aneuploidy in tumorigenesis, an analysis of the degree of changes in ploidy in tumor stem cells would be worthwhile.

Chromosome Passenger Proteins and Their Role in Ploidy Promotion

Accurate segregation of chromosomes following each cell division requires a perfect synchrony of regulated protein proteolysis, phosphorylation and dephosphorylation, the localization and recruitment of a chromosome passenger complex and the physical interaction between the centromere and the mitotic spindles at the metaphase to anaphase transition. At the same time, the surveillance mechanism orchestrated by Mad1 and BubR1 ensures that the separation of chromosomes does not progress if these processes become asynchronous. In mammalian cells, the protein complex consisting of Aurora B kinase, Survivin, INCENP and Borealin, (also referred as the Chromosome Passenger Complex (CPC)) displays a distinct localization pattern throughout mitosis, suggesting that it has an important function in regulating mitosis. During prophase, this complex associates with condensed chromosomes and then concentrates at the inner centromere during prometaphase. At the onset of anaphase, the complex relocates to the central spindle. As the central spindle elongates at cytokinesis, the chromosome passenger proteins coalesce at the midbody, the site of the cleavage furrow. It is hypothesized that during telophase, this complex must be degraded for cells to exit mitosis normally. Various studies have demonstrated that altered subcellular localization patterns are associated with mitotic arrest, mis-segregation of chromosomes, abortive cytokinesis and polyploidy (reviewed in ref. 79). Moreover, the progeny of cells with such defects have been shown to be tumorigenic in xenograft mouse models.^{72,80}

INCENP (Properties and Effects of Its Deregulated Expression on the Cell Cycle)

Inner Centromeric Protein (INCENP) was the first protein identified in the chromosome passenger protein complex. The C-terminus (IN-Box) of this protein is conserved from yeast to humans. INCENP binds to Aurora-B through the IN-Box sequences and stimulates its kinase activity during mitosis.⁸¹ Deletion analysis of this protein has revealed that an N-terminal region (amino acid 1-68) is important for targeting INCENP to the centromere/kinetochore and midzone at anaphase.⁸² INCENP is an essential gene, given that its targeted deletion in mice leads to polyploidization of embryonic cells and induces early embryonic lethality (32-64 cell stage).⁸³ RNAi mediated down regulation of endogenous INCENP has been shown to produce severe mitotic mis-segregation of chromosomes in *C. elegans* and Drosophila.^{84,85} Overexpression of the dominant negative form of INCENP in mammalian cells showed similar defects in addition to the appearance of abnormal number of centrosomes. Thus, tight regulation of INCENP is clearly essential for cell division.⁸⁶ In vitro studies have shown that aberrant levels of INCENP disrupt the chromosome passenger complex and cause Aurora-B and Survivin to mislocalize in prometaphase.^{84,87,88} Aberrant expression of INCENP also induces chromosome mis-segregation and abortive cytokinesis in yeast, fruit flies and mammalian cells.^{88,89} It has been shown in yeast that dephosphorylation of INCENP by Cdc14 is required for the transfer of the chromosome passenger complex to the central spindle at anaphase. Point mutations that generate a nonphosphorylated INCENP resulted in daughter cells with chromosomal loss, likely due to lagging chromosomes.⁹⁰ Interestingly, chromosomal alignment remained intact while the nonphosphorylated INCENP localized prematurely at the centromere prior to anaphase onset.⁹¹ This study implies that the function of Aurora-B as a guardian of spindle attachment and alignment does not depend solely on the localization of INCENP. Hence, the protein level, kinase activities and sub-cellular localization of the Chromosome Passenger Complex proteins appear to be equally important in preventing polyploid and aneuploid phenotypes.

Borealin (Properties and Effects of Its Deregulated Expression on the Cell Cycle)

Borealin (alternatively called Dasra) was recently cloned and characterized as a new member of the chromosome passenger complex in vertebrate.^{92,93} Borealin displays a typical pattern of subcellular localization to the centromere, central spindle and midbody during mitosis. Depletion of Survivin or INCENP by RNAi has been shown to disrupt this specific localization of Borealin. Similar to other chromosome passenger proteins, RNAi mediated knock down of endogenous Borealin also causes spindle defects, chromosome mis-segregation and pronounced disruption of spindle assembly.⁹³ Interestingly, Borealin appears to act prior to the onset of anaphase. Borealin is a direct substrate of Aurora-B and is required to target the CPPs to the centromere but not to the midzone during anaphase.⁹² Given the similarity in the expression pattern and functions of Borealin to those of other CPPs, it will be important to elucidate the functional links between Borealin, Survivin, INCENP and Aurora-B in normal and cancerous cells.

Survivin (Properties and Effects of Its Deregulated Expression on the Cell Cycle)

Survivin, a 16 KDa protein as a monomer and 32 KDa as a dimer, is the smallest member in the Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein (IAP) family and contains a BIR domain, which is characteristic of this family of proteins. Unlike other members of the IAP family, Survivin does not have ubiquitin ligase activity (E3) and is the only member protein that forms a homodimer in solution.^{94.96} Interestingly, it is also a component of the chromosome passenger complex that associates with Aurora-B and it follows a similar pattern of expression and localization during mitosis. Its expression has been found to peak at G2/M and its degradation occurs in a cell-cycle dependent manner.⁹⁷ In differentiated tissue, Survivin expression is virtually absent, in contrast to its high expression in actively proliferating lineages, including CD34+ hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (when stimulated by the combination of Thrombopoietin (TPO), Stem Cell Factor (SCF) and Flt3 ligand (FL)),⁹⁸ vascular endothelial cells,⁹⁹ vascular smooth muscle cells,¹⁰⁰ thymus T- and B-cells¹⁰¹ and particularly in tumor cells (reviewed in ref. 102). Survivin can be found in three splice variants that differ in size (Survivin 2B, Delta Ex3 and 3B) as a result from translation of an alternate exon 2B, skipping of exon 3 and/or a frameshift with premature stop codon.¹⁰³ However, these splice variants still retain two features in common: the dimer interphase and the BIR domain at the N-terminus.¹⁰² Published studies have suggested that survivin can form homodimers or heterodimers with its splice variants.^{102,104} These homodimers/heterodimers are hypothesized to have distinct functions in regulating apoptosis or cellular proliferation, depending on the type of dimer and its subcellular localization.¹⁰⁴ The Survivin 2B variant is cytosolic, while the Delta Ex3 variant is localized mainly in the nucleus. The Delta Ex3 variant contains a nuclear localization sequence (NLS, R/K-rich region ⁸¹RRKNLRKLRRK⁹¹).¹⁰² Survivin 2B expression is lost at later stages of malignancy, while normal Survivin and its Delta Ex3 variant maintain a high expression profile, suggesting a differential role in tumor development.^{105,106} In vitro studies have demonstrated that survivin's localization to the central spindle and midbody at telophase is dependent on phosphorylation at Thr¹¹⁷ by Aurora-B and mutation of this site leads to disruption of its association with INCENP,¹⁰⁷ suggesting that phosphorylation of Thr¹¹⁷ is important for Survivin's role as a chromosome passenger protein. Homozygous deletion of Survivin in mice results in embryonic lethality at day 4.5, characterized by the presence of catastrophic mitosis (cell death during mitosis), giant multinucleate cells, in addition to a large population of polyploid cells.¹⁰⁸ Forced overexpression of Survivin has been shown to inhibit IL-3 induced apoptosis in B-lymphocytes¹⁰⁹ and in UV-induced apoptosis in primary keratinocytes.¹¹⁰ In addition, published studies have suggested that overexpression of Survivin shortens G1 phase arrest and accelerates S phase, potentially through activation of Cdk2/Cyclin-E complex.^{111,112} The important role of Survivin in regulating endomitosis in polyploidizing megakaryocytes and vascular smooth muscle cells has been implicated in work reported from our laboratory.¹¹³ In addition, it has been shown that during the endomitotic cell cycle of vascular smooth muscle cells, Survivin does not colocalize with Aurora-B or INCENP, as typically observed at the centromere and at the central spindle/ midbody during cytokinesis of normally dividing cells. Interestingly, defects in sister chromatid separation and reversal of cytokinesis has also been observed in this generally normal and well coordinated endomitotic events.¹¹³ Overexpression of Survivin has also been shown to reduce polyploidization in cultured primary vascular smooth cells.¹¹³ Hence, the atypical localization pattern of Survivin appears to account for polyploidization in this lineage. Based on these studies, the function of Survivin in regulating endomitosis appears to be important. In accordance with our earlier report, survivin was not detected in endomitotic murine megakaryocytes, although these authors questioned the quality of the antibody used. In low ploidy human megakaryocytes, survivin was described as being properly localized in endomitotic megakaryocytes.¹¹⁴ Several possibilities could account for the discrepancy in the reports on Survivin expression/localization in human and mouse megakaryocytes: a. According to Baccini et al, a group that has extensively studied megakaryocytes biology (e.g., refs. 115,116), human megakaryocytes grown in vitro present a defect in their polyploidization and hence, the authors caution others from using them as a model system for the study of endomitosis.¹¹⁵ In vivo, most polyploid human megakaryocytes are 16N and 32N, as is the case in mice and rats. However, while the mouse cultures mimic the in vivo profile, the human cultures present less than 10% of the cells as polyploid, with the vast majority having a ploidy level not greater than 8N.115,116 Hence, in the recent study that used this culture system,¹¹⁴ survivin localization might have been primarily followed in proliferating or very low-ploidy megakaryocytes (as also pointed out by the authors); b. In the literature there is a recognized controversy about the specificity of available antibodies to survivin. For instance, W. Earnshaw's lab described conflicting survivin localization in mitosis with two published antibodies and noted that researchers need to also confirm data on protein localization with ectopically expressed GFP-labeled protein.⁸⁸ c. Although there is one survivin gene, there are three splice forms of mRNA yielding three different proteins, of which only the longer one (142 amino acids) displays typical properties attributed to survivin.¹⁰³ Some of the available antibodies might be detecting one of the nonfunctional splice variants.

With regard to its antiapoptotic properties, Survivin has been shown to bind to Smac/Diablo, a caspase activator and/or to procaspase 9 via the hepatitis B X-interacting protein (HPXIP) complex to mediate this effect.^{117,118} A study by Song et al (2004)¹⁰⁴ demonstrated that a single amino acid change (Asp53-Ala53) converts Survivin from an antiapoptotic to proapoptotic regulator, suggesting that it has a dual role in controlling cell death at mitosis. Studies of Survivin function as both a Chromosome Passenger Protein and as an anti/pro apoptotic factor has been a subject of much interest. Recent work has described a new type of cell death, termed "mitosis catastrophe", often observed in cells with defective mitosis spindle assembly checkpoint, chromosome mis-segregation and abortive cytokinesis (reviewed in ref. 119). Although "mitosis catastrophe" is believed to be triggered by aberrant events during mitosis and not signals originating in G1 or S-phase, this type of programmed cell death still converges on the action of caspases, as suggested by several studies.^{110,120,121} It is tempting to hypothesize that Survivin is a critical regulatory protein that determines the life and death of a cell undergoing division. Survivin may ensure the survival of cells with correct chromosome segregation by directly inhibiting caspases through its anti-apoptosis and/or chromosome checkpoint properties. On the other hand, Survivin, through its pro-apoptotic properties, may also ensure that cells undergo apoptosis if mitotic events are defective.

Aurora-B (Properties and Effects of Its Deregulated Expression on the Cell Cycle)

The Aurora/Ipl1 (Increase-in-Ploidy protein-1) protein kinases have been shown to orchestrate vital mitotic events, including G2/M transition, centrosome duplication, chromosome condensation, bi-polar spindle-kinetochore attachment, chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. Their roles are evolutionarily conserved in yeast, nematodes and mammalian cells (reviewed in refs. 72,122). While lower organisms have only one form of Aurora kinase (Ipl-1), mammalian cells have three types, Aurora-A, Aurora-B and Aurora-C, whose function and localization are distinct in space and time during cell division. The function of Aurora-C in mammalian cells has not been studied extensively. Aurora-A localizes to the centrosomes during early anaphase and is required for mitotic entry.¹²³ Aurora-B, (also called AIM-1, Stk-5) regulates the formation of a stable bi-polar spindle-kinetochore attachment in mitosis. It colocalizes with Survivin, Inner Centromere Protein (INCENP) and a recently discovered protein named Borealin or hDasra B to form the chromosome passenger complex, needed for chromosome segregation and cytokinesis.^{21,92,93} Aurora-B is regulated at the mRNA level, at the protein level and at the level of its kinase activities (reviewed in refs. 72,122,124,125). INCENP has been shown to stimulate the kinase activity of Aurora-B^{84,126,127} and there are conflicting reports on the regulation of Aurora-B by Survivin.¹²⁶ In a cell-free system, Survivin seems to enhance the kinase activity of Aurora-B (via Histone-H3-Ser10 phosphorylation),¹²⁸ provided that its kinase activity is first reduced in cells with siRNA-mediated Survivin knock down. How Aurora-B activity/function is terminated at the end of mitosis is an additional intriguing question.²³ Studies pursued in this thesis demonstrate that Aurora-B is regulated by protein degradation through the A-box and KEN box sequences.¹²⁹ Most importantly, overexpression of a nondegradable A-Box mutant leads to aneuploid/polyploidy, suggesting that Aurora-B's proteolysis plays an important role in the regulation of Aurora-B and chromosome stability at each cell division.¹²⁹ A recent study¹³⁰ identified a very short sequence in the C-terminus of Aurora-B (326-331) as responsible for its function and subcellular localization. Taken together, these studies demonstrate that Aurora-B's stability is regulated through its N-terminus, whereas the C-terminus contains the sequences required for its function and subcellular localization.

The most extensively studied function of Aurora-B is its involvement in mitotic spindle attachment. In order for chromosomes to separate equally, a synchronized alignment of sister chromatids at metaphase coupled with stable bi-polar attachments between the mitotic spindle and the kinetochore must take place. During this dynamic process, there are various ways in which the kinetochore-microtubule can form unstable attachments. This includes the case of kinetochore attaching to the spindle from both poles (merotellic) or when both sister kinetochores are attached to the same spindle pole (syntellic). If these unstable attachments are not corrected in time as the cell enters anaphase, lagging chromosomes and unequal separation of chromosomes occur in the daughter cells. Reduction of endogenous Aurora-B by genetic (iRNA) or pharmacological agents (ZM447439 and Hesperadin) results in merotellic and/or syntellic attachment and subsequent disruption of chromosome segregation.²¹ Experiments using microinjection of anti-Aurora-B antibodies reveals that inhibition of Aurora-B in mitotic Xenopus tissue culture cells abrogates the spindle checkpoint and causes an early exit from mitosis with no evidence of anaphase or cytokinesis, concomitantly with the appearance of chromosome misalignment and polyploid cells.¹³¹ How Aurora-B promotes stable bi-polar attachment and prevents unstable merotellic and/or syntellic attachment continues to be under investigation. The current model, derived from various studies with both yeast and mammalian cells, proposes that Aurora-B, through its kinase activity and interaction with various proteins (such as the Mitotic Centromere Associated Kinesin, MCAK), actively facilitates the depolymerization of microtubules associated with unstable attachments. Evidence for this model in mammalian cells includes the finding that Aurora-B directly interacts with MCAK to promote microtubule depolymerization.^{132,133} In addition, its interaction with protein phosphatase I (PPI) keeps depolymerization in check, once stable attachments are achieved.^{134,135} In budding yeast, Aurora-B is believed to function as a sensor for the pulling force and tension generated by the spindle-kinetochore complex. Yeast mutants, unable to generate spindle tensions accumulate merotellic and/or syntellic spindle attachments.¹³⁶⁻¹³⁹ Hence, as a sensor of the pulling force, Aurora-B may sense unequal forces and promote their elimination.¹³⁹ Recently, the yeast Aurora-B homolog, Ipl1 has been shown to interact with the Damp1 complexes, which interact directly with the kinetochore and microtubule to regulate bipolar attachment of mitotic spindle.¹⁴⁰ Specific mutation (S to A) of all four Ipl1 phosphorylation sites in the Dam1p protein causes cell death, suggesting an essential role for Ipl1/Dam1p phosphorylation.¹⁴⁰ Because of its vital role in correcting chromosome-spindle attachment, deregulated expression of Aurora-B/Ipl1 can be expected to impair chromosome segregation and mitotic progression.

Another function of Aurora-B, that has been described, concerns its role in the spindle checkpoint. To ensure viable and functional progeny after each cell division, cells have evolved several cell cycle checkpoints to allow adequate time for repair prior to progression to subsequent stages of cell division. One of the most important and final checkpoints of the cell cycle is the spindle assembly checkpoint during the transition into anaphase. Defective mitotic spindle assembly or detachment of the kinetochore directly triggers Bub1, Mad1 and other spindle checkpoint proteins to bind and inhibit the activity of the Cdc20-APC/c E3 ligase (a component of proteasome mediated degradation, as described below and also regarded as the effector of the spindle checkpoint), leading to a transient arrest of the cells at metaphase. Several studies have demonstrated that Aurora-B participates in the recruitment/association of Mps1, Bub1, CENP-E, Bub3, Mad1 and Mad2 to kinetochores.^{141,142} Studies described in this thesis show that Aurora-B directly associates with the Cdc20-APC/c complex.¹²⁹ Moreover, other studies indicate that depletion of endogenous Aurora-B impairs the cells' ability to localize Cdc20, Cdc27 and Cdc23 (subcomponents of the APC/c) to unattached kinetochores such that cells fail to activate the spindle checkpoint in response to microtubule destabilization.^{139,142-144} These functional studies have demonstrated that Aurora-B is an indispensable member of the spindle assembly checkpoint, acting upstream of Bub1 and Mad1 and indicate that deregulation of Aurora-B disrupts this protein composition to prevent the spindle checkpoint.¹⁴⁵

During telophase, Aurora-B also has a role in ensuring the completion of cytokinesis.¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁹ Drosophila cells lacking Aurora-B protein do not undergo cytokinesis and undergo polyploidization.¹⁵⁰ Drug-mediated inhibition of this kinase in proliferating mammalian cells can also induce polyploidy²¹ and/or cell death by "catastrophic mitosis".¹⁵¹ In bone marrow megakaryocytes (platelet precursors), which undergo endomitotic cell cycles and polyploidization during normal development, Aurora-B has been shown to be absent from the midzone.¹⁵² Of note, a very recent study reported results similar to ours with respect to proper Aurora-B expression/localization during early mitosis and lack of it at late anaphase in murine megakaryocytes.¹¹⁴ In few human megakaryocytes examined,¹¹⁴ Aurora-B was detected at late anaphase. In this study, Aurora-B kinase activity was measured in polyploid, nonsynchronized megakaryocytes and it was concluded that Aurora-B is not limiting for polyploidy in this lineage. Similar to our conclusion, this study also suggested that further study of midzone organization and composition is needed. Aurora kinases have been found to be overexpressed in a variety of malignant cancers (as listed in: http://cgap.nci.nih.gov) and this overexpression is suspected to contribute to chromosome instability.¹⁵³ Studies by our group¹⁵² have shown that in vivo overexpression of Aurora-B transgene in megakaryocytes increases the proliferative potential of these cells, but does not by itself induce malignant transformation.¹⁵²

Chromosome Passenger Proteins and Cancer (Emphasis on the Role of Aurora-B)

The link between overexpression of the Aurora kinases in mammalian cells and carcinogenesis is believed to be causal and to be dependent on perhaps, the disruption of normal centrosome or centromere function, spindle checkpoint regulation and cytokinesis.^{30,80,153-155} Overexpression of the Chromosome Passenger Proteins (CPP), including Aurora-A, Aurora-B, Survivin and INCENP has been observed in ovarian, breast and prostate cancers and shown to correlate with aneuploidy.^{72,81,156-159} In addition, chromosomes containing the CPP are often affected in aneuploid cells.^{160,161} The mechanisms that explain how overexpression of CPP proteins, individually or together, promotes aneuploidy remain an important, unanswered question. Only recently,

have studies been carried out to determine whether ectopic expression of the CPP drives cellular transformation by means of increasing proliferation, by centrosome amplification, or by inducing chromosome instability. Overexpression of Aurora-A has been shown to potentiate HRAS (Harvey sarcoma virus oncogenes) induced transformation in-vitro, whereas reduced endogenous Aurora-A expression by short hair-pin RNA (shRNA) decreased transformation.¹⁶² It has been suggested that overexpression of Aurora-A results in cells with increased number of centrosomes (3-4) and consequently impairs their ability to segregate chromosomes equally.⁵⁰ Similarly, correlative data showing overexpression of Aurora-B kinase in solid tumors and tumor cell lines has been reported.^{80,157,160,163-165} However, given the tight regulation of Aurora-B at the protein level,¹⁵² only a handful of studies have been able to demonstrate overexpression of Aurora-B induces oncogenic transformation. These studies include those using xenograft models of localized tumor formation in mice injected with cells overexpressing Aurora-B (80 and Nguyen Hao and Katya Ravid unpublished data). In these studies, oncogenic transformation appears to be mediated by aneuploidy and to be a consequence of Aurora-B overexpression. Inhibition of the Aurora kinases, in general, blocks progression of the cell cycle and induces cell death by "catastrophic mitosis". Several studies have exploited this type of cell death using Aurora kinase inhibitors (VX-680 for Aurora-A, Hesperadin and ZM447439 for Aurora-B (refs. 21,166-168 and reviewed in ref. 151)) to suppress tumor growth in vivo. Reduction of endogenous Aurora-B expression by such means has been shown to diminish the growth of thyroid anaplastic carcinoma tumor cells.¹⁶³ However, it is possible that inhibition of Aurora kinases is unable to completely prevent tumor growth, since reduced expression of these kinases also leads to aneuploidy (as reviewed in refs. 88,119,122,124,125,155,158,169,170) and such inhibition would be expected to prevent the activation of the spindle checkpoint, causing cells to exit mitosis prematurely.

Overexpression of Survivin in a wide range of tumor tissues, including leukemia (ALL, AML), colo-rectal cancers, astrocytic tumors and breast cancer has been consistently reported in the literature.^{102,159,171} Moreover, overexpression of Survivin in cancer tissues is closely correlated with poor prognosis.¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁶ The role of Survivin in cancer promotion has been studied using a transgenic mouse model.¹¹⁰ Grossman et al¹¹⁰ have shown that exogenous expression of Survivin (driven by the keratinocyte specific promoter (K14)) inhibits UVB induced apoptosis and thus inhibition is more pronounced when the expression of p53 is reduced. Hence, this study suggests that Survivin functions as an inhibitor of apoptosis and thereby contributes to transformation. However, given Survivin's role as a chromosome passenger protein, the consequences of its overexpression on chromosome stability have not been fully explored.

Conclusion

It is not clear yet if polyploidy is a protective mechanism upon stress, or rather a maladaptive response. Progress has been made, however, on mechanisms and signaling pathways that are employed by normal developing polyploid cells (e.g., megakaryocytes) to safeguard them from becoming aneuploid, as well as on the mechanisms leading to aneuploidy and its relation to cancer development.

Acknowledegments

We apologize to those whose work was not mentioned here, owing to space and scope limitations. This chapter also integrates a survey of experiments and literature described in Hao G. Nguyen's PhD thesis under the direction of Katya Ravid at BUSM. KR is an Established Investigator with the American Heart Association.

References

- 1. Zimmet J, Ravid K. Polyploidy: occurrence in nature, mechanisms and significance for the megakaryocyte- platelet system. Exp Hematol 2000; 28:3-16.
- 2. Ravid K, Lu J, Zimmet JM et al. Roads to polyploidy: the megakaryocyte example. J Cell Physiol 2002; 190:7-20.

- 3. Galitski T, Saldanha AJ, Styles CA et al. Ploidy regulation of gene expression. Science 1999; 285:251-4.
- Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5:45-54.
- Jones MR, Ravid K. Vascular smooth muscle polyploidization as a biomarker for aging and its impact on differential gene expression. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:5306-13.
- 6. Wagner M, Hampel B, Bernhard D et al. Replicative senescence of human endothelial cells in vitro involves G1 arrest, polyploidization and senescence-associated apoptosis. Exp Gerontol 2001; 36:1327-47.
- 7. Wang Z, Zhang Y, Kamen D et al. Cyclin D3 is essential for megakaryocytopoiesis. Blood 1995; 86:3783-8.
- Zimmet JM, Ladd D, Jackson CW et al. A role for cyclin D3 in the endomitotic cell cycle. Mol Cell Biol 1997; 17:7248-59.
- 9. Wang Z, Zhang Y, Lu J et al. Mpl ligand enhances the transcription of the cyclin D3 gene: a potential role for Sp1 transcription factor. Blood 1999; 93:4208-21.
- Malkin D, Brown EJ, Zipursky A. The role of p53 in megakaryocyte differentiation and the megakaryocytic leukemias of Down syndrome. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 2000; 116:1-5.
- Stewart ZA, Leach SD, Pietenpol JA. p21(Waf1/Cip1) inhibition of cyclin E/Cdk2 activity prevents endoreduplication after mitotic spindle disruption. Mol Cell Biol 1999; 19:205-15.
- 12. Mantel C, Braun SE, Reid S et al. p21(cip-1/waf-1) deficiency causes deformed nuclear architecture, centriole overduplication, polyploidy and relaxed microtubule damage checkpoints in human hematopoietic cells. Blood 1999; 93:1390-8.
- Dethloff LA, de la Iglesia FA. Chemical-induced hepatocyte ploidy. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1998; 150:443.
- 14. Gupta S. Hepatic polyploidy and liver growth control. Semin Cancer Biol 2000; 10:161-71.
- 15. Gandillet A, Alexandre E, Royer C et al. Hepatocyte ploidy in regenerating livers after partial hepatectomy, drug-induced necrosis and cirrhosis. Eur Surg Res 2003; 35:148-60.
- 16. Oberringer M, Lothschutz D, Jennewein M et al. Centrosome multiplication accompanies a transient clustering of polyploid cells during tissue repair. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun 1999; 2:190-6.
- Chobanian AV, Prescott MF, Haudenschild CC. Recent advances in molecular pathology. The effects of hypertension on the arterial wall. Exp Mol Pathol 1984; 41:153-69.
- Hixon ML, Obejero-Paz C, Muro-Cacho C et al. Cks1 mediates vascular smooth muscle cell polyploidization. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:40434-42.
- 19. Edgar BA, Orr-Weaver TL. Endoreplication cell cycles: more for less. Cell 2001; 105:297-306.
- Galipeau PC, Cowan DS, Sanchez CA et al. 17p (p53) allelic losses, 4N (G2/tetraploid) populations and progression to aneuploidy in Barrett's esophagus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:7081-4.
- 21. Hauf S, Cole RW, LaTerra S et al. The small molecule Hesperadin reveals a role for Aurora B in correcting kinetochore-microtubule attachment and in maintaining the spindle assembly checkpoint. J Cell Biol 2003; 161:281-94.
- 22. Shin HJ, Baek KH, Jeon AH et al. Dual roles of human BubR1, a mitotic checkpoint kinase, in the monitoring of chromosomal instability. Cancer Cell 2003; 4:483-97.
- 23. Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA. Aurora kinases link chromosome segregation and cell division to cancer susceptibility. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2004; 14:29-36.
- 24. Barr FA, Sillje HH, Nigg EA. Polo-like kinases and the orchestration of cell division. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5:429-40.
- 25. Kusuzaki K, Takeshita H, Murata H et al. Polyploidization induced by acridine orange in mouse osteosarcoma cells. Anticancer Res 2000; 20:965-70.
- 26. Verdoodt B, Decordier I, Geleyns K et al. Induction of polyploidy and apoptosis after exposure to high concentrations of the spindle poison nocodazole. Mutagenesis 1999; 14:513-20.
- Ivanov A, Cragg MS, Erenpreisa J et al. Endopolyploid cells produced after severe genotoxic damage have the potential to repair DNA double strand breaks. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:4095-106.
- Dai W, Wang Q, Liu T et al. Slippage of mitotic arrest and enhanced tumor development in mice with BubR1 haploinsufficiency. Cancer Res 2004; 64:440-5.
- Margolis RL, Lohez OD, Andreassen PR. G1 tetraploidy checkpoint and the suppression of tumorigenesis. J Cell Biochem 2003; 88:673-83.
- 30. Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA. Aurora-A overexpression reveals tetraploidization as a major route to centrosome amplification in p53-/- cells. EMBO J 2002; 21:483-92.
- Brinkley BR. Managing the centrosome numbers game: from chaos to stability in cancer cell division. Trends Cell Biol 2001; 11:18-21.
- 32. Cahill DP, Lengauer C, Yu J et al. Mutations of mitotic checkpoint genes in human cancers. Nature 1998; 392:300-3.

- Nowak MA, Komarova NL, Sengupta A et al. The role of chromosomal instability in tumor initiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99:16226-31.
- 34. Rajagopalan H, Lengauer C. Aneuploidy and cancer. Nature 2004; 432:338-41.
- 35. Duesberg P, Stindl R, Hehlmann R. Explaining the high mutation rates of cancer cells to drug and multidrug resistance by chromosome reassortments that are catalyzed by aneuploidy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:14295-300.
- 36. Roh M, Gary B, Song C et al. Overexpression of the oncogenic kinase Pim-1 leads to genomic instability. Cancer Res 2003; 63:8079-84.
- Doherty SC, McKeown SR, McKelvey-Martin V et al. Cell cycle checkpoint function in bladder cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2003; 95:1859-68.
- Lothschutz D, Jennewein M, Pahl S et al. Polyploidization and centrosome hyperamplification in inflammatory bronchi. Inflamm Res 2002; 51:416-22.
- 39. Gunawan B, Bergmann F, Braun S et al. Polyploidization and losses of chromosomes 1, 2, 6, 10, 13 and 17 in three cases of chromophobe renal cell carcinomas. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1999; 110:57-61.
- 40. Kaplan SS, Rybka WB, Blom J et al. Tetraploidy in acute myeloid leukemia secondary to large cell lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma 1998; 31:617-23.
- 41. Parry EM, Ulucan H, Wyllie FS et al. Segregational fidelity of chromosomes in human thyroid tumour cells. Chromosoma 1998; 107:491-7.
- 42. Borre M, Hoyer M, Nerstrom B et al. DNA ploidy and survival of patients with clinically localized prostate cancer treated without intent to cure. Prostate 1998; 36:244-9.
- 43. Lemez P, Michalova K, Zemanova Z et al. Three cases of near-tetraploid acute myeloid leukemias originating in pluripotent myeloid progenitors. Leuk Res 1998; 22:581-8.
- 44. Takanishi DM Jr, Hart J, Covarelli P et al. Ploidy as a prognostic feature in colonic adenocarcinoma. Arch Surg 1996; 131:587-92.
- 45. Park SH, Maeda T, Mohapatra G et al. Heterogeneity, polyploidy, aneusomy and 9p deletion in human glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1995; 83:127-35.
- 46. Li YS, Fan YS, Armstrong RF. Endoreduplication and telomeric association in a choroid plexus carcinoma. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1996; 87:7-10.
- Patel D, Incassati A, Wang N et al. Human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 cause polyploidy in human keratinocytes and up-regulation of G2-M-phase proteins. Cancer Res 2004; 64:1299-306.
- 48. Teixeira MR, Heim S. Multiple numerical chromosome aberrations in cancer: what are their causes and what are their consequences? Semin Cancer Biol 2005; 15:3-12.
- 49. Fabarius A, Hehlmann R, Duesberg PH. Instability of chromosome structure in cancer cells increases exponentially with degrees of aneuploidy. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 2003; 143:59-72.
- 50. Nigg EA. Centrosome aberrations: cause or consequence of cancer progression? Nat Rev Cancer 2002; 2:815-25.
- 51. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000; 100:57-70.
- 52. Fearon ER, Vogelstein B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 1990; 61:759-67.
- 53. Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature 1998; 396:643-9.
- 54. Duesberg P, Rausch C, Rasnick D. Genetic instability of cancer cells is proportional to their degree of aneuploidy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95:13692-7.
- 55. Knudson AG. Two genetic hits (more or less) to cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2001; 1:157-62.
- 56. Hahn WC, Weinberg RA. Rules for making human tumor cells. N Engl J Med 2002; 347:1593-603.
- 57. Soto AM, Sonnenschein C. The somatic mutation theory of cancer: growing problems with the paradigm? Bioessays 2004; 26:1097-107.
- 58. Loeb LA. A mutator phenotype in cancer. Cancer Res 2001; 61:3230-9.
- 59. Loeb LA. Mutator phenotype may be required for multistage carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 1991; 51:3075-9.
- 60. Loeb LA, Loeb KR, Anderson JP. Multiple mutations and cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 100:776-81.
- 61. Bielas JH, Loeb LA. Mutator phenotype in cancer: Timing and perspectives. Environ Mol Mutagen 2005.
- 62. Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instability in colorectal cancers. Nature 1997; 386:623-7.
- Cahill DP, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instability and darwinian selection in tumours. Trends Cell Biol 1999; 9:M57-60.
- 64. Lengauer C. Aneuploidy and genetic instability in cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 2005; 15:1.

- 65. Hanks S, Coleman K, Reid S et al. Constitutional aneuploidy and cancer predisposition caused by biallelic mutations in BUB1B. Nat Genet 2004; 36:1159-61.
- 66. Duesberg P, Li R. Multistep carcinogenesis: a chain reaction of aneuploidizations. Cell Cycle 2003; 2:202-10.
- 67. Sharpless NE, DePinho RA. Telomeres, stem cells, senescence and cancer. J Clin Invest 2004; 113:160-8.
- 68. Nigg EA. Mitotic kinases as regulators of cell division and its checkpoints. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001; 2:21-32.
- 69. Nasmyth K. Segregating sister genomes: the molecular biology of chromosome separation. Science 2002; 297:559-65.
- 70. Gisselsson D, Pettersson L, Hoglund M et al. Chromosomal breakage-fusion-bridge events cause genetic intratumor heterogeneity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:5357-62.
- 71. Fishman GI. Timing is everything in life: conditional transgene expression in the cardiovascular system. Circ Res 1998; 82:837-44.
- 72. Katayama H, Brinkley WR, Sen S. The Aurora kinases: role in cell transformation and tumorigenesis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2003; 22:451-64.
- 73. Sell S. Stem cell origin of cancer and differentiation therapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2004; 51:1-28.
- 74. Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A et al. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 100:3983-8.
- 75. Bissell MJ, Labarge MA. Context, tissue plasticity and cancer; Are tumor stem cells also regulated by the microenvironment? Cancer Cell 2005; 7:17-23.
- 76. Deng G, Lu Y, Zlotnikov G et al. Loss of heterozygosity in normal tissue adjacent to breast carcinomas. Science 1996; 274:2057-9.
- Smith GH, Boulanger CA. Mammary stem cell repertoire: new insights in aging epithelial populations. Mech Ageing Dev 2002; 123:1505-19.
- 78. Wang X, Willenbring H, Akkari Y et al. Cell fusion is the principal source of bone-marrow-derived hepatocytes. Nature 2003; 422:897-901.
- 79. Vagnarelli P, Earnshaw WC. Chromosomal passengers: the four-dimensional regulation of mitotic events. Chromosoma 2004; 113:211-22.
- Ota T, Suto S, Katayama H et al. Increased mitotic phosphorylation of histone H3 attributable to AIM-1/Aurora-B overexpression contributes to chromosome number instability. Cancer Res 2002; 62:5168-77.
- Adams RR, Eckley DM, Vagnarelli P et al. Human INCENP colocalizes with the Aurora-B/AIRK2 kinase on chromosomes and is overexpressed in tumour cells. Chromosoma 2001; 110:65-74.
- Ainsztein AM, Kandels-Lewis SE, Mackay AM et al. INCENP centromere and spindle targeting: identification of essential conserved motifs and involvement of heterochromatin protein HP1. J Cell Biol 1998; 143:1763-74.
- Cutts SM, Fowler KJ, Kile BT et al. Defective chromosome segregation, microtubule bundling and nuclear bridging in inner centromere protein gene (Incenp)-disrupted mice. Hum Mol Genet 1999; 8:1145-55.
- 84. Bishop JD, Schumacher JM. Phosphorylation of the carboxyl terminus of inner centromere protein (INCENP) by the Aurora B Kinase stimulates Aurora B kinase activity. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:27577-80.
- 85. Adams RR, Maiato H, Earnshaw WC. Essential roles of Drosophila inner centromere protein (IN-CENP) and aurora B in histone H3 phosphorylation, metaphase chromosome alignment, kinetochore disjunction and chromosome segregation. J Cell Biol 2001; 153:865-80.
- 86. Greaves S. A roar for INCENP. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3:E14.
- Cooke CA, Heck MM, Earnshaw WC. The inner centromere protein (INCENP) antigens: movement from inner centromere to midbody during mitosis. J Cell Biol 1987; 105:2053-67.
- Wheatley SP, Carvalho A, Vagnarelli P. INCENP is required for proper targeting of Survivin to the centromeres and the anaphase spindle during mitosis. Curr Biol 2001; 11:886-90.
- Vagnarelli PB, Earnshaw WC. INCENP loss from an inactive centromere correlates with the loss of sister chromatid cohesion. Chromosoma 2001; 110:393-401.
- 90. Pereira G, Schiebel E. Separase regulates INCENP-Aurora B anaphase spindle function through Cdc14. Science 2003; 302:2120-4.
- 91. Adam P, Regan C, Hautmann M. Positive- and negative-acting Kruppel-like transcription factors bind a transforming growth factor β control element required for expression of the smooth muscle cell differentiation marker SM22α in vivo. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:37798-37806.
- 92. Gassmann R, Carvalho A, Henzing AJ et al. Borealin: a novel chromosomal passenger required for stability of the bipolar mitotic spindle. J Cell Biol 2004; 166:179-91.

- Sampath SC, Ohi R, Leismann O et al. The chromosomal passenger complex is required for chromatininduced microtubule stabilization and spindle assembly. Cell 2004; 118:187-202.
- 94. Chantalat L, Skoufias DA, Kleman JP et al. Crystal structure of human survivin reveals a bow tie-shaped dimer with two unusual alpha-helical extensions. Mol Cell 2000; 6:183-9.
- 95. Muchmore SW, Chen J, Jakob C et al. Crystal structure and mutagenic analysis of the inhibitor-of-apoptosis protein survivin. Mol Cell 2000; 6:173-82.
- 96. Verdecia MA, Huang H, Dutil E et al. Structure of the human anti-apoptotic protein survivin reveals a dimeric arrangement. Nat Struct Biol 2000; 7:602-8.
- 97. Zhao J, Tenev T, Martins LM et al. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway regulates survivin degradation in a cell cycle-dependent manner. J Cell Sci 2000; 113(Pt 23):4363-71.
- Fukuda S, Pelus LM. Elevation of Survivin levels by hematopoietic growth factors occurs in quiescent CD34+ hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells before cell cycle entry. Cell Cycle 2002; 1:322-6.
- 99. Tran J, Rak J, Sheehan C et al. Marked induction of the IAP family antiapoptotic proteins survivin and XIAP by VEGF in vascular endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999; 264:781-8.
- 100. Blanc-Brude OP, Yu J, Simosa H et al. Inhibitor of apoptosis protein survivin regulates vascular injury. Nat Med 2002; 8:987-94.
- 101. Kobayashi K, Hatano M, Otaki M. Expression of a murine homologue of the inhibitor of apoptosis protein is related to cell proliferation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:1457-62.
- 102. Li F. Role of survivin and its splice variants in tumorigenesis. Br J Cancer 2005; 92:212-6.
- 103. Conway EM, Pollefeyt S, Cornelissen J et al. Three differentially expressed survivin cDNA variants encode proteins with distinct antiapoptotic functions. Blood 2000; 95:1435-42.
- 104. Song Z, Liu S, He H et al. A single amino acid change (Asp 53—>Ala53) converts Survivin from anti-apoptotic to pro-apoptotic. Mol Biol Cell 2004; 15:1287-96.
- 105. Krieg A, Mahotka C, Krieg T et al. Expression of different survivin variants in gastric carcinomas: first clues to a role of survivin-2B in tumour progression. Br J Cancer 2002; 86:737-43.
- 106. Fortugno P, Wall NR, Giodini A et al. Survivin exists in immunochemically distinct subcellular pools and is involved in spindle microtubule function. J Cell Sci 2002; 115:575-85.
- 107. Wheatley SP, Henzing AJ, Dodson H et al. Aurora-B phosphorylation in vitro identifies a residue of survivin that is essential for its localization and binding to inner centromere protein (INCENP) in vivo. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:5655-60.
- 108. Uren AG, Wong L, Pakusch M et al. Survivin and the inner centromere protein INCENP show similar cell-cycle localization and gene knockout phenotype. Curr Biol 2000; 10:1319-28.
- 109. Ambrosini G, Adida C, Altieri DC. A novel anti-apoptosis gene, survivin, expressed in cancer and lymphoma. Nat Med 1997; 3:917-21.
- 110. Grossman D, Kim PJ, Blanc-Brude OP et al. Transgenic expression of survivin in keratinocytes counteracts UVB-induced apoptosis and cooperates with loss of p53. J Clin Invest 2001; 108:991-9.
- 111. Suzuki A, Ito T, Kawano H et al. Survivin initiates procaspase 3/p21 complex formation as a result of interaction with Cdk4 to resist Fas-mediated cell death. Oncogene 2000; 19:1346-53.
- 112. Suzuki A, Hayashida M, Ito T et al. Survivin initiates cell cycle entry by the competitive interaction with Cdk4/p16(INK4a) and Cdk2/cyclin E complex activation. Oncogene 2000; 19:3225-34.
- 113. Nagata Y, Jones MR, Nguyen HG et al. Vascular smooth muscle cell polyploidization involves changes in chromosome passenger proteins and an endomitotic cell cycle. Exp Cell Res 2005; 305:277-91.
- 114. Geddis AE, Kaushansky K. Megakaryocytes express functional Aurora-B kinase in endomitosis. Blood 2004; 104:1017-24.
- Baccini V, Roy L, Vitrat N et al. Role of p21(Cip1/Waf1) in cell-cycle exit of endomitotic megakaryocytes. Blood 2001; 98:3274-82.
- 116. Roy L, Coullin P, Vitrat N et al. Asymmetrical segregation of chromosomes with a normal metaphase/anaphase checkpoint in polyploid megakaryocytes. Blood 2001; 97:2238-47.
- 117. Song Z, Yao X, Wu M. Direct interaction between survivin and Smac/DIABLO is essential for the anti-apoptotic activity of survivin during taxol-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:23130-40.
- 118. Marusawa H, Matsuzawa S, Welsh K et al. HBXIP functions as a cofactor of survivin in apoptosis suppression. EMBO J 2003; 22:2729-40.
- 119. Castedo M, Perfettini JL, Roumier T et al. Cell death by mitotic catastrophe: a molecular definition. Oncogene 2004; 23:2825-37.
- 120. Carter BZ, Wang RY, Schober WD et al. Targeting Survivin expression induces cell proliferation defect and subsequent cell death involving mitochondrial pathway in myeloid leukemic cells. Cell Cycle 2003; 2:488-93.
- 121. Li F, Ackermann EJ, Bennett CF et al. Pleiotropic cell-division defects and apoptosis induced by interference with survivin function. Nat Cell Biol 1999; 1:461-6.

- 122. Adams RR, Carmena M, Earnshaw WC. Chromosomal passengers and the (aurora) ABCs of mitosis. Trends Cell Biol 2001; 11:49-54.
- Castro A, Arlot-Bonnemains Y, Vigneron S et al. APC/Fizzy-Related targets Aurora-A kinase for proteolysis. EMBO Rep 2002; 3:457-62.
- 124. Andrews PD, Knatko E, Moore WJ et al. Mitotic mechanics: the auroras come into view. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2003; 15:672-83.
- 125. Ducat D, Zheng Y. Aurora kinases in spindle assembly and chromosome segregation. Exp Cell Res 2004; 301:60-7.
- 126. Honda R, Korner R, Nigg EA. Exploring the functional interactions between Aurora B, INCENP and survivin in mitosis. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14:3325-41.
- 127. Kang J, Cheeseman IM, Kallstrom G et al. Functional cooperation of Dam1, Ipl1 and the inner centromere protein (INCENP)-related protein Sli15 during chromosome segregation. J Cell Biol 2001; 155:763-74.
- 128. Chen J, Jin S, Tahir SK et al. Survivin enhances Aurora-B kinase activity and localizes Aurora-B in human cells. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:486-90.
- 129. Nguyen HG, Chinnappan D, Urano T. Mechanism of Aurora-B Degradation and Its Dependency on Intact KEN and A-Boxes: Identification of an Aneuploidy-Promoting Property. Mol Cell Biol 2005; 25:4977-92.
- 130. Scrittori L, Skoufias DA, Hans F et al. A small C-terminal sequence of Aurora B is responsible for localization and function. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:292-305.
- 131. Kallio MJ, McCleland ML, Stukenberg PT. Inhibition of aurora B kinase blocks chromosome segregation, overrides the spindle checkpoint and perturbs microtubule dynamics in mitosis. Curr Biol, 2002; 12:900-5.
- 132. Lan W, Zhang X, Kline-Smith SL et al. Aurora B phosphorylates centromeric MCAK and regulates its localization and microtubule depolymerization activity. Curr Biol 2004; 14:273-86.
- 133. Andrews PD, Ovechkina Y, Morrice N et al. Aurora B regulates MCAK at the mitotic centromere. Dev Cell 2004; 6:253-68.
- 134. Sugiyama K, Sugiura K, Hara T et al. Aurora-B associated protein phosphatases as negative regulators of kinase activation. Oncogene 2002; 21:3103-11.
- 135. Murnion ME, Adams RR, Callister DM et al. Chromatin-associated protein phosphatase 1 regulates aurora-B and histone H3 phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:26656-65.
- 136. Biggins S, Severin FF, Bhalla N et al. The conserved protein kinase Ipl1 regulates microtubule binding to kinetochores in budding yeast. Genes Dev 1999; 13:532-44.
- 137. Tanaka TU, Rachidi N, Janke C et al. Evidence that the Ipl1-Sli15 (Aurora kinase-INCENP) complex promotes chromosome bi-orientation by altering kinetochore-spindle pole connections. Cell 2002; 108:317-29.
- 138. Pinsky BA, Tatsutani SY, Collins KA et al. An Mtw1 complex promotes kinetochore biorientation that is monitored by the Ipl1/Aurora protein kinase. Dev Cell 2003; 5:735-45.
- 139. Dewar H, Tanaka K, Nasmyth K. Tension between two kinetochores suffices for their bi-orientation on the mitotic spindle. Nature 2004; 428:93-7.
- 140. Cheeseman IM, Anderson S, Jwa M et al. Phospho-regulation of kinetochore-microtubule attachments by the Aurora kinase Ipl1p. Cell 2002; 111:163-72.
- 141. Carvalho A, Carmena M, Sambade C et al. Survivin is required for stable checkpoint activation in taxol-treated HeLa cells. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:2987-98.
- 142. Ditchfield C, Johnson VL, Tighe A et al. Aurora B couples chromosome alignment with anaphase by targeting BubR1, Mad2 and Cenp-E to kinetochores. J Cell Biol 2003; 161:267-80.
- 143. Lampson MA, Renduchitala K, Khodjakov A et al. Correcting improper chromosome-spindle attachments during cell division. Nat Cell Biol 2004; 6:232-7.
- 144. Murata-Hori M, Wang YL. The kinase activity of aurora B is required for kinetochore-microtubule interactions during mitosis. Curr Biol 2002; 12:894-9.
- 145. Vigneron S, Prieto S, Bernis C et al. Kinetochore localization of spindle checkpoint proteins: who controls whom? Mol Biol Cell 2004; 15:4584-96.
- 146. Goto H, Yasui Y, Kawajiri A et al. Aurora-B regulates the cleavage furrow-specific vimentin phosphorylation in the cytokinetic process. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:8526-8530.
- 147. Terada Y. Role of chromosomal passenger complex in chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. Cell Struct Funct 2001; 26:653-7.
- 148. Kimura M, Kotani S, Hattori T et al. Cell cycle-dependent expression and spindle pole localization of a novel human protein kinase, Aik, related to Aurora of Drosophila and yeast Ipl1. J Biol Chem, 1997; 272:13766-71.
- 149. Terada Y, Tatsuka M, Suzuki F et al. AIM-1: a mammalian midbody-associated protein required for cytokinesis. EMBO J 1998; 17:667-76.

- 150. Giet R, Glover DM. Drosophila aurora B kinase is required for histone H3 phosphorylation and condensin recruitment during chromosome condensation and to organize the central spindle during cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2001; 152:669-82.
- 151. Keen N, Taylor S. Aurora-kinase inhibitors as anticancer agents. Nat Rev Cancer 2004; 4:927-36.
- 152. Zhang Y, Nagata Y, Yu G et al. Aberrant quantity and localization of Aurora-B/AIM-1 and survivin during megakaryocyte polyploidization and the consequences of Aurora-B/AIM-1-deregulated expression. Blood 2004; 103:3717-26.
- 153. Terada Y, Tatsuka M, Suzuki F et al. AIM-1: a mammalian midbody-associated protein required for cytokinesis. EMBO J 1998; 17:667-676.
- 154. Goepfert TM, Brinkley BR. The centrosome-associated Aurora/Ipl-like kinase family. Curr Top Dev Biol 2000; 49:331-42.
- 155. Carmena M, Earnshaw WC. The cellular geography of aurora kinases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003; 4:842-54.
- 156. Bischoff JR, Anderson L, Zhu Y et al. A homologue of Drosophila aurora kinase is oncogenic and amplified in human colorectal cancers. EMBO J 1998; 17:3052-65.
- 157. Tatsuka M, Katayama H, Ota T et al. Multinuclearity and increased ploidy caused by overexpression of the aurora- and Ipl1-like midbody-associated protein mitotic kinase in human cancer cells. Cancer Res 1998; 58:4811-6.
- 158. Giet R, Prigent C. Aurora/Ipl1p-related kinases, a new oncogenic family of mitotic serine-threonine kinases. J Cell Sci 1999; 112(Pt 21):3591-601.
- 159. Altieri DC. Survivin in apoptosis control and cell cycle regulation in cancer. Prog Cell Cycle Res 2003; 5:447-52.
- 160. Sen S, Zhou H, Zhang RD et al. Amplification/overexpression of a mitotic kinase gene in human bladder cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2002; 94:1320-9.
- 161. Fujita M, Mizuno M, Nagasaka T et al. Aurora-B dysfunction of multinucleated giant cells in glioma detected by site-specific phosphorylated antibodies. J Neurosurg 2004; 101:1012-7.
- 162. Tatsuka M, Sato S, Kitajima S et al. Overexpression of Aurora-A potentiates HRAS-mediated oncogenic transformation and is implicated in oral carcinogenesis. Oncogene 2005; 24:1122-7.
- 163. Sorrentino R, Libertini S, Pallante PL et al. Aurora B overexpression associates with the thyroid carcinoma undifferentiated phenotype and is required for thyroid carcinoma cell proliferation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90:928-35.
- 164. Mayer F, Stoop H, Sen S et al. Aneuploidy of human testicular germ cell tumors is associated with amplification of centrosomes. Oncogene 2003; 22:3859-66.
- 165. Araki K, Nozaki K, Ueba T et al. High expression of Aurora-B/Aurora and Ipll-like midbody-associated protein (AIM-1) in astrocytomas. J Neurooncol 2004; 67:53-64.
- 166. Doggrell SA. Dawn of Aurora kinase inhibitors as anticancer drugs. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2004; 13:1199-201.
- 167. Harrington EA, Bebbington D, Moore J et al. VX-680, a potent and selective small-molecule inhibitor of the Aurora kinases, suppresses tumor growth in vivo. Nat Med 2004; 10:262-7.
- 168. Gadea BB, Ruderman JV. Aurora kinase inhibitor ZM447439 blocks chromosome-induced spindle assembly, the completion of chromosome condensation and the establishment of the spindle integrity checkpoint in Xenopus egg extracts. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:1305-18.
- 169. Bischoff JR. Plowman GD. The Aurora/Ipl1p kinase family: regulators of chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. Trends Cell Biol 1999; 9:454-9.
- 170. Descamps S, Prigent C. Two mammalian mitotic aurora kinases: who's who? Sci STKE 2001; PE1.
- 171. Cong XL, Han ZC. Survivin and leukemia. Int J Hematol 2004; 80:232-8.
- 172. Choi N, Baumann M, Flentjie M et al. Predictive factors in radiotherapy for nonsmall cell lung cancer: present status. Lung Cancer 2001; 31:43-56.
- 173. Sasaki T, Lopes MB, Hankins GR et al. Expression of survivin, an inhibitor of apoptosis protein, in tumors of the nervous system. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 2002; 104:105-9.
- 174. Sui L, Dong Y, Ohno M et al. Survivin expression and its correlation with cell proliferation and prognosis in epithelial ovarian tumors. Int J Oncol 2002; 21:315-20.
- 175. Kajiwara Y, Yamasaki F, Hama S et al. Expression of survivin in astrocytic tumors: correlation with malignant grade and prognosis. Cancer 2003; 97:1077-83.
- 176. Nakayama K, Kamihira S. Survivin an important determinant for prognosis in adult T-cell leukemia: a novel biomarker in practical hemato-oncology. Leuk Lymphoma 2002; 43:2249-55.

Polyploidization of Liver Cells

Séverine Celton-Morizur and Chantal Desdouets*

Abstract

ukaryotic organisms usually contain a diploid complement of chromosomes. However, there are a number of exceptions. Organisms containing an increase in DNA content by Awhole number multiples of the entire set of chromosomes are defined as polyploid. Cells that contain more than two sets of chromosomes were first observed in plants about a century ago and it is now recognized that polyploidy cells form in many eukaryotes under a wide variety of circumstance. Although it is less common in mammals, some tissues, including the liver, show a high percentage of polyploid cells. Thus, during postnatal growth, the liver parenchyma undergoes dramatic changes characterized by gradual polyploidization during which hepatocytes of several ploidy classes emerge as a result of modified cell-division cycles. This process generates the successive appearance of tetraploid and octoploid cell classes with one or two nuclei (mononucleated or binucleated). Liver cells polyploidy is generally considered to indicate terminal differentiation and senescence and to lead both to the progressive loss of cell pluripotency and a markedly decreased replication capacity. In adults, liver polyploidization is differentially regulated upon loss of liver mass and liver damage. Interestingly, partial hepatectomy induces marked cell proliferation followed by an increase in liver ploidy. In contrast, during hepatocarcinoma (HCC), growth shifts to a nonpolyploidizing pattern and expansion of the diploid hepatocytes population is observed in neoplastic nodules. Here we review the current state of understanding about how polyploidization is regulated during normal and pathological liver growth and detail by which mechanisms hepatocytes become polyploid.

Introduction

The liver is an essential organ with a high regenerative capacity and complex functions.¹⁻³ This organ has a central role in metabolic homeostasis, as it is responsible for the metabolism, synthesis, storage and redistribution of nutrients, carbohydrates, fats and vitamins. Nutrients entering the liver are transformed into secreted proteins (albumin, most coagulation factors and several plasma carrier proteins), carbohydrates stored in the liver as glycogen (the main glucose reserve used for stabilization of glucose levels in the blood) and lipids sent as lipoproteins into the other tissues. Importantly, the liver is also the main detoxifying organ of the body, which removes wastes and xenobiotics by metabolic conversion and biliary excretion. The main cell type of the liver that carries out most of these functions is the parenchymal cells, or hepatocytes, which constitute approximately 60% of all cells in the liver and 90% of liver cell mass. The other 40% comprise the nonparenchymal cells, which include endothelial cells, kupffer cells, lymphocytes and stellate cells. Hepatocytes within the liver lobule differ in their enzyme content and subcellular structure according to their location (for reviews see ref. 4). In fact, based on the blood vessels location and the blood flow direction, the individual liver lobule can be subdivided into an upstream "periportal" and a downstream "perivenous"

*Corresponding Author: Chantal Desdouets—Institut Cochin, Universite Paris Descartes, CNRS (UNR 8104) Inserm U567 Department of Genetic and Development, 24 rue du Faubourg St Jacques, 75014 Paris, France.Email: desdouets@cochin.inserm.fr

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. (pericentral) region. Amino-acid metabolism, gluconeogenesis, lipid oxidation, energy metabolism and glycogen synthesis from lactate take place in the upstream, periportal hepatocytes. On the other hand, glycolysis, lipogenesis, cytochrome P450-dependent detoxification and glycogen synthesis from glucose are located in the downstream, pericentral hepatocytes.

Polyploidy is a characteristic feature of mammalian hepatocytes.⁵⁻⁸ During postnatal growth, the liver parenchyma undergoes dramatic changes characterized by gradual polyploidization during which hepatocytes of several ploidy classes emerge as a result of modified cell-division cycles. This process generates the successive appearance of tetraploid and octoploid cell classes with one or two nuclei.⁸⁻¹⁰ The hepatocyte ploidy level practically reaches the plateau at maturity. Interestingly, a second wave of ploidy elevation has been also observed at senescence in different species.^{11,12} The biological significance of hepatic polyploidy is not clear, but the presence of advanced polyploidy is generally considered to indicate terminal differentiation,^{13,14} with decreased proliferative capacity.^{15,16} In this chapter, we discuss how polyploidization is regulated during normal and pathological liver growth and try to understand by which mechanisms hepatocytes become polyploid.

Polyploidization During Normal (Developmental) Liver Growth

Hepatic development is an extended process that continues thought early postnatal life. Through E14, most hepatoblasts are bipotent with the ability to differentiate into hepatocytes as well as biliary cells but by E15 most hepatoblasts are committed to the hepatocyte lineage.^{17,18} During the remaining period of gestation and the first four postnatal weeks, hepatoblasts acquire functions of the differentiated hepatocytes and metabolic zonation.^{4,17,18} In parallel with this process of hepatocyte differentiation, there is a progressive decline in cellular proliferation. The DNA synthesis rate is elevated in rats two hours after birth with 18% of the hepatocytes incorporating ³H-Thymidine.¹⁹ Three weeks after birth, ~9% of the hepatocytes show evidence for DNA synthesis; within six weeks DNA synthesis is detected in only few hepatocytes, ~0.05% which is similar to a normal adult liver.

The onset of polyploidy is clearly correlated with the end of the proliferative state in the liver. Several techniques have been reported for ploidy determination using isolated hepatocytes (ex vivo studies). Hepatocyte ploidy has been investigated in the past essentially through karyometry²⁰ and cytophotometry.^{21,22} More recently, several groups have used flow cytometry (FACS).^{9,14,23} However, FACS cannot resolve nuclearity (counting binucleated cells) and a second step is required to count the number of nuclei per cell (microscopy approach).^{24,25} Recently, reports have taken advantage of fluorescence imaging to directly assess in vivo nuclearity and to measure DNA content in order to determine the liver ploidy/binuclearity profile^{26,27} (Fig. 1A,B). In fact, the results of ex vivo and in vivo studies are in line with each other. For example, in the newborn rat liver, all hepatocytes are diploid (Fig. 1C). From the first three weeks postnatal, the proportion of diploid cells starts to fall significantly, with the successive appearance of binucleated 2 × 2n and mononucleated 4n hepatocytes (Fig. 1C). Binucleated $2 \times 2n$ cells are first detected after weaning (day 21) and then their proportion rise rapidly to reach ~30 % of the total hepatocytes population at day 30. The mononucleated 4n hepatocytes population is only present at significant levels 25 days after birth. At day 30, a sharp increase is observed in the number of mononucleated 4n hepatocytes and this hepatocytes contingent is in the majority at day 40, reaching ~45% of the total population (Fig. 1C). Octoploid (binucleated 2×4 n and mononucleated 8n) hepatocytes accumulate in significant numbers during the second and third months, in parallel with a decline in the relative number of tetraploid hepatocytes.

The degree of polyploidization varies in different mammals (Table 1).^{28,29} In humans, the number of polyploid cells averages 30% to 40% in the adult liver.¹¹⁻²⁷ A negative correlation exists between the mitotic index in the liver and the level of hepatocyte polyploidization found in different species.^{30,31} For example, a mouse liver has a much lower mitotic index than a rat liver and accordingly the higher level of hepatocyte polyploidization is minimal in a guinea pig liver which has the highest mitotic index of hepatocytes amongst rodents.²⁹ Increased cell size is the most obvious and consistent consequence of an increase in ploidy. Different studies have demonstrated in both human and mouse liver cells that the volume of hepatocytes is approximately twice with doubling DNA content.^{8,25,32,33} Moreover, there is no significant difference in the volume



Figure 1. In situ analysis of hepatocyte polyploidy during liver growth. A) Imaging of a liver section after double staining with Hoechst (nuclear labelling) and β -catenin (plasma membrane labelling) enable a distinction between mononucleated 2n, 4n and binucleated 2 × 2n hepatocytes. B) Representative histogram of the DNA content distribution of mononucleated hepatocytes from 12-days-old and 30-days-old rats. DNA content is evaluated by recording the Hoechst integrated fluorescence in each nucleus. Integrated fluorescence is expressed in arbitrary units. The first peak is representative of hepatocytes with 2n DNA content. The second peak is positioned at twice the value of the first peak and is representative of hepatocytes with 4n DNA content. C) Polyploidization during postnatal liver growth: percentages of mononucleated 2n (black line), binucleated 2 × 2n (dark line) and mononucleated 4n (grey line) hepatocytes. The average percentage of each population is shown on the curve.

of binucleated $2 \times 2n$ and mononucleated 4n hepatocytes and between binucleated $2 \times 4n$ and mononucleated 8n hepatocytes.²⁵ The relationship between DNA content and cell volume is in fact conserved in evolutionarily distant eukaryotes. For example, the volume of budding yeast cells increases linearly with each extra complement of chromosomes.³⁴ How are polyploid hepatocytes distributed in adult hepatic lobules? Different studies have suggested the existence of ploidy zonation within the hepatic lobules, periportal hepatocytes exhibiting less ploidy and perivenous hepatocytes greater ploidy.^{13,35,36} However, recent discrepant results have been reported suggesting that similar proportions of binucleated hepatocytes are present in both periportal and perivenous areas.³⁷

	Hepatocyte Ploidy Classes					
	2n	2 imes 2n	4n	2 imes 4n	8n	2 imes 8n
Bos taurus	97,3	2,0	0,7			
Equus caballus	96,7	2,3	1,0			
Ovis aries	92,7	4,3	3,0			
Homo sapiens	75,8	14.3	9,6	0,3		
Canis lupus	87,3	6,0	6,7			
Gorilla gorilla	81,3	12,21	5,6	0,6	0,3	
Cavia porcellus	68,7	28,0	3,3			
Talpa europaea	63,7	31,0	5,3			
Sorex araneus	15,0	84,7	0,3			
Rattus rattus	4,0	16,3	67,7	8,7	3,0	0,3
Rattus norvegicus	5,3	2,7	76,0	10,0	6,0	
Mus musculus	5,7	7,3	60,0	17,0	7,7	2,3

Table 1. Distribution (%) of the different hepatocytes ploidy classes

The molecular events that cause polyploidy remain elusive. The onset of polyploidy is clearly associated with weaning and independent feeding.²⁹ Liver polyploidy would be influenced by dietary restriction (DR). The effect of the DR on liver polyploidy has been analyzed by measuring the volume of hepatic nuclei. When dietary restriction is imposed on one group by reducing their food intake to 60% of ad libitum food intake, onset of polyploidization is delayed in food-deprived rats.³⁸ The same results are obtained if mice are fed with a low protein diet.³⁹ The endocrine regulation of the growth and polyploidization of liver nuclei has been extensively studied in the past. Forty years ago, morphometric studies revealed that hormones alter mitotic activity and hepatocyte ploidy, the regulation being predominantly carried out by growth and thyroid hormones with modulators effects of sex steroids hormones.^{40.44} When summarizing the role for pituitary-mediated hormones, it was suggested that the action of the thyroid hormone is largely mediated through an effect on the release of the anterior pituitary growth hormone (GH).³⁰ However, more recently two studies have investigated the effect of T_3 in thyroidectomized rats on the ploidy of liver nuclei. A complete cessation of 4C nuclei formation was reported in these rats; treatment of thyroidectomized rats with a single dose of T₃ was sufficient to abruptly increase the percentage of 4C nuclei.^{45,46} By contrast, hGH injection has no effect on the 4C nuclei fraction in the hypothyroid rats.⁴⁶ These results suggest that the processes of hepatocyte polyploidization are under endocrine control, with thyroid hormones playing the essential regulatory role.

Mechanism of Binucleation and Polyploidization

One fascinating question is how a diploid organism can give rise to polyploid cells in some tissues. In the liver, the cellular mechanisms that govern the passage from mononucleated 2n to binucleated 2 × 2n and/or mononucleated 4n hepatocytes have long been unknown. One explanation for liver polyploidization is that a mononucleated 2n hepatocyte gives rise directly to mononucleated 4n cells through endoreplication. During this physiological process, DNA replication is uncoupled from cell division: the cell undergoes several rounds of DNA replication without mitosis, leading to the genesis of terminally differentiated nondividing autopolyploids cells.⁴⁷ This process has already been described in plants, *Drosophila* and mammals, notably in megakaryocyte and trophoblast cells.^{47,50} In the liver, such a mechanism has also been described but only in pathological murine models exhibiting an absence or deregulated expression of genes such as p21, S-phase kinase associated protein 2 (Skp2) and excision repair cross-complementing protein 1 (ERCC1). In these mice, endoreplication takes place and induces premature liver poly-

ploidization with an increase in the number of mononucleated polyploid fractions.⁵¹⁻⁵³ However, this process doesn't take into account the formation of binucleated cells.

An alternative mechanism could be cell fusion, where two mononucleated 2n cells can fuse together and produce one binucleated $2 \times 2n$ hepatocyte. Hereafter, binucleated $2 \times 2n$ hepatocytes may divide, leading to the genesis of two daughter mononucleated 4n hepatocytes. A mononucleated 4n hepatocyte then embarks upon a new round of binucleation/polyploidization with the formation of $2 \times 4n$ and 8n cells. In some cell types (skeletal muscle cells and osteoclasts), cell fusion is a normal developmental programmed step, which leads to the production of terminally differentiated cells.^{54,55} In the liver, there is no strong evidences that such phenomenon can occur between two hepatocytes, even if an old study suggests that cultured primary hepatocytes with one or two nuclei can fuse themselves spontaneously and that the frequency of this phenomenon increases with culture time.⁵⁶ However the relevance of this phenomenon is controversial and could be attributed to the cell culture conditions, as it has been described for other kind of cell types.⁵⁷

Finally, it was suggested a long time ago that a process of abortive cell cycle could produce binucleated hepatocytes.²⁰ Generally correlated with pathological proliferation, this particular event is due to a wide variety of defects in different aspects of cell division such as DNA replication, dissolving sister-chromatid cohesion, mitotic spindle function and cytokinesis. Recently, two studies have clearly demonstrated that binuclated hepatocytes have a pivotal role for the establishment of liver cell polyploidization during postnatal development (Fig. 2). In the first study, Guidotti and collabora-



Figure 2. Lineage of hepatocytes of different ploidy during postnatal liver growth. Hepatocytes of newborns are exclusively diploid (mononucleated 2n). At the weaning period, the mononucleated 2n hepatocyte can engage either into a normal cell division cycle (whole arrow) and gives rise to two mononucleated 2n hepatocytes, or follow an adaptive cell cycle with incomplete cytokinesis (arrow in dotted line) and give rise to one binucleated 2 × 2n hepatocyte. During liver growth, progressive polyploidization appears and tetraploid and octoploid cells classes with one or two nuclei are formed.

tors showed that the formation of binucleated hepatocytes was the consequence of a modified cell cycle.²⁶ Indeed, using a live-cell microscopy approach, they clearly demonstrated that binucleated 2 × 2n hepatocytes derive from mononucleated 2n hepatocytes that have not completed cytokinesis. In another study, the molecular process of the incomplete cytokinesis was deciphered.³⁷ This specific division program is triggered by weaning. Indeed, in suckling rats, all late telophase hepatocytes



Figure 3. Physiological incomplete mode of cytokinesis in the liver. (Adapted from Margall-Ducos G et al. J Cell Sci 2007; 120:3633-3639)³⁷. A) Actin cytoskeleton rearrangement doesn't occur during an incomplete cytokinesis process. When hepatocytes complete cytokinesis, the presence of an actin belt parallel to the cleavage plane is observed in anaphase with its ingression during telophase (left panels). By contrast, during incomplete cytokinesis, the actin belt is always absent, actin cytoskeleton not being able to reorganize at the cleavage plane (right panels). Consequently, during telophase, there is no ingression. Hepatocytes are stained with Alexa Fluor488 phalloidin (actin) and nuclei with Hoechst (DNA). Scale bars represent 5 µm. B) Organization of the microtubules network during incomplete cytokinesis. Staining for b tubulin reveals that the microtubules network during compressed in anaphase when hepatocytes ac onsequence of furrow ingression (left panels). When hepatocytes do not complete cytokinesis, the cells present disrupted microtubules network due to the absence of anctorage to the equatorial cortex (right panels). Scale bars represent 5 µm. Reproduced with permission of the Company of Biologists.
present a cell shape characteristic of cleavage furrow ingression.⁵⁸ In fed rats, although some late telophase hepatocytes are engaged in a normal cytokinesis process (60%), others present a round shape, indicating an absence of ingression (40%). Following living cells divisions after weaning, the authors established that anaphase cell elongation, a crucial step in the cytokinesis process, is clearly impaired in hepatocytes presenting an incomplete cytokinesis. In fact, the actin cytoskeleton is not reorganized to the cleavage plane during anaphase-telophase transition (Fig. 3A). Moreover, during an incomplete cytokinesis process there is an absence of astral microtubules anchorage to the equatorial cortex inducing a total destabilization of microtubules network (Fig. 3B). Signals transmitted by astral microtubules are not delivered to the equatorial cortex. In this condition, the RhoA pathway, the orchestrator of cytokinesis, is not activated. These findings reveal a new developmental cell division program in the liver which prevents cleavage-plane specification leading to the genesis of binucleated hepatocytes.

In contrast to a transformed cell that does not complete cytokinesis,⁵⁹ a binucleated $2 \times 2n$ hepatocyte is able to proceed through a new cell cycle.²⁶ This cell progresses through the S phase (Fig. 4A) and during mitosis cytokinesis may or may not be completed, leading to the genesis of two



Figure 4. Centrosomes traffic during the division of binucleated $2 \times 2n$ hepatocytes. (Adapted from Guidotti JE et al. J Biol Chem 2003 23; 278(21):19095-101)²⁶. A) Binucleated hepatocytes progress through the S phase. Analysis of BrdU incorporation on primary cultures of hepatocytes reveals that DNA replication occurs in binucleated as well as mononucleated hepatocytes. B) A binucleated hepatocyte duplicates its centrosomes. A binucleated hepatocyte displays two centrosomes during G1 phase (γ -tubulin labelling) and four centrosomes during G2 phase. DNA content is evaluated by recording Hoechst fluorescence in each nucleus. The peak DNA content of hepatocyte ($2 \times 4n$) with four centrosomes. C) Specific migration of centrosomes during mitosis of binucleated hepatocytes. During prophase, the four centrosomes move apart and at metaphase cluster in pairs at opposite poles of the cell. At telophase, centrosome clustering is maintained. Reproduced with permission of the Company of Biologists.

mononucleated 4n hepatocytes or one binucleated $2 \times 4n$ hepatocyte (Fig. 2). Note that animal cells face a specific problem when they become tetraploid: they acquire an extra centrosome that could potentially compromise the assembly of a bipolar spindle during metaphase, contributing to the accuracy of chromosome segregation. Hyperamplification of a centrosome has been observed in many tumor tissues and cell lines and is linked with both aneuploidy and tumorigenesis.⁶⁰⁻⁶⁵ In order to prevent proliferation or survival of tetraploids cells, the cell has evolved several mechanisms: G1 cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, adaptive silencing of extra centrosomes and specific clustering of these extra centrosomes.⁵⁹ Interestingly, binucleated hepatocytes during the S phase correctly duplicate their centrosomes (Fig. 4B). During mitosis these cells formed a unique bipolar spindle, leading to the alignment of all chromosomes on one metaphase plate. This event is driven by a specific clustering of supernumerary centrosomes, two by two at the cellular pole (Fig. 4C). This centrosome clustering is essential to give rise solely to viable polyploid progeny and prevent the genesis of aneuploid cells.⁵⁹ In conclusion, the hepatocyte constitutes a particularly interesting model of a ploidy process leading first to binucleated $2 \times 2n$ cells, which then evolve into mononucleated 4nor binucleated $2 \times 4n$ cell. Furthermore, it is quiet fascinating that hepatocytes can adapt to the presence of extra centrosomes. Understanding the mechanism that controls centrosome clustering would be important for cancer biology in order to prevent aberrant mitosis.

Polyploidy in Regenerating Liver and During Pathological States

The adult liver retains a high proliferative capacity. It responds to tissue injuries such as partial hepatectomy, toxin and drug-induced liver disease as well as the administration of a specific growth factor by priming quiescent hepatocytes.⁶⁶ During liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy, quiescent hepatocytes undergo one or two rounds of replication to restore the liver mass by a process of compensatory hyperplasia. Many studies have shown that during this process hepatic polyploidy is modified.^{6,9,14,20,29} Regenerative liver growth differs markedly from developmental liver growth with the most striking difference being the rapid disappearance of binucleated hepatocytes (Fig. 5). The hepatocellular growth pattern is thus switched to a nonbinucleating mode of growth; nuclei with diploid or tetraploid DNA is converted to tetraploid and octoploid ones respectively.¹⁴ Interestingly, the diploid hepatocytes seem to have a higher tendency that the polyploid ones to undergo several rounds of division.¹⁴ Moreover, after partial hepatectomy, polyploid hepatocytes exhibit senescence-type changes with increased lipofuscin accumulation, β -galactosidase activity (a marker of cell senescence⁶⁷) and accumulation of p21.¹⁴ Different studies have also shown, in adult rodents, that induction of DNA synthesis by different chemicals is associated with disparate changes in liver ploidy and nuclearity profile. Thus, liver growth induced by the mitogen lead nitrate, unlike liver regeneration induced by PH, is associated with cellular polyploidy mainly resulting from an increase in binuclearity.⁶⁸ By contrast, an increase in mononucleated octoploid hepatocytes has been described following administration of hepatic mitogens as 1,4-dichlorobenzene²⁴ and sodium phenobarbitone (PB)⁶⁹ and peroxisome proliferators as WY-14 643 and methylclofenapate.⁷⁰ All these results suggest that different chemicals may selectively induce DNA synthesis in hepatocytes of one particular ploidy or nuclearity class.

Hepatic polyploidy can also be modified by metabolic overload that induces liver lesions (Fig. 5). It has been reported that Long-Evans Cinnamon (LEC) rats spontaneously develop a necrotizing hepatic injury.^{71,72} These rats are deficient in the P-type copper ATPase gene (atp7b), the gene responsible for human Wilson's disease (WD). LEC rats accumulate excess copper in the liver but have decreased levels of serum ceruloplasmin activities, a clinical presentation similar to human WD.⁷³ Moreover, LEC rats also accumulate as much iron as copper.⁷⁴ In this animal's model, hepatocytes present large polyploid nuclei and a delay in mitotic progression has been also observed.^{75,76} Similarly, in normal mice the injection of iron-dextran induces liver polyploidization; this effect is inhibited by the oral intake of iron chelator.⁷⁷ Oxidative damage to the liver is also associated with a pronounced increase in the population of polyploid hepatocytes. Gorla and collaborators demonstrated that subsequent to radiation, hepatocytes exhibit evidence for oxidative injury with the deletion of intracellular antioxidants (as glutathione and catalase) and for an



Figure 5. Ploidy modification during regenerative and pathological proliferation. In adults, liver polyploidization is regulated differently upon loss of liver mass and liver damage. Liver regeneration induced by partial hepatectomy leads to the disappearance of binucleated hepatocytes and the formation of mononucleated tetraploid and octoploid hepatocytes. Induction of DNA synthesis by chemicals, oxidative damage or metabolic overload is selectively associated with a pronounced increase in the population of polyploid hepatocytes of one particular ploidy or nuclearity class. Liver lesions induced in the rat by chemical carcinogens (diethylnitrosamine (DEN) and 2-acetyl-aminofluorene (2-AAF)) lead to an overall reduction in liver ploidy and an expansion of the diploid cell population. Increases in diploid mononucleated hepatocytes have been reported in human euploid hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).

increase of polyploidy.^{78,79} In the same line, another study demonstrated that the overexpression of antioxidant enzymes (glutathione peroxidase, Cu, Zn-superoxide dismutase) in transgenic mice decreases hepatocyte ploidy during liver regeneration.⁸⁰ All these results argue with the fact that an extensive correlation exists between the generation of polyploid hepatocytes and a variety of cellular stress as it has been demonstrated in other tissues.⁵⁹

Finally and in contrast of what we described above, hepatocellular carcinoma has a lower polyploid fraction compared to an age-matched normal liver(Fig. 5).⁸¹ Thus, liver lesions induced in the rat by chemical carcinogens (diethylnitrosamine (DEN) and 2-acetyl-aminofluorene (2-AAF)) lead to an overall reduction in liver ploidy and an expansion of the diploid cell population which prevails at the different stages of hepatocyte transformation: foci, nodule and hepatocarcinogenesis. An increase in diploid mononucleated hepatocytes with a decrease in polyploid hepatocytes (including binucleated fraction) have been reported in human euploid hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).^{87,88} Diploid cells are also detected in macronodules (dysplasia, high grade) in cirrhotic livers, suggesting an early shift to diploid cell expansion during hepatocarcinogenesis.⁸⁹ Therefore, the selective proliferation of mononucleated 2n hepatocytes could be one of the early events of the liver transformation process. Since a diploid genome would be less protected against recessive mutations than a polyploid genome, a predominance of diploid hepatocytes may predispose to further progression of the lesions toward increasing malignancy.⁸⁴

Conclusion

The onset of polyploidy in the liver has been described for quite some time. Polyploidization is emerging as an important restriction mechanism for hepatocellular growth. However, the biological significance of this original physiological process remains unclear. Presently, little is known about the function and fate of polyploid hepatocytes. Different hypotheses have been put forward: (i) it may protect cells from genotoxic damage by increasing their gene copy number; (ii) it allows the liver to adapt to aging-related cellular loss and still preserve function; and (iii) it may affect the expression profile of specific genes. Further work concerning this fascinating process will offer insights into hepatic pathophysiology.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to acknowledge the support of "Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale" (INSERM), of "La Ligue Comité de Paris " (RS06/75-57) and of "the Agence Nationale de la Recherche" (ANR 05-JCJC-0168-01). S. Celton-Morizur was supported by a postdoctoral fellowship from "La Ligue contre le Cancer".

References

- 1. Michalopoulos GK, DeFrances MC. Liver regeneration. Science 1997; 276:60-6.
- Saxema R, Zucker SD, Crawford JM. Chapter 1. In: Zakim DZ, and Boyer TD, eds. Hepathology: a textbook of liver disease. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company, 2003:43-58.
- 3. Taub R. Liver regeneration: from myth to mechanism. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5(10):836-47.
- Jungermann K, Kietzmann T. Zonation of parenchymal and nonparenchymal metabolism in liver. Annu Rev Nutr 1996; 16:179-203.
- 5. Alfert M, Geswind I. The development of polysomaty in rat liver. Exp Cell Res 1958; 15:230-5.
- 6. Brodsky WY, Uryvaeva IV. Cell polyploidy: its relation to tissue growth and function. Int Rev Cytol 1977; 50:275-332.
- 7. Carriere R. Polyploid cell reproduction in normal adult rat liver. Exp Cell Res 1967; 46:533-40.
- Epstein CJ. Cell size, nuclear content and the development of polyploidy in the mammalian liver. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1967; 57:327-34.
- 9. Gerlyng P, Abyholm A, Grotmol T et al. Binucleation and polyploidization patterns in developmental and regenerative rat liver growth. Cell Prolif 1993; 26(6):557-65.
- Nadal C, Zajdela F. [Hepatic polyploidy in the rat. IV. Experimental changes in the nucleolar volume of liver cells and their mechanisms of regulation]. Exp Cell Res 1967; 48(3):518-28.
- 11. Kudryavtsev BN, Kudryavtseva MV, Sakuta GA et al. Human hepatocyte polyploidization kinetics in the course of life cycle. Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol 1993; 64(6):387-93.
- Severin E, Meier EM, Williers R. Flow cytometric analysis of mouse hepatocyte ploidy. The development of polyploidy pattern in four mice strains with differents life spans. Cell Tissue Res 1984; 238:649-52.
- Schmucker DL. Hepatocyte fine structure during maturation and senescence. J Electron Microsc Tech 1990; 14(2):106-25.
- Sigal SH, Rajvanshi P, Gorla GR et al. Partial hepatectomy-induced polyploidy attenuates hepatocyte replication and activates cell aging events. Am J Physiol 1999; 276(5 Pt 1):G1260-72.
- 15. Gerlyng P, Grotmol T, Erikstein B et al. Reduced proliferative activity of polyploid cells in primary hepatocellular carcinoma. Carcinogenesis 1992; 13:1795-801.
- Mossin L, Blankson H, Huitfeldt H et al. Ploidy-dependent growth and binucleation in cultured rat hepatocytes. Exp Cell Res 1994; 214(2):551-60.
- Germain L, Blouin MJ, Marceau N. Biliary epithelial and hepatocytic cell lineage relationships in embryonic rat liver as determined by the differential expression of cytokeratins, alpha-fetoprotein, albumin and cell surface-exposed components. Cancer Res 1988; 48(17):4909-18.
- Shiojiri N, Lemire JM, Fausto N. Cell lineages and oval cell progenitors in rat liver development. Cancer Res 1991; 51(10):2611-20.
- 19. Viola-Magni MP. Synthesis and turnover of DNA in hepatocytes of neonatal rats. J Microsc 1972; 96(2):191-203.
- 20. Nadal C, Zajdela F. [Somatic polyploid cells in rat liver. I. The role of binuclear cells in the formation of the polyploid cells]. Exp Cell Res 1966; 42(1):99-116.

- An CS, Petrovic LM, Reyter I et al. The application of image analysis and neural network technology to the study of large-cell liver-cell dysplasia and hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 1997; 26(5):1224-31.
- 22. Yin L, Ghebranious N, Chakraborty S et al. Control of mouse hepatocyte proliferation and ploidy by p53 and p53ser246 mutation in vivo. Hepatology 1998; 27(1):73-80.
- 23. Sigal SH, Gupta S, Gebhard DF et al. Evidence for a terminal differentiation process in the rat liver. Differentiation 1995; 59(1):35-42.
- Hasmall SC, Roberts RA. Hepatic ploidy, nuclearity and distribution of DNA synthesis: a comparison of nongenotoxic hepatocarcinogens with noncarcinogenic liver mitogens. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1997; 144(2):287-93.
- Martin NC, McCullough CT, Bush PG et al. Functional analysis of mouse hepatocytes differing in DNA content: volume, receptor expression and effect of IFNgamma. J Cell Physiol 2002; 191(2):138-44.
- Guidotti JE, Bregerie O, Robert A et al. Liver cell polyploidization: a pivotal role for binuclear hepatocytes. J Biol Chem 2003 23; 278(21):19095-101.
- Toyoda H, Bregerie O, Vallet A et al. Changes to hepatocyte ploidy and binuclearity profiles during human chronic viral hepatitis. Gut 2005; 54(2):297-302.
- Anatskaya OV, Vinogradov AE, Kudryavtsev BN. Hepatocyte polyploidy and metabolism/life-history traits: hypotheses testing. J Theor Biol 1994 21; 168(2):191-9.
- Wheatley DN. Binucleation in mammalian liver. Studies on the control of cytokinesis in vivo. Exp Cell Res 1972; 74(2):455-65.
- 30. Carriere R. The growth of liver-parenchymal nuclei and its endocrine regulation. Inter Rev Cytology 1969; 25:201-78.
- 31. Mac Donald WE. lifespan of liver cells. Arch Internal Med 1961; 107:335-43.
- Deschenes J, Valet JP, Marceau N. The relationship between cell volume, ploidy and functional activity in differentiating hepatocytes. Cell Biophys 1981; 3(4):321-34.
- 33. Watanabe T, Tanaka Y. Age-related alterations in the size of human hepatocytes. A study of mononuclear and binucleate cells. Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol 1982; 39(1):9-20.
- 34. Mortimer RK. Radiobiological and genetic studies on a polyploid series (haploid to hexaploid) of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Radiat Res 1958; 9:312-26.
- 35. Asahina K, Shiokawa M, Ueki T et al. Multiplicative mononuclear small hepatocytes in adult rat liver: their isolation as a homogeneous population and localization to periportal zone. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006; 342(4):1160-7.
- Gandillet A, Alexandre E, Holl V et al. Hepatocyte ploidy in normal young rat. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 2003; 134(3):665-73.
- Margall-Ducos G, Celton-Morizur S, Couton D et al. Liver Tetraploidization is Controlled by a New Process of Incomplete Cytokinesis. Journal of Cell Science 2007; 120:3633-3639.
- Enesco HE, Shimokawa I, Yu BP. Effect of dietary restriction and aging on polyploidy in rat liver. Mech Ageing Dev 1991; 59(1-2):69-78.
- Enesco HE, Samborsky J. Liver polyploidy: influence of age and of dietary restriction. Exp Gerontol 1983; 18(1):79-87.
- 40. Geschwind I, Alfert M, Schooley C. The effect of thyroxine and growth hormone on liver polyploidy. Biol Bull 1960; 118:66-9.
- Nadal C, Zajdela F. [Polyploidy in the rat liver. II. The role of the hypophysis and protein deficiency]. Exp Cell Res 1966; 42(1):117-29.
- Swartz FJ, Ford JD Jr. Effect of thyroidectomy on development of polyploid nuclei in rat liver. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1960; 104:756-9.
- Swartz FJ, Sams BF. Polyploidization of rat liver following sex hormone administration to castrate and intact rats. Anat Rec 1961; 141:219-25.
- Swartz FJ, Sams BF, Barton AG. Polyploidization of rat liver following castration of males and females. Exp Cell Res 1960; 438-444.
- Mendecki J, Dillmann WH, Wolley RC et al. Effect of thyroid hormone on the ploidy of rat liver nuclei as determined by flow-cytometry. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1978; 158(1):63-M.
- Torres S, Diaz BP, Cabrera JJ et al. Thyroid hormone regulation of rat hepatocyte proliferation and polyploidization. Am J Physiol 1999; 276(1 Pt 1):G155-63.
- 47. Edgar BA, Orr-Weaver TL. Endoreplication cell cycles: more for less. Cell 2001; 105(3):297-306.
- 48. Cebolla A, Vinardell JM, Kiss E et al. The mitotic inhibitor ccs52 is required for endoreduplication and ploidy-dependent cell enlargement in plants. EMBO J 1999 16; 18(16):4476-84.
- 49. Kondorosi E, Roudier F, Gendreau E. Plant cell-size control: growing by ploidy? Curr Opin Plant Biol 2000; 3(6):488-92.
- 50. Ravid K, Lu J, Zimmet JM et al. Roads to polyploidy: the megakaryocyte example. J Cell Physiol 2002; 190(1):7-20.

- Minamishima YA, Nakayama K. Recovery of liver mass without proliferation of hepatocytes after partial hepatectomy in Skp2-deficient mice. Cancer Res 2002; 62(4):995-9.
- 52. Nunez F, Chipchase MD, Clarke AR et al. Nucleotide excision repair gene (ERCC1) deficiency causes G(2) arrest in hepatocytes and a reduction in liver binucleation: the role of p53 and p21. FASEB J 2000; 14(9):1073-82.
- 53. Wu H, Wade M, Krall L et al. Targeted in vivo expression of the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor p21 halts hepatocyte cell cycle progression, postnatal liver development and regeneration. Genes and Dev 1996; 10:245-60.
- 54. Taylor MV. Muscle differentiation: how two cells become one. Curr Biol 2002; 12(6):R224-8.
- 55. Vignery A. Osteoclasts and giant cells: macrophage-macrophage fusion mechanism. Int J Exp Pathol 2000; 81(5):291-304.
- Gomez-Lechon MJ, Barbera E, Gil R et al. Evolutive changes of ploidy and polynucleation in adult rat hepatocytes in culture. Cell Mol Biol 1981; 27(6):695-701.
- 57. Hernandez LD, Hoffman LR, Wolfsberg TG et al. Virus-cell and cell-cell fusion. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1996; 12:627-61.
- Eggert US, Mitchison TJ, Field CM. Animal cytokinesis: from parts list to mechanisms. Annu Rev Biochem 2006; 75:543-66.
- 59. Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5(1):45-54.
- 60. Gustafson LM, Gleich LL, Fukasawa K et al. Centrosome hyperamplification in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: a potential phenotypic marker of tumor aggressiveness. Laryngoscope 2000; 110(11):1798-801.
- 61. Lingle WL, Lutz WH, Ingle JN et al. Centrosome hypertrophy in human breast tumors: implications for genomic stability and cell polarity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95(6):2950-5.
- 62. Lingle WL, Salisbury JL. Altered centrosome structure is associated with abnormal mitoses in human breast tumors. Am J Pathol 1999; 155(6):1941-51.
- 63. Pihan GA, Purohit A, Wallace J et al. Centrosome defects and genetic instability in malignant tumors. Cancer Res 1998; 58(17):3974-85.
- 64. Pihan GA, Purohit A, Wallace J et al. Centrosome defects can account for cellular and genetic changes that characterize prostate cancer progression. Cancer Res 2001; 61(5):2212-9.
- 65. Weber RG, Bridger JM, Benner A et al. Centrosome amplification as a possible mechanism for numerical chromosome aberrations in cerebral primitive neuroectodermal tumors with TP53 mutations. Cytogenet Cell Genet 1998; 83(3-4):266-9.
- 66. Fausto N, Campbell JS, Riehle KJ. Liver regeneration. Hepatology 2006; 43(2 Suppl 1):S45-53.
- 67. Dimri GP, Lee X, Basile G et al. A biomarker that identifies senescent human cells in culture and in aging skin in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92(20):9363-7.
- 68. Melchiorri C, Chieco P, Zedda AI et al. Ploidy and nuclearity of rat hepatocytes after compensatory regeneration or mitogen-induced liver growth. Carcinogenesis 1993; 14(9):1825-30.
- Martin NC, McGregor AH, Sansom N et al. Phenobarbitone-induced ploidy changes in liver occur independently of p53. Toxicol Lett 2001; 119(2):109-15.
- 70. Miller RT, Shah RS, Cattley RC et al. The peroxisome proliferations WY-14,643 and methylclofenapate induce hepatocyte ploidy alterations and ploidy-specific DNA synthesis in F344 rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1996; 138(2):317-23.
- 71. Muramatsu Y, Yamada T, Miura M et al. Wilson's disease gene is homologous to hts causing abnormal copper transport in Long-Evans cinnamon rats. Gastroenterology 1994; 107(4):1189-92.
- 72. Terada K, Sugiyama T. The Long-Evans Cinnamon rat: an animal model for Wilson's disease. Pediatr Int 1999; 41(4):414-8.
- Schilsky ML, Stockert RJ, Sternlieb I. Pleiotropic effect of LEC mutation: a rodent model of Wilson's disease. Am J Physiol 1994; 266(5 Pt 1):G907-13.
- 74. Kato J, Kohgo Y, Sugawara N et al. Abnormal hepatic iron accumulation in LEC rats. Jpn J Cancer Res 1993; 84(3):219-22.
- Muramatsu Y, Yamada T, Moralejo DH et al. Increased polyploid incidence is associated with abnormal copper accumulation in the liver of LEC mutant rat. Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol 2000; 107(1-2):129-36.
- 76. Yamada T, Sogawa K, Kim JK et al. Increased polyploidy, delayed mitosis and reduced protein phosphatase-1 activity associated with excess copper in the Long Evans Cinnamon rat. Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol 1998; 99(3):283-304.
- Madra S, Styles J, Smith AG. Perturbation of hepatocyte nuclear populations induced by iron and polychlorinated biphenyls in C57BL/10ScSn mice during carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 1995; 16(4):719-27.

- Gorla GR, Malhi H, Gupta S. Polyploidy associated with oxidative injury attenuates proliferative potential of cells. J Cell Sci 2001; 114(Pt 16):2943-51.
- Malhi H, Gorla GR, Irani AN et al. Cell transplantation after oxidative hepatic preconditioning with radiation and ischemia-reperfusion leads to extensive liver repopulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99(20):13114-9.
- Nakatani T, Inouye M, Mirochnitchenko O. Overexpression of antioxidant enzymes in transgenic mice decreases cellular ploidy during liver regeneration. Exp Cell Res 1997; 236(1):137-46.
- Seglen PO. DNA ploidy and autophagic protein degradation as determinants of hepatocellular growth and survival. Cell Biology and Toxicology 1997; 13:301-15.
- Saeter G, Schwarze PE, Nesland JM et al. The polyploidizing growth pattern of normal rat liver is replaced by divisional, diploid growth in hepatocellular nodules and carcinomas. Carcinogenesis 1988; 9:939-45.
- Saeter G, Schwarze PE, Nesland JM et al. Diploid nature of hepatocellular tumours developing from transplanted preneoplastic liver cells. Br J Cancer 1989; 59(2):198-205.
- Schwarze PE, Pettersen EO, Shoaib MC et al. Emergence of a population of small, diploid hepatocytes during hepatocarcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 1984; 5:1267-75.
- Schwarze PE, Pettersen EO, Tolleshaug H et al. Isolation of carcinogen-induced diploid rat hepatocytes by centrifugal elutriation. Cancer Res 1986; 46(9):4732-7.
- Schwarze PE, Saeter G, Armstrong D et al. Diploid growth pattern of hepatocellular tumours induced by various carcinogenesis treatments. Carcinogenesis 1991; 12:325-7.
- Anti M, Marra G, Rapaccini GL et al. DNA ploidy pattern in human chronic liver diseases and hepatic nodular lesions. Flow cytometric analysis on echo-guided needle liver biopsy. Cancer 1994 15; 73(2):281-8.
- Melchiorri C, Bolondi L, Chieco P et al. Diagnostic and prognostic value of DNA ploidy and cell nuclearity in ultrasound-guided liver biopsies. Cancer 1994; 74(6):1713-9.
- Hoso M, Nakanuma Y. Cytophotometric DNA analysis of adenomatous hyperplasia in cirrhotic livers. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol 1991; 418(5):401-4.

Analysis of Cellular DNA Content by Flow and Laser Scanning Cytometry

Zbigniew Darzynkiewicz,* H. Dorota Halicka and Hong Zhao

Abstract

This chapter covers several aspects of methodology of DNA content analysis in individual cells that is most commonly used for assessment of DNA ploidy and for enumeration of cells in particular phases of the cell cycle. Briefly presented are general principles of instrumentation and cell analysis by flow- and laser scanning- cytometry. Described are major methods designed to stain DNA with fluorochromes in live cells, in detergent-permeabilized cells, in cells fixed prior to DNA staining as well as in nuclei of cells isolated from paraffin-embedded tissues. Briefly addressed are approaches to estimate cellular DNA content in conjunction with cellular immunophenotype. Discussed are factors that affect accuracy of DNA content measurement such as: (i) differences in chromatin structure of the analyzed cells that restrict DNA accessibility to fluorochromes, (ii) stoichiometry of interaction between fluorochromes and DNA in chromatin and (iii) chemical mass action law defining dependency of fluorochrome binding to DNA in relation to fluorochrome concentration and number of potential binding sites in a sample. Described also are controls used to ensure accuracy of DNA ploidy determination, the principles in ploidy assessment and possible pitfalls in analysis.

Introduction

DNA content is the most frequently measured entity of the cell. Analysis of DNA content reveals cell ploidy, provides information on cell position in the cell cycle and also allows one to estimate frequency of apoptotic cells that are characterized by fractional DNA content. Distribution of cells within the major phases of the cell cycle is based on differences in DNA content between the cells in prereplicative phase ($G_{0/1}$) versus the cells that actually replicate DNA (S phase) versus the postreplicative plus mitotic ($G_2 + M$) phase cells (Fig. 1). It is generally accepted that DNA content measured by cytometry (DNA ploidy) is defined as DNA index (DI) and for normal (non tumor, euploid) cells in $G_{0/1}$ phase of the cell cycle DI = 1.0. Cells in G_2/M phase of the cell cycle have DI = 2.0 and the S-phase normal cells are characterized by 1.0 < DI < 2.0. Because extensive DNA fragmentation preferential to internucleosomal DNA sections takes place during apoptosis, the low molecular (mono- and oligo- nucleosomal) DNA fragments are extracted during cell preparation for staining and such apoptotic cells can be identified as the cells with fractional DNA content (DI < 1.0). They are often being defined as "sub- G_1 " or "sub-diploid" cell population (Fig. 2).¹⁻⁴

Flow- or laser scanning- cytometry (LSC) are the methodologies of choice for cellular DNA content analysis. They provide the means to estimate DNA content in individual cells in large cell populations rapidly and accurately (Figs. 3,4). Historical progression of development of cytometric

*Corresponding Author: Z. Darzynkiewicz—Brander Cancer Research Institute at NYMC, Department of Pathology, BSB 438, Valhalla, New York 10595, USA. Email: darzynk@nymc.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.



Figure 1. Schematic representation of cellular DNA content changes during cell cycle progression. DNA replication during cell cycle is discontinuous, occurring exclusively during S phase (A), which results that the postreplicative G₂-phase cell has twice higher cellular DNA content compared to the G₁ cell (B). After completion of mitosis (M) the cell divides (undergoes cytokinesis) generating two daughter cells (G₁) each having half DNA content of the mother cell (M). Based on differences in DNA content therefore one can distinguish G₁ from S from G₂M cells. When DNA content is measured in a population consisting of a large number of cells the data can be shown in a form of the cellular DNA content frequency histogram with a characteristic G₁- and G₂M- phase peaks at DNA content DI = 1.0 and DI = 2.0, respectively and S-phase cells are distributed in between the peaks (C).



Figure 2. Location of apoptotic cells (Ap) on DNA content histograms. The presence of apoptotic cells manifests as the "sub-G₁" ("sub-diploid") peak on DNA content histograms. This is due to the fact that activation of endonucleases during apoptosis leads to DNA cleavage preferentially at internucleosomal ("linker") sections¹ and the fragmented mono- and oligo-nucleosomal DNA is extracted from cells during their processing and staining.^{2.3} It should be noted that apoptotic cells not always have so distinctly lower DNA content and can be well identified. In some instances, particularly if cells in G_2 M- and/or S-phase undergo apoptosis, DNA content of apoptotic cells may overlap with that of G_1 cells.⁵



Figure 3. Schematic representation of flow cytometry. Suspension of fluorochrome-stained cells is transported through the cytometer fluidic system in which the individual cells transect the path of laser's beam. Their emission is collected by set of dichroic optical filters which reflect light at a specific wavelength towards the photomultipliers (PMTs) and transmit light at longer wavelength. The band-pass filters located in front of PMTs allow light to pass only at a specific, relatively narrow wavelength range. Intensity of fluorescence emission at these wavelength ranges, integrated over whole cell, is measured by individual PMTs. The light scatter signal generated by the cell when it passes through the laser beam is additionally measured, often at forward and 90° angle ("side scatter"), by separate sensors. The scatter signals provide information about cell size and some morphological features. More than 1,000 cells can be measured per second with an accuracy of fluorescence measurement approaching 1% and sensitivity approaching 200 molecules of fluorescein/cell. Many models of flow cytometers have not one but two or three lasers as excitation source, emitting at UV, blue, green and/or red wavelength. This allows one to select a desired fluorochrome from variety of the available ones. A color version of this image is available at www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

methods and their application for cell cycle and DNA ploidy analysis have been recently reviewed.⁵ These methods rely on cells being labeled with a fluorochrome that is expected to stain DNA stoichiometrically and thus to accurately report DNA content. The intensity of DNA-associated fluorescence integrated over the individual cell or cellular nucleus is measured by photomultipliers. The latter offer a wide dynamic range of detection and measurement of fluorescence intensity, much wider compared with the alternative approach of fluorescence measurement, namely the fluorescence image analysis (FIA). A large number of DNA fluorochromes can be used for DNA content analysis and a great variety of techniques have been published during the past three decades.⁵ The techniques differ primarily by the mode of cell permeabilization (detergent versus prefixation), choice of the DNA-specific fluorochrome, composition of the stain solution and applicability to different cell preparations.

The results of cellular DNA content measurements are generally presented in the form of frequency histograms (Figs. 2,5). Discrimination of cells in particular phases of the cell cycle based on differences in their DNA content (deconvolution of the histograms) is helped by computer analysis. The software used for this purpose allows one to estimate the percentage of cells in major phases of the cell cycle (G_1 , versus S versus G_2/M) as well as the frequency of apoptotic cells with fractional ("sub- G_1 ") DNA content.⁶⁷ This software is often included with the purchase of the flow cytometer but is also commercially available (Phoenix Flow Systems, San Diego, CA; Verity Software, Topsham, ME).



Figure 4. Schematic representation of the laser scanning cytometer (LSC). The microscope is the key part of LSC and it provides structural and optical components. The emission beams from lasers are directed onto computer controlled oscillating mirror, which reflects them through the epi-illumination port of the microscope and images through the objective lens onto the slide. The mirror oscillations cause the laser beam to sweep the area of microscope slide under the lens. The slide is located on the computer-controlled motorized microscope stage which moves perpendicular to the laser beam scan at 0.5 µm steps per each scan. The cell-emitted fluorescence is collected by the objective lens and directed to the scanning mirror. Upon reflection it passes through a series of dichroic mirrors and emission filters to reach one of the PMTs, which records the fluorescence intensity at a specific wavelength range. Laser light scattered by the cell is imaged by the condenser lens and its intensity is recorded by sensors. A white-light source provides transmitted illumination to visualize the objects though an eyepiece or cameras. Up to 100 cells can be analyzed per second with accuracy and sensitivity comparable to that of flow cytometry (Fig. 3). A color version of the figure is available at www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

Supravital Cell Staining

Cellular DNA content can be fluorochrome-stained either in unfixed, usually still live cells, or in the cells following their fixation. Staining of live cells (supravital staining) requires use of a fluorochrome that penetrates the plasma membrane and stoichiometrically stains DNA. Unfortunately, the choice of such fluorochromes is limited. Hoechst 33342 is one of such dyes and when used in combination with the membrane potential sensing dye DiOC5(3) offers relatively good resolution in measurement DNA content of live cells.⁸ The dye is excited at UV wavelength (350 nm) and fluoresces in blue (460 nm). Inclusion of DiOC5(3) serves to suppress efflux of Hoechst 33342 from the cell by the active P-glycoprotein pump which otherwise breaks up equilibrium of the binding/staining reaction. Similar effect can be achieved by using the efflux blocker such as verapamil.⁹Another fluorochrome that is being used to supravitally stain DNA is DRAQ5.¹⁰ Its emission can be detected in far-red wavelength (maximal at 670 nm) while the excitation (maximal at 640 nm) is at wide range of the spectrum, stretching down to 488 nm.

The protocols designed to supravitally stain DNA are simple. Generally, inclusion of the fluorochrome into the culture medium for 30-60 min during cell culture is followed by subjecting cells to cytometric analysis without a need for rinsing or centrifugation. However there are cell type (cell line) differences in the rate of the fluorochrome uptake. Occasionally, therefore, several concentrations of the fluorochrome and various time of incubation, different than in the protocols e.g., provided by the vendors of the reagents, have to be tested to optimize staining conditions for



Figure 5. DNA content analysis of human breast cancer biopsy specimen according to the protocol developed by Vindelov et al.^{13,14} Cellular DNA content was measured in a sample obtained from a fine needle aspirate of a surgical biopsy of human breast cancer and stained with Pl. Chicken erythrocytes and trout erythrocytes were included as internal standard. The peaks from left to right represent chicken (A) and trout (B) erythrocytes, diploid normal nuclei (C; DI = 1.0), hyperdiploid (DI > 1.0) population of tumor $G_{0/1}$ phase cells (D) and G_2 population of tumor cells (E). Under proper conditions of DNA staining, the ratio of the mean DNA content of diploid human cells to chicken erythrocytes is 2.857, the ratio to trout erythrocytes is 1.258 and the ratio of mean DNA content in trout vs chicken erythrocytes is 2.28.¹³ Another landmark of linearity in DNA content analysis is the ratio of G_2 to G_1 peaks, which is expected to be 2.0. Modified after Vindelov and Christensen.¹³

a particular cell type. Furthermore, the resolution of DNA content analysis in cells supravitally stained is never as good as that of fixed or detergent-permeabilized cells. The application of protocols designed to supravitally stain DNA is primarily for cell sorting, where the cells selected based on differences in their DNA content can be further subcultured for the purpose of analyzing their growth characteristics, sensitivity to drugs, cloning or expanding their number. It should be noted, however, that exposure of Hoechst 33342-stained cells to UV light during sorting may damage their DNA and be cytotoxic.

DNA Staining after Disruption of Plasma Membrane

Treatment of live cells with detergents causes rupture of the plasma membrane or leads to nuclear isolation which makes DNA accessible to fluorochromes. This approach has been initially used to permeabilize cells to acridine orange, the metachromatic dye that differentially stains DNA and RNA.¹¹ Exposure of cells to hypotonic salt solution also leads to their lysis and DNA within the nuclei isolated this way is accessible and can be stained with a variety of fluorochromes.¹² Further improvement in the accuracy of DNA content analysis is obtained after controlled proteolysis of detergent-lysed cells. This approach was perfected by Vindeløv and his collaborators who developed a highly accurate method of cellular DNA content measurement, particularly useful for analysis of DNA ploidy in human tumor samples.^{13,14} These authors also introduced internal DNA content standards such as nuclei of chicken- and/trout- erythocytes, as intrinsic part of the staining protocol. Their methodology designed for needle biopsy of normal and tumor tissue

is now used worldwide. Figure 5 illustrates DNA content measurement of the specimen of the fine-needle aspirate of human breast cancer specimen by this method.¹⁴

The accuracy of DNA content measurement for DNA ploidy or cell cycle phase estimate is much greater when isolated nuclei rather than whole cells are analyzed. This is due to the fact that some cytoplasmic constituents may be auto-fluorescent, or contain DNA (e.g., in mitochondria) or nonspecifically stain with DNA-fluorochromes. This background cytoplasmic stainability, thus, lowers accuracy of nuclear DNA determination. Furthermore, the proteolytic step in the Vindeløw's procedure removes some nuclear proteins that are known to restrict the accessibility of DNA to fluorochromes,¹⁵ which additionally leads to improved stoichiometry of DNA staining.¹⁵

It should be noted, however, that the lysis of plasma membrane of mitotic cells lacking nuclear envelope, that occurs in the detergent or hypotonic-treatment based methods, leads to dispersion of individual chromosomes or chromosome aggregates which are then suspended free in the solution. These methods therefore may not detect mitotic cells, particularly when the cell suspensions are mechanically agitated, pipetted or vortexed. Furthermore, individual or aggregated chromosomes may be erroneously identified as apoptotic cells with fractional DNA content ("sub-G₁" cells). In addition, lysis of apoptotic cells that have fragmented nuclei releases several nuclear chromatin fragments from a single cell. Because each fragment is classified in the cytometer as individual event ("cell") the frequency of "sub-G₁" objects after cell lysis may be much higher than actual frequency of apoptotic cells in a given cell population. This generally precludes application of cell-lysis based methods for analysis of the frequency of apoptotic cells, particularly when mitotic cells are in large proportion (e.g., after arrest in the cell cycle by the mitotic poisons).¹⁶

DNA Staining in Fixed Cells

Preference for analysis of fixed cells as opposed to the detergent-permeabilized cells is dictated by the need to store or transport samples, for example clinical specimens that cannot be immediately processed. Their storage, unless done at low temperature in cryopreservative media, leads to cell deterioration (autolysis). Fixed cells on the other hand can be stored for months or even years. For analysis of DNA content precipitating fixatives (alcohols, acetone) are preferred over cross-linking agents (e.g., formaldehyde, glutaraldehyde). This is because cross-linking of chromatin constituents impairs stoichiometry of DNA staining with intercalating fluorochromes and thus decreases accuracy of DNA content measurement.¹⁵ It should be noted, however, that highly fragmented DNA such as present in apoptotic cells leaks out from the ethanol-fixed cells during their hydration and staining, but is preserved and remains within the cell upon fixation by formaldehyde. Fixation in ethanol, therefore, rather than in formaldehyde, has to be used to detect apoptotic ("sub-G₁") apoptotic cells. While absolute alcohols or acetone, or a mixture of absolute ethanol and acetone can serve as fixatives (in some instances they may be preferred e.g., for immunocytochemical detection of some antigens concurrently with DNA content) they induce more extensive cell aggregation compared e.g., with 70% or 80% ethanol, which is most commonly used when analysis is limited to DNA content alone.

A variety of DNA fluorochromes may be used to stain DNA in the fixed cells. The most commonly used are 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI), propidium iodide (PI) and 7-aminoactinomycin D (7-AAD). Staining with dyes that react with both DNA and RNA, such as PI requires incubation with RNase. The cells may be pre-incubated with RNase and subsequently stained with PI, or RNase (usually at concentration within a range between 10 and 100 μ g/ml) is included into a solution containing PI in PBS. In the latter case the cells suspended in that solution are maintained for about 30 min or longer at 37°C or room temperature to allow RNase to digest RNA, before measurement by cytometry. It is of importance that the RNase used is free of DNase activity. If such is not available, one may heat the solution of RNase at 95-100°C for 5 min to destroy DNase- while still preserving RNase- activity. PI is excited in blue light, which is conveniently provided by the 488-nm line of the argon ion laser available on most flow cytometers, while DAPI requires UV or near UV excitation.

Analysis of DNA in Paraffin-Embedded Samples

The method of isolating cell nuclei from paraffin-embedded tissues was developed by Hedley and his colleagues to retrieve archival samples for flow cytometric analysis.^{17,18} This methodology enables for retrospective studies to determine the prognostic significance of DNA ploidy or cell cycle distribution (usually frequency of S-phase cells) in tumor progression. The method can also be applied for prospective studies when fresh material is unavailable. One advantage of this methodology is that it offers a possibility to examine by microscopy the tissue sections and thus select the adjacent tumor area of interest to be processed by flow cytometry. The paraffin blocks can then be trimmed to exclude areas of noninvolved tissue in order to diminish the proportion of stromal cells, or of necrotic and hemorrhagic areas to decrease the quantity of debris, as well as to select areas of noninvolved tissue to be used as internal DNA content standard (see further). The accuracy of DNA content analysis of nuclei from paraffin blocks is generally inferior compared to the methods that rely on either ethanol fixation or detergent or hypotonic treatment of fresh tissues. This is due to the fact that the cells embedded in paraffin frequently are usually prefixed in formaldehyde. As mentioned, by cross-linking DNA and proteins formaldehyde fixation impairs stoichiometry of DNA. Because crosslinking by formaldehyde is to some extent reversible, long incubation of the rehydrated nuclei in aqueous solutions, after their isolation from the paraffin blocks, improves resolution of DNA analysis. In nuclei isolated from paraffin blocks DAPI is the preferable fluorochrome since it the least affected, in terms of stoichiometry of DNA staining, by the chromatin structure and thus by protein-DNA crosslinking.¹⁵

Another factor that lowers accuracy of DNA content analysis and thus identification of aneuploid cells or discrimination of cells in different phases of the cycle in samples of nuclei isolated from paraffin blocks is the presence of debris. Most debris is due to the presence of transected nuclei with incomplete DNA content. Because probability of transecting a nucleus is proportional to thickness of the section and to nuclear size, preparation of thicker sections (≥50 nm) for nuclei isolation is advisable, particularly for tumors with large nuclei such as tetraploid and larger stemlines.

Concurrent Analysis of Cell Surface Antigen and DNA Content

It is often desirable to know the DNA content distribution (histogram) of the particular cell subpopulation identified by its surface immunophenotype. The most common approach, in such a case, is to perform standard immunocytochemical labeling of live cells with the fluorochrome- (most frequently FITC or Alexa Fluor 488) conjugated Ab, which is then followed by short fixing the cells in 0.5-1.0% methanol-free formaldehyde ("paraformaldehyde") in PBS. Because formaldehyde fixation does not adequetely permeabilize the cells it is critical to subsequently have detergent (e.g., Triton X-100) in the staining solution to make DNA accessible to DNA-fluorochrome such as PI or DAPI. Post-fixation in alcohol (methanol or ethanol) following formaldehyde also permeabilizes cells. A gentle fixation with formaldehyde (0.25%) followed by permeabilization in Tween 20 detergent is another procedure designed to preserve both external and internal antigens that can be detected immunocytochemically concurrently with analysis of DNA content.¹⁹ Cellular green (FITC or Alexa Fluor 488) and red (PI) or blue (DAPI) fluorescence is then measured by flow cytometry. During analysis, the cell subpopulation of interest is gated based on its immunophenotype (green fluorescence) and DNA content of this selected subpopulation is then plotted in form of a frequency histogram It is also possible to to combine analysis of DNA content with both cell surface phenotype markers and telomere length.²⁰

A simpler approach to concurrently measure DNA content and cell surface immunofluorescence is to combine the supravital staining of DNA with Hoechst 33342 with surface immunophenotyping.²¹ For this combination, however, the cytometer with the two- or more- lasers, including one emitting UV light is required. Furthermore, as mentioned, in some cell types it is difficult to obtain high resolution of DNA content analysis after supravital staining of DNA either with Hoechst 33342 or DRAQ5.

Accuracy of DNA Content Measurement

The accuracy of DNA content measurement is reflected by variation in fluorescence intensity between individual cells with identical DNA content, such as G_0/G_1 cells. This variation is being assessed by the value of coefficient of variation (CV) of the mean value of DNA content of the G_0/G_1 cell population. The CV of the DNA-associated mean fluorescence of G_1 cells is thus considered an index of the accuracy of the DNA measurements. High accuracy is required in particular in assessing DNA ploidy to distinguish between DNA diploid and an euploid cells, which may differ minimally in DNA content. Accurate DNA content measurement is also critical in analysis of cell cycle distributions. There is no formal consensus regarding the acceptable maximal CV value of the mean DNA content of the G_0/G_1 cell population i.e., the acceptable error in cellular DNA content estimate. Most researchers, however, would consider the accuracy to be poor and results unacceptable if CV values of normal, nontumor cells exceed 6%, optimal resolution is achieved when CV is <3%. An exception is analysis of the DNA content of cell nuclei isolated from paraffin blocks, where by the nature of the sample (formaldehyde fixation) good accuracy is difficult, to achieve.

A number of factors can contribute to poor accuracy in DNA content analysis. Most common is inappropriate sample flow and optical adjustment of the flow cytometer. Proper maintenance of the instrument and its careful adjustment prior to analysis, e.g., using fluorescent calibrated standard beads, to maximize the electronic signal intensity and minimize variability of the measurement of the beads, are required to achieve accurate DNA measurements. Problems in sample preparation, either resulting in mechanical damage to the cells or involving incorrect composition of buffers and staining solutions, are another reason of poor resolution in DNA analysis. An excessively large number of cells (DNA) in the sample which leads to significant depletion of the free, unbound fluorochrome in the solution and alters the staining equilibrium (see below), may be still another source of the problems that prevent accurate DNA content analysis. Adjusting samples to achieve a proper fluorochrome to DNA content (cell number) ratio improves the results.

It should be noted that despite good accuracy of DNA content measurements (in terms of proper instrument adjustments and sample staining) the CV of G_1 cell populations may still remains high. This may occur when significant numbers of dead or dying cells are present in the sample, or when the cells were treated with DNA-interacting drugs. Also, in tumors that are polyclonal or have developed drug resistance by gene amplification (e.g., presence of minute chromosomes) the G_0/G_1 cell populations may have intrinsically variable DNA content and therefore high CV values of the G_0/G_1 cell populations.

Accessibility of DNA in Chromatin to Fluorochromes

The accessibility of DNA to fluorochromes is restricted by chromosomal proteins, predominantly by histones and varies between different cell types. The maximal restriction is seen in cells undergoing terminal differentiation such as during spermatogenesis or erythropoiesis, when DNA stainability (per unit of DNA) is significantly lower compared with other cell types.^{15,22} This obviously creates difficulties in assessment of DNA ploidy in such differentiating cells. The degree of reduction varies for individual fluorochromes and DAPI is the least influenced by chromatin structure whereas binding of 7-AAD, an intercalating but more bulky fluorochrome, is affected to a much larger degree. In practical terms, therefore, one may expect intercellular variation in DNA stainability when mixed cell types are measured in the same sample. This can be manifested on DNA content frequency histograms as the presence of pseudo-aneuploid populations, or widening of the G1 peak (increased CV value). For example under certain conditions of staining monocytes show higher DNA stainability with PI compared to lymphocytes or granulocytes and form a typical pseudo-hyperdiploid peak on DNA frequency histograms. As mentioned, subjecting cells to the detergent methods and in particular the combination of detergent and proteolytic treatment such as in the Vindeløv's procedure, ^{13,14} increases accessibility of DNA and thereby improves the stoichiometric relationship between DNA content and fluorescence intensity.

There are several ways to estimate stoichiometry of DNA staining. Thus, fluorescence intensity of the cell populations represented by the G_2/M peaks on DNA histograms is expected to be DI = 2.0 as compared to DI = 1.0 for $G_{0/1}$ cells and deviation from this value indicates on problems in DNA quantification.²³ Normal hepatocytes grow at different DNA ploidy levels and therefore may also serve as markers of linearity in DNA measurement. Inclusion of internal standards such as chicken or trout erythrocytes provides still another marker of the stoichiometry of DNA measurement and is highly recommended when DNA ploidy is estimated.^{13,14} To demonstrate stoichiometry of DNA staining one has to use linear and not exponential scale for plotting intensity of DNA-associated fluorescence (x-coordinate) and include the origin (point zero) of this coordinate, on the DNA content frequency histogram.

In some instances, however, stoichiometry in DNA staining with fluorochromes cannot be attained. This can be seen when cells were treated with antitumor drugs that modify DNA and/or chromatin structure. Intercalating drugs that interact with DNA fluorochromes by fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET), or drugs damaging DNA structure, or crosslinking chromatin, all can alter staining properties of in situ DNA, often in unpredictable ways. As mentioned, the possibility of stoichiometric measurement of DNA content may also be hampered when cells differing markedly in chromatin structure are being compared.

Fluorochrome Binding to DNA—Mass Action Law

Staining of cellular DNA is being done at equilibrium between the ligand (fluorochrome) and the ligand-binding sites in the DNA within the cells sample and thus it follows the chemical law of mass action. Stable level of staining is achieved when there is large excess of the ligand per binding site so a small variation in cell number per sample (binding sites) has no significant effect on the equilibrium. Because it is difficult to have an identical cell number in each sample, the variation is inevitable. One can calculate however approximate concentration of the fluorochrome and relate to the cell number to find out the range within which a decrease in free ligand concentration may not significantly affect DNA stainablility. There are 3×10^9 DNA base pairs per cell (diploid cell in G_1). Most intercalators such DNA-binding fluorochromes, reacting with free (naked) DNA at saturation bind every second base pair. Thus, potentially, in a single diploid cell there are $\sim 1.5 \times 10^9$ binding sites. However, because a large portion of nuclear DNA within the cell is inaccessible to the intercalators,¹⁵ only a fraction of the potential binding sites (10-70%, depending on the fluorochrome) can actually bind the ligand (fluorochrome). Thus, there are between 1.5 to 10.0×10^8 sites that actually bind the ligand in a single cell and therefore 1.5 to $10.0 imes 10^{14}$ binding sites in 10⁶ diploid cells, which is approximately a size of average sample subjected to staining. Assuming average MW of most DNA fluorochromes to be about 300, one can estimate (from Avogadro number) that at a concentration $100 \,\mu\text{M}$ (30 $\mu\text{g/ml}$) there are 6×10^{16} molecules of the ligand in 1 ml of the stain solution. Considering the above there is nearly 100-fold excess of the ligand per binding site when 10^6 cells are stained in 1 ml volume at 100 μ M dye concentration. One would expect that under these conditions a change in cell number from 1 to 2 million (which alters a concentration of the free, unbound ligand by 1%) should not be reflected by greater than 1% change in stainability of DNA. However, at lower dye concentration (e.g., below 20 μ M) or when cell number is drastically changed (e.g., from 1 to 5 million) the change in DNA stainability becomes noticeable. Needless to say, if cells have higher DNA content, (tetraploid, arrested in G_2/M) the equilibrium is shifted even more towards lesser concentration of free dye, which leads to further decrease in DNA stainability. The above estimates have to taken into an account when samples with different cell number are stained to compare DNA ploidy.

Assessment of DNA Ploidy

As mentioned, DNA content measurement by cytometry serves to estimate frequency of cells in particular phases ($G_{0/1}$ versus S versus G_2M) of the cell cycle as well as to assess DNA ploidy. In most situations DNA ploidy is being assessed in hematological or solid tumors; the evidence of aneuploidy by itself is a definitive marker of a presence of the tumor. Often is also considered to be an prognostic indicator of tumor progression and outcome of the treatment. To assess DNA ploidy of the tumor sample one has to compare DNA content of the $G_{0/1}$ cells population of the presumed tumor cells with that of normal (control) cells. Towards this end most frequently the peak value of the integrated fluorescence (peak channel) of $G_{0/1}$ population of normal cells is being considered to be DI = 1.0 and DNA ploidy of the tumor cells is expressed as a ratio of the peak value (channel) of fluorescence intensity of these cells with respect to that of the normal $G_{0/1}$ cells. It is also common to express DI of the tumor as a ratio of modal rather than the peak value of fluorescence intensity population tumor cells to modal value of $G_{0/1}$ population of normal cells. Some authors still prefer to use the mean values of fluorescence intensity of $G_{0/1}$ population rather than the peak or modal values to obtain this ratio. In essence, when DNA measurement is done correctly and accurately, either of these appropaches is expected to yield similar estimate of DI of an euploid cells.

Normal lymphocytes, including lymphocytes from the same patient whose tumor is being analyzed, or fibroblasts, are often used as standard of DI = 1.0. For comparison with the tumor it is necessary to use normal cells both as external and internal control standards. When used as external control they have to be subjected to identical processing and staining procedure and measured by cytometry under identical laser and detector settings as tumor sample. The external control cells should be measured prior to- and also after- measurement of tumor sample. This double-measurement of control cells allows one to detect the possible shift in fluorescence readout e.g., due to misadjustment in instrument settings in the course of the sequential measurements. In addition to external control, normal cells should also be admixed (e.g., in 1:1 proportion) with the tumor sample cells and used then as internal control in another set of measurements. Often, normal stromal- or tumor infiltrating cells are already present in the tumor sample and they can be used as an internal control of DNA ploidy. In fact, when DNA ploidy is assessed based on measurement of nuclei isolated from paraffin blocks, the internal control provided by the presence of stromal and infiltrating normal cells that provide standard for DI = 1.0 is the only way to assess DNA ploidy of the tumor. This is due to the fact that DNA stainability after formaldehyde fixation and paraffin embedding is markedly altered making external standards useless.

Chicken and trout erythrocytes have been proposed as internal standards for analysis of DNA content by cytometry (Fig. 5).^{13,14} Their use is helpful to control and maintain consistency of the staining and measurement procedures. However, one has to be cautious using them as absolute standard for DNA content analysis. Trout, like other fish species, are known to vary in their DNA ploidy level (most species are tetraploid) and it is therefore important to know ploidy of these cells when used as a standard.

Despite the difficulties and potential pitfalls outlined in this chapter, cytometry, including flow cytometry and LSC, is the methodology of choice in analysis of DNA content for DNA ploidy assessment. This methodology is complemented by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) analysis, which provides a possibility to identify individual chromosomes or chromosome components contributing to aneuploidy. It should be noted that LSC, by offering rapid and semi-automatic enumeration of the fluorescent foci within individual nucleus in addition to DNA content measurement can also be used for FISH analysis.²⁶

Conclusion

As outlined in this chapter variety of methods are available to estimate cellular DNA content by flow- or image assisted- cytometry. They offer wide choice of analytical capabilities to assess DNA ploidy and cell cycle distributions. The possibility of use of diverse fluorochromes differing in absorption and emission properties as well as in mode of binding to DNA provide the means to optimize DNA content measurement for different cell types. The principles of DNA staining and data analysis described in this chapter will be of assistance for the beginners who initiate DNA content analysis by cytometry. It may also provide useful information for advanced researchers who contemplate change in the methodology to further improve accuracy in assessment of DNA ploidy and cell cycle distribution.

Acknowledgement

Supported by NCI RO1 CA 28 704.

References

- 1. Nagata S, Nagase H, Kawane K et al. Degradation of chromosomal DNA during apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 2003; 10:108-16.
- Gong J, Traganos F, Darzynkiewicz Z. A selective procedure for DNA extraction from apoptotic cells applicable for gel electrophoresis and flow cytometry. Anal Biochem 1994; 218:314-19.
- 3. Kajstura M, Halicka HD, Pryjma, J et al. Discontinuous fragmentation of nuclear DNA during apoptosis revealed by discrete "sub-G1" peaks on DNA content histograms. Cytometry A, 2007; 71A:125-31.
- Darzynkiewicz Z, Crissman HA, Jacobberger JW. Cytometry of the cell cycle. Cycling through history. Cytometry 2004; 58A: 21-32.
- 5. Darzynkiewicz Z, Juan G, Li X et al. Cytometry in cell necrobiology. Analysis of apoptosis and accidental cell death (necrosis). Cytometry 1997; 27:1-20.
- Bagwell BC. Theoretical aspects of flow cytometry data analysis. In: Bauer KE, Duque RE, Shankey TV, eds. Clinical Flow Cytometry: Principles and Applications. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1993:41-61.
- Rabinovitch PS. Practical considerations for DNA content and cell cycle analysis. In: Bauer KE, Duque RE, Shankey TV, eds. Clinical Flow Cytometry: Principles and Applications. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1993:117-142.
- 8. Crissman HA, Hofland MH, Stevenson AP et al. Supravital cell staining with Hoechst 33342 and DiOC5(3). Method Cell Biol 1990; 33:89-95.
- 9. Krishan A. Effect of drug efflux blockers on vital staining of cellular DNA with Hoechst 33342. Cytometry 1987; 8:642-5.
- 10. Martin RM, Leonhardt H, Cardoso MC. DNA labeling in live cells. Cytometry 2005; 67:45- 52.
- 11. Darzynkiewicz Z, Traganos F, Sharpless T et al. Lymphocyte stimulation: A rapid multiparameter analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1976; 73:2881-4.
- 12. Krishan A. Rapid DNA content analysis by the propidium iodide-hypotonic citrate method. Methods Cell Biol 1990; 30:121-5.
- 13. Vindeløv LL, Christensen IJ, Nissen NI. A detergent-trypsin method for the preparation of nuclei for flow cytometric DNA analysis. Cytometry 1983; 3:323-7.
- 14. Vindeløv LL, Christiansen IJ. Detergent and proteolytic enzyme-based techniques for nuclear isolation and DNA content analysis. Meth Cell Biol 1994; 41:219-230.
- Darzynkiewicz Z, Traganos F, Kapuscinski J et al. Accessibility of DNA in situ to various fluorochromes: Relationship to chromatin changes during erythroid differentiation of Friend leukemia cells. Cytometry 1984; 5:355-63.
- Darzynkiewicz Z, Bedner E, Traganos F. Difficulties and pitfalls in analysis of apoptosis. Methods Cell Biol 2001; 63:527-46.
- 17. Hedley DW, Friedlander MI, Taylor IW et al. Method for analysis of cellular DNA content of paraffin-embedded pathological material using flow cytometry. J Histochem Cytochem 1983; 31:1333-5.
- Heiden T, Wang N, Tribukait B. An improved Hedley method for preparation of paraffin-embedded tissues for flow cytometric analysis of ploidy and S-phase. Cytometry 1991; 12:614-21.
- Schmid I, Uittenbogaart CH, Giorgi JV. A gentle fixation and permeabilization method for combined cell surface and intracellular staining with improved precision in DNA quantification. Cytometry 1991; 12:279-85.
- 20. Schmid I, Dagarag MD, Hausner MA et al. Simultaneous flow cytometric analysis of two cell surface markers, telomere length and DNA content. Cytometry 2002; 49:96-105.
- Loken MM. Simultaneous quantitation of Hoechst 33342 and immunofluorescence on viable ells using a fluorescence activated cell sorter. Cytometry 1980; 1:136-42.
- Evenson D, Darzynkiewicz Z, Jest L et al. Changes in accessibility of DNA in situ to various fluorochromes during spermatogenesis. Cytometry 1986; 7:45-53.
- Crissman HA, Steinkamp JA. Cytochemical techniques for multivariate analysis of DNA and other cell constituents. In: Melamed MR, Lindmo T, Mendelsohn ML, eds. Flow Cytometry and Sorting. New York:Wiley-Liss: 1992:227-47.
- 24. Kamentsky LA. Laser scanning cytometry. Methods Cell Biol 2001; 63:51-87.
- Darzynkiewicz Z, Bedner E, Gorczyca W et al. Laser scanning cytometry. A new instrumentation with many applications. Exp Cell Res 1999; 249:1-12.
- Kamentsky LA, Kamentsky LD, Fletcher JA et al. Methods for automatic multiparameter analysis of fluorescence in situ hybridized specimens with laser scanning cytometer. Cytometry 1997; 27:117-25.

INDEX

Α

- Abortive mitosis 98-100, 105-107
- Abscission 27, 28, 33-38, 40, 41
- Actin 30-34, 38, 42, 128, 129
- Anaphase-promoting complex (APC, APC/C) 17-20, 22, 30, 31, 33, 38, 60-62, 115
- Aneuploid 1-10, 15, 22-24, 57, 58, 64, 73, 75-78, 80, 82, 83, 86, 93, 95, 98, 100, 101, 105, 107-112, 114-116, 130, 143-146
 - aneuploidy 1-4, 6-10, 15, 22-24, 57, 58, 64, 73, 75-78, 80, 82, 83, 86, 93, 95, 98, 105, 107-111, 115, 116, 130, 145, 146
- Anillin 30, 32-34, 37, 38, 41-43
- Apoptosis 3, 5, 8, 10, 64, 65, 73, 76-79, 86, 98, 99, 107, 111-113, 116, 130, 137, 138
- Aurora-B 32, 35, 38-41, 43, 63, 107, 109, 111-116
- Aurora kinase 21, 30, 43, 114-116

B

Barrett's esophagus (BE) 1-5, 8-11, 24 Binuclearity 124, 130 Borealin 40, 111, 112, 114

С

Cancer 1-3, 5-7, 10, 15, 22, 24, 34, 38, 41, 43, 44, 57-60, 63-66, 73, 76, 77, 79, 93-97, 99-101, 105-111, 115, 116, 130, 132, 141, 142 Cancer therapy 64, 65 Carcinogenesis 1-3, 7, 9, 78, 96, 115 Cell fusion 58, 59, 63, 76, 99, 100, 111, 127 Centralspindlin 28, 29, 33-35, 37 Centriolin 35, 36, 40 Centrosome 3, 19, 21, 24, 27, 38-40, 43, 58, 59, 61, 74-78, 80, 81, 83, 93-101, 108, 109, 111, 114-116, 129, 130 accumulation 93, 97-100

- D
 - 6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) 95, 97, 142-144 Developmental abnormality 4, 6, 78 Differentiation 5, 76, 110, 111, 123, 124, 144 Diploid 2, 4, 5, 7-9, 22, 23, 30, 58, 64, 65, 76, 77, 80, 93-96, 98, 99, 105-108, 110, 123, 124, 126-132, 137, 138, 141, 144, 145 DNA damage 3, 8, 10, 42, 43, 57-66, 73-75, 77-81, 83, 85, 86, 98, 100 DNA damage response 43 DNA index 137 DNA replication 42, 62, 64, 65, 74-76, 80, 86, 95, 97, 99, 100, 108, 126, 127, 129, 138

Ε

- E6 oncoprotein 95, 97, 98
- E7 oncoprotein 94-96, 98
- ECT2 28-31, 39, 40, 43
- Endoreduplication 58, 59, 63, 64, 76, 99
- Endoreplication 76, 126
- overduplication 94, 96-100

- Checkpoint 2, 3, 15, 17-22, 24, 25, 30, 34, 38, 43, 57-66, 73-78, 80, 81, 83, 85, 86, 98-100, 105, 107-109, 113-116 Chromosomal instability 2, 9, 10, 57, 65, 66,
- 73, 93-95, 99-101
- Chromosome passenger protein (CPP) 34, 109, 111-113, 115, 116
- Citron kinase 30-32
- Competition 5,8
- Cyclin 31, 32, 38, 59-63, 73-75, 80, 81, 83, 84, 94, 96, 100, 105-107, 111, 113
- Cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK1) 31, 32, 38-41, 59-63, 65, 75
- Cytokinesis 2, 21, 22, 24, 27-44, 57-59, 63, 65, 66, 76, 77, 81, 97-100, 105-108, 110-115, 127-129, 138
- Cytoskeleton 30, 33, 34, 77, 128, 129

Endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT pathway) 37, 38 Esophageal adenocarcinoma (EA) 2, 4, 11 Evolution 1-3, 7, 9, 10, 58, 109

F

Fitness 4-10 Fluorochrome 137, 139-146 Formin 30, 31, 41 Furrow 22, 23, 24, 27-35, 37, 40-44, 58, 59, 63, 111, 128, 129

G

 $\begin{array}{l} G_1 \mbox{ phase } 59, 62, 76, 77, 94, 106, 113, 129 \\ G2M \mbox{ checkpoint } 83, 85, 86 \\ G_2 \mbox{ phase } 3, 61, 94, 100, 129 \\ Genomic \mbox{ instability } 1, 3, 5, 73, 76, 78, 80, \\ 93, 96, 99, 109 \\ Genomic \mbox{ stability } 74, 75, 77, 80, 86 \end{array}$

Η

Hepatocarcinogenesis 131 Hepatocyte 30, 76, 105, 106, 123-132, 145 Hormone 111, 126 Human papillomavirus (HPV) 59, 94, 95, 107 HPV-16 94-98

I

Incenp 40, 111-115 Incomplete cytokinesis 127-129 Inner centromeric protein 40, 111-115

L

Linkage 10, 60, 65 Liver 27, 30, 33, 76, 99, 123-132

Μ

Megakaryocyte 59, 60, 63, 76, 83, 99, 105, 106, 113, 115, 116, 126 Metabolic overload 130, 131 MgcRacGAP 29-31, 33, 34, 39-41 Microtubule 15-17, 19, 22, 24, 27, 28, 30, 33, 34-36, 38, 39, 58, 75, 93, 94, 99, 114, 115, 128, 129 Midbody 27, 28, 33-43, 111-113 Mitosis 2-4, 15-17, 22, 24, 25, 28, 30, 31, 34, 35, 38-43, 57-63, 65, 66, 75-78, 81, 83, 85, 86, 93-96, 98-101, 105-109, 111-116, 126, 129, 130, 138 Mitotic spindle checkpoint 81, 98, 99, 107, 109 MKLP1 29, 34, 35, 37, 39, 40 Mutator 8, 9, 108, 109 Myosin 27, 28, 30-33, 39, 41 Myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) 32

N

Neoplasm 2-5, 8-10, 95 Neoplastic progression 1-3, 5, 7, 9, 24, 93 Nucleus 15, 16, 22, 28, 34, 40, 59, 62, 75-77, 81, 83, 96, 97, 106, 112, 123-130, 137, 139, 141-144, 146

0

Octoploid 123, 124, 127, 130, 131 Oxidative damage 130, 131

P

- p16 2, 3, 5
- p53 2, 3, 5, 10, 24, 34, 43, 57-66, 73-86, 93,
- 95-101, 108, 116
- p63 74, 78, 79, 80
- p73 73, 74, 78-81, 83, 86
- Partial hepatectomy 76, 123, 130, 131
- Ploidy 2-4, 6, 7, 11, 24, 64, 77, 80, 81, 83, 85, 93, 94, 98-101, 105, 107, 108, 111, 113, 114, 123-131, 137, 139, 141-146
- Polyploidy 1-4, 7-9, 15, 59, 73, 75, 76, 78, 80, 82, 83, 86, 93, 95, 99, 100, 105-108, 111, 114-116, 123-126, 130-132
 - polyploidization 7, 57-60, 62-66, 73, 76-78, 80, 82, 83, 86, 99, 105, 106, 108, 111, 113, 115, 123-127, 130-132
- Polo kinase (Plk1) 34, 35, 38-40, 42, 43
- Progression 1-5, -10, 19, 22, 24, 25, 57-62, 65, 66, 74, 76, 77, 81, 83, 93, 99-101, 106, 115, 116, 130, 132, 137, 138, 143, 146
- Proliferation 5, 8, 9, 22, 78, 80, 97, 106, 110, 111, 112, 116, 123, 124, 127, 130, 131

R

Regeneration 110, 130, 131 RhoA 27-33, 39, 40-42, 129 Rho kinase 30, 40, 43

S

- Senescence 3, 73, 80, 97, 98, 106, 108, 123, 124, 130
- Septin 30, 33, 34, 37, 42, 43
- S phase 15, 24, 57, 59, 61-65, 74, 75, 77, 78, 83, 84, 86, 94, 99, 100, 106, 113, 126, 129, 130, 137, 138, 143
- Stem cell 6, 9, 110-112
- Stoichiometry 41, 137, 142, 143, 145
- Supravital staining 140, 143
- Survivin 40, 43, 107, 111-116

Т

Tetraploid 1-8, 10, 22-24, 27, 30, 33, 43, 44, 57-59, 63-66, 76, 77, 80, 81, 93, 98-101, 105-108, 110, 123, 124, 127-131, 143, 145, 146 Tetraploidization 58, 59, 63, 64, 66, 78, 100 Tumorigenesis 15, 24, 57, 58, 64-66, 73, 76, 78, 105, 107-111, 130 Tumor suppressor 2, 3, 7, 8, 10, 30, 57, 73, 77-79, 86, 95, 106, 108, 109

V

Vascular smooth muscle 105, 106, 112, 113

W

Weaning 30, 124, 126-129

Polyploidy, Aneuploidy and the Evolution of Cancer

Lauren M. F. Merlo, Li-san Wang, John W. Pepper, Peter S. Rabinovitch and Carlo C. Maley*

Abstract

A neuploidy is a ubiquitous feature of cancer and pre-cancerous lesions, yet its significance is poorly characterized. In this chapter, we review the role of tetraploidy and aneuploidy in progression. We examine how aneuploidy may contribute to the evolutionary dynamics prevalent in neoplastic progression, considering whether aneuploidy itself is selectively neutral or advantageous or if it simply acts as a mechanism for the more rapid accumulation of mutations increasing survival and reproduction of cancer cells. We also review evidence from Barrett's esophagus, a pre-malignant condition, demonstrating that tetraploidy and aneuploidy are correlated with an increased risk of progression to cancer. Ultimately, we aim provide testable hypotheses and methods for understanding the role of aneuploidy in cancer.

Introduction

Most cancers cells are aneuploid, meaning they contain the wrong number of chromosomes. Aneuploidy entails the loss or gain of individual chromosomes or large sections of chromosomes and is defined here as distinct from polyploidy, which involves extra copies of the entire genome, such as triploidy (3N) or tetraploidy (4N). Large-scale chromosomal amplifications and deletions in cancers have been demonstrated using a variety of methods, including comparative genomic hybridization (CGH), karyotyping and fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH).¹⁻³

The frequency with which aneuploidy is observed in cancer leads to a series of important questions: How do cancers become aneuploid? What genes are being targeted by the amplifications and deletions? How can cells survive with such massive perturbations to their genomes? How has the selective pressure of cancer shaped our genomes to sense and respond to these perturbations? Most of these questions have received little attention to date and the answers remain largely unknown. To facilitate research on these questions, we review what is known about each in an effort to frame the questions and hypotheses more precisely and propose methods that might be used to reach an answer.

The Tetraploidy to Aneuploidy Progression in Carcinogenesis

Abnormalities in chromosome content were observed to be common in tumor cells at least 120 years ago.⁴ The hypothesis that genomic instability could result from whole genome doublings (tetraploidy) and that this could play an important role in cancer was made more than a century ago by Theodor Boveri.⁵ For many years these observations were neglected, as aneuploidy and

*Corresponding Author: Carlo C. Maley—Molecular and Cellular Oncogenesis Program, The Wistar Institute, 3601 Spruce St, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19104, USA. Email: cmaley@alum.mit.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. tetraploidy were commonly held to be incidental to tumor evolution. However, within the past several decades the importance of chromosomal abnormalities and chromosomal instability has risen. When aneuploid DNA content became readily identifiable by flow cytometry, it was noted that this finding was more common in higher grade cancers and that aneuploid tumors of many kinds had a more aggressive clinical behavior than their diploid counterparts.^{6,7} Today, some authors argue that the evidence points to aneuploidy playing a pivotal role in the chromosomal instability that generates tumor diversity, clonal evolution and malignant phenotypes.⁸

While an uploidy could in principal be generated by progressive additions to the diploid DNA content by accumulated chromosomal gains, as by mitotic nondisjunction, it would then be puzzling that an uploid tumor DNA contents are most commonly in the triploid to tetraploid range.⁹ Boveri's hypothesis allows that a tetraploid intermediate is a common precursor to aneuploidy and that subsequent chromosomal evolution by loss of superfluous chromosomes or chromosome segments results in the aneuploid chromosomal complement. A conceptual model of the role of the tetraploid intermediate in carcinogenesis was formalized by Shackney et al.¹⁰ Supporting experimental evidence comes from observations of a tetraploid intermediate during murine carcinogenesis.^{11,12} Furthermore, when diploid and tetraploid mouse cells from a common mammary precursor were directly compared, the tetraploid cells had greater chromosomal instability and only the tetraploid cells gave rise to malignant tumors when transplanted into nude mice.¹³ Perhaps most significantly, tetraploidy has been demonstrated to be a precursor of aneuploidy in several human cancers, including Barrett's esophagus (see below) and cervical carcinoma.¹⁴ The mechanisms that underlie generation of the tetraploid state are now recognized to include the failure of cytokinesis and, in particular, failure of checkpoint control during mitosis.¹⁵ Loss of p53 function plays an important role in augmenting this process, as failure of p53-dependent G1 checkpoint and DNA repair commonly result in G2/M checkpoint arrest; failure of this latter checkpoint, or accommodation or "slippage," allows cells to reenter the cell cycle with a failure of cytokinesis, resulting in tetraploid G1 cells.^{15,16}

Tetraploidy and Aneuploidy in Barrett's Esophagus

It is difficult to determine the role of polyploidy and aneuploidy in the development of cancer because most cancers cannot be studied longitudinally. When we detect a neoplasm we either remove it or, if it has metastasized, treat it systemically (which may generate additional aneuploid cells). The same is true for most premalignant neoplasms. This prevents us from studying the effects of ploidy changes on the further development of the neoplasm and from making direct observations of the ordering of events in progression. An important exception is Barrett's esophagus (BE).

Barrett's esophagus is a premalignant neoplasm¹⁷ that predisposes for the development of esophageal adenocarcinoma (EA).¹⁸ Characterized by the presence of specialized intestinal epithelium in the esophagus, it can be recognized endoscopically as a salmon-colored epithelium just above the gastro-esophageal sphincter. Only about 0.5% of people with BE progress to EA per year and most people with BE will die of some other cause.¹⁹ Unlike other premalignant neoplasms, such as an adenomatous polyp in the colon, BE is not removed when detected. Esophagectomies have an 8%-23% mortality rate²⁰ and thus the risk of progression to EA does not justify the risk of removal of the BE segment. Instead, the standard of care is surveillance with periodic endoscopic biopsies for the early detection of cancer. If EA is detected in an intensive surveillance program, it is often caught prior to metastasis and patients can be treated surgically. For these purely clinical reasons, BE presents a scientific opportunity to study the genetics of how a neoplasm changes over time as it progresses to cancer.

We study BE as a model of neoplastic progression in solid tumors. Aside from the danger of removing it and ease of biopsying it, BE is similar to many other conditions that predispose to carcinogenesis in a variety of respects. Like inflammatory bowel disease, hepatitis, pancreatitis, prostatitis, *H. pylori* infection in the stomach and *Schistosomiasis* infection in the bladder, BE is characterized by chronic inflammation.²¹ Similar to other premalignant conditions, only a minority of patients with BE progress to cancer. In addition, neoplastic progression in BE is characterized by some of the most common genetic lesions across all cancers: loss of the tumor suppressor genes p16 (INK4A/CDKN2A) and p53 (TP53) and the development of tetraploidy and aneuploidy. Studying BE provides us the major advantage of observing the development of these lesions over time. What have these longitudinal studies taught us about the role of polyploidy and aneuploidy in neoplastic progression?

p16

The first genetic and epigenetic lesion commonly observed in BE is loss of the p16 tumor suppressor gene. Tlsty and colleagues have argued that loss of p16 leads to decoupling of the synthesis of DNA and centrosomes in the cell cycle, such that if either is delayed, the cell might enter mitosis with the wrong number of centrosomes or the wrong amount of DNA and aneuploidy could result.²² It is unclear if this happens in BE. To date, the association between the loss of p16 and ploidy abnormalities has not been adequately studied. We do know that patients can live for many years lacking p16 in their BE neoplasm but never develop aneuploidy.

p53

The genetic lesion that has been associated with the development of both tetraploidy and aneuploidy in BE is loss of the p53 tumor suppressor.^{23,24} Our current hypothesis is that although aneuploid cells may arise in a p53 wildtype clone, they normally trigger the p53-dependent DNA damage checkpoint which either leads to senescence or apoptosis and so the aneuploid clone never grows large enough to be sampled. Once the p53 checkpoint is compromised, aneuploid clones are free to proliferate without check. This is why we believe that the loss of p53 precedes the development of both tetraploidy and aneuploidy. Loss of heterozygosity at the p53 locus is also the strongest single predictor of progression and is associated with a 16-fold increased risk of developing aneuploidy.

Tetraploidy

Tetraploidy, defined in this case as greater than 6% of cells with 4N DNA content, is also a predictor of progression associated with a 12-fold (95% CI: 6.2-22) increased risk of progression to EA.²⁵ Sometimes this may be an indication of cells being stalled in the G2 phase of the cell cycle. Other times, the presence of 8N cells in cell cycle analysis suggests that there are viable tetraploid cells in the neoplasm. FISH studies have found that loss of heterozygosity in p53 as detected by microsatellite analysis could be caused by deletion of one allele of p53 or, more often, by duplication of the genome followed by deletion of multiple p arms of chromosome 17 where p53 resides.²⁶

Aneuploidy

Most cases of aneuploid clones in BE have DNA content between diploidy and tetraploidy further suggesting that tetraploidy is an intermediate stage of progression followed by selective loss of parts of the genome. This appears to be true of other cancers as well.^{9,27-29} We have compiled a survey of 57 esophageal adenomas that were surgically removed prior to therapy and analyzed for DNA content in our study (Fig. 1). This new data agrees with our previously published data²⁵ that hypodiploids and supratetraploids are rare.

The detection of an aneuploid clone in BE is associated with a 9.5-fold (95% CI: 4.9-18) increased risk of progression.²⁵ However, the presence of both tetraploidy and aneuploidy is an indication of greater risk of progression than either alone^{25,30} and may be a sign of more extensive genomic instability.

It should be noted that in BE, at least, the loss of p53 and the development of aneuploidy is not sufficient to cause cancer. In contrast, loss of p53 is thought to cause malignancy in colorectal carcinogenesis.³¹ Although BE patients with both a p53 lesion and a ploidy lesion (either tetraploidy or aneuploidy) are at a very high risk of progressing to cancer, that process can still take years.³⁰ So there must be other loci that are being targeted by the gains and losses during the further evolution of aneuploid clones. Hopefully, genome-wide analyses of aneuploid BE and EA will reveal the final genetic lesions that cause invasion and metastasis.



Figure 1. 55 out of 57 esophageal adenocarcinomas in the Seattle Barrett's Esophagus cohort were aneuploid or tetraploid. We detected 107 different aneuploid clones (and 2 diploid clones) in these 57 neoplasms. The frequencies of the different ploidies (2 = diploid, 4 = tetraploid) are shown in the histogram.

Not All Aneuploids Are Equal

Every aneuploid clone is unique. Each contains its own set of gains and losses, some of them probably random, others selected because they gave the clone a competitive advantage in the microenvironment of the neoplasm. Thus, it may be misleading to speak of aneuploidy as a "state". We should expect different aneuploid clones to behave differently during progression and therapy.

It is tempting to think of polyploidy as a state that should not substantially affect the fitness of a cell because the gene dosage is amplified equally across the entire genome. However, that would only be true if the expression of genes was a linear function of concentrations of regulatory proteins. Instead, genetic regulatory interactions, including posttranscriptional modifications, multi-mer regulatory complexes and the interactions of enhancers and inhibitors, are all highly nonlinear. Thus, a gene's expression level may actually decrease with the doubling of the genome if it is overwhelmed by the doubling of an inhibitor gene.^{32,33} The effect of increasing the ploidy of a cell on its protein concentrations may be equivalent to genome-wide sequence mutation events. These nonlinear interactions may explain the lethal developmental abnormalities associated with ploidy irregularities in human embryos. Though in most cases gene expression levels do seem to be correlated with gene copy number.^{34,35} In fact, the story may be even more complicated because the phenotype of the cell may depend on how it became polyploid. A study in a BE cell line that reliably produces a tetraploid sub-population showed evidence that the cells had somehow passed through mitosis without actually dividing and expressed genes characteristic of both mitosis and G1.³⁶

Clones that become malignant may derive from tetraploid cells, for the reasons described earlier, including the fact that tetraploid cells have the genetic buffer that allows them to lose large chunks of their chromosomes and thereby select for different gene dosage effects while retaining enough copies of essential genes to maintain the viability of the cell. Diploid cells that start losing large portions of their genome are probably more likely to suffer a fatal genetic lesion.

If this view is correct, then aneuploidy is a crude mechanism to change gene expression levels. It is crude because copy number alterations often affect large regions of a chromosome, sometimes whole chromosomes and so affect many genes at once. We would predict that some aneuploid states would produce gene product levels that result in a higher fitness for an aneuploid cell than a tetraploid cell. Specifically, we would predict that an aneuploid clone should have a higher fitness and expand faster than a tetraploid clone from the same neoplasm. This may explain the apparent transient nature of tetraploidy in BE and could be tested in competition experiments in tissue culture.

Because the regions of copy number change affect so many genes in parallel, it is difficult to determine which among those genes are responsible for any increase in fitness of a clone. While gene mapping studies can help pinpoint specific regions commonly amplified or deleted (e.g., location of p16, p53), in general we need better tools to measure the fitness effects of gene deletions and amplifications to clarify the selective effect of copy number changes.

Amplifications and deletions of a few specific genetic regions are known to be associated with cancer, but thus far a census of copy number changes across cancers has not been compiled. There are a variety of challenges associated with such a task. First of all, it is not clear how to calculate the frequency of a copy number change at a locus. Should it be the frequency across cancer patients, in which case lesions in the most common cancers would dominate the results, or should it be the frequency across sub-types of cancer, such that a lesion that appeared in 50% of a rare type of cancer would be weighted equally with a lesion that appeared in 50% of a common type of cancer? Different sub-types of cancer, even within a particular organ system, are likely to have different patterns of copy number changes across the genome. Many CGH studies have not segregated sub-types of cancer since we are still in the process of distinguishing new sub-types. Defining these different sub-types is important because cancers originating in different cell types and organs experience different microenvironments and thus different evolutionary pressures that select for copy number changes in different parts of the genome. Experimentally, if a cancer is aneuploid it is critical to normalize CGH arrays by the number of cells not the amount of DNA, else the average fluorescence reading in a CGH study would appear to be diploid while true diploid regions would be identified as deletions. CGH array studies are also sensitive to the amount of contaminating stroma than can obscure copy number changes in the cancer. Of course, different studies have used different platforms, so any compilation of current studies probably could not resolve copy number changes below the chromosome arm level. If the cancer genome project is successful, it should solve the problems of low resolution and incompatible technological platforms. In fact, the ability to find consistent patterns of genetic alterations in cancer is one of the justifications for the cancer genome project. A further important result of a comprehensive census of copy number changes in cancers would be a determination of which amplifications and deletions are not seen in cancers. These alterations are likely to be deleterious to a neoplastic clone and might lead to the development of new therapies.

Why Do Cancer Cells Survive with Such Massive Alterations to Their Genome?

The genomic instability that characterizes neoplastic progression often involves gains and losses at the scale of chromosome arms and even whole chromosomes. Thus, hundreds of genes are often duplicated or deleted in a single event. In most biological (and technological) systems, a mutation in a functional part is deleterious. How can a cell survive the massive alterations seen in cancers?

Amplification of a gene, while often increasing expression level of the gene, does not necessarily increase the protein level of that gene. There is evidence that if a gene is normally part of a protein complex and the other members of the complex are not over-expressed, the over-expressed, uncomplexed protein may be quickly degraded, resulting in normal protein levels.³⁴ Thus, cells may be robust to many amplification events.

Devoting metabolic effort for the benefit of the organism and suppressing cellular proliferation are disadvantageous for a neoplastic cell. Those cells that can reproduce faster, avoid differentiation, suppress apoptosis, stabilize their telomeres and stimulate angiogenesis when hypoxia becomes a problem will proliferate faster than competitors that lack those hallmarks of cancer.³⁷ At the initiation of a neoplasm, cells may not be adapted to the selective pressures of the neoplasm. It is quite possible that many mutations would be beneficial rather than deleterious because they result in the dismantling of the genetic machinery that keeps proliferation in check in a multicellular body.

Perhaps most of the genome of a multicellular organism is devoted to building and maintaining the organism rather than the individual cells³⁸ and so even large scale copy number changes may not be deleterious for a neoplastic cell.

This hypothesis, that large scale deletions in cells are much more likely to be beneficial to the cell than to an embryo, could be tested experimentally. One could experimentally delete chromosome arms by using the Cre-lox system of site-directed recombination³⁹⁻⁴¹ (and perhaps even whole chromosomes if one deleted the centromere). The fate of the cell as an orthotopic injection or as an embryonic stem cell could then be compared to wildtype cells. Expression of Cre under an organ-specific promoter would help test the effects of deletions in different organ contexts. It would be important to do the complementary experiment, testing the selective effects of amplifying whole chromosomes or chromosome arms. A recent study generated yeast strains with extra chromosome through abortive nuclear fusions during mating and showed that an extra copy of a chromosome caused a decrease in fitness, regardless of which chromosome was duplicated.³⁴ We are not aware of an experimental method to carry out an equivalent study in mammalian cells, though fibroblasts from Downs syndrome patients (trisomy of chromosome 21) grow more slowly than fibroblasts from age-matched controls.⁴²

Aneuploidy in Development

Certainly during development most inherited copy number changes are deleterious. The selective effect of ploidy changes appears to be fundamentally different in cancer as compared to ploidy abnormalities present in the germ line. During development, ploidy abnormalities are nearly always lethal. Trisomy (3n) of the entire genome, usually caused by the fertilization of a single egg by two sperm, is lethal, as is tetraploidy (4n), generally caused by the failure of the zygote to divide. Monosomy of individual chromosomes is invariably lethal at a very early stage in gestation, as is trisomy of all but a few chromosomes.⁴³

Aneuploidy is common in human embryos and is the leading cause of miscarriage.⁴⁴ For unknown reasons, humans have a 10-fold higher rate of aneuploidy compared to other mammals.⁴⁵ A few duplications do lead to viable offspring, occurring as rare genetic disorders. Trisomy of chromosomes 13, 18 and 21 are the only whole-autosome trisomies compatible with survival until birth and only trisomy of chromosome 21 (Downs syndrome) allows for survival into adulthood. All are associated with significant developmental abnormalities. Trisomy of chromosome 13 (Patau syndrome) is associated with limb and facial abnormalities, heart and kidney defects and neurological abnormalities including failure of the brain to divide into halves during gestation (holoprosencephaly). Trisomy of 18 (Edwards syndrome) also leads to severe developmental abnormalities.⁴⁶ In addition, there are a variety of other conditions associated with ploidy abnormalities (loss or duplication) of various chromosome arms or smaller sections of chromosomes, including trisomy of chromosome arms 10q, 16p and q and monosomy disorders such as 4p- (Wolf-Herschhorn syndrome) and 5p- (cri-du-chat syndrome). While many of these abnormalities have been described, only a few have been genetically characterized. For instance, a 17p- monosomy known as Smith-Magenis syndrome is specifically caused by deletion of the RAI1 (retinoic acid induced 1) gene. The exact function of the gene is unknown, but it is believed be a transcriptional regulator critical for neurological development with disease symptoms the result of haploinsufficiency.⁴⁷

So what is different about cancer that allows for rampant aneuploidy? A copy number change that affects every cell in the body may be likely to have catastrophic effects in at least one organ. In contrast, after development if a new copy number mutation occurs within a single organ, it may be unlikely to be immediately fatal. In fact, cells in any particular organ may not utilize many genes in the genome and so large deletions and amplifications may often be selectively neutral, rather than deleterious. So, large scale copy number changes may only be important during development. Of course, cancer is disadvantageous to the organism as a whole, so perhaps some copy number changes are lethal during development because they essentially cause cancer before the body can even form. One way to test this idea in a model species would be to determine if embryonic cells with extra chromosomes divide at different rates than normal embryos.

Polyploidy in the Evolution of Species

Polyploidization has been hypothesized by some to be a substantive force in genome evolution in both plants and animals.⁴⁸ There are a variety of hypotheses for the benefits of polyploidy in genome evolution, though few of these would explain any immediate benefit that would occur on the time scale of a developing cancer. Polyploidy in plants is common, particularly in angiosperms, which raises the question of why polyploidy is detrimental in animal systems but not in plants. It may be a more common phenomenon in plants for the following reasons. First, many plants are self-fertilizing and thus do not have to contend with the problem of reproduction with an individual with the standard chromosome number. Second, polyploidization in animals is thought to be developmentally lethal because of imbalances in protein levels; humans face this issue with their dimorphic sex chromosomes and the X-inactivation mechanism is required for dosage compensation. One would presume that plants would face the same challenges, though perhaps plants have better mechanisms for dosage compensation. In animals, ploidy abnormalities often lead to sterility, a problem not encountered by plants. Plants are also less susceptible to cancer than animals since they lack the circulatory system, migratory (potentially metastatic) cells and vulnerability to organ failure common in animals.

Despite these differences, some insights may be gained by examining the major hypotheses for the frequency of polyploidization in plant systems.⁴⁹ Polyploid plants tend to be larger and more robust. This may explain why many domesticated crops are polyploid and why polyploidy is more likely in plants found in extreme environments. Polyploids also have the advantage of gene redundancy: disadvantageous recessive alleles are masked by wild-type alleles and mutations occurring in duplicated alleles may not reduce the total fitness of the organism.⁵⁰ In plants, polyploidy also can lead to a loss of self-incompatibility, which may improve reproductive ability. Many animal genomes also show evidence of ancient polyploidization events.⁴⁸ Similar to the hypothesized diploid-tetraploid-aneuploid progression in cancer,^{16,51} it is thought that genomes may be initially unstable after a polyploidization event and then detrimental duplicated genes are removed or diverge through the process of selection.⁵²

Why Is Aneuploidy Common in Neoplastic Progression?

Setting aside the issue of what proportion of copy number changes are beneficial to a neoplastic cell, there is still a question of why aneuploidy and polyploidy are so common in cancer. There are at least three categories of possible explanations for the prevalence of aneuploidy in carcinogenesis: 1) Aneuploidy is a common side effect of lesions that occur during carcinogenesis but is otherwise evolutionarily neutral. 2) Aneuploid clones, by dint of their genetic instability, often generate specific genetic lesions that provide the clone with a competitive advantage over other clones, regardless of their ploidy. 3) Aneuploidy itself provides a competitive advantage over diploid clones.

A Competitive Advantage of Aneuploidy

Several lines of evidence seem most compatible with the third hypothesis: Aneuploidy is observed at high frequencies in many cancers and many different types of cancer.⁵³ Aneuploidy is more common in higher grade cancers and is associated with more aggressive clinical behavior.⁶⁷ Aneuploidy does not seem to be logically required for carcinogenesis. Diploid cells can silence tumor suppressor genes by methylation, sequence mutations or localized deletions. They can also activate oncogenes by sequence mutations, local amplifications or over-activation of up-stream genes in the same pathway. This line of reasoning also suggests that aneuploidy may be common because it often provides a direct competitive advantage over diploid cells. Why might this be true?

We argued above that nonlinear feedback effects in gene regulation may make large scale amplifications act like wide spread mutations, up- and down-regulating expression of genes across the genome. Our question then becomes: Given the conventional wisdom that random mutations are expected to reduce fitness, why do the 'mutation packages' resulting from aneuploidy apparently go to high frequency, as if under positive somatic selection? There is a crucial difference between the expected fitness effects of mutations in organisms versus in metazoan cells. Organismal selection has favored any alleles that increase organismal survival and reproduction. Thus, organisms are typically on or near a peak in their fitness landscape so that most random moves in phenotype space (most mutations) are detrimental to organism fitness.

In contrast, during the progression of a neoplasm, cells are subject not to organismal selection, but to somatic selection among cells.⁵⁴ Through their evolutionary history of organismal selection, genomes have not been shaped for optimal fitness in terms of somatic selection. Indeed the opposite may be closer to the truth. Many of the genes in a metazoan genome may function to constrain cellular competition.⁵⁵ For example, a history of organismal selection has shaped cell genotypes that limit cell reproduction and increase cell mortality (e.g., through apoptosis).⁵⁴ This implies that many mutations may provide a competitive advantage for the mutant cell.³⁸ Organismal selection is also expected to create in cells mechanisms of 'antiredundancy' or hypersensitivity to the deleterious effects of mutations which help the organism by culling mutant genomes from its cell population.⁵⁶

The combined effect of evolved constraints on cellular competition and evolved antiredundancy mechanisms is that in terms of somatic competition within an organism, cells are expected to be located at or near the bottom of a 'pit' in their fitness landscape.

For organisms located on a fitness peak, random mutations are expected on average to be deleterious. In contrast, for cells located in a fitness pit, random mutations are expected on average to be beneficial.

Since the vast majority of aneuploid and polyploidy cells are supradiploid (greater than 2N chromosomes, Fig. 1), at the very least they carry the burden of having to replicate more DNA during the synthesis phase of the cell cycle than a diploid cell. This should require more cellular resources and perhaps more time than a diploid cell. If the process of genome synthesis is sufficiently parallel and resources are not limiting, then the extra DNA content of a supradiploid cell may not reduce the reproduction rate of the cell. One might be able to test this by generating a tetraploid cell through fusion and comparing its cell cycle time to the diploid cells that were used to generate it. Aneuploids generated in yeast appear to have reduced proliferation rates and require increased glucose uptake to fuel the protein synthesis generated by extra copies of genes which are mostly active.³⁴ Furthermore, experimental suppression of CENP produces aneuploid cells with a reduced frequency of viable daughter cells but without a measurable change in the net proliferation rate.⁵⁷

One possible explanation for a supradiploid competitive advantage over diploid cells is that supradiploid cells are likely to be more robust to deletions and gene inactivation because they have more copies of essential genes than diploid cells. If an essential gene is haploinsufficient, then a deletion of a single allele in a diploid cell will be fatal. However, a deletion of a single allele in a tetraploid cell would leave three viable alleles and the tetraploid cell would survive. Thus, we would expect environments that cause frequent deletions to select for supradiploid cells. Conditions of chronic inflammation, including Barrett's esophagus, produce oxygen and nitrogen radicals that can result in such DNA damage.⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰

Aneuploidy May Generate Advantageous Lesions

The fact that experimentally derived aneuploid cells tend to suffer a fitness disadvantage relative to wildtype cells^{34,57} suggests that aneuploidy, as a form of a mutator phenotype,^{61,62} may not provide a direct advantage but may increase the probability that one of the genetic variants it generates has a competitive advantage due to the inactivation of a tumor suppressor gene or the amplification of an oncogene. Mutators gain a competitive advantage over nonmutators in at least three cases. First, if beneficial mutations are more likely than deleterious mutations, a lineage that increases its mutation rate will also, on average, increase its fitness. Second, even if deleterious mutations are more common than beneficial mutations, if the occasional beneficial mutation has a dramatic effect, the mutator lineage may generate a variant that out-competes all other lineages even if most of the variants it had produced until that point had been burdened with deleterious mutations. Weaver et al found that although their aneuploid cells produced

fewer viable daughter cells than wildtype cells, aneuploid cells produced more colonies capable of anchorage independent growth.⁵⁷ Finally, if the selective environment—including both the microenvironment and the genetic make-up of the competitors—changes frequently, a lineage that produces a diverse set of offspring is more likely to produce at least one that can survive in the changing environment compared to a lineage that produces a homogenous set of offspring. In this case, a mutator lineage is more likely to adapt to the changing environment than a nonmutator. All of these possibilities may apply to neoplastic progression. Experiments to test the fitness effects of various mutations could test the first two cases. Whether an aneuploid cell evolves faster to a changing environment than a diploid cell could be tested in vitro with any number of changing exposures. It is interesting to note that spontaneously occurring mutator strains of *E. coli* do not appear to have a higher fitness than the nonmutator strains.^{63,64} We should not be too quick to accept the idea of an indirect benefit of aneuploidy as a mutator phenotype.

Aneuploidy May Be an Evolutionarily Neutral By-Product of Carcinogenesis

The final alternative is that aneuploidy is evolutionarily neutral. It may be a common phenomenon if many genetic and epigenetic lesions can produce aneuploidy or polyploidy by disrupting the cell cycle machinery. Erosion of telomeres leads to bridge-breakage-fusion cycles and so aneuploidy may be a consequence of extensive proliferation in neoplasms.^{65,66} If we assume that deletions are more likely to be deleterious than amplifications, then we would predict that most aneuploids and polyploids should be supradiploid. In any case, because the aneuploid clone is hypothesized to be neutral, it should only expand (and contract) by genetic drift, that is, very slowly and then only by chance. If these lesions are common, it is much more likely that a new aneuploid clone would emerge before a previous aneuploid clone could take over the neoplasm. On average, it requires N cell generations for a neutral clone to expand to fill a neoplasm of N cells. If a cell generation takes one day and we assume 1 cm³ neoplasm (~10⁹ cells) has a frequency of 10⁻⁴ stem cells,⁶⁷⁻⁷² then an evolutionarily neutral aneuploid stem cell should take approximately 300 years to fill that neoplasm.

The neutral hypothesis of the evolution of an euploidy predicts that neoplasms will accumulate many an euploid clones that coexist but mostly derive from different diploid progenitors. Thus, the aneuploid clones should not be closely genetically related. In contrast, the hypothesis that an euploid provides a selective advantage predicts that the aneuploid clone should expand in the neoplasm and, if there are multiple clones they will likely be closely related as the aneuploid lineage spins off genetic variants. These hypotheses could be distinguished by taking multiple biopsies from a neoplasm and characterizing their genetics to determine the size and relationships between clones. In BE, we typically see the later pattern, with either a single or closely related aneuploid clones in the neoplasm. This suggests that aneuploid provides or leads to a selective advantage in BE. However, for unknown reasons, it is rare for an aneuploid clone to take over the entire neoplasm.¹⁷

Whether aneuploidy and more generally chromosomal instability, provides a competitive advantage for a neoplastic clone may have clinical importance. If aneuploidy provides a competitive advantage, then any surviving aneuploid cells after therapy are likely to replenish and dominate the neoplasm at relapse. If aneuploidy is evolutionarily neutral, a diploid surviving clone is just as likely to grow back to fill the void caused by the intervention. We would predict that aneuploid neoplasms would contain more genetic variants than diploid neoplasms and be more likely to harbor a therapeutically resistant clone. However, neoplasms dominated by genetic drift are more likely to accumulate genetic diversity than neoplasms in which one clone has a competitive advantage and can drive other clones extinct. The current amount of genetic diversity and thus the likelihood of resistance, depends on the interplay between the frequency with which new clones are generated and the homogenizing effects of clonal expansion.^{53,73}

DNA Damage Sensing by Linkage

There is a much literature on the mechanisms of DNA damage sensing in the cell cycle, much of it centered on the role of p53.^{74.76} This work has been more competently reviewed by others.^{77,78} Here we focus on a hypothesis for an alternative and perhaps more primitive, mechanism for sensing DNA damage: linkage between tumor suppressor genes and essential genes.

Some regions of the genome may be protected by the presence of genes that are necessary for the survival of the cell. If enough deletions occur in that region to knock out all alleles of such genes, the cell dies and those genetic lesions are not propagated in the tissue. There is another set of genes, including tumor suppressor genes, which if lost decreases the fitness of the organism but not necessarily the cell. That is, if a clone loses enough alleles of tumor suppressor genes, it might expand but eventually kill its host. Thus, selection at the organism level may have increased the fitness of organisms by shuffling the gene order in a genome to place genes essential for the survival of a cell near to genes essential for the survival of the organism. In this way, if a deletion knocks out the tumor suppressor gene, it is also likely to knock out the nearby essential gene and the cell will die before it can generate a cancer. Thus genes essential for the survival of the cell may act like a crude form of DNA damage sensing, specific to a particular locus in the genome, that triggers apoptosis.

We predict that there has been selection for linking tumor suppressor genes with genes essential for cell survival. Such a linkage would bias against the discovery of the tumor suppressor gene. Linkage with an essential gene would tend to prevent those tumor suppressor genes from being knocked out in neoplasms with chromosomal instability and those tumor suppressor genes would be more likely to be identified in cases where the tumor suppressor gene was silenced by methylation or sequence mutations, leaving the nearby essential gene intact. The observation of at least 245 rearrangements between the human and mouse genomes may be a signature of selection for this kind of linkage.⁷⁹ This hypothesis provides one of the first explanations for a selective pressure that may be driving genome rearrangements in species.

Ancient and Recent Cancer Genes

Evolution is often described as a process of accretion. New features are added to old structures. Genes are duplicated and then diverge, adding interactions to an existing gene network. Thus, ancient genes are likely to be in the middle of such a network with many other genes depending on them. Recently evolved genes are likely to be at the periphery with fewer genes depending on them.⁸⁰ This leads to the prediction that copy number changes that affect recently evolved genes should be less likely to be deleterious than copy number changes that affect ancient genes. Careful analysis of CGH data from neoplasms might be used to test this prediction. Alternatively, an in vitro system for testing fitness effects⁸¹ might be used to test the prediction in conjunction with the targeted deletion or amplification of either ancient or recently evolved genes.

Conclusion

Aneuploidy is a feature of almost all cancers and many premalignant conditions, including Barrett's esophagus. There are a few exceptions to this rule^{27,82} including microsatellite instable colorectal cancer which can generate many genetic lesions without requiring copy number abnormalities.⁸³ Despite its prevalence, the significance of aneuploidy in cancer is poorly understood. By considering aneuploidy in an evolutionary context and examining its selective effects, we may better be able to understand how this phenomenon contributes to cancer progression. Evolutionary theory predicts that most mutations are deleterious, yet the prevalence of aneuploidy indicates that cancers are able to tolerate an enormous load of mutations and still utilize the body's resources and proliferate faster than normal cells. Evidence in Barrett's esophagus correlates the incidence of tetraploidy and aneuploidy with increased risk of progression. By designing experiments to examine the effects of aneuploidy in cancer and normal cells, we can help determine how aneuploidy develops and spreads in the hopes of developing predictive tools to allow us to better treat patients and prevent cancer.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Brian Reid and Rissa Sanchez for helpful advice and supplying the ploidy data on esophageal adenocarcinomas from the Seattle Barrett's Esophagus Research Program. This work was supported in part by the Commonwealth Universal Research Enhancement Program from the Pennsylvania Department of Health, the Pew Charitable Trust and NIH grants T32 CA09171 and P01 CA91955.

References

- 1. Castro MA, Onsten TT, de Almeida et al. Profiling cytogenetic diversity with entropy-based karyotypic analysis. J Theor Biol 2005; 234(4):487-95.
- 2. Harada T, Okita K, Shiraishi K et al. Interglandular cytogenetic heterogeneity detected by comparative genomic hybridization in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 2002; 62(3):835-9.
- 3. Murphy DS, Hoare SF, Going JJ et al. Characterization of extensive genetic alterations in ductal carcinoma in situ by fluorescence in situ hybridization and molecular analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 1995; 87(22):1694-704.
- 4. Wolff J. Die Lehre von der Krebskrankheit. Sagamore Beach, MA: Science History Publishers; 1907.
- 5. Boveri T. The origin of malignant tumours (trans). Baltimore, MD: Willimas and Wilkins; 1929.
- 6. Friedlander ML, Hedley DW, Taylor IW. Clinical and biological significance of aneuploidy in human tumours. J Clin Pathol 1984; 37(9):961-74.
- Herman CJ. Cytometric DNA analysis in the management of cancer. Clinical and laboratory considerations. Cancer 1992; 69(6 Suppl):1553-6.
- 8. Duesberg P, Li R, Fabarius A et al. The chromosomal basis of cancer. Cell Oncol 2005; 27(5-6):293-318.
- 9. Raber MN, Barlogie B. Flow cytometry of human solid tumors. In: Melamed M, Lindmo T and Mendelsohn ML. Flow cytometry and sorting, New York: Wiley-Liss; 1990; p. 547-54.
- Shackney SE, Smith CA, Miller BW et al. Model for the genetic evolution of human solid tumors. Cancer Res 1989; 49(12):3344-54.
- Ornitz DM, Hammer RE, Messing A et al. Pancreatic neoplasia induced by SV40 T-antigen expression in acinar cells of transgenic mice. Science 1987; 238(4824):188-93.
- 12. Levine DS, Sanchez CA, Rabinovitch PS et al. Formation of the tetraploid intermediate is associated with the development of cells with more than four centrioles in the elastase-simian virus 40 tumor antigen transgenic mouse model of pancreatic cancer [published erratum appears in Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991; 88(15):6427-31.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437(7061):1043-7.
- Heselmeyer K, Schrock E, du Manoir S et al. Gain of chromosome 3q defines the transition from severe dysplasia to invasive carcinoma of the uterine cervix. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93(1):479-84.
- Margolis RL, Lohez OD, Andreassen PR. G1 tetraploidy checkpoint and the suppression of tumorigenesis. J Cell Biochem 2003; 88(4):673-83.
- Ganem NJ, Storchova Z, Pellman D. Tetraploidy, aneuploidy and cancer. Curr. Opin. Genet Dev 2007; 17(2):157-62.
- 17. Maley CC, Galipeau PC, Li X et al. Selectively advantageous mutations and hitchhikers in neoplasms: p16 lesions are selected in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Res 2004; 64(10):3414-27.
- 18. Maley CC. Multistage carcinogenesis in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Lett 2006;
- 19. Sharma P, Falk GW, Weston AP et al. Dysplasia and cancer in a large multicenter cohort of patients with Barrett's esophagus. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006; 4(5):566-72.
- Birkmeyer JD, Siewers AE, Finlayson EV et al. Hospital volume and surgical mortality in the United States. N Engl J Med 2002; 346(15):1128-37.
- Balkwill F, Charles KA, Mantovani A. Smoldering and polarized inflammation in the initiation and promotion of malignant disease. Cancer Cell 2005; 7(3):211-7.
- McDermott KM, Zhang J, Holst CR et al. p16(INK4a) prevents centrosome dysfunction and genomic instability in primary cells. PLoS Biol 2006; 4(3):e51.
- 23. Prevo LJ, Sanchez CA, Galipeau PC et al. p53-mutant clones and field effects in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Res 1999; 59(19):4784-7.
- 24 Reid BJ, Prevo LJ, Galipeau PC et al. Predictors of progression in Barrett's esophagus II: baseline 17p (p53) loss of heterozygosity identifies a patient subset at increased risk for neoplastic progression. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001; 96:2839-48.
- 25. Rabinovitch PS, Longton G, Blount PL et al. Predictors of progression in Barrett's esophagus III: baseline flow cytometric variables. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96(11):3071-83.

- 26. Wongsurawat VJ, Finley JC, Galipeau PC et al. Genetic mechanisms of TP53 loss of heterozygosity in Barrett's esophagus: implications for biomarker validation. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev 2006; 15(3):509-16.
- 27. Kristensen GB, Kaern J, Abeler VM et al. No prognostic impact of flow-cytometric measured DNA ploidy and S-phase fraction in cancer of the uterine cervix: a prospective study of 465 patients. Gynecol Oncol 1995; 57(1):79-85.
- Ewers SB, Langstrom E, Baldetorp B et al. Flow-cytometric DNA analysis in primary breast carcinomas and clinicopathological correlations. Cytometry 1984; 5(4):408-19.
- 29. Giaretti W. A model of DNA aneuploidization and evolution in colorectal cancer. Lab Invest 1994; 71(6):904-10.
- Galipeau PC, Li X, Blount PL et al. NSAIDs Modulate CDKN2A, TP53 and DNA Content Risk for Progression to Esophageal Adenocarcinoma. PLoS Medicine 2007; 4:e67.
- 31. Fearon ER, Vogelstein B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 1990; 61(5):759-67.
- 32. Galitski T, Saldanha AJ, Styles CA et al. Ploidy regulation of gene expression. Science 1999; 285(5425):251-4.
- 33. Guo M, Davis D, Birchler JA. Dosage effects on gene expression in a maize ploidy series. Genetics 1996; 142(4):1349-55.
- Torres EM, Sokolsky T, Tucker CM et al. Effects of aneuploidy on cellular physiology and cell division in haploid yeast. Science 2007; 317(5840):916-24.
- 35. Hughes TR, Mao M, Jones AR et al. Expression profiling using microarrays fabricated by an ink-jet oligonucleotide synthesizer. Nat Biotechnol 2001; 19(4):342-7.
- 36. Barrett MT, Pritchard D, Palanca-Wessels C et al. Molecular phenotype of spontaneously arising 4N (G2-tetraploid) intermediates of neoplastic progression in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Res 2003; 63(14):4211-7.
- 37. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000; 100(1):57-70.
- Rajagopalan H, Nowak MA, Vogelstein B et al. The significance of unstable chromosomes in colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2003; 3:695-701.
- 39. Zhu YT, Qi C, Hu L et al. Efficient generation of random chromosome deletions. Biotechniques 2007; 42(5):572, 4, 6.
- 40. Zheng B, Sage M, Sheppeard EA et al. Engineering mouse chromosomes with Cre-loxP: range, efficiency and somatic applications. Mol Cell Biol 2000; 20(2):648-55.
- Brault V, Besson V, Magnol L et al. Cre/loxP-mediated chromosome engineering of the mouse genome. Handb Exp Pharmacol 2007; 178:29-48.
- 42. Segal DJ, McCoy EE. Studies on Down's syndrome in tissue culture. I. Growth rates and protein contents of fibroblast cultures. J Cell Physiol 1974; 83(1):85-90.
- 43 Strachan T, Read AP. Human Molecular Genetics 2. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons Inc.; 1999.
- 44. Daniely M, Barkai G, Goldman B et al. Detection of numerical chromosome aberrations by comparative genomic hybridization. Prenat Diagn 1999; 19(2):100-4.
- 45. Wells D, Delhanty JD. Comprehensive chromosomal analysis of human preimplantation embryos using whole genome amplification and single cell comparative genomic hybridization. Mol Hum Reprod 2000; 6(11):1055-62.
- 46. Baty BJ, Blackburn BL, Carey JC. Natural history of trisomy 18 and trisomy 13: I. Growth, physical assessment, medical histories, survival and recurrence risk. Am J Med Genet 1994; 49(2):175-88.
- Gropman AL, Elsea S, Duncan WC et al. New developments in Smith-Magenis syndrome (del 17p11.2). Curr Opin Neurol 2007; 20(2):125-34.
- 48. Otto SP, Whitton J. Polyploid incidence and evolution. Annu Rev Genet 2000; 34:401-37.
- 49. Comai L. The advantages and disadvantages of being polyploid. Nat Rev Genet 2005; 6(11):836-46.
- 50. Thorpe PH, Gonzalez-Barrera S, Rothstein R. More is not always better: the genetic constraints of polyploidy. Trends Genet 2007; 23(6):263-6.
- Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5(1):45-54.
- Comai L, Tyagi AP, Winter K et al. Phenotypic instability and rapid gene silencing in newly formed arabidopsis allotetraploids. Plant Cell 2000; 12(9):1551-68.
- 53. Draviam VM, Xie S, Sorger PK. Chromosome segregation and genomic stability. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2004; 14(2):120-5.
- Merlo LM, Pepper JW, Reid BJ et al. Cancer as an evolutionary and ecological process. Nat Rev Cancer 2006; 6(12):924-35.
- 55. Buss LW. The Evolution of Individuality. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; 1987.
- Krakauer DC, Plotkin JB. Redundancy, antiredundancy and the robustness of genomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99(3):1405-9.

- Weaver BA, Silk AD, Montagna C et al. Aneuploidy acts both oncogenically and as a tumor suppressor. Cancer Cell 2007; 11(1):25-36.
- Grisham MB, Jourd'heuil D, Wink DA. Review article: chronic inflammation and reactive oxygen and nitrogen metabolism—implications in DNA damage and mutagenesis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2000; 14(Supp l) 1:3-9.
- Shen Z, Wu W, Hazen SL. Activated leukocytes oxidatively damage DNA, RNA and the nucleotide pool through halide-dependent formation of hydroxyl radical. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2000; 39(18):5474-82.

60. Kubes P, McCafferty DM. Nitric oxide and intestinal inflammation. Am J Med 2000; 109(2):150-8.

- 61. Loeb LA. Mutator phenotype may be required for multistage carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 1991; 51:3075-9.
- 62. Loeb KR, Loeb LA. Significance of multiple mutations in cancer. Carcinogenesis 2000; 21(3):379-85.
- Sniegowski PD, Gerrish PJ, Lenski RE. Evolution of high mutation rates in experimental populations of E. coli. Nature 1997; 387(6634):703-5.
- 64. Sniegowski PD, Gerrish PJ, Johnson T et al. The evolution of mutation rates: separating causes from consequences. Bioessays 2000; 22(12):1057-66.
- 65. Pathak S, Multani AS. Aneuploidy, stem cells and cancer. EXS 2006; 96:49-64.
- Pathak S, Multani AS, Furlong CL et al. Telomere dynamics, aneuploidy, stem cells and cancer (review). Int J Oncol 2002; 20(3):637-41.
- Holyoake T, Jiang X, Eaves C et al. Isolation of a highly quiescent subpopulation of primitive leukemic cells in chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood 1999; 94(6):2056-64.
- Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J et al. A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature 1994; 367(6464):645-8.
- Collins AT, Berry PA, Hyde C et al. Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 2005; 65(23):10946-51.
- Singh SK, Hawkins C, Clarke ID et al. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 2004; 432(7015):396-401.
- 71. Li C, Heidt DG, Dalerba P et al. Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res 2007; 67(3):1030-7.
- Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A et al. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 100(7):3983-8.
- Maley CC, Galipeau PC, Finley JC et al. Genetic clonal diversity predicts progression to esophageal adenocarcinoma. Nat Genet 2006; 38(4):468-73.
- 74. Helton ES, Chen X. p53 modulation of the DNA damage response. J Cell Biochem 2007; 100(4):883-96.
- Bartek J, Lukas J. DNA damage checkpoints: from initiation to recovery or adaptation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2007; 19(2):238-45.
- 76. Li L, Zou L. Sensing, signaling and responding to DNA damage: organization of the checkpoint pathways in mammalian cells. J Cell Biochem 2005; 94(2):298-306.
- 77. Tarapore P, Fukasawa K. p53 mutation and mitotic infidelity. Cancer Invest 2000; 18(2):148-55.
- Efeyan A, Serrano M. p53: guardian of the genome and policeman of the oncogenes. Cell Cycle 2007; 6(9):1006-10.
- Pevzner P, Tesler G. Human and mouse genomic sequences reveal extensive breakpoint reuse in mammalian evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 100(13):7672-7.
- 80. Riedl R. Order in Living Systems: A Systems Analysis of Evolution. New York: Wiley; 1978.
- Lenski RE, Rose MR, Simpson SC et al. Long-Term Experimental Evolution in Escherichia coli. I. Adaptation and Divergence During 2,000 Generations. American Naturalist 1991; 138(6):1315-41.
- 82. Joensuu H, Klemi P, Eerola E et al. Influence of cellular DNA content on survival in differentiated thyroid cancer. Cancer 1986; 58(11):2462-7.
- Lynch HT, de la Chapelle A. Genetic susceptibility to nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. J Med Genet 1999; 36(11):801-18.
CHAPTER 2

Molecular Mechanisms and Function of the Spindle Checkpoint, a Guardian of the Chromosome Stability

Daisuke Ito and Tomohiro Matsumoto*

Abstract

requal segregation, chromosomes, which are distributed randomly in the nucleus of interphase, must be aligned at the spindle equator in mitosis before the onset of sister chromatid separation. The spindle checkpoint is a surveillance mechanism that delays the onset of sister chromatid separation while each chromosome is on the way to the spindle equator. Failure in the function of the checkpoint results in aneuploidy/polyploidy, which would be a cause of cancer. Here, we review chromosome dynamics in mitosis, molecular mechanisms of the spindle checkpoint and finally tumorigenesis triggered by missegregation of chromosomes.

Introduction

Mitosis is the final stage of the cell cycle in which chromosomes duplicated in the preceding S phase are segregated equally to two daughter cells. Aneuploidy is a state of the cell with an abnormal chromosome number and is thought to be a cause of congenital hereditary disorders such as Down's syndrome and a trigger for tumorigenesis. It is generally believed that aneuploidy is caused by a failure in chromosome segregation during cell division including both mitosis and meiosis. In the mitosis in vertebrate cells, chromosomes are highly condensed in prophase; following the nuclear membrane breakdown, the condensed chromosomes are captured by spindle microtubules in prometaphase. After the chromosomes are attached to the spindle, they congress on the metaphase plate and are segregated to each daughter cell. In this process, premature separation of a chromosome which is not correctly attached to the spindle microtubules from both poles (called bipolar attachment) leads to a catastrophic consequence: each daughter cell possesses extra or fewer numbers of chromosomes. Usually a surveillance mechanism prevents missegregation of chromosomes during cell division. The spindle checkpoint (also referred to as spindle-assembly checkpoint) is a mechanism that ensures the accurate segregation of chromosomes in mitosis by delaying the onset of anaphase until all the kinetochores of chromosomes are fully attached to the spindle. In this chapter, we provide an overview of chromosome dynamics in mitosis and the molecular mechanism of the spindle checkpoint from the aspect of both its activation and silencing. We also discuss how aneuploidy/polyploidy can trigger tumorigenesis.

*Corresponding Author: Tomohiro Matsumoto—Radiation Biology Center and Graduate School of Biostudies, Kyoto University, Yoshidakonoe-cho, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto, Japan 606-8501. Email: tmatsumo@house.rbc.kyoto-u.ac.jp

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.

Bipolar Attachment and Chromosome Congression

Chromosomes, which are distributed randomly in the nucleus at the onset of mitosis, must be placed on the metaphase plate before anaphase. To be more precise, all sister chromatids must be bi-oriented (i.e., they attach to the spindle via two kinetochores, each of which interacts with the spindle radiated from one of the two poles) and are positioned on the spindle equator (Fig. 1), a mid point between the two poles. Interaction between the spindle and chromosomes plays a key role in determining the position of each chromosome in mitosis.



Figure 1. Chromosome dynamics in mitosis. At an early stage of mitosis, sister chromatids interact with the spindle from one pole via one kinetochore (A). These sister chromatids are pulled toward the pole and the chromosome arms are pushed away by interaction between kinesin-related protein and microtubules (B). Upon attachment to the spindle from the other pole, the mono-oriented sister chromatids become bi-oriented (C) and start congression and then they are pulled by the other pole (D). The sister kinetochores switch on and off the poleward and polar ejection force (E). Eventually the sister-chromatids are positioned at the spindle equator (F). In addition, mono-oriented sister chromatids laterally attach to the matured K-fiber between another kinetochore and the pole and slide to the metaphase plate (F).

At an early stage of mitosis, each sister chromatid interacts with the spindle radiated from one pole via one kinetochore (Fig. 1A). This mono-oriented sister chromatid is pulled toward the pole by the attached spindle. At the same time, its arm is pushed away, likely by interaction between kinesin-related proteins, Kid^{1,2} and microtubules (Fig. 1B). The two opposing forces, the poleward force and the polar ejection force, act on the leading kinetochore. As it moves closer to the attached pole, the polar ejection force increases. It has been proposed that the leading kinetochore switches off the poleward force when it senses the increasing polar ejection force and thereby allows pole-away movement.³ When the sister chromatid moves away from the pole and the polar ejection force decreases, the leading kinetochore switches on the poleward force again and moves toward the pole. By repeating this switching process, the leading kinetochore allows oscillation, the movement of the sister chromatid going back and forth around the pole.

Upon the attachment to the spindle radiated from the other pole during the period of oscillation, mono-oriented sister chromatids become bi-oriented (Fig. 1C) and start congression, the movement toward the spindle equator. The kinetochore closer to its attached pole encounters the poleward force through the attached spindle and polar ejection force through both the arm and the sister kinetochore. As the polar ejection force increases, the kinetochore switches off the poleward force. Its sister kinetochore then becomes the leading kinetochore and moves the sister chromatid toward the other pole (Fig. 1D). When the sister chromatid passes the spindle equator, the new leading kinetochore switches off the poleward force due to an increase in the ejection force. The sister kinetochore then switches on the poleward force and pulls the sister chromatid back to its attached pole (Fig. 1E). Repeating these processes results in congression and the sister chromatid is eventually placed at the spindle equator (Fig. 1F).^{3,4} Although bi-orientation followed by congression is a major process to place sister chromatids at the metaphase plate, a recent study demonstrated that mono-oriented sister chromatids can migrate to the metaphase plate.⁵ A mono-oriented sister chromatid oscillating near the pole may need a long time to find the spindle radiated from the other pole. The kinetochore of such a sister chromatid laterally attaches to the K-fiber that is formed between the pole and another kinetochore (Fig. 1F) and slides to the metaphase plate with the aid of a kinetochore motor, CENP-E. This cooperative process rescues mono-oriented sister chromatids and greatly contributes to placing all sister chromatids at the metaphase plate within a limited time.

Nonetheless, congression is a major event bringing each sister choromatid to the metaphase plate. It is initiated and progresses independently at each sister chromatid. As a result, some sister chromatids arrive at the spindle equator while others are yet unattached or monooriented. Sister chromatids which arrived at the spindle equator earlier do not separate until all sister chromatids arrive at the metaphase plate. A surveillance mechanism termed the spindle checkpoint is responsible for preventing premature sister chromatid separation. Kinetochores not attached to the spindle or attached abnormally activate the spindle checkpoint.

Molecular Basis of the Spindle Checkpoint

The mechanism by which the spindle checkpoint inhibits the premature separation of sister chromatids has been intensively studied until now. As shown in Figure 2, the outline of the spindle checkpoint mechanism is as follows. In the presence of kinetochores which are not attached to the spindle microtubules emanating from the opposite poles, the spindle checkpoint is activated to prevent the premature onset of anaphase. The functional components localize on the unattached kinetochore (reviewed in ref. 6). In particular, one of the most important components, Mad2, forms a complex with Cdc20/Slp1,^{7,8} an activator of the APC/C (Anaphase Promoting Complex or Cyclosome) which is an E3 ubiquitin ligase targeting Securin for destruction. As long as the checkpoint is activated, Mad2 stays with Cdc20 and prevents activation of Cdc20-APC/C. Consequently, Securin remains stable and continues to bind to Separase. Securin is a stoichiometric inhibitor of Separase, a protease to cleave the cohesin complex which holds the sister chromatids together.⁹ This way, the spindle checkpoint maintains sister chromatids held together until all the kinetochores fulfill the bi-polar attachment. When all the kinetochores fulfill the bi-polar



Figure 2. Molecular mechanism of the spindle checkpoint. A) Activation of the spindle checkpoint: In the presence of an unattached kinetochore, the spindle checkpoint is activated to prevent premature onset of anaphase. When the spindle checkpoint is activated, the functional components including Mad1, Mad2, BubR1/Mad3, Bub1, Bub3 and Mps1/Mph1 localize on the unattached kinetochore. In particular, Mad2 forms a complex with Cdc20. Presumably, Mad2, BubR1, Bub3 and Cdc20 form a mitotic checkpoint complex (MCC) to inhibit the activity of APC/C to ubiquitinate Securin. Consequently, Securin continues to inhibit Separase which cleaves the cohesin complex. B) Silencing of the spindle checkpoint: When the last kinetochore is attached to the spindle, the functional components disappear from the kinetochore with the help of the factors such as p31^{comet} and Dynein-Dynactin. Then the APC/C achieves its activity and ubiquitinates Securin.

attachment with the spindle microtubules, the functional components disappear from the kinetochore and Mad2 no longer forms a complex with Cdc20/Slp1. Then APC/C achieves its activity and ubiquitinates its target Securin. Subsequently, 26S proteasome selectively degrades poly-ubiquitinated Securin so that Separase can acquire its activity to cleave the cohesin complex between sisiter-chromatids.⁹

The mechanism for spindle checkpoint activation has been largely elucidated in the past ten years, mainly in experimental systems such as yeast, *Xenopus* egg extracts and mammalian cultured cells. The factors involved in the spindle checkpoint have been identified by genetic screens in the budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*.^{10,11} The proteins identified include Mad (Mitotic-arrest deficient) 1, 2, 3 and Bub (Budding uninhibited by benzimidazole) 1, 3, which are widely conserved among eukaryotes (Mad3 is BubR1 in higher eukaryotes). In addition to these proteins, Mps1 kinase has been identified as a factor involved in the spindle checkpoint function, which was first discovered in budding yeast as a factor required for the duplication of spindle pole body (SPB), an equivalent organelle to the centrosome in higher organisms.^{12,13} Some other proteins involved in the function of spindle checkpoint have been characterized only in higher eukaryotes. These include Rod (Rough deal)-Zw10 (zeste white-10)-Zwilch (RZZ) complex,¹⁴ p31^{comet} (previously known as CMT2)¹⁵ and a minus-end directed microtubule motor protein, CENP-E.¹⁶

Activation of the Spindle Checkpoint Signaling

When the chromosome is not properly attached to the spindle, the spindle checkpoint is activated to inhibit the progression from metaphase to anaphase. In the spermatocyte of mantids, the cell is arrested in metaphase forever in the presence of an improperly attached free X chromosome. However, when the misattached kinetochore was placed under tension by a micromanipulation needle, the cell entered anaphase.¹⁷ In mammalian PtK1 cells, laser ablation of the last unattached kinetochore relieved the metaphase arrest and the cell entered anaphase.¹⁸ These experiments showed that a single kinetochore not under tension generates a sufficient signal to inhibit the onset of anaphase.

The spindle checkpoint is thought to detect kinetochore-occupancy of the attached spindle and/or tension on the kinetochore/spindle. Because attachment is stabilized by tension,¹⁹ it is difficult to experimentally determine whether a lack of attachment or tension can activate the spindle checkpoint. The components of the spindle checkpoint are known to specifically localize on the kinetochores in response to the spindle checkpoint activation. Mad1 and Mad2 localizes to the unattached kinetochore, not to the attached kinetochore lacking tension.²⁰ On the other hand, Bub1 and BubR1/Mad3 are recruited to the attached kinetochore lacking tension.²¹ However, the mechanism how the components are specifically recruited to the kinetochore remains to be elucidated.

Some of the kinetochore proteins are required for the recruitment of spindle checkpoint components. Localization of Mad1 and Mad2 to the unattached kinetochore depends on Hec1 and Nuf2, components of the outer kinetochore.^{22,23} However, the direct physical interaction between the spindle checkpoint proteins and the kinetochore components remains to be clarified.

We have seen that the spindle checkpoint components are recruited to the kinetochore in response to a defect in kinetochore-spindle microtubule association. Now we focus on the downstream events. The downstream target of the spindle checkpoint is the anaphase-promoting complex (APC/C) (reviewed in ref. 9). Mad2 forms a complex with Cdc20 and this association is essential for the function of the spindle checkpoint: inhibit activity of APC/C.^{7,8} In mammalian cells, spindle checkpoint components Mad2, BubR1, Bub3 and Cdc20 form a large complex, designated mitotic checkpoint complex (MCC). MCC is a more potent inhibitor of APC/C than only Mad2.²⁴

Mad2 Template Model

As mentioned above, Mad2 is one of the most important components of the spindle checkpoint since it binds to Cdc20 to inhibit the activity of APC/C. Protein structural analyses have revealed that Mad2 possesses two conformations, open-form (O-Mad2, also known as N1-Mad2) and closed-form (C-Mad2, or N2-Mad2).²⁵⁻²⁷ In this chapter, we use the terms C- or O-Mad2 in attempt for better understanding. The "Mad2 template model" hypothesis is proposed to explain the significance of the two structural states of Mad2.²⁸ Mad2 holds closed conformation when it is bound to Mad1 or Cdc20 and open conformation when it is free in cytoplasm.²⁵⁻²⁹ Cytoplasmic free O-Mad2 changes its conformation to C-Mad2 upon binding to Mad1-bound C-Mad2 at the unattached kinetochore so that it is capable of forming a C-Mad2-Cdc20 complex (Fig. 3). In this model, it is proposed that Mad1-bound C-Mad2 acts as a "template" for the conformation conversion. In this respect, it is hypothesized that the C-Mad2-Cdc20 complex also catalyzes the conformation changes of cytoplasmic O-Mad2 and that consequently the activation signal of the spindle checkpoint is amplified.²⁸ This hypothesis could reasonably explain why a single unattached kinetochore is sufficient to activate the spindle



Figure 3. Mad2 template model. Mad2 holds closed conformation when it is bound to Mad1 or Cdc20 and open conformation when it is free in cytoplasm. Cytoplasmic-free O-Mad2 changes its conformation to C-Mad2 upon binding to Mad1-bound C-Mad2 at the unattached kinetochore and forms a C-Mad2-Cdc20 complex. In this model, Mad1-bound C-Mad2 acts as a "template" for the conformation conversion. It is hypothesized that the C-Mad2-Cdc20 complex also catalyzes the conformation changes of cytoplasmic O-Mad2.

checkpoint. Further investigation is required to clarify the mechanism how the Mad1-bound C-Mad2 catalyzes the conformation changes.

Phosphorylation and Spindle Checkpoint Function

Some protein kinases such as Mps1, Bub1, BubR1 and Aurora are involved in the process of spindle checkpoint activation. Thus, it is likely that phosphorylation of certain proteins is a key event for signaling cascade of the spindle checkpoint. Aurora kinases are implicated in many events in the cell cycle: centrosome separation and maturation, spindle assembly and stability, chromosome condensation, congression and segregation and cytokinesis.³⁰ Its role in spindle checkpoint activation has also been reported. It is proposed that budding yeast Aurora kinase Ip11 activates the spindle checkpoint in response to tension-defective kinetochore by correcting improper attachment.³¹

Mps1 and Bub1 kinases are known to phosphorylate Mad1 in vitro; however, its significance remains unclear.^{32,33} In budding yeast, overexpression of Mps1 causes spindle checkpoint activation without disturbing the formation of the mitotic spindle and leads to the hyper-phosphorylation of Mad1.³² In the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, the Mph1 (Mps1p-like pombe homolog) kinase has been identified as a spindle checkpoint component and its overexpression causes a mitotic arrest in a Mad2-dependent manner.³⁴ In our recent study, we attempted to elucidate the mechanism by which Mph1 kinase activates the spindle checkpoint in fission yeast. *mph1* overexpression did not cause a growth defect attributable to a mitotic arrest in the strains lacking spindle checkpoint components. In addition, when *mph1* was overexpressed, strong Mad2-GFP foci were observed on condensed chromosomes (Fig. 4), which suggested that Mad2 presumably accumulated on the kinetochores upon the activation of spindle checkpoint (unpublished data). These findings indicate that Mph1 acts upstream of the examined spindle checkpoint components and facilitate spindle checkpoint signaling.

It has been shown that a component of the kinetochore is phosphorylated when it is not under tension. The phosphorylation of an unidentified protein is recognized by the 3F3/2 antiphosphoepitope antibody and the phosphorylation is required for the recruitment of Mad2 to the kinetochore.³⁵⁻³⁷



Figure 4. Mad2 on the kinetochore. Mad2-GFP localized on kinetochores when *mph1* was overexpressed. Left panel, Mad2-GFP. Right panel, condensed chromosomes visualized with Hoechst 33342. Scale bars indicate 5 μ m.

In order to understand the significance of protein phosphorylation in spindle checkpoint activation, further studies are obviously needed to clarify the substrates of the kinases.

Silencing the Spindle Checkpoint

After all kinetochores are properly attached to the spindle, the spindle checkpoint is turned off within minutes and the chromosomes are synchronously segregated toward each spindle pole.³⁸ Compared to the activation of the spindle checkpoint, the mechanisms for silencing the checkpoint remain to be ambiguous. To date, through the yeast two-hybrid assay using Mad2 as a bait, Mad2-binding protein p31^{comet} (formerly CMT2) has been identified. In HeLa cells, overexpression of p31^{comet} abrogated the function of the spindle checkpoint and overrode the mitotic arrest.¹⁵ In addition, the association of p31^{comet} with Mad2 coincided with the dissociation of Mad2-Cdc20, which indicated that p31^{comet} plays an important role in silencing the spindle checkpoint.

Recently, two groups reported the role of ubiquitination in spindle checkpoint silencing in mammalian cells. It was shown that the addition of UbcH10, an APC-specific ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2), overrides the mitotic arrest induced by nocodazole.³⁹ In this process, multi-ubiquitination of Cdc20 by APC/C leads to the dissociation of Mad2 and BubR1 from Cdc20 and this promotes the progression to anaphase. To prevent premature activation of APC/C, deubiquitinating enzyme USP44 deubiquitinates Cdc20 and thereby antagonizes the ubiquitination by APC/C.⁴⁰

In higher eukaryotes, cytoplasmic dynein plays a role in silencing the spindle checkpoint by removing Mad2 and RZZ complex from the attached kinetochores.^{41,42} Thus, dynein is thought to be involved in stripping and transporting outer domain proteins away from the kinetochore upon the microtubule attachment. Very recently, through the RNAi screen in *Drosophila*, a novel protein named Spindly has been identified as a factor essential for silencing the spindle checkpoint.⁴³ The human homologue of the protein was identified and had similar functions. Regarding the silencing mechanism of the spindle checkpoint, the questions such as how kinetochores detect the completion of proper attachments and convey a signal to silence the checkpoint remain to be elucidated.

Additional Surveillance System

The spindle checkpoint is backed up by other surveillance mechanisms in higher eukaryotes. These mechanisms prevent proliferation of cells with extra or missing chromosomes.

A recent study⁴⁴ addressed the question of what happens to aneuploids produced by missegregation of chromosomes in mitosis. The authors labeled the nucleus by GFP-tagged histone H2B and monitored its behavior by time-lapse microscopy. They subsequently fixed the cells to analyze chromosome segregation by FISH. The analysis indicated that cells in which chromosomes did not segregate equally became binucleated by furrow regression at a significantly high frequency (Fig. 5A). In contrast, they detected no missegregation events in cells that completed cytokinesis to form two mononucleated cells (Fig. 5B). The results suggest that a surveillance mechanism is responsible for counting the chromosome number at the end of anaphase/telophase and suppresses cytokinesis if two daughter cells contain different chromosome context. Although furrow regression results in production of a tetraploid cell, the chromosome context can be maintained normally. The authors also followed the fate of the tetraploid cells produced by the furrow regression. If diploid human keratinocytes immortalized with telomerase (N/TERT-1) became tetraploids, cell cycle progression was delayed and 50% of them remained in interphase. In contrast, the cell cycle progressed with no delay in the resulting tetraploid HeLa cells. Most of the HeLa tetraploids formed multipolar spindles, which could result in chromosome breakage as well as aneuploidy (Fig. 5A). HeLa cells, which were established from a cervical cancer tissue, may be much more tolerant of tetraploidy or have lost a surveillance mechanism to suppress the growth of tetraploids.



Figure 5. Furrow regression/tetraploidy induced by nondisjunction. A) The cell in which chromosomes are not equally segregated becomes binucleated by furrow regression. The binucleated tetraploid cell subsequently forms a multipolar spindle leading to chromosome breakage and aneuploidy. B) In contrast, the cell with normal chromosome segregation produces two diploid mononucleated cells.

A Trigger of Tumorigenesis

A German cell biologist Theodor Boveri proposed nearly hundred years ago that abnormalities of number and/or structure of the centrosome cause chromosome missegregation and that centrosome abnormalities are expected to affect cell shape, polarity and motility. Deregulation of centrosome number and function thereby may foster both chromosome instability and loss of tissue architecture, two of the most common characters in solid tumors.⁴⁵ According to his hypothesis, tetraploids/ polyploids with multiple centrosomes would be an intermediate state, which eventually generate aneuploid cancer cells.

Boveri's proposal has been supported by a variety of evidence.^{46,47} Importantly, it is supported by clinical studies of patients with a premalignant condition such as Barrett's esophagus (BE). Neoplastic progression in BE is characterized by the development of increased tetraploid population, in which p53 is concomitantly lost. This population, within a year or so, serves as an epicenter that generates a gross aneuploid cell population.⁴⁸ In a recent study with the mouse model system, it has also been demonstrated that p53-null tetraploids induced by treatment with dihydrocytochalasin B (an inhibitor of cytokinesis) promote tumorigenesis when transplanted into nude mice.⁴⁹

Tetraploids can be produced by a defect in the spindle checkpoint. If the checkpoint misses a chromosome not attached to the spindle and allows premature sister chromatid separation, a daughter cell may not receive the accurate number of chromosomes. As mentioned earlier, such an event would activate a surveillance mechanism backing up the spindle checkpoint and result in regression of the cleavage furrow and tetraploidy.

A defect in silencing the spindle checkpoint also induces tetraploidy. Overexpression of Mad2 causes a delay in transition from metaphase to anaphase. High dosage of Mad2 would stabilize the Mad2-Cdc20 complex and prevent activation of Cdc20 for the onset of anaphase. In higher eukaryotes, overexpression of Mad2 induces tetraploidy, probably because cells eventually exit from mitosis without separating sister chromatids. In a recent mouse study, it has been shown that chromosome instability in tetraploidy/aneuploidy and tumorigenesis are induced in the transgenic mice overexpressing Mad2.⁵⁰

As shown in Figure 5, in tetraploids mitosis with a multipolar spindle causes chromosome nondisjunction/breakage and thereby chromosome instability. It is, however, likely that chromosome instability in tetraplids/polyploids is induced for other reasons as well. In yeast model studies, it has been demonstrated that as ploidy increases, chromosome stability decreases.^{51,52} Notably, a recent genome-wide screen has identified genes that cause ploidy-specific lethality. Loss of function of these genes does not affect growth of a haploid strain, but causes lethality in polyploids.⁵³ The ploidy-specific lethality genes are categorized into three functional groups—homologous recombination, sister chromatid cohesion maintenance and mitotic spindle function—providing clues to understand the underlying mechanisms to induce chromosome instability in polyploids. In yeast, tetraploids have a high incidence of syntelic kinetochore attachment to the mitotic spindle (a pair of sister kinetochores are attached to the same pole). It has been proposed that such an abnormal interaction is due to mismatches in the ability to scale the size of the spindle pole body (the equivalent structure of centrosome in higher eukaryotes), mitotic spindle and kinetochore. It is also plausible that the length of S phase, which is long enough for haploids to replicate their genome, may not be so for tetraploids. The geometric and/or time constraint in polyploids may be a cause of chromosome instability.

Conclusion

The spindle checkpoint is a unique signaling cascade in that the physical condition such as lack of tension and/or occupancy of the spindle at the kinetochore is a trigger for activation. To date, it has not been elucidated how the kinetochore recognizes the state of interaction with spindle microtubules and how the physical signal is converted to the biochemical signal to inhibit premature progression to anaphase. Future studies should attempt to identify and characterize a kinetochore protein complex responsible for the signal sensing/conversion.

Recently it has been shown that a defect in the spindle checkpoint causes tetraploidy/aneuploidy and leads to tumorigenesis in the mouse model studies. Thus, the spindle checkpoint can be referred to as a guardian of chromosome stability and a barrier of tumor development/progression. Although spindle poisons such as taxol and nocodazole may be considered as effective anticancer drugs, the cellular effect of these drugs should be reexamined. In the presence of a spindle poison, cells lacking the spindle checkpoint would escape mitosis without separating sister chromatids and become polyploids, some of which could grow more aggressively.

References

- 1. Funabiki H, Murray AW. The Xenopus chromokinesin Xkid is essential for metaphase chromosome alignment and must be degraded to allow anaphase chromosome movement. Cell 2000; 102:411-424.
- Levesque AA, Compton DA. The chromokinesin Kid is necessary for chromosome arm orientation and oscillation, but not congression, on mitotic spindles. J Cell Biol 2001; 154:1135-1146.
- Skibbens RV, Skeen VP, Salmon ED. Directional instability of kinetochore motility during chromosome congression and segregation in mitotic newt lung cells: a push-pull mechanism. J Cell Biol 1993; 122:859-875.
- Kapoor TM, Compton DA. Searching for the middle ground: mechanisms of chromosome alignment during mitosis. J Cell Biol 2002; 157:551-556.
- Kapoor TM, Lampson MA, Hergert P et al. Chromosomes can congress to the metaphase plate before biorientation. Science 2006; 311:388-391.
- Cleveland DW, Mao YH, Sullivan KF. Centromeres and kinetochores: From epigenetics to mitotic checkpoint signaling. Cell 2003; 112:407-421.
- 7. Hwang LH, Lau LF, Smith DL et al. Budding yeast Cdc20: a target of the spindle checkpoint. Science 1998; 279:1041-1044.
- Kim SH, Lin DP, Matsumoto S et al. Fission yeast Slp1: An effector of the Mad2-dependent spindle checkpoint. Science 1998; 279:1045-1047.
- 9. Peters JM. The anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome: a machine designed to destroy. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006; 7:644-656.
- 10. Li R, Murray AW. Feedback control of mitosis in budding yeast. Cell 1991; 66:519-531.
- 11. Hoyt MA, Totis L, Roberts BT. S. cerevisiae genes required for cell cycle arrest in response to loss of microtubule function. Cell 1991; 66:507-517.
- 12. Winey M, Goetsch L, Baum P et al. MPS1 and MPS2: novel yeast genes defining distinct steps of spindle pole body duplication. J Cell Biol 1991; 114:745-754.
- 13. Hardwick KG, Murray AW. Mad1p, a phosphoprotein component of the spindle assembly checkpoint in budding yeast. J Cell Biol 1995; 131:709-720.
- 14. Karess R. Rod-Zw10-Zwilch: a key player in the spindle checkpoint. Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:386-392.
- Habu T, Kim SH, Weinstein J et al. Identification of a MAD2-binding protein, CMT2 and its role in mitosis. EMBO J 2002; 21:6419-6228.
- Mao Y, Abrieu A, Cleveland DW. Activating and silencing the mitotic checkpoint through CENP-Edependent activation/inactivation of BubR1. Cell 2003; 114:87-98.
- 17. Li X, Nicklas RB. Mitotic forces control a cell-cycle checkpoint. Nature 1995; 373:630-632.
- Rieder CL, Cole RW, Khodjakov A et al. The checkpoint delaying anaphase in response to chromosome monoorientation is mediated by an inhibitory signal produced by unattached kinetochores. J Cell Biol 1995; 130:941-948.
- 19. Nicklas RB, Waters JC, Salmon ED et al. Checkpoint signals in grasshopper meiosis are sensitive to microtubule attachment, but tension is still essential. J Cell Sci 2001; 114:4173-4183.
- Waters JC, Chen RH, Murray AW et al. Localization of Mad2 to kinetochores depends on microtubule attachment, not tension. J Cell Biol 1998; 141:1181-1191.
- Skoufias DA, Andreassen PR, Lacroix FB et al. Mammalian mad2 and bub1/bubR1 recognize distinct spindle-attachment and kinetochore-tension checkpoints. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001; 98:4492-4497.
- Martin-Lluesma S, Stucke VM, Nigg EA. Role of Hec1 in spindle checkpoint signaling and kinetochore recruitment of Mad1/Mad2. Science 2002; 297:2267-2270.
- Hori T, Haraguchi T, Hiraoka Y et al. Dynamic behavior of Nuf2-Hec1 complex that localizes to the centrosome and centromere and is essential for mitotic progression in vertebrate cells. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:3347-3362.
- Sudakin V, Chan GK, Yen TJ. Checkpoint inhibition of the APC/C in HeLa cells is mediated by a complex of BUBR1, BUB3, CDC20 and MAD2. J Cell Biol 2001; 154:925-936.
- Luo X, Tang Z, Rizo J et al. The Mad2 spindle checkpoint protein undergoes similar major conformational changes upon binding to either Mad1 or Cdc20. Mol Cell 2002; 9:59-71.

- Sironi L, Mapelli M, Knapp S et al. Crystal structure of the tetrameric Mad1-Mad2 core complex: implications of a 'safety belt' binding mechanism for the spindle checkpoint. EMBO J 2002; 21:2496-2506.
- 27. Luo XL, Tang ZY, Xia GH et al. The Mad2 spindle checkpoint protein has two distinct natively folded states. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2004; 11:338-345.
- 28. De Antoni A, Pearson CG, Cimini D et al. The Mad1/Mad2 complex as a template for Mad2 activation in the spindle assembly checkpoint. Curr Biol 2005; 15:214-225.
- 29. Luo X, Fang G, Coldiron M et al. Structure of the Mad2 spindle assembly checkpoint protein and its interaction with Cdc20. Nat Struct Biol 2000; 7:224-229.
- Giet R, Petretti C, Prigent C. Aurora kinases, aneuploidy and cancer, a coincidence or a real link? Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:241-250.
- Pinsky BA, Kung C, Shokat KM et al. The Ipl1-Aurora protein kinase activates the spindle checkpoint by creating unattached kinetochores. Nat Cell Biol 2006; 8:78-83.
- 32. Hardwick KG, Weiss E, Luca FC et al. Activation of the budding yeast spindle assembly checkpoint without mitotic spindle disruption. Science 1996; 273:953-956.
- Seeley TW, Wang L, Zhen JY. Phosphorylation of human MAD1 by the BUB1 kinase in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999; 257:589-595.
- 34. He X, Jones MH, Winey M et al. Mph1, a member of the Mps1-like family of dual specificity protein kinases, is required for the spindle checkpoint in S. pombe. J Cell Sci 1998; 111:1635-1647.
- 35. Waters JC, Chen RH, Murray AW et al. Mad2 binding by phosphorylated kinetochores links error detection and checkpoint action in mitosis. Curr Biol 1999; 9:649-652.
- 36. Ahonen LJ, Kallio MJ, Daum JR et al. Polo-like kinase 1 creates the tension-sensing 3F3/2 phosphoepitope and modulates the association of spindle-checkpoint proteins at kinetochores. Curr Biol 2005; 15:1078-1089.
- 37. Wong OK, Fang G. Plx1 is the 3F3/2 kinase responsible for targeting spindle checkpoint proteins to kinetochores. J Cell Biol 2005; 170:709-719.
- Rieder CL, Maiato H. Stuck in division or passing through: what happens when cells cannot satisfy the spindle assembly checkpoint. Dev Cell 2004; 7:637-651.
- Reddy SK, Rape M, Margansky WA et al. Ubiquitination by the anaphase-promoting complex drives spindle checkpoint inactivation. Nature 2007; 446:921-925.
- 40. Stegmeier F, Rape M, Draviam VM et al. Anaphase initiation is regulated by antagonistic ubiquitination and deubiquitination activities. Nature 2007; 446:876-881.
- 41. Howell BJ, McEwen BF, Canman JC et al. Cytoplasmic dynein/dynactin drives kinetochore protein transport to the spindle poles and has a role in mitotic spindle checkpoint inactivation. J Cell Biol 2001; 155:1159-1172.
- 42. Wojcik E, Basto R, Serr M et al. Kinetochore dynein: its dynamics and role in the transport of the Rough deal checkpoint protein. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3:1001-1007.
- Griffis ER, Stuurman N, Vale RD. Spindly, a novel protein essential for silencing the spindle assembly checkpoint, recruits dynein to the kinetochore. J Cell Biol 2007; 177:1005-1015.
- 44. Shi Q, King RW. Chromosome nondisjunction yields tetraploid rather than aneuploid cells in human cell lines. Nature 2005; 437:1038-1042.
- 45. Boveri T. The origin of malignant tumors. Baltimore, MD: Williams and Wilkins, 1929. Originally published in 1914 as Zur Frage der Entstehung maligner Tumoren.
- Shackney SE, Smith CA, Miller BW et al. Model for the genetic evolution of human solid tumors. Cancer Res 1989; 49:3344-3354.
- 47. Andreassen PR, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Tetraploid state induces p53-dependent arrest of nontransformed mammalian cells in G1. Mol Biol Cell 2001; 12:1315-1328.
- Galipeau PC, Cowan DS, Sanchez CA et al 17p (p53) allelic losses, 4N (G2/tetraploid) populations and progression to aneuploidy in Barrett's esophagus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:7081-7084.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M et al. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437:1043-1047.
- Sotillo R, Hernando E, Diaz-Rodriguez E et al. Mad2 overexpression promotes aneuploidy and tumorigenesis in mice. Cancer Cell 2007; 11:9-23.
- Mayer VW, Aguilera A. High levels of chromosome instability in polyploids of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mutat Res 1990; 231:177-186.
- Andalis AA, Storchova Z, Styles C et al. Defects arising from whole-genome duplications in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 2004; 167:1109-1121.
- 53. Storchova Z, Breneman A, Cande J et al. Genome-wide genetic analysis of polyploidy in yeast. Nature 2006; 443:541-547.

Understanding Cytokinesis Failure Guillaume Normand and Randall W. King*

Abstract

ytokinesis is the final step in cell division. The process begins during chromosome segregation, when the ingressing cleavage furrow begins to partition the cytoplasm between the nascent daughter cells. The process is not completed until much later, however, when the final cytoplasmic bridge connecting the two daughter cells is severed. Cytokinesis is a highly ordered process, requiring an intricate interplay between cytoskeletal, chromosomal and cell cycle regulatory pathways. A surprisingly broad range of additional cellular processes are also important for cytokinesis, including protein and membrane trafficking, lipid metabolism, protein synthesis and signaling pathways. As a highly regulated, complex process, it is not surprising that cytokinesis can sometimes fail. Cytokinesis failure leads to both centrosome amplification and production of tetraploid cells, which may set the stage for the development of tumor cells. However, tetraploid cells are abundant components of some normal tissues including liver and heart, indicating that cytokinesis is physiologically regulated. In this chapter, we summarize our current understanding of the mechanisms of cytokinesis, emphasizing steps in the pathway that may be regulated or prone to failure. Our discussion emphasizes findings in vertebrate cells although we have attempted to highlight important contributions from other model systems.

Cytokinesis Occurs in Multiple Stages

The process of cytokinesis can be divided into four stages including specification of the cleavage plane, ingression of the cleavage furrow, formation of the midbody and abscission (Fig. 1). Each stage is dependent on the proper execution of the prior stage and thus interference with any stage may result in cytokinesis failure. The first stage of cytokinesis specifies the cleavage plane by recruiting a central regulator of cytokinesis, RhoA, to the site of cleavage. If this step is perturbed, cytokinesis will not initiate properly. In the second stage of cytokinesis, the cleavage furrow ingresses through formation of an actomyosin ring and myosin-dependent motor activity. Failure at this step may lead to a lack of furrow initiation or partial ingression of the furrow followed by regression. The third stage of cytokinesis is characterized by formation of the midbody and stabilization of the cytokinetic furrow. This stage requires proper function of proteins located in the central spindle, a microtubule-based structure that separates segregated chromosomes during anaphase, and on proteins that stabilize interactions between the actomyosin ring and the central spindle. A failure at this stage will lead to regression of the cleavage furrow. The final stage in cytokinesis, abscission, is the step in which the cytoplasmic contents are finally separated from one another. This event requires the presence of a functional midbody, but also additional proteins involved in vesicle trafficking and fusion. Failure at this stage may lead to regression of the cleavage furrow or to formation of a persistent connection between the two daughter cells. Cytokinesis is thus a series of linked processes and a problem at any step of this cascade may be sufficient to induce

*Corresponding Author: Randall W. King—Department of Cell Biology, Harvard Medical School, 240 Longwood Ave, Boston, Massachusetts 02115, USA. Email: randy_king@hms.harvard.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.



Figure 1. Multiple stages of cytokinesis. Three populations of microtubules first specify the site of cleavage by activating RhoA in a narrow zone between segregating chromosomes (I). Formation and activation of the actomyosin ring next leads to furrow ingression (II). The constricting furrow compacts the central spindle microtubules leading to midbody formation (III). Abscission of the furrow occurs by physically separating the cytoplasm of the daughter cells (IV).

failure. Some proteins participate in multiple steps in cytokinesis and thus perturbation of their abundance or activity may be especially prone to induce cytokinesis failure.

Stage I. Positioning the Division Plane and Initiating Cytokinesis

The Importance of Microtubules

Classic micromanipulation experiments determined that the mitotic spindle dictates the position of the cleavage furrow.^{1,2} However, a bipolar spindle is not necessary for induction of a cleavage furrow,^{3,4} suggesting that microtubules themselves play an essential role in initiating cleavage. Three separate populations of microtubules have been implicated in the regulation of cytokinesis (Fig. 1; reviewed by ref. 5). First, equatorial astral microtubules, which emanate from the spindle pole to the site of cleavage, may be stabilized in the equatorial cortical region³ and deliver positive signals that stimulate formation and contraction of the cleavage furrow.² In contrast, polar astral microtubules, which emanate from the spindle pole to sites away from the site of the furrow, may help position the cleavage furrow by inhibiting cortical contractility,⁶⁻⁸ perhaps by spatially biasing the pattern of myosin recruitment.^{9,10} Finally, central spindle microtubules, which form an overlapping network between the spindle poles following anaphase, send positive signals that become especially important during later steps of cytokinesis. The signals sent by these distinct microtubule populations are partially redundant, ensuring that selection of the division plane is robust.^{11,12}

The RhoA Pathway Plays an Essential Role in Furrow Initiation

What are the positive signals delivered by microtubules that initiate furrowing at the correct place in the cell? A central event is the localized activation of the small GTPase RhoA at the site of the future furrow (Fig. 2; reviewed by ref. 13). RhoA is essential for furrow formation in animal cells¹⁴⁻¹⁷ and activated RhoA localizes to a narrow zone within the furrow.¹⁸⁻²² Localized activation of RhoA within this narrow zone is thought to be important for efficient furrowing, as perturbations that broaden the zone of RhoA activation often lead to a failure of the furrow to form or to ingress.¹⁹ A narrow zone of activation is established by tethering RhoA activators to the central spindle, delivering a strong yet spatially restricted signal for cytokinesis initiation.

An essential activator of RhoA is the guanine nucleotide exchange factor ECT2,^{17,19,23-26} originally identified as a protooncogene.²⁷ ECT2 is sequestered in the nucleus during interphase (Fig. 2) and released following nuclear envelope breakdown in mitosis, but the protein remains inactive because it exists in an autoinhibited conformation.^{24,28} In late anaphase, ECT2 localizes to the central spindle and associates with the centralspindlin complex, composed of the kinesin protein



Figure 2. Localization of cytokinesis components. Interphase (A), anaphase (B) and late cy-tokinesis (C).

MKLP1 and the GTPase activating protein (GAP) MgcRacGAP.^{17,19,29,30} MgcRacGAP binds to ECT2 and stabilizes it in an active conformation that permits it to interact with RhoA.¹⁹ Tethering of the centralspindlin complex to the central spindle is thought to restrict activated ECT2 within a narrow zone, resulting in a narrow zone of RhoA activation.^{19,23,25,29} Depletion of MKLP1¹⁹ or disruption of the central spindle^{31,32} leads to delocalization of ECT2 and MgcRacGAP from the central spindle, broadening the region of RhoA activation.¹⁹ Cells containing a broad zone of RhoA activation fail to form a furrow.¹⁹ Therefore, tethering of MgcRacGAP and ECT2 to the central spindle is not essential for RhoA activation, but is instead important for efficient furrowing by restricting the zone of RhoA to within a narrow zone at the equator of the cell.

These findings suggest that cytokinesis failure could result from failure to properly deliver RhoA activators to the cortex, causing insufficient activation of RhoA. Alternatively, cytokinesis could fail if RhoA is activated too broadly, in regions outside the cleavage furrow. Interestingly, ECT2 deregulation can lead to oncogenic transformation^{27,28,33} although it is not clear whether perturbation of cytokinesis is an important component of this phenomenon, as ECT2 may participate in other processes such as spindle assembly³⁴ and regulation of the Ras/MAP kinase pathway.³⁵ Like many genes involved in cell division, ECT2 expression is induced by growth factors³⁶ in a manner that depends on the Rb/E2F pathway.³⁷ ECT2 is overexpressed in some tumors^{38,39} where it could broaden the region of RhoA activation, perturbing proper initiation of cytokinesis. Alternatively, elevated ECT2 could perturb late stages of cytokinesis, as RhoA may need to be inactivated for cytokinesis to be completed.²⁵ In fact, overexpression of some fragments of ECT2 has no effect on cytokinesis initiation, but specifically blocks later stages of cytokinesis.^{24,25}

Other proteins may regulate RhoA activity during cytokinesis.⁴⁰ These include additional Rho GEFs such as GEF-H1⁴¹ and MyoGEF,⁴² both of which are essential for cytokinesis in mammalian cells. Additional proteins may influence the location and timing of RhoA activation, including the armadillo protein p0071⁴³ and the Rho effector mDia1, which may sustain RhoA activation

in a positive-feedback loop.⁴⁴ In contrast, the protein HEF1, which is upregulated in tumor cells, may impair the RhoA activation cycle.⁴⁵

GAP proteins are also important for controlling RhoA activation and inactivation. As stated earlier, RhoA may need to be inactivated during late cytokinesis to disassemble the cleavage furrow and thus hyperactivation of RhoA could block cytokinesis completion. Two GAP proteins that may inactivate RhoA during cytokinesis are MgcRacGAP and p190 RhoGAP.⁴⁶ Although MgcRacGAP plays a critical role in activation of RhoA by recruiting and activating ECT2, phosphorylation of MgcRacGAP by Aurora kinases may stimulate its ability to serve as a RhoGAP.⁴⁷ contributing to RhoA inactivation. As its name suggests, MgcRacGAP may also inhibit the GTPase Rac. The activity of Rac is suppressed in the spindle midzone²¹ and constitutively activated Rac induces a mutlinucleation.⁴⁸ Thus in addition to activating RhoA by recruiting ECT2, MgcRacGAP may inactivate Rac in the furrow to support cytokinesis.⁴⁸⁻⁵¹

Failure of Cytokinesis During Stage I

Together these studies emphasize the importance of microtubules in delivering signals that lead to localized activation of RhoA and possibly suppression of Rac, in the furrow. Recent studies suggest that cytokinesis failure may occur in cells in which spindle elongation or spindle positioning is perturbed, disrupting delivery of activation signals to the cortex. The first example is binucleation of cells in the liver, which may be regulated physiologically.^{52,53} In humans, the number of polyploid cells averages 30-40% in the adult liver.^{54,55} Studies in rat hepatocytes indicate that tetraploid cells arise from cytokinesis failure in which diploid, mononucleated cells undergo mitosis but do not form a contractile ring.⁵² Cells do not undergo anaphase spindle elongation, perhaps because reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton is impaired.⁵³ Furthermore, astral microtubules fail to contact the equatorial cortex in cells that fail cytokinesis,⁵³ suggesting that the delivery of RhoA activators to the cortex is impaired. In rat liver, the number of binucleated cells increases following weaning, suggesting there may be important connections between liver physiology and cytokinesis regulation,⁵³ but how these pathways might impact microtubule organization remains unclear.

The second example is cytokinesis failure that occurs in cells that contain mutations in the APC (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli) tumor suppressor. Some APC mutations may induce cytokinesis failure by interfering with microtubule-dependent anchoring of the mitotic spindle.⁵⁶ Although APC has important roles in formation of the mitotic spindle and the spindle checkpoint,⁵⁷⁻⁶⁰ cells expressing APC mutants become polyploid over time,^{56,59,61} indicating that the protein is important for proper cytokinesis. Different APC alleles may have distinct effects on mitosis.⁵⁶ For example, in cells expressing a particular C-terminal truncation mutant of APC, microtubules make less contact with the cell cortex, spindles undergo considerable rotation during mitosis and cells do not efficiently initiate cytokinesis.⁵⁶ The physiological relevance of these findings was confirmed by the finding that the *Min* allele of APC gives rise to similar mitotic defects and that the frequency of tetraploid cells is greatly increased in *Min*⁵⁶ and APC knockout mice.⁶⁰ Although it is likely that tetraploidy can arise through multiple mechanisms in tumors carrying different APC alleles, these findings suggest that failure to properly anchor the mitotic spindle can be an important source of tetraploidy.

Stage II. Ingression of the Cleavage Furrow

In the second stage of cytokinesis, activated RhoA leads to recruitment and activation of effector proteins that organize the furrow and stimulate ingression (Fig. 3). RhoA stimulates actin polymerization through activation of formins and stimulates myosin activity by activating kinases such as Rho kinase (ROCK) and Citron kinase. Scaffolding proteins such as anillin and septins also play important roles in organizing the cleavage furrow and promoting cytokinesis. Here we discuss each of these processes and how they might be perturbed to result in cytokinesis failure.

Stimulation of Actin Filament Assembly

Formins are proteins that nucleate formation of unbranched actin filaments in response to stimulation by RhoA (for review, see ref. 62). In the absence of active RhoA, most of the formins



Figure 3. Role of the RhoA pathway in furrow initiation. Autoinhibition of ECT2 is suppressed by association of ECT2 with MgcRacGAP. ECT2 then activates RhoA by stimulating exchange of GDP for GTP. Active RhoA then activates formins to stimulate actin nucleation and binds to ROCK and Citron kinases, stimulating phosphorylation and activation of myosin.

that regulate cytokinesis are autoinhibited.⁶³ RhoA binding relieves autoinhibition to promote actin polymerization.^{64,65} The mammalian formin mDia1 is activated downstream of Rho signaling,⁶⁶ and cytokinesis is blocked if mDia1 is inhibited by antibody injection.⁶⁷ However, deletion of mDia1 does not perturb cytokinesis in mouse embryonic fibroblasts,⁶⁸ suggesting redundant pathways for actin nucleation. Cytokinesis may also depend on the use of preexisting actin filaments that are nucleated outside the furrow.^{69,70} Formins may be important in later stages of cytokinesis, as they have been implicated in regulation of Src activity, which has been shown to be important for completion of cytokinesis.^{67,71}

Localization and Activation of Myosin

Myosin II (hereafter simply referred to as myosin) is the principle motor protein required for cytokinesis (for review, see ref. 72). Myosin is recruited to the cleavage furrow at early stages of cytokinesis in a RhoA-dependent fashion. Myosin activity and localization are regulated by phosphorylation of its regulatory light chain (myosin light chain or MLC). Because myosin motor activity is directly required for furrow ingression,⁷³ perturbation of myosin localization or its activity could result in cytokinesis failure.

Phosphorylation of serine 19 of MLC stimulates actin-activated ATPase activity of myosin,^{74,75} whereas phosphorylation at threonine 18 promotes myosin assembly. Phosphorylation of myosin at these positions is important for proper localization of myosin to the furrow and for ingression.^{76,79} In contrast, phosphorylation at serines 1, 2 and 9 of MLC inhibits myosin ATPase activity^{80,81} During mitosis, MLC is phosphorylated at these positions by CDK1.^{76,82,83} At anaphase, inactivation of CDK1, controlled by the degradation of mitotic cyclins by the Anaphase-Promoting Complex/Cyclosome (APC/C), is important for MLC dephosphorylation and myosin activation

during cytokinesis. Therefore, failure to degrade mitotic cyclins, or to fully inactivate CDK1, could perturb myosin activation and disrupt cytokinesis.

Three kinases contribute to myosin activation by phosphorylating positions 18 and 19 of MLC (Fig. 3). Two of these kinases, ROCK and Citron kinase, are activated by RhoA. ROCK localizes to cleavage furrows^{84,85} and a small molecule inhibitor of ROCK slows cleavage.⁸⁴ Citron kinase also localizes to the cleavage furrow and is required for cytokinesis in several systems.^{25,50,86-92} Citron kinase can phosphorylate MLC at both ser19 and thr18⁹³ and its overexpression causes unregulated contraction of the cortex, supporting its role as a positive regulator of myosin activity.⁸⁷ Mouse knockout studies suggest that Citron kinase may play an especially important role in neurogeneic and spermatogenic cytokinesis.^{94,97} It is likely that ROCK and Citron kinase play partially overlapping roles, explaining why each protein is not essential for cytokinesis in all systems. There is no evidence to suggest that ROCK or Citron kinase is overexpressed or mutated in human tumors, but Citron kinase interacts with the kinesin protein KIF14,⁸⁹ which is overexpressed in several tumor types.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰¹ Whether overexpression of KIF14 perturbs Citron kinase function in cytokinesis remains unknown. Knockdown of KIF14 induces cytokinesis failure,¹⁰² perhaps as a result of a failure to recruit Citron kinase to the cleavage furrow.

Myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) is the third and final kinase that has been implicated in direct phosphorylation of myosin light chain. This kinase is activated by calcium/calmodulin and some isoforms of MLCK and calmodulin localize to the cleavage furrow.¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁶ Inhibition of calmodulin or MLCK can disrupt cytokinesis in cultured cells,¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁸ but mice lacking MLCK develop normally, but die after birth, suggesting the kinase is not essential for cytokinesis in all tissues.¹⁰⁹ How myosin light chain kinase is regulated in the cleavage furrow is unclear, but hydrolysis of PIP2 may be important for IP3-induced calcium release, which could stimulate MLCK activity.¹¹⁰ The mild and varied phenotypes associated with MLCK inhibition again suggest functional redundancy in MLC phosphorylation during cytokinesis.

The overall degree of MLC phosphorylation is also affected by the activity level of myosin phosphatase. This enzyme is inhibited by several mechanisms during cytokinesis to favor MLC phosphorylation. Myosin phosphatase is a heterotrimeric enzyme consisting of a targeting subunit that binds myosin (MYPT1 or MBS), a catalytic subunit (the delta isoform of PP1c) and an additional small subunit. Both ROCK and Aurora B may phosphorylate MYPT1 in the furrow to inactivate the phosphatase.¹¹¹⁻¹¹³ In addition, a number of other kinases including Raf-1¹¹⁴ may negatively regulate myosin phosphatase (reviewed in ref. 72). Thus a number of signaling pathways could converge on myosin phosphatase to regulate cytokinesis.

Organization of Actin and Myosin in the Furrow

How actin and myosin are organized within the cleavage furrow and how contraction occurs, is not well understood (for a more detailed discussion, see refs. 115 and 116). Phosphorylated myosin localizes to the furrow in early anaphase⁷⁹ and localization of myosin requires RhoA activation^{13,117} but not myosin ATPase activity.^{73,118,119} Recruitment may require phosphorylation of MLC, as mutations or inactivation of kinases that perturb MLC phosphorylation also disrupt myosin localization. Other scaffolding components, such as anillin, may be important for maintaining myosin within the furrow, as discussed below.

Both actin and myosin are highly dynamic in furrows and dynamic actin is important for cytokinesis.^{108,120} For example, the actin disassembly factor cofilin is necessary for cytokinesis.¹²¹ Cofilin is negatively regulated by the kinase LIMK1 and thus upregulation of LIMK1, or loss of its negative regulator LATS1, is sufficient to enhance actin polymerization and induce cytokinesis failure.¹²² Interestingly, inhibition of myosin slows disassembly of actin filaments of the furrow,¹²³ suggesting that myosin motor activity may help drive actin disassembly.

Scaffolding Proteins in the Furrow

Anillin

Another conserved furrow component is anillin, which may act as a scaffold protein that binds F-actin, myosin, septins and activated RhoA.¹²⁴⁺¹²⁹ Although anillin localizes to the furrow at early stages of cytokinesis, it is not essential for ingression. Instead, it may stabilize the furrow and be important for later stages of cytokinesis including midbody formation and abscission.^{92,127,130-132} However, anillin becomes essential for ingression if the central spindle is disrupted, suggesting it may make early steps of cytokinesis more robust.¹²⁸ Anillin interacts with RhoA¹²⁸ and its localization to the furrow requires activation of RhoA.^{128,129,132,133} MgcRacGAP may also be directly involved in targeting anillin to the furrow,¹³⁴ providing a link between the centralspindlin complex and anillin localization.

Anillin contains domains that permit it to interact with phosphorylated myosin,¹²⁷ actin filaments and septins.^{124,125,135} These features make anillin ideally suited to crosslink the actomyosin and septin cytoskeletons within the contractile ring. Anillin may enhance the robustness of early stages of cytokinesis by promoting the anchoring of myosin in the vicinity of activated RhoA, favoring myosin phosphorylation. Anillin may be essential for asymmetric ingression of the cytokinetic furrow, which occurs when the furrow ingresses from only one side of the cell, rather than circumferentially.¹³⁶ Asymmetric ingression may be important in epithelia¹³⁷ and embryos^{136,138} where it may serve a mechanical function, enhancing the robustness of cytokinesis. Anillin is also important for completion of cytokinesis, as anillin remains in the cytoplasmic bridge even after myosin and actin have dissociated.¹²⁷ Interestingly, whereas overexpression of anillin seems to have little phenotype in Drosophila S2 cells,¹²⁹ overexpression of anillin in mammalian cells is very toxic,¹³² suggesting anillin could have important functions independent of cytokinesis. Levels of anillin appear to be controlled by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, as anillin is targeted for ubiquitination and degradation during G1 by the APC/C.¹³²

Like the liver, the heart also contains a large number of tetraploid cells that arise through cytokinesis failure. Although it was originally proposed that cytokinesis failure might be a consequence of failure to disassemble myofibrils within cardiomyocytes, recent work suggests this is unlikely to be the case.¹³⁹ Instead, cells that fail cytokinesis show complete disassembly of the myofibril, but show abnormal localization of anillin and failure of anillin to concentrate at the midbody.¹³⁹ However, these cells also show delays in furrow ingression, suggesting that earlier steps in cytokinesis may also be affected in these cells.

Septins

Septins represent a second class of scaffolding protein that may help to organize proteins within the cleavage furrow. Septins are GTP-binding proteins that can form filaments and localize to the cytokinetic ring.¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴⁴ Several human septins have been implicated in cytokinesis, including SEPT2 (Nedd5), SEPT9 (MSF) and SEPT12. SEPT12 localizes to the central spindle and midbody during anaphase and cytokinesis, respectively.¹⁴⁵ SEPT2 accumulates in the contractile ring and midbody¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸ and microinjection of antibodies¹⁴⁶ or antisense downregulation¹⁴⁷ of SEPT2 interferes with cytokinesis. Inactivation of SEPT9 by antibody microinjection or siRNA also induces cytokinetic defects.^{149,150}

Septins may participate in several aspects of cytokinesis, including regulation of actin and microtubule dynamics. SEPT2 associates with actin, forming filaments in association with actin bundles and focal adhesions,¹⁴⁶ whereas SEPT9 associates with the microtubule network.^{150,151} Septins may also play a direct role in cytokinesis by interacting with anilllin.^{124,125,135} Furthermore, SEPT2-containing filaments may provide a molecular platform for myosin and its kinases to ensure the full activation of myosin that is necessary for cytokinesis.¹⁵² Finally, septins may form a barrier that restricts the diffusion of membrane proteins in the furrow,^{153,154} thus helping retain activated RhoA within the narrow zone required for efficient initiation of cytokinesis. In mammalian cells, the p85 subunit of PI3 kinase may regulate SEPT2 in cytokinesis,¹⁵⁵ linking cellular signaling pathways with steps in cytokinesis. Septins may be deregulated in tumors, either through gene

fusions¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁵⁸ or by overexpression.¹⁵⁹ The SEPT9 gene is amplified and overexpressed in mouse mammary tumors and human breast cancer cell lines¹⁵⁸ and high SEPT9 expression in human breast cancer cells is associated with oncogenic phenotypes and cytokinesis defects.¹⁶⁰

Stage III. Formation of the Midbody

The central spindle, also referred to as the spindle midzone, plays an important role in keeping separated chromosomes apart prior to cytokinesis completion, because when microtubules are depolymerized in late anaphase, the nuclei collapse back together.⁷³ Microtubules in the midzone may be locally nucleated, as the minus ends of the midzone microtubules are decorated with gamma-tubulin.^{161,162} As cytokinesis progresses, the constricting furrow compacts the midzone microtubule array. The furrow ingresses until a cytoplasmic bridge is formed that is 1-1.5 microns in diameter. Several kinesin-like motor proteins and chromosomal passenger proteins move along the midzone spindle towards the plus ends and accumulate in the overlapping region, forming a phase-dense structure referred to as the Flemming body, stembody, telophase disc, or midbody (reviewed in ref. 163). Disassembly of the actomyosin ring may be an important step at this stage of cytokinesis, as loss of F-actin accompanies and may trigger midbody formation.¹⁶⁴ Once the cytoplasmic bridge matures and abscission begins, the bridge becomes insensitive to the actin inhibitor latrunculin,⁹² implying that the plasma membrane is linked to the midbody by a connection that does not involve dynamic F-actin. Scaffolding proteins such as anillin and septins may stabilize the bridge structure. In almost all systems, central spindle formation is essential for midbody formation, which in turn is necessary for abscission.^{16,32,165} In this section, we discuss the components that are required for formation of the central spindle and midbody.

PRC1 is a microtubule bundling protein that is critical for midzone formation in mammalian cells.^{32,166} PRC1 accumulates on the central spindle in anaphase and suppression of PRC1 expression causes failure of microtubule interdigitation.³² In the absence of PRC1, astral microtubules can guide the equatorial accumulation of anillin, actin and chromosome passenger proteins, enabling cleavage furrow ingression, but abscission fails.¹⁶⁷ PRC1 has separate domains that independently target the protein to the midzone and bundle microtubules.³² PRC1 is targeted to the midzone by the kinesin protein KIF4, which transports PRC1 to the ends of microtubules. Absence of KIF4 leads to a failure to accumulate PRC1 in the central spindle and abolishes central spindle formation.¹⁶⁸ PRC1 in turn recruits the centralspindlin complex and additional mitotic kinesins including CENP-E, MCAK¹⁶⁹ and KIF14.⁸⁹ PRC1 also serves as an important docking site for the kinase Plk1 in the central spindle.¹⁷⁰ PRC1 expression may be perturbed in cancer cells or in response to checkpoint signaling pathways. PRC1 upregulation in tumors^{169,171} may be a consequence of p53 inactivation, as induction of p53 can inhibit PRC1 expression and interfere with cytokinesis completion.^{172,173}

Although the centralspindlin complex (MKLP1 and MgcRacGAP) is important for cytokinesis initiation as described earlier, centralspindlin is also necessary for spindle midzone and midbody formation and ultimately for abscission.^{31,165} Centralspindlin is recruited to the midzone by PRC1 (reviewed in ref. 174) and proper localization requires the presence of both members of the centralspindlin complex.¹⁶ A splice variant of MKLP1, called CHO1, includes an additional domain that can interact with F-actin,¹⁷⁵ suggesting that CHO1 could link the actin and micro-tubule cytoskeletons. Injection of antibodies that target this domain induces failure in late steps of cytokinesis,¹⁷⁵ suggesting CHO1 may stabilize interactions between midbody microtubules and the ingressing cleavage furrow in late steps of cytokinesis. Centralspindlin is also important for recruiting additional proteins to the midbody that are required for abscission and both components of the complex appear to be regulated by phosphorylation. Each of these topics will be discussed in more detail below.

Proteomic approaches have identified a large number of proteins that concentrate at the midbody (Fig. 2)¹⁷⁶ and a functional role for some of these proteins in abscission has been supported by results of RNAi experiments.^{92,162,177} Several of these proteins localize to the Golgi apparatus during interphase and are released from the Golgi during mitosis by phosphorylation.¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁰ Inhibition of Golgi disassembly during mitosis perturbs cytokinesis,¹⁸¹ perhaps by interfering with release of components that are essential for cytokinesis. Precisely how these proteins function in cytokinesis remains unclear, but one potential function is to recruit mitotic regulators such as Plk1 to the midbody.¹⁷⁹

Additional proteins that localize to the midbody and are required for cytokinesis include LAPSER1, which may recruit the microtubule severing protein katanin to the midbody,¹⁸² and annexin 11.¹⁸³ Annexins are Ca(2+)-binding, membrane-fusogenic proteins with diverse but poorly understood functions. Cells lacking annexin 11 fail to establish a functional midbody and instead remain connected by intercellular bridges that contain bundled microtubules but exclude normal midbody components such as MKLP1 and Aurora B.¹⁸³ These data suggest that despite its potential role in membrane fusion, annexin 11 seems to be required at an earlier step for recruitment of MKLP1 and Aurora B to the midbody.

Stage IV. Abscission

Once the midbody is formed, it subsequently organizes the final event of cytokinesis, termed abscission. By the time of abscission, the cytoplasmic bridge has narrowed to 0.2 microns in diameter. At these late stages, microtubule bundles become compacted and begin to disappear.^{92,184} In this process, the cytoplasmic bridge is reorganized to permit separation of the daughter cells. A wide variety of proteins involved in vesicle and protein trafficking, membrane fusion and other processes are required for abscission, suggesting the final stage of cytokinesis is just as complex as earlier stages. Human cultured cells may remain connected by the cytoplasmic bridge for many hours before undergoing abscission.¹⁸⁵ In some systems, such as embryos, blastomeres often remain connected by intracellular bridges for many cell cycles. In spermatocytes, the cytoplasmic bridge is in fact stabilized¹⁸⁶ and cytokinesis completion does not occur, enabling communication between the cytoplasm of adjacent cells. Thus in certain circumstances abscission may be the target of physiological regulation.

Membrane Trafficking and Cytokinesis

Membrane trafficking plays a critical role in the process of cytokinesis (Fig. 4). Three pathways have been implicated in the process of cytokinesis. First, the secretory pathway, including Golgi-derived components, may contribute new membranes and proteins to the ingressing furrow and also participate in late steps of cytokinesis completion. Second, the endocytic pathway and recycling endosomes may remodel membranes in the cleavage furrow and also contribute vesicles that may participate in the final steps of cytokinesis. Finally, recent evidence suggests that components of the ESCRT machinery, best characterized for its role in multivesicular body formation, may also be essential for the final stages of cytokinesis. The relative contributions of each of these pathways in the process of cytokinesis is likely to be dependent on cell type.

The Role of the Secretory Pathway

In large embryos, such as *Xenopus* and Sea Urchins, furrow ingression is coupled to insertion of new membrane via microtubule-dependent exocytosis.¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁹⁰ In smaller cells, such as mammalian tissue culture cells, it is less clear whether new membrane insertion is required. Brefeldin A (BFA), which disrupts ER-Golgi-dependent trafficking, blocks cytokinesis completion in some studies^{191,192} but not others.¹⁹³⁻¹⁹⁶ Further evidence for a role of Golgi-derived vesicles in cytokinesis completion has emerged from studies of the protein centriolin, which may help recruit secretory vesicles to the site of abscission at the midbody.¹⁹¹ Centriolin was initially identified as a protein that localizes to the maternal centriole during interphase and accumulates on mature centrioles during metaphase.¹⁹⁷ Knockdown of centriolin in mammalian cells causes cytokinesis failure, with the two cells remaining connected by a cytoplasmic bridge.¹⁹⁷ Centriolin localizes to a ring-like structure within the midbody,¹⁹¹ that also contains gamma-tubulin, GAP-CenA and the centralspindlin complex. Recruitment of centriolin to the midbody ring is dependent on the centralspindlin complex, explaining why centralspindlin may be essential for cytokinesis completion.¹⁹¹



Figure 4. Membrane trafficking in cytokinesis. Secretory vesicles accumulate at the intercellular bridge in a centriolin-dependent manner by SNARE interaction and vesicle tethering by the exocyst complex. Vesicles originating from the recycling endosome and containing the complex Rab11/FIP3 move along microtubules. Interaction of FIP3 with both ARF6 and the exocyst permits vesicle targeting to the midbody. Vesicles then fuse with each other and the plasma membrane, physically separating the daughter cells.

Centriolin may facilitate cytokinesis completion by recruiting to the midbody proteins involved in vesicle tethering and fusion. Centriolin interacts with components of the exocyst, ¹⁹¹ a protein complex that tethers secretory vesicles to the plasma membrane (reviewed in ref. 198). Several components of the exocyst localize to the midbody ring in a centriolin-dependent manner and depletion of exocyst components by siRNA interferes with cytokinesis completion.¹⁹¹ Centriolin also interacts with snapin, a snare-associated protein and centriolin is required for the recruitment of snapin and SNARE proteins to the midbody.¹⁹¹

Secretory vesicles, derived from the Golgi apparatus, accumulate at the intercellular bridge during late steps in cytokinesis.¹⁹¹ At the time of abscission, the vesicles disappear, suggesting they undergo homotypic fusion with each other and also heterotypic fusion with the plasma membrane, releasing their contents.¹⁹¹ Interestingly, vesicles seem to accumulate only on one side of the midbody, suggesting that delivery is asymmetric.¹⁹¹ This finding is consistent with the fact that following abscission, the midbody remains attached to one of the two daughter cells where it may play additional roles in signaling or marking the age of the cell.¹⁹¹ Why abscission typically occurs on only one side of the midbody remains unclear. It has been suggested that abscission may be triggered by arrival of the maternal centriole from one daughter cell,¹⁸⁴ but this event has not been observed consistently.¹⁹¹ Asymmetric abscission may be important to enable the midbody to remain attached to a daughter cell, or it may provide an opportunity to regulate the timing of abscission. However, asymmetric abscission may be inherently more prone to failure than if abscission were to occur on both sides

of the midbody. The mechanism and significance of asymmetric abscission is an interesting topic for future investigation.

The Role of Endocytosis and the Recycling Endosome Pathway

Several lines of evidence suggest that the endocytic and the recycling endosome pathways play critical roles in cytokinesis completion. Endocytosis within the furrow may be important for remodeling the plasma membrane during ingression. In addition, endocytosis from other regions of the cell may serve as a source of vesicles destined for delivery to the cleavage furrow either directly or through the recycling endosome. For example, some endocytic vesicles internalized from the polar region are subsequently trafficked to the midbody area during later stages of cytokinesis.¹⁹⁹ Inhibition of proteins essential for endocytosis, including clathrin, dynamin and alpha-adaptin, perturb cytokinesis in several systems²⁰⁰⁻²⁰⁴ and inhibitors of clathrin-dependent endocytosis block cytokinesis completion in mammalian cells.^{195,199} In addition, there may be direct interactions between the endocytic machinery and proteins required for cytokinesis such as anillin.²⁰⁵

Small GTPases that regulate membrane trafficking have been directly implicated in cytokinesis completion. Arf GTPases initiate the budding of vesicles by recruiting coat protein complexes onto donor membranes, whereas Rab GTPases regulate the targeting and docking/fusion of vesicles with acceptor membranes.²⁰⁶ Two different GTPases, Arf6 and Rab11, have been implicated in regulation of cytokinesis. Rab11 localizes preferentially to the recycling endosome (RE) and is required for proper RE organization and the recycling of vesicles to the plasma membrane. Both Arf6 and Rab11 concentrate near the cleavage furrow and are required for late steps of cytokinesis in mammalian cells.^{199,207-210} Both GTPases interact with a common set of effector proteins that assist in delivery of endosomal vesicles to the cleavage furrow, termed FIP3 (Arfophilin-1) and FIP4 (Arfophilin-2).^{207-209,211-214} FIP3-containing endosomes accumulate near the cleavage furrow and are required for successful completion of cytokinesis.²⁰⁹ Recruitment of FIP3 to the midbody requires ARF6 and recruitment of ARF6 to the midbody requires FIP3.²¹⁵ Other studies show that Arf6 interacts with MKLP1, suggesting the centralspindlin complex is important for targeting Arf6 to the cleavage furrow.^{207,216} The exocyst has also been implicated in targeting of vesicles derived from the recycling endosome. For example, Exo70, a component of the exocyst complex, colocalizes with Arf6 in Rab11-positive endosomes.²⁰⁸ Exo70 interacts with FIP3 and FIP4 biochemically and depletion of Exo70 impairs FIP3 and Rab11 localization to the furrow and midbody.²⁰⁸ Together these studies suggest the following model of delivery of endosomal vesicles to the midbody (Fig. 4). Rab11 first recruits FIP3 to endosomes. FIP3 in turn associates with ARF6 and together this complex localizes to the midbody via interactions with the exocyst and MKLP1.

Membrane Fusion During Abscission

Following vesicle targeting to the site of abscission, membrane fusion is necessary to complete cytokinesis. SNARE proteins are critical components required for membrane fusion (reviewed in ref. 217). Several SNARE proteins or associated components have been implicated in cytokinesis completion in different organisms.^{92,218-220} In mammalian cells, two SNARE proteins, syntaxin 2 and endobrevin/VAMP-8, localize to the midbody during cytokinesis.^{191,221,222} Expression of dominant negative mutants or depletion of SNAREs impairs abscission, but has no effect on ingression of the cleavage furrow, suggesting that SNARE-mediated fusion is required only in the latest steps of cytokinesis.^{191,221} Septin proteins may assist in membrane fusion by restricting the diffusion of membrane-associated components such as the exocyst to the region of abscision.¹⁵³ Furthermore, septins may assist in abscission by directly recruiting the exocyst²²³ and SNARE proteins.²²⁴

Role of the ESCRT Machinery

Recently, protein subunits of the Endosomal Sorting Complex Required for Transport (ESCRT) that are normally involved in late endosome to lysosome trafficking have also been implicated in abscission. These proteins are best known for their roles in multivesicular body formation (reviewed in ref. 225), where they are important for membrane invagination. ESCRT complexes also play important roles in the topologically equivalent process of viral budding. Because abscission likely requires changes in membrane organization, a role for the ESCRT complex in cytokinesis is very intriguing. However, the precise mechanism of membrane invagination mediated by the ESCRT complex remains unknown and it is unclear whether the ESCRT pathway functions independently in abscission or whether it assists in secretory- or endosomal vesicle-mediated cytokinesis completion.

Components of the ESCRT machinery localize to the midbody and inhibition of some ESCRT complexes blocks late steps in cytokinesis. For example, CHMP3, a subunit of the ESCRT-III complex, localizes to the midbody and deletion of a C-terminal autoinhibitory domain of CHMP3 inhibits cytokinesis.²²⁶ Other subunits of the ESCRT machinery implicated in abscission include tumor-susceptibility gene 101 (Tsg101), a subunit of the ESCRT-I complex and Alix, an ESCRT-associated protein.^{222,227} Alix may interact with actin and microtubules,^{228,229} establishing a link between the ESCRT machinery and cytoskeletal components that are present at the midbody. Alix and Tsg101 are recruited to the midbody by interaction with centrosome protein 55 (Cep55), a centrosome and midbody protein essential for abscission.^{222,230,231} Interestingly, Tsg101 has been implicated in cancer and may have additional functional roles in cell cycle and transcriptional regulation (reviewed in ref. 225).

Regulation of Cytokinesis

Thus far we have outlined the core pathways and components essential for each stage of cytokinesis. In the remaining part of the chapter, we discuss how these components are regulated to ensure that cytokinesis occurs at the proper place and time. Many regulatory pathways impinge upon the cytokinesis machinery, suggesting that cytokinesis may be responsive to a variety of different cues within the cell. The complexity of cytokinesis regulation suggests that cytokinesis failure could result from alterations in the activity of these regulatory pathways.

Regulation of Cytokinesis by Protein Kinases

Cytokinesis is regulated by mitotic protein kinases, including cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), Polo kinase (Plk1) and the Aurora B kinase complex (Fig. 5). Mitotic CDK activity prevents cytokinesis onset until anaphase by phosphorylating cytokinesis components in a manner that inhibits their activity. For this reason, CDK1 must be inactivated for cytokinesis to proceed.²³² In fact, inhibition of CDK1 with a small molecule is sufficient to induce the initial events of cytokinesis,²³³⁻²³⁵ suggesting that CDK1 inactivation is the trigger for cytokinesis initiation.

In contrast, Polo kinase and Aurora B kinase positively regulate the events of cytokinesis and must remain active for a period of time following CDK inactivation to promote cytokinesis. This period of the cell cycle, which lasts for about an hour in HeLa cells, has been referred to as "C-phase".^{3,236} C-phase is initiated by inactivation of CDK1, mediated by cyclin destruction catalyzed by the APC/C. At later times following anaphase, the APC/C also ubiquitinates other proteins that are essential for cytokinesis, including anillin, ¹³² Polo kinase²³⁷ and Aurora B.²³⁸ Thus the APC/C may also be responsible for terminating C-phase, an idea that is consistent with the finding that treatment of cells with proteasome inhibitors doubles the duration of C-phase.⁷³

Regulation of Cytokinesis by CDKActivity

Because CDK1 is a central negative regulator of cytokinesis, it is possible that failure to fully inactivate CDK1, perhaps as a consequence of failure to fully degrade mitotic cyclins, could inhibit cytokinesis at some step. One setting in which this might occur is in cells that become arrested in mitosis due to persistent activation of the spindle checkpoint, which normally inhibits the APC/C until chromosomes become properly aligned and attached at the metaphase plate.²³⁹ Prolonged activation of the checkpoint may result in abnormal mitotic exit, resulting in incomplete activation of APC/C, or improper timing of degradation of different substrates, leading to cytokinesis failure. There is also evidence that APC/C activity may be spatially regulated within the cell, with the subpopulation of APC/C that is associated with the spindle poles remaining inhibited until later stages of mitosis.²⁴⁰ It is therefore possible that perturbation of spindle organization could interfere with the timing of degradation of mitotic regulators, thus perturbing cytokinesis.



Figure 5. Regulation of cytokinesis by mitotic kinases. A major function of CDK1 is to prevent precocious cytokinesis before proper chromosome segregation. CDK1 thus negatively regulates some of the main players of cytokinesis. At the same time, CDK1 plays a positive role in cytokinesis by releasing cytokinesis proteins from the Golgi apparatus and by facilitating binding of Plk1 to its substrates. Plk1 and Aurora B phosphorylate substrates that are important for both early and late steps of cytokinesis. Solid arrows indicate phosphorylation; dashed arrows indicate changed protein localization; dotted arrows indicate protein interactions. IF, intermediate filaments.

CDK1 activity restrains multiple steps in cytokinesis. Cytokinesis initiation is inhibited because the RhoA pathway is kept inactive. This is a consequence of phosphorylation of ECT2 by CDK1 at a site that blocks its association with MgcRacGAP.^{19,26} In addition, myosin light chain is phosphorylated by CDK1 at sites that inhibit myosin activation⁸² and high CDK1 activity also inhibits cortical recruitment of myosin.²⁴¹ Central spindle formation is also inhibited by CDK1-dependent phosphorylation. Phosphorylation of PRC1 by CDK1 inhibits its ability to bundle microtubules^{32,166,242} and its ability to interact with Plk1.¹⁷⁰ CDK1 also phosphorylates MKLP1, inhibiting its motor activity by reducing its affinity for microtubules.²⁴³ Thus CDK1-dependent phosphorylation acts at many steps to block cytokinesis.

Though CDK1 restrains cytokinesis onset, CDK1-dependent phosphorylation is also essential for cytokinesis because it primes Plk1-dependent phosphorylation that occurs during early stages of cytokinesis. CDK1 activity is also important during mitosis to promote dissociation of cytokinesis proteins from cellular organelles that would otherwise sequester the protein. For example, the protein Nir2 is required for cytokinesis and must dissociate from the Golgi apparatus in order to participate in cytokinesis; dissociation is mediated by CDK1-dependent phosphorylation.¹⁷⁹ CDK1-dependent phosphorylation is also important for dissociation of Cep55 from the centrosome and its subsequent phosphorylation by Plk1.²³¹

Regulation by Polo Kinase

Polo kinase is an essential positive regulator of cytokinesis in multiple organisms. In mammalian cells, Plk1 localizes to the midzone during anaphase and to the midbody during telophase and cytokinesis²⁴⁴ and plays an essential role in the initiation of cytokinesis.²⁴⁵⁻²⁴⁸ Plk1 activity is required for recruitment of itself and ECT2 to the central spindle and inhibition of Plk1 with small molecule inhibitors abolishes RhoA GTPase localization to the equatorial cortex, suppressing cleavage furrow formation.²⁴⁶⁻²⁴⁸ Plk1 also appears to be important for the interaction between ECT2 and MgcRacGAP.²⁴⁷ Other evidence suggests that Plk1 may bind to ECT2 in a CDK1-dependent manner.²⁴⁹ Another study using a distinct Plk1 inhibitor demonstrated that when Plk1 is inhibited, it spreads over the arms of chromosomes, resembling the localization of its binding partner PICH.²⁴⁵ Therefore, Plk1 activity is required for its own proper localization during cytokinesis and also for recruitment and activation of RhoA.

Plk1 activity may be required for later steps in cytokinesis as well, as Plk1 is targeted to the central spindle by the motor protein MKLP2 and phosphorylation of MKLP2 by Plk1 is required for cytokinesis.²⁵⁰ Phosphorylation of MKLP2 by Plk1 may be necessary for the spatial restriction of Plk1 to the central spindle during anaphase and telophase, although interaction with PRC1 also appears to be important for docking of Plk1 to the central spindle.¹⁷⁰ Plk1 may also interact with and phosphorylate MKLP1 during cytokinesis,^{244,251} although others suggest that Aurora B may be the relevant kinase.²⁵² Cep55 also appears to be a Plk1 substrate whose phosphorylation is primed by CDK1 but the consequences of this phosphorylation remains unknown.²³¹ A recent proteomic screen identified a large number of proteins that bind to the Polo-box domain of Plk1, including the Rho kinase ROCK2,²⁵³ where Plk1 and RhoA may function together to enhance ROCK2 activity. Another substrate of Plk1 that may be involved in regulation of mitosis and cytokinesis is NudC,^{254,255} a dynein/dynactin associated protein that is essential for midzone formation and cytokinesis completion in C. elegans and mammalian cells.²⁵⁴

Plk1 is overexpressed in a broad range of human tumors (for review see ref. 256). Overexpression of Plk1 in HeLa cells leads to an increase of cells with large, often fragmented nuclei or multiple nuclei²⁵⁷ as well as centrosome amplification,²⁵⁸ suggesting that increased expression of Plk1 observed in some tumors may have an effect on cytokinesis completion as well as chromosome segregation. This finding has been corroborated in human primary cells.²⁵⁹

Regulation by Aurora B and the Chromosome Passenger Complex

The chromosome passenger complex (CPC) consists of the proteins Aurora B, INCENP, survivin and borealin. The complex plays many important roles throughout mitosis and has been implicated in the regulation of cytokinesis (see ref. 260 for review). At the metaphase-anaphase transition, the CPC relocalizes from centromeres to the spindle midzone and the equatorial cortex²⁶¹⁻²⁶³ and ultimately concentrates near the midbody, adjacent to the centriolin ring.¹⁹¹ MKLP2, a kinesin-6 family motor protein, is required for relocalization of Aurora B and also Plk1, to the central spindle in human cells.^{250,252,264,265}

Aurora B activity is necessary for several events in cytokinesis (Fig. 5). First, Aurora B is required for proper localization and function of MKLP1. Treatment of human cells with a small molecule inhibitor of Aurora B in early mitosis inhibits localization of MKLP1 (and its binding partner MgcRacGAP) to the central spindle.²⁶⁶ However, addition of an Aurora inhibitor at later stages of mitosis inhibits phosphorylation of MKLP1 without disrupting its localization,^{252,267} yet perturbs cytokinesis completion, indicating that MKLP1 must remain phosphorylated to permit abscission. How phosphorylation regulates MKLP1 is not completely clear, as MKLP1 is phosphorylated at multiple sites that may have distinct effects.^{252,267} Phosphorylation of MKLP1 could be important for stabilizing interactions between the cortex and midbody, or be important for recruiting proteins such as centriolin that are necessary for abscission. In addition, phosphorylation of MKLP1 by Aurora B is important to prevent the protein from being sequestered back in the nucleus as cells enter interphase.²⁵² It is interesting to note that many components required for cytokinesis are located in the nucleus or associated with Golgi apparatus during interphase (Fig. 2) and thus localization of cytokinesis components to the midbody could require sustained phosphorylation that prevents the proteins from being resequestered by these structures as cells exit mitosis. Another important substrate of Aurora B is MgcRacGAP, whose phosphorylation appears important for completion of cytokinesis.^{47,268,269} Phosphorylation of MgcRacGAP has been proposed to stimulate its activity as a GAP for RhoA, which could be important for terminating RhoA activity in late stages of cytokinesis.⁴⁷ Another study indicates that phosphorylation of MgcRacGAP by Aurora B at a different site might activate the protein by stimulating release of the GAP domain from an inhibitory interaction with PRC1.²⁶⁸

There are several other important Aurora substrates including vimentin, an abundant intermediate filament protein. Intermediate filaments must be disassembled during mitosis to allow cell division and mitotic phosphorylation is important for filament dissociation, as expression of nonphosphorylatable mutants of vimentin leads to cells that show a persistent filamentous bridge.^{270,271} Following mitotic exit and during later stages of cytokinesis, ROCK²⁷² and Aurora B^{112,270,271,273} maintain vimentin phosphorylation after CDK1 is inactivated. Aurora B may also promote cytokinesis by inhibiting myosin light chain phosphatase.¹¹² Aurora B also phosphorylates CENP-A, which appears to play an important role in cytokinesis.²⁷⁴ Cells expressing mutants of CENP-A that cannot be phosphorylated result in mislocalization of the passenger complex and cause a delay in the final stages of cytokinesis.

Although Aurora B is a critical positive regulator of cytokinesis in vertebrate cells, this role does not seem conserved in yeast, as the budding yeast ortholog Ipl1 and the fission yeast ortholog Ark1 are not essential for cytokinesis. However, in budding yeast, Ipl1 may negatively regulate late steps of cytokinesis in cells with spindle defects,^{275,276} perhaps by regulating the localization of anillin-like proteins. This pathway may prevent abscission until segregating chromosomes have cleared the midzone. Whether a similar pathway operates in mammalian cells is not yet clear.

We are just beginning to learn about the mechanisms that regulate Aurora B activation. New work suggests that the TD60 protein may play an important role in activating Aurora B at centromeres.²⁷⁷ In multiple organisms, components of the mitotic exit network, including the phosphatase CDC14, play important roles in regulating cytokinesis,²⁷⁸⁻²⁸⁰ in part through regulation of targeting of the Aurora B complex.²⁸¹ Aurora B is also regulated by a Cul3-containing ubiquitin ligase, which is important for removing Aurora B from mitotic chromosomes and allowing its accumulation on the central spindle during anaphase.²⁸²

In vertebrate cells, Aurora B is expressed in a cell-cycle dependent manner, peaking in the G2/M phase of the cell cycle^{283,284} and is highly expressed in a number of cancers.^{263,284-291} However, in these tumors, expression of other proliferative markers, such as Ki-67, MCM2, geminin and Aurora A is also increased,^{291,292} suggesting that Aurora B upregulation may be part of a broader upregulation of mitotic components in tumor cells. Because Aurora B is a positive regulator of cytokinesis, it is unclear whether its overexpression would perturb cytokinesis. Elevated levels of Aurora B may promote cytokinesis completion in cells that would otherwise undergo cytokinesis failure due to other abnormalities in the mitotic machinery. However, it is possible that perturbing Aurora B expression, or other components of the CPC, could alter the stoichiometry of the complex, perturbing cytokinesis.²⁹³

Regulation of Cytokinesis by Tyrosine Kinases

Tyrosine kinase signaling pathways may also regulate cytokinesis completion. Small molecule inhibitors of Src, including PP2 and SU6656, inhibit abscission in HeLa cells.²⁹⁴ Src activity appears to be required in early mitosis, followed by delivery of tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins to the midbody via Rab11-driven vesicle transport.²⁹⁴ Src colocalizes with the diaphanous-related formins mDia1 and mDia2 in endosomes and midbodies of dividing cells and inhibition of Src blocks cytokinesis.⁶⁷ Other tyrosine kinases, such as Fyn and its associated proteins are required for cytokinesis in lymphocytes,²⁹⁵ through mechanisms that remain obscure.

Regulation of Cytokinesis by Lipids

Several studies indicate that phosphoinositide-containing lipids may be important for cytokinesis, with phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate (PtdIns(4,5)P2) playing a central role. In mammalian cells, PtdIns(4,5)P2 accumulates at the cleavage furrow and overexpression of proteins that bind to PtdIns(4,5)P2 perturbs cytokinesis completion but not ingression of the cleavage furrow.²⁹⁶ Overexpression of dominant negative kinases required for PtdIns(4,5)P2 generation also inhibits cytokinesis completion in mammalian cells.²⁹⁶

Hydrolysis of PtdIns(4,5)P2 by phosphlipasec(PLC) yields inositol trisphosphate (IP₃), which stimulates calcium release from internal stores. Inhibitors of PLC can interfere with cytokinesis,²⁹⁷ which can in some cases be rescued by addition of calcium.²⁹⁸ Alternatively, PtdIns(4,5)P2 may play a direct role in recruiting membrane proteins required for stability of the furrow. Several proteins required for cytokinesis, such as septin, profilin and anillin can bind to PtdIns(4,5)P2 and overexpression of a protein containing a PtdIns(4,5)P2-binding domain blocks cytokinesis completion by interfering with adhesion of the plasma membrane to the contractile ring at the furrow.²⁹⁶

Other studies have shown that the membrane lipid phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) is exposed on the cell surface of the cleavage furrow during late cytokinesis.²⁹⁹ Addition of a cyclic peptide that binds tightly to PE inhibits cytokinesis completion,²⁹⁹ perhaps by interfering with contractile ring disassembly.³⁰⁰ Mutant cell lines that fail to synthesize adequate PE also show defects in cytokinesis completion that can be rescued by PE addition.³⁰⁰ Proper PE organization may be essential for RhoA inactivation at late stages of cytokinesis, which may in turn be necessary for actin disassembly.³⁰¹

Coupling of Cytokinesis to Other Cellular Pathways

The complexity of cytokinesis regulation provides opportunities for linking cytokinesis to other cellular pathways. Emerging evidence suggests interesting new connections between cytokinesis and the pathways involved in regulation of protein synthesis, DNA replication and DNA damage.

Cytokinesis and Protein Synthesis

Recent work suggests that proper regulation of protein synthesis may be essential for cytokinesis to proceed with high efficiency. Interestingly, of 214 genes identified in a genome-wide RNAi screen in Drosophila S2 cells, 22% were ribosomal proteins and another 5% were involved in translation.¹⁷⁷ Recent work suggests that the protein 14-3-3 σ may play an important role in regulating protein synthesis during mitosis.³⁰² In normal cells, cap-dependent translation is suppressed during mitosis, whereas cap-independent translation is increased. Cells lacking 14-3-3 σ do not make this switch, perturbing the pattern of proteins that are synthesized.³⁰² Downregulation of 14-3-3 σ perturbs localization of Plk1 to the midbody and leads to cytokinesis failure.³⁰² These effects may be a consequence of failure to properly synthesize proteins containing an internal ribosomal entry site during mitosis, such as Cdk11.³⁰² Interestingly, 14-3-3 σ expression is often reduced in tumor cells by targeted degradation or promoter hypermethylation. Loss of 14-3-3 σ may in turn result in defective cytokinesis as a consequence of alterations in protein synthesis.

Cytokinesis and DNA Replication

Interestingly, one of the components of the Origin Recognition Complex (ORC), which is required for initiation of DNA replication, may also play a role in cytokinesis in metazoans. In vertebrate cells, Orc6 localizes to kinetochores and to a reticular-like structure around the cell periphery and ultimately to the cleavage furrow and midbody.³⁰³ Elimination of Orc6 induces mutlipolar spindles and formation of multinucleated cells in both human cells³⁰³ and *Drosophila*,³⁰⁴ suggesting this function is conserved. In *Drosophila*, Orc6 interacts with a septin protein that may be important for cytokinesis. Domains of Orc6 required for DNA replication and cytokinesis appear separable, suggesting that Orc6 has evolved a domain that participates specifically in cytokinesis.³⁰⁴ How Orc6 might couple the processes of DNA replication and cytokinesis completion remains unclear.

Cytokinesis and DNA Damage

Several lines of evidence suggest that cytokinesis may be regulated in response to DNA damage. Components required for DNA repair, such as BRCA2, may be directly involved in cytokinesis. Other evidence suggests that DNA damage pathways may regulate the expression of cytokinesis proteins, or regulate their activity by posttranslational modification. Coupling of DNA damage pathways to cytokinesis regulation could be important for preventing the cleavage furrow from cutting damaged DNA that cannot be accurately segregated during mitosis. The existence of such pathways may explain why spontaneous chromosome missegregation is tightly coupled to cytokinesis failure in human cells.¹⁸⁵ In this model, DNA damage, or perhaps incompletely replicated DNA, may trigger pathways that prevent segregation of unreplicated or damaged sister chromatids and at the same time activate pathways that block cytokinesis completion.

BRCA2 is an example of a protein that may play direct roles in both DNA repair and cytokinesis. BRCA2 is required for recombination-based repair of DNA double-strand breaks.³⁰⁵ However, BRCA2-deficient cells also show centrosome amplification that may be a consequence of defective cytokinesis.³⁰⁶ BRCA2 localizes to the midbody and inactivation of BRCA2 in murine embryonic fibroblasts and HeLa cells interferes with cytokinesis.³⁰⁷ BRCA2 may be regulated during mitosis, as it is a Plk1 substrate whose phosphorylation is inhibited in the presence of DNA damage.³⁰⁸ Interestingly, downregulation of a BRCA2-interacting protein (BCCIP) also leads to defective cytokinesis.³⁰⁹ Other proteins involved in DNA damage responses may influence cytokinesis regulation by interacting with cytokinesis components. For example, the DNA damage checkpoint kinase Rad53 has been shown to associate with septins in budding yeast.³¹⁰ In mammalian cells, Ku70, a DNA-binding protein required for DNA damage repair, forms a complex with ARF6 during mitosis,³¹¹ suggesting a possible link between the DNA damage pathway and completion of cytokinesis.

Transcriptional controls may provide another mechanism for inhibiting cytokinesis in response to DNA damage. The expression of several cytokinesis proteins, including Plk1, ECT2, anillin and survivin, is repressed when DNA is damaged, in a manner that depends on an intact Rb pathway.³¹² Other studies suggest that expression of cytokinesis proteins may be inhibited by activation of the p53 pathway.³¹³ For example, it has been shown that ECT2 expression is repressed by p53 via protein methyltransferases, suggesting that cytokinesis could be more likely to fail under conditions of p53 activation.³¹⁴

Posttranslational modifications may also regulate cytokinesis in response to DNA damage. For example, Aurora B becomes highly poly-ADP-ribosylated when DNA is damaged, a modification that inhibits its kinase activity.³¹⁵ Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation is an immediate cellular response to DNA strand breaks that is catalyzed by NAD⁺-dependent enzymes, poly(ADP-ribose) poly-merases (PARPs).³¹⁶ This effect is mediated by direct interaction between the BRCT domain of PARP1 and Aurora B.³¹⁵ Because Aurora B activity is essential for chromosome segregation and cytokinesis, induction of DNA damage could lead to errors in chromosome segregation and failure of cytokinesis.

Conclusion

Cytokinesis is a surprisingly complex process that requires the interplay of many components and regulatory pathways. Cytokinesis failure can arise through defects in any of the four stages in cytokinesis and as a consequence of inactivation or hyperactivation of any of a large number of different components (summarized in Fig. 6). Although many cytokinesis proteins have been identified, we are just beginning to understand how these proteins interact with one another and how they are regulated. Understanding the causes of cytokinesis failure is important, as it may set the stage for genetically unstable tetraploid cells that give rise to tumors.³¹⁷ However, cytokinesis failure also seems to occur physiologically in some tissues, even in those that are not tumor prone such as the heart. Understanding how cytokinesis is regulated physiologically in response to different signals, or under conditions of cell stress or damage, remains an important area for future research. Although cytokinesis failure may be accompany certain pathological states such as cancer, it is likely that pharmacologically-induced cytokinesis failure may be an important issue to consider as new medicines are developed. Inhibitors of Rho kinase are being developed for cardiovascular medicine³¹⁸ and inhibitors of Aurora kinase are under development as anticancer agents.³¹⁹ Because these compounds are likely to induce cytokinesis failure in normal tissues, it will be important to



Figure 6. Summary of different phenotypes resulting from cytokinesis failure. Inhibition (downward arrow) or excessive activation (upward arrow) of different cytokinesis components can give rise to distinct phenotypes, including precocious ingression before the chromosomes have been separated, regression of the furrow giving rise to binucleated cells, or stabilization of the cytoplasmic bridge where daughter cells remain connected. The list is not comprehensive; see text for additional examples.

determine how sensitive various tissues are to cytokinesis failure and the consequences of production of tetraploid cells in different tissue types.

Acknowledgements

Work in the author's laboratory is supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health (GM 66492), the Dana-Farber/Harvard SPORE in Breast Cancer (CA089393) and the Susan G. Komen Foundation (BCTR131606).

References

- 1. Rappaport R. Cytokinesis in animal cells. Int Rev Cytol 1971; 31:169-213.
- Rappaport R. Establishment of the mechanism of cytokinesis in animal cells. Int Rev Cytol 1986; 105:245-281.
- Canman JC, Cameron LA, Maddox PS et al. Determining the position of the cell division plane. Nature 2003; 424:1074-1078.
- 4. Hiramoto Y. Analysis of cleavage stimulus by means of micromanipulation of sea urchin eggs. Exp Cell Res 1971; 68:291-298.
- 5. Burgess DR, Chang F. Site selection for the cleavage furrow at cytokinesis. Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:156-162.

- Danowski BA. Fibroblast contractility and actin organization are stimulated by microtubule inhibitors. J Cell Sci 1989; 93(Pt 2):255-266.
- Ren XD, Kiosses WB, Schwartz MA. Regulation of the small GTP-binding protein Rho by cell adhesion and the cytoskeleton. EMBO J 1999; 18:578-585.
- Pletjushkina OJ, Rajfur Z, Pomorski P et al. Induction of cortical oscillations in spreading cells by depolymerization of microtubules. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 2001; 48:235-244.
- Canman JC, Bement WM. Microtubules suppress actomyosin-based cortical flow in Xenopus oocytes. J Cell Sci 1997; 110(Pt 16):1907-1917.
- Werner M, Munro E, Glotzerl M. Astral signals spatially bias cortical myosin recruitment to break symmetry and promote cytokinesis. Current Biology 2007; 17:1286-1297.
- Bringmann H, Hyman AA. A cytokinesis furrow is positioned by two consecutive signals. Nature 2005; 436:731-734.
- 12. Dechant R, Glotzer M. Centrosome separation and central spindle assembly act in redundant pathways that regulate microtubule density and trigger cleavage furrow formation. Dev Cell 2003; 4:333-344.
- Piekny A, Werner M, Glotzer M. Cytokinesis: Welcome to the Rho zone. Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:651-658.
- Kishi K, Sasaki T, Kuroda S et al. Regulation of cytoplasmic division of Xenopus embryo by rho p21 and its inhibitory GDP/GTP exchange protein (rho GDI). J Cell Biol 1993; 120:1187-1195.
- Drechsel DN, Hyman AA, Hall A et al. A requirement for Rho and Cdc42 during cytokinesis in Xenopus embryos. Curr Biol 1997; 7:12-23.
- Jantsch-Plunger V, Gonczy P, Romano A et al. CYK-4: A Rho family gtpase activating protein (GAP) required for central spindle formation and cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2000; 149:1391-1404.
- Kamijo K, Ohara N, Abe M et al. Dissecting the role of Rho-mediated signaling in contractile ring formation. Mol Biol Cell 2006; 17:43-55.
- Yonemura S, Hirao-Minakuchi K, Nishimura Y. Rho localization in cells and tissues. Exp Cell Res 2004; 295:300-314.
- Yuce O, Piekny A, Glotzer M. An ECT2-centralspindlin complex regulates the localization and function of RhoA. J Cell Biol 2005; 170:571-582.
- Nishimura Y, Yonemura S. Centralspindlin regulates ECT2 and RhoA accumulation at the equatorial cortex during cytokinesis. J Cell Sci 2006; 119:104-114.
- Yoshizaki H, Ohba Y, Kurokawa K et al. Activity of Rho-family GTPases during cell division as visualized with FRET-based probes. J Cell Biol 2003; 162:223-232.
- Bement WM, Benink HA, von Dassow G. A microtubule-dependent zone of active RhoA during cleavage plane specification. J Cell Biol 2005; 170:91-101.
- Tatsumoto T, Xie X, Blumenthal R et al. Human ECT2 is an exchange factor for Rho GTPases, phosphorylated in G2/M phases and involved in cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 1999; 147:921-928.
- Kim JE, Billadeau DD, Chen JJ. The tandem BRCT domains of Ect2 are required for both negative and positive regulation of Ect2 in cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:5733-5739.
- Chalamalasetty RB, Hummer S, Nigg EA et al. Influence of human Ect2 depletion and overexpression on cleavage furrow formation and abscission. J Cell Sci 2006; 119:3008-3019.
- Hara T, Abe M, Inoue H et al. Cytokinesis regulator ECT2 changes its conformation through phosphorylation at Thr-341 in G2/M phase. Oncogene 2006; 25:566-578.
- 27. Miki T, Smith CL, Long JE et al. Oncogene ect2 is related to regulators of small GTP-binding proteins. Nature 1993; 362:462-465.
- Saito S, Liu XF, Kamijo K et al. Deregulation and mislocalization of the cytokinesis regulator ECT2 activate the Rho signaling pathways leading to malignant transformation. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:7169-7179.
- Somers WG, Saint R. A RhoGEF and Rho family GTPase-activating protein complex links the contractile ring to cortical microtubules at the onset of cytokinesis. Dev Cell 2003; 4:29-39.
- Mishima M, Kaitna S, Glotzer M. Central spindle assembly and cytokinesis require a kinesin-like protein/ RhoGAP complex with microtubule bundling activity. Dev Cell 2002; 2:41-54.
- Matuliene J, Kuriyama R. Role of the midbody matrix in cytokinesis: RNAi and genetic rescue analysis of the mammalian motor protein CHO1. Mol Biol Cell 2004; 15:3083-3094.
- Mollinari C, Kleman JP, Jiang W et al. PRC1 is a microtubule binding and bundling protein essential to maintain the mitotic spindle midzone. J Cell Biol 2002; 157:1175-1186.
- 33. Clemens F, Verma R, Ramnath J et al. Amplification of the Ect2 proto-oncogene and over-expression of Ect2 mRNA and protein in nickel compound and methylcholanthrene-transformed 10T1/2 mouse fibroblast cell lines. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 2005; 206:138-149.
- 34. Tatsumoto T, Sakata H, Dasso M et al. Potential roles of the nucleotide exchange factor ECT2 and Cdc42 GTPase in spindle assembly in Xenopus egg cell-free extracts. J Cell Biochem 2003; 90:892-900.
- Canevascini S, Marti M, Frohli E et al. The Caenorhabditis elegans homologue of the proto-oncogene ect-2 positively regulates RAS signalling during vulval development. EMBO Rep 2005; 6:1169-1175.

- 36. Saito S, Tatsumoto T, Lorenzi MV et al. Rho exchange factor ECT2 is induced by growth factors and regulates cytokinesis through the N-terminal cell cycle regulator-related domains. J Cell Biochem 2003; 90:819-836.
- 37. Eguchi T, Takaki T, Itadani H et al. RB silencing compromises the DNA damage-induced G2/M checkpoint and causes deregulated expression of the ECT2 oncogene. Oncogene 2007; 26:509-520.
- Roversi G, Pfundt R, Moroni RF et al. Identification of novel genomic markers related to progression to glioblastoma through genomic profiling of 25 primary glioma cell lines. Oncogene 2006; 25:1571-1583.
- Sano M, Genkai N, Yajima N et al. Expression level of ECT2 proto-oncogene correlates with prognosis in glioma patients. Oncol Rep 2006; 16:1093-1098.
- Kanada M, Nagasaki A, Uyeda TQ. Novel functions of Ect2 in polar lamellipodia formation and polarity maintenance during "Contractile Ring-Independent" cytokinesis in adherent cells. Mol Biol Cell 2008; 19:8-16.
- Birkenfeld J, Nalbant P, Bohl BP et al. GEF-H1 modulates localized RhoA activation during cytokinesis under the control of mitotic kinases. Dev Cell 2007; 12:699-712.
- Wu D, Asiedu M, Adelstein RS, Wei Q. A novel guanine nucleotide exchange factor MyoGEF is required for cytokinesis. Cell Cycle 2006; 5:1234-1239.
- Wolf A, Keil R, Gotzl O et al. The armadillo protein p0071 regulates Rho signalling during cytokinesis. Nature Cell Biol 2006; 8:1432-U1478.
- 44. Kitzing TM, Sahadevan AS, Brandt DT et al. Positive feedback between Dia1, LARG and RhoA regulates cell morphology and invasion. Genes Dev 2007; 21:1478-1483.
- Dadke D, Jarnik M, Pugacheva EN et al. Deregulation of HEF1 impairs M-phase progression by disrupting the RhoA activation cycle. Mol Biol Cell 2006; 17:1204-1217.
- 46. Su L, Agati JM, Parsons SJ. p190RhoGAP is cell cycle regulated and affects cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2003; 163:571-582.
- 47. Minoshima Y, Kawashima T, Hirose K et al. Phosphorylation by aurora B converts MgcRacGAP to a RhoGAP during cytokinesis. Dev Cell 2003; 4:549-560.
- Yoshizaki H, Ohba Y, Parrini MC et al. Cell type-specific regulation of RhoA activity during cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:44756-44762.
- D'Avino PP, Savoian MS, Capalbo L et al. RacGAP50C is sufficient to signal cleavage furrow formation during cytokinesis. J Cell Sci 2006; 119:4402-4408.
- D'Avino PP, Savoian MS, Glover DM. Mutations in sticky lead to defective organization of the contractile ring during cytokinesis and are enhanced by Rho and suppressed by Rac. J Cell Biol 2004; 166:61-71.
- Oceguera-Yanez F, Kimura K, Yasuda S et al. Ect2 and MgcRacGAP regulate the activation and function of Cdc42 in mitosis. J Cell Biol 2005; 168:221-232.
- Guidotti JE, Bregerie O, Robert A et al. Liver cell polyploidization: A pivotal role for binuclear hepatocytes. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:19095-19101.
- Margall-Ducos G, Celton-Morizur S, Couton D et al. Liver tetraploidization is controlled by a new process of incomplete cytokinesis. J Cell Sci 2007; 120:3633-3639.
- Kudryavtsev BN, Kudryavtseva MV, Sakuta GA et al. Human hepatocyte polyploidization kinetics in the course of life cycle. Virchows Arch B-Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol 1993; 64:387-393.
- 55. Toyoda H, Bregerie O, Vallet A et al. Changes to hepatocyte ploidy and binuclearity profiles during human chronic viral hepatitis. Gut 2005; 54:297-302.
- Caldwell CM, Green RA, Kaplan KB. APC mutations lead to cytokinetic failures in vitro and tetraploid genotypes in Min mice. J Cell Biol 2007; 178:1109-1120.
- Kaplan KB, Burds AA, Swedlow JR et al. A role for the adenomatous polyposis coli protein in chromosome segregation. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3:429-432.
- Green RA, Kaplan KB. Chromosome instability in colorectal tumor cells is associated with defects in microtubule plus-end attachments caused by a dominant mutation in APC. J Cell Biol 2003; 163:949-961.
- 59. Tighe A, Johnson VL, Taylor SS. Truncating APC mutations have dominant effects on proliferation, spindle checkpoint control, survival and chromosome stability. J Cell Sci 2004; 117:6339-6353.
- 60. Dikovskaya D, Schiffmann D, Newton IP et al. Loss of APC induces polyploidy as a result of a combination of defects in mitosis and apoptosis. J Cell Biol 2007; 176:183-195.
- Fodde R, Kuipers J, Rosenberg C et al. Mutations in the APC tumour suppressor gene cause chromosomal instability. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3:433-438.
- 62. Pollard TD. Regulation of actin filament assembly by Arp2/3 complex and formins. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct 2007; 36:451-477.
- Alberts AS. Identification of a carboxyl-terminal diaphanous-related formin homology protein autoregulatory domain. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:2824-2830.
- 64. Otomo T, Otomo C, Tomchick DR et al. Structural basis of Rho GTPase-mediated activation of the formin mDia1. Mol Cell 2005; 18:273-281.

- 65. Rose R, Weyand M, Lammers M et al. Structural and mechanistic insights into the interaction between Rho and mammalian Dia. Nature 2005; 435:513-518.
- 66. Watanabe N, Madaule P, Reid T et al. p140mDia, a mammalian homolog of drosophila diaphanous, is a target protein for Rho small GTPase and is a ligand for profilin. EMBO J 1997; 16:3044-3056.
- 67. Tominaga T, Sahai E, Chardin P et al. Diaphanous-related formins bridge Rho GTPase and Src tyrosine kinase signaling. Mol Cell 2000; 5:13-25.
- Peng J, Wallar BJ, Flanders A et al. Disruption of the Diaphanous-related formin Drf1 gene encoding mDia1 reveals a role for Drf3 as an effector for Cdc42. Curr Biol 2003; 13:534-545.
- Cao LG, Wang YL. Mechanism of the formation of contractile ring in dividing cultured animal cells. II. Cortical movement of microinjected actin filaments. J Cell Biol 1990; 111:1905-1911.
- Cao LG, Wang YL. Mechanism of the formation of contractile ring in dividing cultured animal cells. I recruitment of preexisting actin filaments into the cleavage furrow. J Cell Biol 1990; 110:1089-1095.
- Satoh S, Tominaga T. mDia-interacting protein acts downstream of Rho-mDia and modifies Src activation and stress fiber formation. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:39290-39294.
- Matsumura F. Regulation of myosin II during cytokinesis in higher eukaryotes. Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:371-377.
- Straight AF, Cheung A, Limouze J et al. Dissecting temporal and spatial control of cytokinesis with a myosin II Inhibitor. Science 2003; 299:1743-1747.
- 74. Sellers JR. Regulation of cytoplasmic and smooth muscle myosin. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1991; 3:98-104.
- Trybus KM, Warshaw DM. Regulation of the interaction between smooth muscle myosin and actin. J Cell Sci Suppl 1991; 14:87-89.
- Yamakita Y, Yamashiro S, Matsumura F. In vivo phosphorylation of regulatory light chain of myosin II during mitosis of cultured cells. J Cell Biol 1994; 124:129-137.
- DeBiasio RL, LaRocca GM, Post PL et al. Myosin II transport, organization and phosphorylation: evidence for cortical flow/solation-contraction coupling during cytokinesis and cell locomotion. Mol Biol Cell 1996; 7:1259-1282.
- Jordan P, Karess R. Myosin light chain-activating phosphorylation sites are required for oogenesis in Drosophila. J Cell Biol 1997; 139:1805-1819.
- Matsumura F, Ono S, Yamakita Y et al. Specific localization of serine 19 phosphorylated myosin II during cell locomotion and mitosis of cultured cells. J Cell Biol 1998; 140:119-129.
- Bengur AR, Robinson EA, Appella E et al. Sequence of the sites phosphorylated by protein kinase C in the smooth muscle myosin light chain. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:7613-7617.
- Ikebe M, Reardon S. Phosphorylation of bovine platelet myosin by protein kinase C. Biochemistry 1990; 29:2713-2720.
- Satterwhite LL, Lohka MJ, Wilson KL et al. Phosphorylation of myosin-II regulatory light chain by cyclin-p34cdc2: a mechanism for the timing of cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 1992; 118:595-605.
- Totsukawa G, Himi-Nakamura E, Komatsu S et al. Mitosis-specific phosphorylation of smooth muscle regulatory light chain of myosin II at Ser-1 and/or -2 and Thr-9 in sea urchin egg extract. Cell Struct Funct 1996; 21:475-482.
- Kosako H, Yoshida T, Matsumura F et al. Rho-kinase/ROCK is involved in cytokinesis through the phosphorylation of myosin light chain and not ezrin/radixin/moesin proteins at the cleavage furrow. Oncogene 2000; 19:6059-6064.
- Ueda K, Murata-Hori M, Tatsuka M et al. Rho-kinase contributes to diphosphorylation of myosin II regulatory light chain in nonmuscle cells. Oncogene 2002; 21:5852-5860.
- Eda M, Yonemura S, Kato T et al. Rho-dependent transfer of Citron-kinase to the cleavage furrow of dividing cells. J Cell Sci 2001; 114:3273-3284.
- 87. Madaule P, Eda M, Watanabe N et al. Role of citron kinase as a target of the small GTPase Rho in cytokinesis. Nature 1998; 394:491-494.
- Paramasivam M, Chang YJ, LoTurco JJ. ASPM and citron kinase colocalize to the midbody ring during cytokinesis. Cell Cycle 2007; 6:1605-1612.
- 89. Gruneberg U, Neef R, Li X et al. KIF14 and citron kinase act together to promote efficient cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2006; 172:363-372.
- Shandala T, Gregory SL, Dalton HE et al. Citron kinase is an essential effector of the Pbl-activated Rho signalling pathway in Drosophila melanogaster. Development 2004; 131:5053-5063.
- Naim V, Imarisio S, Di Cunto F et al. Drosophila citron kinase is required for the final steps of cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 2004; 15:5053-5063.
- Echard A, Hickson GR, Foley E et al. Terminal cytokinesis events uncovered after an RNAi screen. Curr Biol 2004; 14:1685-1693.
- 93. Yamashiro S, Totsukawa G, Yamakita Y et al. Citron kinase, a Rho-dependent kinase, induces di-phosphorylation of regulatory light chain of myosin II. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14:1745-1756.

- 94. Di Cunto F, Imarisio S, Hirsch E et al. Defective neurogenesis in citron kinase knockout mice by altered cytokinesis and massive apoptosis. Neuron 2000; 28:115-127.
- LoTurco JJ, Sarkisian MR, Cosker L et al. Citron kinase is a regulator of mitosis and neurogenic cytokinesis in the neocortical ventricular zone. Cereb Cortex 2003; 13:588-591.
- 96. Sarkisian MR, Li WW, Di Cunto F et al. Citron-kinase, a protein essential to cytokinesis in neuronal progenitors, is deleted in the flathead mutant rat. J Neurosci 2002; 22:
- 97. Di Cunto F, Imarisio S, Camera P et al. Essential role of citron kinase in cytokinesis of spermatogenic precursors. J Cell Sci 2002; 115:4819-4826.
- Madhavan J, Coral K, Mallikarjuna K et al. High expression of KIF14 in retinoblastoma: Association with older age at diagnosis. Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science 2007; 48:4901-4906.
- Corson TW, Huang A, Tsao MS et al. KIF14 is a candidate oncogene in the 1q minimal region of genomic gain in multiple cancers. Oncogene 2005; 24:4741-4753.
- Corson TW, Gallie BL. KIF14 mRNA expression is a predictor of grade and outcome in breast cancer. Int J Cancer 2006; 119:1088-1094.
- Corson TW, Zhu CQ, Lau SK et al. KIF14 messenger RNA expression is independently prognostic for outcome in lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2007; 13:3229-3234.
- Carleton M, Mao M, Biery M et al. RNA interference-mediated silencing of mitotic kinesin KIF14 disrupts cell cycle progression and induces cytokinesis failure. Mol Cell Biol 2006; 26:3853-3863.
- 103. Chew TL, Wolf WA, Gallagher PJ et al. A fluorescent resonant energy transfer-based biosensor reveals transient and regional myosin light chain kinase activation in lamella and cleavage furrows. J Cell Biol 2002; 156:543-553.
- Poperechnaya A, Varlamova O, Lin PJ et al. Localization and activity of myosin light chain kinase isoforms during the cell cycle. J Cell Biol 2000; 151:697-708.
- 105. Erent M, Pagakis S, Browne JP et al. Association of calmodulin with cytoskeletal structures at different stages of HeLa cell division, visualized by a calmodulin-EGFP fusion protein. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun 1999; 1:209-215.
- 106. Yu YY, Chen Y, Dai G et al. The association of calmodulin with central spindle regulates the initiation of cytokinesis in HeLa cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2004; 36:1562-1572.
- 107. Li CJ, Heim R, Lu P et al. Dynamic redistribution of calmodulin in HeLa cells during cell division as revealed by a GFP-calmodulin fusion protein technique. J Cell Sci 1999; 112 (Pt 10):1567-1577.
- Murthy K, Wadsworth P. Myosin-II-dependent localization and dynamics of F-actin during cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2005; 15:724-731.
- Somlyo AV, Wang H, Choudhury N et al. Myosin light chain kinase knockout. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 2004; 25:241-242.
- 110. Wong R, Fabian L, Forer A et al. Phospholipase C and myosin light chain kinase inhibition define a common step in actin regulation during cytokinesis. BMC Cell Biol 2007; 8:
- 111. Kawano Y, Fukata Y, Oshiro N et al. Phosphorylation of myosin-binding subunit (MBS) of myosin phosphatase by Rho-kinase in vivo. J Cell Biol 1999; 147:1023-1038.
- 112. Yokoyama T, Goto H, Izawa I et al. Aurora-B and Rho-kinase/ROCK, the two cleavage furrow kinases, independently regulate the progression of cytokinesis: possible existence of a novel cleavage furrow kinase phosphorylates ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM). Genes Cells 2005; 10:127-137.
- 113. Piekny AJ, Mains PE. Rho-binding kinase (LET-502) and myosin phosphatase (MEL-11) regulate cytokinesis in the early Caenorhabditis elegans embryo. J Cell Sci 2002; 115:2271-2282.
- 114. Broustas CG, Grammatikakis N, Eto M et al. Phosphorylation of the myosin-binding subunit of myosin phosphatase by Raf-1 and inhibition of phosphatase activity. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:3053-3059.
- 115. Eggert US, Mitchison TJ, Field CM. Animal cytokinesis: From parts list to mechanisms. Ann Rev Biochem 2006; 75:543-566.
- Wang YL. The mechanism of cortical ingression during early cytokinesis: thinking beyond the contractile ring hypothesis. Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:581-588.
- 117. Dean SO, Rogers SL, Stuurman N et al. Distinct pathways control recruitment and maintenance of myosin II at the cleavage furrow during cytokinesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005; 102:13473-13478.
- Guha M, Zhou M, Wang YL. Cortical actin turnover during cytokinesis requires myosin II. Curr Biol 2005; 15:732-736.
- 119. Zang JH, Spudich JA. Myosin II localization during cytokinesis occurs by a mechanism that does not require its motor domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95:13652-13657.
- Yumura S. Myosin II dynamics and cortical flow during contractile ring formation in Dictyostelium cells. J Cell Biol 2001; 154:137-146.
- 121. Gunsalus KC, Bonaccorsi S, Williams E et al. Mutations in twinstar, a Drosophila gene encoding a cofilin/ADF homologue, result in defects in centrosome migration and cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 1995; 131:1243-1259.

- 122. Yang X, Yu K, Hao Y et al. LATS1 tumour suppressor affects cytokinesis by inhibiting LIMK1. Nat Cell Biol 2004; 6:609-617.
- Haviv L, Gillo D, Backouche F et al. A cytoskeletal demolition worker: Myosin II acts as an actin depolymerization agent. J Mol Biol 2008; 375:325-330.
- 124. Field CM, Alberts BM. Anillin, a contractile ring protein that cycles from the nucleus to the cell cortex. J Cell Biol 1995; 131:165-178.
- 125. Oegema K, Savoian MS, Mitchison TJ et al. Functional analysis of a human homologue of the Drosophila actin binding protein anillin suggests a role in cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2000; 150:539-552.
- 126. Paoletti A, Chang F. Analysis of mid1p, a protein required for placement of the cell division site, reveals a link between the nucleus and the cell surface in fission yeast. Mol Biol Cell 2000; 11:2757-2773.
- 127. Straight AF, Field CM, Mitchison TJ. Anillin binds nonmuscle myosin II and regulates the contractile ring. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:193-201.
- 128. Piekny AJ, Glotzer M. Anillin is a scaffold protein that links rhoa, actin and myosin during cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2008; 18:30-36.
- 129. Hickson GR, O'Farrell PH. Rho-dependent control of anillin behavior during cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2008;180:285-94.
- Somma MP, Fasulo B, Cenci G et al. Molecular dissection of cytokinesis by RNA interference in Drosophila cultured cells. Mol Biol Cell 2002; 13:2448-2460.
- 131. Field CM, Coughlin M, Doberstein S et al. Characterization of anillin mutants reveals essential roles in septin localization and plasma membrane integrity. Development 2005; 132:2849-2860.
- 132. Zhao WM, Fang G. Anillin is a substrate of anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome (APC/C) that controls spatial contractility of myosin during late cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:33516-33524.
- Prokopenko SN, Brumby A, O'Keefe L et al. A putative exchange factor for Rho1 GTPase is required for initiation of cytokinesis in Drosophila. Genes Dev 1999; 13:2301-2314.
- 134. Gregory SL, Ebrahimi S, Milverton J et al. Cell division requires a direct link between microtubule-bound racgap and anillin in the contractile ring. Curr Biol 2008; 18:25-29.
- Kinoshita M, Field CM, Coughlin ML et al. Self- and actin-templated assembly of Mammalian septins. Dev Cell 2002; 3:791-802.
- 136. Maddox AS, Lewellyn L, Desai A et al. Anillin and the septins promote asymmetric ingression of the cytokinetic furrow. Developmental Cell 2007; 12:827-835.
- 137. Reinsch S, Karsenti E. Orientation of spindle axis and distribution of plasma membrane proteins during cell division in polarized MDCKII cells. J Cell Biol 1994; 126:1509-1526.
- 138. Rappaport R. Cytokinesis in Animal Cells. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- Engel FB, Schebesta M, Keating MT. Anillin localization defect in cardiomyocyte binucleation. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2006; 41:601-612.
- Berlin A, Paoletti A, Chang F. Mid2p stabilizes septin rings during cytokinesis in fission yeast. J Cell Biol 2003; 160:1083-1092.
- 141. Tasto JJ, Morrell JL, Gould KL. An anillin homologue, Mid2p, acts during fission yeast cytokinesis to organize the septin ring and promote cell separation. J Cell Biol 2003; 160:1093-1103.
- 142. Longtine MS, Bi E. Regulation of septin organization and function in yeast. Trends Cell Biol 2003; 13:403-409.
- 143. Kinoshita M. Diversity of septin scaffolds. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2006; 18:54-60.
- 144. Martin-Cuadrado AB, Morrell JL, Konomi M et al. Role of septins and the exocyst complex in the function of hydrolytic enzymes responsible for fission yeast cell separation. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:4867-4881.
- 145. Ding XM, Yu WB, Liu M et al. SEPT12 interacts with SEPT6 and this interaction alters the filament structure of SEPT6 in Hela cells. J Biochem Mol Biol 2007; 40:973-978.
- 146. Kinoshita M, Kumar S, Mizoguchi A et al. Nedd5, a mammalian septin, is a novel cytoskeletal component interacting with actin-based structures. Genes Dev 1997; 11:1535-1547.
- 147. Sakai K, Kurimoto M, Tsugu A et al. Expression of Nedd5, a mammalian septin, in human brain tumors. J Neurooncol 2002; 57:169-177.
- Spiliotis ET, Kinoshita M, Nelson WJ. A mitotic septin scaffold required for mammalian chromosome congression and segregation. Science 2005; 307:1781-1785.
- 149. Nagata K, Kawajiri A, Matsui S et al. Filament formation of MSF-A, a mammalian septin, in human mammary epithelial cells depends on interactions with microtubules. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:18538-18543.
- 150. Surka MC, Tsang CW, Trimble WS. The mammalian septin MSF localizes with microtubules and is required for completion of cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 2002; 13:3532-3545.
- 151. Robertson C, Church SW, Nagar HA et al. Russell SE. Properties of SEPT9 isoforms and the requirement for GTP binding. J Pathol 2004; 203:519-527.
- Joo E, Surka MC, Trimble WS. Mammalian SEPT2 is required for scaffolding nonmuscle myosin II and its kinases. Devel Cell 2007; 13:677-690.

- Dobbelaere J, Barral Y. Spatial coordination of cytokinetic events by compartmentalization of the cell cortex. Science 2004; 305:393-396.
- Schmidt K, Nichols BJ. A barrier to lateral diffusion in the cleavage furrow of dividing mammalian cells. Curr Biol 2004; 14:1002-1006.
- 155. Silio V, Marques M, Cortes I et al. A cascade involving p85, Cdc42 and septin 2 regulates cytokinesis. Biochem Soc Trans 2007; 35:222-224.
- 156. Osaka M, Rowley JD, Zeleznik-Le NJ. MSF (MLL septin-like fusion), a fusion partner gene of MLL, in a therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia with at(11; 17)(q23; q25). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:6428-6433.
- 157. Russell SE, McIlhatton MA, Burrows JF et al. Isolation and mapping of a human septin gene to a region on chromosome 17q, commonly deleted in sporadic epithelial ovarian tumors. Cancer Res 2000; 60:4729-4734.
- 158. Montagna C, Lyu MS, Hunter K et al. The Septin 9 (MSF) gene is amplified and overexpressed in mouse mammary gland adenocarcinomas and human breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Res 2003; 63:2179-2187.
- 159. Scott M, Hyland PL, McGregor G et al. Multimodality expression profiling shows SEPT9 to be overexpressed in a wide range of human tumours. Oncogene 2005; 24:4688-4700.
- 160. Gonzalez ME, Peterson EA, Privette LM et al. High SEPT9_v1 expression in human breast cancer cells is associated with oncogenic phenotypes. Cancer Research 2007; 67:8554-8564.
- 161. Julian M, Tollon Y, Lajoie-Mazenc I et al. Gamma-Tubulin participates in the formation of the midbody during cytokinesis in mammalian cells. J Cell Sci 1993; 105 (Pt 1):145-156.
- 162. Shu HB, Li ZQ, Palacios MJ et al. A transient association of gamma-tubulin at the midbody is required for the completion of cytokinesis during the mammalian cell division. J Cell Sci 1995; 108:2955-2962.
- Margolis RL, Andreassen PR. The telophase disc: Its possible role in mammalian cell cleavage. Bioessays 1993; 15:201-207.
- 164. Schroeder TE. The contractile ring. II. Determining its brief existence, volumetric changes and vital role in cleaving Arbacia eggs. J Cell Biol 1972; 53:419-434.
- 165. Matuliene J, Kuriyama R. Kinesin-like protein CHO1 is required for the formation of midbody matrix and the completion of cytokinesis in mammalian cells. Mol Biol Cell 2002; 13:1832-1845.
- 166. Jiang W, Jimenez G, Wells NJ et al. PRC1: a human mitotic spindle-associated CDK substrate protein required for cytokinesis. Mol Cell 1998; 2:877-885.
- 167. Mollinari C, Kleman JP, Saoudi Y et al. Ablation of PRC1 by small interfering RNA demonstrates that cytokinetic abscission requires a central spindle bundle in mammalian cells, whereas completion of furrowing does not. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:1043-1055.
- 168. Zhu CJ, Jiang W. Cell cycle-dependent translocation of PRC1 on the spindle by Kif4 is essential for midzone formation and cytokinesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2005; 102:343-348.
- 169. Shimo A, Nishidate T, Ohta T et al. Elevated expression of protein regulator of cytokinesis 1, involved in the growth of breast cancer cells. Cancer Science 2007; 98:174-181.
- 170. Neef R, Gruneberg U, Kopajtich R et al. Choice of Plk1 docking partners during mitosis and cytokinesis is controlled by the activation state of Cdk1. Nature Cell Biol 2007; 9:436-U132.
- 171. Kanehira M, Katagiri T, Shimo A et al. Oncogenic role of MPHOSPH1, a cancer-testis antigen specific to human bladder cancer. Cancer Research 2007; 67:3276-3285.
- 172. Li C, Shridhar K, Liu J. Molecular characterization of oncostatin M-induced growth arrest of MCF-7 cells expressing a temperature-sensitive mutant of p53. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2003; 80:23-37.
- 173. Li C, Lin M, Liu J. Identification of PRC1 as the p53 target gene uncovers a novel function of p53 in the regulation of cytokinesis. Oncogene 2004; 23:9336-9347.
- 174. Glotzer M. The molecular requirements for cytokinesis. Science 2005; 307:1735-1739.
- 175. Kuriyama R, Gustus C, Terada Y et al. CHO1, a mammalian kinesin-like protein, interacts with F-actin and is involved in the terminal phase of cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2002; 156:783-790.
- Skop AR, Liu H, Yates J et al. Dissection of the mammalian midbody proteome reveals conserved cytokinesis mechanisms. Science 2004; 305:61-66.
- 177. Eggert US, Kiger AA, Richter C et al. Parallel chemical genetic and genome-wide RNAi screens identify cytokinesis inhibitors and targets. PLoS Biol 2004; 2:e379.
- Sisson JC, Field C, Ventura R et al. Lava lamp, a novel peripheral golgi protein, is required for Drosophila melanogaster cellularization. J Cell Biol 2000; 151:905-918.
- 179. Litvak V, Argov R, Dahan N et al. Mitotic phosphorylation of the peripheral Golgi protein Nir2 by Cdk1 provides a docking mechanism for Plk1 and affects cytokinesis completion. Mol Cell 2004; 14:319-330.
- Litvak V, Tian D, Carmon S et al. Nir2, a human homolog of Drosophila melanogaster retinal degeneration B protein, is essential for cytokinesis. Mol Cell Biol 2002; 22:5064-5075.
- Altan-Bonnet N, Phair RD, Polishchuk RS et al. A role for Arf1 in mitotic Golgi disassembly, chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2003; 100:13314-13319.
- 182. Sudo H, Maru Y. LAPSER1 is a putative cytokinetic tumor suppressor that shows the same centrosome and midbody subcellular localization pattern as p80 katanin. FASEB J 2007; 21:2086-2100.
- 183. Tomas A, Futter C, Moss SE. Annexin 11 is required for midbody formation and completion of the terminal phase of cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2004; 165:813-822.
- Piel M, Nordberg J, Euteneuer U et al. Centrosome-dependent exit of cytokinesis in animal cells. Science 2001; 291:1550-1553.
- Shi Q, King RW. Chromosome nondisjunction yields tetraploid rather than aneuploid cells in human cell lines. Nature 2005; 437:1038-1042.
- Greenbaum MP, Ma L, Matzuk MM. Conversion of midbodies into germ cell intercellular bridges. Dev Biol 2007; 305:389-396.
- Danilchik MV, Bedrick SD, Brown EE et al. Furrow microtubules and localized exocytosis in cleaving Xenopus laevis embryos. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:273-283.
- Danilchik MV, Funk WC, Brown EE et al. Requirement for microtubules in new membrane formation during cytokinesis of Xenopus embryos. Dev Biol 1998; 194:47-60.
- Bluemink JG, de Laat SW. New membrane formation during cytokinesis in normal and cytochalasin B-treated eggs of Xenopus laevis. I. Electron microscope observations. J Cell Biol 1973; 59:89-108.
- 190. Shuster CB, Burgess DR. Targeted new membrane addition in the cleavage furrow is a late, separate event in cytokinesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99:3633-3638.
- 191. Gromley A, Yeaman C, Rosa J et al. Centriolin anchoring of exocyst and SNARE complexes at the midbody is required for secretory-vesicle-mediated abscission. Cell 2005; 123:75-87.
- 192. Skop AR, Bergmann D, Mohler WA et al. Completion of cytokinesis in C. elegans requires a brefeldin A-sensitive membrane accumulation at the cleavage furrow apex. Curr Biol 2001; 11:735-746.
- 193. Moskalewski S, Popowicz P, Thyberg J. Functions of the Golgi complex in cell division: Formation of cell-matrix contacts and cell-cell communication channels in the terminal phase of cytokinesis. J Submicrosc Cytol Pathol 1994; 26:9-20.
- 194. Thyberg J, Moskalewski S. Reorganization of the golgi complex in association with mitosis: redistribution of mannosidase II to the endoplasmic reticulum and effects of brefeldin A. J Submicrosc Cytol Pathol 1992; 24:495-508.
- 195. Boucrot E, Kirchhausen T. Endosomal recycling controls plasma membrane area during mitosis. Proc of the Natl Acad Sci 2007; 104:7939-7944.
- 196. Payne C, Schatten G. Golgi dynamics during meiosis are distinct from mitosis and are coupled to endoplasmic reticulum dynamics until fertilization. Dev Biol 2003; 264:50-63.
- 197. Gromley A, Jurczyk A, Sillibourne J et al. A novel human protein of the maternal centriole is required for the final stages of cytokinesis and entry into S phase. J Cell Biol 2003; 161:535-545.
- 198. Munson M, Novick P. The exocyst defrocked, a framework of rods revealed. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2006; 13:577-581.
- Schweitzer JK, Burke EE, Goodson HV et al. Endocytosis resumes during late mitosis and is required for cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:41628-41635.
- Dornan S, Jackson AP, Gay NJ. Alpha-adaptin, a marker for endocytosis, is expressed in complex patterns during Drosophila development. Mol Biol Cell 1997; 8:1391-1403.
- Gerald NJ, Damer CK, O'Halloran TJ et al. Cytokinesis failure in clathrin-minus cells is caused by cleavage furrow instability. Cell Motil Cytoskel 2001; 48:213-223.
- 202. Feng B, Schwarz H, Jesuthasan S. Furrow-specific endocytosis during cytokinesis of zebrafish blastomeres. Exp Cell Res 2002; 279:14-20.
- 203. Thompson HM, Skop AR, Euteneuer U et al. The large GTPase dynamin associates with the spindle midzone and is required for cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2002; 12:2111-2117.
- 204. Konopka CA, Schleede JB, Skop AR et al. Dynamin and cytokinesis. Traffic 2006; 7:239-247.
- Monzo P, Gauthier NC, Keslair F et al. Clues to CD2-associated protein involvement in cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:2891-2902.
- 206. Chavrier P, Goud B. The role of ARF and Rab GTPases in membrane transport. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1999; 11:466-475.
- Schweitzer JK, D'Souza-Schorey C. Localization and activation of the ARF6 GTPase during cleavage furrow ingression and cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:27210-27216.
- Fielding AB, Schonteich E, Matheson J et al. Rab11-FIP3 and FIP4 interact with Arf6 and the exocyst to control membrane traffic in cytokinesis. EMBO J 2005; 24:3389-3399.
- Wilson GM, Fielding AB, Simon GC et al. The FIP3-Rab11 protein complex regulates recycling endosome targeting to the cleavage furrow during late cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:849-860.
- Yu XZ, Prekeris R, Gould GW. Role of endosomal Rab GTPases in cytokinesis. Eur J Cell Biol 2007; 86:25-35.
- 211. Hales CM, Griner R, Hobdy-Henderson KC et al. Identification and characterization of a family of Rab11-interacting proteins. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:39067-39075.

- Prekeris R, Davies JM, Scheller RH. Identification of a novel Rab11/25 binding domain present in Eferin and Rip proteins. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:38966-38970.
- 213. Hickson GR, Matheson J, Riggs B et al. Arfophilins are dual Arf/Rab 11 binding proteins that regulate recycling endosome distribution and are related to Drosophila nuclear fallout. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14:2908-2920.
- 214. Horgan CP, Walsh M, Zurawski TH et al. Rab11-FIP3 localises to a Rab11-positive pericentrosomal compartment during interphase and to the cleavage furrow during cytokinesis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004; 319:83-94.
- Schonteich E, Pilli M, Simon GC et al. Molecular characterization of Rab11-FIP3 binding to ARF GT-Pases. Eur J Cell Biol 2007; 86:417-431.
- 216. Boman AL, Kuai J, Zhu X et al. Arf proteins bind to mitotic kinesin-like protein 1 (MKLP1) in a GTP-dependent fashion. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 1999; 44:119-132.
- 217. Jahn R, Scheller RH. SNAREs—Engines for membrane fusion. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006; 7:631-643.
- 218. Conner SD, Wessel GM. Syntaxin is required for cell division. Mol Biol Cell 1999; 10:2735-2743.
- 219. Jantsch-Plunger V, Glotzer M. Depletion of syntaxins in the early Caenorhabditis elegans embryo reveals a role for membrane fusion events in cytokinesis. Curr Biol 1999; 9:738-745.
- 220. Li WM, Webb SE, Lee KW et al. Recruitment and SNARE-mediated fusion of vesicles in furrow membrane remodeling during cytokinesis in zebrafish embryos. Exp Cell Res 2006; 312:3260-3275.
- Low SH, Li X, Miura M et al. Syntaxin 2 and endobrevin are required for the terminal step of cytokinesis in mammalian cells. Devel Cell 2003; 4:753-759.
- Carlton JG, Martin-Serrano J. Parallels between cytokinesis and retroviral budding: A role for the ESCRT machinery. Science 2007; 316:1908-1912.
- 223. Hsu SC, Hazuka CD, Roth R et al. Subunit composition, protein interactions and structures of the mammalian brain sec 6/8 complex and septin filaments. Neuron 1998; 20:1111-1122.
- 224. Vega IE, Hsu SC. The septin protein Nedd5 associates with both the exocyst complex and microtubules and disruption of its GTPase activity promotes aberrant neurite sprouting in PC12 cells. Neuroreport 2003; 14:31-37.
- 225. Slagsvold T, Pattni K, Malerod L et al. Endosomal and non-endosomal functions of ESCRT proteins. Trends Cell Biol 2006; 16:317-326.
- 226. Dukes JD, Richardson JD, Simmons R et al. A dominant negative ESCRT-III protein perturbs cytokinesis and trafficking to lysosomes. Biochem J 2008;233-9.
- 227. Morita E, Sandrin V, Chung HY et al. Human ESCRT and ALIX proteins interact with proteins of the midbody and function in cytokinesis. EMBO J 2007; 26:4215-4227.
- 228. Schmidt MHH, Chen B, Randazzo LM et al. SETA/CIN85/Ruk and its binding partner AIP1 associate with diverse cytoskeletal elements, including FAKs and modulate cell adhesion. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:2845-2855.
- 229. Cabezas A, Bache KG, Brech A et al. Alix regulates cortical actin and the spatial distribution of endosomes. J Cell Sci 2005; 118:2625-2635.
- Zhao WM, Seki A, Fang G. Cep55, a microtubule-bundling protein, associates with centralspindlin to control the midbody integrity and cell abscission during cytokinesis. Mol Biol Cell 2006; 17:3881-3896.
- 231. Fabbro M, Zhou BB, Takahashi M et al. Cdk1/Erk2- and Plk1-dependent phosphorylation of a centrosome protein, Cep55, is required for its recruitment to midbody and cytokinesis. Dev Cell 2005; 9:477-488.
- 232. Wheatley SP, Hinchcliffe EH, Glotzer M et al. CDK1 inactivation regulates anaphase spindle dynamics and cytokinesis in vivo. J Cell Biol 1997; 138:385-393.
- 233. Niiya F, Xie X, Lee KS et al. Inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase 1 induces cytokinesis without chromosome segregation in an ECT2 and MgcRacGAP-dependent manner. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:36502-36509.
- 234. Potapova TA, Daum JR, Pittman BD et al. The reversibility of mitotic exit in vertebrate cells. Nature 2006; 440:954-958.
- Vassilev LT, Tovar C, Chen S et al. Selective small-molecule inhibitor reveals critical mitotic functions of human CDK1. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2006; 103:10660-10665.
- 236. Martineau SN, Andreassen PR, Margolis RL. Delay of HeLa cell cleavage into interphase using dihydrocytochalasin B: retention of a postmitotic spindle and telophase disc correlates with synchronous cleavage recovery. J Cell Biol 1995; 131:191-205.
- 237. Lindon C, Pines J. Ordered proteolysis in anaphase inactivates Plk1 to contribute to proper mitotic exit in human cells. J Cell Biol 2004; 164:233-241.
- 238. Stewart S, Fang G. Destruction box-dependent degradation of aurora B is mediated by the anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome and Cdh1. Cancer Res 2005; 65:8730-8735.
- 239. Rieder CL, Maiato H. Stuck in division or passing through: what happens when cells cannot satisfy the spindle assembly checkpoint. Dev Cell 2004; 7:637-651.

- Ban KH, Torres JZ, Miller JJ et al. The END network couples spindle pole assembly to inhibition of the anaphase-promoting complex/cyclosome in early mitosis. Dev Cell 2007; 13:29-42.
- 241. Royou A, Sullivan W, Karess R. Cortical recruitment of nonmuscle myosin II in early syncytial Drosophila embryos: its role in nuclear axial expansion and its regulation by Cdc2 activity. J Cell Biol 2002; 158:127-137.
- 242. Zhu C, Lau E, Schwarzenbacher R et al. Spatiotemporal control of spindle midzone formation by PRC1 in human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2006; 103:6196-6201.
- Mishima M, Pavicic V, Gruneberg U et al. Cell cycle regulation of central spindle assembly. Nature 2004; 430:908-913.
- 244. Lee KS, Yuan YL, Kuriyama R et al. Plk is an M-phase-specific protein kinase and interacts with a kinesin-like protein, CHO1/MKLP-1. Mol Cell Biol 1995; 15:7143-7151.
- 245. Santamaria Â, Neef R, Eberspacher U et al. Use of the novel Plk1 inhibitor ZK-Thiazolidinone to elucidate functions of Plk1 in early and late stages of mitosis. Mol Biol Cell 2007; 18:4024-4036.
- 246. Burkard ME, Randall CL, Larochelle S et al. Chemical genetics reveals the requirement for Polo-like kinase 1 activity in positioning RhoA and triggering cytokinesis in human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2007; 104:4383-4388.
- 247. Petronczki M, Glotzer M, Kraut N et al. Polo-like kinase 1 triggers the initiation of cytokinesis in human cells by promoting recruitment of the RhoGEF Ect2 to the central spindle. Dev Cell 2007; 12:713-725.
- 248. Brennan IM, Peters U, Kapoor TM et al. Polo-like kinase controls vertebrate spindle elongation and cytokinesis. PLoS ONE 2007; 2:e409.
- Niiya F, Tatsumoto T, Lee KS et al. Phosphorylation of the cytokinesis regulator ECT2 at G2/M phase stimulates association of the mitotic kinase Plk1 and accumulation of GTP-bound RhoA. Oncogene 2006; 25:827-837.
- Neef R, Preisinger C, Sutcliffe J et al. Phosphorylation of mitotic kinesin-like protein 2 by polo-like kinase 1 is required for cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2003; 162:863-875.
- Liu X, Zhou T, Kuriyama R et al. Molecular interactions of Polo-like-kinase 1 with the mitotic kinesin-like protein CHO1/MKLP-1. J Cell Sci 2004; 117:3233-3246.
- 252. Neef R, Klein UR, Kopajtich R et al. Cooperation between mitotic kinesins controls the late stages of cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2006; 16:301-307.
- 253. Lowery DM, Clauser KR, Hjerrild M et al. Proteomic screen defines the Polo-box domain interactome and identifies Rock2 as a Plk1 substrate. EMBO J 2007; 26:2262-2273.
- Aumais JP, Williams SN, Luo W et al. Role for NudC, a dynein-associated nuclear movement protein, in mitosis and cytokinesis. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:1991-2003.
- 255. Nishino M, Kurasawa Y, Evans R et al. NudC is required for PIk1 targeting to the kinetochore and chromosome congression. Curr Biol 2006; 16:1414-1421.
- Strebhardt K, Ullrich A. Targeting polo-like kinase 1 for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2006; 6:321-330.
- 257. Mundt KE, Golsteyn RM, Lane HA et al. On the regulation and function of human polo-like kinase 1 (PLK1): effects of overexpression on cell cycle progression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 239:377-385.
- 258. Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA. Aurora-A overexpression reveals tetraploidization as a major route to centrosome amplification in p53–/– cells. EMBO J 2002; 21:483-492.
- 259. Incassati A, Patel D, McCance DJ. Induction of tetraploidy through loss of p53 and upregulation of Plk1 by human papillomavirus type-16 E6. Oncogene 2006; 25:2444-2451.
- Ruchaud S, Carmena M, Earnshaw WC. Chromosomal passengers: conducting cell division. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007; 8:798-812.
- 261. Cooke CA, Heck MM, Earnshaw WC. The inner centromere protein (INCENP) antigens: movement from inner centromere to midbody during mitosis. J Cell Biol 1987; 105:2053-2067.
- 262. Earnshaw WC, Cooke CA. Analysis of the distribution of the INCENPs throughout mitosis reveals the existence of a pathway of structural changes in the chromosomes during metaphase and early events in cleavage furrow formation. J Cell Sci 1991; 98 (Pt 4):443-461.
- 263. Adams RR, Eckley DM, Vagnarelli P et al. Human INCENP colocalizes with the Aurora-B/AIRK2 kinase on chromosomes and is overexpressed in tumour cells. Chromosoma 2001; 110:65-74.
- 264. Gruneberg U, Neef R, Honda R et al. Relocation of aurora B from centromeres to the central spindle at the metaphase to anaphase transition requires MKlp2. J Cell Biol 2004; 166:167-172.
- 265. Cesario JM, Jang JK, Redding B et al. Kinesin 6 family member Subito participates in mitotic spindle assembly and interacts with mitotic regulators. J Cell Sci 2006; 119:4770-4780.
- 266. Hauf S, Cole RW, LaTerra S et al. The small molecule Hesperadin reveals a role for aurora B in correcting kinetochore-microtubule attachment and in maintaining the spindle assembly checkpoint. J Cell Biol 2003; 161:281-294.

- Guse A, Mishima M, Glotzer M. Phosphorylation of ZEN-4/MKLP1 by aurora B regulates completion of cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2005; 15:778-786.
- 268. Ban R, Irino Y, Fukami K et al. Human mitotic spindle-associated protein PRC1 inhibits MgcRacGAP activity toward Cdc42 during the metaphase. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:16394-16402.
- 269. Toure A, Mzali R, Liot C et al. Phosphoregulation of MgcRacGAP in mitosis involves Aurora B and Cdk1 protein kinases and the PP2A phosphatase. FEBS Lett 2008;582:1182-8.
- Yasui Y, Goto H, Matsui S et al. Protein kinases required for segregation of vimentin filaments in mitotic process. Oncogene 2001; 20:2868-2876.
- 271. Goto H, Yasui Y, Kawajiri A et al. Aurora-B regulates the cleavage furrow-specific vimentin phosphorylation in the cytokinetic process. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:8526-8530.
- 272. Goto H, Kosako H, Tanabe K et al. Phosphorylation of vimentin by Rho-associated kinase at a unique amino-terminal site that is specifically phosphorylated during cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:11728-11736.
- 273. Izawa I, Inagaki M. Regulatory mechanisms and functions of intermediate filaments: a study using site- and phosphorylation state-specific antibodies. Cancer Sci 2006; 97:167-174.
- 274. Zeitlin SG, Shelby RD, Sullivan KF. CENP-A is phosphorylated by Aurora B kinase and plays an unexpected role in completion of cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2001; 155:1147-1157.
- 275. Bloom K. NoCut: cytokinesis in check. Cell 2006; 125:17-18.
- Norden C, Mendoza M, Dobbelaere J et al. The NoCut pathway links completion of cytokinesis to spindle midzone function to prevent chromosome breakage. Cell 2006; 125:85-98.
- 277. Rosasco Nitcher SE, Lan W, Khorasanizadeh S et al. Centromeric Aurora-B activation requires TD-60, microtubules and substrate priming phosphorylation. Science 2008; 319:469-472.
- 278. Gruneberg U, Glotzer M, Gartner A et al. The CeCDC-14 phosphatase is required for cytokinesis in the Caenorhabditis elegans embryo. J Cell Biol 2002; 158:901-914.
- 279. Krasinska L, de Bettignies G, Fisher D et al. Regulation of multiple cell cycle events by Cdc14 homologues in vertebrates. Exp Cell Res 2007; 313:1225-1239.
- 280. Mailand N, Lukas C, Kaiser BK et al. Deregulated human Cdc14A phosphatase disrupts centrosome separation and chromosome segregation. Nat Cell Biol 2002; 4:317-322.
- Pereira G, Schiebel E. Separase regulates INCENP-Aurora B anaphase spindle function through Cdc14. Science 2003; 302:2120-2124.
- Sumara I, Quadroni M, Frei C et al. A Cul3-based E3 ligase removes aurora B from mitotic chromosomes, regulating mitotic progression and completion of cytokinesis in human cells. Dev Cell 2007; 12:887-900.
- Terada Y, Tatsuka M, Suzuki F et al. AIM-1: A mammalian midbody-associated protein required for cytokinesis. EMBO J 1998; 17:667-676.
- 284. Tatsuka M, Katayama H, Ota T et al. Multinuclearity and increased ploidy caused by overexpression of the aurora- and Ipl1-like midbody-associated protein mitotic kinase in human cancer cells. Cancer Res 1998; 58:4811-4816.
- 285. Katayama H, Ota T, Jisaki F et al. Mitotic kinase expression and colorectal cancer progression. J Natl Cancer Inst 1999; 91:1160-1162.
- 286. Chieffi P, Cozzolino L, Kisslinger A et al. Aurora B expression directly correlates with prostate cancer malignancy and influence prostate cell proliferation. Prostate 2006; 66:326-333.
- 287. Smith SL, Bowers NL, Betticher DC et al. Overexpression of aurora B kinase in primary nonsmall cell lung carcinoma is frequent, generally driven from one allele and correlates with the level of genetic instability. Br J Cancer 2005; 93:719-729.
- Vischioni B, Oudejans JJ, Vos W et al. Frequent overexpression of aurora B kinase, a novel drug target, in nonsmall cell lung carcinoma patients. Mol Cancer Ther 2006; 5:2905-2913.
- Araki K, Nozaki K, Ueba T et al. High expression of Aurora-B/Aurora and Ipll-like midbody-associated protein (AIM-1) in astrocytomas. J Neurooncol 2004; 67:53-64.
- 290. Chieffi P, Troncone G, Caleo A et al. Aurora B expression in normal testis and seminomas. J Endocrinol 2004; 181:263-270.
- 291. Sorrentino R, Libertini S, Pallante PL et al. Aurora B overexpression associates with the thyroid carcinoma undifferentiated phenotype and is required for thyroid carcinoma cell proliferation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90:928-935.
- 292. Kulkarni AA, Loddo M, Leo E et al. DNA replication licensing factors and aurora kinases are linked to aneuploidy and clinical outcome in epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res 2007; 13:6153-6161.
- 293. Giet R, Petretti C, Prigent C. Aurora kinases, aneuploidy and cancer, a coincidence or a real link? Trends Cell Biol 2005; 15:241-250.
- 294. Kasahara K, Nakayama Y, Nakazato Y et al. Src signaling regulates completion of abscission in cytokinesis through ERK/MAPK activation at the midbody. J Biol Chem 2007; 282:5327-5339.

- Campbell KS, Cooper S, Dessing M et al. Interaction of p59fyn kinase with the dynein light chain, Tctex-1
 and colocalization during cytokinesis. J Immunol 1998; 161:1728-1737.
- 296. Field SJ, Madson N, Kerr ML et al. PtdIns(4,5)P2 functions at the cleavage furrow during cytokinesis. Curr Biol 2005; 15:1407-1412.
- 297. Saul D, Fabian L, Forer A et al. Continuous phosphatidylinositol metabolism is required for cleavage of crane fly spermatocytes. J Cell Sci 2004; 117:3887-3896.
- Wong R, Hadjiyanni I, Wei HC et al. PIP2 hydrolysis and calcium release are required for cytokinesis in Drosophila spermatocytes. Curr Biol 2005; 15:1401-1406.
- 299. Emoto K, Kobayashi T, Yamaji A et al. Redistribution of phosphatidylethanolamine at the cleavage furrow of dividing cells during cytokinesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1996; 93:12867-12872.
- Emoto K, Umeda M. An essential role for a membrane lipid in cytokinesis. Regulation of contractile ring disassembly by redistribution of phosphatidylethanolamine. J Cell Biol 2000; 149:1215-1224.
- 301. Emoto K, Inadome H, Kanaho Y et al. Local change in phospholipid composition at the cleavage furrow is essential for completion of cytokinesis. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:37901-37907.
- Wilker EW, van Vugt M, Artim SA et al 14-3-3 sigma controls mitotic translation to facilitate cytokinesis. Nature 2007; 446:329-332.
- Prasanth SG, Prasanth KV, Stillman B. Orc6 involved in DNA replication, chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. Science 2002; 297:1026-1031.
- 304. Chesnokov IN, Chesnokova ON, Botchan M. A cytokinetic function of Drosophila ORC6 protein resides in a domain distinct from its replication activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2003; 100:9150-9155.
- 305. Patel KJ, Yu VP, Lee H et al. Involvement of Brca2 in DNA repair. Mol Cell 1998; 1:347-357.
- 306. Tutt A, Gabriel A, Bertwistle D et al. Absence of Brca2 causes genome instability by chromosome breakage and loss associated with centrosome amplification. Curr Biol 1999; 9:1107-1110.
- Daniels MJ, Wang Y, Lee M et al. Abnormal cytokinesis in cells deficient in the breast cancer susceptibility protein BRCA2. Science 2004; 306:876-879.
- 308. Lin HR, Ting NS, Qin J et al. M phase-specific phosphorylation of BRCA2 by Polo-like kinase 1 correlates with the dissociation of the BRCA2-P/CAF complex. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:35979-35987.
- 309. Meng X, Fan J, Shen Z. Roles of BCCIP in chromosome stability and cytokinesis. Oncogene 2007; 26:6253-6260.
- Smolka MB, Chen SH, Maddox PS et al. An FHA domain-mediated protein interaction network of Rad53 reveals its role in polarized cell growth. J Cell Biol 2006; 175:743-753.
- Schweitzer JK, D'Souza-Schorey C. A requirement for ARF6 during the completion of cytokinesis. Exp Cell Res 2005; 311:74-83.
- Jackson MW, Agarwal MK, Yang J et al. p130/p107/p105Rb-dependent transcriptional repression during DNA-damage-induced cell-cycle exit at G2. J Cell Sci 2005; 118:1821-1832.
- Date DA, Jacob CJ, Bekier ME et al. Borealin is repressed in response to p53/Rb signaling. Cell Biol Int 2007; 31:1470-1481.
- 314. Scoumanne A, Chen X. The epithelial cell transforming sequence 2, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Rho GTPases, is repressed by p53 via protein methyltransferases and is required for G1-S transition. Cancer Res 2006; 66:6271-6279.
- 315. Monaco L, Kolthur-Seetharam U, Loury R et al. Inhibition of Aurora-B kinase activity by poly (ADP-ribosyl)ation in response to DNA damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2005; 102:14244-14248.
- Schreiber V, Dantzer F, Ame JC et al. Poly(ADP-ribose): Novel functions for an old molecule. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006; 7:517-528.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M et al. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437:1043-1047.
- 318. Shimokawa H, Rashid M. Development of Rho-kinase inhibitors for cardiovascular medicine. Trends Pharm Sci 2007; 28:296-302.
- Carvajal RD, Tse A, Schwartz GK. Aurora kinases: New targets for cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res 2006; 12:6869-6875.

DNA Damage and Polyploidization

Jeremy P.H. Chow and Randy Y.C. Poon*

Abstract

growing body of evidence indicates that polyploidization triggers chromosomal instability and contributes to tumorigenesis. DNA damage is increasingly being recognized for its roles in promoting polyploidization. Although elegant mechanisms known as the DNA damage checkpoints are responsible for halting the cell cycle after DNA damage, agents that uncouple the checkpoints can induce unscheduled entry into mitosis. Likewise, defects of the checkpoints in several disorders permit mitotic entry even in the presence of DNA damage. Forcing cells with damaged DNA into mitosis causes severe chromosome segregation defects, including lagging chromosomes, chromosomal fragments and chromosomal bridges. The presence of these lesions in the cleavage plane is believed to abort cytokinesis. It is postulated that if cytokinesis failure is coupled with defects of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint pathway, cells can enter S phase and become polyploids. Progress in the past several years has unraveled some of the underlying principles of these pathways and underscored the important role of DNA damage in polyploidization. Furthermore, polyploidization per se may also be an important determinant of sensitivity to DNA damage, thereby may offer an opportunity for novel therapies.

Polyploidization and Cancer

Tumorigenesis is a multistep process that arises from the accumulation of genetic alterations. These genetic changes can come in the form of point mutations that deregulate oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes. On the other hand, drastic gains or losses of whole chromosomes or chromosomal fragments (aneuploidy) are also the norm in cancer. Whether mutation of specific genes or aneuploidy is more critical for tumorigenesis is very much a contentious issue (reviewed in ref. 1).

In one school of thought, which gains prominent shortly after the discovery of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes, states that these genetic modifications are the main driving force for tumorigenesis, with aneuploidy only as a byproduct of the process. In another school of thought, which origin can be traced to Theodor Boveri nearly 100 years ago, contests that aneuploidy might be a cause of tumorigenesis.² For example, weakening of the spindle-assembly checkpoint triggers chromosomal instability and aneuploidy, which appear to be an important stimulus in the initiation and progression of different cancers.^{3,4} It is likely that a combination of specific gene mutations and chromosomal instability cooperate to induce tumorigenesis (reviewed in ref. 5).

Polyploidization can initiate chromosomal instability and aneuploidy (reviewed in ref. 6). Tetraploid cells are commonly found in early stages of tumors. Notable examples include Barrett's

*Corresponding Author: Randy Y.C. Poon—Department of Biochemistry, Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Clear Water Bay, Hong Kong. Email: rycpoon@ust.hk. Home page: http://ihome.ust.hk/~rycpoon

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. esophagus⁷⁻¹⁰ and cervical carcinoma.¹¹ Several studies have provided evidence that tetraploidization increases chromosome instability in yeast^{12,13} and in mammalian cells.^{14,15} Moreover, tetraploidy may be an intermediate state in transformation. Cowell and Wigley (1980) found that during transformation of epithelial cells from mouse salivary glands, tetraploids are generated before undergoing a period of chromosome instability.¹⁴ Many viruses can induce tetraploidy via cell fusions. While a direct demonstration between viral-induced cell fusion and human cancer is not yet available, several lines of evidence from in vitro and animal models suggest a link of the two events (reviewed in ref. 16).

It is believed that extra number of chromosomes in tetraploids may provide a buffer for chromosome loss and DNA repair. Moreover, it is generally accepted that the multistep progression of cancer—including initiation, progression, heterogeneity and drug resistance—is a product of evolutionary processes.¹⁷ The extra set of chromosomes in tetraploids may act as a reservoir of genetic materials to allow clonal evolution of tumor. In this connection, parallels can be drawn with the role of whole genome duplication in evolution. Ohno (1970) proposed that whole genome duplication provides the primary source of redundant genes for new evolutionary opportunities.¹⁸ He advanced that two rounds of whole genome duplication by tetraploidization occurred during the evolution of vertebrates, with the first occurred in early chordates ~500 million years ago and the second occurred at the stage of fish or amphibian ~430 million years ago. Although the details of time and number of duplications have been debated over the years.¹⁹ it is generally accepted that polyploidization is able to promote adaptive evolutionary changes. Likewise, it is possible that tetraploidization also contributes to the evolution of cancer cells.

A seminal study by Fujiwara et al (2005) indicates that tetraploids can be generated by transient blocking of cytokinesis in p53-null mouse mammary epithelial cells. Importantly, tetraploidization promotes aneuploidy and tumorigenesis.¹⁵ The presence of p53 normally suppresses the generation of tetraploid cells, presumably by activating the intrinsic apoptotic pathway.²⁰ Another study reported that chromosome nondisjunction (both copies of a chromosome segregate to the same daughter cells) leads to binucleated tetraploids by promoting cleavage furrow regression; the tetraploid cells then become aneuploidy through further divisions.²¹ These and other studies provide strong evidence of the importance of tetraploidization as an early step in tumorigenesis.

How tetraploidization promotes chromosome instability remains incompletely understood. The extra centrosomes in tetraploids are likely to be critical determinants of chromosome instability (reviewed in ref. 22). Indeed, increased centrosome number is a common characteristic of several tumors. The cause of centrosome amplification in tumors is not known, but defects in the control of the centrosome replication cycle or cytokinesis are the likely underlying mechanisms (reviewed in ref. 23). Because centrosomes are microtubule organization centers, cells with supernumerary centrosomes form multipolar mitotic spindles and display other errors during chromosomal segregation. The uneven segregation of genetic materials into the daughter cells may result in different fates, including mitotic catastrophe, aneuploidy and transformation.

Although polyploid cells frequently contain multiple centrosomes, multipolar mitosis can be suppressed either by functional silencing of extra centrosomes or by centrosome clustering.²⁴⁻²⁸ Indeed, Ganem et al (2009) found that the fraction of cells undergoing multipolar mitosis is markedly less than that possessing extra centrosomes in a variety of cancer cell lines.²⁹ A genome-wide RNA interference screen in *Drosophila* S2 cells revealed that a variety of proteins, including those that organize microtubules at the spindle poles and components of the spindle-assembly checkpoint, are required for centrosome clustering.²⁶

Mechanisms of Polyploidization

Polyploidization may arise from diploid cells through a number of different mechanisms, including cell fusion, endoreduplication, mitotic slippage and cytokinesis failure. Before focusing on the role of DNA damage in polyploidization, we will first review the various mechanisms that can generate polyploid cells.

Multinucleated cells can be produced by fusion of different cells (called heterokaryon). Cell fusions are important in several physiological processes, including fertilization, development, immune system defense and tissue repair. Infections with many viruses can also induce cell fusions (reviewed in ref. 16). Enveloped viruses enter cells with the help of viral proteins that fuse biological membranes. A side effect of this mechanism is the ability of viruses to fuse different cells together. Cell fusions is believed to be important to cancer development and progression. Classic studies by Barski et al (1960) revealed that synkaryons (cells formed by fusion and subsequently display a single nucleus) formed in vitro could form tumor when implanted in mice.³⁰ Fusion of tumor cells with other cells in vivo has also been documented, for instance between human glioma cells with hamster cells³¹ and tumor cells with myeloid cells.³²

Tetraploid cells are also frequently generated after mitotic failure. Unscheduled exit from mitosis is normally prevented by the spindle-assembly checkpoint until all the kinetochores are properly attached to the spindles (reviewed in ref. 33). After prolonged activation of the spindle-assembly checkpoint, however, cells can exit mitosis precociously by a process termed mitotic slippage (also called adaptation).^{34,35} In cells that undergo mitotic slippage, CDK1 is inactivated and the cells enter G₁ phase without chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. The nuclear envelope then randomly reforms around groups of chromosomes, generating cells that contain tetraploid DNA contents and two centrosomes. Although the exact mechanism of mitotic slippage is not known, the central event seems to be a slow but continuous degradation of cyclin B1.³⁶

A p53-dependent "postmitotic checkpoint" is activated after mitotic slippage.³⁷ Activation of the p53-p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*} axis leads to the inhibition of CDK2 and delays S phase entry. The prolonged block in mitosis prior to slippage ensures the accumulation of p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*} before the synthesis of cyclin E-CDK2.³⁸ Other p53-independent mechanisms may also contribute to the postmitotic checkpoint. For example, expression of human papillomavirus E6 mutant that is defective in targeting p53 for degradation can partially induce polyploidy.³⁹ Proper function of the spindle-assembly checkpoint is also required for the postmitotic checkpoint. Vogel et al shows that spindle-assembly checkpoint-compromised HCT116 cells failed to arrest at the postmitotic checkpoint after nocodazole treatment.⁴⁰

In addition of mitotic slippage, a failure in cytokinesis after anaphase also produces binucleated tetraploid cells. Successful cytokinesis requires the complete clearance of chromatin from the cleavage plane. Conditions including chromosome nondisjunction²¹ and chromosomal bridge⁴¹ can severely delay cytokinesis and promote cleavage furrow regression and tetraploidization. Such chromosomal segregation defects have been estimated to occur at a remarkably high frequency of ~1% in dividing somatic cells and at even higher incidence in transformed cells.^{42,43}

A p53-dependent "tetraploidy checkpoint" has been proposed to prevent S phase entry in cells that have undergone mitotic slippage or aborted cytokinesis.⁴⁴ The checkpoint is believed to sense the increase in chromosome number and halt the cell in tetraploid G₁ state. However, the function of the tetraploidy checkpoint is contentious and its existence has been disputed.^{15,45,46} One possibility is that the p53-dependent arrest after tetraploidization is mainly due to DNA damage or centrosomal stress during the aberrant mitosis (reviewed in ref. 6). Indeed, DNA damage can be readily detected in cells undergoing prolonged mitotic arrest.^{47,48} Another possibility that has been proposed is that as transcription is turned off during mitosis, the lack of transcription during a protracted mitotic arrest can trigger subsequent stress and cell cycle arrest.⁴⁹ Irrespective of the precise signals that activate p53, cells with defective p53 pathway are expected to be prone to polyploidization following mitotic slippage or aborted cytokinesis.

While DNA reduplication is stringently prevented in the normal cell cycle, multiple rounds of genome reduplication, called endoreduplication, occur in cell types such as megakaryocytes and trophoblast giant cells. The mitotic CDK1 is typically inactivated to restrain mitosis during endoreduplication cycles. This has been observed in a wide range of endoreduplication cycles, including maize endosperm,⁵⁰ *Drosophila*⁵¹ and megakaryocytes.⁵² Likewise, extensive genome reduplication can be triggered by disruption of CDK1 expression in mammalian cells.⁵³ Although the molecular basis of how CDK1 inactivation contributes to genome reduplication remains to be defined, the prevailing view is that APC/C plays a salient role in preventing rereplication. Unscheduled activation of APC/C reduces the concentrations of mitotic cyclins and geminin, resulting in rereplication.^{54,55} To what extent does this pathway plays in the polyploidization of cancer cells remains to be deciphered. It is conceivable that DNA reduplication can occur in situations where CDK1 activity is inhibited for an extended period of time, such as after DNA damage. In fact, a connection between DNA damage and polyploidization, we will first review the current understanding of the DNA damage checkpoints in mammalian cells.

The DNA Damage Checkpoints

Surveillance mechanisms termed the DNA damage checkpoints prevent precocious entry into the cell cycle after DNA damage (Fig. 1). In essence, DNA damage activates sensors that facilitate the activation of the PI-3 (phosphoinositide 3-kinase)-related protein kinases ATM and ATR. ATM/ATR then activates CHK1 or CHK2, which in turn inactivates CDC25s (for the intra-S DNA damage checkpoint and the G₂ DNA damage checkpoint) or activates the p53-p21^{CIP1/WAF1} pathway (for the G₁ DNA damage checkpoint), culminating in the inhibitory phosphorylation of CDKs and a halt in cell cycle progression (reviewed in ref. 56).

Following exposure to ionizing radiation or other genotoxic insults that elicit DNA double-strand breaks, ATM is autophosphorylated at Ser1981, leading to dimer dissociation and



Figure 1. The DNA damage checkpoints. A simplified version of the major pathways of the DNA damage checkpoints is shown. Uncoupling the checkpoints promotes mitosis in the presence of DNA damage. See text for details.

activation of the kinase. ATR is activated by a broader spectrum of stress including ultraviolet irradiation, hypoxia and replication stress. ATM and ATR phosphorylate residues in the SQ/TQ domain of CHK1/CHK2, thereby stimulating the kinase activity of these effector kinases.

The upstream sensors that initiate the activation of ATM/ATR consist of an intricate network of large protein complexes, of which many components contain the BRCT domain. These include the RAD9-HUS1-RAD1 (9-1-1) clamp and the RAD17-RFC clamp loader that facilitate ATR-mediated activation of CHK1.⁵⁷ Another large complex that participates in ATM/ATR activation is the so-called BRCA1-associated genome surveillance complex composed of BRCA1, BLM and MRN (MRE11-RAD50-NBS1).58,59 Stalled replication forks mainly activate the ATR-CHK1 pathway. Replication fork progression can be impaired by insufficient nucleotide supply or lesions and obstacles on the DNA. Several proteins including ATRIP (ATR-interacting protein), TopBP1 and Claspin appear to be required for recruiting ATR to single-stranded DNA present at stalled replication forks to phosphorylate CHK1.⁶⁰ The ATR-CHK1 pathway is essential even in the absence of exogenous stresses during unperturbed S phase, probably for maintaining high rates of replication fork progression.⁶¹ Claspin is usually degraded by $SCF^{\beta-TrCP}$ -mediated ubiquitination following the phosphorylation of Claspin by PLK1. This pathway is inhibited after DNA damage.⁶² In response to genotoxic stress in G_2 phase, the phosphatase CDC14B translocates from the nucleolus to the nucleoplasm and activates APC/C^{CDH1}. This degrades PLK1 and consequently stabilizes Claspin, allowing the G₂ DNA damage checkpoint to be maintained.⁶³

Once the ATM/ATR-CHK1/CHK2 cascade is activated, the G_2 DNA damage checkpoint is believed to be carried out by the inactivation of all three isoforms of the CDC25 family (CDC25A, CDC25B and CDC25C) by CHK1 and CHK2.⁶⁴ Phosphorylation of CDC25C^{Ser216} by CHK1/CHK2 inactivates its phosphatase activity either directly or indirectly through the creation of a 14-3-3 binding site. Binding of 14-3-3 masks a proximal nuclear localization sequence and anchors CDC25C in the cytoplasm, preventing efficient access of CDC25C to cyclin B1-CDK1. Interestingly, phosphorylation of a proximal site (Ser214) by cyclin B1-CDK1 inhibits further phosphorylation of CDC25C^{Ser216}. This provides an elegant mechanistic explanation for the suppression of DNA damage-mediated CDC25C inactivation during mitosis.⁶⁵

CDC25B is believed to possess a unique role in activating cyclin B1-CDK1 at the centrosome. CHK1 may shield centrosomal cyclin B1-CDK1 from unscheduled activation by CDC25B during normal G_2 phase and presumably also during the G_2 DNA damage checkpoint. The molecular basis of this activity may be due to CHK1-dependent phosphorylation of CDC25B^{Ser323}, creating a docking site for 14-3-3 that prevents access of substrates to the catalytic site. Dissociation of CHK1 from the centrosomes at the end of G_2 phase, together with positive regulatory phosphorylation of CDC25B^{Ser353} by Aurora-A, enables CDC25B to activate the centrosomal cyclin B1-CDK1 and initiate mitosis.⁶⁶

CDC25A is arguably the most important member of the CDC25 family due to its nonredundant role in mouse cells. CDC25A is targeted for rapid degradation by CHK1/CHK2 through a ubiquitin-mediated mechanism. CDC25A stability is controlled by APC/C^{CDH1} complexes during mitotic exit and early G₁ and by SCF^{β-TrCP} complexes during interphase. Importantly, the SCF^{β-TrCP}-dependent turnover of CDC25A is enhanced in response to DNA damage. Phosphorylation of CDC25A^{Ser76} by CHK1 is required for the phosphorylation of a phosphodegron centered at Ser82 (by an as-yet-unidentified kinase), creating a binding site for β-TrCP. Interestingly, β-TrCP also binds to a separate nonphosphorylated sequence in CDC25A (the DDG motif) and plays a role in CHK1-induced ubiquitination and degradation of CDC25A.⁶⁶

There is also evidence that CHK1 can phosphorylate and activate WEE1 by promoting 14-3-3 binding.^{67,68} Suppression of CDC25s or activation of WEE1 promotes CDK1^{Thr14/Tyr15} phosphorylation, thus preventing damaged cells from entering mitosis. Other mechanisms are also known to play critical roles in the G₂ DNA damage checkpoint. For example, the p53

downstream target 14-3-30 is involved in sequestering cyclin B1-CDK1 in the cytoplasm after DNA damage.⁶⁹

Cells have also evolved checkpoints in S phase to prevent replication of damaged DNA. One of the better-understood S phase checkpoints is the intra-S DNA damage checkpoint, which is important for the responses to double strand breaks. A hallmark of the intra-S DNA damage checkpoint is that it slows down but does not stop DNA synthesis. In addition, there is no strong correlation between the sensitivity to DNA damage and the loss of the checkpoint.⁷⁰ For these reasons, it has been suggested that the intra-S DNA damage checkpoint may be involved in tolerating damage during replication rather than actually repairing the damage.⁷¹ The checkpoint affects two distinct processes: origin firing and the rate of replication folk progression. As a global response, origins distant from the site of DNA damaged are prevented from firing through checkpoint activation. The mechanism involves ATM/ ATR-dependent activation of CHK1/CHK2, which then phosphorylate CDC25A, leading to its rapid degradation. This prevents the dephosphorylation of CDK2^{Thr14/Tyr15} and inhibits S phase progression by preventing the loading of replication initiation protein CDC45 onto the origin.^{72,73,74}

Replication fork slowing may represent a more local response to DNA damage during S phase. The current paradigm states that two separate pathways downstream to ATM, namely CHK2 and MRN complexes, are required for folk slowing. Mutations in either pathway results in radioresistance DNA synthesis. However, activation of CHK2, degradation of CDC25A and inactivation of CDK2 occur normally in irradiated MRN complexes-defective cells.⁷⁴ Precisely how MRN complexes reduce the rate of replication folk progression is still unclear. One of the downstream effectors may be SMC1, which functions in the cohesion of sister chromatids following DNA replication and homologous recombination DNA repair.^{75,76} It has been shown that SMC1 is phosphorylated by ATM upon ionizing radiation-induced DNA damage, but the details of the mechanism await further clarification.⁷⁷

When cells suffer DNA damage during G_1 phase, it is critical for them to halt the entry into S phase until the DNA is repaired. It is well established that the G_1 DNA damage checkpoint involves the stabilization and activation of p53, which in turns transcriptionally activates the CDK inhibitor p21^{CIP1/MAF1}, leading to the inhibition of cyclin E-CDK2 complexes and G_1 arrest. The activity of p53 is highly regulated by posttranslational mechanisms including protein-protein interaction, acetylation, neddylation, phosphorylation, sumoylation and ubiquitination.⁷⁸ In unstressed cells, p53 is restrained by binding to MDM2, itself a transcriptional target of p53, in a negative feedback loop. MDM2 directly binds to the NH₂-terminal transactivation domain of p53 to inhibit its transcriptional activity and shuttles p53 out from the nucleus by the virtue of its nuclear exporting signal. In addition, MDM2 is also a ubiquitin ligase that targets p53 for ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis.

The crucial event in p53 activation and stabilization is the phosphorylation of the NH_2 -terminal residues by checkpoint-stimulated protein kinases. Upon DNA damage, ATM and ATR are activated and phosphorylate p53^{ser15}, which inhibits the interaction of p53 with MDM2, resulting in p53 stabilization.^{79,80} Apart from directly phosphorylating p53, ATM also induces p53^{ser20} phosphorylation indirectly via CHK1 and CHK2.⁸¹⁻⁸³

In addition to its well-known role in the G_1 DNA damage checkpoint, a growing body of evidence also indicates the importance of the p53-p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*} axis in the G_2 DNA damage checkpoint.⁸⁴ In a recent study, p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*} was found to downregulate EMI1.⁸⁵ Since EMI1 is an inhibitor of APC/C, it is possible that p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*} contributes to the maintenance of G_2 arrest by stimulating the degradation of the mitotic cyclins.

Polyploidization Induced by DNA Damage

It is vital to prevent the precocious activation of cyclins-CDKs to provide sufficient time for DNA repair. It is well known that bypass of the classic DNA damage checkpoint pathways described above promotes premature entry into mitosis. Checkpoint-uncoupled cells then undergo mitotic catastrophe, a special form of cell death during mitosis. For instance, cells lacking p53, p21^{*CIP1/WAF1*}, or 14-3-3 σ fail to arrest in G₂ after DNA damage and undergo mitotic catastrophe.^{69,84} However, a significant proportion of checkpoint-bypassed cells survive the aberrant mitosis. While these cells are able to enter and exit mitosis, they often fail to complete cytokinesis properly, giving rise to tetraploidy.^{84,86-88} In support of this, a population of polyploid cells can frequently be detected in malignant tumors.⁸⁹ Polyploid cells are also observed in colonies that survive after treatments with DNA damaging agents.^{90,91} The spindle-assembly checkpoint is required for mitotic catastrophe induced by abrogation of the DNA damage checkpoint,^{40,92} suggesting a trap in mitosis is required for these types of cell death. Thus a weakened spindle-assembly checkpoint may potentiate with the bypass of the DNA damage checkpoint to induce polyploidization.

How DNA damage leads to polyploidization is still not completely understood. A likely explanation is that mitosis occuring in the presence of damaged DNA generates either chromosome fragments or entire lagging chromosomes, leading to cytokinesis failure or cell fusion.⁸⁷ Indeed, it has been demonstrated that lagging chromosomes are able to promote cleavage furrow regression and tetraploidization.²¹ The frequent presence of micronucleus (which are formed from chromosome fragments and lagging chromosomes) in polyploid cells also reflects the role of chromosomes during repair of double strand breaks can lead to formation of chromosome bridges.⁹⁴ Aurora B appears to be part of a sensor that responds to unsegregated chromatin at the cleavage site.⁴¹

Uncoupling of the DNA damage checkpoint is thus a key event in polyploidization. In fact, the G_2 DNA damage checkpoint is partially impaired in many cancer cells.⁹⁵ They are unable to maintain G_2 arrest and eventually undergo aberrant mitosis.⁹⁶ Uncoupling of the ATM/ ATR-CHK1/CHK2 axis is well documented. Ablation of the G_2 DNA damage checkpoints induces unscheduled activation of cyclin B1-CDK1 and premature entry into mitosis.^{69,97,98} Cells that contain defective ATM, such as those derived from ataxia-telangiectasia, often exhibit radio-resistant DNA synthesis.⁹⁹ Likewise, IR-induced G_1 arrest is impaired in CHK2^{-/-} mouse embryonic fibroblasts.¹⁰⁰ Studies using conditional CHK1 knock-out mice also revealed that CHK1 deficiency causes inappropriate S phase entry, accumulation of DNA damage during replication and premature entry into mitosis.^{101,102} Since the ultimate effect of the ATM/ ATR-CHK1/CHK2 pathway is the inhibitory phosphorylation of CDK1, it is not surprising that expression of a nonphosphorylatable mutant of CDK1 can also trigger premature entry into mitosis.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴

Chemical agents that inhibit the ATM/ATR-CHK1/CHK2 pathway can induce checkpoint bypass and many are potential chemotherapeutic agents. Caffeine is a classic inhibitor of ATM/ATR.¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁷ The checkpoints can also be uncoupled with CHK1 inhibitors such as UCN-01.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ Inhibition of CHK1 with UCN-01 after DNA damage overcomes the DNA damage checkpoints, inducing premature activation of cyclin B1-CDK1 and mitotic catastrophe. However, UCN-01 is also a potent inhibitor of Protein Kinase C, CDKs, MK2, AKT (through inhibition of phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1) and other kinases. This promiscuous nature of UCN-01 makes defining its precise role difficult. In fact, the two kinases that can phosphorylate CDC25C^{Ser216}—C-TAK1 and CHK1—can both be inhibited by UCN-01.¹¹¹ Likewise, inhibition of CHK2 promotes premature entry of mitosis after DNA damage.¹¹²

Another possible mechanism that can promote polyploidization after DNA damage is due to the inhibition of CDK1. As CDK1 is turned off by inhibitory phosphorylation after DNA damage, it is possible that prolonged inhibition of CDK1 may induce endoreduplication cycles, similar to those in cells such as megakaryocytes (see above). However, there is little experimental support of this hypothesis at this stage.

Similarly, defects of the MRN complexes can also ablate the intra-S-phase DNA damage checkpoint and induce polyploidization. Nijmegen breakage syndrome is a rare autosomal

recessive disorder characterized by microcephaly, immunodeficiency and predisposition to hematopoietic malignancy, sharing a wide range of clinical features with ataxia telangiectasia. The disorder is caused by mutation of the *NBS1* gene, which encodes a member of the MRN complex. Hypomorphic mutations have also been found in MRE11.¹¹³ Complete inactivation of MRE11, RAD50, or NBS1 leads to early embryonic lethality in mice through accumulation of double strand breaks during development.¹¹⁴⁺¹¹⁶ Furthermore, cells derived from mice that lacking functional NBS1 share similar phenotype with ATM-defective cells, showing an impairment of the intra-S DNA damage checkpoint after ionizing radiation.¹¹⁷ Moreover, NBS1-deficient B lymphocytes show defective intra-S phase checkpoint, chromosomal translocation and tetraploid DNA content.¹¹⁸ Finally, it has been well known that simian virus 40 induces host endoreduplication by large T antigen.¹¹⁹ In fact, large T antigen interacts with NBS1 and disrupts the function of MRN complexes, leading to DNA rereplication and tetraploidization.¹²⁰

The Sensitivity of Polyploid Cells to DNA Damage

As described above, a growing body of evidence indicates that tetraploidization promotes chromosome instability and transformation. Nevertheless, tetraploidy appears to be a relatively more stable state than other aneuploidy.⁶ Artificially generated tetraploids can be maintained in culture for a long period without any obvious collapse of the ploidy.^{121,122} However, there is also evidence that polyploids are under more stress and are less robust than diploids. In budding yeast, diploids take over tetraploids in long-term culture.¹²³ Tetraploid yeasts are notably genetically unstable, with high levels of both chromosome loss and interhomolog recombination.¹³ Similarly, in chimeric mice produced from the combination of diploid and tetraploid cells, the tetraploid cells are out-competed and ultimately produces fetuses completely composed of diploid cells.¹²⁴ Mammalian tetraploid cells exhibit an increase in the basal expression of p53 and an enhanced rate of apoptosis.¹²¹ This may reflect an elevated level of stress in tetraploid cells. In budding yeasts, several genes involved in DNA repair are essential for the viability of polyploid cells (but not in diploids), suggesting that polyploidization may elevate the levels of DNA damage.¹³

Whether ploidy influences the responses to genotoxic stress remains incompletely understood. It is likely that the increase amount of DNA per cell may raise the chance of receiving damage. Given that tetraploid mouse mammary epithelial cells were more prone to transformation after exposure to a carcinogen than diploid cells,¹⁵ one possibility is that the increase in sensitivity to DNA-damaging agents in tetraploid cells may increase mutagenesis. This is supported by the findings that tetraploidization of Hep3B cells or human fibroblasts sensitizes cells to genotoxic stress inflicted by ionizing radiation and topoisomerase inhibitors.¹²² Tetraploid cells contain higher number of γ -H2AX foci after ionizing radiation than their diploid counterparts. However, results described by Castedo et al indicate that tetraploid HCT116 and RKO cells are more resistant to DNA damaging agents (camptothecin, cisplatin, oxaliplatin, gamma- and UVC-irradiation) than their diploid counterparts.^{121,125}

An additional factor that may affect the sensitivity of polyploid cells to genotoxic agents is the increase in cell volume. Ploidy is one of the key intrinsic factors that influence cell volume (reviewed in ref. 126,127). For instance, *Drosophila* polyploid salivary gland cells are more than 1,000 times larger than diploid cells and cells from tetraploid mice are about twice the size of those of diploid cells.¹²⁸ The increase in cell volume is believed to provide a metabolic growth advantage for polyploid cells.¹²⁹ It is possible that the increase in cell volume and surface area may allow polyploid cells to receive a higher dose of genotoxic agents.

Polyploidization and Cancer Therapies

Polyploidization can be a double-edged sword in cancer research. On the one hand, as we have discussed in detail above, aberrant polyploidization is believed to be a critical factor of tumorigenesis. Deciphering the mechanism of polyploidization will help us to understand the basis of tumorigenesis. On the other hand, polyploidization could be exploited as a strategy to induce cell death in cancer therapies.

For many types of potential therapeutic genotoxic agents, it is often not immediately obvious why they should selectively target cancer cells but spare normal cells.¹³⁰ Many effective anticancer agents are believed to take advantage of the severe imbalance of various cellular regulators and components in cancer cells. The obvious doubling of DNA and other cellular components in polyploid cells in relation to their diploid counterpart may offer an opportunity for designing novel therapeutic approaches.

If tetraploid cells are indeed more sensitive to DNA damage,¹²² an implication for chemotherapeutic intervention is that some cancer cells can be sensitized to genotoxic agents by a preceding step that induces polyploidization. This will probably be especially apt for cells that contain a weakened or defective spindle-assembly checkpoint. Treatment of cancer cells with spindle poisons can induce mitotic arrest and apoptosis. However, cells can also undergo mitotic slippage and enter a tetraploid G_1 state. If additional checkpoint is lacking (such as being p53 defective), tetraploid cells can further undergo DNA replication and become polyploids. Thus it may be of advantage in cancer therapy to first induce polyploidization before treatments with DNA-damaging agents. In this scenario, sequential rather than simultaneous treatment with spindle inhibitors and DNA damaging agents will be critical, as cells are sensitized to DNA damaging agents only after mitotic slippage.

Mitotic slippage can also be promoted with inhibitors of mitotic kinases such as CDK1.¹³¹ Mitotic slippage per se does not appear to be toxic, but a substantial portion of cells may be killed during the subsequent multipolar mitosis.¹³¹ CDKs themselves are important targets for cancer therapies. Several small chemical inhibitors (purine analogs such as flavopiridol, BMS-387032, E7070 and roscovitine) have shown preclinical and clinical anticancer activity. In particular, roscovitine (Seliciclib, CYC202 or Cyclacel) is a potent chemotherapeutic agent and has been tested in clinical trials for a variety of cancers.¹³² Hence it is possible that sequential treatment of a spindle poison followed by roscovitine and DNA damaging agents may prove effective against some cancers.

There are also other reports indicating that tetraploid cells are more resistant to DNA damaging agents.^{121,125} The presence of polyploid giant cells in cancers may also account for resistant to cancer therapy. Following DNA damage (in particular with relatively low dose of DNA damaging agents), many polyploid cells appear after an initial phase of mitotic catastrophe and survive for weeks as mono- or multi-nucleated giant cells.^{90,91} Whether these cells still retain proliferative potential is controversial. Although some studies indicate that giant cells have reduced or no proliferative potential,¹³³ other studies have shown that giant cells can undergo multipolar mitosis or de-polyploidization to return to near diploid state.¹³⁴ The latter studies suggest that the multistep process of escaping cell death through polyploidization and then depolyploidization may account for tumor relapse after initial efficient cancer therapy.

Conclusion

Several intricate DNA damage checkpoints ensure that cell cycle progression is delayed after DNA damage. Defects of the checkpoints in several disorders permits mitotic entry even in the presence of DNA damage. Likewise, aberrant entry into mitosis can be induced by chemicals that uncouple the checkpoints. Forcing cells with damaged DNA into mitosis causes severe chromosome segregation defects, including lagging chromosomes, chromosomal fragments and chromosomal bridges. The presence of these lesions in the cleavage plane is believed to abort cytokinesis. If this is coupled with defects of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint pathway, cells can enter S phase and become polyploids. Several lines of evidence indicate that polyploidization triggers chromosomal instability and contributes to tumorigenesis (Fig. 2). Other mechanisms, including the prolonged inhibition of CDK1 activity and defects of the intra-S checkpoint, may also provide a link between DNA damage and polyploidization. These recent advances raise several important issues that require further investigation. Outstanding issues include the need of more compelling evidence of the linkage between DNA damage and polyploidization, as well as a direct demonstration of the importance of polyploidization in human cancers.



Figure 2. Promotion of polyploidization and transformation by DNA damage. The DNA damage checkpoints delay cell cycle progression. After the damaged DNA is repaired, the checkpoints are inactivated and the cell cycle can proceed. If the checkpoints are bypassed, however, cells can enter mitosis containing damaged DNA. This results in chromosome segregation defects that include lagging chromosomes, chromosomal fragments and chromosomal bridges, thereby preventing the success completion of cytokinesis. These cells can become tetraploids if the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint is defective. Tetraploidization (possibly coupled with other mutations) triggers chromosomal instability and contributes to tumorigenesis.

Polyploidization of cancer cells may offer an opportunity for drug intervention. Different strategies that trigger mitotic arrest, mitotic slippage and DNA damage should be explored to see if they sensitize various types of cancer cells. More vigorous studies are also required to provide a comprehensive picture of whether polyploidization sensitizes cancer cells to DNA damaging therapeutic agents.

Acknowledgements

We apologize for those whose work that could not be cited due to space constraints. Related works in our laboratory are supported by Research Grants Council grant HKUST6439/06M to R.Y.C.P.

References

- 1. Duesberg P, Li R. Multistep carcinogenesis: a chain reaction of aneuploidizations. Cell Cycle 2003; 2(3):202-210.
- Boveri T. Concerning the Origin of Malignant Tumours by Theodor Boveri. Translated and annotated by Henry Harris. J Cell Sci 2008; 121(1):S1-S84.
- 3. Sotillo R, Hernando E, Diaz-Rodriguez E et al. Mad2 overexpression promotes aneuploidy and tumorigenesis in mice. Cancer Cell 2007; 11(1):9-23.
- Weaver BA, Silk AD, Montagna C et al. Aneuploidy acts both oncogenically and as a tumor suppressor. Sor. Cancer Cell 2007; 11(1):25-36.
- Woo RA, Poon RYC. Gene mutations and aneuploidy: the instability that causes cancer. Cell Cycle 2004; 3(9):1101-1103.
- 6. Storchova Z, Kuffer C. The consequences of tetraploidy and aneuploidy. J Cell Sci 2008; 121(Pt 23):3859-3866.
- 7. Barrett MT, Pritchard D, Palanca-Wessels C et al. Molecular phenotype of spontaneously arising 4N (G2-tetraploid) intermediates of neoplastic progression in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Res 2003; 63(14):4211-4217.

- Galipeau PC, Cowan DS, Sanchez CA et al. 17p (p53) allelic losses, 4N (G2/tetraploid) populations and progression to aneuploidy in Barrett's esophagus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93(14):7081-7084.
- 9. Maley CC. Multistage carcinogenesis in Barrett's esophagus. Cancer Lett 2007; 245(1-2):22-32.
- 10. Stiff T, O'Driscoll M, Rief N et al. ATM and DNA-PK function redundantly to phosphorylate H2AX after exposure to ionizing radiation. Cancer Res 2004; 64(7):2390-2396.
- Olaharski AJ, Sotelo R, Solorza-Luna G et al. Tetraploidy and chromosomal instability are early events during cervical carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 2006; 27(2):337-343.
- Mayer VW, Aguilera A. High levels of chromosome instability in polyploids of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mutat Res 1990; 231(2):177-186.
- Storchova Z, Breneman A, Cande J et al. Genome-wide genetic analysis of polyploidy in yeast. Nature 2006; 443(7111):541-547.
- 14. Cowell JK. Consistent chromosome abnormalities associated with mouse bladder epithelial cell lines transformed in vitro. J Natl Cancer Inst 1980; 65(5):955-961.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M et al. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437(7061):1043-1047.
- Duelli D, Lazebnik Y. Cell-to-cell fusion as a link between viruses and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2007; 7(12):968-976.
- 17. Nowell PC. The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations. Science 1976; 194(4260):23-28.
- 18. Ohno S. Evolution by gene duplication. New York, Springer-Verlag, 1970.
- 19. Furlong RF, Holland PW. Were vertebrates octoploid? Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 2002; 357(1420):531-544.
- Senovilla L, Vitale I, Galluzzi L et al. p53 represses the polyploidization of primary mammary epithelial cells by activating apoptosis. Cell Cycle 2009; 8(9):1380-1385.
- Shi Q, King RW. Chromosome nondisjunction yields tetraploid rather than aneuploid cells in human cell lines. Nature 2005; 437(7061):1038-1042.
- Nigg EA. Centrosome aberrations: cause or consequence of cancer progression? Nat Rev Cancer 2002; 2(11):815-825.
- 23. Gergely F, Basto R. Multiple centrosomes: together they stand, divided they fall. Genes Dev 2008; 22(17):2291-2296.
- Basto R, Brunk K, Vinadogrova T et al. Centrosome amplification can initiate tumorigenesis in flies. Cell 2008; 133(6):1032-1042.
- Borel F, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Multiple centrosomes arise from tetraploidy checkpoint failure and mitotic centrosome clusters in p53 and RB pocket protein-compromised cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99(15):9819-9824.
- Kwon M, Godinho SA, Chandhok NS et al. Mechanisms to suppress multipolar divisions in cancer cells with extra centrosomes. Genes Dev 2008; 22(16):2189-2203.
- Quintyne NJ, Reing JE, Hoffelder DR et al. Spindle multipolarity is prevented by centrosomal clustering. Science 2005; 307(5706):127-129.
- Yang Z, Loncarek J, Khodjakov A et al. Extra centrosomes and/or chromosomes prolong mitosis in human cells. Nat Cell Biol 2008; 10(6):748-751.
- Ganem NJ, Godinho SA, Pellman D. A mechanism linking extra centrosomes to chromosomal instability. Nature 2009; 460(7252):278-282.
- Barski G, Sorieul S, Cornefert F. [Production of cells of a "hybrid" nature in culturs in vitro of 2 cellular strains in combination.]. C R Hebd Seances Acad Sci 1960; 251:1825-1827.
- Goldenberg DM, Pavia RA, Tsao MC. In vivo hybridisation of human tumour and normal hamster cells. Nature 1974; 250(5468):649-651.
- 32. Pawelek JM. Tumour-cell fusion as a source of myeloid traits in cancer. Lancet Oncol 2005; 6(12):988-993.
- Musacchio A, Salmon ED. The spindle-assembly checkpoint in space and time. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007; 8(5):379-393.
- Rieder CL, Maiato H. Stuck in division or passing through: what happens when cells cannot satisfy the spindle assembly checkpoint. Dev Cell 2004; 7(5):637-651.
- 35. Weaver BA, Cleveland DW. Decoding the links between mitosis, cancer and chemotherapy: The mitotic checkpoint, adaptation and cell death. Cancer Cell 2005; 8(1):7-12.
- Brito DA, Rieder CL. Mitotic checkpoint slippage in humans occurs via cyclin B destruction in the presence of an active checkpoint. Curr Biol 2006; 16(12):1194-1200.
- Lanni JS, Jacks T. Characterization of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint following spindle disruption. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18(2):1055-1064.

- 38. Chan YW, On KF, Chan WM et al. The kinetics of p53 activation versus cyclin E accumulation underlies the relationship between the spindle-assembly checkpoint and the postmitotic checkpoint. J Biol Chem 2008; 283(231):15716-15723.
- 39. Liu Y, Heilman SA, Illanes D et al. p53-independent abrogation of a postmitotic checkpoint contributes to human papillomavirus E6-induced polyploidy. Cancer Res 2007; 67(6):2603-2610.
- 40. Vogel C, Kienitz A, Hofmann I et al. Crosstalk of the mitotic spindle assembly checkpoint with p53 to prevent polyploidy. Oncogene 2004; 23(41):6845-6853.
- Steigemann P, Wurzenberger C, Schmitz MH et al. Aurora B-mediated abscission checkpoint protects against tetraploidization. Cell 2009; 136(3):473-484.
- 42. Cimini D, Mattiuzzo M, Torosantucci L et al. Histone hyperacetylation in mitosis prevents sister chromatid separation and produces chromosome segregation defects. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14(9):3821-3833.
- Gisselsson D, Pettersson L, Hoglund M et al. Chromosomal breakage-fusion-bridge events cause genetic intratumor heterogeneity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97(10):5357-5362.
- 44. Andreassen PR, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Tetraploid state induces p53-dependent arrest of nontransformed mammalian cells in G1. Mol Biol Cell 2001; 12(5):1315-1328.
- 45. Uetake Y, Loncarek J, Nordberg JJ et al. Cell cycle progression and de novo centriole assembly after centrosomal removal in untransformed human cells. J Cell Biol 2007; 176(2):173-182.
- 46. Wong C, Stearns T. Mammalian cells lack checkpoints for tetraploidy, aberrant centrosome number and cytokinesis failure. BMC Cell Biol 2005; 6(1):6.
- Dalton WB, Nandan MO, Moore RT et al. Human cancer cells commonly acquire DNA damage during mitotic arrest. Cancer Res 2007; 67(24):11487-11492.
- 48. Quignon F, Rozier L, Lachages AM et al. Sustained mitotic block elicits DNA breaks: one-step alteration of ploidy and chromosome integrity in mammalian cells. Oncogene 2007; 26(2):165-172.
- 49. Blagosklonny MV. Prolonged mitosis versus tetraploid checkpoint: how p53 measures the duration of mitosis. Cell Cycle 2006; 5(9):971-975.
- Grafi G, Larkins BA. Endoreduplication in Maize Endosperm: Involvement of M Phase—Promoting Factor Inhibition and Induction of S Phase—Related Kinases. Science 1995; 269(5228):1262-1264.
- 51. Sigrist SJ, Lehner CF. Drosophila fizzy-related down-regulates mitotic cyclins and is required for cell proliferation arrest and entry into endocycles. Cell 1997; 90(4):671-681.
- 52. Zhang Y, Wang Z, Liu DX et al. Ubiquitin-dependent degradation of cyclin B is accelerated in polyploid megakaryocytes. J Biol Chem 1998; 273(3):1387-1392.
- 53. Itzhaki JE, Gilbert CS, Porter AC. Construction by gene targeting in human cells of a "conditional" CDC2 mutant that rereplicates its DNA. Nat Genet 1997; 15(3):258-265.
- 54. Di Fiore B, Pines J. Emil is needed to couple DNA replication with mitosis but does not regulate activation of the mitotic APC/C. J Cell Biol 2007; 177(3):425-437.
- 55. Machida YJ, Dutta A. The APC/C inhibitor, Emi1, is essential for prevention of rereplication. Genes Dev 2007; 21(2):184-194.
- 56. Woo RA, Poon RY. Cyclin-dependent kinases and S phase control in mammalian cells. Cell Cycle 2003; 2(4):316-324.
- 57. Parrilla-Castellar ER, Arlander SJ, Karnitz L. Dial 9-1-1 for DNA damage: the Rad9-Hus1-Rad1 (9-1-1) clamp complex. DNA Repair (Amst) 2004; 3(8-9):1009-1014.
- 58. Jhanwar-Uniyal M. BRCA1 in cancer, cell cycle and genomic stability. Front Biosci 2003; 8:s1107-17.
- 59. Wang Y, Cortez D, Yazdi P et al. BASC, a super complex of BRCA1-associated proteins involved in the recognition and repair of aberrant DNA structures. Genes Dev 2000; 14(8):927-939.
- 60. Cimprich KA, Cortez D. ATR: an essential regulator of genome integrity. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008; 9(8):616-627.
- 61. Petermann E, Caldecott KW. Evidence that the ATR/Chk1 pathway maintains normal replication fork progression during unperturbed S phase. Cell Cycle 2006; 5(19):2203-2209.
- 62. Freire R, van Vugt MA, Mamely I et al. Claspin: timing the cell cycle arrest when the genome is damaged. Cell Cycle 2006; 5(24):2831-2834.
- 63. Bassermann F, Frescas D, Guardavaccaro D et al. The Cdc14B-Cdh1-Plk1 axis controls the G2 DNA-damage-response checkpoint. Cell 2008; 134(2):256-267.
- 64. Boutros R, Dozier C, Ducommun B. The when and wheres of CDC25 phosphatases. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2006; 18(2):185-191.
- 65. Chen Y, Poon RY. The multiple checkpoint functions of CHK1 and CHK2 in maintenance of genome stability. Front Biosci 2008; 13:5016-5029.
- 66. Boutros R, Lobjois V, Ducommun B. CDC25 phosphatases in cancer cells: key players? Good targets? Nat Rev Cancer 2007; 7(7):495-507.

- Lee J, Kumagai A, Dunphy WG. Positive regulation of Wee1 by Chk1 and 14-3-3 proteins. Mol Biol Cell 2001; 12(3):551-563.
- Rothblum-Oviatt CJ, Ryan CE, Piwnica-Worms H. 14-3-3 binding regulates catalytic activity of human Weel kinase. Cell Growth Differ 2001; 12(12):581-589.
- 69. Chan TA, Hermeking H, Lengauer C et al. 14-3-3Sigma is required to prevent mitotic catastrophe after DNA damage. Nature 1999; 401(6753):616-620.
- Zdzienicka MZ. Mammalian X ray sensitive mutants: a tool for the elucidation of the cellular response to ionizing radiation. Cancer Surv 1996; 28:281-293.
- 71. Rhind N, Russell P. Checkpoints: it takes more than time to heal some wounds. Curr Biol 2000; 10(24):R908-11.
- Falck J, Mailand N, Syljuasen RG et al. The ATM-Chk2-Cdc25A checkpoint pathway guards against radioresistant DNA synthesis. Nature 2001; 410(6830):842-847.
- Sorensen CS, Syljuasen RG, Falck J et al. Chk1 regulates the S phase checkpoint by coupling the physiological turnover and ionizing radiation-induced accelerated proteolysis of Cdc25A. Cancer Cell 2003; 3(3):247-258.
- 74. Falck J, Petrini JH, Williams BR et al. The DNA damage-dependent intra-S phase checkpoint is regulated by parallel pathways. Nat Genet 2002; 30(3):290-294.
- 75. Jessberger R, Riwar B, Baechtold H et al. SMC proteins constitute two subunits of the mammalian recombination complex RC-1. EMBO J 1996; 15(15):4061-4068.
- Michaelis C, Ciosk R, Nasmyth K. Cohesins: chromosomal proteins that prevent premature separation of sister chromatids. Cell 1997; 91(1):35-45.
- Kim ST, Xu B, Kastan MB. Involvement of the cohesin protein, Smc1, in Atm-dependent and independent responses to DNA damage. Genes Dev 2002; 16(5):560-570.
- Levine AJ, Hu W, Feng Z. The P53 pathway: what questions remain to be explored? Cell Death Differ 2006; 13(6):1027-1036.
- 79. Chehab NH, Malikzay A, Stavridi ES et al. Phosphorylation of Ser-20 mediates stabilization of human p53 in response to DNA damage. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96(24):13777-13782.
- Shieh SY, Ikeda M, Taya Y et al. DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. Cell 1997; 91(3):325-334.
- Chehab NH, Malikzay A, Appel M et al. Chk2/hCds1 functions as a DNA damage checkpoint in G(1) by stabilizing p53. Genes Dev 2000; 14(3):278-288.
- Hirao A, Kong YY, Matsuoka S et al. DNA damage-induced activation of p53 by the checkpoint kinase Chk2. Science 2000; 287(5459):1824-1827.
- 83. Shieh SY, Ahn J, Tamai K et al. The human homologs of checkpoint kinases Chk1 and Cds1 (Chk2) phosphorylate p53 at multiple DNA damage-inducible sites. Genes Dev 2000; 14(3):289-300.
- Bunz F, Dutriaux A, Lengauer C et al. Requirement for p53 and p21 to sustain G2 arrest after DNA damage. Science 1998; 282(5393):1497-1501.
- 85. Lee J, Kim JA, Barbier V et al. DNA damage triggers p21WAF1-dependent Emi1 down-regulation that maintains G2 arrest. Mol Biol Cell 2009; 20(7):1891-1902.
- 86. Andreassen PR, Lacroix FB, Lohez OD et al. Neither p21WAF1 nor 14-3-3sigma prevents G2 progression to mitotic catastrophe in human colon carcinoma cells after DNA damage, but p21WAF1 induces stable G1 arrest in resulting tetraploid cells. Cancer Res 2001; 61(20):7660-7668.
- Chu K, Teele N, Dewey MW et al. Computerized video time lapse study of cell cycle delay and arrest, mitotic catastrophe, apoptosis and clonogenic survival in irradiated 14-3-3sigma and CDKN1A (p21) knockout cell lines. Radiat Res 2004; 162(3):270-286.
- Ivanov A, Cragg MS, Erenpreisa J et al. Endopolyploid cells produced after severe genotoxic damage have the potential to repair DNA double strand breaks. J Cell Sci 2003; 116(Pt 20):4095-4106.
- Bohm N, Sandritter W. DNA in human tumors: a cytophotometric study. Curr Top Pathol 1975; 60:151-219.
- Blagosklonny MV. Drug-resistance enables selective killing of resistant leukemia cells: exploiting of drug resistance instead of reversal. Leukemia 1999; 13(12):2031-2035.
- Puig PE, Guilly MN, Bouchot A et al. Tumor cells can escape DNA-damaging cisplatin through DNA endoreduplication and reversible polyploidy. Cell Biol Int 2008; 32(9):1031-1043.
- Nitta M, Kobayashi O, Honda S et al. Spindle checkpoint function is required for mitotic catastrophe induced by DNA-damaging agents. Oncogene 2004; 23(39):6548-6558.
- Decordier I, Kirsch-Volders M. The in vitro micronucleus test: from past to future. Mutat Res 2006; 607(1):2-4.
- Acilan C, Potter DM, Saunders WS. DNA repair pathways involved in anaphase bridge formation. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 2007; 46(6):522-531.
- Fingert HJ, Chang JD, Pardee AB. Cytotoxic, cell cycle and chromosomal effects of methylxanthines in human tumor cells treated with alkylating agents. Cancer Res 1986; 46(5):2463-2467.

- Chang BD, Broude EV, Fang J et al. p21Waf1/Cip1/Sdi1-induced growth arrest is associated with depletion of mitosis-control proteins and leads to abnormal mitosis and endoreduplication in recovering cells. Oncogene 2000; 19(17):2165-2170.
- 97. Castedo M, Perfettini JL, Roumier T et al. Cell death by mitotic catastrophe: a molecular definition. Oncogene 2004; 23(16):2825-2837.
- 98. Vogel C, Hager C, Bastians H. Mechanisms of mitotic cell death induced by chemotherapy-mediated G2 checkpoint abrogation. Cancer Res 2007; 67(1):339-345.
- 99. Lavin MF, Khanna KK. ATM: the protein encoded by the gene mutated in the radiosensitive syndrome ataxia-telangiectasia. Int J Radiat Biol 1999; 75(10):1201-1214.
- Takai H, Naka K, Okada Y et al. Chk2-deficient mice exhibit radioresistance and defective p53-mediated transcription. EMBO J 2002; 21(19):5195-5205.
- 101. Lam MH, Liu Q, Elledge SJ et al. Chk1 is haploinsufficient for multiple functions critical to tumor suppression. Cancer Cell 2004; 6(1):45-59.
- 102. Niida H, Tsuge S, Katsuno Y et al. Depletion of Chk1 leads to premature activation of Cdc2-cyclin B and mitotic catastrophe. J Biol Chem 2005; 280(47):39246-39252.
- 103. Blasina A, Paegle ES, McGowan CH. The role of inhibitory phosphorylation of CDC2 following DNA replication block and radiation-induced damage in human cells. Mol Biol Cell 1997; 8(6):1013-1023.
- 104. Chow JPH, Siu WY, Ho HTB et al. Differential contribution of inhibitory phosphorylation of CDC2 and CDK2 for unperturbed cell cycle control and DNA integrity checkpoints. J Biol Chem 2003; 278(42):40815-40828.
- 105. Blasina A, Price BD, Turenne GA et al. Caffeine inhibits the checkpoint kinase ATM. Curr Biol 1999; 9(19):1135-1138.
- 106. Hall-Jackson CA, Cross DA, Morrice N et al. ATR is a caffeine-sensitive, DNA-activated protein kinase with a substrate specificity distinct from DNA-PK. Oncogene 1999; 18(48):6707-6713.
- 107. Sarkaria JN, Busby EC, Tibbetts RS et al. Inhibition of ATM and ATR kinase activities by the radiosensitizing agent, caffeine. Cancer Res 1999; 59(17):4375-4382.
- 108. Wang Q, Fan S, Eastman A et al. UCN-01: a potent abrogator of G2 checkpoint function in cancer cells with disrupted p53. J Natl Cancer Inst 1996; 88(14):956-965.
- 109. Graves PR, Yu L, Schwarz JK et al. The Chk1 protein kinase and the Cdc25C regulatory pathways are targets of the anticancer agent UCN-01. J Biol Chem 2000; 275(8):5600-5605.
- 110. Tse AN, Schwartz GK. Potentiation of cytotoxicity of topoisomerase i poison by concurrent and sequential treatment with the checkpoint inhibitor UCN-01 involves disparate mechanisms resulting in either p53-independent clonogenic suppression or p53-dependent mitotic catastrophe. Cancer Res 2004; 64(18):6635-6644.
- 111. Busby EC, Leistritz DF, Abraham RT et al. The radiosensitizing agent 7-hydroxystaurosporine (UCN-01) inhibits the DNA damage checkpoint kinase hChk1. Cancer Res 2000; 60(8):2108-2112.
- 112. Castedo M, Perfettini JL, Roumier T et al. The cell cycle checkpoint kinase Chk2 is a negative regulator of mitotic catastrophe. Oncogene 2004; 23(25):4353-4361.
- Carney JP, Maser RS, Olivares H et al. The hMre11/hRad50 protein complex and Nijmegen breakage syndrome: linkage of double-strand break repair to the cellular DNA damage response. Cell 1998; 93(3):477-486.
- 114. Luo G, Yao MS, Bender CF et al. Disruption of mRad50 causes embryonic stem cell lethality, abnormal embryonic development and sensitivity to ionizing radiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96(13):7376-7381.
- 115. Xiao Y, Weaver DT. Conditional gene targeted deletion by Cre recombinase demonstrates the requirement for the double-strand break repair Mre11 protein in murine embryonic stem cells. Nucleic Acids Res 1997; 25(15):2985-2991.
- 116. Zhu J, Petersen S, Tessarollo L et al. Targeted disruption of the Nijmegen breakage syndrome gene NBS1 leads to early embryonic lethality in mice. Curr Biol 2001; 11(2):105-109.
- 117. Williams BR, Mirzoeva OK, Morgan WF et al. A murine model of Nijmegen breakage syndrome. Curr Biol 2002; 12(8):648-653.
- Reina-San-Martin B, Nussenzweig MC, Nussenzweig A et al. Genomic instability, endoreduplication and diminished Ig class-switch recombination in B cells lacking Nbs1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005; 102(5):1590-1595.
- 119. Perry MB, Lehman JM. Activities of SV40 T antigen necessary for the induction of tetraploid DNA content in permissive CV-1 cells. Cytometry 1998; 31(4):251-259.
- 120. Wu X, Avni D, Chiba T et al. SV40 T antigen interacts with Nbs1 to disrupt DNA replication control. Genes Dev 2004; 18(11):1305-1316.
- 121. Castedo M, Coquelle A, Vivet S et al. Apoptosis regulation in tetraploid cancer cells. EMBO J 2006; 25(11):2584-2595.

- Hau PM, Siu WY, Wong N et al. Polyploidization increases the sensitivity to DNA-damaging agents in mammalian cells. FEBS Lett 2006; 580(19):4727-4736.
- 123. Mable BK, Otto SP. Masking and purging mutations following EMS treatment in haploid, diploid and tetraploid yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae). Genet Res 2001; 77(1):9-26.
- 124. Nagy A, Gocza E, Diaz EM et al. Embryonic stem cells alone are able to support fetal development in the mouse. Development 1990; 110(3):815-821.
- 125. Castedo M, Coquelle A, Vitale I et al. Selective resistance of tetraploid cancer cells against DNA damage-induced apoptosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006; 1090:35-49.
- 126. Gregory TR. Coincidence, coevolution, or causation? DNA content, cell size and the C-value enigma. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 2001; 76(1):65-101.
- 127. Nurse P. The genetic control of cell volume. In: Cavalier-Smith T, ed. The Evolution of Genome Size. Hoboken: John Wiley and Sons, 1985:185-196.
- 128. Henery CC, Bard JB, Kaufman MH. Tetraploidy in mice, embryonic cell number and the grain of the developmental map. Dev Biol 1992; 152(2):233-241.
- 129. Comai L. The advantages and disadvantages of being polyploid. Nat Rev Genet 2005; 6(11):836-846.
- 130. Hunt T. You never know: Cdk inhibitors as anti-cancer drugs. Cell Cycle 2008; 7(24):3789-3790.
- 131. Chan YW, Ma HT, Wong W et al. CDK1 inhibitors antagonize the immediate apoptosis triggered by spindle disruption but promote apoptosis following the subsequent rereplication and abnormal mitosis. Cell Cycle 2008; 7(10):1449-1461.
- 132. Fischer PM, Gianella-Borradori A. Recent progress in the discovery and development of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2005; 14(4):457-477.
- Therman E, Kuhn EM. Mitotic modifications and aberrations in cancer. Crit Rev Oncog 1989; 1(3):293-305.
- 134. Erenpreisa J, Cragg MS. Mitotic death: a mechanism of survival? A review. Cancer Cell Int 2001; 1(1):1.

CHAPTER 5

Role of the p53 Family in Stabilizing the Genome and Preventing Polyploidization

Flaminia Talos and Ute M. Moll*

Abstract

ellular defects resulting in chromosomal instability and aneuploidy are the most common features of human cancers. As a major tumor suppressor and intrinsic part of several cellular checkpoints, p53 contributes to maintenance of the stability of the genetic material, both in quality (ensures faithful replication) and quantity (preservation of diploidy). Although the exact trigger of p53 in case of numerical chromosomal aberrations is unknown, the absence of p53 allows polyploid cells to proliferate and generate unstable aneuploid progeny. A more recent addition to the p53 family, p73, emerged as an important contributor to genomic integrity when p53 is inactivated. p73 loss in p53-null background leads to a rapid increase in polyploidy and aneuploidy, markedly exceeding that caused by p53 loss alone. Constitutive deregulation of Cyclin-Cdk and p27/Kip1 activities and excess failure of the G2/M DNA damage checkpoint are important deficiencies associated with p73 loss.

p53—Tumor Suppressor

The p53 tumor suppressor gene encodes a multi-functional protein involved in the comprehensive control of cellular responses to genotoxic stress.^{1,2} Its tumor suppressor effects are mediated by a variety of mechanisms including cell cycle arrest, apoptosis and cellular senescence that prevent cells with damaged DNA to pass on their genomes to progeny.³ In unstressed cells, p53 is maintained at very low levels, but it becomes rapidly stabilized and activated in conditions of genotoxic stress. In the absence of p53, cells with damaged DNA fail to properly respond to DNA damage checkpoints but instead continue to proliferate, which results in random mutations, gene amplifications, chromosomal re-arrangements and aneuploidy. This is frequently associated with tumorigenesis. Consequently, p53 is functionally inactivated in more than half of human cancers ranging from carcinomas, sarcomas and lymphomas.^{4,8} Moreover, alterations of the p53 gene occur not only as acquired somatic mutations in human cancers but also as germline mutations in patients with the cancer-prone Li-Fraumeni syndrome.⁹⁻¹¹

The importance of p53 in tumor suppression was confirmed by animal models. p53 knock-out mice are highly prone to spontaneous tumor formation (T-cells lymphomas and fibrosarcomas).¹² Moreover, a single dose of 4 Gy γ -irradiation dramatically decreases the latency for tumor development in p53^{+/-} heterozygous mice.¹³ Cells derived from p53^{-/-} null mice show signs of spontaneous genomic instability. For instance, mouse normal embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) and pancreatic cells obtained from p53^{-/-} mice exhibit a high degree of aneuploidy.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Murine models also proved

*Corresponding Author: Ute M. Moll—Department of Pathology, Health Science Center, State University of New York at Stony Brook, Stony Brook, New York 11794. Email: umoll@notes.cc.sunysb.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. that p53 loss synergizes with (proto)oncogenes (such as Myc, Ras, Wnt-1) in accelerating tumor formation.¹⁷⁻²¹

Analysis of human tumors revealed that the p53 gene is mainly targeted by missense mutations, which generate abnormally stabilized protein, while complete gene deletions are relatively rare.²² Recent advances in clarifying the role of p53 hotspot mutants (i.e., which recur over and over in many patients) in a physiological context were offered by two knock-in mice that harbor the structural mutant p53R172H and the contact mutant p53R270H (corresponding to codons 175 and 273 in humans). p53R270H/+ and p53R172H/+ mice model the Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Of note, they developed allele-specific tumor spectra that were distinct from p53^{-/+} mice. Moreover, p53R270H/- and p53R172H/- mice again developed a different tumor spectrum compared to p53^{-/-} mice, including more frequent carcinomas and endothelial tumors. These results demonstrate that missense mutant p53 alleles expressed under physiological control have enhanced oncogenic potential (gain-of-function) that goes beyond the simple loss-of-function of p53 null alleles.²² As the underlying mechanism it was suggested that p73 and p63 protective functions are concomitantly disabled by binding to the missense mutant p53 protein.^{22,23}

p53 and Genomic Stability

p53 and Cell Cycle Checkpoints

p53 is one of the main effectors of cell cycle checkpoints. However, the precise mechanisms of its actions are still controversial. Clearly, p53 mediates G1 arrest in response to DNA damage, thus preventing DNA synthesis from damaged templates.²⁴ Apart from this, p53 is involved in regulating the cell cycle at transitions of G1/S and G2/M and within S-phase.²⁵⁻²⁷ Evidence for a possible role of p53 in M-phase came from observations that p53 contributes to the control of centrosome duplication^{28,29} and to the prevention of DNA rereplication when chromosome segregation is impaired by spindle inhibitors.^{28,29} The various cell cycle checkpoints and a simplified view of p53 contribution to them are summarized below:

G1/S Checkpoint

Blocks replication of damaged DNA (e.g., if the nucleotide pool is inadequate for genome duplication^{30,31} or under drugs that produce DNA damage).

p53 Model

DNA double-strand breaks activate ATM. ATM phosphorylates downstream effectors, either directly or through its immediate target Chk2. Phosphorylated histone H2AX (γ H2AX) marks the chromatin site of the actual damage. p53 can be phosphorylated either by ATM or indirectly by Chk2. This contributes to p53's stabilization and activation. Through its transcriptional targets (such as cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21) p53 delays cycle progression.³²⁻³⁴

Intra-S Phase Checkpoint

Stops DNA synthesis if the damage occurs in S-phase or cells with damaged DNA slipped through a G1/S block.

p53 Model

Intrinsic events or genotoxic stress (e.g., hydroxyurea and UV) during S-phase activate a checkpoint that prevents the progression of replication forks. The main player in this checkpoint is ATR. ATR phosphorylates and activates Chk1, γ H2AX and BLM helicase. p53 becomes activated by ATR or Chk1 and transported by BLM to sites of stalled replication forks. Through direct interactions with components of the replication machinery and through activation of target genes, p53 is able to slow down replication.³⁴⁻³⁷ p53-proficient cells show a lower level of double strand breaks (DSB), while in the absence of p53, ssDNA regions associated with stalled replication forks turn into DSB and generate major chromosomal abnormalities.³⁸

G2/M Checkpoint

Employed when cells containing wrongly replicated (under- or overreplicated) DNA exit S-phase. The G2/M restriction point prevents mitosis of such cells. Loosening the G2/M checkpoint is one of the hallmarks of malignant transformation. This checkpoint is the "last barrier" prior to mitotic division that can block the perpetuation of mutations or an unstable genome.³⁹ The G2/M transition is under very strict control and integrates multiple pathways that are p53 dependent and independent.

p53 Model

It is thought that p53 is able to block cells in G2 via indirect inactivation of CDK1. Gadd45, p21 and 14-3-3 σ , all p53 transcriptional targets, are able to inhibit CDK1. On the other hand, cyclin B, the regulatory subunit of CDK1, can be transcriptionally repressed by p53.⁴⁰ However, alternative pathways (ATM/ATR-dependent, caffeine and UCN-01 inhibitor sensitive) explain why p53-null cells are still able to arrest in G2/M.⁴¹ Cells can stop the cell cycle in G2 by activating the ATM/ATR pathway and downregulate CDK1 via Chk1 and Chk2.⁴⁰ The Chk kinases inactivate Cdc25C, the phosphatase responsible for eliminating the inhibitory phosphorylations on CDK1.

Mitotic Checkpoint or Spindle Assembly Checkpoint

Does not allow anaphase to proceed until all chromosomes are properly attached to the spindle microtubule apparatus. Checkpoint proteins are components of the kinetochore, a macromolecular complex that resides at centromeres of chromosomes that establishes connections with spindle microtubules. Mitotic exit with abnormal chromosomes results in arrest.^{41,42}

The p53 Model Is Controversial

p53-deficient fibroblasts, but not their wild-type counterparts, fail to arrest in response to spindle inhibitors and undergo another round of replication without mitosis to become polyploidy.^{28,43} However, more careful studies revealed that p53 acts, in fact, at the subsequent G1 step to induce arrest. In response to spindle inhibitors, both wild-type and p53-null MEFs moved equally well from M into G1. The difference was that wild-type cells remained arrested, while p53 null cells were able to restart DNA synthesis and thus became polyploid. Eventually, some of these cells would escape the postmitotic block and divide, generating aneuploidy.⁴⁴

However, p53 might still play some role in the mitotic checkpoint proper through its reported colocalization with centrosomes and a direct involvement in preventing multipolar mitotic spindles and centrosome amplification.²⁹ Loss of p53 was reported to be associated with accumulation of centrosome abnormalities, multiple spindle poles and missegregation of chromosomes into daughter cells in a fraction of mouse fibroblasts.²⁹

p53 in DNA Repair

In addition to DNA damage-induced transcription-dependent p53 functions, evidence has accumulated for a direct role of p53 in DNA repair, DNA replication and DNA repair associated with active replication.⁴⁵ Genetic studies using KO mice for different genes involved in nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) showed that p53 is a negative regulator of error prone NHEJ.^{42,4648} Additionally, p53 has been reported to have intrinsic Mg²⁺-dependent exonuclease function.⁴⁹ p53 colocalizes with PCNA, DNA polymerase α, DNA ligase and RPA in the nuclei of Herpes virus—infected cells⁵⁰ and binds recombinases (such as Rad51⁵¹ and Rad54⁵²) in human cells. Thus, p53 is likely to negatively modulate homologous recombination.⁵³ Moreover, p53 null mice show an increased frequency of homologous recombination at different stages of development.⁵⁴ Recent studies of human cells revealed a requirement for p53 in global modulation of chromatin structure upon localized subcellular UV irradiation.⁵⁵ Thus, p53 has a role in increasing global chromatin accessibility, potentially through histone acetylation.

Deficiencies in cell cycle checkpoints or in the system that detects and repairs DNA damage have a deep impact on genomic stability and increase the probability of tumor formation.²⁴ Thus, p53 may help maintain genomic stability by preventing DNA replication of damaged DNA,

preventing replication in conditions that could harm the DNA and preventing rereplication of DNA that could lead to aneuploidy.²⁴

Although its precise role in tumorigenesis is still controversial as to being cause or consequence, aneuploidy is a hallmark of cancer development. While aneuploidy can arise directly from defects in duplication, maturation or segregation of centrosomes,⁵⁶ it is generally thought that the precursor of aneuploidy is a polyploid state. One proposed route to aneuploid cancer cells is through an unstable tetraploid intermediate.^{57,58} Supporting this idea, recent studies demonstrate that tetraploidy promotes chromosomal aberrations and tumorigenesis in vivo.^{59,61}

Mechanisms of Polyploidization

Without excluding the possibility of other ways, it is considered that a diploid organism can acquire polyploid cells through several general mechanism: cell fusion, endoreplication (also called endomitosis) and a variety of defects that result in a nondividing cell cycle (nonmitotic, abortive cell cycle).⁶²

DNA endoreplication is widely observed in the plant kingdom and selectively occurs in many animals as a response to developmental needs.⁶³ In humans, endoreplication can occur during differentiation (e.g., in megakaryocytes, hepatocytes and trophoblasts) or as a physiological response to metabolic stress (muscle cells). Megakaryocytes are bone marrow precursors that generate platelets. Specifically, megakaryocytes traverse the initial stages of mitosis (anaphase A) including centrosome duplication, but skip anaphase B and cytokinesis, resulting in polyploid cells.⁶² Metabolic stress also facilitates polyploidy in several tissues. An increase in the percentage of polyploid hepatocytes is seen in ischemic lesions of the liver, regrowth of the liver after partial hepatectomy and in advanced age.^{64,65} Hypertensive humans or rats show polyploid heart muscle and vascular smooth-muscle cells.⁶⁶ Another example are tetraploid fibroblasts frequently observed during wound healing in biopsies.⁶⁷ Thus, an increase in the amount of DNA and, consequently, in cell volume is regarded as beneficial for cells that have high metabolic rates like liver or muscle cells. Of note, this tetraploid state does not trigger any p53-depedent checkpoint. This led many authors to conclude that although mechanistically very similar, endored uplication and polyloidization are not the same phenomenon.⁶³ Along the same lines, it is unclear if polyploid cells resulting from physiologic endoreduplication are more prone to genomic instability than their diploid parental tissue and if they associate with future organ pathologies.

From an evolutionary point of view, polyploidy could be advantageous for the entire organism due to better use of heterozygosity, the buffering effect of gene redundancy on mutations and, in certain cases the facilitation of reproduction through self-fertilization or by asexual means.⁶³

Polyploidization resulting from an abnormal cell cycle, however, puts cells at risk for aberrant mitotic divisions and for subsequent mitosis with multipolar spindles, which eventually lead to aneuploidy. In conditions of abnormal DNA replication, sister-chromatid nondisjunction, mitotic spindle dysfunction or defective cytokinesis, cells are not able to proceed through a proper mitotic division. Regularly, many of these defects that result in abortive cell cycles trigger checkpoint responses that block cell-cycle progression or, in some cases, trigger apoptosis. However, checkpoint activation often produces only transient delays in cell-cycle progression. So, even if the initial insult persists, the possibility exists where some cells 'slip' past the arrest, exiting as a tetraploid from the defective cell division.⁶² One of the important checkpoint responses to abnormal passage through mitosis is the activation of p53 in the next G1 phase.⁶⁸

Disadvantages of Polyploidy

The obvious consequences of increasing the DNA content of a cell or organism include the disrupting effects of nuclear and cellular enlargement, the propensity of polyploid mitosis and meiosis to produce aneuploid cells and the epigenetic instability that affects gene regulation.⁶³ Increasing the genomic content of an organism usually increases cell volume, with a subsequent change in the spatial relationships between various components of the cell. Recent studies suggest that any imbalance of the ratio between the internal and the surface components of the nucleus has regulatory repercussions.⁶³ For instance, the volume of budding yeast cells increases linearly with

each extra chromosome pair.^{62,69} In the nucleus, the precise localization of telomeric and centromeric heterochromatin ensures proper organization of chromosomes in the nucleus.⁷⁰ Lamins, which form a fibrous network that lines the inside of the nuclear envelope, interact with heterochromatin and have a function that is vital to the cell. This is demonstrated by the phenotypic effects of laminar abnormalities on human health.⁷¹

Chromosomes in polyploid cells of Arabidopsis thaliana have a greater mobility within the interphase nucleus relative to chromosomes in diploids, due to loss of the nuclear substructure that normally restricts chromosome movement.⁷⁰

Most interestingly, when compared with haploids or diploids, tetraploid budding yeast cells have significantly increased rates of chromosome loss and recombination.⁷² They also show increased sensitivity to gamma-irradiation and to other DNA-damaging agents.⁶² Likewise, polyploid fission yeast undergoes chromosome missegregation at a high frequency.⁷³ Also, p53 null tetraploid cells are highly competent to induce tumors in nude mice. Polyploidization sensitized cells to genotoxic stress imposed by ionizing radiation and topoisomerase inhibitors.⁷⁴ These findings raise the possibility that an increase in ploidy generally impairs genomic stability.⁶¹

Tetraploidy Checkpoint Theory

Several views exist on the possible fate of polyploid cells. In the best case scenarios, multipolar mitosis of tetraploid cells can lead to the formation of diploid cells through a poorly understood process, known as 'reduction mitosis'. Alternatively, some cells 'adapt' to multiple centrosomes by clustering them at the spindle poles. This allows a bipolar mitosis to occur, which seems to progress normally. This mechanism is employed by many cancer cells as a way to avoid mitotic catastrophe.^{75,76}

Another view suggests that tetraploid cells undergo cell cycle arrest via the so-called p53-mediated 'G1 tetraploidy checkpoint,' which can then trigger apoptosis.^{77,78} However, recent doubts about the existence of this checkpoint came from studies of cancer cell lines treated with mitotic spindle inhibitors. A proportion of these cell populations escape the mitotic arrest and enter into a "G1-like state" with a 4N set of chromosomes. This phenomenon is known as 'mitotic slippage'. If these tetraploid cells have functional p53, they arrest in this G1 phase.⁴⁴ However, p53-deficient cells progress through the next S-phase, undergo an abnormal mitosis and become aneuploidy.⁷⁹ It was initially considered that p53 might directly monitor the ploidy status of cells, perhaps via DNA content or centrosome number.⁷⁷ However, it was later shown that the high concentrations of spindle inhibitors (e.g., cytochalasin B) that were used in these experiments also caused DNA damage and that was the actual cause for inducing a p53 response. When repeated with lower but still effective doses, tetraploid cells formed, but did not arrest in G1 and instead showed normal cell cycle progression despite the p53 presence.^{80,81} In sum, these studies concluded that mammalian cells do not possess a "tetraploidy" checkpoint, meaning that an abnormal chromosome number is not the direct trigger of the checkpoint response.^{80,81}

The p53-dependent cell-cycle arrest of tetraploid cells shares features with the p53-dependent G1 arrest upon DNA damage. For instance, in both cases cell-cycle arrest coincides with induction of the CDK inhibitor p21 and hypophosphorylated retinoblastoma protein (Rb).^{75,82} Furthermore, tetraploid cells that lack either p21, Rb or p53 all fail to arrest in G1 and proceed into an aberrant cell division.⁶² Not without significance, p53 and Rb are the most frequent tumor suppressors functionally inactivated in human cancers. Disruption of the cytoskeleton by failed cytokinesis, abnormal spindle geometry in tetraploids,⁸⁰ or redistribution of nuclear proportions and lamins by increased DNA content⁷¹ were also proposed as potential p53 activators. Thus, although its precise trigger is unknown, p53 prevents abnormal polyploid cells to occur in vitro as well as in vivo. The polyploid/aneuploid cells that arise from multipolar mitosis are rapidly eliminated in cells that contain p53.⁶¹ Moreover, p53 null mice have 23% 4N cells in the pancreas compared with 7% in wild type mice.²⁸ Also, disabling p53 by a pancreas-specific SV40 T-antigen produced >45% polyploid pancreatic cells.²⁸ Thus, it will be important to establish the degree to which the antipolyploidization effect of p53 contributes to cancer suppression.

Agonists and Antagonists of p53 Function in Genome Stability

- a. Mice deficient in genes important for telomere function, DNA damage checkpoint activation and DNA repair (both nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) and homologous recombination) allow proliferation of cells with damaged DNA and a high degree of genomic instability.⁸³ The majority of these mice present with developmental problems or even embryonic lethality, all attributable to the activation of p53 in response to DNA damage signals, followed by induction of apoptosis. The developmental abnormalities are rescued by codeleting p53, but with a price: mice predisposed to genomic instability and lacking p53 are highly tumor-prone. For instance, the lethality of mutations in genes for DNA ligase IV or XRCC4 can be relieved by a mutation in p53 or ATM, but the double-knock-out mice develop T-cell lymphomas at a very early age.^{47,84,85} These latter mouse models prove that p53-mediated apoptosis is an essential tumor suppressor mechanism to eliminate cells that are genomically unstable.⁸³
- b. Msh2 and its heterodimeric binding partner Msh3 are necessary for removal of nonhomologous tails during recombination.⁸⁶ In vivo, combined loss of Msh2 and p53 leads to embryonic lethality of female mice and to synergistically increased tumorigenesis in males on a C57BL6J background.⁸⁷ Drug-induced polyploidization studies in MEFs revealed that, while Msh2^{-/-} MEFs showed no increase in the 8N population compared with WT MEFs, the p53^{-/-} Msh2^{-/-} MEFs showed a clear increase in cells with an 8N DNA content, over and above that seen in MEFs deficient in p53 alone. On a larger scale of DNA repair, it is possible that p53 monitors unresolved or aberrant recombination structures and allows cells to mend such DNA structures. However, when the signal from mismatch repair proteins is missing, these cells are not able to complete mitosis. Moreover, when p53 is also missing, cells may aberrantly re-enter S-phase. Thus, polyploid cells might appear from a combined defect in DNA repair and checkpoints.⁸⁸
- c. Lats2: The tumour suppressor Lats2, which is localized at the centrosome during a normal cell cycle, interacts with and inhibits the Mdm2 E3 ligase activity and thereby promotes p53 activation in cells with mitotic spindle defects. The Lats2-Mdm2 interaction occurs specifically when centrosome function is disrupted. Moreover, RNAi knockdown of Lats2 in cells that lack p53 function leads to accumulation of polyploid cells after exposure to nocodazole. However, if p53 is activated, proliferation of these cells is prevented. Thus, p53 and Lats2 cooperate via Mdm2 in preventing tetraploidization upon spindle defects.⁸⁹
- d. Wnt-1 is a member of a family of cysteine-rich, glycosylated signaling proteins that intervene in diverse developmental processes ranging from the control of cell proliferation, adhesion, cell polarity, to the establishment of cell fates. Alterations of Wnts are associated with carcinogenesis. Wnt-1 transgenic mice crossed into p53^{-/-} nullizygosity develop mammary tumors with increased genomic instability, aneuploidy, amplifications and deletions.¹⁸
- e. p73 is another member of the p53 family that contributes to the maintenance of genomic integrity. Mouse cells that harbor deletions in both p53 and p73 are marked by a higher degree of polyploidy and aneuploidy than the one observed in p53 null cells. Its role is detailed in the next part.

Introduction to p73

20 years after p53 was discovered, two structurally similar genes—p63 and p73—were discovered and placed into the same family. Initially thought to be tumor suppressors like p53, these two proteins proved to have a more complicated and intriguing behavior. Structurally, p63 and p73 have in common with p53 an amino-terminal transactivation domain, a highly conserved central DNA binding domain and a carboxy-terminal tetramerization domain. In overexpression studies, p63 and p73 can function as sequence-specific transcription factors that activate expression of genes containing p53-binding sites (like Bax and p21).^{90,91} Moreover, tumor-associated stress signals (i.e., deregulated oncogenes and DNA damage) that activate p53 also induce p73.⁹¹ However, p53 and p73 are not functionally equivalent in vivo. While p53 plays a clear role in tumor suppression, p73 has long eluded efforts to place it into a defined category of cancer biology. Indeed, p53 null mice are highly tumor-susceptible but show no major developmental defects. In contrast, p73-deficient mice show defects in neuronal development and immune function, with the majority of animals dying within 2 months after birth due to chronic infection.⁹² p63-deficient mice show epithelial defects with absence of skin, hair, truncated or absent limbs, craniofacial malformations and perinatal death due to desiccation.⁹³ Although p73 null mice were originally reported as not tumor prone,⁹² a more recent re-analysis of ageing p53^{+/-}p73^{+/-} mice (as well as a small number of p53^{+/+}p73^{-/-} and p53^{+/+}p73^{+/-} mice) did reveal an elevated incidence of microscopic carcinomas, T-lymphomas and sarcomas and increased metastatic ability, compared to p53^{+/-}mice. Moreover, these tumors underwent loss of heterozygosity and loss of the remaining wtp73 allele. Thus, heterozygous loss of p73 increases the p53-dependent tumor phenotype in severity, frequency and breadth of tumor spectrum.⁹⁴ The latter result suggests that p73 acts as a tumor suppressor in certain tissues.⁹⁴ In the same study, an increase in tumor burden and spectrum was noticed in ageing p63^{+/-} p73^{+/-} mice.

On the other hand, p63 and p73 do not contribute to gamma irradiation-induced p53-mediated T-cell lymphoma suppression in vivo.⁹⁵ Moreover, in a different p63 KO mouse strain, Mills et al obtained a different result: no signs of malignancy, but accelerated aging instead.⁹⁶

The story gets even more complicated in the analysis of human tumors. Unlike the clear picture that p53 offers with mostly inactivating mutations or rarely deletions in more than 50% of human cancers, p63 or p73 inactivating mutations are rarely found in human tumors.^{97,98} One major reason for the lack of clear interpretability lies in the complex gene loci of p63 and p73, which produces two classes of isoforms with opposing activities. Thus, splice variants of p63/p73 exist that lack the N-terminal transactivation domains (ΔN p63/p73) and may function to interfere with the activity of their full-length counterparts (TA p63/p73).^{91,99} Splice variations in the C-terminus adds another layer of isoforms (named α , β , γ , etc.) in the already extensive family.¹⁰⁰ The longest α variant of p63 and p73 contains a sterile- α motif (SAM), a known protein-protein interaction domain.¹⁰¹

Thus, multiple primary tumor types and tumor cell lines overexpress these genes and often concomitantly the TA as well as the reportedly oncogenic ΔNp isoforms (see below).^{100,102} Numerous studies highlight the oncogenic potential of $\Delta Np63$ in skin, the main isoform grossly overexpressed in human squamous cell carcinoma, including its clinical correlation to poor prognosis.¹⁰³ However, other tumor types (mainly some lymphomas and leukemias) show loss or reduced levels of p63 and/or p73.⁹⁸

Further complicating the picture is a potential interference with p73 activity by mutant forms of p53, which might contribute to cancer development in vivo.^{22,23,104}

p73 Functions

Although cancer cells deficient for p53 are more resistant to chemotherapy, they are still responsive to drugs, suggesting that other pro-apoptotic pathways are also involved. One of these rescue pathways might be mediated by the activation of p73. Thus, the majority of studies on p73 focused on its pro-apoptotic role. Based mostly on overexpression studies, it is thought that TAp73 has p53-like functions, while Δ Np73 isoforms have an opposing inhibitory role. When ectopically overexpressed, TAp73 can replace p53 in various cancer cell lines and induce apoptosis, cell cycle arrest and DNA repair by activating effectors like Bax, p53AIP1,¹⁰⁵ p21, GADD45, 14-3-3 σ and p53R2.¹⁰⁶ However, while common promoters for p53 and p73 are numerous, differentially sensitive genes also exist.¹⁰⁷

TAp73 participates in apoptosis and growth suppression in p53 null cells in response to DNA damage (chemotherapeutic drugs or γ -irradiation) or oncogenic stress (E2F1, cMyc, E1A).¹⁰⁷ In response to cisplatin, the apoptosis-inducing function of p73 is regulated by the c-Abl kinase and the mismatch-repair system.¹⁰⁸ Moreover, as part of normal T-cell development and selection, E2F1-p73 pathway induces cell death in response to T-cell receptor activation.¹⁰⁹ Consistently, in

radiation-induced mouse T-cell lymphomas, the p73 locus undergoes LOH in 33% of the cases.¹¹⁰ Flores et al showed transcriptional cooperation between p53 and either p63 or p73 in inducing apoptotic effector genes in E1A-expressing MEFs and primary neuronal cells.¹¹¹ In their experiments, adriamycin-induced death was dependent on the copresence of at least two of the family members. While the expression of p21 (cell cycle arrest related protein) was not changed, the expression of Bax, Noxa and PERP was suppressed in p63^{-/-}p73^{-/-} MEFs that were still p53^{+/+}.

The Role of p73 in Genomic Stability

Using genetically defined primary MEFs, we recently showed that p73 indeed plays an intriguing and unique role in genomic integrity that is manifested when p53 is lost. Isolated p73 loss does not induce genomic instability but instead results in impaired proliferation, transformation and premature senescence due to compensatory constitutive activation of p53. Combined loss of p73 and p53 completely rescues these defects, but at the expense of markedly exacerbating genomic instability. This leads to a rapid increase in polyploidy and aneuploidy, markedly exceeding that of p53 loss alone. Constitutive deregulation of Cyclin-Cdk and p27/Kip1 activities and excess failure of the G2/M DNA damage checkpoint fuel the increased ploidy abnormalities, while primary mitotic defects do not play a causal role. Thus, interference with p73 function—in the absence of protective mechanisms provided by p53—markedly exacerbates polyploidy and random loss or gain of chromosomes.¹¹² Of note, in human tumors concomitant inactivation of p53 and p73 often co-exist.¹⁰² Below are highlights of our results:

Combined Loss of p53 and p73 Leads to Excess Polyploidy and Aneuploidy

When assayed on the 3T3 protocol, WT and p73^{-/-} MEFs retained diploid status throughout their lifespan until they senesced at passage 7 and 4, respectively (Fig. 1). On the other hand, p53^{-/-} MEFs (SKO) show a gradual increase in hyperdiploid cells with passaging, while also preserving significant diploidy (Fig. 1).^{28,68} In contrast, the majority of freshly isolated p53^{-/-}p73^{-/-} (DKO) MEFs were already hyperdiploid and after only 5 passages, virtually all cells were tetraploid and octaploid (Fig. 1). By FACS quantitation at p5, DKOs showed 88% aneuploidy and only 12% diploidy, in contrast to SKOs with 41% aneuploidy and 59% diploidy. Since each passage corresponds to 3 population doublings, we calculated that at least 5% of DKO cells, but only 2.5% of SKO cells lost their diploid status with each round of cell division. Thus, DKO cells have twice the rate of polyploidization than SKO cells.

By SKY (Spectral Karyotype Analysis) analysis at p7, DKO cells had the lowest diploid populations (only 2% with 2n) (n = 20 chrom. in mouse cells), but the highest polyploidy and aneuploidy (98% with 4n + >4n and 36% with >4n) (Fig. 2A). In contrast, SKOs had an intermediate phenotype, while WT cells were diploid. Most strikingly, extreme cases of DKOs were readily detectable with cells containing >300-400 chromosomes, a phenotype never seen in SKOs of the same passage (Fig. 2B). Notably, freshly isolated thymoctes from a young, healthy DKO mouse already contained a small (6%) but definite subpopulation of triploid normal T-cells, in contrast to its age-matched p53^{-/-} control that had none, supporting polyploidization in vivo and in another tissue (not shown).

Thus, loss pf p73 in normal young thymocytes in vivo may have an impact on genomic stability. Human lymphomas can be triploid or near triploid, see reference 114.¹¹³ Most DKO MEFs also contained unequal chromosome numbers by SKY (aneuploidy), reflected by the broad spread obtained when metaphases were quantitated for individual chromosomes (Fig. 2C). However, chromosomal translocations were rare in SKO and DKO. Thus, while p73 is not sufficient to completely prevent polyploidy upon p53 loss, it clearly acts to prevent further genomic destabilization.

The Ploidy Defect Is Not Due to a Mitotic Defect but a Failure of Premitotic Mechanisms

Polyploidy can be caused by several means that uncouple DNA replication from mitotic completion.⁴⁰ We therefore scrutinized the mitotic competence of DKOs, but found no intrinsic mitotic defects. First, concerning centrosome hyperamplification (2 being normal), DKOs had a



Figure 1. DNA histograms of freshly isolated WT, $p73^{-/-}$, $p53^{-/-}$ and DKO MEFs passaged on the 3T3 protocol. Number of passages in culture is indicated on the right. Ploidy (2n, 4n, 8n) is indicated.

better, rather than a worse phenotype compared to SKOs (Fig. 3A). Second, p7 DKOs were mainly mononucleated and had the lowest number of cells with two or more nuclei (Fig. 3A). Third, DKOs, when forced to undergo chromosomal segregation, showed no mitotic defects. To this end, cells were synchronized by mitotic spindle inhibitor nocodazole (which induced mainly tetraploidy in SKOs and tetraploidy and octaploidy in DKOs) and then released into media containing a G1/S roadblock (imposed by L-mimosine, hydroxyurea (HU) or aphidicolin) (see Fig. 3B). Both genotypes—since they could not go forward—went straight back through a proper mitosis within 4 hrs after release and regained their original ploidy. This was confirmed by direct visualization of chromosome condensation that follows real-time mitotic progression via GFP-tagged histone H2B (Fig. 3B). Thus, p73 loss does not cause defects in the centrosome duplication cycle, mitotic spindle checkpoint, karyokinesis and cytokinesis.

Excess Failure of the G2/M DNA Damage Checkpoint and Constitutive Deregulation of Cyclin-Cdk and p27/Kip1 Fuel Aberrant Ploidy upon p73 Loss

CDK-Cyclins are the driving force of the cell cycle. To determine if and where in the cycle DKOs are defective, we looked for CDK deregulation in cycling DKOs only subject to endogenous DNA damage (endogenous ROS modifies ~ 20,000 bases/day/cell).¹¹⁴ Compared to SKOs, DKOs indeed have a higher and longer peak of Cyclin E-Cdk2 activity in early S and an elevated







Figure 3. A) Total number of centrosomes (determined by γ -tubulin staining) and nuclei (determined by Hoechst staining) per cell in WT, p53^{-/-} and DKO cells at passage 7. For each genotype, >500 random cells were counted. DKO cells have an improved centrosomal phenotype and are predominantly mononucleated. B) DNA histograms of p53^{-/-} and DKO MEFs at passage 7 treated with nocodazole for 12 hrs, washed out and then released into media containing the G1/S blocker L-mimosine. Both genotypes recover their original ploidy within 4 hours (i.e., 2n for p5^{-/-} MEFs and 4n for DKO cells), indicating that they had passed through a proper mitosis.

Cyclin A-Cdk2 activity in late S (Fig. 4A). Most importantly, DKOs show uncoordinated and premature collapse of Cyclin B-Cdk1 activity, leaving insufficient levels to go through mitosis. We identified that the source of CDK deregulation are not Cdks or Cyclins themselves but constitutively elevated p27/Kip1 (Fig. 4B). p27 acts as a positive regulator of early phase Cyclin E-Cdk2^{115,116} but a negative regulator of late phase Cyclin B1-Cdk1.¹¹⁷ DKOs have constitutively elevated p27 levels in all phases of the cycle (Fig. 4B) and more p27 bound to Cyclin B-Cdk1 in G2M (not shown). As a consequence, since entry into mitosis depends on sufficient Cyclin B-Cdk1 activity,¹¹⁸ more DKOs than SKOs are blocked from entering mitosis. Thus, many more DKOs skip mitosis and are reset from G2 back to G1, enabling another round of replication.^{40,118} Together with the deregulated S phase, these events contribute to twice the polyploidization rate of p73-deficient DKOs. Of note, deregulated p27Kip1 and Cyclin E drive polyploidization of normal tissues in vivo. E.g., constitutively elevated p27 levels in Skp2 null mice, a component of the SCF ubiquitin-proteolysis system which degrades p27, causes excess polyploidization in many tissues and this is exclusively due to their p27 abnormality, since $p27^{-/-}$ Skp2^{-/-} double knock-out mice rescue this phenotype completely.^{119,120} Also, Cyclin E^{-/-} embryos lack normally polyploid megakaryocytes and trophoblasts. Conversely, overexpressed Cyclin E drives non-endoreplicating megakaryoblasts into endomitosis.^{121,122} Of note, in our system, retroviral overexpression of Cyclin E and its corresponding Cdk2 in p53^{-/-} cells altered (impaired) the G2 checkpoint to resemble the one of DKO cells (not shown).

The G2M checkpoint is critical because it is the last barrier before mitotic division for cells with wrongly replicated or damaged DNA. Also, polyploid cells are prevented from re-entering mitosis through engagement of the G2M checkpoint.^{44,123} Conversely, a defective G2 checkpoint in itself can cause polyploidy and aneuploidy after DNA damage, because cells with inadequate DNA repair in G2 proceed into a catastrophic mitosis, where massive bridging prevents chromosome segregation from which they will exit as polyploid/aneuploid G1 progeny.^{44,123} p73-proficient SKOs respond to the DNA damaging G2 inhibitors adriamycin and VM26 with a robust S/G2 block. In contrast, DKOs fail to mount an effective G2M checkpoint and instead continue cell cycle progression, accumulating a large proportion of octaploid cells that enter mitosis (Fig. 5A,B). Conversely, retroviral re-introduction of TAp73α, the major TAp73 isoform in MEFs, re-establishes an efficient S/G2 arrest in VM26- and adriamycin-treated DKOs (Fig. 5C).









The G2M checkpoint is controlled through the ATM/Chk/Cdc25 pathway that blocks Cdk activity.¹²⁴ Indeed, while SKO dropped their Cdk1 activity upon VM26, DKOs increased and maintained high levels of Cdk1, enabling DKOs with misreplicated and damaged DNA to exit G2M and enter mitosis (not shown). In contrast, dominant negative mutants of Cdk2 (D145N), Cdk1 (D146N) or Cdc25A (C430S), or pharmacologic Cdk1/2 and Cdc25 inhibitors significantly blocked further polyploidization of DKOs upon DNA damage (data not shown). In sum, this indicates that p73 activates a G2M DNA damage checkpoint.

Conclusion

The exact mechanism by which p73 influences the G2M checkpoint, including its effects on Chk1/Chk2 activity, requires further elucidation. Recent studies identified CDK inhibitors p21Cip1 and p57Kip2 as targets of p73 regulation.^{125,126} Although p73 affects expression of these cell cycle regulatory proteins, it is unlikely that variations in the expression levels of a limited number of genes could account for the observed dramatic phenotype resulting from p73 loss. Being a chromatin accessibility factor, p53 contributes to the DNA repair processes by both transcription-dependent and transcription-independent mechanisms.^{42,53} Likewise, it is conceivable that transcription-dependent and transcription-independent mechanisms also contribute to the p73-loss-induced phenotype.

Indeed, comparing cell cycles of primary cells, p73-deficient DKO MEFs exhibit a significant increase of DNA replication over p53^{-/-} MEFs, associated with a constitutively deregulated S-phase Cdk2 activity. Recent studies underscore a critical role of the Rb tumor suppressor in maintaining chromatin structure and in DNA-damage checkpoint signaling in S-phase.¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹ Notably, Rb-null rodent cells are polyploid even in the presence of wild-type p53.127,129 The mechanism of this Rb activity remains unknown, although it appears to be E2F-independent and therefore transcription-independent.¹²⁹ Because a constitutively elevated Cdk2 activity would result in rapid Rb inactivation with dire consequences for the genomic stability of cells, a potential role of Rb in generating the p73-deficient phenotype needs to be addressed by future genetic and biochemical studies. In our study, reintroduction of TAp73 α —but not of Δ Np73 α —re-established an efficient G2M arrest upon adriamycin and VM26 in DKO MEFs. However, both TA and ΔN isoforms in isolation had minimal effects on polyploidization of DKO cells when passaged on the 3T3 protocol (data not shown), suggesting that a combination of isoforms in the right proportion might be necessary to completely rescue the DKO phenotype. The possible involvement of each of the p73 isoforms in maintenance of genomic stability and tumor suppression requires further investigation. The importance of p73 for genomic stability in the context of human tumors can only be addressed in correlational studies between expression of different p73 isoforms in human tumors and their degree of polyploidy/aneuploidy. Finally, generation of isoform-specific p73 knock-in mice should give insights to the most stringent question: what is the contribution of each isoform to tumor suppression/development? Answering this question will also contribute to the ultimate goal of studying p73: modulation of p73 levels in human tumors in order to activate p73-dependent apoptosis and cell cycle checkpoints.

References

- 1. Lane DP. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature 1992; 358(6381):15-6.
- 2. Levine AJ. p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell 1997; 88(3):323-31.
- 3. Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ. Surfing the p53 network. Nature 2000; 408(6810):307-10.
- 4. Arai M, Shimizu S, Imai Y et al. Mutations of the Ki-ras, p53 and APC genes in adenocarcinomas of the human small intestine. Int J Cancer 1997; 70(4):390-5.
- 5. Bressac B, Kew M, Wands J et al. Selective G to T mutations of p53 gene in hepatocellular carcinoma from southern Africa. Nature 1991; 350(6317):429-31.
- Chen SJ, Wang Q, Tong JH et al. Monoallelic deletions of the P53 gene in Chinese patients with chronic myelogenous leukemia in blastic crisis. Nouv Rev Fr Hematol 1991; 33(6):481-4.
- Fagin JA, Matsuo K, Karmakar A et al. High prevalence of mutations of the p53 gene in poorly differentiated human thyroid carcinomas. J Clin Invest 1993; 91(1):179-84.

- Oda H, Zhang S, Tsurutani N et al. Loss of p53 is an early event in induction of brain tumors in mice by transplacental carcinogen exposure. Cancer Res 1997; 57(4):646-50.
- 9. Hung J, Mims B, Lozano G et al. TP53 mutation and haplotype analysis of two large African American families. Hum Mutat 1999; 14(3):216-21.
- 10. Law JC, Strong LC, Chidambaram A et al. A germ line mutation in exon 5 of the p53 gene in an extended cancer family. Cancer Res 1991; 51(23 Pt 1):6385-7.
- 11. Malkin D, Li FP, Strong LC et al. Germ line p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas and other neoplasms. Science 1990; 250(4985):1233-8.
- 12. Donehower LA, Harvey M, Slagle BL et al. Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. Nature 1992; 356(6366):215-21.
- 13. Kemp CJ, Wheldon T, Balmain A. p53-deficient mice are extremely susceptible to radiation-induced tumorigenesis. Nat Genet 1994; 8(1):66-9.
- Donehower LA, Harvey M, Vogel H et al. Effects of genetic background on tumorigenesis in p53-deficient mice. Mol Carcinog 1995; 14(1):16-22.
- Harvey M, Sands AT, Weiss RS et al. In vitro growth characteristics of embryo fibroblasts isolated from p53-deficient mice. Oncogene 1993; 8(9):2457-67.
- Purdie CA, Harrison DJ, Peter A et al. Tumour incidence, spectrum and ploidy in mice with a large deletion in the p53 gene. Oncogene 1994; 9(2):603-9.
- 17. Elson A, Deng C, Campos-Torres J et al. The MMTV/c-myc transgene and p53 null alleles collaborate to induce T-cell lymphomas, but not mammary carcinomas in transgenic mice. Oncogene 1995; 11(1):181-90.
- Blyth K, Terry A, O'Hara M et al. Synergy between a human c-myc transgene and p53 null genotype in murine thymic lymphomas: contrasting effects of homozygous and heterozygous p53 loss. Oncogene 1995; 10(9):1717-23.
- Rong S, Donehower LA, Hansen MF et al. Met proto-oncogene product is overexpressed in tumors of p53-deficient mice and tumors of Li-Fraumeni patients. Cancer Res 1995; 55(9):1963-70.
- Donehower LA, Godley LA, Aldaz CM et al. Deficiency of p53 accelerates mammary tumorigenesis in Wnt-1 transgenic mice and promotes chromosomal instability. Genes Dev 1995; 9(7):882-95.
- Thompson TC, Park SH, Timme TL et al. Loss of p53 function leads to metastasis in ras+myc-initiated mouse prostate cancer. Oncogene 1995; 10(5):869-79.
- 22. Olive KP, Tuveson DA, Ruhe ZC et al. Mutant p53 gain of function in two mouse models of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell 2004; 119(6):847-60.
- 23. Lang GA, Iwakuma T, Suh YA et al. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell 2004; 119(6):861-72.
- 24. Wahl GM, Linke SP, Paulson TG et al. Maintaining genetic stability through TP53 mediated checkpoint control. Cancer Surv 1997; 29:183-219.
- Agarwal ML, Agarwal A, Taylor WR et al. p53 controls both the G2/M and the G1 cell cycle checkpoints and mediates reversible growth arrest in human fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92(18):8493-7.
- Smith KA, Agarwal ML, Chernov MV et al. Regulation and mechanisms of gene amplification. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1995; 347(1319):49-56.
- 27. Stewart N, Hicks GG, Paraskevas F et al. Evidence for a second cell cycle block at G2/M by p53. Oncogene 1995; 10(1):109-15.
- Cross SM, Sanchez CA, Morgan CA et al. A p53-dependent mouse spindle checkpoint. Science 1995; 267(5202):1353-6.
- Fukasawa K, Choi T, Kuriyama R et al. Abnormal centrosome amplification in the absence of p53. Science 1996; 271(5256):1744-7.
- Almasan A, Linke SP, Paulson TG et al. Genetic instability as a consequence of inappropriate entry into and progression through S-phase. Cancer Metastasis Rev 1995; 14(1):59-73.
- Almasan A, Yin Y, Kelly RE et al. Deficiency of retinoblastoma protein leads to inappropriate S-phase entry, activation of E2F-responsive genes and apoptosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92(12):5436-40.
- 32. Abraham RT. Cell cycle checkpoint signaling through the ATM and ATR kinases. Genes Dev 2001; 15(17):2177-96.
- Motoyama N, Naka K. DNA damage tumor suppressor genes and genomic instability. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2004; 14(1):11-6.
- 34. Sengupta S, Linke SP, Pedeux R et al. BLM helicase-dependent transport of p53 to sites of stalled DNA replication forks modulates homologous recombination. EMBO J 2003; 22(5):1210-22.
- Sengupta S, Shimamoto A, Koshiji M et al. Tumor suppressor p53 represses transcription of RECQ4 helicase. Oncogene 2005; 24(10):1738-48.

- Tibbetts RS, Brumbaugh KM, Williams JM et al. A role for ATR in the DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53. Genes Dev 1999; 13(2):152-7.
- Tibbetts RS, Cortez D, Brumbaugh KM et al. Functional interactions between BRCA1 and the checkpoint kinase ATR during genotoxic stress. Genes Dev 2000; 14(23):2989-3002.
- Squires S, Coates JA, Goldberg M et al. p53 prevents the accumulation of double-strand DNA breaks at stalled-replication forks induced by UV in human cells. Cell Cycle 2004; 3(12):1543-57.
- 39. Schwartz D, Rotter V. p53-dependent cell cycle control: response to genotoxic stress. Semin Cancer Biol 1998; 8(5):325-36.
- 40. Taylor WR, Stark GR. Regulation of the G2/M transition by p53. Oncogene 2001; 20(15):1803-15.
- 41. Kastan MB, Onyekwere O, Sidransky D et al. Participation of p53 protein in the cellular response to DNA damage. Cancer Res 1991; 51(23 Pt 1):6304-11.
- 42. Sengupta S, Harris CC. p53: traffic cop at the crossroads of DNA repair and recombination. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005; 6(1):44-55.
- 43. Di Leonardo A, Khan SH, Linke SP et al. DNA rereplication in the presence of mitotic spindle inhibitors in human and mouse fibroblasts lacking either p53 or pRb function. Cancer Res 1997; 57(6):1013-9.
- 44. Lanni JS, Jacks T. Characterization of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint following spindle disruption. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18(2):1055-64.
- 45. Ford JM, Hanawalt PC. Li-Fraumeni syndrome fibroblasts homozygous for p53 mutations are deficient in global DNA repair but exhibit normal transcription-coupled repair and enhanced UV resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92(19):8876-80.
- Frank KM, Sekiguchi JM, Seidl KJ et al. Late embryonic lethality and impaired V(D)J recombination in mice lacking DNA ligase IV. Nature 1998; 396(6707):173-7.
- Gao Y, Ferguson DO, Xie W et al. Interplay of p53 and DNA-repair protein XRCC4 in tumorigenesis, genomic stability and development. Nature 2000; 404(6780):897-900.
- Gao Y, Sun Y, Frank KM et al. A critical role for DNA end-joining proteins in both lymphogenesis and neurogenesis. Cell 1998; 95(7):891-902.
- 49. Mummenbrauer T, Janus F, Muller B et al. p53 Protein exhibits 3'-to-5' exonuclease activity. Cell 1996; 85(7):1089-99.
- 50. Fortunato EA, Spector DH. p53 and RPA are sequestered in viral replication centers in the nuclei of cells infected with human cytomegalovirus. J Virol 1998; 72(3):2033-9.
- 51. Sturzbecher HW, Donzelmann B, Henning W et al. p53 is linked directly to homologous recombination processes via RAD51/RecA protein interaction. EMBO J 1996; 15(8):1992-2002.
- Linke SP, Sengupta S, Khabie N et al. p53 interacts with hRAD51 and hRAD54 and directly modulates homologous recombination. Cancer Res 2003; 63(10):2596-605.
- Bertrand P, Saintigny Y, Lopez BS. p53's double life: transactivation-independent repression of homologous recombination. Trends Genet 2004; 20(6):235-43.
- 54. Bishop AJ, Hollander MC, Kosaras B et al. Atm-, p53- and Gadd45a-deficient mice show an increased frequency of homologous recombination at different stages during development. Cancer Res 2003; 63(17):5335-43.
- 55. Zhou BB, Elledge SJ. The DNA damage response: putting checkpoints in perspective. Nature 2000; 408(6811):433-9.
- Kops GJ, Weaver BA, Cleveland DW. On the road to cancer: aneuploidy and the mitotic checkpoint. Nat Rev Cancer 2005; 5(10):773-85.
- Margolis RL, Lohez OD, Andreassen PR. G1 tetraploidy checkpoint and the suppression of tumorigenesis. J Cell Biochem 2003; 88(4):673-83.
- Shi Q, King RW. Chromosome nondisjunction yields tetraploid rather than aneuploid cells in human cell lines. Nature 2005; 437(7061):1038-42.
- 59. Ganem NJ, Storchova Z, Pellman D. Tetraploidy, aneuploidy and cancer. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2007; 17(2):157-62.
- 60. Pellman D. Cell biology: aneuploidy and cancer. Nature 2007; 446(7131):38-9.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M et al. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437(7061):1043-7.
- 62. Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5(1):45-54.
- 63. Comai L. The advantages and disadvantages of being polyploid. Nat Rev Genet 2005; 6(11):836-46.
- Fausto N, Campbell JS. The role of hepatocytes and oval cells in liver regeneration and repopulation. Mech Dev 2003; 120(1):117-30.
- 65. Gupta S. Hepatic polyploidy and liver growth control. Semin Cancer Biol 2000; 10(3):161-71.
- 66. Vliegen HW, Eulderink F, Bruschke AV et al. Polyploidy of myocyte nuclei in pressure overloaded human hearts: a flow cytometric study in left and right ventricular myocardium. Am J Cardiovasc Pathol 1995; 5(1):27-31.
- 67. Oberringer M, Lothschutz D, Jennewein M et al. Centrosome multiplication accompanies a transient clustering of polyploid cells during tissue repair. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun 1999; 2(3):190-6.
- Notterman D, Young S, Wainger B et al. Prevention of mammalian DNA reduplication, following the release from the mitotic spindle checkpoint, requires p53 protein, but not p53-mediated transcriptional activity. Oncogene 1998; 17(21):2743-51.
- 69. Mortimer RK. Radiobiological and genetic studies on a polyploid series (haploid to hexaploid) of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Radiat Res 1958; 9(3):312-26.
- Kato N, Lam E. Chromatin of endoreduplicated pavement cells has greater range of movement than that of diploid guard cells in Arabidopsis thaliana. J Cell Sci 2003; 116(Pt 11):2195-201.
- 71. Verstraeten VL, Broers JL, Ramaekers FC et al. The nuclear envelope, a key structure in cellular integrity and gene expression. Curr Med Chem 2007; 14(11):1231-48.
- Mayer VW, Aguilera A. High levels of chromosome instability in polyploids of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mutat Res 1990; 231(2):177-86.
- Molnar M, Sipiczki M. Polyploidy in the haplontic yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe: construction and analysis of strains. Curr Genet 1993; 24(1-2):45-52.
- Hau PM, Siu WY, Wong N et al. Polyploidization increases the sensitivity to DNA-damaging agents in mammalian cells. FEBS letters 2006; 580(19):4727-36.
- 75. Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA. Aurora-A overexpression reveals tetraploidization as a major route to centrosome amplification in p53-/- cells. EMBO J 2002; 21(4):483-92.
- 76. Ring D, Hubble R, Kirschner M. Mitosis in a cell with multiple centrioles. J Cell Biol 1982; 94(3):549-56.
- 77. Andreassen PR, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Tetraploid state induces p53-dependent arrest of nontransformed mammalian cells in G1. Mol Biol Cell 2001; 12(5):1315-28.
- 78. Margolis RL. Tetraploidy and tumor development. Cancer Cell 2005; 8(5):353-4.
- Duensing A, Duensing S. Guilt by association? p53 and the development of aneuploidy in cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 331(3):694-700.
- Uetake Y, Sluder G. Cell cycle progression after cleavage failure: mammalian somatic cells do not possess a "tetraploidy checkpoint". J Cell Biol 2004; 165(5):609-15.
- Wong C, Stearns T. Mammalian cells lack checkpoints for tetraploidy, aberrant centrosome number and cytokinesis failure. BMC Cell Biol 2005; 6(1):6.
- Borel F, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Multiple centrosomes arise from tetraploidy checkpoint failure and mitotic centrosome clusters in p53 and RB pocket protein-compromised cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99(15):9819-24.
- Attardi LD, Donehower LA. Probing p53 biological functions through the use of genetically engineered mouse models. Mutat Res 2005; 576(1-2):4-21.
- 84. Frank KM, Sharpless NE, Gao Y et al. DNA ligase IV deficiency in mice leads to defective neurogenesis and embryonic lethality via the p53 pathway. Mol Cell 2000; 5(6):993-1002.
- Lee Y, Barnes DE, Lindahl T et al. Defective neurogenesis resulting from DNA ligase IV deficiency requires Atm. Genes Dev 2000; 14(20):2576-80.
- Sugawara N, Paques F, Colaiacovo M et al. Role of Saccharomyces cerevisiae Msh2 and Msh3 repair proteins in double-strand break-induced recombination. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94(17):9214-9.
- Cranston A, Bocker T, Reitmair A et al. Female embryonic lethality in mice nullizygous for both Msh2 and p53. Nat Genet 1997; 17(1):114-8.
- Strathdee G, Sansom OJ, Sim A et al. A role for mismatch repair in control of DNA ploidy following DNA damage. Oncogene 2001; 20(15):1923-7.
- Aylon Y, Michael D, Shmueli A et al. A positive feedback loop between the p53 and Lats2 tumor suppressors prevents tetraploidization. Genes Dev 2006; 20(19):2687-700.
- Zhu J, Jiang J, Zhou W et al. The potential tumor suppressor p73 differentially regulates cellular p53 target genes. Cancer Res 1998; 58(22):5061-5.
- 91. Zaika A, Irwin M, Sansome C et al. Oncogenes induce and activate endogenous p73 protein. J Biol Chem 2001; 276(14):11310-6.
- Yang A, Walker N, Bronson R et al. p73-deficient mice have neurological, pheromonal and inflammatory defects but lack spontaneous tumours. Nature 2000; 404(6773):99-103.
- Mills AA, Zheng B, Wang XJ et al. p63 is a p53 homologue required for limb and epidermal morphogenesis. Nature 1999; 398(6729):708-13.
- 94. Flores ER, Sengupta S, Miller JB et al. Tumor predisposition in mice mutant for p63 and p73: evidence for broader tumor suppressor functions for the p53 family. Cancer Cell 2005; 7(4):363-73.
- Perez-Losada J, Wu D, DelRosario R et al. p63 and p73 do not contribute to p53-mediated lymphoma suppressor activity in vivo. Oncogene 2005; 24(35):5521-4.
- Keyes WM, Wu Y, Vogel H et al. p63 deficiency activates a program of cellular senescence and leads to accelerated aging. Genes Dev 2005; 19(17):1986-99.

- 97. Nozaki M, Tada M, Kashiwazaki H et al. p73 is not mutated in meningiomas as determined with a functional yeast assay but p73 expression increases with tumor grade. Brain Pathol 2001; 11(3):296-305.
- Moll UM, Erster S, Zaika A. p53, p63 and p73—solos, alliances and feuds among family members. Biochim Biophys Acta 2001; 1552(2):47-59.
- 99. Levrero M, De Laurenzi V, Costanzo A et al. The p53/p63/p73 family of transcription factors: overlapping and distinct functions. J Cell Sci 2000; 113 (Pt 10):1661-70.
- 100. Melino G, De Laurenzi V, Vousden KH. p73: Friend or foe in tumorigenesis. Nat Rev Cancer 2002; 2(8):605-15.
- 101. Melino G, Lu X, Gasco M et al. Functional regulation of p73 and p63: development and cancer. Trends Biochem Sci 2003; 28(12):663-70.
- 102. Concin N, Becker K, Slade N et al. Transdominant DeltaTAp73 isoforms are frequently up-regulated in ovarian cancer. Evidence for their role as epigenetic p53 inhibitors in vivo. Cancer Res 2004; 64(7):2449-60.
- 103. Massion PP, Taflan PM, Jamshedur Rahman SM et al. Significance of p63 amplification and overexpression in lung cancer development and prognosis. Cancer Res 2003; 63(21):7113-21.
- 104. Marin MC, Jost CA, Brooks LA et al. A common polymorphism acts as an intragenic modifier of mutant p53 behaviour. Nat Genet 2000; 25(1):47-54.
- 105. Costanzo A, Merlo P, Pediconi N et al. DNA damage-dependent acetylation of p73 dictates the selective activation of apoptotic target genes. Mol Cell 2002; 9(1):175-86.
- Vayssade M, Haddada H, Faridoni-Laurens L et al. P73 functionally replaces p53 in Adriamycin-treated, p53-deficient breast cancer cells. Int J Cancer 2005; 116(6):860-9.
- 107. Moll UM. The Role of p63 and p73 in tumor formation and progression: coming of age toward clinical usefulness. Commentary re: F Koga et al, Impaired p63 expression associates with poor prognosis and uroplakin III expression in invasive urothelial carcinoma of the bladder. Clin Cancer Res 2003; 9:5501-5507; and P Puig et al. p73 Expression in human normal and tumor tissues: loss of p73alpha expression is associated with tumor progression in bladder Cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2003; 9:5642-5651. Clin Cancer Res 2003; 9(15):5437-41.
- 108. Gong JG, Costanzo A, Yang HQ et al. The tyrosine kinase c-Abl regulates p73 in apoptotic response to cisplatin-induced DNA damage. Nature 1999; 399(6738):806-9.
- 109. Lissy NA, Davis PK, Irwin M et al. A common E2F-1 and p73 pathway mediates cell death induced by TCR activation. Nature 2000; 407(6804):642-5.
- 110. Herranz M, Santos J, Salido E et al. Mouse p73 gene maps to the distal part of chromosome 4 and might be involved in the progression of gamma-radiation-induced T-cell lymphomas. Cancer Res 1999; 59(9):2068-71.
- 111. Flores ER, Tsai KY, Crowley D et al. p63 and p73 are required for p53-dependent apoptosis in response to DNA damage. Nature 2002; 416(6880):560-4.
- 112. Talos F, Nemajerova A, Flores ER et al. p73 Suppresses Polyploidy and Aneuploidy in the Absence of Functional p53. Mol Cell 2007; 27(4):647-59.
- 113. Watanabe A, Inokuchi K, Yamaguchi H et al. Near-triploidy and near-tetraploidy in hematological malignancies and mutation of the p53 gene. Clin Lab Haematol 2004; 26(1):25-30.
- 114. Feijoo C, Hall-Jackson C, Wu R et al. Activation of mammalian Chk1 during DNA replication arrest: a role for Chk1 in the intra-S phase checkpoint monitoring replication origin firing. J Cell Biol 2001; 154(5):913-23.
- 115. Blain SW, Scher HI, Cordon-Cardo C et al. p27 as a target for cancer therapeutics. Cancer Cell 2003; 3(2):111-5.
- 116. Cheng M, Olivier P, Diehl JA et al. The p21(Cip1) and p27(Kip1) CDK 'inhibitors' are essential activators of cyclin D-dependent kinases in murine fibroblasts. EMBO J 1999; 18(6):1571-83.
- 117. Toyoshima H, Hunter T. p27, a novel inhibitor of G1 cyclin-Cdk protein kinase activity, is related to p21. Cell 1994; 78(1):67-74.
- 118. Vassilev LT, Tovar C, Chen S et al. Selective small-molecule inhibitor reveals critical mitotic functions of human CDK1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006; 103(28):10660-5.
- 119. Nakayama K, Nagahama H, Minamishima YA et al. Targeted disruption of Skp2 results in accumulation of cyclin E and p27(Kip1), polyploidy and centrosome overduplication. EMBO J 2000; 19(9):2069-81.
- Kossatz U, Dietrich N, Zender L et al. Skp2-dependent degradation of p27kip1 is essential for cell cycle progression. Genes Dev 2004; 18(21):2602-7.
- 121. Garcia P, Frampton J, Ballester A et al. Ectopic expression of cyclin E allows non-endomitotic megakaryoblastic K562 cells to establish rereplication cycles. Oncogene 2000; 19(14):1820-33.
- 122. Matsumura I, Tanaka H, Kawasaki A et al. Increased D-type cyclin expression together with decreased cdc2 activity confers megakaryocytic differentiation of a human thrombopoietin-dependent hematopoietic cell line. J Biol Chem 2000; 275(8):5553-9.

- 123. Vogel C, Kienitz A, Hofmann I et al. Crosstalk of the mitotic spindle assembly checkpoint with p53 to prevent polyploidy. Oncogene 2004; 23(41):6845-53.
- 124. Bartek J, Lukas J. Chk1 and Chk2 kinases in checkpoint control and cancer. Cancer Cell 2003; 3(5):421-9.
- Blint E, Phillips AC, Kozlov S et al. Induction of p57(KIP2) expression by p73beta. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99(6):3529-34.
- 126. Nozell S, Chen X. p21B, a variant of p21(Waf1/Cip1), is induced by the p53 family. Oncogene 2002; 21(8):1285-94.
- 127. Avni D, Yang H, Martelli F et al. Active localization of the retinoblastoma protein in chromatin and its response to S phase DNA damage. Mol Cell 2003; 12(3):735-46.
- 128. Bosco EE, Mayhew CN, Hennigan RF et al. RB signaling prevents replication-dependent DNA double-strand breaks following genotoxic insult. Nucleic Acids Res 2004; 32(1):25-34.
- 129. Gonzalo S, Garcia-Cao M, Fraga MF et al. Role of the RB1 family in stabilizing histone methylation at constitutive heterochromatin. Nat Cell Biol 2005; 7(4):420-8.

Centrosomes, Polyploidy and Cancer Anette Duensing and Stefan Duensing*

Abstract

ancer cells are frequently characterized by ploidy changes including tetra-, poly- or aneuploidy. At the same time, malignant cells often contain supernumerary centrosomes. Aneuploidy and centrosome alterations are both hallmarks of tumor aggressiveness and increase with malignant progression. It has been proposed that aneuploidy results from a sequence of events in which failed mitoses produce tetra-/polyploid cells that enter a subsequent cell division with an increased number of centrosomes and hence with an increased risk for multipolar spindle formation and chromosome missegregation. Although this model attempts to integrate several common findings in cancer cells, it has been difficult to prove. Findings that centrosome aberrations can arise in diploid cells and the uncertain proliferative potential of polyploid cells suggest that alternative routes to chromosomal instability may exist. We discuss here recent results on centrosome biogenesis and the possible link between ploidy changes, centrosome aberrations and cancer.

Introduction

Genomic instability is a hallmark of cancer and tumor cells frequently contain grossly altered genomes with a tetra-, polyploid or aneuploid chromosomal content.¹ In addition to ploidy changes, the vast majority of cancers harbor tumor cells with abnormal centrosome numbers.²³ Centrosomes function as major microtubule organizing centers in animal and human cells and contribute to the organization of the mitotic spindle.⁴ Aberrant multipolar mitoses have been long recognized as hallmarks of cancer. Whether centrosome aberrations are a cause or consequence of genomic instability, however, is still under debate; it is very likely that both are correct.⁵⁻⁷

The incidence of centrosome aberrations and aneuploidy in many advanced stage malignancies has led to the general belief that abnormal centrosome numbers are a consequence of tetra-/ polyploidy after a failed mitosis. Aneuploidy would be a result of a two-step process in which the accumulated centrosomes in tetraploid cells increase the risk of chromosome missegregation when cells re-enter the cell division cycle.^{6,8} This model attempts to integrate several key findings in tumor cells; however, the question whether cells that have failed cell division once can re-enter mitosis and produce viable and genomically unstable daughter cells has been difficult to prove. This is exemplified by the finding that a fusion of two diploid cells to induce tetraploidy does not necessarily provoke aneuploidy⁹⁻¹¹ and that inactivation of p53 is needed to prompt such outcome.¹² These results leave the possibility that polyploidy and aneuploidy may develop independently, at least at early stages of neoplastic progression when p53 function is often normal. Moreover, tumors can contain numerous cells with aberrant centrosome numbers without signs of ongoing genomic instability¹³ whereas, on the contrary, genomically unstable tumors can contain normal centrosome numbers.¹⁴ Centrosome accumulation after failed mitosis is not the only pathway that

*Corresponding Author: Stefan Duensing—Molecular Virology Program, University of Pittsburgh Cancer Institute, Hillman Cancer Center, Research Pavilion Suite 1.8, 5117 Centre Avenue, Pittsburgh, Pennslyvania 15213, USA. Email: duensing@pitt.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. can lead to aberrant centrosome numbers and oncogenic stimuli that rapidly disrupt the centrosome duplication cycle in otherwise normal diploid cells have been identified, for example the human papillomavirus Type 16 (HPV-16) E7 oncoprotein.¹⁵ In addition, there are reports showing that the frequency of centrosome-induced spindle abnormalities in metaphase cells may not be mirrored by a similar increase of such alterations in ana- or telophase, suggesting that many cells undergoing multipolar mitosis are unlikely to ultimately produce daughter cells.¹⁶

This chapter describes distinct mechanisms leading to centrosome amplification and discusses their potential impact on genome integrity. Mechanisms leading to ploidy alterations and possible consequences with respect to centrosome-mediated chromosomal instability are highlighted.

The Centrosome Duplication Cycle

Centrosomes function as major microtubule-organizing centers in most animal and human cells. During mitosis, centrosomes contribute to the organization of the mitotic spindle. Centrosomes have been implicated in various other cellular processes, many of which involve cell polarization.¹⁷ It is noteworthy that centrioles, the core forming units of centrosomes, have important functions in the formation of sensory and motile cilia by forming basal bodies.¹⁸

Centrosomes typically contain two centrioles, short microtubule cylinders that are embedded in pericentriolar material (PCM). Nondividing cells contain a single centrosome which duplicates prior to mitosis in synchrony with the cell division cycle.¹⁹ The morphological changes that occur during this process are well characterized; the molecular basis of centrosome duplication, however, is much less well understood. One molecular player that has recently been identified is separase. This protein is involved in the earliest steps of centrosome duplication, the movement of the two centrioles from a perpendicular arrangement to a near parallel position during G1 phase of the cell division cycle (centriole disengagement).²⁰ During the subsequent S phase, single daughter centrioles form in close proximity to the pre-existing centrioles (mother centrioles). This process involves regulation by Polo-like kinase 4 (PLK4) and HsSAS-6.^{21,22} In addition, cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK2) has been implicated in the regulation of centriole duplication. However, CDK2-deficient cells have no apparent centrosome anomalies²³ but it is possible that compensatory CDKs maintain normal centrosome duplication. Nonetheless, CDK2 is indispensable for oncogene-induced centrosome overduplication.²³The precise role of CDKs and whether they function directly at the centrosome awaits further clarification. At the end of G2 phase, each maternal centriole has nucleated a single daughter centriole and the two centriole pairs separate in late G2. The two centriole pairs now start to move to the opposite spindle poles, which is accompanied by a massive increase of their microtubule-nucleating capacity. The centrosomes then participate in mitotic spindle formation and its three-dimensional orientation. Although mitotic spindles can form without centrosomes,²⁴ there is evidence that the presence of centrosomes is important for proper completion of cell division and the generation of viable progeny.²⁵

In the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, a cascade of events that controls centrosome duplication has been characterized.²⁶⁻²⁸ The process is initiated by CDK2-mediated recruitment of the SPD-2 protein to centrioles. SPD-2 is then involved in the recruitment of the ZYG-1 kinase, which in turn recruits two additional proteins, SAS-5 and SAS-6. The latter two have been implicated in the formation of the central tube, the first step of pro-centriole formation.²⁹ Next, the SAS-4 protein mediates the assembly of microtubules onto the central tube (*C. elegans* centrioles consist of singlet microtubules and not of triplets as in mammalian cells). Although it is conceivable that higher organisms have a more complex network of proteins that regulate centriole biogenesis, recent results suggest a surprisingly high level of conservation.²¹⁻²²

Aberrant Centrosome Numbers in Cancer Cells

Numerical and/or structural centrosome abnormalities have been detected in virtually all human cancers.³⁰ Many cancer cells contain more than the normal one or two centrosomes and such aberrations are easily detected using antibodies against the pericentriolar material such as γ-tubulin.³¹ Structural centrosomal aberrations are typically recognized by an increase in centrosome size and



Figure 1. Multipolar mitoses are hallmarks of cancer. Bipolar mitotic spindle (left) in comparision to multipolar metaphases (middle, right) detected by immunofluorescence microscopic analysis of control tissue (left) or high-risk HPV-associated neoplasms (middle, right) for the PCM marker γ-tubulin (green). Note the increase of chromosomal material associated with both multipolar mitoses, a finding that commonly indicates a polyploidy/aneuploid chromosomal content. Chromosomes stained with DAPI. Scale bar indicates 50 µm.

an irregular shape and/or fragmentation of centrioles.³² Together with centrosomal aberrations, abnormal multipolar mitoses are considered hallmarks of malignant tumors (Fig. 1) and were suggested as a potential source of genomically unstable tumor cells more than 100 years ago.⁵ Several studies suggest that the frequency of centrosome aberrations in tumors correlates with increased aneuploidy and certain clinical characteristics that reflect tumor aggressiveness.³³⁻³⁵

Multiple Pathways Can Lead to Aberrant Centrosome Numbers: Studies Using Human Papillomavirus (HPV) Oncoproteins

Tumor viruses are elegant tools to explore basic mechanisms of cellular transformation and chromosomal instability because of the limited number of oncogenic proteins that they encode. Human papillomaviruses (HPVs) are the cause of cervical cancer and have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of squamous cell carcinomas of other anatomic locations such anal or oral carcinomas.³⁶ High-risk HPV types such as HPV-16 encode two major transforming oncogenes, E6 and E7. These oncoproteins function during the viral life cycle to promote efficient replication of the viral genomes.³⁷ Remarkably, they do so by subverting host cell tumor suppressor pathways that normally restrict DNA replication and that are also altered in the vast majority of nonvirus-associated malignancies.³⁸ Whereas a major function of the high-risk HPV E6 oncoprotein is to target the p53 tumor suppressor, the high-risk HPV E7 oncoprotein binds and inactivates the pRB tumor suppressor as well as the pRB family members p107 and p130 and interacts with a number of other host cell proteins.³⁹

Both HPV-16 E6 and E7 can stimulate abnormal centrosome numbers in primary human cells when expressed under stable conditions.¹⁵ In striking contrast, transient overexpression of HPV-16 E6 or E7 revealed that only the HPV-16 E7 oncoprotein can rapidly induce abnormal centrosome numbers when expressed for approximately 48 h. In contrast, HPV-16 E6 had no effect on centrosome numbers under transient conditions. Further analyses showed that the unique property of HPV-16 E7 to stimulate aberrant centrosome numbers within a short period of time was associated with an excessive formation of daughter centrioles.⁴⁰ Moreover, HPV-16 E7 was able to provoke numerical centrosome aberrations in morphologically normal, diploid cells and hence as a potential cause of cell division errors.⁴⁰ Recently it was found that HPV-16 E7 stimulates centriole overduplication through a pathway that involves the concurrent formation of more than one daughter centriole at a single maternal centriole (Fig. 2).⁴¹ Interestingly, such phenotype is normally limited to multiciliated epithelial cells that produce numerous basal bodies during ciliogenesis.⁴²

The HPV-16 E6 oncoprotein was found to stimulate abnormal centrosome numbers mostly in parallel with significant nuclear atypia including multinucleation and micronuclei.⁴⁰ There was a correlation between the degree of nuclear alterations and centrosome aberrations, indicating



Figure 2. Centriole overduplication through formation of more than one daughter per maternal centriole. Electron micrograph of a normal mother-daughter centriole pair (left) and a mother centriole that nucleates the concurrent formation of two daughter centrioles (arrows). Such phenotype has been identified, for example, in cells expressing the HPV-16 E7 oncoprotein. Scale bar indicates 500 nm.

that these changes developed in parallel. Many of these cells were terminally growth arrested and therefore unable to produce viable progeny (see also below). It is hence likely that centrosome aberrations in HPV-16 E6-expressing cells develop as a consequence of genomic instability reflected by the gross nuclear changes and not as a potential cause as in HPV-16 E7-expressing cells. Moreover, the finding that nuclei of HPV-16 E6 expressing cells were frequently enlarged suggested that these cells were also polyploid. Based on these findings, we have proposed that distinct mechanisms can lead to aberrant centrosome numbers in tumor cells as outlined below. Importantly, the impact on genome integrity may vary depending on the mechanism and the cellular background of abnormal centrosome formation.⁴³

Mechanisms of Centrosome Amplification in Tumor Cells

Primary Centrosome Overduplication

Primary centrosome overduplication should be considered when excessive numbers of immature centrioles are induced within a single cell division cycle. The discovery of proteins that specifically label mature centrioles such as ninein⁴⁴ or Cep170⁴⁵ has been instrumental in proving the existence of this mechanism. In addition, at least a fraction of such changes should occur in morphologically normal diploid cells. Whether oncogenic stimuli that rapidly induce supernumerary centrioles always trigger a concurrent formation of more than one daughter centriole in the presence of a single maternal centriole as recently reported for HPV-16 E7⁴¹ remains to be determined. A similar phenotype has been reported in cells overexpressing Polo-like-kinase 4 (PLK4) and HsSAS-6.^{21,22}Given the rapid induction of abnormal centrosome numbers in cells that have not yet acquired a highly abnormal phenotype, it is likely that primary centrosome overduplication increases the risk for cell division errors in subsequent mitoses.

Recently, loss of the CDK inhibitor p21^{Cip1} was found to stimulate centriole overduplication in murine myeloblasts.⁴⁶ This finding, together with the results obtained with HPV-16 E7, raise the possibility that an impaired p21^{Cip1}-cyclin-CDK2-pRB signaling axis is a frequent stimulus for centriole overduplication.

In breast cancer, centrosome amplification in the absence of genomic instability has been reported. Intriguingly, aberrant centrosome numbers were detected independently of p53 inactivation and it is thus possible that certain oncogenic insults involved in breast carcinogenesis function as a trigger for primary centrosome overduplication.⁴⁷



Figure 3. Centrosome accumulation in a malignant tumor. Immunofluorescence analysis of a high-risk HPV-associated squamous cell carcinoma for the PCM marker γ -tubulin (green) and a marker for mature maternal centrioles, Cep170 (red). Note the presence of multiple centrosomes that colocalize with Cep170, indicating an accumulation of mature mother centrioles (in the case of primary centrosome overduplication, only a single centrosome would be Cep170 positive since the supernumerary centrioles would be immature). Nuclei stained with DAPI. Scale bar indicates 25 μ m.

Permanent Centrosome Accumulation

In contrast to a primary centrosome duplication error, centrosome accumulation is characterized by the generation of supernumerary centrosomes that does not involve uncontrolled centrosome synthesis but cellular insults that lead to an impaired segregation of centrosomes into daughter cells (for example, cytokinesis defects). The very nature of this mechanism makes it unlikely that centrosomes contribute to cell division errors. Although only long-term live cell imaging can provide an ultimate proof, there is circumstantial evidence that cells with centrosome accumulation have lost the ability to generate daughter cells. Human keratinocytes stably expressing the HPV-16 E6 oncoprotein were found to contain abnormal numbers of centrosomes together with a highly altered nuclear morphology, in particular multinucleation and micronuclei. Approximately one-third of these cells were positive when tested for senescence-associated β -galactosidase activity, indicating a permanent cell cycle arrest.⁴⁰ Interestingly, more than 40% of cells were still expressing the proliferation marker Ki67, indicating active DNA replication despite the presence of multiple nuclei.⁴⁰ It is likely that such cells undergo repeated rounds of DNA replication without producing daughter cells. HPV-16 E6 inactivates p53⁴⁸ and it is noteworthy that p53-deficient cells can also become multinucleated, in particular at later passage numbers.⁴⁹ Despite the fact that p53 can also more directly interfere with centrosome homeostasis,⁵⁰ the high frequency of p53 inactivation in human cancers suggests that centrosome accumulation may be the prevailing mechanism for supernumerary centrosomes in tumors (Fig. 3).



Figure 4. Ploidy changes and centrosome aberrations are in tumor cells. Normal centrosome duplication and bipolar mitotic spindle formation (A) in comparison to centrosome overduplication (B) and centrosome accumulation (C). A defect of the centriole duplication cycle itself (for example induced by the HPV-16 E7 oncoprotein) can lead to an overduplication of centrioles in otherwise normal diploid cells (B). In a subsequent mitosis, a multipolar mitotic spindle may form from which various outcomes can be envisioned. If viable daughter cells are produced, they may become aneuploid. However, the chromosomal alterations may also be detrimental, forcing cells into apoptosis. Another possibility would be that the spindle defects cause cells to adapt and re-enter a G1-like state with a tetraploid chromosomal content. It needs to be pointed out that centrosome aberrations per se have not been implicated in mitotic spindle checkpoint activation. However, prolonged activation of the mitotic spindle checkpoint (bolt of lightening) may lead to abortive mitosis and cells with a tetraploid chromosomal content and accumulation of supernumerary centrosomes (C). If such cells are able to re-enter the cell division cycle (promoted, for example, by p53 deficiency), they would not only replicate their DNA and become polyploid but also duplicate their centrosomes leading to an increased risk for multipolar mitoses. The outcome, again, would be aneuploidy (if daughter cells are viable) or cell death. Another possibility would be a permanent growth arrest and senescence. Note that centrosome coalescence can potentially alleviate centrosome-mediated cell division errors by formation of an essentially bipolar spindle despite the presence of multiple centrosomes.

More direct evidence for centrosome accumulation in cells unable to complete cell division stems from experiments in which p21^{Cip1}- or p53-deficient cells were exposed to DNA damage and then followed through mitosis by time-lapse videomicroscopy. Although such cells did enter mitosis, they were found to be unable to complete cytokinesis. Such cells were frequently binucleated and/or contained chromatin bridges,⁵¹ similar to cells expressing the HPV-16 E6 oncoprotein.⁵² Furthermore, these results highlight that identical oncogenic insults i.e., loss of p21^{Cip1}, may stimulate distinct pathways leading to aberrant centrosome numbers suggesting that

primary centrosome overduplication and centrosome accumulation may co-exist in cell populations and maybe even in the same cell.

Transient Centrosome Accumulation

The idea that cells with a diploid karyotype can become genomically unstable through an abnormal multipolar mitosis has raised concerns regarding cell viability since major chromosomal gains and/or losses in diploid cells may be detrimental. It has hence been proposed that cell division errors as a cause of genomic instability are more likely to occur in cells that enter mitosis with a tetraploid chromosome content. Tetraploid cells can arise through multiple mechanisms including endoreduplication of DNA, abortive mitosis, rereplication of DNA (i.e., re-initiation of DNA replication before completion of S phase) or cell fusion (see also below). It is conceivable that all these conditions lead to cells that contain more than the normal number of centrosomes (Fig. 4). One can imagine that re-entry into the cell division cycle of such cells is very likely to be associated with increased numbers of spindle poles. Whether cells are able to re-enter the cell division cycle may depend mainly on the p53 status but it is probable that other checkpoint proteins are also involved.⁵³ Possible consequences include multi- or tetrapolar spindle formation or spindles where two or more centrosomes function together as one spindle pole (coalescence).⁵⁴ It is noteworthy that centrosome coalescence could lead to more subtle changes of spindle function resulting in chromosome segregation defects that cells are able to cope with even when they are diploid. Examples of oncogenic stimuli that may lead to a transient centrosome accumulation, in particular in the absence of p53, are overexpression of Aurora-A or Polo-like kinase 1 (PLK1).8 In addition, various other oncogenic insults such as inactivation of BRCA1, BRCA2 or SKP255-57 have been shown to cause centrosome amplification together with increased ploidy.

Aberrant Centrosome Numbers as a Consequence of Polyploidy— Implications for Genomic Instability in Cancer

Since ploidy alterations and numerical centrosome anomalies frequently coincide in tumor cells, the following paragraphs discuss different pathways to ploidy alterations, how they may affect centrosome numbers and the potential outcome regarding chromosomal instability.

Endoreduplication

Polyploidy per se is not pathological and several cell types in humans, including megakaryocytes or trophoblast cells, normally contain a polyploid chromosomal content. In addition, regenerative processes can increase the proportion of polyploid cells in certain tissues, for example in the liver. It is believed that nonmalignant polyploid cells have undergone rounds of endoreduplication of their genomes. During this process, DNA replication is not followed by a productive cell division. Megakaryocytes enter mitosis and form a mitotic spindle but do not complete cytokinesis.⁵⁸ Such cells can contain dozens of centrosomes and centrioles,⁵⁹ which underscores the notion that polyploidization can cause accumulation of multiple centrosomes. Daughter cells are usually not generated and it is, therefore, unlikely that endoreduplication increases the risk for chromosomal instability.

Abortive Mitoses

Cell cycle checkpoints are commonly disrupted in cancer cells, which may permit progression of cells beyond the G2/M checkpoint and into mitosis despite the presence of altered DNA or other cellular abnormalities. The mitotic spindle checkpoint is the major checkpoint that is active during mitosis and it monitors proper attachment of spindle microtubules to the kinetochores of mitotic chromosomes. The checkpoint becomes activated when spindle microtubules are not properly attached to kinetochores and delay anaphase onset. There is increasing evidence that other cellular insults including genotoxic stress can also delay or block anaphase entry.⁶⁰ The meta- to anaphase transition may hence function as a last line of defense to prevent the propagation of altered chromosomes. It is important to consider, however, what the fate of cells that have been arrested during mitosis may be. Besides undergoing apoptosis directly from mitosis (mitotic

catastrophe), it is possible that cells undergo adaptation during which they enter a G1-like state and decondense their chromosomes with a tetraploid chromosomal content.⁶¹ It has been suggested that in this situation the cell fate critically depends on the p53 status. Based on the fact that cells with impaired p53 function can re-enter the cell cycle after prolonged spindle disruption, a tetraploidy checkpoint has been proposed.⁶² Whether this p53-dependent postmitotic arrest is in fact triggered by increased ploidy or by other changes associated with spindle disruption and/ or cytoskeletal aberrations remains controversial.^{10,11}

Regardless of whether a ploidy checkpoint exists, there is solid evidence that p53-deficient cells are prone to initiate multiple rounds of DNA replication.⁶³ It has recently been reported that p53-deficient tetraploid cells become aneuploid and such cells were found to be able to form tumors in vivo.¹² The precise role of tetraploidy is difficult to ascertain from these experiments but it has been proposed that altered ploidy in yeast profoundly affects cell homeostasis and genome integrity.⁶⁴ As expected, the majority of tumor cells derived from tetraploid p53-deficient tumor cells contained supernumerary centrosomes.¹² It is conceivable that abortive mitoses generally lead to centrosome accumulation and that the genetic background of a cell determines whether it arrests permanently or re-enters mitosis. In the latter case, centrosome aberrations would increase the risk for multipolar spindles and chromosome missegregation. A detailed analysis of centrosome-mediated chromosomal instability after tetraploidization, however, has not yet been performed.

Cell Fusion

It has been proposed that cells can fuse under various conditions and that cell fusion may be a particularly common event in malignant tumors.⁶⁵ Such a mechanism would lead to tetraploid or polyploid cells and such cells would likely contain supernumerary centrosomes. Fusion events between differentiated normal cells have been shown to result in multinucleated cells that are unable to proliferate. Fusion events between malignant cells have been proposed to result in cells that are capable of producing viable progeny, a prerequisite for centrosome-mediated cell division errors and chromosomal instability. However, the survival rate of cell fusion products (hybrids) is low, suggesting that cell fusion is followed by massive cell death or permanent growth arrest in the vast majority of cells.⁶⁵ Whether cell fusion exists in primary human tumors and the contribution of fused tumor cells to chromosomal instability remains elusive. If such a mechanism can be substantiated and cells are capable of producing viable daughter cells, it is likely that supernumerary centrosomes may contribute to cell division errors and chromosomal instability.

DNA Rereplication

Another mechanism that can lead to tetra- or polyploidy is DNA rereplication i.e., an initiation of DNA replication before the previous S phase is completed.⁶⁶ It is conceivable that this can lead to aberrant DNA structures and it was found that rereplication of DNA causes an activation of DNA damage checkpoints. A prolonged DNA damage checkpoint activation, however, may allow centrosome overduplication in G2 phase.⁶⁷ In addition, overexpression of cyclin E, which is detected in many cancers, may trigger rereplication of DNA by inactivation of geminin, a major inhibitor of licensing of DNA replication.⁶⁶ At the same time, cyclin E has been implicated in centrosome overduplication.⁶⁸ Hence, cells undergoing DNA rereplication may be prone to centrosome-mediated cell division errors, in particular when loss of p53 impedes antiproliferative responses.

Aberrant Centrosome Numbers as a Cause of Polyploidy

The question whether centrosome aberrations can be a cause of polyploidy has not been addressed in detail. Previous studies suggest that a "centrosome checkpoint" which would block the progression of multipolar metaphases^{69,70} into anaphase does not exist. Nonetheless, there are reports showing a discrepancy between the frequency of multipolarity in metaphase cells in comparison to anaphase cells,^{40,71} which raises the question whether other yet to be identified mechanisms can hinder progression from multipolar metaphase into later stages of mitosis. A failure of such cells to complete cytokinesis would result in increased ploidy and centrosome accumulation (Fig. 4). As discussed above, the further cell fate would likely be determined by the genetic background, specifically the p53 status.

Conclusion

Altered ploidy and centrosome aberrations are hallmarks of malignant growth and frequently arise concomitantly in tumor cells. This coincidence has led to the idea that tetra- or polyploid cells represent "seeds" of chromosomal instability. However, there are clearly examples where the formation of supernumerary centrosomes does not require an altered ploidy and that tetraploid cells do not necessarily become aneuploid. A key task for the future will be to ascertain the frequency at which cells that have failed mitosis once will re-enter mitosis and give rise to viable progeny. Moreover, the role of centrosome-mediated cell division errors in chromosomal instability requires further investigation since many studies have shown significant underrepresentation of multipolar ana- or telophase cells when compared to metaphases. In future studies, it will be important to distinguish between centrosome aberrations that have the potential to trigger cell division errors and those that merely are a side effect of cellular insults. Such studies will be critical for the use of centrosome aberrations as surrogate biomarkers of chromosomal instability and tumor progression.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Ole Gjoerup for critical reading of the manuscript. Work in the authors' laboratory is supported by PHS grant NIH/NCI R01 CA112598, an American Cancer Society Research Scholar Grant (to S.D.), the Susan G. Komen for the Cure Foundation, The Pittsburgh Foundation GLBT Health and Wellness Fund and, in part, by a grant from the Pennsylvania Department of Health. The Department specifically disclaims responsibility for any analyses, interpretations or conclusions.

References

- 1. Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5:45-54.
- Nigg EA. Origins and consequences of centrosome aberrations in human cancers. Int J Cancer 2006; 119:2717-23.
- Pihan GA, Purohit A, Wallace J et al. Centrosome defects and genetic instability in malignant tumors. Cancer Res 1998; 58:3974-85.
- 4. Azimzadeh J, Bornens M. Structure and duplication of the centrosome. J Cell Sci 2007; 120:2139-42.
- 5. Boveri T. Zur Frage der Entstehung maligner Tumoren. Jena: G. Fischer, 1914.
- 6. Nigg EA. Centrosome aberrations: cause or consequence of cancer progression? Nature Rev Cancer 2002; 2:1-11.
- Duensing S, Munger K. Centrosome abnormalities, genomic instability and carcinogenic progression. Biochim Biophys Acta 2001; 2:M81-8.
- Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA. Aurora-A overexpression reveals tetraploidization as a major route to centrosome amplification in p53–/– cells. EMBO J 2002; 21:483-92.
- 9. Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instability in colorectal cancers. Nature 1997; 386:623-7.
- 10. Stukenberg PT. Triggering p53 after cytokinesis failure. J Cell Biol 2004; 165:607-8.
- Uetake Y, Sluder G. Cell cycle progression after cleavage failure: mammalian somatic cells do not possess a "tetraploidy checkpoint". J Cell Biol 2004; 165:609-15.
- Fujiwara T, Bandi M, Nitta M et al. Cytokinesis failure generating tetraploids promotes tumorigenesis in p53-null cells. Nature 2005; 437:1043-7.
- 13. Duensing S, Lee BH, Dal Cin P et al. Excessive centrosome abnormalities without ongoing numerical chromosome instability in a Burkitt's lymphoma. Mol Cancer 2003; 2:30.
- Martin-Subero JI, Knippschild U, Harder L et al. Segmental chromosomal aberrations and centrosome amplifications: pathogenetic mechanisms in Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells of classical Hodgkin's lymphoma? Leukemia 2003; 17:2214-9.
- 15. Duensing S, Lee LY, Duensing A et al. The human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 oncoproteins cooperate to induce mitotic defects and genomic instability by uncoupling centrosome duplication from the cell division cycle. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:10002-7.

- Duensing S, Münger K. The human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 oncoproteins independently induce numerical and structural chromosome instability. Cancer Res 2002; 62:7075-82.
- 17. Nigg EA. Centrosomes in Development and Disease. Weinheim, Germany: Wiley-VCH, 2004.
- Badano JL, Teslovich TM, Katsanis N. The centrosome in human genetic disease. Nat Rev Genet 2005; 6:194-205.
- 19. Sluder G. Centrosome duplication and its regulation in the higher animal cell. In: Nigg EA, ed. Centrosomes in Development and Disease. Weinheim, Germany: Wiley-VCH, 2004:167-89.
- 20. Tsou MF, Stearns T. Mechanism limiting centrosome duplication to once per cell cycle. Nature 2006.
- Kleylein-Sohn J, Westendorf J, Le Clech M et al. Plk4-induced centriole biogenesis in human cells. Dev Cell 2007; 13:190-202.
- 22. Strnad P, Leidel S, Vinogradova T et al. Regulated HsSAS-6 Levels Ensure Formation of a Single Procentriole per Centriole during the Centrosome Duplication Cycle. Dev Cell 2007; 13:203-13.
- 23. Duensing A, Liu Y, Tseng M et al. Cyclin-dependent kinase 2 is dispensable for normal centrosome duplication but required for oncogene-induced centrosome overduplication. Oncogene 2006; 25:2943-9.
- 24. Khodjakov A, Cole RW, Oakley BR et al. Centrosome-independent mitotic spindle formation in vertebrates. Curr Biol 2000; 10:59-67.
- 25. Khodjakov A, Rieder CL. Centrosomes enhance the fidelity of cytokinesis in vertebrates and are required for cell cycle progression. J Cell Biol 2001; 153:237-42.
- Leidel S, Gonczy P. Centrosome duplication and nematodes: recent insights from an old relationship. Dev Cell 2005; 9:317-25.
- 27. Bettencourt-Dias M, Glover DM. Centrosome biogenesis and function: centrosomics brings new understanding. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007; 8:451-63.
- 28. Nigg EA. Centrosome duplication: of rules and licenses. Trends Cell Biol 2007; 17:215-21.
- 29. Pelletier L, O'Toole E, Schwager A et al. Centriole assembly in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 2006; 444:619-23.
- 30. Salisbury JL, Whitehead CM, Lingle WL et al. Centrosomes and cancer. Biol Cell 1999; 91:451-60.
- Stearns T, Evans L, Kirschner M. Gamma-tubulin is a highly conserved component of the centrosome. Cell 1991; 65:825-36.
- 32. Lingle WL, Salisbury JL. Altered centrosome structure is associated with abnormal mitoses in human breast tumors. Am J Pathol 1999; 155:1941-51.
- 33. Skyldberg B, Fujioka K, Hellstrom AC et al. Human papillomavirus infection, centrosome aberration and genetic stability in cervical lesions. Mod Pathol 2001; 14:279-84.
- 34. D'Assoro AB, Barrett SL, Folk C et al. Amplified centrosomes in breast cancer: a potential indicator of tumor aggressiveness. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2002; 75:25-34.
- Gustafson LM, Gleich LL, Fukasawa K et al. Centrosome hyperamplification in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: a potential phenotypic marker of tumor aggressiveness. Laryngoscope 2000; 110:1798-801.
- 36. zur Hausen H. Viruses in human cancers. Science 1991; 254:1167-73.
- Longworth MS, Laimins LA. Pathogenesis of human papillomaviruses in differentiating epithelia. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2004; 68:362-72.
- Munger K, Howley PM. Human papillomavirus immortalization and transformation functions. Virus Res 2002; 89:213-28.
- 39. Munger K, Basile JR, Duensing S et al. Biological activities and molecular targets of the human papillomavirus E7 oncoprotein. Oncogene 2001; 20:7888-98.
- 40. Duensing S, Duensing A, Crum CP et al. Human papillomavirus type 16 E7 oncoprotein-induced abnormal centrosome synthesis is an early event in the evolving malignant phenotype. Cancer Res 2001; 61:2356-60.
- Duensing A, Liu Y, Perdreau SA et al. Centriole overduplication through the concurrent formation of multiple daughter centrioles at single maternal templates. Oncogene 2007.
- 42. Anderson RG, Brenner RM. The formation of basal bodies (centrioles) in the Rhesus monkey oviduct. J Cell Biol 1971; 50:10-34.
- 43. Duensing S. A tentative classification of centrosome abnormalities in cancer. Cell Biol Int 2005; 29:352-9.
- 44. Mogensen MM, Malik A, Piel M et al. Microtubule minus-end anchorage at centrosomal and noncentrosomal sites: the role of ninein. J Cell Sci 2000; 113 (Pt 17):3013-23.
- 45. Guarguaglini G, Duncan PI, Stierhof YD et al. The forkhead-associated domain protein Cep170 interacts with Polo-like kinase 1 and serves as a marker for mature centrioles. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:1095-107.
- 46. Duensing A, Ghanem L, Steinman RA et al. p21(Waf1/Cip1) deficiency stimulates centriole overduplication. Cell Cycle 2006; 5:2899-902.

- Lingle WL, Barrett SL, Negron VC et al. Centrosome amplification drives chromosomal instability in breast tumor development. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99:1978-83.
- Scheffner M, Werness BA, Huibregtse JM et al. The E6 oncoprotein encoded by human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 promotes the degradation of p53. Cell 1990; 63:1129-36.
- Duensing A, Teng X, Liu Y et al. A role of the mitotic spindle checkpoint in the cellular response to DNA replication stress. J Cell Biochem 2006; in press.
- 50. Shinmura K, Bennett RA, Tarapore P et al. Direct evidence for the role of centrosomally localized p53 in the regulation of centrosome duplication. Oncogene 2007; 26:2939-44.
- 51. Bunz F, Dutriaux A, Lengauer C et al. Requirement for p53 and p21 to sustain G2 arrest after DNA damage. Science 1998; 282:1497-501.
- 52. Plug-DeMaggio AW, Sundsvold T, Wurscher MA et al. Telomere erosion and chromosomal instability in cells expressing the HPV oncogene 16E6. Oncogene 2004; 23:3561-71.
- Zachos G, Gillespie DA. Exercising restraints: role of Chk1 in regulating the onset and progression of unperturbed mitosis in vertebrate cells. Cell Cycle 2007; 6:810-3.
- 54. Brinkley BR. Managing the centrosome numbers game: from chaos to stability in cancer cell division. Trends Cell Biol 2001; 11:18-21.
- 55. Xu X, Weaver Z, Linke SP et al. Centrosome amplification and a defective G2-M cell cycle checkpoint induce genetic instability in BRCA1 exon 11 isoform-deficient cells. Mol Cell 1999; 3:389-95.
- Nakayama K, Nagahama H, Minamishima YA et al. Targeted disruption of Skp2 results in accumulation of cyclin E and p27(Kip1), polyploidy and centrosome overduplication. EMBO J 2000; 19:2069-81.
- 57. Tutt A, Gabriel A, Bertwistle D et al. Absence of Brca2 causes genome instability by chromosome breakage and loss associated with centrosome amplification. Curr Biol 1999; 9:1107-10.
- Geddis AE, Fox NE, Tkachenko E et al. Endomitotic megakaryocytes that form a bipolar spindle exhibit cleavage furrow ingression followed by furrow regression. Cell Cycle 2007; 6:455-60.
- Vitrat N, Cohen-Solal K, Pique C et al. Endomitosis of human megakaryocytes are due to abortive mitosis. Blood 1998; 91:3711-23.
- Weaver BA, Cleveland DW. Decoding the links between mitosis, cancer and chemotherapy: The mitotic checkpoint, adaptation and cell death. Cancer Cell 2005; 8:7-12.
- Lanni JS, Jacks T. Characterization of the p53-dependent postmitotic checkpoint following spindle disruption. Mol Cell Biol 1998; 18:1055-64.
- 62. Borel F, Lohez OD, Lacroix FB et al. Multiple centrosomes arise from tetraploidy checkpoint failure and mitotic centrosome clusters in p53 and RB pocket protein-compromised cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99:9819-24.
- Duensing A, Duensing S. Guilt by association? p53 and the development of aneuploidy in cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 331:694-700.
- 64. Storchova Z, Breneman A, Cande J et al. Genome-wide genetic analysis of polyploidy in yeast. Nature 2006; 443:541-7.
- 65. Duelli D, Lazebnik Y. Cell fusion: a hidden enemy? Cancer Cell 2003; 3:445-8.
- 66. Blow JJ, Dutta A. Preventing rereplication of chromosomal DNA. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005; 6:476-86.
- Dodson H, Bourke E, Jeffers LJ et al. Centrosome amplification induced by DNA damage occurs during a prolonged G2 phase and involves ATM. EMBO J 2004; 23:3864-73.
- Mussman JG, Horn HF, Carroll PE et al. Synergistic induction of centrosome hyperamplification by loss of p53 and cyclin E overexpression. Oncogene 2000; 19:1635-46.
- 69. Sluder G, Thompson EA, Miller FJ et al. The checkpoint control for anaphase onset does not monitor excess numbers of spindle poles or bipolar spindle symmetry. J Cell Sci 1997; 1997:421-9.
- Wong C, Stearns T. Mammalian cells lack checkpoints for tetraploidy, aberrant centrosome number and cytokinesis failure. BMC Cell Biol 2005; 6:6.
- Duensing S, Lee BH, Dal Cin P et al. Excessive centrosome abnormalities without ongoing numerical chromosome instability in a Burkitt's lymphoma. Mol Cancer 2003; 2:30.

Chapter 7

Polyploidy: Mechanisms and Cancer Promotion in Hematopoietic and Other Cells

Hao G. Nguyen and Katya Ravid*

Abstract

Polyploidy, the state of having greater than a diploid content of DNA (e.g., tetraploid, octaploid, etc) has been recognized in a large variety of both, plant and animal cells. Human and murine megakaryocytes, hepatocytes, arterial smooth muscle cells and cardiac myocytes, all develop a certain degree of polyploidy during their normal lifespan. In addition, polyploid cells may be found in some tissues under conditions of stress, including uterine smooth muscle during pregnancy, aortic vascular smooth muscle cells during aging and hypertension, beta-cells in diabetic human or mouse thyroid cells in hyperthyroidism and cells in seminal vesicles with aging. Polyploid cells are also found in malignant tissues in which they are believed to contribute to the development of cells with intermediate DNA content values (e.g., 3n, 4.5n, etc.) (reviewed in refs. 1,2). With the use of micro-array, researchers have demonstrated that genetically identical yeast strains (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) with differences only in ploidy status (from haploid to tetraploid) display a substantial difference in gene expression, including of the G1 cyclins.³ This finding has suggested that DNA content per se might affect cellular functions.

Overview: Characteristics of Polyploidy and Its Induction Under Different Conditions

Currently, the relationships between polyploidy and aneuploidy has not been studied extensively considering the prominent role of genetic instability in tumorigenesis.⁴ An understanding of the biochemical, gene expression and signaling pathways that drive normal and abnormal polyploidization could lead to useful insights with respect to novel anticancer therapeutic approaches. The occurrence of polyploidy in normal and transformed cells poses a number of questions. Is polyploidy a protective mechanism upon stress, as suggested,^{25,6} or rather a maladaptive response? What mechanisms or signaling pathways are employed by normal developing polyploid cells (e.g., megakaryocytes) to safeguard them from becoming aneuploid?

In megakaryocytes, polyploidization up to 128N can be attained, if the cells undergo repeated endomitotic cell cycles, characterized by a well coordinated entry of cells into a normal early mitotic phase, which includes prophase, metaphase and early anaphase. However, these cells skip late anaphase and cytokinesis (this truncated mitosis is referred to as *polyploidy* via *endomitosis*, reviewed in ref. 2). In contrast, polyploidy may result from another type of truncated mitosis, referred to as *polyploidy* via *abortive mitosis* to describe the generally uncoordinated events that are driven by spindle checkpoint defects or by chemical treatments. These events are often associated with pathological

*Corresponding Author: Katya Ravid—Department of Biochemistry and Whitaker Cardiovascular Institute, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, Massachusetts. Email: ravid@biochem.bumc.bu.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. conditions (reviewed in refs. 1,2,4 and see Illustration 1). It has been shown, in both tissue culture and in transgenic mice, that polyploidy via endomitosis in megakaryocytes is tightly regulated by a series of signaling pathways and gene expressions, including signaling through thrombopoietin (TPO), binding to its receptors c-Mpl^{1,2} and is associated with elevated cyclin D3 expression and a rapid reentry into S-phase.⁷⁻⁹ There is also evidence that these cells possess a gene expression profile that is different from their diploid counterparts, including low expression of the tumor suppressor gene p53¹⁰ in conjunction with high expression of the cell cycle inhibitor p21 to allow a short-lived progression through G1 phase.^{11,12}

Numerous studies have shown that normal diploid cells of other lineages can be induced to undergo polyploidization via endomitosis as a consequence of stress (e.g., hypertension and senescence (reviewed in ref. 2). In addition, polyploid hepatocytes have been shown to increase in number dramatically upon oxidative stress or after partial hepatoectomy.¹³⁻¹⁵ Endothelial cells and fibroblasts have been shown in tissue biopsies and in cell culture to become polyploid upon aging and during tissue repair.^{6.16} Hypertension can induce vascular smooth muscle cells and cardiac myocytes to become polyploid.^{17.18} In these cases, polyploidy is believe to be a protective mechanism, which acts to prevent cellular proliferation in the vasculature or to increase DNA content in order to compensate for mutations introduced by genotoxic agents.^{2.19} On the other hand, tetraploidy (cells with a double diploid DNA content) may reflect tissue damage as in Barret's esophagus,²⁰ in which there is dysplasia of the



Figure 1. Pathways to polyploidy. Left panel) Polyploidy via Endomitosis—a shortened mitosis without anaphase-B and cytokinesis, followed by reentry into G1 phase of cell-cycle. This well-controlled truncated mitosis is a part of megakaryocytes development.^{2,4} Right panel) Polyploidy via Abortive Mitosis—an abrupt termination of mitosis at metaphase, anaphase A, anaphase B or cytokinesis, followed by reentry into the cell-cycle with a tetraploid DNA content. These cells can have a single or multiple nuclei, depending on the timing of the defective events. This phenomenon is often associated with pathological conditions, including cancer (reviewed in refs. 2,4).

esophageal epithelium following repeated exposure to acid reflux. The most pronounced dysplastic changes include the appearance of tetraploid cells and predict for esophageal cancer.²⁰

Tetraploidy can be induced in a variety of ways, including aberrant expression of proteins regulating the G2/M phase (Cyclin-B1, Aurora-A, Forkhead transcription factor M3),^{21,22} mitotic spindle checkpoint proteins (BUBR1, Mad2 Aurora-B, Survivin)^{23,24} leading to abortive cytokinesis. Tetraploidy can also be induced by chemical agents and/or irradiation and be associated with tumorigenesis²⁵⁻²⁷ (see Fig. 1). This latter type of polyploidy is thought to be a by-product of uncoordinated events during mitosis in which a defect in mitotic spindle checkpoint arrest allows for a "mitosis slippage", resulting in cells with truncated mitosis, sometime at anaphase A, other times at anaphase B, or at cytokinesis.²⁸ The resulting tetraploid cells can be cell cycle arrested, undergo apoptosis or continue to the next division, to produce aneuploid daughter cells.²⁹⁻³²

Prevalence of Polyploidy/Aneuploidy in Different Cancers

Polyploidy often precedes aneuploidy during the events of tumorigenesis that are associated with high incidence of malignancy and poor prognosis.^{33,35} It is generally accepted that aneuploidy in cancer cells is the rule and not the exception. Most heterogeneous tumor tissues (colorectal cancer, lung, breast, prostate, renal cell carcinoma, bladder cancer, thyroid cancer, some types of leukemia, glioblastoma and melanoma and rare childhood tumors) contain large populations of aneuploid cells in conjunction with a relatively smaller percentage of polyploid cells.³⁶⁻⁴⁵ Among hematological malignancies, a shift in ploidy is often observed in acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). In addition to a high frequency of translocations, deletions and fusion of chromosomes (70% of adults and 80% of children), a common cytogenetic abnormality in childhood ALL is the occurrence of massive hyper-diploid (defined as having greater than 50-65 chromosomes, a condition observed in 20-30% of the cases). Polyploidy has also been described in choroid plexus carcinoma, a rare form of childhood brain tumor, in which freshly isolated tumor cells were found to have up to 200-400 chromosomes.⁴⁶ Moreover, there is a recent report that primary keratinocytes infected with human papillomavirus (HPV) Type 16 E6, E7 become polyploid, possibly by abortive



Figure 2. Possible models for polyploidy acquisition and tumorigenesis. Shown are the potential events that a cell with diploid, tetraploid or octaploid DNA content may acquire to reach malignant transformation as a function of time. This model predicts that cells with a tetraploid content are more prone to cancer development with a shortest latency period when compared to their counterparts. This model is based on previous works as reviewed in reference 4.

mitosis.⁴⁷ In most solid cancers, the modal chromosome number is near triploid, or near tetraploid. In some instances, the appearance of polyploid cells from a normal diploid cell background may be mediated by the tetraploidy/polyploidy checkpoints. This checkpoint ensures that cells with greater than 2N DNA content do not progress past G1 after exiting from mitosis.²⁹ There are several mechanisms that can be envisioned as causes of a ploidy shift, including doubling of a hyper-haploid cell (defined as having a total of 30-40 chromosomes), a single event of aberrant mitosis, or normal polyploidization with subsequent loss and/or gain of chromosomes.⁴⁸ Because of the high rate of chromosome loss in cycling polyploid cells,^{31,49,50} it is very possible that aneuploidy develops from a tetraploid/polyploid population of cells during tumorigenesis (see Fig. 2).

Cancer Theories: Potential Involvement of Aneuploidy in Cancer Promotion

Malignant cancer cells are generally defined as cells that: (1) escape programmed cell death; (2) enter a proliferative state without mitogenic signals; (3) are unresponsive to antiproliferative signals; (4) escape programmed senescence; 5) metastasize and thrive in different tissues, including recruitment of new blood vessel formation; and (6) can eventually kill the host organism.⁵¹ However, the transforming events that allow cancer cells to develop are not fully understood. Nonetheless, a number of theories focused on multi-step gene mutation,⁵² genomic instability⁵³ and aneuploidy,⁵⁴ offer at least partial explanations for tumorigenesis and the development of cancers.

The Somatic Gene Mutation Theory

Cancer cells are characterized by a variety of genomic defects, such as inactivation of DNA repair genes, over-expression of growth promoting oncogenes, possession of extra or missing chromosomes, an abnormal number of centrosomes and aberrant mitosis and cytokinesis.²³ The Somatic Gene Mutation theory (SMT) has emerged as the basis for much of current cancer research and rests upon three principal assumptions. (1) Cancer is a genetic disease caused by mutations in cancer related genes, such as p53, Rb and Ras. (2) Mutations of tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes allow cells to disregard inhibitory growth signals and permit them to grow uncontrollably. (3) For a cell to become malignant, several damaging gene mutations are required, or both alleles of those genes must be affected (two hits hypothesis).^{55,56} First, this theory implies that cancers are derived from individual cell clones that have accumulated mutations sequentially over time (i.e., tumors are monoclonal in nature). Second, this theory suggests that normal cells destined to become cancerous must have faster than normal rates of mutation to acquire these genetic changes (i.e., a fast rate of 10^{-3} mutations as oppose to a normal rate of 10^{-7} to 10^{-8} mutation per nucleotide per cell division). Numerous tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes have been identified and mutations of these genes have been shown to lead to neoplastic transformation in transgenic mice.⁵¹ Yet, the somatic gene mutation theory fails to explain why cells within the same invasive tumor do not uniformly share the same mutations of relatively important genes, i.e., Ras and p53. Such cells also may share substantial differences in chromosome numbers, although they are thought to originate from clonal expansion.⁵⁷ The heterogeneous nature of tumor cells (both in the rate and type of gene mutations and ploidy status) has prompted scientists to look for additional or alternative unifying principles to explain tumorigenesis.

The Mutator Phenotype Hypothesis

Loeb and colleagues proposed the *Mutator Phenotype Hypothesis* to explain why cancer cells have a much faster rate of random mutations and how this phenotype may account for the genetic changes observed in cancer.^{58,59} This theory postulates that once normal cells acquire mutations of genes that control the fidelity of DNA replication and repair, they develop an explosive increase in random mutations (Mutator Phenotype). Some of these mutations may permit cells to have selective advantages to expand and achieve clonal dominance.^{60,61} This theory implies that genetic instability/aneuploidy is a consequence of these random mutations.

The Genomic Instability Theory

Lengauer and Vogelstein observed that a very high degree of genomic instability, characterized by the gain or loss of portions of chromosomes or entire chromosomes is present in the early stages (preneoplastic) of colon cancer development. Based on this finding, they proposed the Genomic Instability Theory of cancer in 1997. This theory argued that, at least in colon cancer, chromosomal losses or gains are the early events that lead to the loss of tumor suppressor genes and/or gain of oncogenes, which are widely believed to drive malignant transformation.^{34,53,62-64} One of the main assertions of this theory is that as cells acquire mutations in master genes (or genes required for cell division and segregation of chromosomes), subsequent divisions are prone to result in more mistakes, leading to an instability in chromosome number, a critical early event in tumorigenesis. While emphasizing the importance of genetic instability as early events, this theory still holds that mutations in cancer related genes are a prerequisite for transformation. This theory explains a number of characteristic of tumor cells, including aneuploidy and fast rates of mutation. Compelling evidence in support of this theory was recently reported by Hanks et al (2004),65 in relation to individuals with a rare genetic disorder, mosaic variegated aneuploidy, in which more than 25% of the cells in the body may be found to be an euploid. This phenotype is characterized by mutation in both alleles of the chromosome segregation gene, BUB1B. Affected individuals frequently develop childhood cancers such as rhabdomyosarcoma and leukemia. This report is the first to suggest that aneuploidy may have a direct causal role in the development of cancer in human.

The Aneuploidy Theory of Cancer

The Mutator Phenotype and Early Genetic Instability Theories cannot explain malignancies caused by nongenotoxic carcinogens, which are not mutagens but can act as aneugens (chemical agents that disrupt the mitotic spindle and cause chromosome mis-segregation) and are associated with tumorigenesis. For instance, asbestos, a nonmutagenic carcinogen, has been shown to bind to the mitotic spindle, causing chromosome mis-segregation and genetic instability.⁴⁹ Asbestos has not been reported in the literature to cause specific cancer related gene mutations. In light of this, Duesberg and colleagues proposed the Aneuploidy Theory in 1999.^{54,66} The first assumption of this theory is that cancer is not a disease of gene mutations per se but a disease of gene dosage (i.e., having 3, 5, or zero copy/copies of a normal set of genes via random aneuploidization). The second assumption is that carcinogens or spontaneous cell-cycle accidents are more effective inducers of aneuploidy than specific mutations. Hence, according to this theory cancer development does not necessarily require mutations in cancer related genes at the DNA level but an imbalance in the dosage of thousands of normal genes caused by chromosomal gains or losses. Therefore, cells may become transformed before mutations of tumor suppressor genes and/or oncogenes occur.

Regardless of which theory of cancer evolution best explains individual types of cancer, they each identify an euploidy and genetic instability as having a causal role in tumorigenesis.

Regulators of Mitosis and Mechanisms Leading to Aneuploidy

There are a variety of ways in which cells may become an euploid,³⁴ including: (1) Telomere dysfunction, which has been linked to an euploidy in cancer. Studies have shown that telomere shortening in telomerase knockout mice after succeeding generations is associated with tumorigenesis. Cells with truncated telomeres are more prone to chromosome translocation and fusion, (reviewed in ref. 67). (2) Defective mitotic spindle checkpoint. During the transition from metaphase into anaphase, cells evolve surveillance mechanisms to ensure proper attachment of mitotic spindles to kinetochore/centromere before the segregation of chromosomes begins. Important protein components of this spindle checkpoint include: BUB1, 2, 3, Mad-1,2,3 and the chromosome passenger protein Aurora-B. Seminal studies in diverse species, ranging from yeasts to humans, have concluded that defects in this checkpoint allow the cell to progress through metaphase/ anaphase with unequal attachment of the spindle/kinetochore, giving rise to aneuploid daughter cells (reviewed in refs. 68,69). (3) Defective Mitotic spindle assembly. The aberrant duplication of centrosomes at early mitosis (often due to mutation of genes involved in centrosome matura-



Figure 3. Pathways to aneuploidy. Shown are crucial events (underlined text) of the cell cycle that have been implicated in the generation of aneuploidy. The deregulated genes (blue text) have been shown to underlie the mechanism leading to aneuploidy. Defective regulation of mitotic genes seems to be the main routes to aneuploidy. This illustration was adapted from two review articles.^{34,72} A color version of this figure is available at www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

tion and duplication, including Aurora-A, or via chemical agents) has been demonstrated to cause polyploid or aneuploid daughter cells. The resulting functional defects of mitotic spindle assembly lead to lagging chromosomes as they segregate during a precise time frame at the transition into anaphase.³¹ (4) Abnormal chromosomal rearrangement, breakage and fusion, has been demonstrated to be a source of aneuploidy.⁷⁰ (5) Abortive cytokinesis, if occurred in diploid cells can lead to the formation of polyploid cells and has been suggested to cause aneuploidy via tetraploid intermediates (see Fig. 3).⁷¹

Stem Cells and Cancer Development

With the findings of stem cells in breast cancers, Wilm's tumors, hematological malignancy and neuroblastomas^{73,74} (referred as tumor stem cell, TSC), there has been increased interest in understanding the role of tumor stem cells in tumorigenesis. Given the scarcity of stem cells in tumors, their existence in the heterogeneous tumor tissue has been demonstrated experimentally only recently, although hypothesized decades ago.⁷³ Tumor stem cells are phenotypically similar to normal stem cells in their abilities to self-renew and to differentiate into multiple tissues or cell lineages within the same tissue. However, they differ from normal stem cells with respect to the balance of self-renewal and differentiation. Normal stem cells generally give rise to progenitors cells, which commit into a specific cell type with a limited life span. Under normal physiological conditions, the self-renewal capability of normal stem cells is inhibited by cell cycle inhibitors, such as p21 and p18 and is tightly and reversibly regulated by the need for differentiation or tissue regeneration (reviewed in ref. 73). In p21^{-/-} mice, hematopoeitic stem cells (HSC) tend to cycle faster than wild-type cells, while the proliferation of marrow progenitor cells is repressed,

resulting in a larger pool of HSC and a smaller pool of lineage committed progenitors.¹² Hence, as observed in other systems, the proliferation of normal stem cells requires a balance between differentiation and self-renewal, depending on their stage of development.⁷³ In contrast, tumor stem cells are believed to have irreversible defects in cyclin inhibitors, coupled with disruptions in feedback mechanisms to control differentiation or apoptosis.^{67,75} Tumor stem cells in leukemia are thought to originate directly from hematopoeitic stem cells or marrow progenitors, depending on the developmental stage at which genetic changes occur.⁴³ It is reasonable to hypothesize that some cancers may evolve from tissue specific progenitor stem cells because of their self-renewal, tissue evasion and ineffective senescent properties. The propensity for environmental agents, reactive oxygen species and hormones to cause genetic and epigenetic changes in stem cell is greater than that in their short-lived, differentiated counterparts. Although not yet proven, studies 74,76,77 have suggested that loss of heterozygosity of cancer related genes in mammary stem cells may contribute to genetic instability in progeny cells and subsequent breast cancer development. With the exception of polyploidy resulting from stem cell fusion,⁷⁸ a role of polyploidy and aneuploidy in the development of tumor stem cells has not been reported. However, given the important role of polyploidy and aneuploidy in tumorigenesis, an analysis of the degree of changes in ploidy in tumor stem cells would be worthwhile.

Chromosome Passenger Proteins and Their Role in Ploidy Promotion

Accurate segregation of chromosomes following each cell division requires a perfect synchrony of regulated protein proteolysis, phosphorylation and dephosphorylation, the localization and recruitment of a chromosome passenger complex and the physical interaction between the centromere and the mitotic spindles at the metaphase to anaphase transition. At the same time, the surveillance mechanism orchestrated by Mad1 and BubR1 ensures that the separation of chromosomes does not progress if these processes become asynchronous. In mammalian cells, the protein complex consisting of Aurora B kinase, Survivin, INCENP and Borealin, (also referred as the Chromosome Passenger Complex (CPC)) displays a distinct localization pattern throughout mitosis, suggesting that it has an important function in regulating mitosis. During prophase, this complex associates with condensed chromosomes and then concentrates at the inner centromere during prometaphase. At the onset of anaphase, the complex relocates to the central spindle. As the central spindle elongates at cytokinesis, the chromosome passenger proteins coalesce at the midbody, the site of the cleavage furrow. It is hypothesized that during telophase, this complex must be degraded for cells to exit mitosis normally. Various studies have demonstrated that altered subcellular localization patterns are associated with mitotic arrest, mis-segregation of chromosomes, abortive cytokinesis and polyploidy (reviewed in ref. 79). Moreover, the progeny of cells with such defects have been shown to be tumorigenic in xenograft mouse models.^{72,80}

INCENP (Properties and Effects of Its Deregulated Expression on the Cell Cycle)

Inner Centromeric Protein (INCENP) was the first protein identified in the chromosome passenger protein complex. The C-terminus (IN-Box) of this protein is conserved from yeast to humans. INCENP binds to Aurora-B through the IN-Box sequences and stimulates its kinase activity during mitosis.⁸¹ Deletion analysis of this protein has revealed that an N-terminal region (amino acid 1-68) is important for targeting INCENP to the centromere/kinetochore and midzone at anaphase.⁸² INCENP is an essential gene, given that its targeted deletion in mice leads to polyploidization of embryonic cells and induces early embryonic lethality (32-64 cell stage).⁸³ RNAi mediated down regulation of endogenous INCENP has been shown to produce severe mitotic mis-segregation of chromosomes in *C. elegans* and Drosophila.^{84,85} Overexpression of the dominant negative form of INCENP in mammalian cells showed similar defects in addition to the appearance of abnormal number of centrosomes. Thus, tight regulation of INCENP is clearly essential for cell division.⁸⁶ In vitro studies have shown that aberrant levels of INCENP disrupt the chromosome passenger complex and cause Aurora-B and Survivin to mislocalize in prometaphase.^{84,87,88} Aberrant expression of INCENP also induces chromosome mis-segregation and abortive cytokinesis in yeast, fruit flies and mammalian cells.^{88,89} It has been shown in yeast that dephosphorylation of INCENP by Cdc14 is required for the transfer of the chromosome passenger complex to the central spindle at anaphase. Point mutations that generate a nonphosphorylated INCENP resulted in daughter cells with chromosomal loss, likely due to lagging chromosomes.⁹⁰ Interestingly, chromosomal alignment remained intact while the nonphosphorylated INCENP localized prematurely at the centromere prior to anaphase onset.⁹¹ This study implies that the function of Aurora-B as a guardian of spindle attachment and alignment does not depend solely on the localization of INCENP. Hence, the protein level, kinase activities and sub-cellular localization of the Chromosome Passenger Complex proteins appear to be equally important in preventing polyploid and aneuploid phenotypes.

Borealin (Properties and Effects of Its Deregulated Expression on the Cell Cycle)

Borealin (alternatively called Dasra) was recently cloned and characterized as a new member of the chromosome passenger complex in vertebrate.^{92,93} Borealin displays a typical pattern of subcellular localization to the centromere, central spindle and midbody during mitosis. Depletion of Survivin or INCENP by RNAi has been shown to disrupt this specific localization of Borealin. Similar to other chromosome passenger proteins, RNAi mediated knock down of endogenous Borealin also causes spindle defects, chromosome mis-segregation and pronounced disruption of spindle assembly.⁹³ Interestingly, Borealin appears to act prior to the onset of anaphase. Borealin is a direct substrate of Aurora-B and is required to target the CPPs to the centromere but not to the midzone during anaphase.⁹² Given the similarity in the expression pattern and functions of Borealin to those of other CPPs, it will be important to elucidate the functional links between Borealin, Survivin, INCENP and Aurora-B in normal and cancerous cells.

Survivin (Properties and Effects of Its Deregulated Expression on the Cell Cycle)

Survivin, a 16 KDa protein as a monomer and 32 KDa as a dimer, is the smallest member in the Inhibitor of Apoptosis Protein (IAP) family and contains a BIR domain, which is characteristic of this family of proteins. Unlike other members of the IAP family, Survivin does not have ubiquitin ligase activity (E3) and is the only member protein that forms a homodimer in solution.^{94.96} Interestingly, it is also a component of the chromosome passenger complex that associates with Aurora-B and it follows a similar pattern of expression and localization during mitosis. Its expression has been found to peak at G2/M and its degradation occurs in a cell-cycle dependent manner.⁹⁷ In differentiated tissue, Survivin expression is virtually absent, in contrast to its high expression in actively proliferating lineages, including CD34+ hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (when stimulated by the combination of Thrombopoietin (TPO), Stem Cell Factor (SCF) and Flt3 ligand (FL)),⁹⁸ vascular endothelial cells,⁹⁹ vascular smooth muscle cells,¹⁰⁰ thymus T- and B-cells¹⁰¹ and particularly in tumor cells (reviewed in ref. 102). Survivin can be found in three splice variants that differ in size (Survivin 2B, Delta Ex3 and 3B) as a result from translation of an alternate exon 2B, skipping of exon 3 and/or a frameshift with premature stop codon.¹⁰³ However, these splice variants still retain two features in common: the dimer interphase and the BIR domain at the N-terminus.¹⁰² Published studies have suggested that survivin can form homodimers or heterodimers with its splice variants.^{102,104} These homodimers/heterodimers are hypothesized to have distinct functions in regulating apoptosis or cellular proliferation, depending on the type of dimer and its subcellular localization.¹⁰⁴ The Survivin 2B variant is cytosolic, while the Delta Ex3 variant is localized mainly in the nucleus. The Delta Ex3 variant contains a nuclear localization sequence (NLS, R/K-rich region ⁸¹RRKNLRKLRRK⁹¹).¹⁰² Survivin 2B expression is lost at later stages of malignancy, while normal Survivin and its Delta Ex3 variant maintain a high expression profile, suggesting a differential role in tumor development.^{105,106} In vitro studies have demonstrated that survivin's localization to the central spindle and midbody at telophase is dependent on phosphorylation at Thr¹¹⁷ by Aurora-B and mutation of this site leads to disruption of its association with INCENP,¹⁰⁷ suggesting that phosphorylation of Thr¹¹⁷ is important for Survivin's role as a chromosome passenger protein. Homozygous deletion of Survivin in mice results in embryonic lethality at day 4.5, characterized by the presence of catastrophic mitosis (cell death during mitosis), giant multinucleate cells, in addition to a large population of polyploid cells.¹⁰⁸ Forced overexpression of Survivin has been shown to inhibit IL-3 induced apoptosis in B-lymphocytes¹⁰⁹ and in UV-induced apoptosis in primary keratinocytes.¹¹⁰ In addition, published studies have suggested that overexpression of Survivin shortens G1 phase arrest and accelerates S phase, potentially through activation of Cdk2/Cyclin-E complex.^{111,112} The important role of Survivin in regulating endomitosis in polyploidizing megakaryocytes and vascular smooth muscle cells has been implicated in work reported from our laboratory.¹¹³ In addition, it has been shown that during the endomitotic cell cycle of vascular smooth muscle cells, Survivin does not colocalize with Aurora-B or INCENP, as typically observed at the centromere and at the central spindle/ midbody during cytokinesis of normally dividing cells. Interestingly, defects in sister chromatid separation and reversal of cytokinesis has also been observed in this generally normal and well coordinated endomitotic events.¹¹³ Overexpression of Survivin has also been shown to reduce polyploidization in cultured primary vascular smooth cells.¹¹³ Hence, the atypical localization pattern of Survivin appears to account for polyploidization in this lineage. Based on these studies, the function of Survivin in regulating endomitosis appears to be important. In accordance with our earlier report, survivin was not detected in endomitotic murine megakaryocytes, although these authors questioned the quality of the antibody used. In low ploidy human megakaryocytes, survivin was described as being properly localized in endomitotic megakaryocytes.¹¹⁴ Several possibilities could account for the discrepancy in the reports on Survivin expression/localization in human and mouse megakaryocytes: a. According to Baccini et al, a group that has extensively studied megakaryocytes biology (e.g., refs. 115,116), human megakaryocytes grown in vitro present a defect in their polyploidization and hence, the authors caution others from using them as a model system for the study of endomitosis.¹¹⁵ In vivo, most polyploid human megakaryocytes are 16N and 32N, as is the case in mice and rats. However, while the mouse cultures mimic the in vivo profile, the human cultures present less than 10% of the cells as polyploid, with the vast majority having a ploidy level not greater than 8N.115,116 Hence, in the recent study that used this culture system,¹¹⁴ survivin localization might have been primarily followed in proliferating or very low-ploidy megakaryocytes (as also pointed out by the authors); b. In the literature there is a recognized controversy about the specificity of available antibodies to survivin. For instance, W. Earnshaw's lab described conflicting survivin localization in mitosis with two published antibodies and noted that researchers need to also confirm data on protein localization with ectopically expressed GFP-labeled protein.⁸⁸ c. Although there is one survivin gene, there are three splice forms of mRNA yielding three different proteins, of which only the longer one (142 amino acids) displays typical properties attributed to survivin.¹⁰³ Some of the available antibodies might be detecting one of the nonfunctional splice variants.

With regard to its antiapoptotic properties, Survivin has been shown to bind to Smac/Diablo, a caspase activator and/or to procaspase 9 via the hepatitis B X-interacting protein (HPXIP) complex to mediate this effect.^{117,118} A study by Song et al (2004)¹⁰⁴ demonstrated that a single amino acid change (Asp53-Ala53) converts Survivin from an antiapoptotic to proapoptotic regulator, suggesting that it has a dual role in controlling cell death at mitosis. Studies of Survivin function as both a Chromosome Passenger Protein and as an anti/pro apoptotic factor has been a subject of much interest. Recent work has described a new type of cell death, termed "mitosis catastrophe", often observed in cells with defective mitosis spindle assembly checkpoint, chromosome mis-segregation and abortive cytokinesis (reviewed in ref. 119). Although "mitosis catastrophe" is believed to be triggered by aberrant events during mitosis and not signals originating in G1 or S-phase, this type of programmed cell death still converges on the action of caspases, as suggested by several studies.^{110,120,121} It is tempting to hypothesize that Survivin is a critical regulatory protein that determines the life and death of a cell undergoing division. Survivin may ensure the survival of cells with correct chromosome segregation by directly inhibiting caspases through its anti-apoptosis and/or chromosome checkpoint properties. On the other hand, Survivin, through its pro-apoptotic properties, may also ensure that cells undergo apoptosis if mitotic events are defective.

Aurora-B (Properties and Effects of Its Deregulated Expression on the Cell Cycle)

The Aurora/Ipl1 (Increase-in-Ploidy protein-1) protein kinases have been shown to orchestrate vital mitotic events, including G2/M transition, centrosome duplication, chromosome condensation, bi-polar spindle-kinetochore attachment, chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. Their roles are evolutionarily conserved in yeast, nematodes and mammalian cells (reviewed in refs. 72,122). While lower organisms have only one form of Aurora kinase (Ipl-1), mammalian cells have three types, Aurora-A, Aurora-B and Aurora-C, whose function and localization are distinct in space and time during cell division. The function of Aurora-C in mammalian cells has not been studied extensively. Aurora-A localizes to the centrosomes during early anaphase and is required for mitotic entry.¹²³ Aurora-B, (also called AIM-1, Stk-5) regulates the formation of a stable bi-polar spindle-kinetochore attachment in mitosis. It colocalizes with Survivin, Inner Centromere Protein (INCENP) and a recently discovered protein named Borealin or hDasra B to form the chromosome passenger complex, needed for chromosome segregation and cytokinesis.^{21,92,93} Aurora-B is regulated at the mRNA level, at the protein level and at the level of its kinase activities (reviewed in refs. 72,122,124,125). INCENP has been shown to stimulate the kinase activity of Aurora-B^{84,126,127} and there are conflicting reports on the regulation of Aurora-B by Survivin.¹²⁶ In a cell-free system, Survivin seems to enhance the kinase activity of Aurora-B (via Histone-H3-Ser10 phosphorylation),¹²⁸ provided that its kinase activity is first reduced in cells with siRNA-mediated Survivin knock down. How Aurora-B activity/function is terminated at the end of mitosis is an additional intriguing question.²³ Studies pursued in this thesis demonstrate that Aurora-B is regulated by protein degradation through the A-box and KEN box sequences.¹²⁹ Most importantly, overexpression of a nondegradable A-Box mutant leads to aneuploid/polyploidy, suggesting that Aurora-B's proteolysis plays an important role in the regulation of Aurora-B and chromosome stability at each cell division.¹²⁹ A recent study¹³⁰ identified a very short sequence in the C-terminus of Aurora-B (326-331) as responsible for its function and subcellular localization. Taken together, these studies demonstrate that Aurora-B's stability is regulated through its N-terminus, whereas the C-terminus contains the sequences required for its function and subcellular localization.

The most extensively studied function of Aurora-B is its involvement in mitotic spindle attachment. In order for chromosomes to separate equally, a synchronized alignment of sister chromatids at metaphase coupled with stable bi-polar attachments between the mitotic spindle and the kinetochore must take place. During this dynamic process, there are various ways in which the kinetochore-microtubule can form unstable attachments. This includes the case of kinetochore attaching to the spindle from both poles (merotellic) or when both sister kinetochores are attached to the same spindle pole (syntellic). If these unstable attachments are not corrected in time as the cell enters anaphase, lagging chromosomes and unequal separation of chromosomes occur in the daughter cells. Reduction of endogenous Aurora-B by genetic (iRNA) or pharmacological agents (ZM447439 and Hesperadin) results in merotellic and/or syntellic attachment and subsequent disruption of chromosome segregation.²¹ Experiments using microinjection of anti-Aurora-B antibodies reveals that inhibition of Aurora-B in mitotic Xenopus tissue culture cells abrogates the spindle checkpoint and causes an early exit from mitosis with no evidence of anaphase or cytokinesis, concomitantly with the appearance of chromosome misalignment and polyploid cells.¹³¹ How Aurora-B promotes stable bi-polar attachment and prevents unstable merotellic and/or syntellic attachment continues to be under investigation. The current model, derived from various studies with both yeast and mammalian cells, proposes that Aurora-B, through its kinase activity and interaction with various proteins (such as the Mitotic Centromere Associated Kinesin, MCAK), actively facilitates the depolymerization of microtubules associated with unstable attachments. Evidence for this model in mammalian cells includes the finding that Aurora-B directly interacts with MCAK to promote microtubule depolymerization.^{132,133} In addition, its interaction with protein phosphatase I (PPI) keeps depolymerization in check, once stable attachments are achieved.^{134,135} In budding yeast, Aurora-B is believed to function as a sensor for the pulling force and tension generated by the spindle-kinetochore complex. Yeast mutants, unable to generate spindle tensions accumulate merotellic and/or syntellic spindle attachments.¹³⁶⁻¹³⁹ Hence, as a sensor of the pulling force, Aurora-B may sense unequal forces and promote their elimination.¹³⁹ Recently, the yeast Aurora-B homolog, Ipl1 has been shown to interact with the Damp1 complexes, which interact directly with the kinetochore and microtubule to regulate bipolar attachment of mitotic spindle.¹⁴⁰ Specific mutation (S to A) of all four Ipl1 phosphorylation sites in the Dam1p protein causes cell death, suggesting an essential role for Ipl1/Dam1p phosphorylation.¹⁴⁰ Because of its vital role in correcting chromosome-spindle attachment, deregulated expression of Aurora-B/Ipl1 can be expected to impair chromosome segregation and mitotic progression.

Another function of Aurora-B, that has been described, concerns its role in the spindle checkpoint. To ensure viable and functional progeny after each cell division, cells have evolved several cell cycle checkpoints to allow adequate time for repair prior to progression to subsequent stages of cell division. One of the most important and final checkpoints of the cell cycle is the spindle assembly checkpoint during the transition into anaphase. Defective mitotic spindle assembly or detachment of the kinetochore directly triggers Bub1, Mad1 and other spindle checkpoint proteins to bind and inhibit the activity of the Cdc20-APC/c E3 ligase (a component of proteasome mediated degradation, as described below and also regarded as the effector of the spindle checkpoint), leading to a transient arrest of the cells at metaphase. Several studies have demonstrated that Aurora-B participates in the recruitment/association of Mps1, Bub1, CENP-E, Bub3, Mad1 and Mad2 to kinetochores.^{141,142} Studies described in this thesis show that Aurora-B directly associates with the Cdc20-APC/c complex.¹²⁹ Moreover, other studies indicate that depletion of endogenous Aurora-B impairs the cells' ability to localize Cdc20, Cdc27 and Cdc23 (subcomponents of the APC/c) to unattached kinetochores such that cells fail to activate the spindle checkpoint in response to microtubule destabilization.^{139,142-144} These functional studies have demonstrated that Aurora-B is an indispensable member of the spindle assembly checkpoint, acting upstream of Bub1 and Mad1 and indicate that deregulation of Aurora-B disrupts this protein composition to prevent the spindle checkpoint.¹⁴⁵

During telophase, Aurora-B also has a role in ensuring the completion of cytokinesis.¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁹ Drosophila cells lacking Aurora-B protein do not undergo cytokinesis and undergo polyploidization.¹⁵⁰ Drug-mediated inhibition of this kinase in proliferating mammalian cells can also induce polyploidy²¹ and/or cell death by "catastrophic mitosis".¹⁵¹ In bone marrow megakaryocytes (platelet precursors), which undergo endomitotic cell cycles and polyploidization during normal development, Aurora-B has been shown to be absent from the midzone.¹⁵² Of note, a very recent study reported results similar to ours with respect to proper Aurora-B expression/localization during early mitosis and lack of it at late anaphase in murine megakaryocytes.¹¹⁴ In few human megakaryocytes examined,¹¹⁴ Aurora-B was detected at late anaphase. In this study, Aurora-B kinase activity was measured in polyploid, nonsynchronized megakaryocytes and it was concluded that Aurora-B is not limiting for polyploidy in this lineage. Similar to our conclusion, this study also suggested that further study of midzone organization and composition is needed. Aurora kinases have been found to be overexpressed in a variety of malignant cancers (as listed in: http://cgap.nci.nih.gov) and this overexpression is suspected to contribute to chromosome instability.¹⁵³ Studies by our group¹⁵² have shown that in vivo overexpression of Aurora-B transgene in megakaryocytes increases the proliferative potential of these cells, but does not by itself induce malignant transformation.¹⁵²

Chromosome Passenger Proteins and Cancer (Emphasis on the Role of Aurora-B)

The link between overexpression of the Aurora kinases in mammalian cells and carcinogenesis is believed to be causal and to be dependent on perhaps, the disruption of normal centrosome or centromere function, spindle checkpoint regulation and cytokinesis.^{30,80,153-155} Overexpression of the Chromosome Passenger Proteins (CPP), including Aurora-A, Aurora-B, Survivin and INCENP has been observed in ovarian, breast and prostate cancers and shown to correlate with aneuploidy.^{72,81,156-159} In addition, chromosomes containing the CPP are often affected in aneuploid cells.^{160,161} The mechanisms that explain how overexpression of CPP proteins, individually or together, promotes aneuploidy remain an important, unanswered question. Only recently,

have studies been carried out to determine whether ectopic expression of the CPP drives cellular transformation by means of increasing proliferation, by centrosome amplification, or by inducing chromosome instability. Overexpression of Aurora-A has been shown to potentiate HRAS (Harvey sarcoma virus oncogenes) induced transformation in-vitro, whereas reduced endogenous Aurora-A expression by short hair-pin RNA (shRNA) decreased transformation.¹⁶² It has been suggested that overexpression of Aurora-A results in cells with increased number of centrosomes (3-4) and consequently impairs their ability to segregate chromosomes equally.⁵⁰ Similarly, correlative data showing overexpression of Aurora-B kinase in solid tumors and tumor cell lines has been reported.^{80,157,160,163-165} However, given the tight regulation of Aurora-B at the protein level,¹⁵² only a handful of studies have been able to demonstrate overexpression of Aurora-B induces oncogenic transformation. These studies include those using xenograft models of localized tumor formation in mice injected with cells overexpressing Aurora-B (80 and Nguyen Hao and Katya Ravid unpublished data). In these studies, oncogenic transformation appears to be mediated by aneuploidy and to be a consequence of Aurora-B overexpression. Inhibition of the Aurora kinases, in general, blocks progression of the cell cycle and induces cell death by "catastrophic mitosis". Several studies have exploited this type of cell death using Aurora kinase inhibitors (VX-680 for Aurora-A, Hesperadin and ZM447439 for Aurora-B (refs. 21,166-168 and reviewed in ref. 151)) to suppress tumor growth in vivo. Reduction of endogenous Aurora-B expression by such means has been shown to diminish the growth of thyroid anaplastic carcinoma tumor cells.¹⁶³ However, it is possible that inhibition of Aurora kinases is unable to completely prevent tumor growth, since reduced expression of these kinases also leads to aneuploidy (as reviewed in refs. 88,119,122,124,125,155,158,169,170) and such inhibition would be expected to prevent the activation of the spindle checkpoint, causing cells to exit mitosis prematurely.

Overexpression of Survivin in a wide range of tumor tissues, including leukemia (ALL, AML), colo-rectal cancers, astrocytic tumors and breast cancer has been consistently reported in the literature.^{102,159,171} Moreover, overexpression of Survivin in cancer tissues is closely correlated with poor prognosis.¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁶ The role of Survivin in cancer promotion has been studied using a transgenic mouse model.¹¹⁰ Grossman et al¹¹⁰ have shown that exogenous expression of Survivin (driven by the keratinocyte specific promoter (K14)) inhibits UVB induced apoptosis and thus inhibition is more pronounced when the expression of p53 is reduced. Hence, this study suggests that Survivin functions as an inhibitor of apoptosis and thereby contributes to transformation. However, given Survivin's role as a chromosome passenger protein, the consequences of its overexpression on chromosome stability have not been fully explored.

Conclusion

It is not clear yet if polyploidy is a protective mechanism upon stress, or rather a maladaptive response. Progress has been made, however, on mechanisms and signaling pathways that are employed by normal developing polyploid cells (e.g., megakaryocytes) to safeguard them from becoming aneuploid, as well as on the mechanisms leading to aneuploidy and its relation to cancer development.

Acknowledegments

We apologize to those whose work was not mentioned here, owing to space and scope limitations. This chapter also integrates a survey of experiments and literature described in Hao G. Nguyen's PhD thesis under the direction of Katya Ravid at BUSM. KR is an Established Investigator with the American Heart Association.

References

- 1. Zimmet J, Ravid K. Polyploidy: occurrence in nature, mechanisms and significance for the megakaryocyte- platelet system. Exp Hematol 2000; 28:3-16.
- 2. Ravid K, Lu J, Zimmet JM et al. Roads to polyploidy: the megakaryocyte example. J Cell Physiol 2002; 190:7-20.

- 3. Galitski T, Saldanha AJ, Styles CA et al. Ploidy regulation of gene expression. Science 1999; 285:251-4.
- Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5:45-54.
- Jones MR, Ravid K. Vascular smooth muscle polyploidization as a biomarker for aging and its impact on differential gene expression. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:5306-13.
- 6. Wagner M, Hampel B, Bernhard D et al. Replicative senescence of human endothelial cells in vitro involves G1 arrest, polyploidization and senescence-associated apoptosis. Exp Gerontol 2001; 36:1327-47.
- 7. Wang Z, Zhang Y, Kamen D et al. Cyclin D3 is essential for megakaryocytopoiesis. Blood 1995; 86:3783-8.
- Zimmet JM, Ladd D, Jackson CW et al. A role for cyclin D3 in the endomitotic cell cycle. Mol Cell Biol 1997; 17:7248-59.
- 9. Wang Z, Zhang Y, Lu J et al. Mpl ligand enhances the transcription of the cyclin D3 gene: a potential role for Sp1 transcription factor. Blood 1999; 93:4208-21.
- Malkin D, Brown EJ, Zipursky A. The role of p53 in megakaryocyte differentiation and the megakaryocytic leukemias of Down syndrome. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 2000; 116:1-5.
- Stewart ZA, Leach SD, Pietenpol JA. p21(Waf1/Cip1) inhibition of cyclin E/Cdk2 activity prevents endoreduplication after mitotic spindle disruption. Mol Cell Biol 1999; 19:205-15.
- 12. Mantel C, Braun SE, Reid S et al. p21(cip-1/waf-1) deficiency causes deformed nuclear architecture, centriole overduplication, polyploidy and relaxed microtubule damage checkpoints in human hematopoietic cells. Blood 1999; 93:1390-8.
- Dethloff LA, de la Iglesia FA. Chemical-induced hepatocyte ploidy. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1998; 150:443.
- 14. Gupta S. Hepatic polyploidy and liver growth control. Semin Cancer Biol 2000; 10:161-71.
- 15. Gandillet A, Alexandre E, Royer C et al. Hepatocyte ploidy in regenerating livers after partial hepatectomy, drug-induced necrosis and cirrhosis. Eur Surg Res 2003; 35:148-60.
- 16. Oberringer M, Lothschutz D, Jennewein M et al. Centrosome multiplication accompanies a transient clustering of polyploid cells during tissue repair. Mol Cell Biol Res Commun 1999; 2:190-6.
- Chobanian AV, Prescott MF, Haudenschild CC. Recent advances in molecular pathology. The effects of hypertension on the arterial wall. Exp Mol Pathol 1984; 41:153-69.
- Hixon ML, Obejero-Paz C, Muro-Cacho C et al. Cks1 mediates vascular smooth muscle cell polyploidization. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:40434-42.
- 19. Edgar BA, Orr-Weaver TL. Endoreplication cell cycles: more for less. Cell 2001; 105:297-306.
- Galipeau PC, Cowan DS, Sanchez CA et al. 17p (p53) allelic losses, 4N (G2/tetraploid) populations and progression to aneuploidy in Barrett's esophagus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:7081-4.
- 21. Hauf S, Cole RW, LaTerra S et al. The small molecule Hesperadin reveals a role for Aurora B in correcting kinetochore-microtubule attachment and in maintaining the spindle assembly checkpoint. J Cell Biol 2003; 161:281-94.
- 22. Shin HJ, Baek KH, Jeon AH et al. Dual roles of human BubR1, a mitotic checkpoint kinase, in the monitoring of chromosomal instability. Cancer Cell 2003; 4:483-97.
- 23. Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA. Aurora kinases link chromosome segregation and cell division to cancer susceptibility. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2004; 14:29-36.
- 24. Barr FA, Sillje HH, Nigg EA. Polo-like kinases and the orchestration of cell division. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5:429-40.
- 25. Kusuzaki K, Takeshita H, Murata H et al. Polyploidization induced by acridine orange in mouse osteosarcoma cells. Anticancer Res 2000; 20:965-70.
- 26. Verdoodt B, Decordier I, Geleyns K et al. Induction of polyploidy and apoptosis after exposure to high concentrations of the spindle poison nocodazole. Mutagenesis 1999; 14:513-20.
- Ivanov A, Cragg MS, Erenpreisa J et al. Endopolyploid cells produced after severe genotoxic damage have the potential to repair DNA double strand breaks. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:4095-106.
- Dai W, Wang Q, Liu T et al. Slippage of mitotic arrest and enhanced tumor development in mice with BubR1 haploinsufficiency. Cancer Res 2004; 64:440-5.
- Margolis RL, Lohez OD, Andreassen PR. G1 tetraploidy checkpoint and the suppression of tumorigenesis. J Cell Biochem 2003; 88:673-83.
- 30. Meraldi P, Honda R, Nigg EA. Aurora-A overexpression reveals tetraploidization as a major route to centrosome amplification in p53-/- cells. EMBO J 2002; 21:483-92.
- Brinkley BR. Managing the centrosome numbers game: from chaos to stability in cancer cell division. Trends Cell Biol 2001; 11:18-21.
- 32. Cahill DP, Lengauer C, Yu J et al. Mutations of mitotic checkpoint genes in human cancers. Nature 1998; 392:300-3.

- Nowak MA, Komarova NL, Sengupta A et al. The role of chromosomal instability in tumor initiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99:16226-31.
- 34. Rajagopalan H, Lengauer C. Aneuploidy and cancer. Nature 2004; 432:338-41.
- 35. Duesberg P, Stindl R, Hehlmann R. Explaining the high mutation rates of cancer cells to drug and multidrug resistance by chromosome reassortments that are catalyzed by aneuploidy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:14295-300.
- 36. Roh M, Gary B, Song C et al. Overexpression of the oncogenic kinase Pim-1 leads to genomic instability. Cancer Res 2003; 63:8079-84.
- Doherty SC, McKeown SR, McKelvey-Martin V et al. Cell cycle checkpoint function in bladder cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2003; 95:1859-68.
- Lothschutz D, Jennewein M, Pahl S et al. Polyploidization and centrosome hyperamplification in inflammatory bronchi. Inflamm Res 2002; 51:416-22.
- 39. Gunawan B, Bergmann F, Braun S et al. Polyploidization and losses of chromosomes 1, 2, 6, 10, 13 and 17 in three cases of chromophobe renal cell carcinomas. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1999; 110:57-61.
- 40. Kaplan SS, Rybka WB, Blom J et al. Tetraploidy in acute myeloid leukemia secondary to large cell lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma 1998; 31:617-23.
- 41. Parry EM, Ulucan H, Wyllie FS et al. Segregational fidelity of chromosomes in human thyroid tumour cells. Chromosoma 1998; 107:491-7.
- 42. Borre M, Hoyer M, Nerstrom B et al. DNA ploidy and survival of patients with clinically localized prostate cancer treated without intent to cure. Prostate 1998; 36:244-9.
- 43. Lemez P, Michalova K, Zemanova Z et al. Three cases of near-tetraploid acute myeloid leukemias originating in pluripotent myeloid progenitors. Leuk Res 1998; 22:581-8.
- 44. Takanishi DM Jr, Hart J, Covarelli P et al. Ploidy as a prognostic feature in colonic adenocarcinoma. Arch Surg 1996; 131:587-92.
- 45. Park SH, Maeda T, Mohapatra G et al. Heterogeneity, polyploidy, aneusomy and 9p deletion in human glioblastoma multiforme. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1995; 83:127-35.
- 46. Li YS, Fan YS, Armstrong RF. Endoreduplication and telomeric association in a choroid plexus carcinoma. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 1996; 87:7-10.
- Patel D, Incassati A, Wang N et al. Human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 cause polyploidy in human keratinocytes and up-regulation of G2-M-phase proteins. Cancer Res 2004; 64:1299-306.
- 48. Teixeira MR, Heim S. Multiple numerical chromosome aberrations in cancer: what are their causes and what are their consequences? Semin Cancer Biol 2005; 15:3-12.
- 49. Fabarius A, Hehlmann R, Duesberg PH. Instability of chromosome structure in cancer cells increases exponentially with degrees of aneuploidy. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 2003; 143:59-72.
- 50. Nigg EA. Centrosome aberrations: cause or consequence of cancer progression? Nat Rev Cancer 2002; 2:815-25.
- 51. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000; 100:57-70.
- 52. Fearon ER, Vogelstein B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 1990; 61:759-67.
- 53. Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instabilities in human cancers. Nature 1998; 396:643-9.
- 54. Duesberg P, Rausch C, Rasnick D. Genetic instability of cancer cells is proportional to their degree of aneuploidy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95:13692-7.
- 55. Knudson AG. Two genetic hits (more or less) to cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2001; 1:157-62.
- 56. Hahn WC, Weinberg RA. Rules for making human tumor cells. N Engl J Med 2002; 347:1593-603.
- 57. Soto AM, Sonnenschein C. The somatic mutation theory of cancer: growing problems with the paradigm? Bioessays 2004; 26:1097-107.
- 58. Loeb LA. A mutator phenotype in cancer. Cancer Res 2001; 61:3230-9.
- 59. Loeb LA. Mutator phenotype may be required for multistage carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 1991; 51:3075-9.
- 60. Loeb LA, Loeb KR, Anderson JP. Multiple mutations and cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 100:776-81.
- 61. Bielas JH, Loeb LA. Mutator phenotype in cancer: Timing and perspectives. Environ Mol Mutagen 2005.
- 62. Lengauer C, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instability in colorectal cancers. Nature 1997; 386:623-7.
- Cahill DP, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Genetic instability and darwinian selection in tumours. Trends Cell Biol 1999; 9:M57-60.
- 64. Lengauer C. Aneuploidy and genetic instability in cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 2005; 15:1.

- 65. Hanks S, Coleman K, Reid S et al. Constitutional aneuploidy and cancer predisposition caused by biallelic mutations in BUB1B. Nat Genet 2004; 36:1159-61.
- 66. Duesberg P, Li R. Multistep carcinogenesis: a chain reaction of aneuploidizations. Cell Cycle 2003; 2:202-10.
- 67. Sharpless NE, DePinho RA. Telomeres, stem cells, senescence and cancer. J Clin Invest 2004; 113:160-8.
- 68. Nigg EA. Mitotic kinases as regulators of cell division and its checkpoints. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001; 2:21-32.
- 69. Nasmyth K. Segregating sister genomes: the molecular biology of chromosome separation. Science 2002; 297:559-65.
- 70. Gisselsson D, Pettersson L, Hoglund M et al. Chromosomal breakage-fusion-bridge events cause genetic intratumor heterogeneity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97:5357-62.
- 71. Fishman GI. Timing is everything in life: conditional transgene expression in the cardiovascular system. Circ Res 1998; 82:837-44.
- 72. Katayama H, Brinkley WR, Sen S. The Aurora kinases: role in cell transformation and tumorigenesis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2003; 22:451-64.
- 73. Sell S. Stem cell origin of cancer and differentiation therapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2004; 51:1-28.
- 74. Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A et al. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 100:3983-8.
- 75. Bissell MJ, Labarge MA. Context, tissue plasticity and cancer; Are tumor stem cells also regulated by the microenvironment? Cancer Cell 2005; 7:17-23.
- 76. Deng G, Lu Y, Zlotnikov G et al. Loss of heterozygosity in normal tissue adjacent to breast carcinomas. Science 1996; 274:2057-9.
- Smith GH, Boulanger CA. Mammary stem cell repertoire: new insights in aging epithelial populations. Mech Ageing Dev 2002; 123:1505-19.
- 78. Wang X, Willenbring H, Akkari Y et al. Cell fusion is the principal source of bone-marrow-derived hepatocytes. Nature 2003; 422:897-901.
- 79. Vagnarelli P, Earnshaw WC. Chromosomal passengers: the four-dimensional regulation of mitotic events. Chromosoma 2004; 113:211-22.
- Ota T, Suto S, Katayama H et al. Increased mitotic phosphorylation of histone H3 attributable to AIM-1/Aurora-B overexpression contributes to chromosome number instability. Cancer Res 2002; 62:5168-77.
- Adams RR, Eckley DM, Vagnarelli P et al. Human INCENP colocalizes with the Aurora-B/AIRK2 kinase on chromosomes and is overexpressed in tumour cells. Chromosoma 2001; 110:65-74.
- Ainsztein AM, Kandels-Lewis SE, Mackay AM et al. INCENP centromere and spindle targeting: identification of essential conserved motifs and involvement of heterochromatin protein HP1. J Cell Biol 1998; 143:1763-74.
- Cutts SM, Fowler KJ, Kile BT et al. Defective chromosome segregation, microtubule bundling and nuclear bridging in inner centromere protein gene (Incenp)-disrupted mice. Hum Mol Genet 1999; 8:1145-55.
- 84. Bishop JD, Schumacher JM. Phosphorylation of the carboxyl terminus of inner centromere protein (INCENP) by the Aurora B Kinase stimulates Aurora B kinase activity. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:27577-80.
- 85. Adams RR, Maiato H, Earnshaw WC. Essential roles of Drosophila inner centromere protein (IN-CENP) and aurora B in histone H3 phosphorylation, metaphase chromosome alignment, kinetochore disjunction and chromosome segregation. J Cell Biol 2001; 153:865-80.
- 86. Greaves S. A roar for INCENP. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3:E14.
- Cooke CA, Heck MM, Earnshaw WC. The inner centromere protein (INCENP) antigens: movement from inner centromere to midbody during mitosis. J Cell Biol 1987; 105:2053-67.
- Wheatley SP, Carvalho A, Vagnarelli P. INCENP is required for proper targeting of Survivin to the centromeres and the anaphase spindle during mitosis. Curr Biol 2001; 11:886-90.
- Vagnarelli PB, Earnshaw WC. INCENP loss from an inactive centromere correlates with the loss of sister chromatid cohesion. Chromosoma 2001; 110:393-401.
- 90. Pereira G, Schiebel E. Separase regulates INCENP-Aurora B anaphase spindle function through Cdc14. Science 2003; 302:2120-4.
- 91. Adam P, Regan C, Hautmann M. Positive- and negative-acting Kruppel-like transcription factors bind a transforming growth factor β control element required for expression of the smooth muscle cell differentiation marker SM22α in vivo. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:37798-37806.
- 92. Gassmann R, Carvalho A, Henzing AJ et al. Borealin: a novel chromosomal passenger required for stability of the bipolar mitotic spindle. J Cell Biol 2004; 166:179-91.

- Sampath SC, Ohi R, Leismann O et al. The chromosomal passenger complex is required for chromatininduced microtubule stabilization and spindle assembly. Cell 2004; 118:187-202.
- 94. Chantalat L, Skoufias DA, Kleman JP et al. Crystal structure of human survivin reveals a bow tie-shaped dimer with two unusual alpha-helical extensions. Mol Cell 2000; 6:183-9.
- 95. Muchmore SW, Chen J, Jakob C et al. Crystal structure and mutagenic analysis of the inhibitor-of-apoptosis protein survivin. Mol Cell 2000; 6:173-82.
- 96. Verdecia MA, Huang H, Dutil E et al. Structure of the human anti-apoptotic protein survivin reveals a dimeric arrangement. Nat Struct Biol 2000; 7:602-8.
- 97. Zhao J, Tenev T, Martins LM et al. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway regulates survivin degradation in a cell cycle-dependent manner. J Cell Sci 2000; 113(Pt 23):4363-71.
- Fukuda S, Pelus LM. Elevation of Survivin levels by hematopoietic growth factors occurs in quiescent CD34+ hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells before cell cycle entry. Cell Cycle 2002; 1:322-6.
- 99. Tran J, Rak J, Sheehan C et al. Marked induction of the IAP family antiapoptotic proteins survivin and XIAP by VEGF in vascular endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999; 264:781-8.
- 100. Blanc-Brude OP, Yu J, Simosa H et al. Inhibitor of apoptosis protein survivin regulates vascular injury. Nat Med 2002; 8:987-94.
- 101. Kobayashi K, Hatano M, Otaki M. Expression of a murine homologue of the inhibitor of apoptosis protein is related to cell proliferation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:1457-62.
- 102. Li F. Role of survivin and its splice variants in tumorigenesis. Br J Cancer 2005; 92:212-6.
- 103. Conway EM, Pollefeyt S, Cornelissen J et al. Three differentially expressed survivin cDNA variants encode proteins with distinct antiapoptotic functions. Blood 2000; 95:1435-42.
- 104. Song Z, Liu S, He H et al. A single amino acid change (Asp 53—>Ala53) converts Survivin from anti-apoptotic to pro-apoptotic. Mol Biol Cell 2004; 15:1287-96.
- 105. Krieg A, Mahotka C, Krieg T et al. Expression of different survivin variants in gastric carcinomas: first clues to a role of survivin-2B in tumour progression. Br J Cancer 2002; 86:737-43.
- 106. Fortugno P, Wall NR, Giodini A et al. Survivin exists in immunochemically distinct subcellular pools and is involved in spindle microtubule function. J Cell Sci 2002; 115:575-85.
- 107. Wheatley SP, Henzing AJ, Dodson H et al. Aurora-B phosphorylation in vitro identifies a residue of survivin that is essential for its localization and binding to inner centromere protein (INCENP) in vivo. J Biol Chem 2004; 279:5655-60.
- 108. Uren AG, Wong L, Pakusch M et al. Survivin and the inner centromere protein INCENP show similar cell-cycle localization and gene knockout phenotype. Curr Biol 2000; 10:1319-28.
- 109. Ambrosini G, Adida C, Altieri DC. A novel anti-apoptosis gene, survivin, expressed in cancer and lymphoma. Nat Med 1997; 3:917-21.
- 110. Grossman D, Kim PJ, Blanc-Brude OP et al. Transgenic expression of survivin in keratinocytes counteracts UVB-induced apoptosis and cooperates with loss of p53. J Clin Invest 2001; 108:991-9.
- 111. Suzuki A, Ito T, Kawano H et al. Survivin initiates procaspase 3/p21 complex formation as a result of interaction with Cdk4 to resist Fas-mediated cell death. Oncogene 2000; 19:1346-53.
- 112. Suzuki A, Hayashida M, Ito T et al. Survivin initiates cell cycle entry by the competitive interaction with Cdk4/p16(INK4a) and Cdk2/cyclin E complex activation. Oncogene 2000; 19:3225-34.
- 113. Nagata Y, Jones MR, Nguyen HG et al. Vascular smooth muscle cell polyploidization involves changes in chromosome passenger proteins and an endomitotic cell cycle. Exp Cell Res 2005; 305:277-91.
- 114. Geddis AE, Kaushansky K. Megakaryocytes express functional Aurora-B kinase in endomitosis. Blood 2004; 104:1017-24.
- Baccini V, Roy L, Vitrat N et al. Role of p21(Cip1/Waf1) in cell-cycle exit of endomitotic megakaryocytes. Blood 2001; 98:3274-82.
- 116. Roy L, Coullin P, Vitrat N et al. Asymmetrical segregation of chromosomes with a normal metaphase/anaphase checkpoint in polyploid megakaryocytes. Blood 2001; 97:2238-47.
- 117. Song Z, Yao X, Wu M. Direct interaction between survivin and Smac/DIABLO is essential for the anti-apoptotic activity of survivin during taxol-induced apoptosis. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:23130-40.
- 118. Marusawa H, Matsuzawa S, Welsh K et al. HBXIP functions as a cofactor of survivin in apoptosis suppression. EMBO J 2003; 22:2729-40.
- 119. Castedo M, Perfettini JL, Roumier T et al. Cell death by mitotic catastrophe: a molecular definition. Oncogene 2004; 23:2825-37.
- 120. Carter BZ, Wang RY, Schober WD et al. Targeting Survivin expression induces cell proliferation defect and subsequent cell death involving mitochondrial pathway in myeloid leukemic cells. Cell Cycle 2003; 2:488-93.
- 121. Li F, Ackermann EJ, Bennett CF et al. Pleiotropic cell-division defects and apoptosis induced by interference with survivin function. Nat Cell Biol 1999; 1:461-6.

- 122. Adams RR, Carmena M, Earnshaw WC. Chromosomal passengers and the (aurora) ABCs of mitosis. Trends Cell Biol 2001; 11:49-54.
- Castro A, Arlot-Bonnemains Y, Vigneron S et al. APC/Fizzy-Related targets Aurora-A kinase for proteolysis. EMBO Rep 2002; 3:457-62.
- 124. Andrews PD, Knatko E, Moore WJ et al. Mitotic mechanics: the auroras come into view. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2003; 15:672-83.
- 125. Ducat D, Zheng Y. Aurora kinases in spindle assembly and chromosome segregation. Exp Cell Res 2004; 301:60-7.
- 126. Honda R, Korner R, Nigg EA. Exploring the functional interactions between Aurora B, INCENP and survivin in mitosis. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14:3325-41.
- 127. Kang J, Cheeseman IM, Kallstrom G et al. Functional cooperation of Dam1, Ipl1 and the inner centromere protein (INCENP)-related protein Sli15 during chromosome segregation. J Cell Biol 2001; 155:763-74.
- 128. Chen J, Jin S, Tahir SK et al. Survivin enhances Aurora-B kinase activity and localizes Aurora-B in human cells. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:486-90.
- 129. Nguyen HG, Chinnappan D, Urano T. Mechanism of Aurora-B Degradation and Its Dependency on Intact KEN and A-Boxes: Identification of an Aneuploidy-Promoting Property. Mol Cell Biol 2005; 25:4977-92.
- 130. Scrittori L, Skoufias DA, Hans F et al. A small C-terminal sequence of Aurora B is responsible for localization and function. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:292-305.
- 131. Kallio MJ, McCleland ML, Stukenberg PT. Inhibition of aurora B kinase blocks chromosome segregation, overrides the spindle checkpoint and perturbs microtubule dynamics in mitosis. Curr Biol, 2002; 12:900-5.
- 132. Lan W, Zhang X, Kline-Smith SL et al. Aurora B phosphorylates centromeric MCAK and regulates its localization and microtubule depolymerization activity. Curr Biol 2004; 14:273-86.
- 133. Andrews PD, Ovechkina Y, Morrice N et al. Aurora B regulates MCAK at the mitotic centromere. Dev Cell 2004; 6:253-68.
- 134. Sugiyama K, Sugiura K, Hara T et al. Aurora-B associated protein phosphatases as negative regulators of kinase activation. Oncogene 2002; 21:3103-11.
- 135. Murnion ME, Adams RR, Callister DM et al. Chromatin-associated protein phosphatase 1 regulates aurora-B and histone H3 phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:26656-65.
- 136. Biggins S, Severin FF, Bhalla N et al. The conserved protein kinase Ipl1 regulates microtubule binding to kinetochores in budding yeast. Genes Dev 1999; 13:532-44.
- 137. Tanaka TU, Rachidi N, Janke C et al. Evidence that the Ipl1-Sli15 (Aurora kinase-INCENP) complex promotes chromosome bi-orientation by altering kinetochore-spindle pole connections. Cell 2002; 108:317-29.
- 138. Pinsky BA, Tatsutani SY, Collins KA et al. An Mtw1 complex promotes kinetochore biorientation that is monitored by the Ipl1/Aurora protein kinase. Dev Cell 2003; 5:735-45.
- 139. Dewar H, Tanaka K, Nasmyth K. Tension between two kinetochores suffices for their bi-orientation on the mitotic spindle. Nature 2004; 428:93-7.
- 140. Cheeseman IM, Anderson S, Jwa M et al. Phospho-regulation of kinetochore-microtubule attachments by the Aurora kinase Ipl1p. Cell 2002; 111:163-72.
- 141. Carvalho A, Carmena M, Sambade C et al. Survivin is required for stable checkpoint activation in taxol-treated HeLa cells. J Cell Sci 2003; 116:2987-98.
- 142. Ditchfield C, Johnson VL, Tighe A et al. Aurora B couples chromosome alignment with anaphase by targeting BubR1, Mad2 and Cenp-E to kinetochores. J Cell Biol 2003; 161:267-80.
- 143. Lampson MA, Renduchitala K, Khodjakov A et al. Correcting improper chromosome-spindle attachments during cell division. Nat Cell Biol 2004; 6:232-7.
- 144. Murata-Hori M, Wang YL. The kinase activity of aurora B is required for kinetochore-microtubule interactions during mitosis. Curr Biol 2002; 12:894-9.
- 145. Vigneron S, Prieto S, Bernis C et al. Kinetochore localization of spindle checkpoint proteins: who controls whom? Mol Biol Cell 2004; 15:4584-96.
- 146. Goto H, Yasui Y, Kawajiri A et al. Aurora-B regulates the cleavage furrow-specific vimentin phosphorylation in the cytokinetic process. J Biol Chem 2003; 278:8526-8530.
- 147. Terada Y. Role of chromosomal passenger complex in chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. Cell Struct Funct 2001; 26:653-7.
- 148. Kimura M, Kotani S, Hattori T et al. Cell cycle-dependent expression and spindle pole localization of a novel human protein kinase, Aik, related to Aurora of Drosophila and yeast Ipl1. J Biol Chem, 1997; 272:13766-71.
- 149. Terada Y, Tatsuka M, Suzuki F et al. AIM-1: a mammalian midbody-associated protein required for cytokinesis. EMBO J 1998; 17:667-76.

- 150. Giet R, Glover DM. Drosophila aurora B kinase is required for histone H3 phosphorylation and condensin recruitment during chromosome condensation and to organize the central spindle during cytokinesis. J Cell Biol 2001; 152:669-82.
- 151. Keen N, Taylor S. Aurora-kinase inhibitors as anticancer agents. Nat Rev Cancer 2004; 4:927-36.
- 152. Zhang Y, Nagata Y, Yu G et al. Aberrant quantity and localization of Aurora-B/AIM-1 and survivin during megakaryocyte polyploidization and the consequences of Aurora-B/AIM-1-deregulated expression. Blood 2004; 103:3717-26.
- 153. Terada Y, Tatsuka M, Suzuki F et al. AIM-1: a mammalian midbody-associated protein required for cytokinesis. EMBO J 1998; 17:667-676.
- 154. Goepfert TM, Brinkley BR. The centrosome-associated Aurora/Ipl-like kinase family. Curr Top Dev Biol 2000; 49:331-42.
- 155. Carmena M, Earnshaw WC. The cellular geography of aurora kinases. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003; 4:842-54.
- 156. Bischoff JR, Anderson L, Zhu Y et al. A homologue of Drosophila aurora kinase is oncogenic and amplified in human colorectal cancers. EMBO J 1998; 17:3052-65.
- 157. Tatsuka M, Katayama H, Ota T et al. Multinuclearity and increased ploidy caused by overexpression of the aurora- and Ipl1-like midbody-associated protein mitotic kinase in human cancer cells. Cancer Res 1998; 58:4811-6.
- 158. Giet R, Prigent C. Aurora/Ipl1p-related kinases, a new oncogenic family of mitotic serine-threonine kinases. J Cell Sci 1999; 112(Pt 21):3591-601.
- 159. Altieri DC. Survivin in apoptosis control and cell cycle regulation in cancer. Prog Cell Cycle Res 2003; 5:447-52.
- 160. Sen S, Zhou H, Zhang RD et al. Amplification/overexpression of a mitotic kinase gene in human bladder cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2002; 94:1320-9.
- 161. Fujita M, Mizuno M, Nagasaka T et al. Aurora-B dysfunction of multinucleated giant cells in glioma detected by site-specific phosphorylated antibodies. J Neurosurg 2004; 101:1012-7.
- 162. Tatsuka M, Sato S, Kitajima S et al. Overexpression of Aurora-A potentiates HRAS-mediated oncogenic transformation and is implicated in oral carcinogenesis. Oncogene 2005; 24:1122-7.
- 163. Sorrentino R, Libertini S, Pallante PL et al. Aurora B overexpression associates with the thyroid carcinoma undifferentiated phenotype and is required for thyroid carcinoma cell proliferation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90:928-35.
- 164. Mayer F, Stoop H, Sen S et al. Aneuploidy of human testicular germ cell tumors is associated with amplification of centrosomes. Oncogene 2003; 22:3859-66.
- 165. Araki K, Nozaki K, Ueba T et al. High expression of Aurora-B/Aurora and Ipll-like midbody-associated protein (AIM-1) in astrocytomas. J Neurooncol 2004; 67:53-64.
- 166. Doggrell SA. Dawn of Aurora kinase inhibitors as anticancer drugs. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2004; 13:1199-201.
- 167. Harrington EA, Bebbington D, Moore J et al. VX-680, a potent and selective small-molecule inhibitor of the Aurora kinases, suppresses tumor growth in vivo. Nat Med 2004; 10:262-7.
- 168. Gadea BB, Ruderman JV. Aurora kinase inhibitor ZM447439 blocks chromosome-induced spindle assembly, the completion of chromosome condensation and the establishment of the spindle integrity checkpoint in Xenopus egg extracts. Mol Biol Cell 2005; 16:1305-18.
- 169. Bischoff JR. Plowman GD. The Aurora/Ipl1p kinase family: regulators of chromosome segregation and cytokinesis. Trends Cell Biol 1999; 9:454-9.
- 170. Descamps S, Prigent C. Two mammalian mitotic aurora kinases: who's who? Sci STKE 2001; PE1.
- 171. Cong XL, Han ZC. Survivin and leukemia. Int J Hematol 2004; 80:232-8.
- 172. Choi N, Baumann M, Flentjie M et al. Predictive factors in radiotherapy for nonsmall cell lung cancer: present status. Lung Cancer 2001; 31:43-56.
- 173. Sasaki T, Lopes MB, Hankins GR et al. Expression of survivin, an inhibitor of apoptosis protein, in tumors of the nervous system. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 2002; 104:105-9.
- 174. Sui L, Dong Y, Ohno M et al. Survivin expression and its correlation with cell proliferation and prognosis in epithelial ovarian tumors. Int J Oncol 2002; 21:315-20.
- 175. Kajiwara Y, Yamasaki F, Hama S et al. Expression of survivin in astrocytic tumors: correlation with malignant grade and prognosis. Cancer 2003; 97:1077-83.
- 176. Nakayama K, Kamihira S. Survivin an important determinant for prognosis in adult T-cell leukemia: a novel biomarker in practical hemato-oncology. Leuk Lymphoma 2002; 43:2249-55.

Polyploidization of Liver Cells

Séverine Celton-Morizur and Chantal Desdouets*

Abstract

ukaryotic organisms usually contain a diploid complement of chromosomes. However, there are a number of exceptions. Organisms containing an increase in DNA content by Awhole number multiples of the entire set of chromosomes are defined as polyploid. Cells that contain more than two sets of chromosomes were first observed in plants about a century ago and it is now recognized that polyploidy cells form in many eukaryotes under a wide variety of circumstance. Although it is less common in mammals, some tissues, including the liver, show a high percentage of polyploid cells. Thus, during postnatal growth, the liver parenchyma undergoes dramatic changes characterized by gradual polyploidization during which hepatocytes of several ploidy classes emerge as a result of modified cell-division cycles. This process generates the successive appearance of tetraploid and octoploid cell classes with one or two nuclei (mononucleated or binucleated). Liver cells polyploidy is generally considered to indicate terminal differentiation and senescence and to lead both to the progressive loss of cell pluripotency and a markedly decreased replication capacity. In adults, liver polyploidization is differentially regulated upon loss of liver mass and liver damage. Interestingly, partial hepatectomy induces marked cell proliferation followed by an increase in liver ploidy. In contrast, during hepatocarcinoma (HCC), growth shifts to a nonpolyploidizing pattern and expansion of the diploid hepatocytes population is observed in neoplastic nodules. Here we review the current state of understanding about how polyploidization is regulated during normal and pathological liver growth and detail by which mechanisms hepatocytes become polyploid.

Introduction

The liver is an essential organ with a high regenerative capacity and complex functions.¹⁻³ This organ has a central role in metabolic homeostasis, as it is responsible for the metabolism, synthesis, storage and redistribution of nutrients, carbohydrates, fats and vitamins. Nutrients entering the liver are transformed into secreted proteins (albumin, most coagulation factors and several plasma carrier proteins), carbohydrates stored in the liver as glycogen (the main glucose reserve used for stabilization of glucose levels in the blood) and lipids sent as lipoproteins into the other tissues. Importantly, the liver is also the main detoxifying organ of the body, which removes wastes and xenobiotics by metabolic conversion and biliary excretion. The main cell type of the liver that carries out most of these functions is the parenchymal cells, or hepatocytes, which constitute approximately 60% of all cells in the liver and 90% of liver cell mass. The other 40% comprise the nonparenchymal cells, which include endothelial cells, kupffer cells, lymphocytes and stellate cells. Hepatocytes within the liver lobule differ in their enzyme content and subcellular structure according to their location (for reviews see ref. 4). In fact, based on the blood vessels location and the blood flow direction, the individual liver lobule can be subdivided into an upstream "periportal" and a downstream "perivenous"

*Corresponding Author: Chantal Desdouets—Institut Cochin, Universite Paris Descartes, CNRS (UNR 8104) Inserm U567 Department of Genetic and Development, 24 rue du Faubourg St Jacques, 75014 Paris, France.Email: desdouets@cochin.inserm.fr

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media. (pericentral) region. Amino-acid metabolism, gluconeogenesis, lipid oxidation, energy metabolism and glycogen synthesis from lactate take place in the upstream, periportal hepatocytes. On the other hand, glycolysis, lipogenesis, cytochrome P450-dependent detoxification and glycogen synthesis from glucose are located in the downstream, pericentral hepatocytes.

Polyploidy is a characteristic feature of mammalian hepatocytes.⁵⁻⁸ During postnatal growth, the liver parenchyma undergoes dramatic changes characterized by gradual polyploidization during which hepatocytes of several ploidy classes emerge as a result of modified cell-division cycles. This process generates the successive appearance of tetraploid and octoploid cell classes with one or two nuclei.⁸⁻¹⁰ The hepatocyte ploidy level practically reaches the plateau at maturity. Interestingly, a second wave of ploidy elevation has been also observed at senescence in different species.^{11,12} The biological significance of hepatic polyploidy is not clear, but the presence of advanced polyploidy is generally considered to indicate terminal differentiation,^{13,14} with decreased proliferative capacity.^{15,16} In this chapter, we discuss how polyploidization is regulated during normal and pathological liver growth and try to understand by which mechanisms hepatocytes become polyploid.

Polyploidization During Normal (Developmental) Liver Growth

Hepatic development is an extended process that continues thought early postnatal life. Through E14, most hepatoblasts are bipotent with the ability to differentiate into hepatocytes as well as biliary cells but by E15 most hepatoblasts are committed to the hepatocyte lineage.^{17,18} During the remaining period of gestation and the first four postnatal weeks, hepatoblasts acquire functions of the differentiated hepatocytes and metabolic zonation.^{4,17,18} In parallel with this process of hepatocyte differentiation, there is a progressive decline in cellular proliferation. The DNA synthesis rate is elevated in rats two hours after birth with 18% of the hepatocytes incorporating ³H-Thymidine.¹⁹ Three weeks after birth, ~9% of the hepatocytes show evidence for DNA synthesis; within six weeks DNA synthesis is detected in only few hepatocytes, ~0.05% which is similar to a normal adult liver.

The onset of polyploidy is clearly correlated with the end of the proliferative state in the liver. Several techniques have been reported for ploidy determination using isolated hepatocytes (ex vivo studies). Hepatocyte ploidy has been investigated in the past essentially through karyometry²⁰ and cytophotometry.^{21,22} More recently, several groups have used flow cytometry (FACS).^{9,14,23} However, FACS cannot resolve nuclearity (counting binucleated cells) and a second step is required to count the number of nuclei per cell (microscopy approach).^{24,25} Recently, reports have taken advantage of fluorescence imaging to directly assess in vivo nuclearity and to measure DNA content in order to determine the liver ploidy/binuclearity profile^{26,27} (Fig. 1A,B). In fact, the results of ex vivo and in vivo studies are in line with each other. For example, in the newborn rat liver, all hepatocytes are diploid (Fig. 1C). From the first three weeks postnatal, the proportion of diploid cells starts to fall significantly, with the successive appearance of binucleated 2 × 2n and mononucleated 4n hepatocytes (Fig. 1C). Binucleated $2 \times 2n$ cells are first detected after weaning (day 21) and then their proportion rise rapidly to reach ~30 % of the total hepatocytes population at day 30. The mononucleated 4n hepatocytes population is only present at significant levels 25 days after birth. At day 30, a sharp increase is observed in the number of mononucleated 4n hepatocytes and this hepatocytes contingent is in the majority at day 40, reaching ~45% of the total population (Fig. 1C). Octoploid (binucleated 2×4 n and mononucleated 8n) hepatocytes accumulate in significant numbers during the second and third months, in parallel with a decline in the relative number of tetraploid hepatocytes.

The degree of polyploidization varies in different mammals (Table 1).^{28,29} In humans, the number of polyploid cells averages 30% to 40% in the adult liver.¹¹⁻²⁷ A negative correlation exists between the mitotic index in the liver and the level of hepatocyte polyploidization found in different species.^{30,31} For example, a mouse liver has a much lower mitotic index than a rat liver and accordingly the higher level of hepatocyte polyploidization is minimal in a guinea pig liver which has the highest mitotic index of hepatocytes amongst rodents.²⁹ Increased cell size is the most obvious and consistent consequence of an increase in ploidy. Different studies have demonstrated in both human and mouse liver cells that the volume of hepatocytes is approximately twice with doubling DNA content.^{8,25,32,33} Moreover, there is no significant difference in the volume



Figure 1. In situ analysis of hepatocyte polyploidy during liver growth. A) Imaging of a liver section after double staining with Hoechst (nuclear labelling) and β -catenin (plasma membrane labelling) enable a distinction between mononucleated 2n, 4n and binucleated 2 × 2n hepatocytes. B) Representative histogram of the DNA content distribution of mononucleated hepatocytes from 12-days-old and 30-days-old rats. DNA content is evaluated by recording the Hoechst integrated fluorescence in each nucleus. Integrated fluorescence is expressed in arbitrary units. The first peak is representative of hepatocytes with 2n DNA content. The second peak is positioned at twice the value of the first peak and is representative of hepatocytes with 4n DNA content. C) Polyploidization during postnatal liver growth: percentages of mononucleated 2n (black line), binucleated 2 × 2n (dark line) and mononucleated 4n (grey line) hepatocytes. The average percentage of each population is shown on the curve.

of binucleated $2 \times 2n$ and mononucleated 4n hepatocytes and between binucleated $2 \times 4n$ and mononucleated 8n hepatocytes.²⁵ The relationship between DNA content and cell volume is in fact conserved in evolutionarily distant eukaryotes. For example, the volume of budding yeast cells increases linearly with each extra complement of chromosomes.³⁴ How are polyploid hepatocytes distributed in adult hepatic lobules? Different studies have suggested the existence of ploidy zonation within the hepatic lobules, periportal hepatocytes exhibiting less ploidy and perivenous hepatocytes greater ploidy.^{13,35,36} However, recent discrepant results have been reported suggesting that similar proportions of binucleated hepatocytes are present in both periportal and perivenous areas.³⁷

	Hepatocyte Ploidy Classes					
	2n	2 imes 2n	4n	2 imes 4n	8n	2 imes 8n
Bos taurus	97,3	2,0	0,7			
Equus caballus	96,7	2,3	1,0			
Ovis aries	92,7	4,3	3,0			
Homo sapiens	75,8	14.3	9,6	0,3		
Canis lupus	87,3	6,0	6,7			
Gorilla gorilla	81,3	12,21	5,6	0,6	0,3	
Cavia porcellus	68,7	28,0	3,3			
Talpa europaea	63,7	31,0	5,3			
Sorex araneus	15,0	84,7	0,3			
Rattus rattus	4,0	16,3	67,7	8,7	3,0	0,3
Rattus norvegicus	5,3	2,7	76,0	10,0	6,0	
Mus musculus	5,7	7,3	60,0	17,0	7,7	2,3

Table 1. Distribution (%) of the different hepatocytes ploidy classes

The molecular events that cause polyploidy remain elusive. The onset of polyploidy is clearly associated with weaning and independent feeding.²⁹ Liver polyploidy would be influenced by dietary restriction (DR). The effect of the DR on liver polyploidy has been analyzed by measuring the volume of hepatic nuclei. When dietary restriction is imposed on one group by reducing their food intake to 60% of ad libitum food intake, onset of polyploidization is delayed in food-deprived rats.³⁸ The same results are obtained if mice are fed with a low protein diet.³⁹ The endocrine regulation of the growth and polyploidization of liver nuclei has been extensively studied in the past. Forty years ago, morphometric studies revealed that hormones alter mitotic activity and hepatocyte ploidy, the regulation being predominantly carried out by growth and thyroid hormones with modulators effects of sex steroids hormones.^{40.44} When summarizing the role for pituitary-mediated hormones, it was suggested that the action of the thyroid hormone is largely mediated through an effect on the release of the anterior pituitary growth hormone (GH).³⁰ However, more recently two studies have investigated the effect of T_3 in thyroidectomized rats on the ploidy of liver nuclei. A complete cessation of 4C nuclei formation was reported in these rats; treatment of thyroidectomized rats with a single dose of T₃ was sufficient to abruptly increase the percentage of 4C nuclei.^{45,46} By contrast, hGH injection has no effect on the 4C nuclei fraction in the hypothyroid rats.⁴⁶ These results suggest that the processes of hepatocyte polyploidization are under endocrine control, with thyroid hormones playing the essential regulatory role.

Mechanism of Binucleation and Polyploidization

One fascinating question is how a diploid organism can give rise to polyploid cells in some tissues. In the liver, the cellular mechanisms that govern the passage from mononucleated 2n to binucleated 2 × 2n and/or mononucleated 4n hepatocytes have long been unknown. One explanation for liver polyploidization is that a mononucleated 2n hepatocyte gives rise directly to mononucleated 4n cells through endoreplication. During this physiological process, DNA replication is uncoupled from cell division: the cell undergoes several rounds of DNA replication without mitosis, leading to the genesis of terminally differentiated nondividing autopolyploids cells.⁴⁷ This process has already been described in plants, *Drosophila* and mammals, notably in megakaryocyte and trophoblast cells.^{47,50} In the liver, such a mechanism has also been described but only in pathological murine models exhibiting an absence or deregulated expression of genes such as p21, S-phase kinase associated protein 2 (Skp2) and excision repair cross-complementing protein 1 (ERCC1). In these mice, endoreplication takes place and induces premature liver poly-
ploidization with an increase in the number of mononucleated polyploid fractions.⁵¹⁻⁵³ However, this process doesn't take into account the formation of binucleated cells.

An alternative mechanism could be cell fusion, where two mononucleated 2n cells can fuse together and produce one binucleated $2 \times 2n$ hepatocyte. Hereafter, binucleated $2 \times 2n$ hepatocytes may divide, leading to the genesis of two daughter mononucleated 4n hepatocytes. A mononucleated 4n hepatocyte then embarks upon a new round of binucleation/polyploidization with the formation of $2 \times 4n$ and 8n cells. In some cell types (skeletal muscle cells and osteoclasts), cell fusion is a normal developmental programmed step, which leads to the production of terminally differentiated cells.^{54,55} In the liver, there is no strong evidences that such phenomenon can occur between two hepatocytes, even if an old study suggests that cultured primary hepatocytes with one or two nuclei can fuse themselves spontaneously and that the frequency of this phenomenon increases with culture time.⁵⁶ However the relevance of this phenomenon is controversial and could be attributed to the cell culture conditions, as it has been described for other kind of cell types.⁵⁷

Finally, it was suggested a long time ago that a process of abortive cell cycle could produce binucleated hepatocytes.²⁰ Generally correlated with pathological proliferation, this particular event is due to a wide variety of defects in different aspects of cell division such as DNA replication, dissolving sister-chromatid cohesion, mitotic spindle function and cytokinesis. Recently, two studies have clearly demonstrated that binuclated hepatocytes have a pivotal role for the establishment of liver cell polyploidization during postnatal development (Fig. 2). In the first study, Guidotti and collabora-



Figure 2. Lineage of hepatocytes of different ploidy during postnatal liver growth. Hepatocytes of newborns are exclusively diploid (mononucleated 2n). At the weaning period, the mononucleated 2n hepatocyte can engage either into a normal cell division cycle (whole arrow) and gives rise to two mononucleated 2n hepatocytes, or follow an adaptive cell cycle with incomplete cytokinesis (arrow in dotted line) and give rise to one binucleated 2 × 2n hepatocyte. During liver growth, progressive polyploidization appears and tetraploid and octoploid cells classes with one or two nuclei are formed.

tors showed that the formation of binucleated hepatocytes was the consequence of a modified cell cycle.²⁶ Indeed, using a live-cell microscopy approach, they clearly demonstrated that binucleated 2 × 2n hepatocytes derive from mononucleated 2n hepatocytes that have not completed cytokinesis. In another study, the molecular process of the incomplete cytokinesis was deciphered.³⁷ This specific division program is triggered by weaning. Indeed, in suckling rats, all late telophase hepatocytes



Figure 3. Physiological incomplete mode of cytokinesis in the liver. (Adapted from Margall-Ducos G et al. J Cell Sci 2007; 120:3633-3639)³⁷. A) Actin cytoskeleton rearrangement doesn't occur during an incomplete cytokinesis process. When hepatocytes complete cytokinesis, the presence of an actin belt parallel to the cleavage plane is observed in anaphase with its ingression during telophase (left panels). By contrast, during incomplete cytokinesis, the actin belt is always absent, actin cytoskeleton not being able to reorganize at the cleavage plane (right panels). Consequently, during telophase, there is no ingression. Hepatocytes are stained with Alexa Fluor488 phalloidin (actin) and nuclei with Hoechst (DNA). Scale bars represent 5 µm. B) Organization of the microtubules network during incomplete cytokinesis. Staining for b tubulin reveals that the microtubules network during compressed in anaphase when hepatocytes ac onsequence of furrow ingression (left panels). When hepatocytes do not complete cytokinesis, the cells present disrupted microtubules network due to the absence of anctorage to the equatorial cortex (right panels). Scale bars represent 5 µm. Reproduced with permission of the Company of Biologists.

present a cell shape characteristic of cleavage furrow ingression.⁵⁸ In fed rats, although some late telophase hepatocytes are engaged in a normal cytokinesis process (60%), others present a round shape, indicating an absence of ingression (40%). Following living cells divisions after weaning, the authors established that anaphase cell elongation, a crucial step in the cytokinesis process, is clearly impaired in hepatocytes presenting an incomplete cytokinesis. In fact, the actin cytoskeleton is not reorganized to the cleavage plane during anaphase-telophase transition (Fig. 3A). Moreover, during an incomplete cytokinesis process there is an absence of astral microtubules anchorage to the equatorial cortex inducing a total destabilization of microtubules network (Fig. 3B). Signals transmitted by astral microtubules are not delivered to the equatorial cortex. In this condition, the RhoA pathway, the orchestrator of cytokinesis, is not activated. These findings reveal a new developmental cell division program in the liver which prevents cleavage-plane specification leading to the genesis of binucleated hepatocytes.

In contrast to a transformed cell that does not complete cytokinesis,⁵⁹ a binucleated $2 \times 2n$ hepatocyte is able to proceed through a new cell cycle.²⁶ This cell progresses through the S phase (Fig. 4A) and during mitosis cytokinesis may or may not be completed, leading to the genesis of two



Figure 4. Centrosomes traffic during the division of binucleated $2 \times 2n$ hepatocytes. (Adapted from Guidotti JE et al. J Biol Chem 2003 23; 278(21):19095-101)²⁶. A) Binucleated hepatocytes progress through the S phase. Analysis of BrdU incorporation on primary cultures of hepatocytes reveals that DNA replication occurs in binucleated as well as mononucleated hepatocytes. B) A binucleated hepatocyte duplicates its centrosomes. A binucleated hepatocyte displays two centrosomes during G1 phase (γ -tubulin labelling) and four centrosomes during G2 phase. DNA content is evaluated by recording Hoechst fluorescence in each nucleus. The peak DNA content of hepatocyte ($2 \times 4n$) with four centrosomes. C) Specific migration of centrosomes during mitosis of binucleated hepatocytes. During prophase, the four centrosomes move apart and at metaphase cluster in pairs at opposite poles of the cell. At telophase, centrosome clustering is maintained. Reproduced with permission of the Company of Biologists.

mononucleated 4n hepatocytes or one binucleated $2 \times 4n$ hepatocyte (Fig. 2). Note that animal cells face a specific problem when they become tetraploid: they acquire an extra centrosome that could potentially compromise the assembly of a bipolar spindle during metaphase, contributing to the accuracy of chromosome segregation. Hyperamplification of a centrosome has been observed in many tumor tissues and cell lines and is linked with both aneuploidy and tumorigenesis.⁶⁰⁻⁶⁵ In order to prevent proliferation or survival of tetraploids cells, the cell has evolved several mechanisms: G1 cell cycle arrest, apoptosis, adaptive silencing of extra centrosomes and specific clustering of these extra centrosomes.⁵⁹ Interestingly, binucleated hepatocytes during the S phase correctly duplicate their centrosomes (Fig. 4B). During mitosis these cells formed a unique bipolar spindle, leading to the alignment of all chromosomes on one metaphase plate. This event is driven by a specific clustering of supernumerary centrosomes, two by two at the cellular pole (Fig. 4C). This centrosome clustering is essential to give rise solely to viable polyploid progeny and prevent the genesis of aneuploid cells.⁵⁹ In conclusion, the hepatocyte constitutes a particularly interesting model of a ploidy process leading first to binucleated $2 \times 2n$ cells, which then evolve into mononucleated 4nor binucleated $2 \times 4n$ cell. Furthermore, it is quiet fascinating that hepatocytes can adapt to the presence of extra centrosomes. Understanding the mechanism that controls centrosome clustering would be important for cancer biology in order to prevent aberrant mitosis.

Polyploidy in Regenerating Liver and During Pathological States

The adult liver retains a high proliferative capacity. It responds to tissue injuries such as partial hepatectomy, toxin and drug-induced liver disease as well as the administration of a specific growth factor by priming quiescent hepatocytes.⁶⁶ During liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy, quiescent hepatocytes undergo one or two rounds of replication to restore the liver mass by a process of compensatory hyperplasia. Many studies have shown that during this process hepatic polyploidy is modified.^{6,9,14,20,29} Regenerative liver growth differs markedly from developmental liver growth with the most striking difference being the rapid disappearance of binucleated hepatocytes (Fig. 5). The hepatocellular growth pattern is thus switched to a nonbinucleating mode of growth; nuclei with diploid or tetraploid DNA is converted to tetraploid and octoploid ones respectively.¹⁴ Interestingly, the diploid hepatocytes seem to have a higher tendency that the polyploid ones to undergo several rounds of division.¹⁴ Moreover, after partial hepatectomy, polyploid hepatocytes exhibit senescence-type changes with increased lipofuscin accumulation, β -galactosidase activity (a marker of cell senescence⁶⁷) and accumulation of p21.¹⁴ Different studies have also shown, in adult rodents, that induction of DNA synthesis by different chemicals is associated with disparate changes in liver ploidy and nuclearity profile. Thus, liver growth induced by the mitogen lead nitrate, unlike liver regeneration induced by PH, is associated with cellular polyploidy mainly resulting from an increase in binuclearity.⁶⁸ By contrast, an increase in mononucleated octoploid hepatocytes has been described following administration of hepatic mitogens as 1,4-dichlorobenzene²⁴ and sodium phenobarbitone (PB)⁶⁹ and peroxisome proliferators as WY-14 643 and methylclofenapate.⁷⁰ All these results suggest that different chemicals may selectively induce DNA synthesis in hepatocytes of one particular ploidy or nuclearity class.

Hepatic polyploidy can also be modified by metabolic overload that induces liver lesions (Fig. 5). It has been reported that Long-Evans Cinnamon (LEC) rats spontaneously develop a necrotizing hepatic injury.^{71,72} These rats are deficient in the P-type copper ATPase gene (atp7b), the gene responsible for human Wilson's disease (WD). LEC rats accumulate excess copper in the liver but have decreased levels of serum ceruloplasmin activities, a clinical presentation similar to human WD.⁷³ Moreover, LEC rats also accumulate as much iron as copper.⁷⁴ In this animal's model, hepatocytes present large polyploid nuclei and a delay in mitotic progression has been also observed.^{75,76} Similarly, in normal mice the injection of iron-dextran induces liver polyploidization; this effect is inhibited by the oral intake of iron chelator.⁷⁷ Oxidative damage to the liver is also associated with a pronounced increase in the population of polyploid hepatocytes. Gorla and collaborators demonstrated that subsequent to radiation, hepatocytes exhibit evidence for oxidative injury with the deletion of intracellular antioxidants (as glutathione and catalase) and for an



Figure 5. Ploidy modification during regenerative and pathological proliferation. In adults, liver polyploidization is regulated differently upon loss of liver mass and liver damage. Liver regeneration induced by partial hepatectomy leads to the disappearance of binucleated hepatocytes and the formation of mononucleated tetraploid and octoploid hepatocytes. Induction of DNA synthesis by chemicals, oxidative damage or metabolic overload is selectively associated with a pronounced increase in the population of polyploid hepatocytes of one particular ploidy or nuclearity class. Liver lesions induced in the rat by chemical carcinogens (diethylnitrosamine (DEN) and 2-acetyl-aminofluorene (2-AAF)) lead to an overall reduction in liver ploidy and an expansion of the diploid cell population. Increases in diploid mononucleated hepatocytes have been reported in human euploid hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).

increase of polyploidy.^{78,79} In the same line, another study demonstrated that the overexpression of antioxidant enzymes (glutathione peroxidase, Cu, Zn-superoxide dismutase) in transgenic mice decreases hepatocyte ploidy during liver regeneration.⁸⁰ All these results argue with the fact that an extensive correlation exists between the generation of polyploid hepatocytes and a variety of cellular stress as it has been demonstrated in other tissues.⁵⁹

Finally and in contrast of what we described above, hepatocellular carcinoma has a lower polyploid fraction compared to an age-matched normal liver(Fig. 5).⁸¹ Thus, liver lesions induced in the rat by chemical carcinogens (diethylnitrosamine (DEN) and 2-acetyl-aminofluorene (2-AAF)) lead to an overall reduction in liver ploidy and an expansion of the diploid cell population which prevails at the different stages of hepatocyte transformation: foci, nodule and hepatocarcinogenesis. An increase in diploid mononucleated hepatocytes with a decrease in polyploid hepatocytes (including binucleated fraction) have been reported in human euploid hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).^{87,88} Diploid cells are also detected in macronodules (dysplasia, high grade) in cirrhotic livers, suggesting an early shift to diploid cell expansion during hepatocarcinogenesis.⁸⁹ Therefore, the selective proliferation of mononucleated 2n hepatocytes could be one of the early events of the liver transformation process. Since a diploid genome would be less protected against recessive mutations than a polyploid genome, a predominance of diploid hepatocytes may predispose to further progression of the lesions toward increasing malignancy.⁸⁴

Conclusion

The onset of polyploidy in the liver has been described for quite some time. Polyploidization is emerging as an important restriction mechanism for hepatocellular growth. However, the biological significance of this original physiological process remains unclear. Presently, little is known about the function and fate of polyploid hepatocytes. Different hypotheses have been put forward: (i) it may protect cells from genotoxic damage by increasing their gene copy number; (ii) it allows the liver to adapt to aging-related cellular loss and still preserve function; and (iii) it may affect the expression profile of specific genes. Further work concerning this fascinating process will offer insights into hepatic pathophysiology.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to acknowledge the support of "Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale" (INSERM), of "La Ligue Comité de Paris " (RS06/75-57) and of "the Agence Nationale de la Recherche" (ANR 05-JCJC-0168-01). S. Celton-Morizur was supported by a postdoctoral fellowship from "La Ligue contre le Cancer".

References

- 1. Michalopoulos GK, DeFrances MC. Liver regeneration. Science 1997; 276:60-6.
- Saxema R, Zucker SD, Crawford JM. Chapter 1. In: Zakim DZ, and Boyer TD, eds. Hepathology: a textbook of liver disease. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders Company, 2003:43-58.
- 3. Taub R. Liver regeneration: from myth to mechanism. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5(10):836-47.
- Jungermann K, Kietzmann T. Zonation of parenchymal and nonparenchymal metabolism in liver. Annu Rev Nutr 1996; 16:179-203.
- 5. Alfert M, Geswind I. The development of polysomaty in rat liver. Exp Cell Res 1958; 15:230-5.
- 6. Brodsky WY, Uryvaeva IV. Cell polyploidy: its relation to tissue growth and function. Int Rev Cytol 1977; 50:275-332.
- 7. Carriere R. Polyploid cell reproduction in normal adult rat liver. Exp Cell Res 1967; 46:533-40.
- Epstein CJ. Cell size, nuclear content and the development of polyploidy in the mammalian liver. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1967; 57:327-34.
- 9. Gerlyng P, Abyholm A, Grotmol T et al. Binucleation and polyploidization patterns in developmental and regenerative rat liver growth. Cell Prolif 1993; 26(6):557-65.
- Nadal C, Zajdela F. [Hepatic polyploidy in the rat. IV. Experimental changes in the nucleolar volume of liver cells and their mechanisms of regulation]. Exp Cell Res 1967; 48(3):518-28.
- 11. Kudryavtsev BN, Kudryavtseva MV, Sakuta GA et al. Human hepatocyte polyploidization kinetics in the course of life cycle. Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol 1993; 64(6):387-93.
- Severin E, Meier EM, Williers R. Flow cytometric analysis of mouse hepatocyte ploidy. The development of polyploidy pattern in four mice strains with differents life spans. Cell Tissue Res 1984; 238:649-52.
- Schmucker DL. Hepatocyte fine structure during maturation and senescence. J Electron Microsc Tech 1990; 14(2):106-25.
- Sigal SH, Rajvanshi P, Gorla GR et al. Partial hepatectomy-induced polyploidy attenuates hepatocyte replication and activates cell aging events. Am J Physiol 1999; 276(5 Pt 1):G1260-72.
- 15. Gerlyng P, Grotmol T, Erikstein B et al. Reduced proliferative activity of polyploid cells in primary hepatocellular carcinoma. Carcinogenesis 1992; 13:1795-801.
- Mossin L, Blankson H, Huitfeldt H et al. Ploidy-dependent growth and binucleation in cultured rat hepatocytes. Exp Cell Res 1994; 214(2):551-60.
- Germain L, Blouin MJ, Marceau N. Biliary epithelial and hepatocytic cell lineage relationships in embryonic rat liver as determined by the differential expression of cytokeratins, alpha-fetoprotein, albumin and cell surface-exposed components. Cancer Res 1988; 48(17):4909-18.
- Shiojiri N, Lemire JM, Fausto N. Cell lineages and oval cell progenitors in rat liver development. Cancer Res 1991; 51(10):2611-20.
- 19. Viola-Magni MP. Synthesis and turnover of DNA in hepatocytes of neonatal rats. J Microsc 1972; 96(2):191-203.
- 20. Nadal C, Zajdela F. [Somatic polyploid cells in rat liver. I. The role of binuclear cells in the formation of the polyploid cells]. Exp Cell Res 1966; 42(1):99-116.

- An CS, Petrovic LM, Reyter I et al. The application of image analysis and neural network technology to the study of large-cell liver-cell dysplasia and hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 1997; 26(5):1224-31.
- 22. Yin L, Ghebranious N, Chakraborty S et al. Control of mouse hepatocyte proliferation and ploidy by p53 and p53ser246 mutation in vivo. Hepatology 1998; 27(1):73-80.
- 23. Sigal SH, Gupta S, Gebhard DF et al. Evidence for a terminal differentiation process in the rat liver. Differentiation 1995; 59(1):35-42.
- Hasmall SC, Roberts RA. Hepatic ploidy, nuclearity and distribution of DNA synthesis: a comparison of nongenotoxic hepatocarcinogens with noncarcinogenic liver mitogens. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1997; 144(2):287-93.
- Martin NC, McCullough CT, Bush PG et al. Functional analysis of mouse hepatocytes differing in DNA content: volume, receptor expression and effect of IFNgamma. J Cell Physiol 2002; 191(2):138-44.
- Guidotti JE, Bregerie O, Robert A et al. Liver cell polyploidization: a pivotal role for binuclear hepatocytes. J Biol Chem 2003 23; 278(21):19095-101.
- Toyoda H, Bregerie O, Vallet A et al. Changes to hepatocyte ploidy and binuclearity profiles during human chronic viral hepatitis. Gut 2005; 54(2):297-302.
- Anatskaya OV, Vinogradov AE, Kudryavtsev BN. Hepatocyte polyploidy and metabolism/life-history traits: hypotheses testing. J Theor Biol 1994 21; 168(2):191-9.
- Wheatley DN. Binucleation in mammalian liver. Studies on the control of cytokinesis in vivo. Exp Cell Res 1972; 74(2):455-65.
- 30. Carriere R. The growth of liver-parenchymal nuclei and its endocrine regulation. Inter Rev Cytology 1969; 25:201-78.
- 31. Mac Donald WE. lifespan of liver cells. Arch Internal Med 1961; 107:335-43.
- Deschenes J, Valet JP, Marceau N. The relationship between cell volume, ploidy and functional activity in differentiating hepatocytes. Cell Biophys 1981; 3(4):321-34.
- 33. Watanabe T, Tanaka Y. Age-related alterations in the size of human hepatocytes. A study of mononuclear and binucleate cells. Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol 1982; 39(1):9-20.
- 34. Mortimer RK. Radiobiological and genetic studies on a polyploid series (haploid to hexaploid) of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Radiat Res 1958; 9:312-26.
- 35. Asahina K, Shiokawa M, Ueki T et al. Multiplicative mononuclear small hepatocytes in adult rat liver: their isolation as a homogeneous population and localization to periportal zone. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006; 342(4):1160-7.
- Gandillet A, Alexandre E, Holl V et al. Hepatocyte ploidy in normal young rat. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 2003; 134(3):665-73.
- Margall-Ducos G, Celton-Morizur S, Couton D et al. Liver Tetraploidization is Controlled by a New Process of Incomplete Cytokinesis. Journal of Cell Science 2007; 120:3633-3639.
- Enesco HE, Shimokawa I, Yu BP. Effect of dietary restriction and aging on polyploidy in rat liver. Mech Ageing Dev 1991; 59(1-2):69-78.
- Enesco HE, Samborsky J. Liver polyploidy: influence of age and of dietary restriction. Exp Gerontol 1983; 18(1):79-87.
- 40. Geschwind I, Alfert M, Schooley C. The effect of thyroxine and growth hormone on liver polyploidy. Biol Bull 1960; 118:66-9.
- Nadal C, Zajdela F. [Polyploidy in the rat liver. II. The role of the hypophysis and protein deficiency]. Exp Cell Res 1966; 42(1):117-29.
- Swartz FJ, Ford JD Jr. Effect of thyroidectomy on development of polyploid nuclei in rat liver. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1960; 104:756-9.
- Swartz FJ, Sams BF. Polyploidization of rat liver following sex hormone administration to castrate and intact rats. Anat Rec 1961; 141:219-25.
- Swartz FJ, Sams BF, Barton AG. Polyploidization of rat liver following castration of males and females. Exp Cell Res 1960; 438-444.
- Mendecki J, Dillmann WH, Wolley RC et al. Effect of thyroid hormone on the ploidy of rat liver nuclei as determined by flow-cytometry. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1978; 158(1):63-M.
- Torres S, Diaz BP, Cabrera JJ et al. Thyroid hormone regulation of rat hepatocyte proliferation and polyploidization. Am J Physiol 1999; 276(1 Pt 1):G155-63.
- 47. Edgar BA, Orr-Weaver TL. Endoreplication cell cycles: more for less. Cell 2001; 105(3):297-306.
- 48. Cebolla A, Vinardell JM, Kiss E et al. The mitotic inhibitor ccs52 is required for endoreduplication and ploidy-dependent cell enlargement in plants. EMBO J 1999 16; 18(16):4476-84.
- 49. Kondorosi E, Roudier F, Gendreau E. Plant cell-size control: growing by ploidy? Curr Opin Plant Biol 2000; 3(6):488-92.
- 50. Ravid K, Lu J, Zimmet JM et al. Roads to polyploidy: the megakaryocyte example. J Cell Physiol 2002; 190(1):7-20.

- Minamishima YA, Nakayama K. Recovery of liver mass without proliferation of hepatocytes after partial hepatectomy in Skp2-deficient mice. Cancer Res 2002; 62(4):995-9.
- 52. Nunez F, Chipchase MD, Clarke AR et al. Nucleotide excision repair gene (ERCC1) deficiency causes G(2) arrest in hepatocytes and a reduction in liver binucleation: the role of p53 and p21. FASEB J 2000; 14(9):1073-82.
- 53. Wu H, Wade M, Krall L et al. Targeted in vivo expression of the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor p21 halts hepatocyte cell cycle progression, postnatal liver development and regeneration. Genes and Dev 1996; 10:245-60.
- 54. Taylor MV. Muscle differentiation: how two cells become one. Curr Biol 2002; 12(6):R224-8.
- 55. Vignery A. Osteoclasts and giant cells: macrophage-macrophage fusion mechanism. Int J Exp Pathol 2000; 81(5):291-304.
- Gomez-Lechon MJ, Barbera E, Gil R et al. Evolutive changes of ploidy and polynucleation in adult rat hepatocytes in culture. Cell Mol Biol 1981; 27(6):695-701.
- 57. Hernandez LD, Hoffman LR, Wolfsberg TG et al. Virus-cell and cell-cell fusion. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 1996; 12:627-61.
- Eggert US, Mitchison TJ, Field CM. Animal cytokinesis: from parts list to mechanisms. Annu Rev Biochem 2006; 75:543-66.
- 59. Storchova Z, Pellman D. From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2004; 5(1):45-54.
- 60. Gustafson LM, Gleich LL, Fukasawa K et al. Centrosome hyperamplification in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: a potential phenotypic marker of tumor aggressiveness. Laryngoscope 2000; 110(11):1798-801.
- 61. Lingle WL, Lutz WH, Ingle JN et al. Centrosome hypertrophy in human breast tumors: implications for genomic stability and cell polarity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95(6):2950-5.
- 62. Lingle WL, Salisbury JL. Altered centrosome structure is associated with abnormal mitoses in human breast tumors. Am J Pathol 1999; 155(6):1941-51.
- 63. Pihan GA, Purohit A, Wallace J et al. Centrosome defects and genetic instability in malignant tumors. Cancer Res 1998; 58(17):3974-85.
- 64. Pihan GA, Purohit A, Wallace J et al. Centrosome defects can account for cellular and genetic changes that characterize prostate cancer progression. Cancer Res 2001; 61(5):2212-9.
- 65. Weber RG, Bridger JM, Benner A et al. Centrosome amplification as a possible mechanism for numerical chromosome aberrations in cerebral primitive neuroectodermal tumors with TP53 mutations. Cytogenet Cell Genet 1998; 83(3-4):266-9.
- 66. Fausto N, Campbell JS, Riehle KJ. Liver regeneration. Hepatology 2006; 43(2 Suppl 1):S45-53.
- 67. Dimri GP, Lee X, Basile G et al. A biomarker that identifies senescent human cells in culture and in aging skin in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995; 92(20):9363-7.
- 68. Melchiorri C, Chieco P, Zedda AI et al. Ploidy and nuclearity of rat hepatocytes after compensatory regeneration or mitogen-induced liver growth. Carcinogenesis 1993; 14(9):1825-30.
- Martin NC, McGregor AH, Sansom N et al. Phenobarbitone-induced ploidy changes in liver occur independently of p53. Toxicol Lett 2001; 119(2):109-15.
- 70. Miller RT, Shah RS, Cattley RC et al. The peroxisome proliferations WY-14,643 and methylclofenapate induce hepatocyte ploidy alterations and ploidy-specific DNA synthesis in F344 rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1996; 138(2):317-23.
- 71. Muramatsu Y, Yamada T, Miura M et al. Wilson's disease gene is homologous to hts causing abnormal copper transport in Long-Evans cinnamon rats. Gastroenterology 1994; 107(4):1189-92.
- 72. Terada K, Sugiyama T. The Long-Evans Cinnamon rat: an animal model for Wilson's disease. Pediatr Int 1999; 41(4):414-8.
- Schilsky ML, Stockert RJ, Sternlieb I. Pleiotropic effect of LEC mutation: a rodent model of Wilson's disease. Am J Physiol 1994; 266(5 Pt 1):G907-13.
- 74. Kato J, Kohgo Y, Sugawara N et al. Abnormal hepatic iron accumulation in LEC rats. Jpn J Cancer Res 1993; 84(3):219-22.
- Muramatsu Y, Yamada T, Moralejo DH et al. Increased polyploid incidence is associated with abnormal copper accumulation in the liver of LEC mutant rat. Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol 2000; 107(1-2):129-36.
- 76. Yamada T, Sogawa K, Kim JK et al. Increased polyploidy, delayed mitosis and reduced protein phosphatase-1 activity associated with excess copper in the Long Evans Cinnamon rat. Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol 1998; 99(3):283-304.
- Madra S, Styles J, Smith AG. Perturbation of hepatocyte nuclear populations induced by iron and polychlorinated biphenyls in C57BL/10ScSn mice during carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 1995; 16(4):719-27.

- Gorla GR, Malhi H, Gupta S. Polyploidy associated with oxidative injury attenuates proliferative potential of cells. J Cell Sci 2001; 114(Pt 16):2943-51.
- Malhi H, Gorla GR, Irani AN et al. Cell transplantation after oxidative hepatic preconditioning with radiation and ischemia-reperfusion leads to extensive liver repopulation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002; 99(20):13114-9.
- Nakatani T, Inouye M, Mirochnitchenko O. Overexpression of antioxidant enzymes in transgenic mice decreases cellular ploidy during liver regeneration. Exp Cell Res 1997; 236(1):137-46.
- Seglen PO. DNA ploidy and autophagic protein degradation as determinants of hepatocellular growth and survival. Cell Biology and Toxicology 1997; 13:301-15.
- Saeter G, Schwarze PE, Nesland JM et al. The polyploidizing growth pattern of normal rat liver is replaced by divisional, diploid growth in hepatocellular nodules and carcinomas. Carcinogenesis 1988; 9:939-45.
- Saeter G, Schwarze PE, Nesland JM et al. Diploid nature of hepatocellular tumours developing from transplanted preneoplastic liver cells. Br J Cancer 1989; 59(2):198-205.
- Schwarze PE, Pettersen EO, Shoaib MC et al. Emergence of a population of small, diploid hepatocytes during hepatocarcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis 1984; 5:1267-75.
- Schwarze PE, Pettersen EO, Tolleshaug H et al. Isolation of carcinogen-induced diploid rat hepatocytes by centrifugal elutriation. Cancer Res 1986; 46(9):4732-7.
- Schwarze PE, Saeter G, Armstrong D et al. Diploid growth pattern of hepatocellular tumours induced by various carcinogenesis treatments. Carcinogenesis 1991; 12:325-7.
- Anti M, Marra G, Rapaccini GL et al. DNA ploidy pattern in human chronic liver diseases and hepatic nodular lesions. Flow cytometric analysis on echo-guided needle liver biopsy. Cancer 1994 15; 73(2):281-8.
- Melchiorri C, Bolondi L, Chieco P et al. Diagnostic and prognostic value of DNA ploidy and cell nuclearity in ultrasound-guided liver biopsies. Cancer 1994; 74(6):1713-9.
- Hoso M, Nakanuma Y. Cytophotometric DNA analysis of adenomatous hyperplasia in cirrhotic livers. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol 1991; 418(5):401-4.

Analysis of Cellular DNA Content by Flow and Laser Scanning Cytometry

Zbigniew Darzynkiewicz,* H. Dorota Halicka and Hong Zhao

Abstract

This chapter covers several aspects of methodology of DNA content analysis in individual cells that is most commonly used for assessment of DNA ploidy and for enumeration of cells in particular phases of the cell cycle. Briefly presented are general principles of instrumentation and cell analysis by flow- and laser scanning- cytometry. Described are major methods designed to stain DNA with fluorochromes in live cells, in detergent-permeabilized cells, in cells fixed prior to DNA staining as well as in nuclei of cells isolated from paraffin-embedded tissues. Briefly addressed are approaches to estimate cellular DNA content in conjunction with cellular immunophenotype. Discussed are factors that affect accuracy of DNA content measurement such as: (i) differences in chromatin structure of the analyzed cells that restrict DNA accessibility to fluorochromes, (ii) stoichiometry of interaction between fluorochromes and DNA in chromatin and (iii) chemical mass action law defining dependency of fluorochrome binding to DNA in relation to fluorochrome concentration and number of potential binding sites in a sample. Described also are controls used to ensure accuracy of DNA ploidy determination, the principles in ploidy assessment and possible pitfalls in analysis.

Introduction

DNA content is the most frequently measured entity of the cell. Analysis of DNA content reveals cell ploidy, provides information on cell position in the cell cycle and also allows one to estimate frequency of apoptotic cells that are characterized by fractional DNA content. Distribution of cells within the major phases of the cell cycle is based on differences in DNA content between the cells in prereplicative phase ($G_{0/1}$) versus the cells that actually replicate DNA (S phase) versus the postreplicative plus mitotic ($G_2 + M$) phase cells (Fig. 1). It is generally accepted that DNA content measured by cytometry (DNA ploidy) is defined as DNA index (DI) and for normal (non tumor, euploid) cells in $G_{0/1}$ phase of the cell cycle DI = 1.0. Cells in G_2/M phase of the cell cycle have DI = 2.0 and the S-phase normal cells are characterized by 1.0 < DI < 2.0. Because extensive DNA fragmentation preferential to internucleosomal DNA sections takes place during apoptosis, the low molecular (mono- and oligo- nucleosomal) DNA fragments are extracted during cell preparation for staining and such apoptotic cells can be identified as the cells with fractional DNA content (DI < 1.0). They are often being defined as "sub- G_1 " or "sub-diploid" cell population (Fig. 2).¹⁻⁴

Flow- or laser scanning- cytometry (LSC) are the methodologies of choice for cellular DNA content analysis. They provide the means to estimate DNA content in individual cells in large cell populations rapidly and accurately (Figs. 3,4). Historical progression of development of cytometric

*Corresponding Author: Z. Darzynkiewicz—Brander Cancer Research Institute at NYMC, Department of Pathology, BSB 438, Valhalla, New York 10595, USA. Email: darzynk@nymc.edu

Polyploidization and Cancer, edited by Randy Y.C. Poon. ©2010 Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media.



Figure 1. Schematic representation of cellular DNA content changes during cell cycle progression. DNA replication during cell cycle is discontinuous, occurring exclusively during S phase (A), which results that the postreplicative G₂-phase cell has twice higher cellular DNA content compared to the G₁ cell (B). After completion of mitosis (M) the cell divides (undergoes cytokinesis) generating two daughter cells (G₁) each having half DNA content of the mother cell (M). Based on differences in DNA content therefore one can distinguish G₁ from S from G₂M cells. When DNA content is measured in a population consisting of a large number of cells the data can be shown in a form of the cellular DNA content frequency histogram with a characteristic G₁- and G₂M- phase peaks at DNA content DI = 1.0 and DI = 2.0, respectively and S-phase cells are distributed in between the peaks (C).



Figure 2. Location of apoptotic cells (Ap) on DNA content histograms. The presence of apoptotic cells manifests as the "sub-G₁" ("sub-diploid") peak on DNA content histograms. This is due to the fact that activation of endonucleases during apoptosis leads to DNA cleavage preferentially at internucleosomal ("linker") sections¹ and the fragmented mono- and oligo-nucleosomal DNA is extracted from cells during their processing and staining.^{2.3} It should be noted that apoptotic cells not always have so distinctly lower DNA content and can be well identified. In some instances, particularly if cells in G_2 M- and/or S-phase undergo apoptosis, DNA content of apoptotic cells may overlap with that of G_1 cells.⁵



Figure 3. Schematic representation of flow cytometry. Suspension of fluorochrome-stained cells is transported through the cytometer fluidic system in which the individual cells transect the path of laser's beam. Their emission is collected by set of dichroic optical filters which reflect light at a specific wavelength towards the photomultipliers (PMTs) and transmit light at longer wavelength. The band-pass filters located in front of PMTs allow light to pass only at a specific, relatively narrow wavelength range. Intensity of fluorescence emission at these wavelength ranges, integrated over whole cell, is measured by individual PMTs. The light scatter signal generated by the cell when it passes through the laser beam is additionally measured, often at forward and 90° angle ("side scatter"), by separate sensors. The scatter signals provide information about cell size and some morphological features. More than 1,000 cells can be measured per second with an accuracy of fluorescence measurement approaching 1% and sensitivity approaching 200 molecules of fluorescein/cell. Many models of flow cytometers have not one but two or three lasers as excitation source, emitting at UV, blue, green and/or red wavelength. This allows one to select a desired fluorochrome from variety of the available ones. A color version of this image is available at www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

methods and their application for cell cycle and DNA ploidy analysis have been recently reviewed.⁵ These methods rely on cells being labeled with a fluorochrome that is expected to stain DNA stoichiometrically and thus to accurately report DNA content. The intensity of DNA-associated fluorescence integrated over the individual cell or cellular nucleus is measured by photomultipliers. The latter offer a wide dynamic range of detection and measurement of fluorescence intensity, much wider compared with the alternative approach of fluorescence measurement, namely the fluorescence image analysis (FIA). A large number of DNA fluorochromes can be used for DNA content analysis and a great variety of techniques have been published during the past three decades.⁵ The techniques differ primarily by the mode of cell permeabilization (detergent versus prefixation), choice of the DNA-specific fluorochrome, composition of the stain solution and applicability to different cell preparations.

The results of cellular DNA content measurements are generally presented in the form of frequency histograms (Figs. 2,5). Discrimination of cells in particular phases of the cell cycle based on differences in their DNA content (deconvolution of the histograms) is helped by computer analysis. The software used for this purpose allows one to estimate the percentage of cells in major phases of the cell cycle (G_1 , versus S versus G_2/M) as well as the frequency of apoptotic cells with fractional ("sub- G_1 ") DNA content.⁶⁷ This software is often included with the purchase of the flow cytometer but is also commercially available (Phoenix Flow Systems, San Diego, CA; Verity Software, Topsham, ME).



Figure 4. Schematic representation of the laser scanning cytometer (LSC). The microscope is the key part of LSC and it provides structural and optical components. The emission beams from lasers are directed onto computer controlled oscillating mirror, which reflects them through the epi-illumination port of the microscope and images through the objective lens onto the slide. The mirror oscillations cause the laser beam to sweep the area of microscope slide under the lens. The slide is located on the computer-controlled motorized microscope stage which moves perpendicular to the laser beam scan at 0.5 µm steps per each scan. The cell-emitted fluorescence is collected by the objective lens and directed to the scanning mirror. Upon reflection it passes through a series of dichroic mirrors and emission filters to reach one of the PMTs, which records the fluorescence intensity at a specific wavelength range. Laser light scattered by the cell is imaged by the condenser lens and its intensity is recorded by sensors. A white-light source provides transmitted illumination to visualize the objects though an eyepiece or cameras. Up to 100 cells can be analyzed per second with accuracy and sensitivity comparable to that of flow cytometry (Fig. 3). A color version of the figure is available at www.landesbioscience.com/curie.

Supravital Cell Staining

Cellular DNA content can be fluorochrome-stained either in unfixed, usually still live cells, or in the cells following their fixation. Staining of live cells (supravital staining) requires use of a fluorochrome that penetrates the plasma membrane and stoichiometrically stains DNA. Unfortunately, the choice of such fluorochromes is limited. Hoechst 33342 is one of such dyes and when used in combination with the membrane potential sensing dye DiOC5(3) offers relatively good resolution in measurement DNA content of live cells.⁸ The dye is excited at UV wavelength (350 nm) and fluoresces in blue (460 nm). Inclusion of DiOC5(3) serves to suppress efflux of Hoechst 33342 from the cell by the active P-glycoprotein pump which otherwise breaks up equilibrium of the binding/staining reaction. Similar effect can be achieved by using the efflux blocker such as verapamil.⁹Another fluorochrome that is being used to supravitally stain DNA is DRAQ5.¹⁰ Its emission can be detected in far-red wavelength (maximal at 670 nm) while the excitation (maximal at 640 nm) is at wide range of the spectrum, stretching down to 488 nm.

The protocols designed to supravitally stain DNA are simple. Generally, inclusion of the fluorochrome into the culture medium for 30-60 min during cell culture is followed by subjecting cells to cytometric analysis without a need for rinsing or centrifugation. However there are cell type (cell line) differences in the rate of the fluorochrome uptake. Occasionally, therefore, several concentrations of the fluorochrome and various time of incubation, different than in the protocols e.g., provided by the vendors of the reagents, have to be tested to optimize staining conditions for



Figure 5. DNA content analysis of human breast cancer biopsy specimen according to the protocol developed by Vindelov et al.^{13,14} Cellular DNA content was measured in a sample obtained from a fine needle aspirate of a surgical biopsy of human breast cancer and stained with Pl. Chicken erythrocytes and trout erythrocytes were included as internal standard. The peaks from left to right represent chicken (A) and trout (B) erythrocytes, diploid normal nuclei (C; DI = 1.0), hyperdiploid (DI > 1.0) population of tumor $G_{0/1}$ phase cells (D) and G_2 population of tumor cells (E). Under proper conditions of DNA staining, the ratio of the mean DNA content of diploid human cells to chicken erythrocytes is 2.857, the ratio to trout erythrocytes is 1.258 and the ratio of mean DNA content in trout vs chicken erythrocytes is 2.28.¹³ Another landmark of linearity in DNA content analysis is the ratio of G_2 to G_1 peaks, which is expected to be 2.0. Modified after Vindelov and Christensen.¹³

a particular cell type. Furthermore, the resolution of DNA content analysis in cells supravitally stained is never as good as that of fixed or detergent-permeabilized cells. The application of protocols designed to supravitally stain DNA is primarily for cell sorting, where the cells selected based on differences in their DNA content can be further subcultured for the purpose of analyzing their growth characteristics, sensitivity to drugs, cloning or expanding their number. It should be noted, however, that exposure of Hoechst 33342-stained cells to UV light during sorting may damage their DNA and be cytotoxic.

DNA Staining after Disruption of Plasma Membrane

Treatment of live cells with detergents causes rupture of the plasma membrane or leads to nuclear isolation which makes DNA accessible to fluorochromes. This approach has been initially used to permeabilize cells to acridine orange, the metachromatic dye that differentially stains DNA and RNA.¹¹ Exposure of cells to hypotonic salt solution also leads to their lysis and DNA within the nuclei isolated this way is accessible and can be stained with a variety of fluorochromes.¹² Further improvement in the accuracy of DNA content analysis is obtained after controlled proteolysis of detergent-lysed cells. This approach was perfected by Vindeløv and his collaborators who developed a highly accurate method of cellular DNA content measurement, particularly useful for analysis of DNA ploidy in human tumor samples.^{13,14} These authors also introduced internal DNA content standards such as nuclei of chicken- and/trout- erythocytes, as intrinsic part of the staining protocol. Their methodology designed for needle biopsy of normal and tumor tissue

is now used worldwide. Figure 5 illustrates DNA content measurement of the specimen of the fine-needle aspirate of human breast cancer specimen by this method.¹⁴

The accuracy of DNA content measurement for DNA ploidy or cell cycle phase estimate is much greater when isolated nuclei rather than whole cells are analyzed. This is due to the fact that some cytoplasmic constituents may be auto-fluorescent, or contain DNA (e.g., in mitochondria) or nonspecifically stain with DNA-fluorochromes. This background cytoplasmic stainability, thus, lowers accuracy of nuclear DNA determination. Furthermore, the proteolytic step in the Vindeløw's procedure removes some nuclear proteins that are known to restrict the accessibility of DNA to fluorochromes,¹⁵ which additionally leads to improved stoichiometry of DNA staining.¹⁵

It should be noted, however, that the lysis of plasma membrane of mitotic cells lacking nuclear envelope, that occurs in the detergent or hypotonic-treatment based methods, leads to dispersion of individual chromosomes or chromosome aggregates which are then suspended free in the solution. These methods therefore may not detect mitotic cells, particularly when the cell suspensions are mechanically agitated, pipetted or vortexed. Furthermore, individual or aggregated chromosomes may be erroneously identified as apoptotic cells with fractional DNA content ("sub-G₁" cells). In addition, lysis of apoptotic cells that have fragmented nuclei releases several nuclear chromatin fragments from a single cell. Because each fragment is classified in the cytometer as individual event ("cell") the frequency of "sub-G₁" objects after cell lysis may be much higher than actual frequency of apoptotic cells in a given cell population. This generally precludes application of cell-lysis based methods for analysis of the frequency of apoptotic cells, particularly when mitotic cells are in large proportion (e.g., after arrest in the cell cycle by the mitotic poisons).¹⁶

DNA Staining in Fixed Cells

Preference for analysis of fixed cells as opposed to the detergent-permeabilized cells is dictated by the need to store or transport samples, for example clinical specimens that cannot be immediately processed. Their storage, unless done at low temperature in cryopreservative media, leads to cell deterioration (autolysis). Fixed cells on the other hand can be stored for months or even years. For analysis of DNA content precipitating fixatives (alcohols, acetone) are preferred over cross-linking agents (e.g., formaldehyde, glutaraldehyde). This is because cross-linking of chromatin constituents impairs stoichiometry of DNA staining with intercalating fluorochromes and thus decreases accuracy of DNA content measurement.¹⁵ It should be noted, however, that highly fragmented DNA such as present in apoptotic cells leaks out from the ethanol-fixed cells during their hydration and staining, but is preserved and remains within the cell upon fixation by formaldehyde. Fixation in ethanol, therefore, rather than in formaldehyde, has to be used to detect apoptotic ("sub-G₁") apoptotic cells. While absolute alcohols or acetone, or a mixture of absolute ethanol and acetone can serve as fixatives (in some instances they may be preferred e.g., for immunocytochemical detection of some antigens concurrently with DNA content) they induce more extensive cell aggregation compared e.g., with 70% or 80% ethanol, which is most commonly used when analysis is limited to DNA content alone.

A variety of DNA fluorochromes may be used to stain DNA in the fixed cells. The most commonly used are 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI), propidium iodide (PI) and 7-aminoactinomycin D (7-AAD). Staining with dyes that react with both DNA and RNA, such as PI requires incubation with RNase. The cells may be pre-incubated with RNase and subsequently stained with PI, or RNase (usually at concentration within a range between 10 and 100 μ g/ml) is included into a solution containing PI in PBS. In the latter case the cells suspended in that solution are maintained for about 30 min or longer at 37°C or room temperature to allow RNase to digest RNA, before measurement by cytometry. It is of importance that the RNase used is free of DNase activity. If such is not available, one may heat the solution of RNase at 95-100°C for 5 min to destroy DNase- while still preserving RNase- activity. PI is excited in blue light, which is conveniently provided by the 488-nm line of the argon ion laser available on most flow cytometers, while DAPI requires UV or near UV excitation.

Analysis of DNA in Paraffin-Embedded Samples

The method of isolating cell nuclei from paraffin-embedded tissues was developed by Hedley and his colleagues to retrieve archival samples for flow cytometric analysis.^{17,18} This methodology enables for retrospective studies to determine the prognostic significance of DNA ploidy or cell cycle distribution (usually frequency of S-phase cells) in tumor progression. The method can also be applied for prospective studies when fresh material is unavailable. One advantage of this methodology is that it offers a possibility to examine by microscopy the tissue sections and thus select the adjacent tumor area of interest to be processed by flow cytometry. The paraffin blocks can then be trimmed to exclude areas of noninvolved tissue in order to diminish the proportion of stromal cells, or of necrotic and hemorrhagic areas to decrease the quantity of debris, as well as to select areas of noninvolved tissue to be used as internal DNA content standard (see further). The accuracy of DNA content analysis of nuclei from paraffin blocks is generally inferior compared to the methods that rely on either ethanol fixation or detergent or hypotonic treatment of fresh tissues. This is due to the fact that the cells embedded in paraffin frequently are usually prefixed in formaldehyde. As mentioned, by cross-linking DNA and proteins formaldehyde fixation impairs stoichiometry of DNA. Because crosslinking by formaldehyde is to some extent reversible, long incubation of the rehydrated nuclei in aqueous solutions, after their isolation from the paraffin blocks, improves resolution of DNA analysis. In nuclei isolated from paraffin blocks DAPI is the preferable fluorochrome since it the least affected, in terms of stoichiometry of DNA staining, by the chromatin structure and thus by protein-DNA crosslinking.¹⁵

Another factor that lowers accuracy of DNA content analysis and thus identification of aneuploid cells or discrimination of cells in different phases of the cycle in samples of nuclei isolated from paraffin blocks is the presence of debris. Most debris is due to the presence of transected nuclei with incomplete DNA content. Because probability of transecting a nucleus is proportional to thickness of the section and to nuclear size, preparation of thicker sections (≥50 nm) for nuclei isolation is advisable, particularly for tumors with large nuclei such as tetraploid and larger stemlines.

Concurrent Analysis of Cell Surface Antigen and DNA Content

It is often desirable to know the DNA content distribution (histogram) of the particular cell subpopulation identified by its surface immunophenotype. The most common approach, in such a case, is to perform standard immunocytochemical labeling of live cells with the fluorochrome- (most frequently FITC or Alexa Fluor 488) conjugated Ab, which is then followed by short fixing the cells in 0.5-1.0% methanol-free formaldehyde ("paraformaldehyde") in PBS. Because formaldehyde fixation does not adequetely permeabilize the cells it is critical to subsequently have detergent (e.g., Triton X-100) in the staining solution to make DNA accessible to DNA-fluorochrome such as PI or DAPI. Post-fixation in alcohol (methanol or ethanol) following formaldehyde also permeabilizes cells. A gentle fixation with formaldehyde (0.25%) followed by permeabilization in Tween 20 detergent is another procedure designed to preserve both external and internal antigens that can be detected immunocytochemically concurrently with analysis of DNA content.¹⁹ Cellular green (FITC or Alexa Fluor 488) and red (PI) or blue (DAPI) fluorescence is then measured by flow cytometry. During analysis, the cell subpopulation of interest is gated based on its immunophenotype (green fluorescence) and DNA content of this selected subpopulation is then plotted in form of a frequency histogram It is also possible to to combine analysis of DNA content with both cell surface phenotype markers and telomere length.²⁰

A simpler approach to concurrently measure DNA content and cell surface immunofluorescence is to combine the supravital staining of DNA with Hoechst 33342 with surface immunophenotyping.²¹ For this combination, however, the cytometer with the two- or more- lasers, including one emitting UV light is required. Furthermore, as mentioned, in some cell types it is difficult to obtain high resolution of DNA content analysis after supravital staining of DNA either with Hoechst 33342 or DRAQ5.

Accuracy of DNA Content Measurement

The accuracy of DNA content measurement is reflected by variation in fluorescence intensity between individual cells with identical DNA content, such as G_0/G_1 cells. This variation is being assessed by the value of coefficient of variation (CV) of the mean value of DNA content of the G_0/G_1 cell population. The CV of the DNA-associated mean fluorescence of G_1 cells is thus considered an index of the accuracy of the DNA measurements. High accuracy is required in particular in assessing DNA ploidy to distinguish between DNA diploid and an euploid cells, which may differ minimally in DNA content. Accurate DNA content measurement is also critical in analysis of cell cycle distributions. There is no formal consensus regarding the acceptable maximal CV value of the mean DNA content of the G_0/G_1 cell population i.e., the acceptable error in cellular DNA content estimate. Most researchers, however, would consider the accuracy to be poor and results unacceptable if CV values of normal, nontumor cells exceed 6%, optimal resolution is achieved when CV is <3%. An exception is analysis of the DNA content of cell nuclei isolated from paraffin blocks, where by the nature of the sample (formaldehyde fixation) good accuracy is difficult, to achieve.

A number of factors can contribute to poor accuracy in DNA content analysis. Most common is inappropriate sample flow and optical adjustment of the flow cytometer. Proper maintenance of the instrument and its careful adjustment prior to analysis, e.g., using fluorescent calibrated standard beads, to maximize the electronic signal intensity and minimize variability of the measurement of the beads, are required to achieve accurate DNA measurements. Problems in sample preparation, either resulting in mechanical damage to the cells or involving incorrect composition of buffers and staining solutions, are another reason of poor resolution in DNA analysis. An excessively large number of cells (DNA) in the sample which leads to significant depletion of the free, unbound fluorochrome in the solution and alters the staining equilibrium (see below), may be still another source of the problems that prevent accurate DNA content analysis. Adjusting samples to achieve a proper fluorochrome to DNA content (cell number) ratio improves the results.

It should be noted that despite good accuracy of DNA content measurements (in terms of proper instrument adjustments and sample staining) the CV of G_1 cell populations may still remains high. This may occur when significant numbers of dead or dying cells are present in the sample, or when the cells were treated with DNA-interacting drugs. Also, in tumors that are polyclonal or have developed drug resistance by gene amplification (e.g., presence of minute chromosomes) the G_0/G_1 cell populations may have intrinsically variable DNA content and therefore high CV values of the G_0/G_1 cell populations.

Accessibility of DNA in Chromatin to Fluorochromes

The accessibility of DNA to fluorochromes is restricted by chromosomal proteins, predominantly by histones and varies between different cell types. The maximal restriction is seen in cells undergoing terminal differentiation such as during spermatogenesis or erythropoiesis, when DNA stainability (per unit of DNA) is significantly lower compared with other cell types.^{15,22} This obviously creates difficulties in assessment of DNA ploidy in such differentiating cells. The degree of reduction varies for individual fluorochromes and DAPI is the least influenced by chromatin structure whereas binding of 7-AAD, an intercalating but more bulky fluorochrome, is affected to a much larger degree. In practical terms, therefore, one may expect intercellular variation in DNA stainability when mixed cell types are measured in the same sample. This can be manifested on DNA content frequency histograms as the presence of pseudo-aneuploid populations, or widening of the G1 peak (increased CV value). For example under certain conditions of staining monocytes show higher DNA stainability with PI compared to lymphocytes or granulocytes and form a typical pseudo-hyperdiploid peak on DNA frequency histograms. As mentioned, subjecting cells to the detergent methods and in particular the combination of detergent and proteolytic treatment such as in the Vindeløv's procedure, ^{13,14} increases accessibility of DNA and thereby improves the stoichiometric relationship between DNA content and fluorescence intensity.

There are several ways to estimate stoichiometry of DNA staining. Thus, fluorescence intensity of the cell populations represented by the G_2/M peaks on DNA histograms is expected to be DI = 2.0 as compared to DI = 1.0 for $G_{0/1}$ cells and deviation from this value indicates on problems in DNA quantification.²³ Normal hepatocytes grow at different DNA ploidy levels and therefore may also serve as markers of linearity in DNA measurement. Inclusion of internal standards such as chicken or trout erythrocytes provides still another marker of the stoichiometry of DNA measurement and is highly recommended when DNA ploidy is estimated.^{13,14} To demonstrate stoichiometry of DNA staining one has to use linear and not exponential scale for plotting intensity of DNA-associated fluorescence (x-coordinate) and include the origin (point zero) of this coordinate, on the DNA content frequency histogram.

In some instances, however, stoichiometry in DNA staining with fluorochromes cannot be attained. This can be seen when cells were treated with antitumor drugs that modify DNA and/or chromatin structure. Intercalating drugs that interact with DNA fluorochromes by fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET), or drugs damaging DNA structure, or crosslinking chromatin, all can alter staining properties of in situ DNA, often in unpredictable ways. As mentioned, the possibility of stoichiometric measurement of DNA content may also be hampered when cells differing markedly in chromatin structure are being compared.

Fluorochrome Binding to DNA—Mass Action Law

Staining of cellular DNA is being done at equilibrium between the ligand (fluorochrome) and the ligand-binding sites in the DNA within the cells sample and thus it follows the chemical law of mass action. Stable level of staining is achieved when there is large excess of the ligand per binding site so a small variation in cell number per sample (binding sites) has no significant effect on the equilibrium. Because it is difficult to have an identical cell number in each sample, the variation is inevitable. One can calculate however approximate concentration of the fluorochrome and relate to the cell number to find out the range within which a decrease in free ligand concentration may not significantly affect DNA stainablility. There are 3×10^9 DNA base pairs per cell (diploid cell in G_1). Most intercalators such DNA-binding fluorochromes, reacting with free (naked) DNA at saturation bind every second base pair. Thus, potentially, in a single diploid cell there are $\sim 1.5 \times 10^9$ binding sites. However, because a large portion of nuclear DNA within the cell is inaccessible to the intercalators,¹⁵ only a fraction of the potential binding sites (10-70%, depending on the fluorochrome) can actually bind the ligand (fluorochrome). Thus, there are between 1.5 to 10.0×10^8 sites that actually bind the ligand in a single cell and therefore 1.5 to $10.0 imes 10^{14}$ binding sites in 10⁶ diploid cells, which is approximately a size of average sample subjected to staining. Assuming average MW of most DNA fluorochromes to be about 300, one can estimate (from Avogadro number) that at a concentration $100 \,\mu\text{M}$ (30 $\mu\text{g/ml}$) there are 6×10^{16} molecules of the ligand in 1 ml of the stain solution. Considering the above there is nearly 100-fold excess of the ligand per binding site when 10^6 cells are stained in 1 ml volume at 100 μ M dye concentration. One would expect that under these conditions a change in cell number from 1 to 2 million (which alters a concentration of the free, unbound ligand by 1%) should not be reflected by greater than 1% change in stainability of DNA. However, at lower dye concentration (e.g., below 20 μ M) or when cell number is drastically changed (e.g., from 1 to 5 million) the change in DNA stainability becomes noticeable. Needless to say, if cells have higher DNA content, (tetraploid, arrested in G_2/M) the equilibrium is shifted even more towards lesser concentration of free dye, which leads to further decrease in DNA stainability. The above estimates have to taken into an account when samples with different cell number are stained to compare DNA ploidy.

Assessment of DNA Ploidy

As mentioned, DNA content measurement by cytometry serves to estimate frequency of cells in particular phases ($G_{0/1}$ versus S versus G_2M) of the cell cycle as well as to assess DNA ploidy. In most situations DNA ploidy is being assessed in hematological or solid tumors; the evidence of aneuploidy by itself is a definitive marker of a presence of the tumor. Often is also considered to be an prognostic indicator of tumor progression and outcome of the treatment. To assess DNA ploidy of the tumor sample one has to compare DNA content of the $G_{0/1}$ cells population of the presumed tumor cells with that of normal (control) cells. Towards this end most frequently the peak value of the integrated fluorescence (peak channel) of $G_{0/1}$ population of normal cells is being considered to be DI = 1.0 and DNA ploidy of the tumor cells is expressed as a ratio of the peak value (channel) of fluorescence intensity of these cells with respect to that of the normal $G_{0/1}$ cells. It is also common to express DI of the tumor as a ratio of modal rather than the peak value of fluorescence intensity pDNA content of $G_{0/1}$ population tumor cells to modal value of $G_{0/1}$ population of normal cells. Some authors still prefer to use the mean values of fluorescence intensity of $G_{0/1}$ population rather than the peak or modal values to obtain this ratio. In essence, when DNA measurement is done correctly and accurately, either of these appropaches is expected to yield similar estimate of DI of aneuploid cells.

Normal lymphocytes, including lymphocytes from the same patient whose tumor is being analyzed, or fibroblasts, are often used as standard of DI = 1.0. For comparison with the tumor it is necessary to use normal cells both as external and internal control standards. When used as external control they have to be subjected to identical processing and staining procedure and measured by cytometry under identical laser and detector settings as tumor sample. The external control cells should be measured prior to- and also after- measurement of tumor sample. This double-measurement of control cells allows one to detect the possible shift in fluorescence readout e.g., due to misadjustment in instrument settings in the course of the sequential measurements. In addition to external control, normal cells should also be admixed (e.g., in 1:1 proportion) with the tumor sample cells and used then as internal control in another set of measurements. Often, normal stromal- or tumor infiltrating cells are already present in the tumor sample and they can be used as an internal control of DNA ploidy. In fact, when DNA ploidy is assessed based on measurement of nuclei isolated from paraffin blocks, the internal control provided by the presence of stromal and infiltrating normal cells that provide standard for DI = 1.0 is the only way to assess DNA ploidy of the tumor. This is due to the fact that DNA stainability after formaldehyde fixation and paraffin embedding is markedly altered making external standards useless.

Chicken and trout erythrocytes have been proposed as internal standards for analysis of DNA content by cytometry (Fig. 5).^{13,14} Their use is helpful to control and maintain consistency of the staining and measurement procedures. However, one has to be cautious using them as absolute standard for DNA content analysis. Trout, like other fish species, are known to vary in their DNA ploidy level (most species are tetraploid) and it is therefore important to know ploidy of these cells when used as a standard.

Despite the difficulties and potential pitfalls outlined in this chapter, cytometry, including flow cytometry and LSC, is the methodology of choice in analysis of DNA content for DNA ploidy assessment. This methodology is complemented by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) analysis, which provides a possibility to identify individual chromosomes or chromosome components contributing to aneuploidy. It should be noted that LSC, by offering rapid and semi-automatic enumeration of the fluorescent foci within individual nucleus in addition to DNA content measurement can also be used for FISH analysis.²⁶

Conclusion

As outlined in this chapter variety of methods are available to estimate cellular DNA content by flow- or image assisted- cytometry. They offer wide choice of analytical capabilities to assess DNA ploidy and cell cycle distributions. The possibility of use of diverse fluorochromes differing in absorption and emission properties as well as in mode of binding to DNA provide the means to optimize DNA content measurement for different cell types. The principles of DNA staining and data analysis described in this chapter will be of assistance for the beginners who initiate DNA content analysis by cytometry. It may also provide useful information for advanced researchers who contemplate change in the methodology to further improve accuracy in assessment of DNA ploidy and cell cycle distribution.

Acknowledgement

Supported by NCI RO1 CA 28 704.

References

- 1. Nagata S, Nagase H, Kawane K et al. Degradation of chromosomal DNA during apoptosis. Cell Death Differ 2003; 10:108-16.
- Gong J, Traganos F, Darzynkiewicz Z. A selective procedure for DNA extraction from apoptotic cells applicable for gel electrophoresis and flow cytometry. Anal Biochem 1994; 218:314-19.
- Kajstura M, Halicka HD, Pryjma, J et al. Discontinuous fragmentation of nuclear DNA during apoptosis revealed by discrete "sub-G1" peaks on DNA content histograms. Cytometry A, 2007; 71A:125-31.
- Darzynkiewicz Z, Crissman HA, Jacobberger JW. Cytometry of the cell cycle. Cycling through history. Cytometry 2004; 58A: 21-32.
- 5. Darzynkiewicz Z, Juan G, Li X et al. Cytometry in cell necrobiology. Analysis of apoptosis and accidental cell death (necrosis). Cytometry 1997; 27:1-20.
- Bagwell BC. Theoretical aspects of flow cytometry data analysis. In: Bauer KE, Duque RE, Shankey TV, eds. Clinical Flow Cytometry: Principles and Applications. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1993:41-61.
- Rabinovitch PS. Practical considerations for DNA content and cell cycle analysis. In: Bauer KE, Duque RE, Shankey TV, eds. Clinical Flow Cytometry: Principles and Applications. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1993:117-142.
- 8. Crissman HA, Hofland MH, Stevenson AP et al. Supravital cell staining with Hoechst 33342 and DiOC5(3). Method Cell Biol 1990; 33:89-95.
- 9. Krishan A. Effect of drug efflux blockers on vital staining of cellular DNA with Hoechst 33342. Cytometry 1987; 8:642-5.
- 10. Martin RM, Leonhardt H, Cardoso MC. DNA labeling in live cells. Cytometry 2005; 67:45- 52.
- 11. Darzynkiewicz Z, Traganos F, Sharpless T et al. Lymphocyte stimulation: A rapid multiparameter analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1976; 73:2881-4.
- 12. Krishan A. Rapid DNA content analysis by the propidium iodide-hypotonic citrate method. Methods Cell Biol 1990; 30:121-5.
- 13. Vindeløv LL, Christensen IJ, Nissen NI. A detergent-trypsin method for the preparation of nuclei for flow cytometric DNA analysis. Cytometry 1983; 3:323-7.
- 14. Vindeløv LL, Christiansen IJ. Detergent and proteolytic enzyme-based techniques for nuclear isolation and DNA content analysis. Meth Cell Biol 1994; 41:219-230.
- Darzynkiewicz Z, Traganos F, Kapuscinski J et al. Accessibility of DNA in situ to various fluorochromes: Relationship to chromatin changes during erythroid differentiation of Friend leukemia cells. Cytometry 1984; 5:355-63.
- Darzynkiewicz Z, Bedner E, Traganos F. Difficulties and pitfalls in analysis of apoptosis. Methods Cell Biol 2001; 63:527-46.
- 17. Hedley DW, Friedlander MI, Taylor IW et al. Method for analysis of cellular DNA content of paraffin-embedded pathological material using flow cytometry. J Histochem Cytochem 1983; 31:1333-5.
- Heiden T, Wang N, Tribukait B. An improved Hedley method for preparation of paraffin-embedded tissues for flow cytometric analysis of ploidy and S-phase. Cytometry 1991; 12:614-21.
- Schmid I, Uittenbogaart CH, Giorgi JV. A gentle fixation and permeabilization method for combined cell surface and intracellular staining with improved precision in DNA quantification. Cytometry 1991; 12:279-85.
- 20. Schmid I, Dagarag MD, Hausner MA et al. Simultaneous flow cytometric analysis of two cell surface markers, telomere length and DNA content. Cytometry 2002; 49:96-105.
- Loken MM. Simultaneous quantitation of Hoechst 33342 and immunofluorescence on viable ells using a fluorescence activated cell sorter. Cytometry 1980; 1:136-42.
- 22. Evenson D, Darzynkiewicz Z, Jest L et al. Changes in accessibility of DNA in situ to various fluorochromes during spermatogenesis. Cytometry 1986; 7:45-53.
- Crissman HA, Steinkamp JA. Cytochemical techniques for multivariate analysis of DNA and other cell constituents. In: Melamed MR, Lindmo T, Mendelsohn ML, eds. Flow Cytometry and Sorting. New York:Wiley-Liss: 1992:227-47.
- 24. Kamentsky LA. Laser scanning cytometry. Methods Cell Biol 2001; 63:51-87.
- Darzynkiewicz Z, Bedner E, Gorczyca W et al. Laser scanning cytometry. A new instrumentation with many applications. Exp Cell Res 1999; 249:1-12.
- Kamentsky LA, Kamentsky LD, Fletcher JA et al. Methods for automatic multiparameter analysis of fluorescence in situ hybridized specimens with laser scanning cytometer. Cytometry 1997; 27:117-25.

INDEX

A

- Abortive mitosis 98-100, 105-107
- Abscission 27, 28, 33-38, 40, 41
- Actin 30-34, 38, 42, 128, 129
- Anaphase-promoting complex (APC, APC/C) 17-20, 22, 30, 31, 33, 38, 60-62, 115
- Aneuploid 1-10, 15, 22-24, 57, 58, 64, 73, 75-78, 80, 82, 83, 86, 93, 95, 98, 100, 101, 105, 107-112, 114-116, 130, 143-146
 - aneuploidy 1-4, 6-10, 15, 22-24, 57, 58, 64, 73, 75-78, 80, 82, 83, 86, 93, 95, 98, 105, 107-111, 115, 116, 130, 145, 146
- Anillin 30, 32-34, 37, 38, 41-43
- Apoptosis 3, 5, 8, 10, 64, 65, 73, 76-79, 86, 98, 99, 107, 111-113, 116, 130, 137, 138
- Aurora-B 32, 35, 38-41, 43, 63, 107, 109, 111-116
- Aurora kinase 21, 30, 43, 114-116

B

Barrett's esophagus (BE) 1-5, 8-11, 24 Binuclearity 124, 130 Borealin 40, 111, 112, 114

С

Cancer 1-3, 5-7, 10, 15, 22, 24, 34, 38, 41, 43, 44, 57-60, 63-66, 73, 76, 77, 79, 93-97, 99-101, 105-111, 115, 116, 130, 132, 141, 142 Cancer therapy 64, 65 Carcinogenesis 1-3, 7, 9, 78, 96, 115 Cell fusion 58, 59, 63, 76, 99, 100, 111, 127 Centralspindlin 28, 29, 33-35, 37 Centriolin 35, 36, 40 Centrosome 3, 19, 21, 24, 27, 38-40, 43, 58, 59, 61, 74-78, 80, 81, 83, 93-101, 108, 109, 111, 114-116, 129, 130 accumulation 93, 97-100 overduplication 94, 96-100

43 73, 76-79, 86, 110-115, 127-129, 138 Cytoskeleton 30, 33, 34, 77, 128, 129

D

6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) 95, 97, 142-144 Developmental abnormality 4, 6, 78 Differentiation 5, 76, 110, 111, 123, 124, 144 Diploid 2, 4, 5, 7-9, 22, 23, 30, 58, 64, 65, 76, 77, 80, 93-96, 98, 99, 105-108, 110, 123, 124, 126-132, 137, 138, 141, 144, 145 DNA damage 3, 8, 10, 42, 43, 57-66, 73-75, 77-81, 83, 85, 86, 98, 100 DNA damage response 43 DNA index 137 DNA replication 42, 62, 64, 65, 74-76, 80, 86, 95, 97, 99, 100, 108, 126, 127, 129, 138

Checkpoint 2, 3, 15, 17-22, 24, 25, 30, 34, 38, 43, 57-66, 73-78, 80, 81, 83, 85, 86,

98-100, 105, 107-109, 113-116

73, 93-95, 99-101

Citron kinase 30-32

Competition 5,8

109, 111-113, 115, 116

38-41, 59-63, 65, 75

Chromosomal instability 2, 9, 10, 57, 65, 66,

Chromosome passenger protein (CPP) 34,

Cyclin 31, 32, 38, 59-63, 73-75, 80, 81, 83,

84, 94, 96, 100, 105-107, 111, 113

Cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK1) 31, 32,

Cytokinesis 2, 21, 22, 24, 27-44, 57-59, 63,

65, 66, 76, 77, 81, 97-100, 105-108,

E

- E6 oncoprotein 95, 97, 98
- E7 oncoprotein 94-96, 98
- ECT2 28-31, 39, 40, 43
- Endoreduplication 58, 59, 63, 64, 76, 99
- Endoreplication 76, 126

Endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT pathway) 37, 38 Esophageal adenocarcinoma (EA) 2, 4, 11 Evolution 1-3, 7, 9, 10, 58, 109

F

Fitness 4-10 Fluorochrome 137, 139-146 Formin 30, 31, 41 Furrow 22, 23, 24, 27-35, 37, 40-44, 58, 59, 63, 111, 128, 129

G

 $\begin{array}{l} G_1 \mbox{ phase } 59, 62, 76, 77, 94, 106, 113, 129 \\ G2M \mbox{ checkpoint } 83, 85, 86 \\ G_2 \mbox{ phase } 3, 61, 94, 100, 129 \\ Genomic \mbox{ instability } 1, 3, 5, 73, 76, 78, 80, \\ 93, 96, 99, 109 \\ Genomic \mbox{ stability } 74, 75, 77, 80, 86 \end{array}$

Η

Hepatocarcinogenesis 131 Hepatocyte 30, 76, 105, 106, 123-132, 145 Hormone 111, 126 Human papillomavirus (HPV) 59, 94, 95, 107 HPV-16 94-98

I

Incenp 40, 111-115 Incomplete cytokinesis 127-129 Inner centromeric protein 40, 111-115

L

Linkage 10, 60, 65 Liver 27, 30, 33, 76, 99, 123-132

Μ

Megakaryocyte 59, 60, 63, 76, 83, 99, 105, 106, 113, 115, 116, 126 Metabolic overload 130, 131 MgcRacGAP 29-31, 33, 34, 39-41 Microtubule 15-17, 19, 22, 24, 27, 28, 30, 33, 34-36, 38, 39, 58, 75, 93, 94, 99, 114, 115, 128, 129 Midbody 27, 28, 33-43, 111-113 Mitosis 2-4, 15-17, 22, 24, 25, 28, 30, 31, 34, 35, 38-43, 57-63, 65, 66, 75-78, 81, 83, 85, 86, 93-96, 98-101, 105-109, 111-116, 126, 129, 130, 138 Mitotic spindle checkpoint 81, 98, 99, 107, 109 MKLP1 29, 34, 35, 37, 39, 40 Mutator 8, 9, 108, 109 Myosin 27, 28, 30-33, 39, 41 Myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) 32

N

Neoplasm 2-5, 8-10, 95 Neoplastic progression 1-3, 5, 7, 9, 24, 93 Nucleus 15, 16, 22, 28, 34, 40, 59, 62, 75-77, 81, 83, 96, 97, 106, 112, 123-130, 137, 139, 141-144, 146

0

Octoploid 123, 124, 127, 130, 131 Oxidative damage 130, 131

P

- p16 2, 3, 5
- p53 2, 3, 5, 10, 24, 34, 43, 57-66, 73-86, 93,
- 95-101, 108, 116
- p63 74, 78, 79, 80
- p73 73, 74, 78-81, 83, 86
- Partial hepatectomy 76, 123, 130, 131
- Ploidy 2-4, 6, 7, 11, 24, 64, 77, 80, 81, 83, 85, 93, 94, 98-101, 105, 107, 108, 111, 113, 114, 123-131, 137, 139, 141-146
- Polyploidy 1-4, 7-9, 15, 59, 73, 75, 76, 78, 80, 82, 83, 86, 93, 95, 99, 100, 105-108, 111, 114-116, 123-126, 130-132
 - polyploidization 7, 57-60, 62-66, 73, 76-78, 80, 82, 83, 86, 99, 105, 106, 108, 111, 113, 115, 123-127, 130-132
- Polo kinase (Plk1) 34, 35, 38-40, 42, 43
- Progression 1-5, -10, 19, 22, 24, 25, 57-62, 65, 66, 74, 76, 77, 81, 83, 93, 99-101, 106, 115, 116, 130, 132, 137, 138, 143, 146
- Proliferation 5, 8, 9, 22, 78, 80, 97, 106, 110, 111, 112, 116, 123, 124, 127, 130, 131

R

Regeneration 110, 130, 131 RhoA 27-33, 39, 40-42, 129 Rho kinase 30, 40, 43

S

- Senescence 3, 73, 80, 97, 98, 106, 108, 123, 124, 130
- Septin 30, 33, 34, 37, 42, 43
- S phase 15, 24, 57, 59, 61-65, 74, 75, 77, 78, 83, 84, 86, 94, 99, 100, 106, 113, 126, 129, 130, 137, 138, 143
- Stem cell 6, 9, 110-112
- Stoichiometry 41, 137, 142, 143, 145
- Supravital staining 140, 143
- Survivin 40, 43, 107, 111-116

Т

Tetraploid 1-8, 10, 22-24, 27, 30, 33, 43, 44, 57-59, 63-66, 76, 77, 80, 81, 93, 98-101, 105-108, 110, 123, 124, 127-131, 143, 145, 146 Tetraploidization 58, 59, 63, 64, 66, 78, 100 Tumorigenesis 15, 24, 57, 58, 64-66, 73, 76, 78, 105, 107-111, 130 Tumor suppressor 2, 3, 7, 8, 10, 30, 57, 73, 77-79, 86, 95, 106, 108, 109

V

Vascular smooth muscle 105, 106, 112, 113

W

Weaning 30, 124, 126-129